Table of Contents

Getting Started for Users	. 13
Logging In	. 13
Landing Page	. 16
Navigation	. 17
Reports	. 18
Inline Editing	. 19
Charts	. 21
Forms	. 22
Screens	. 24
Changing Password	. 25
Using Global Search	. 26
Browser Support	. 29
Browser Settings	. 30
Local Settings & Date Format	. 30
Training	. 31
Unpublished	. 34
Configuring Global Search	. 34
Offline Mobile	. 36
Public Forms	. 38
Public Forms Security Overview	. 38
SteveB Test Page	. 40
Working with Resources	. 41
Reports	. 41
- Report Builder	. 41
Creating and Editing Reports	. 42
Report Builder Menu	. 43
Report Columns	. 44
Sorting	. 46
Grouping	. 47
Totals	. 48
Analyser	. 50
Action Menus	. 53
Summarising Reports	. 55
Calculated Columns	. 57
Conditional Formatting	. 58
Value Formatting	. 61
Advanced Options	. 64
Report Properties	. 65
Relationship Columns	. 67
Report Diagnostics	. 68
Forms	. 72
Form Builder	. 72
Editing a Form	. 73
Action Buttons	. 74
Form Layout	. 76
Adding Fields to an Object	. 77
Adding Fields to a Form	. 78
Cascading Fields	. 79

Showing or Hiding Fields	81
Field Types	82
Field Properties	82
Text Fields	86
Text	86
Multiline Text	87
Rich Text	88
Numeric Fields	90
Number	90
AutoNumber Fields	91
Decimal	93
Currency	94
Date and Time Fields	95
Date and Time	95
Date	96
Time	97
Other Fields	98
Yes/No	98
Image	
Calculation	. 100
	101
Relationshin Control	102
Documents	104
Choice	106
Charts	107
Create a New Chart	107
Chart Builder	100
Chart Types Overview	111
Chart Targets	113
Chart Types	115
Line Chart	115
Area Chart	116
Alea Chart	. 117
Columni Chart	. 11/ 110
Dal Chart	. 110
Pie Clidit	. 119
Dollut Clidit	. 120
Matrix Chart	121
Scaller Chart	122
Bubble Clidit	123
	124
	. 123
Tree Map	. 127
Force Graph	. 128
Horizontal Tree	. 129
Kadiai Iree	. 130
Sunburst	. 131
Arrow Chart	. 132
Add Gridlines to Charts	. 133
Screens	. 134
Screen Builder	. 134
Creating and Editing Screens	. 135

Screen Layout	136
Hero Text	137
Action Buttons	138
Master Detail	139
Boards	140
Creating, Viewing and Editing Boards	140
Board Settings	142
Creating Records on a Board	144
Board Operations	145
Calendar	146
Security	146
Access Control	146
Record Access	147
Navigation Access	149
User Roles	151
Role Access	152
Role Nesting	153
User Accounts	155
Self Serve Reports	159
Password Policy	161
Administrative Roles	163
Metadata-Based Security	171
Security Relationships	173
Surveys	182
Surveys Overview	182
Responding to a Survey	183
Surveys in Workflows	103
	104
Croating Survey	105
Question Types	107
Question Types	10/
Minuting Questions	109
Viewing Responses	101
	191
Branching	193
Survey Security	194
Survey Layout	107
Application	197
	198
Ealing Surveys	199
Colouisticas in Workflours	201
	201
Workflow Analyser	202
Creating and Editing Workflows	204
Inputs	205
Outputs	207
	208
Security	210
Activities Overview	211
Activities	213
Activity Settings	213
Data Activities	215

Create	215
Update	216
Delete	217
Clone	218
Change Type	220
Get Records	221
For Each	223
Gateway	224
User Activities	225
User Action	225
User Input	228
Send Email	230
User Message	234
Launch Person Campaign	236
Launch Target Campaign	237
System Activities	238
Assign to Variable	238
Run Workflow	239
Create Link	240
	240
End Event	242
Sequence to End	242
Integration Activities	245
Generate Document	244
Export To	244
EXPORT TO ANTIMAL EXPORT TO ANTIAL EXPORT	245
FTD Dut	240
Import Spreadsheet	247
Notify	249
	250
	202
	200
Chiest Event Triggers	200
Object Event Inggers	254
Schedule Triggers	200
Denning Schedules	200
Verlage Dung	258
WORKHOW RUNS	200
Examine Kun	201
Connect a Workflow to an ADI Callaut Library	200
Manually Dun a Workflow	207
	271
Document Generation	2/3
Document Generation Overview	273
Converte Mail Marga Fields	274
Sample Mall Merge Fields	275
Microsoft Word Mail Merge Fields	2/8
Generating Documents	280
MICROSOTT WORD INTEROPERADILITY	281
	282
Sample Calculations	282
Calculation Operators	284

Calcula	tion Functions	287
Ger	eral Functions	287
	currentuser	287
	context	288
	convert	289
	iif	290
	isnull	291
	link	292
	Resource Function	295
Agg	regate Functions	297
	count	297
	any	298
	every	299
	sum	300
	avg	301
	stdev	302
	max	303
	min	305
	join	307
Dat	e and Time Functions	308
	dateadd	308
	datediff	309
	datefromparts	310
	datename	311
	datetimefromparts	312
	day	313
	dayofyear	314
	getdate	315
	getdatetime	316
	gettime	317
	hour	318
	minute	319
	month	320
	quarter	321
	second	322
	timefromparts	323
	week	324
	weekday	325
	year	326
List	Functions	327
	concat	327
	distinct	328
	first	329
	last	330
	reverse	331
	skip	332
Mat	hematical Functions	333
	abs	333
	ceiling	334
	exp	335
	floor	336

log	337
log10	338
power	339
round	340
sign	341
square	342
sqrt	343
rand	344
Text Functions	345
charindex	345
len	346
left	347
newguid	348
replace	349
right	350
substring	351
tolower	352
toupper	353
Calculation Keywords	354
case	354
in	357
let select	359
order by	362
where	364
Calculation Language Features	366
Comments	366
Markup Keywords	367
Text Templates	369
Calculation Names and Identifiers	374
Calculation Operators	378
Comparison Operators	378
Logic Operators	380
Mathematical Operators	382
String Operators	384
Data Types	385
Data Type Limits and Field Limits	385
Data types within calculations	386
Converting between data types	389
Dates. Times and Time Zones	392
Document Calculations	398
insert chart	398
list	402
Calculation Editor	404
Samples	408
Actionable Emails	408
Smart Email Handling	409
Managing Events and Invitations	413
Smart Survey Handling	417
Public Forms	418
Best Practices	421
Email Templates	421

Platform Capacities	428
Exporting and Importing Resources	432
Tenant Health Check	434
Troubleshooting	436
Workflows v2	438
Activities	438
Data Activities	438
Update	438
Delete	440
Clone	441
Change Type	444
User Activities	447
System Activities	447
Integration Activities	447
Triggers	447
Troubleshooting	447
Examining Workflow Runs	447
FAQ	451
Introduction	451
A Workflow has started to fail despite the Workflow was unchanged	452
My Workflow Runs are not running in the order I expect	455
Classic Configuration	463
Getting Started	463
Welcome to the ReadiNow platform	463
Introduction to ReadiNowTerminology	464
Introduction to ReadiNow Application Components	465
Introduction to Objects	466
Introduction to Reports	468
Introduction to Forms	469
Introduction to Charts	470
Introduction to Screens	471
Introduction to Boards	472
Creating Components	473
Creating an Application	473
Creating an Object	474
Creating a Report	476
Creating a Form	477
Creating a Chart	478
Creating Relationships	479
Configuring Navigation	480
Drafts	481
13. Application Breakdown - Navigation - leave this one	481
4. Application Breakdown - Application - leave this one for now	483
6. Application Breakdown - Relationships - leave this one	485
7.Introduction to Forms - leave this one	487
Nova Configuration	489
What Is a Nova Application?	489
What Is a Nova Application?	489
Creating a Nova application	490
Editing an Existing Nova Application	493
Properties of a Nova Application	494

	Enabling and Disabling a Nova Application	496
I	What are Nova Pages?	497
	What Are Nova Pages?	497
	Creating a Nova Page	498
	Page Properties	499
	Configuring the Menu structure	500
	Desktop/Tablet/Mobile	503
I	What are Page components?	506
	What are page components?	506
	Horizontal & Vertical Container	508
	Tab Container	510
	Button	511
	Image	513
	Data Table	515
	Chart	517
	Hero Counter	519
	Page Filter	522
	Page Heading	523
	Text	525
	Binding	527
	Selecting Page Elements	528
	Creating a Shared Page	529
	Creating a Shared Page	529
	Shared Page Settings	530
	Adding Fields/Relationships to a page	532
	Creating a Multi-Step Page	534
	Identifying Issues on the page	537
	Identifying Issues on the page	537
AI Fe	eatures	540
I	ReadiNow Responsible Al	540
(Configuring and using AI Suggest	543
-	Tips for effective AI Suggest prompts	545
Best	Practices	546
I	Best Practices Index	546
	Applications Best Practices	547
I	Boards Best Practices	548
(Calculations Best Practices	549
(Charts Best Practices	550
F	Forms Best Practices	551
1	Navigation Best Practices	553
(Objects Best Practices	554
F	Public Forms Best Practices	555
ŀ	Relationships Best Practices	559
F	Reports Best Practices	560
6	Security Rules Best Practices	562
	Screens Best Practices	564
١	Workflows Best Practices	565
Δdm	inistration	570
	Auditing	570
,	Configuration Auditing	570
	Record Auditing	571
		5,1

Record Change Auditing	572
Record Audit Log	573
Event Log	574
Event Log Settings	575
Contextual Audit Log	576
Security Audit Log	577
Integration	580
Credentials	580
Scheduled Import	581
Scheduled Export	582
Import Spreadsheet	583
Import Runs	587
API Callouts	588
API Callouts Overview	588
Configuring an API Callout	589
API Callout in a Workflow	602
Processing List Responses	603
Authentication and Encryption	604
Connecting to Azure APIs	606
Azure Application Permissions	608
Azure Delegated Permissions	613
Connect a Workflow to an API	619
Open Weather Map API Example	621
Record APIs	626
Record APIs - Getting Started	626
Record APIs - Record Types	632
Record APIs - Reading Data	634
Record APIs - Creating And Modifying Data	638
REST API	642
REST API for POST and PLIT method calls	642
REST API for GET method calls	649
Objects	650
Belationshins	650
Resource Keys	656
Sensitive Data	659
Object Inheritance	662
Settinas	665
Conditional Format Icons	665
Add a Document Type	666
Email Server Settings	668
General Settings	669
Image Settings	009
Indaye Settings	071
Notification Provider	674
Topant Bollback	074
Terialit Rollback	070
Themas	0/9
Inemes	
	084
Security	68/
Ir kanges	687

Password Policy	688
Changing Password	690
Configure Single Sign On	691
SFTP Credentials	706
Examining Workflow Runs	708
File Download Audit Report	712
Maintenance Periods	714
Notifications	717
Tenant Health Check	723
Tenant Refresh	725
Release Notes	727
Release Notes 2.197 (09 January 2025)	727
Previous Release Notes	730
Release Notes 2.196 (28 November 2024)	730
Release Notes 2.195 (31 October 2024)	732
Release Notes 2.194 (03 October 2024)	735
Release Notes 2.193 (05 September 2024)	737
Release Notes 2.192 (08 August 2024)	740
Release Notes 2.191 (11 July 2024)	743
Release Notes 2.190 (13 June 2024)	745
Release Notes 2.189 (16 May 2024)	747
Release Notes 2.188 (18 April 2024)	749
Release Notes 2.187 (21st March 2024)	751
Release Notes 2.186 (22nd February, 2024)	753
Release Notes 2.185 (25th January 2024)	755
Release Notes 2.184 (14th December 2023)	757
Release Notes 2.183 (16th November 2023)	759
Release Notes 2.182 (19th October 2023)	761
Release Notes 2.181 (21st September 2023)	762
Release Notes 2.180 (24th August 2023)	764
Release Notes 2.179 (27th July 2023)	766
Release Notes 2.178 (29th June 2023)	767
Release Notes 2.177 (1st June, 2023)	768
Release Notes 2.176 (4th May, 2023)	769
Release Notes 2.175 (6th April, 2023)	770
Release Notes 2.174 (9th March, 2023)	772
Release Notes 2.173 (9th February, 2023)	773
Release Notes 2.172 (12th January, 2023)	774
Release Notes 2.171 (1st December, 2022)	775
Release Notes 2.170 (3rd November, 2022)	776
Release Notes 2.169 (6th October, 2022)	777
Release Notes 2.168 (8th September, 2022)	778
Release Notes 2.167 (11th August, 2022)	//9
Release Notes 2.166 (14th July, 2022)	/80
Release Notes 2.165 (16th June, 2022)	/81
Release Notes 2.164 (5th May, 2022)	/82
Release Notes 2.163 (10th April, 2022)	/83
Release Notes 2.162 (March, 2022)	/84
Release Notes 2.161 (February, 2022)	/85
Release Notes 2.160 (January, 2022)	/86
Release Notes 2.159 (November, 2021)	788

Release N	Notes	2.158 (0	ctober, 2021)	789
Release N	Notes	2.157 (3	0th September, 2021)	791
Release N	Notes	2.156 (S	eptember, 2021)	792
Release N	Notes	2.155 (5	th August, 2021)	793
Release N	Notes	2.154 (Ju	ıly, 2021)	794
Release N	Notes	2.153 (Ju	ine, 2021)	795
Release N	Notes	2.152 (1	3th May, 2021)	796
Release N	Notes	2.151 (1	5th April, 2021)	798
Release N	Notes	2.150 (1	8th March, 2021)	799
Release N	Notes	2.149 (F	ebruary 2021) 8	800
Release N	Notes	2.148 (Ja	inuary 2021)	801
Release N	Notes	2.147 (D	ecember 10th 2020) 8	802
Release N	Notes	2.146 (N	ovember 12th 2020) 8	803
Release N	Notes	2.145 (0	ctober 15th 2020) 8	804
Release N	Notes	2.144 (S	eptember 17, 2020) 8	807
Release N	Notes	2.143 (A	ugust 20th, 2020) 8	809
Release N	Notes	2.142 (Ju	ıly 23rd, 2020) 8	810
Release N	Notes	for 2.141	(June 25th, 2020) 8	812
Release N	Notes	for 2.140) (May 28th, 2020) 8	814
Release N	Notes	for 2.139) (April 30th, 2020) 8	816
Release N	Notes	for 2.138	3 (April 2nd, 2020) 8	818
Release N	Notes	for 2.137	' (March 5th, 2020) 8	821
Release N	Notes	for 2.136	δ (February 6th, 2020) 8	826
Release N	Notes	for 2.135	ة (9th January, 2020) ٤	835
Release N	Notes	for 2.134	۱ (14th November, 2019) ٤	836
Release N	Notes	for 2.133	3 (17th October, 2019) 8	839
Release N	Notes	for 2.132	2 8	840
Release N	Notes	for 2.131	٤ ٤	842
Release N	Notes	for 2.130) {	846
Release N	Notes	for 2.129) {	849
Release N	Notes	for 2.128	3 8	852
Release N	Notes	for 2.127	{	854
Release N	Notes	for 2.126	۶ ٤	859
Release N	Notes	for 2.125	5 8	864
Release N	Notes	for 2.124	٤ ٤	868
Release N	Notes	for 2.123	3 8	870
Release N	Notes	for 2.122	2 8	871
Release N	Notes	for 2.121	8	874
Release N	Notes	for 2.120) {	875
Release N	Notes	for 2.119) {	879
Release N	Notes	for 2.118	3 8	881
Release N	Notes	for 2.117	/ {	883
Release N	Notes	for 2.116	5	884
Release N	Notes	for 2.115	5 8	885
Release N	Notes	for 2.114	٤ ٤	887
Release N	Notes	for 2.113	3 8	889
Release N	Notes	for 2.112	2 8	891
Release N	Notes	for 2.111	٤ ٤	893
Release N	Notes	for 2.110)	895
Release N	Notes	for 2.109	8	896
Release N	Notes	for 2.108	3 8	898

Release Notes for 2.107	. 900
Release Notes for 2.106	. 901
Release Notes for 2.105	. 902
Release Notes for 2.104	. 904
Release Notes for 2.103	. 906
Release Notes for 2.102	. 907
Release Notes for 2.101	. 909
Release Notes for 2.100	. 912
Release Notes for 2.99	. 913
Release Notes for 2.98	. 916
Release Notes for 2.97	. 918
Release Notes for 2.96	. 920
Release Notes for 2.95	. 923
Release Notes for 2.94	. 924
Release Notes for 2.93	. 926
Release Notes for 2.92	. 928
Release Notes for 2.91	. 929
Release Notes for 2.90	. 930
Release Notes for 2.89	. 932
Release Notes for 2.88	. 933
Release Notes for 2.87	. 935
Release Notes for 2.86	. 936
Release Notes for 2.85	. 940
Release Notes for 2.84	. 943
Release Notes for 2.83	. 948
Release Notes for 2.82	. 949
Release Notes for 2.81	. 950
Release Notes for 2.80	. 952
Release Notes for 2.79	. 954
Release Notes for 2.78	. 955
Release Notes for 2.77	. 957
Release Notes for 2.76	. 960
Release Notes for 2.75	. 963
Release Notes for 2.74	. 965
Release Notes for 2.73	. 969
General Notices	. 971
End of Support for Legacy Calculation Engine	971
End of Support for TLS versions 1.0 and 1.1	972
Removal of Calendar Feature in Classic	. 973
Platform Information	975
Technical Architecture Overview	975
Tenant Isolation Model	070
Platform Security	982
Tenant Configurable Security Tools	985
Access Control Security	988
Canacity Management	005
HTTP/2 Support	292
Draft Davas	222
	. 994
Snippet lest	994
Configure Landing Pages	995
Landing Page FAQ	. 999

Security & Policies	1001
Backup & Retention Policy	1001
Ethical Trading & Modern Slavery Policy	1003
Platform Privacy Policy	1004
Vulnerabilities	1005
Spring4Shell (CVE-2022-22965)	1005
Log4j Vulnerability (CVE-2021-44228)	1006
Orphan Pages	1007
Alternative Report View: Replacing the Withdrawn Classic Calendar Feature	1007
Exclude Internal Data from Tenant Refresh	1010
Roadmap	1011
Scheduled Maintenance & Upgrades	1013
Contact us	1014

Logging In

Last Modified on 18/03/2024 12:40 pm AEDT

The ReadiNow platform is completely web based. To access the platform you will need:

- computer, tablet or mobile phone
- up-to-date web browser
- internet connection
- the URL for your ReadiNow tenant
- your credentials (username and password)

The URL for your ReadiNow tenant will take the form of: https://<chosen.name>.readinow.com/sp/#/<tenant.name> where:

- <chosen name > may be your company name or a name that has significance to your company
- readinow.com/sp/# points to the ReadiNow platform infrastructure for your tenant
- <tenant.name> is the name for this particular tenant. Your company may have more than one tenant.

e.g. If the company name was Maple and the tenant name was Design, the URL would be: https://maple.readinow.com/sp/#/design

Enter your URL in your browser's address bar and this will take you to the login pane.



The fields of the login pane are:

- 1. Username
- 2. Password
- 3. Tenant name should have auto-populated for you based on your URL.
- 4. Identity provider could be a single sign on provider or ReadiNow authentication:

Your organisation may have configured single sign on, which allows you to log in with a single ID and

password to several software systems all belonging to your organisation. If single sign on has been enabled, there will be an appropriate name showing in the identity provider box. In this case you do not need to enter your username and password in the ReadiNow login pane.

- If the only option in the identity provider box is ReadiNow, you are authenticating with a username and password set up for you in the ReadiNow system. You need to enter this username and password before clicking Sign in.
- 5. Sign In button. Click this when you have completed any information required in the first four fields

Forgot your username or password

1. If you forget your login credentials, click the "Forgot your username or password?" link to retrieve your username or your password.

S Username	
A Password	
EDC	

2. You can either enter your **Email** or **Mobile Number** configured in the platform for the account holder of the account you are resetting password for and press SUBMIT.



3. If you entered your mobile number, enter the 6 digit code received on entered Mobile Number and the set new password.

ReadiNow	
Please enter the code that was sent to mobile number +61234323456	
🔂 One time code	
🕂 New password	
Confirm password	
Go Back RESET PASSWOR	D
Resend C	Code
Code has been sent to mobile number provided. you don't receive code within 1 minute, please check the mobile number you have entered OR click on 'Resend Code' to request new code.	lf

4. Verify the details and click on RESET PASSWORD.

5. Once the password reset is successful, user will be redirected to the login page to login with new password.

Landing Page

Last Modified on 22/10/2020 9:10 am AEDT

The first page you reach after logging in is your landing page.

The exact contents of your landing page will depend on what your administrator has configured for you. Below is an example of a landing page.

Read/kow	1 Choose Application 😑 🔺 🗊 오 😝 🗆
Mary Beth ²	
Home Eusiness Continuity Issues Management Documents Corporate Obligation Management	
S	ample Landing Page

1. User menu

• Every page will have the same user menu in the top right corner. (See Navigation page for an explanation of this menu.)

2. Name

• The name associated with the logged in user

3. Application icon

- Each of these tiles, or icons, represents a separate application.
- The applications displayed on your landing page will reflect the applications your organisation has purchased and then made available to you.

4. Logo image

• There will always be a logo in the top left corner of the screen. This logo could be the ReadiNow logo, or the logo of your organisation. Clicking the logo will return you to the landing page.

Navigation

Last Modified on 21/10/2020 9:00 am AEDT

Key areas of the ReadiNow page layout are as follows:

Rea	adiNow								1	٩	Foster University	= 4	5	6	?	8
FOST	FER UNIVERSITY	HOGWART	'S UNI	VERSI	ry <mark>2</mark>											
																4
-	Reports				S	tuder	nt rep	ort list								
	Charts			(÷-	ACTION 👻	+ NEW	EDIT INLINE				Ŧ	Search		Q	
_	C			3	Student	Student		Address line1	Stat	e	Email address	Country	Balance	Gender		
	Screens				1145	Selma Te	rrell	P.O. Box 994, 8276	SA		Selma.Terrell@non	Australia	\$-79.17	Female	1	
	Qualificatio	ins screen			1221	Yoshi Jos	eph	Ap #770-9459 Qui:	5 SA		Yoshi.Joseph@Phas	Australia	\$237.50	Male		
					1149	Meredith	Alvarez	Ap #632-1121 Mag	j NSV	V	Meredith.Alvarez@	Australia	\$-62.50	Female		
	Staff screer	ı - all three			1139	Wayne A	/ery	Ap #928-6993 At A	N.		Wayne.Avery@mag	New Ze	\$-104.17	Male	_	

- 1. User menu the user menu contains the following functions from left to right:
 - Administration mode (the spanner icon, which appears only for users with the administrator role)
 - Application menu
 - User account menu
 - Recent items
 - Open tasks
 - Documentation
 - Maximise content (hides the tab menu and user menu)

2. Tab menu

• Tabs are used to distinguish sections within an application

3. Left menu

- Contains sections based on the context of the currently selected tab
- Click each section to expand it and see the list of pages it holds
- The left menu can be hidden by clicking the < arrow at the top of the left menu
- The left navigation can be customised by administrators

4. Main content area

- The main content of each page is presented here
- Pages can show different types of content such as reports, forms, charts and screens

Reports

Last Modified on 23/07/2020 3:46 pm AEST

Reports are used to list a set of records and to access the forms of individual records.

The screenshot presents an overview of basic capabilities when viewing a report.

- 1. Action menu bar allows you to create new records, activate Inline Editing and undertake other relevant actions (see Action Menus)
- 2. Analyser icon allows you to perform live filtering of data (see Analyser)
- 3. Quick search allows you to perform a quick search. Note: Quick search finds any matching result in text, choice, numeric or lookup columns
- 4. Select any row then select ACTION > View to open the form view of that record

Reports can be very powerful when used to analyse information. For a description of reporting capabilities, see Report Builder.

🔲 Stude	ent report							
🖒 👻 ACTION	- + NEW 🖍 EDIT INLINE	0				2 🕇	Search 3	٩
Stud	lentID Student	Address line1	State	Email address	Country	Balance	Gender	
	1145 Selma Terrell	P.O. Box 994, 8276 Vit	SA	Selma.Terrell@non.ca	Australia	\$-79.17	Female	*
	1221 Yoshi Joseph	Ap #770-9459 Quis Av.	SA	Yoshi.Joseph@Phasell	Australia	\$237.50	Male	
	1149 Meredith Alvarez	Ap #632-1121 Magna	NSW	Meredith.Alvarez@ad	Australia	\$-62.50	Female	
4	1139 Wayne Avery	Ap #928-6993 At Av.		Wayne.Avery@magna	New Zealand	\$-104.17	Male	
-	1132 Ezekiel Cooley	P.O. Box 447, 567 Se	NSW	Ezekiel.Cooley@ipsu	Australia	\$-133.33	Male	
	1146 Irene Roman	1619 Nunc Ave	SA	Irene.Roman@etipsu	Australia	\$-75.00	Female	
	1163 Sara Nieves	802-6839 Ac Street	QLD	Sara.Nieves@nec.co.uk	Australia	\$-4.17	Female	
	1173 Alvin Robinson	9854 Ante St.	SA	Alvin.Robinson@duiC	Australia	\$37.50	Male	
	1197 Alfonso Mcclure	132-6203 Aliquet Av.	VIC	Alfonso.Mcclure@acc	Australia	\$137.50	Male	
	1160 Baker Sparks	3510 Magna, St.	SA	Baker.Sparks@Namte	Australia	\$-16.67	Male	
	1174 Gray Byrd	P.O. Box 783, 2995 Ali	NSW	Gray.Byrd@nonlacinia	Australia	\$41.67	Male	
	1215 Kennedy Byers	400-7876 Et Rd.	ACT	Kennedy.Byers@nec	Australia	\$212.50	Male	
	1178 Cain Bonner	Ap #202-897 Consect	ACT	Cain.Bonner@metus	Australia	\$58.33	Male	
			Report in	view mode				

Inline Editing

Last Modified on 25/08/2020 10:49 am AEST

Editing a record directly from a report is possible with inline editing.

Editing inline on a report

To edit inline on a report:

- 1. Navigate to a report with records that you want to edit. Note: this can be a report in navigation area, a report on the screen or a report on a form.
- 2. Select EDIT INLINE in the Action menu bar.
- 3. Edit the fields as required. Edited rows appear highlighted in green.
 - Select SAVE CHANGES to save the changes.
 - Select **DISCARD CHANGES** to discard the changes.

Check

- Green rows show successful saves.
- Red rows show unsuccessful saves. A save is unsuccessful if it does not conform to the validation rules on the form (for example leaving a mandatory field blank).

Tip

After selecting **EDIT INLINE** select a row to set focus on the first cell. Press the Up/Down arrows to change rows being edited and press Tab to move across cells being edited.

Editing restrictions

Please refer to the notes below for details on inline editing behaviour.

In some cases, inline editing may not be available on certain cells.

Fields Types

Only the following field types can be edited inline:

- Text
- Multiline Text

- Number
- Autonumber
- Decimal
- Currency
- Date & Time
- Date
- Time
- Yes/No
- Choice
- Lookup

Conditions

To be able to inline edit a cell, the following conditions must be met:

- The field must be on the form that is assigned to the report, see Report Properties
- The field must be editable on the form that is assigned to the report i.e. must not be read-only
- The logged in user must have access to edit the record, see Record Access



Last Modified on 27/07/2020 2:33 pm AEST

Charts are based on Reports and are used to visualise the data in the report.

The screenshot presents an overview of basic capabilities when viewing a chart.

- 1. Chart data: select any segment of a chart to drill down to the underlying data
- 2. Chart heading
- 3. Values axis
- 4. Primary axis
- 5. Chart Legend

To build charts, see Chart Builder.



Forms

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:21 pm AEST

Forms are the main way to view and edit data. Forms are based on an object and have two modes:

- View Mode Fields are read only
- Edit Mode Fields are editable

To build forms, see Form Builder.

View Mode

The screenshot presents an overview of basic capabilities of a form in view mode.

- 1. BACK: navigate back to previous page
- 2. EDIT: put the form into Edit Mode
- 3. Fields on the form
- 4. A report on a form

ERSONAL DEATIL	S	ADDRESS DETAILS			STUDENT DETAILS	5		
tudentID :	1139	Address line1 :	Ap #928-6993 At Av.		Club :	Chess, Debating		
itle :	Dr.	Address line2 :			Library card # :	11124		
rst name :	Wayne	Country :	New Zealand		Balance :	\$356.00		
ast name :	Avery	State :	WA					
ender :	Male 3	Suburb :	Petone					
OB :	28/05/1991	Postcode :	5012					
none number :	(04) 8475 4456	Email address :	Wayne.Avery@magnaatorte	or.com				
Subjects Qualific	ations							
ubjects Qualific	:ations — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —					Ŧ	Search	Q
ubjects Qualific ACTION - ubject ID	:ations + NEW Ø, Ø2 ≠ EDIT INLINE Subjects	Qualifications		Credit Points	s Subject Mode	₹ Pre-requisi	Search	٩
Action - ubject ID 1005	tations + NEW & & PEDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Analytics	Qualifications Bachelor of Science	in Information	Credit Points	s Subject Mode	▼ Pre-requisit	Search	٩
ubjects Qualific c Action - ubject ID 1005 1005	+ NEW ≪ ⅔ ✓ EDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Data Analytics	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information	Credit Points	s Subject Mode j On campus j On campus	♥ Pre-requisi	Search tes	٩
Subjects Qualific ACTION - Ubject ID 1005 1005 1242	+ NEW % % Y EDIT INUNE Subjects Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Internet Programming	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information	Credit Points	5 Subject Mode 5 On campus 5 On campus 5 On campus	▼ Pre-requisit	Search	٩
iubjects Qualific с Астюн - ubject ID 1005 1242 1242	+ NEW % % Y EDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Internet Programming Advanced Internet Programming Advanced Internet Programming	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information in Information	Credit Points	s Subject Mode i On campus i On campus i On campus i On campus i On campus	♥ Pre-requisi	Search tes	¢
ubjects Qualific Caracteristics Qualific Action - ubject ID 1005 1005 1242 1242 1242 1004	+ NEW % % Y EDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Internet Programming Advanced Internet Programming Analytics Capstone Project	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Atelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information	Credit Points	s Subject Mode i On campus i On campus i On campus j On campus j On campus j On campus	♥ Pre-requisi	Search tes	Q.
Action - Qualifie • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	+ NEW % % Y EDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Internet Programming Advanced Internet Programming Analytics Capstone Project Analytics Capstone Project Analytics Capstone Project	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information	Credit Points	Subject Mode On campus	♥ Pre-requisi	Search tes	Q,
Subjects Qualifie Subject ID ACTION • Subject ID 31005 31005 31242 41004 41004 31242 31243	+ NEW % % Y EDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Data Analytics Advanced Internet Programming Advanced Internet Programming Advanced Internet Programming Analytics Capstone Project Analytics Capstone Project Analytics Capstone Project 8 Analytics Capstone Project 8	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information	Credit Points	Subject Mode On campus	₹ Pre-requisit	Search tes	4

Edit Mode

The screenshot presents an overview of basic capabilities of a form in edit mode.

- 1. SAVE: save your changes
- 2. X: close without saving

	1120		Address Defails			STODENT DETAILS	Chara Dahatian		
, .	1139		Address line 1	Ap #928-6993 At AV.		Club :	Criess, Debating	•	
ie :	Dr.	<u> </u>	Address line2 :			Library card # :	11124		
st name :	Wayne		Country :	New Zealand	•	Balance :	\$ 356		
st name :	Avery		State :	WA	•				
nder :	Male	•	Suburb :	Petone	•				
DB :	28/05/1991	**	Postcode :	5012					
ione number :	(04) 8475 4456		Email address :	Wayne.Avery@magnaatorto	or.com				
ubjects Qualificati	ons								
ubjects Qualificati	ons 						Ŧ	Search	Q
ubjects Qualificati	ons + New & 22 → EDIT INLINE Subjects		Qualifications		Credit Poin	ts Subject Mode	▼ Pre-requisi	Search	Q
ubjects_Qualificati ; - стом - ubject ID 1005	ons + New & 22 → EDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Ana	lytics	Qualifications Bachelor of Science	in Information	Credit Poin	ts Subject Mode	▼ Pre-requisi	Search	٩.
ubjects Qualificati ACTION ubject ID 1005 1005	ons + New & 22 → EDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Ana Advanced Data Ana	lytics lytics	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information	Credit Poin	ts Subject Mode 6 On campus 6 On campus	₹ Pre-requisi	Search ites	٩,
ubjects Qualificati ACTION - ubject ID 1005 1242	ons + NEW & 22 → EDIT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Ana Advanced Internet F	lytics lytics 'rogramming	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information	Credit Poin	ts Subject Mode 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus	₹ Pre-requisi	Search	٩
ubjects Qualificati ACTION ubject ID 1005 1242 1242	ons + NEW & 2 2 FENT INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Ana Advanced Internet F Advanced Internet F	lytics lytics 'rogramming 'rogramming	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information in Information	Credit Poin	ts Subject Mode 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus	▼ Pre-requisi	Search	¢
ubjects Qualificati • ACTION • ubject ID 1005 1025 1242 1242 1004	ons + NEW & 2 2 FEDTINUNE Subjects Advanced Data Ana Advanced Data Ana Advanced Internet F Advanced Internet F Analytics Capstone	lytics lytics 'rogramming 'rogramming Project	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information	* Credit Poin	ts Subject Mode 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus	₹ Pre-requisi	Search ites	Q.
ubjects Qualificati x ACTION - ubject ID 1005 1005 1242 1242 1244 1004 1004	ons + NEW & 2 2 FEDTINUNE Subjects Advanced Data Ana Advanced Data Ana Advanced Internet F Advanced Internet F Advanced Internet F Analytics Capstone Analytics Capstone	lytics Yrogramming Yrogramming Project Project	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information	* Credit Poin	ts Subject Mode 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus	₹ Pre-requisi	Search ites	٩
Subjects Qualificati 5 ACTION ubject ID 1005 1005 1242 1242 1244 1004 1243	ons + NEW & 2 2 FEDTI INLINE Subjects Advanced Data Ana Advanced Data Ana Advanced Internet F Advanced Internet F Advanced Internet F Advanced Internet F Analytics Capstone Analytics Capstone	lytics lytics Programming Project Project Project B	Qualifications Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science Bachelor of Science	in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information in Information	Credit Poin	ts Subject Mode 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus 6 On campus	₹ Pre-requisi	Search ites	٩

Screens

Last Modified on 04/08/2020 5:47 pm AEST

Screens are used to combine multiple reports, forms and charts onto a single page.

To build screens, see Screen Builder.



Changing Password

Last Modified on 22/10/2020 9:57 am AEDT

You can change your password at any time.

To change your password:

- 1. Navigate to the User Menu in the top right corner
- 2. Select the User Account icon. The menu appears.
- 3. Select Change password. The Change password dialog appears.
- 4. Type the old password, and then type the new password. Re-enter your new password in the **Confirm** password field.
- 5. Select **OK** to save changes.



The new password can only be set as defined in the Password Policy rules.

Using Global Search

Last Modified on 26/11/2020 5:17 pm AEDT

Overview

The Global Search feature allows you to easily find any record, document, reports etc from anywhere within ReadiNow.

Note: Global Search is disabled by default, for information about enabling and configuring Global Search please see: Configuring Global Search.

Global Search can be accessed throughout the ReadiNow Platform via the search icon located in the header. To cancel a search click outside the search window (or press 'escape'). This article explains how to use Global Search and covers:

- Search Expressions
- Search Results
- Search Options
- Saving Searches

Search Expressions

Keyword Matching

The most common type of search is where you simply enter a keyword into the search input. For example you might search for an employee by entering their first name; or just the first few letter of their name.

By default searching for 'David' will return any record, document, chart, etc. that contains the name David. It will also return anything that contains (for example) 'Davidson'. Note that results that represent an exact match will appear higher in the search results.

Wild Cards

Global search supports wild card searches using <u>'?'</u> and <u>"*'</u> to represent a 'single character' and 'many characters' respectively. For example:

- the '?' in d?g matches any single character and will return anything that contains: dig, dog, dag, etc.
- the '*' in d*g matches any number of characters and will return items that contain: dig, ding, dragging, etc.

Wild cards:

- will NOT match white-space
- will match non-alphanumeric characters (e.g. slashes, apostrophes, colons etc.)

Excluding Terms

Search results can be narrowed by excluding results that contain a specific term. You can exclude all items that contain a specific term by prefixing the term with a 'minus sign', for example: "find_this -but_not_this"

Entity ID

In addition to searching using text you can search directly on entity Ids.

Empty Expression

If you open Global Search but do NOT enter a search expression you will typically see a history of clicked search results; these are the last 10 recently visited search results. This list is updated every time you click on a search result. In addition to the recently visited list, you will also see any searches that you have saved (saving searches is explained below).

Search Results

Ranking

Each result in the search results list provides an overview of what the item is. Search results are ordered by relevance, searches that match: headings, titles, names, etc. are prioritised over those that match *'body content'*.

Navigation

As you scroll toward the bottom of the results list additional results will be loaded, if available. You can also use keyboard navigation (using the up/down arrow keys) to index through the list, however keyboard navigation does **not** cause more results to load when reaching the end of the list, instead the results wrap around to the top again.

You can navigate to a search result by clicking on the result (or by 'high-lighting' it using the keyboard up/down arrow keys and pressing enter). Navigating to a search result:

- takes you to the corresponding item
- adds the result to your searches history

The search history enhances navigation by allowing you to quickly and easily return to results, see Empty Expression.

The basic behaviour to be expected when navigating to search results is as follows:

- If the selected item exists in the navigation tree, it will be navigated to
- Boards, Charts, Reports, etc. will navigate to their 'default views'
- Applications will navigate to the application's default landing page
- All other items will navigate to their default Form view

Search Options

Filter by Object / Resource Type

Search expressions can be refined by filtering against Object type. Object types can be selected via the 'Resources' drop-down. This will show a pop-up window containing available resource types.

Clicking the checkbox beside a resource will enable/disable it as well as all of its ancestors and descendants, this is useful for limiting your search to something specific, e.g. a 'Person'.

To locate a Type quickly, use the filter box at the top. Entering values in here will reduce the list of Types to only show those that contain a sub-string match. The filter can be cleared by clicking on the cross that appears to the right, once cleared all available nodes will be visible again.

Selecting / deselecting resources updates the search results in real time. The name of the button (and its tool-tip) change according to which resources are selected.

Document Types

Global Search can also index documents from your document library. Documents that are encrypted, password protected, or that use proprietary encoding will only be indexed based on file names etc. When you conduct a search you can choose to exclude specific document types by deselecting them from the search options. For example you can search for PDFs and MS Word documents but not Excel Spreadsheets.

Date Ranges

By default Global Search includes results from all dates. You can narrow search results according to when items were last modified date IF the item contains date data.

NOTE: When a date range is specified results that do not contain date information are excluded.

Saving Searches

You can save searches (expressions + search options) to reuse. Setup a search using as many of the features you wish and save the search with a descriptive name. Saved searches appear in a list.

Browser Support

Last Modified on 05/10/2022 12:08 pm AEDT

ReadiNow is a web based product. Users require an Internet browser and Internet connection.

The currently supported browsers are listed below:

Vendor	Platform	Browser	Version
Google	Windows	Chrome	Versions up to 12 months old
Mozilla Foundation	Windows	Firefox	Versions up to 12 months old
Microsoft	Windows 10	Edge	Versions up to 12 months old
Apple	Mac	Safari	Versions up to 12 months old

Mobile devices are subject to the same browser support policy. Additionally, ReadiNow tests the platform using the latest version of Android and IOS. Any issues found while using a mobile device will be prioritized as per ReadiNow's Support and Maintenance Plans.

Local Settings & Date Format

Last Modified on 20/06/2022 10:30 am AEST

The ReadiNow user interface is provided by your web browser and will therefore display dates etc according to each user's individual browser settings, as opposed to the system settings.

To ensure dates and currency are correctly formatted, please ensure your browser is set to use the language appropriate to their business needs. This can typically be changed via your browser settings.

Please refer to your browser documentation to find out how to change the settings.



ReadiNow offers both online and instructor-led platform training for various levels. It is recommended that any user undertaking in an administration or configuration activity completes the appropriate ReadiNow training course. Participants receive digital certificates on completion of the respective training course.



Platform Training

Target

Audience

Key Topics

General System Administrator or Business Analyst

- General Navigation
 - Data Modelling
 - Creating objects, forms & fields
 - Show & Hide fields
 - Relationships
 - Spreadsheet Import
 - Calculations
 - Reporting
 - Charts & analytics
 - Screens and dashboards
 - Configuring security roles
 - Adding user accounts
 - Intermediate Microsoft office skills (e.g. basic excel formulas)

Prerequisites

- Prior experience in using cloud based technologies
- Good understanding of the business requirements for using ReadiNow

	• Access to online training course designed to take you step by step through creating an
	application to cover the topics listed above
	• Access to your own dedicated online training tenant for you to complete the training
Course	modules. This access is for 3 months from date of acceptance. (Note: this training tenant
Inclusions	does not fail under SLA's defined in the agreement)
(Online)	Remote support from ReadiNow professional services consultant. Up to 3 hours of
	consultant time (per person) provided remotely to assist with Q&A regarding training.
	Consultant time to be booked via a support request, and is available for 3 months from
	date of acceptance
Course	Hard-copy training material (with soft-copy available to participants on request) This
Inclusions	material consists of reference material and a collection of exercises to build a complete
(Instructor-	fleet management application.
led)	• Access to a dedicated online training tenant for the duration of the course.

Advanced Training

Target AudienceTechnical Business Analyst, Developer, or System Administrator.

- Application building best practice
- Data modelling with inheritance
- Understanding relationship types & relationship ownership
- Advanced Workflows
 - Cloning Records
 - Using survey activities
 - Triggering child workflows
 - Generating documents through workflows
 - User Input
 - User Notifications
 - Using variables
- Advanced reporting including

Key Topics Covered

- Summarised Reports
- Using custom joins
- Recursive reports
- Advanced report options
- Advanced Analytics
 - Using multiple series
 - Axis scale options
 - Using Inheritance
- Advanced security (using 'secures to' flag)
- Advanced calculation functions
- Configuring hierarchy objects
- Import/Export of schema elements
- Configuring Email Listener
- Completion of ReadiNow General Training

Prerequisites

• Minimum 3 months using ReadiNow to configure business solutions

Configuring Global Search

Last Modified on 04/10/2020 1:24 pm AEDT

Overview

This article explains how to enable configure Global Search and covers:

- Data Security Considerations
- Indexing Options
- Enabling Global Search

For general use as well as 'tips and tricks' for getting the most out of Global Search, see this article: Using Global Search

Data Security Considerations

Security Access Rules

Global Search was developed with data security in mind. As expected the search results respect the security rules for each Role in your tenant. Accordingly, Global Search results for different users will be limited by the Security Access Rules in place. It is important to note that when users navigate to a search result they will be taken to the 'Default View' for the corresponding Record or Report.

In situations where UI and/or Navigation controls have been inappropriately implemented as a surrogate for security rules, users may see information that is normally hidden from them. Therefore BEFORE enabling Global Search it is essential that you understand how your Security Rules are set up, and whether or not UI and/or Navigation controls are used to hide sensitive data.

In most cases you can enable Global Search full indexing with confidence, however IF there is any doubt about the potential use of UI and/or Navigation controls to hide sensitive data then it is recommended that Global Search is ONLY enabled for entities that do NOT contain sensitive data until appropriate security rules are implemented.

Document Encryption

Global Search can also be used to index your documents. By design Global Search makes no attempt to index or display the content of documents that are: encrypted, pass-word protected, or that use proprietary encoding (such as .doc). However, depending on Security Access Rules, these documents may still show up in search results if a search expression matches the document meta-data. In such cases a preview of the document will not be available.

Indexing Options

In most cases you can confidently enable Global Search with full indexing. However, if there are concerns about inappropriate use of UI and/or Navigation controls to hide sensitive data then you should ensure you understand your entity model and the expected behaviour of indexing.

When setting up indexing it is helpful to think of the check-boxes against each Object in your entity model as an explicit *include* (rather than an explicit exclude). For example if you have the following structure:

[✓] Person (Abstract)
- [✓] Contractor (Derived from Person)
- [✓] Employee (Derived from Person)
- [✓] Manager (Derived from Employee)

Unless Security Access Rules for the Objects specify 'Exact Type' the following behaviour is expected:

- 1. Deselecting 'Manager' will NOT exclude managers from the search results Manager is implicitly included as an 'Employee'
- 2. Deselecting 'Person' & 'Manager' will NOT exclude managers from the search results Manager is implicitly included as an 'Employee'
- 3. Deselecting 'Person' & 'Contractor' WILL exclude contractors from the search results Employees and managers are explicitly included

Enabling Global Search

✓ BEFORE enabling Global Search: please read Data Security Considerations AND Indexing Options

Global Search is disabled by default and the icon that normally appears in the header is hidden until it is enabled. To enable Global Search:

- 1. navigate to Administration > Settings (on left) > Global Search Settings
- 2. check the box: 'Indexing enabled'
- 3. optional change indexing options (see tips below)
- 4. press 'Save' (indexing may take a few minutes to complete)

Note:

Global Search discards the current index and creates a new index whenever indexing options are saved.

Tip:

To quickly deselect all Objects (or Types, Documents):

- select the radio button 'No objects'
- press 'Save' (on saving the corresponding entities will be deselected and the index will be rebuilt)

Offline Mobile

Last Modified on 16/08/2021 4:08 pm AEST

Overview

Offline Mobile is an app that enables people to capture structured information when they are on-the-go, even without internet access at the time.

A classic use case is where someone is working remotely or in a 'reception blackspot' and needs to capture, for example, details of an incident or investigation.

With Offline Mobile your users can:

- sign in using their ReadiNow account
- download Forms to their mobile device
- create draft record while offline
 - choice field pickers
 - relationship pickers
 - date time fields
 - image fields
- review & edit their draft records
- upload drafts to create new records

ReadiNow Offline **How to Get Started**While you're online, sign into the ReadiNow Platform. Then select and download any Forms that you need to use when you go offline.

Sign in

Image: homeImage: homeImage: homeImage: homeOffline Mobile lets you create records on-the-go, even
without a network connection.

How it works

Create a new Form (or use an existing Form) that should be available to people on-the-go. Add the Form to the tenant's Offline Profiles (Administration > Settings > Offline Profiles) and send your Users the link provided.

[Image of Admin Screen - Offline Profiles]

The link provided by Offline Profiles will take your users to the Offline Mobile App for your Tenant. Access to the App requires a User Account, and once authenticated, Users will see the Forms that are available to them (as determined by the Security Rules for their role). Users are also prompted to add Offline Mobile to their device home screen (recommended for performance & accessibility).

Users 'enable' the Forms they need and download them to their device; Forms can also be enabled by force via the Offline Profiles page. Once downloaded the Forms can be accessed from the App's 'home' screen.

On the home screen tapping a Form opens it for data capture, to created a draft Record. Closing a draft record (Form) moves it to the 'Uploads' screen. Draft records can be reopened at any time for further editing (unless they have been deleted or already uploaded by the User).

Forms on the uploads screen can be opened for review or edit; or they can be deleted. Forms that are 'complete' can also be synchronised to your tenant (if an internet connection is available).

Administration

Offline Profiles

An offline profile is a collection of Forms that share common settings, specifically:

- whether the profile is enabled or disabled
- whether users can turn a Form Off or not

Security Considerations

Offline Mobile respects the Security Rules for your tenant. If a User Role does not have permission to access the Form on your tenant they will be able to access the Form on their Device (it won't be listed as an available Form).

Offline Mobile does NOT allow users to download any Records. Once a record has been uploaded it will no longer be accessible using Offline Mobile.

In the context of the Offline Mobile app, logging in enables the logged in user to check for and download Forms for Offline use and to upload completed records. Since the application is intended for Offline use, logging in is not required to create, view and edit draft records.

The app supports both Single Sign On (SSO) as well as native authentication (i.e. UserName & Password). To use Offline Mobile without a network connected the user must have already logged into the App and downloaded the forms required for offline use, this requires an internet connection.

Form Design Considerations

What is supported:

- Mandatory Fields
- Image upload
- Show Hide Rules
- Lookups and Relationships (Pickers)

Best Practices

- keep form names short
- forms should be uniquely identifiable from the start of their name
- test forms

Public Forms Security Overview

Last Modified on 20/04/2021 9:47 am AEST

Overview

Public Forms provide a lightweight, low friction solution that allows you to collect information from unauthenticated users, i.e. members of the public. Generally Public Forms are for data entry and do NOT support retrieval and/or editing of existing Records.

This article provides an overview of the security features put in place for Public Forms. To learn more about implementing Public Forms, refer to Public Forms Best Practices.

IP Ranges

Respects IP ranges as configured in the general tenant settings.

reCaptcha v3

Low friction reCaptcha technology powered by Google to mitigate automated form submission.

Admin only Configuration

The 'out-of-Box' default security settings prevent non-administrators from creating Public Forms; this can configured.

File Upload Restrictions

Only permits common image file types to be uploaded (e.g. png, jpg, etc.) with maximum file size restricted to 20 MB and built in rate limiting. Automatic cleanup of image files that are not associated with a specific record.

Silent Failure

Operations which fail in a way that potentially 'leaks' information are designed to fail silently.

Secure, Rate Limited API Endpoints

Public Forms use dedicated API endpoints and server side filtering to minimise the amount of information reaching the browser. Rate Limits are hard coded to mitigate abuse.

Per Form Enable / Disable

Each Public Form has the ability to be enabled / disabled individually.

Logging

Configuration Change

Configuration changes made to Public Forms are logged.

Security Logging

A security log record is created each time a user accesses a Public Form.

Event Logging

Event logging can be configured for Public Forms

Input Sanitation

Input fields are sanitised to remove potentially malicious string sequences.

Lookup Restrictions

To reduce the risk of accidental data exposure, Public Forms 'picker reports' for lookups are restricted to display 1 single 'text' field and search, analyser is removed.

Workflow Restrictions

Workflows that are triggered by a record creation event are required to: 'run as owner'

Documented Best Practices

In addition to the built-in security precautions (*outlined above*) we strongly recommend adopting the additional identified best practices for Public Forms. These provide a strategy for isolating 'dirty' data (*unverified submitted by unauthenticated users*) from 'clean' data (*generated by trusted, authenticated users*).



Last Modified on 25/08/2022 9:51 am AEST

Updated Articles

New Articles

Popular Articles

Report Builder

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:25 pm AEST

To go to the Report Builder mode:

- 1. Navigate to the report in the console.
- 2. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner.
- 3. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner of report. The menu appears.
- 4. Select Modify Report. The report displays in Report Builder mode.

For a general overview to the areas of the report builder, see the screenshot.

- 1. The Relationship viewer pane displays the current object being reported on, as well as all related objects used in this report
- 2. The Field & Related Objects pane show all the fields and lookups that can be added to this report
- The report builder menu bar contains actions such as Reload, Properties, Save and Save as (seeReport Builder Menu)
- 4. The Action menu bar (see Action Menus)

ReadiNow				× Fos	ter University 🚍 💄 🕜 🗂
Readi BUILDER	 Drag and Drop items from left menu to particular 	age 🏧		3 & RELOAD	. PROPERTIES 🗎 SAVE 🎲 SAVE AS 🛛 🗙
Report	Student report				
Relationship viewer 1	ACTIONS ◀ + NEW ✓ EDIT INLIN	e 4			Ŧ
Σ 🗏 🤇 +	StudentID Student	t Address line1	State	Country	Balance Gender
Student	1145 Selma T	Terrell P.O. Box 994, 8276 Vitae	SA	Australia	\$-79.17 Female
- 🏎 Country	1221 Yoshi Jo	oseph Ap #770-9459 Quis Av.	SA	Australia	\$237.50 Male
- 🛏 Gender	1149 Meredit	th Alvarez Ap #632-1121 Magna St.	NSW	Australia	\$-62.50 Female
🛏 State	1139 Wayne	Avery Ap #928-6993 At Av.		New Zealand \$	-104.17 Male
• Store	1132 Ezekiel	Cooley P.O. Box 447, 567 Sempe	NSW	Australia \$	-133.33 Male
- Ber Suburb	1146 Irene Ro	oman 1619 Nunc Ave	SA	Australia	\$-75.00 Female
Fields & Related Objects 2	1163 Sara Ni	eves 802-6839 Ac Street	QLD	Australia	\$-4.17 Female
Search O	1173 Alvin Ro	obinson 9854 Ante St.	SA	Australia	\$37.50 Male
	1197 Alfonso	Mcclure 132-6203 Aliquet Av.	VIC	Australia	\$137.50 Male
- Default	1160 Baker S	parks 3510 Magna, St.	SA	Australia	\$-16.67 Male
- Aa Name 🕑 🗹	1174 Gray By	rd P.O. Box 783, 2995 Alique	NSW	Australia	\$41.67 Male
A Description	1215 Kenned	ly Byers 400-7876 Et Rd.	ACT	Australia	\$212.50 Male
" User Account	1178 Cain Bo	Ap #202-897 Consectetu	ACT	Australia	\$58.33 Male
- Address Details	1196 Stacy W	Vade P.O. Box 531, 8362 Pede,	SA	Australia	\$133.33 Female
Al Address line 1	1208 Jacquel	ine Osborn 7638 Amet Street	NT	Australia	\$183.33 Female
	1214 Callie C	lark Ap #407-7254 Pharetra A	TAS	Australia	\$208.33 Female
A Email address	1151 Axel Mo	ckay P.O. Box 133, 3131 Nibh	NSW	Australia	\$-54.17 Male
- An Postcode	1155 Kelsey F	Powers Ap #599-9050 Ante Rd.		New Zealand	\$-37.50 Female
B State	1191 Whoop	i Singleton 117-4204 A Rd.	NSW	Australia	\$112.50 Female
- 🗄 Suburb	1166 Anthon	y Nash 937-6783 Scelerisque St.		New Zealand	\$8.33 Male
- Image Details	1148 Rina Sa	vage P.O. Box 447, 7490 Conse	WA	Australia	\$-66.67 Female
Photo	1156 Susan J	acobs 9190 Vivamus Av.	ACT	Australia	\$-33.33 Female
- Personal Details	▼ 1199 Rylee V	Vilkinson Ap #447-6065 Sed Street	QLD	Australia	\$145.83 Female -
2014127 1 / C 201 C 2 1					and the second

Creating and Editing Reports

Last Modified on 31/07/2020 3:58 pm AEST

To create reports in the Left Navigation Area:

- 1. Turn on configuration mode by clicking on the spanner 🔍 on top right.
- 2. Locate the **+** Page Item button in the left navigation area and click once to load the Create New Page selection screen.
- 3. Select New Report
- 4. Select Create
- 5. Type the name for the report in the Name field.
- 6. Type the description for the report in the **Description** field.
- 7. In the Report based on field, select the Pencil icon. The Select dialogue appears.
- 8. Select the Object on which the report will be based.
- 9. Select OK.
- 10. Select OK to generate report. The new report displays in Report Builder mode.

Note: To create reports on some hidden system objects, select the Analyser and clear the setting that is filtering "Advanced Object".

In addition to the above settings, more options can be set on a report. See Report Properties for more details.

Editing Reports

Editing an existing report is performed in Report Builder.

Report Builder Menu

Last Modified on 27/03/2019 3:25 pm AEDT

When in Report Builder mode, the Report Builder Menu bar appears in the top right corner.

Menu option	Description
RELOAD	Click to reload the changes to the report if they are not automatically loaded.
PROPERTIES	Click to view the Report Properties.
SAVE	Click to save changes to the report.
SAVE AS	Click to make a copy of the report and save it by different name.

Report Columns

Last Modified on 29/03/2019 3:34 pm AEDT

Report columns can be added, removed and reordered ONLY in Report Builder mode.

Report Columns can be resized in both report builder and view mode.

Adding Report Columns

There are two ways to add Columns to the report.

- With the check boxes
- Drag and drop

Selecting Check Boxes

To add columns to the report through check boxes:

- 1. Go to the Report Builder
- 2. Search or find field that you want to add to the report in the Left Navigation Area.
- 3. Select the first check box next to the field name to add the column.

Drag and Drop

To add a column to the report using drag and drop:

- 1. Go to the Report Builder
- 2. Search or find field that you want to add to the report in the Left Navigation Area.
- 3. Select and hold the field you want to add to the report.
- 4. Drag the field to the report header and drop it at the location where you want the column to appear.

Removing Report Columns

Selecting Check Boxes

To remove columns from the report through check boxes:

- 1. Go to the Report Builder
- 2. Search or find field that you want to remove from the report in the Left Navigation Area.
- 3. Select to clear the first check box next to the field name to remove the field from the report.

Drag and Drop

To remove a column from the report using drag and drop:

- 1. Go to the Report Builder
- 2. Search or find field that you want to remove from the report in the Left Navigation Area.
- 3. Select and hold the column header of the column that you want to remove from the report.
- 4. Drag the field off the report header. The column is removed from the report.

Reordering Report Columns

Columns can only be reordered with drag and drop.

To reorder a column:

- 1. Go to the Report Builder
- 2. Select and hold the column header of the column that you want to rearrange.
- 3. Drag and drop the column to the location on the report header where you want the column to appear.

Resizing Report Columns

Reports columns can be resized either in the builder mode or view mode.

- When report columns are resized in **report builder** the column sizes are saved as percentages as part of value formatting.
- When report columns are resized in **view mode** the column sizes are saved as percentages in local session storage and will not affect the reports for another user as the changes are local to his machine.
- If the column width is resized by the end user in the report viewer, it will store the settings in local session storage and will override the value formatting widths.
- A context menu called Reset Column Width is shown for columns that have a custom width, which will reset the width of the column to default.
- The initial column size for Currency, Decimal, Integer, Bool, Time, Date, DateTime, Choice, Image column types is half the width of the other columns.
- Any custom width will still override any initial width.

Sorting

Last Modified on 29/03/2019 3:45 pm AEDT

Columns can be sorted in the report builder mode by various methods.

Method 1: Selecting column headings

- 1. Go to the Report Builder.
- 2. Select a column heading to sort by that column (to sort A to Z).
- 3. Select the column heading again (to sort Z to A).
- 4. Repeat for multiple columns as required.
- 5. Select **SAVE** to save the report.

Method 2: Using the column context menu

- 1. Go to the Report Builder.
- 2. Select the down arrow in the column header (visible on hover). The column context menu appears.
- 3. Select 'Sort A to Z' or 'Sort Z to A'.
- 4. Repeat for multiple columns as required.
- 5. Select **SAVE** to save the report.

Method 3: Using the sort options

- 1. Go to the Report Builder.
- 2. Select the down arrow in the column heading (visible on hover). The column context menu appears.
- 3. Select Sort Options. The Report Sorting Options dialog appears with existing sort settings.
- 4. Select Add Sorting. The Sort by fields appear.
- 5. Select the first down arrow. The column titles display.
- 6. Select the column to sort.
- 7. Select the next down arrow. The sort order options display.
- 8. Select the sort order to sort.
- 9. Select Add Sorting to sort sort by more than one column.
- 10. Select OK to sort the report.
- 11. Select **SAVE** to save the report.

Grouping

Last Modified on 25/08/2020 1:22 pm AEST

Grouping is a feature of reports whereby rows can be grouped together into expandable/collapsible sections. A column of the report is nominated as the grouped column, and rows are categorized into the same group if they have the same value in this column. For example, a report of employees may be grouped by department by nominating the department column as the grouped column. Sub groups can also be achieved by selecting more than one grouping column.

To perform grouping on a column in a report:

- 1. Go to the Report Builder.
- 2. Decide which column should be the grouped column.
- 3. Hover on the column header of the chosen column. A down arrow appears in the right side of the column header.
- 4. Select the down arrow. The column context menu appears.
- 5. Select **Group By**. The report with the Group By displays.
- 6. Select **SAVE** to save the report.

Totals

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:19 am AEST

Totals are performed in report builder mode and can be seen in the view mode of the report.

Performing totals on any column in the report

To perform totals on any column in the report:

- 1. Go to the Report Builder.
- 2. Hover on the column header where the total is to be performed. The down arrow displays in the right side of the column header.
- 3. Select the down arrow. The column context menu appears.
- 4. Select Show Totals. The Totals menu appears.
- 5. Select Show grand totals.
- 6. Select any arithmetic option, see table below.
- 7. Select OK. The totals appear below the column header of the corresponding column.

Performing sub totals on any column in the report

Sub totals can be performed only when a report is already grouped by some column. Please refer to Grouping to see how grouping on a column is performed.

To perform sub totals on any column in the report:

- 1. Go to the Report Builder.
- 2. Hover on the column header where the sub totals are to be performed. The down arrow displays in the right side of the column header.
- 3. Select the down arrow. The Column Header Context menu appears.
- 4. Select Show Totals. The Totals menu appears.
- 5. Select Show sub totals.
- 6. Select any arithmetic option, see table below.
- 7. Select OK. The sub totals appear below the column header for each group.

Arithmetic options

Arithmetic options on Totals / Sub totals vary depending on the column type as shown in the table.

Text Field F	Number Field	Date Field	Date and Time Field	Time Field
--------------	-----------------	------------	---------------------	------------

Text Field	Number Field	Date Field	Date and Time Field	Time Field
	Count			
	Count unique	Count	Count	Count
Count	Count all	Count unique	Count unique	Count unique
Count unique	Sum	Count all	Count all	Count all
Count all	Average	Max	Max	Max
	Max	Min	Min	Min
	Min			



The Analyser is used to filter the report data based on some values. To filter the report based on any value of a field, the corresponding field needs to be added to analyser.

Note that if the report builder (usually the administrator) has checked the **Hidden** box then a filter will be in effect but not visible in Analyser.

Student	
Picker Report: Hidden:	Student report
	OK Cancel

The administrator will see the hidden field as translucent in the Analyser.

Student :	Any of 🔹	✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓	
Limit results :	Top N records ▼		•
		Apply	← Reset

Adding a field to Analyser

To add a field to analyser:

- 1. Go to Report Builder.
- 2. Select the second check box for a field (see item 1 in the screen shot) to add the field to analyser.
- 3. Select analyser (see item 3 in the screen shot).
- 4. Type the required value for the field on which the data is to be filtered on the report.
- 5. Select SAVE to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report.

	Σ 🖩 ७ -	
Staff		2
- 🛏 Faculty		II.
- Manager		
Fields & Related	d Objects	
Search	c	۶
– Default		1
- Aa Name		0
A Description		

🖒 RELOAD 🔚 PROPERTIES 🗎 SAVE 📸 SAVE AS 🗙



53

Adding a relationship to Analyser

Relationships do not appear by default on the field group.

To add relationship field to analyser:

- 1. Select + the Relationship icon (see item 2 in the screen shot). The Add Relationship dialogue appears.
- 2. Select the Type as Relationships to see only the relationships on the report.
- 3. Select Add to add the relationship you want.
- 4. Select OK.
- 5. Select the relationship node from the relationship viewer. The fields on the related object display.
- 6. Select the second check box for the name field from the Default field group. The corresponding relationship is added to analyser.
- 7. Set the required value for the corresponding relationship field on which the data is to be filtered on the report.
- 8. Select SAVE to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report.

Adding a Hierarchy field to analyser

To add a Hierarchy field to analyser:

- 1. Create a Hierarchy for the required object and relationship.
- 2. Go to Report Builder.

- 3. On the field group, select the first and second check box of the required field to add to analyser.
- 4. Hover on the same column which was added to analyser on the above step. The down arrow displays in the right side of the column header.
- 5. Select the down arrow. The column context menu appears.
- 6. Select Format Column. The Format dialogue appears.
- 7. Select Value Formatting tab.
- 8. In the **Hierarchy** field select the down arrow and the option you want. This displays the hierarchy operators of the corresponding column in the analyser.
- 9. Set the required value for the corresponding hierarchy field on which the data is to be filtered on the report.
- 10. Select SAVE to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report

Analyser Operators for Various Fields

Text / Relationship Field	Number Field	Choice Field	Hierarchy Field	Boolean Field
Is defined	=			
Is not defined	<>		Any below	
Any of	>	ls defined	Any at or below	
Any except	>=	Is not defined	Any above	Yes
=	<	Any of	Any at or above	No
<>	<=	Any except	Contains	
Contains	Is defined	, ,	Is defined	
Starts with	Is not defined		Is not defined	
Ends with				

Analyser Operators for Records

Limit results	Note
Top N records	Show top N records on whatever sorting condition applied.

Action Menus

Last Modified on 29/03/2019 4:06 pm AEDT

Adding an action to the menu

To add an action to the Actions menu:

Action menus are configured in Report Builder mode.

- 1. Go to Report Builder.
- 2. Select **ACTIONS**. The Actions dialogue appears.
- 3. Select the checkbox next to the action you want in the **Enable** column. The action is enabled for Record and Report. The enabled actions appear in the Actions menu of the report.
- 4. Select the checkbox next to the action in the **Show Button** column. The action appears as a button at the top of the report header.

Actions

The following set of actions displays in the Actions dialogue for Record and Report actions.

Record Actions	Report Actions
New (All)	Edit Inline
New	Export (All)
View	Export to Excel
Edit	Export to CSV
Delete	Export to Word
Workflow name (if any)	
Export	

Record Actions

Actions that can be performed on every individual record of the report.

- 1. New (All): create a new record for the derived type of the object
- 2. New: create a new record for the report
- 3. View: go to view mode of the selected row on the report
- 4. Edit: go to edit mode of the selected row on the report

- 5. Delete: delete the selected row on the report
- 6. Workflow name: run the workflow on the selected row from the view mode of the report
- 7. Export: export the selected row of the report. Please note that only the selected row will be exported in XML format, not the entire report

Report Actions

Actions performed on the whole report **not** just for an individual record of the report.

- 1. Edit Inline: Edit Inline appears as a menu option on the report and allows to edit individual record on the report without going to the edit mode of the record
- 2. Export (All): Export (All) appears as a button on the report and gives the option to export the report to Excel, CSV and Word
- 3. Export to Excel: export the report to Excel
- 4. Export to CSV: export the report to CSV
- 5. Export to Word: export the report to Word

Summarising Reports

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 1:01 pm AEST

Summarise is performed on reports to summarise the data of the report. Summarise can be performed on report level and on column level.

Summarising on Report Level

To summarise on Report Level:

- 1. Go to report builder of the report where the summarise is to be performed, see Creating or Editing Reports.
- 2. Select the top most node in Relationship viewer. Summarise is performed on the whole report.
- 3. In the Relationship viewer pane, select Summarise icon. The Summarise dialogue appears.
- 4. Select the required arithmetic function for each of the columns.
- 5. Select OK. The summarised report displays.
- 6. Select SAVE to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report.

Summarising on Column Level

Summarising on column level is usually done between a column and another related column of the report.

For example, Student name is a column and Subjects is a related column on student report. To find the number of subjects each student has, summarising as count on subjects column displays the number of subjects each student has.

To summarise on Column Level:

Method 1

- 1. Go to report builder of the report where the summarise is to be performed, see Creating or Editing Reports.
- 2. Hover on the column you want to summarise.
- 3. Select the down arrow which appears to the right of the column.
- 4. Select Summarise. The Summarise dialog appears.
- 5. Select the required arithmetic function for the column.
- 6. Select OK.
- 7. Select SAVE to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report.

Method 2

- 1. Go to report builder of the report where the summarise is to be performed, see Creating or Editing Reports.
- 2. Add the related column to the report.
- 3. Select the **Related Node**.
- 4. Select Summarise. The Summarise dialogue appears.
- 5. Select the required arithmetic function for the column.
- 6. Select OK.

7. Select **SAVE** to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report.

Summarise Operators

elect how to summar	ise all columns in report					
Text	Number	DateTime	Date	Time	Single Select Choice	
Show values	Show values	Show values	Show values	Show values	Show values	
Count	Count	Count	Count	Count	Count	
Count unique	Count unique	Count unique	Count unique	Count unique	Count unique	
Count all	Count all	Count all	Count all	Count all	Count all	
List	🔲 Sum	Max	Max	Max	Max	
	Average	Min Min	Min Min	Min	Min	
	Max				List	
	🔲 Min					

Calculated Columns

Last Modified on 29/03/2019 4:09 pm AEDT

Calculations can be used as columns in a report for special summaries based on the values of the report data. These calculations are performed dynamically when the report is rendered.

To add a calculated column to a report:

- 1. Go to Report Builder.
- 2. In the Relationship viewer pane, select Calculated icon. The Calculation dialogue appears.
- 3. Type a name for the calculation in the **Column Name** field.
- 4. Type the calculation in the **Enter Calculation** field.
- 5. Select OK.
- 6. Select SAVE to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report.

Conditional Formatting

Last Modified on 12/01/2022 2:39 pm AEDT

Conditional formatting is performed in Report Builder on any column.

If applying conditional formatting for a column that is displaying a choice field, additional considerations apply. See the section "Conditional Formatting on Choice Fields"

Performing conditional formatting

To perform conditional formatting:

- 1. Go to Report Builder.
- 2. Hover on the column where you want to perform the conditional formatting.
- 3. Select the down arrow. The column context menu appears.
- 4. Select Format Column. The Format dialogue appears.
- 5. In the Format field, select the down arrow and select the option you want.

For a text column, there are two types of formats available: Highlight and Icon

For a number column, there are three types of formats available: Highlight, Icon and Progress Bar

Highlight Conditional Formatting

To use highlight conditional formatting:

- 1. Follow the steps in **Performing conditional formatting** above and select the format as **Highlight**.
- 2. Select the checkbox for **Display text**. The text displays in the highlighted colour. If the checkbox is unchecked then the text does not display.
- 3. In the **Scheme** field select the down arrow and select the option you want. Once a format is selected, the corresponding schemes are listed in the scheme drop down. At the maximum, you can select up to a four step scheme and a minimum of a two step scheme.

If you select a four step scheme, four rows of rules are provided. If you select a three step scheme, three rows of rules are provided and so on

Rules have three columns: Operation, Value and Colour

- 4. Select an Operation, type a Value and select a Colour for each rule.
- 5. Select + icon to add a row for the rule, see item 1 in the screen shot.
- 6. Select X icon to remove any row in the rule, see item 2 in the screen shot.
- 7. When complete, select OK. The rules apply on the report.
- 8. Select SAVE to save the report. The conditional formatting displays in view mode of the report.

Icon Conditional Formatting

To use Icon Conditional Formatting:

- 1. Follow the steps in **Performing conditional formatting** above and select the format as **Icon**.
- 2. Select the checkbox for **Display text**. The text displays in the highlighted colour. If the checkbox is unchecked then the text does not display.
- 3. Select the **Scheme** you want.
- 4. Once a scheme is selected, create the rules for the column.
- 5. Select an operation, value and icon to make a rule.
- 6. When complete, select OK. The rules apply on the report.
- 7. Select SAVE to save the report. The icon formatting displays in view mode of the report.

Progress Bar Formatting

Progress Bar Formatting is available only for a number column.

To use Progress Bar Formatting:

- 1. Follow the steps in **Performing conditional formatting** above and select the format as **Progress Bar.**
- 2. Select the checkbox for **Display text**. The text displays in the highlighted colour. If the checkbox is unchecked then the text does not display.
- 3. Select Scheme.
- 4. Type a **Minimum** value.
- 5. Type a Maximum value.
- 6. The **Colour** field shows the value selected in the scheme. You can select any other colour.
- 7. Select **OK**. The rules apply on the report.
- 8. Select **SAVE** to save the report. The applied Progress Bar formatting displays in view mode of the report.

Note: The progress Bar begins at the minimum value and it keeps increasing till it reaches the maximum value. Once the maximum value is reached, the full progress bar is displayed for the rest of the values above maximum value.

Conditional Formatting on Choice Fields

Conditional Formatting can be set directly on the choice field itself. This allows the same conditional format scheme to be used on all reports where this choice field is displayed.

If a conditional format scheme is applied to a choice field, then this will be on by default when the choice field is added to a report.

To configure this:

- 1. Follow the steps in **Performing conditional formatting** above for the column that contains the choice field
- 2. Select or Deselect the checkbox for Use default format for choice field

Value Formatting

Last Modified on 29/03/2019 4:14 pm AEDT

Value formatting is performed in report builder on any column of a report.

To perform value formatting:

- 1. Go to Report Builder.
- 2. Hover on the column where you want to perform the value formatting.
- 3. Select the down arrow. The column context menu appears.
- 4. Select Format Column. The Format dialog appears.
- 5. Select Value Formatting tab
- 6. Select the required formatting options, see table.
- 7. Select OK.
- 8. Select **SAVE** to save the report. The applied value formatting displays in view mode of the report.

Formatting options

Different formatting options are available for different types of columns

Text	Number / Autonumber	Decimal / Currency	Date	Date and Time	Time
Alignment	Alignment	Alignment	Alignment	Alignment	Alignment
Default	Default	• Default	Default	Default	Default
• Left	• Left	• Left	• Left	• Left	• Left
Centre	Centre	Centre	Centre	Centre	Centre
• Right	• Right	• Right	• Right	• Right	• Right

Text	Number / Autonumber	Decimal / Currency	Date	Date and Time	Time
Lines	Suffix	Decimal Places	Date Format (with examples) Default (13/03/1982) Day Month (13 March) Long (Saturday, 13 March 1982) Month (Mar) Month Year (March 1982) Quarter Year (Q1, 1982) Year (1982) Year (1982) Year (1982) Year (1982)	Date time format (with examples)	Time format (with examples) • Default (9:00 AM) • 24 Hour (09:00) • Hour Only (09:00 AM)
		Suffix			

Advanced Options

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 7:05 pm AEST

Advanced Options allows you to display data including derived types, or data of only the original type on the report.

For example, 'Staff' is an object and 'Dean' is an object which is derived from 'Staff'. The object 'Dean' is called a derived type of 'Staff'.

To set Advanced Options:

- 1. Go to Report Builder.
- 2. In the Relationship viewer pane, select Advanced Options icon. The Advanced Options dialog appears.
- 3. If you want to display the records of of the original object and the derived object, then leave the checkbox unchecked for **Show records that are only of object 'Staff'**.
- 4. If you want to display the records of only the original object, then select the checkbox for**Show records that are only of object 'Staff'**.
- 5. Select OK.
- 6. Select **SAVE** to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report.



Report Properties

Last Modified on 29/03/2019 4:25 pm AEDT

There are additional settings that can be configured for a report.

To configure additional settings:

- 1. Go to Report Builder.
- 2. On the menu bar at top right, select **PROPERTIES**. The Report Properties dialog appears.
- 3. Select **OPTIONS**. The tabs **Advanced**, **Format** and **Deploy** display.

Advanced

Setting	Description
Applications	Refers to the name of the application to which the report belongs.
Report form	Refers to the form that launches when you open a resource.
Default Display Report	Marks the report as the Default Display Report (Glossary) for the Object
Default Picker Report	Marks the report as the Default Picker Report (Glossary) for the Object

Format

Setting	Description
lcon	Allows you to set the icon for your report.
Style	Allows you to define a different style for your report.
Hide Action Bar	Allows you to hide the actions bar which includes the actions menu, inline editing and quick search text box.
Hide Report header	Allows you to hide the column names from the report.

Deploy

Setting Description

Setting	Description
Desktop	When selected allows the report to be displayed on desktop.
Tablet	When selected allows the report to be displayed on tablet.
Mobile	When selected allows the report to be displayed on mobile.

- 4. Set the options as required.
- 5. Select OK.
- 6. Select **SAVE** to save the report. The effect of the additional settings displays in view mode of the report.

Relationship Columns

Last Modified on 29/03/2019 4:25 pm AEDT

To add relationship columns:

- 1. Go to Report Builder.
- 2. In the Relationship viewer pane, select Add Relationship icon. The Add Relationship dialog appears.
- 3. Select the down arrow in the **Type** field and select the type you want. The Relationships display in the tab. Or use Quick search to locate the relationship you want.
- If you want to add Hidden Relationships, select the Advanced Options button and select the check box for 'Show Hidden Relationships'. System relationship are mainly the hidden relationships.
- 5. Select the Add button for the Relationship you want to add.
- 6. Click OK.
- 7. Select SAVE to save the report. The data displays in view mode of the report

Use the Search field to search for a relationship by its Name.

Add Name field to the Report is checked by default and the Name field of the related resource is added to the report.

A relationship can be added multiple times to the Report.

Report Diagnostics

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 7:05 pm AEST

The report diagnostics tool has been designed to diagnose and improve report performance.

In order to improve report performance, it is helpful to understand how the:

- report is structured
- security rules are applied
- data is cached and shared

How to run the report diagnostics

- 1. Select the required report and go to the report builder
- 2. Scroll down the left-hand field list to the bottom
- 3. Clicking on the grey **Diagnostics** link will open the Report Diagnostic tool



- 4. Select the User context for the report analysis
- 5. Then select Show Diagnostics

The tool will only analyse the saved report. If you have unsaved changes, then the report will only show the result as of the last save.

If the user that you are trying the run the report as does not have access to that report, you will receive a *Forbidden* message.

Report Diagnostics Sections

Caching

This areas shows ways a report can cached:

- 1. Cachable and shareable between users The server will cache the result set, and provide this cached result to other users in the same role until a relevant change is detected. This is most preferable for good report performance.
- 2. Data cachable, but user-specific The server will cache the result set, but it will only be reserved back to the same user.
- 3. Plan and data uncachable The server cannot cache the result set. This likely to occur for reports that depend on time.

Referenced Object Types

This area lists all the types of objects that are used on the report. Any object that is potentially accessed in a report is significant, because it determines the access rules that need to be considered.

• Full grant

- If an access rule is found that grants **Read** access to all records of a particular object, then *full grant* will be shown.
- The access rule may also provide create, modify, delete but only read is relevant to reports.
- The access rule may also be applied to a parent or ancestor object but not derived type.
- Reports will perform fastest when every object is *full grant*.

• System rules

- In addition to visible access control rules, there are internal system access rules.
- For most users these do not apply, but for certain system/admin objects they may.
- If there are any applicable system rules, then system rules is shown

Nodes

Nodes are arranged in a tree-like structure starting with the object the report is based on, then following relationships to corresponding objects that also exist in the report. Information will also also include nodes when data is summarised or calculations are performed.

- Relationships
 - the direction of the relationship is marked with either *Fwd* or *Rev*.
 - the cardinality of the relationship is marked with either *to-one* or *to-many* shows how many related records may be returned.
 - recursive relationships are also indicated.
- Summarise operations
 - appear in the node list as *Aggregate*.
 - will appear as either **Ungrouped** or **Grouped**, for the later, indicating that some descendant nodes have field values used for grouping
 - if there are two separate paths of relationships that contain 'to-many', then the top node of each path will indicate (crossed). This is because the results of the two separate paths are effectively multiplied out. A message is also shown below the node table indicating that crossed joins are present is not ideal and may affect performance.

Each node is typically is secured in one of the following ways:

- Secured
 - access rules are applied in the normal manner.
 - if a node is full grant, then *full-grant* is shown, meaning this node gets optimised.

- Implicitly secured
 - access that has been granted via the relationship means that the security check can be optimised by virtue of the records relationship with its parent.
- Unsecured
 - the tenant administrator has used the !unsecured option in a calculated-field to explicitly suppress security checks for this node.
- Explicit security check (bad!)
 - access that has been granted via the relationship but in the opposite direction being followed in the report, will mean that the report engine must enter a special mode to evaluate security correctly, which can be *very slow*.

Calculations

All calculations are listed out as either calculated columns, conditions or calculated fields along with the type of calculation.

Calculations can substantially increase the number of nodes in a report.

Inherited/Derived Types

In order to determine what type of security rules apply, it's also helpful to understand inherited and derived objects.

The total set of security access rules that apply to an object include:

- rules applied to the object itself
- rules applied to ancestor objects
- rules applied to derived objects
- rules applied to other ancestor objects of derived objects (if at least one derived type contains multiple ancestor objects)

Objects in (slow) secures flags mode

This section lists any objects used in the report that was necessary to enter the slow mode to evaluate an explicit security check. This means that any objects that have been used that have been granted access via the relationship but in the opposite direction.

The system will add the word *activated* to explicitly indicate that the mode was activated. If there are any objects in this list, then it is a good idea to carefully review the structure of security rules, relationship security flags, and the report itself.

Suggested workarounds if you find yourself in the slow secures flag mode:

- Create an access rule that provides full access to the object that to be secured via the flag. For this to work, there must be no conditions applied, otherwise it will fall back into the slow secures flag mode.
- If you are accessing the node via a calculation, you could also 'un-secure' the calculation using the !unsecured
function. Use this with caution, as you may need to not be appropriate to 'un-secure' column data.

User Security Roles

This section lists all of the security roles that apply to the current user.

The user may be directly assigned to those roles, or the role may be include other roles (directly or indirectly) that the user is assigned to.

Access Control Rules

This is the list of access control rules that have been found to be relevant, for the current user, to the objects used in the report.

This section includes:

- object that the rule is applied to
- name of the access rule
- name of the role
- details about the rule and how it got used

Form Builder

Last Modified on 23/07/2020 11:16 am AEST

The Form builder consists of a number of features, refer to the screenshot below.

- 1. Quick search
- 2. Add field icon.
- 3. Field list
- 4. Form title
- 5. Form description.
- 6. Form Canvas
- 7. Form Builder menu.



Editing a Form

Last Modified on 03/04/2019 11:27 am AEDT

Editing an existing form is performed in Form Builder mode.

To go to the Form Builder mode:

- 1. Navigate to the report
- 2. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner.
- 3. Select a row in the report and select **ACTION** > **View**. The form displays in view mode.
- 4. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner of the form. The menu appears.
- 5. Select Modify Form. The form displays in Form Builder mode.
- 6. Select **SAVE** to save changes.

Action Buttons

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:24 am AEST

An Action button allows you to start a workflow or generate a document from a form or screen.

You can select more than one action on the same form.

To enable the workflow or document generation on the form:

- 1. Open the Form Builder
- 2. Select the **+** Actions button. The Actions dialogue appears as shown in the screenshot.
- 3. Select the checkbox for the required action in the Enable column (workflow or document generation).
- 4. Select OK.
- 5. Select **SAVE** to save the form.

		PROPERTIES	SAVE	SAVE AS
				+ Actions
Action	S			
Record	Actions			
				\sim
lcon	Label	Enable		
•	Test action buttons			
			ОК	Cancel
	Action: Record	Actions Record Actions Icon Label Test action buttons 	Actions Record Actions Icon Label Enable Test action buttons	Actions Icon Label Icon Label Test action buttons

To start the workflow or generate the document:

- 1. Navigate to the report which is created using the same object.
- 2. Select any record and go to New / Edit / View mode of the record on the report.
- 3. Select the Action button on the form to run the action on that form alone.

The workflow or document generation needs to exist to select the workflow or document generation from the form builder.

Please see Creating and Editing Workflows for workflows and Document Generation Overview for documents.

Form Layout

Last Modified on 03/04/2019 1:11 pm AEDT

When designing a form, fields can be placed directly on the form or can be added to a Container or a Tabbed Container.

Adding fields and relationships to Containers and Tabbed Containers assists with better form layout.

Note: Containers can be placed horizontally next to one another whereas Tabbed Containers can ONLY be placed one beneath the other.

To add containers to the form:

- 1. Open Form Builder
- 2. Select and hold Container in Left Navigation Area.
- 3. Drag and drop the Container on the Form Canvas.
- 4. Select Configure icon in right corner of Container. The Container dialogue appears.
- 5. Complete details and select **OK** to save.

Adding Tabbed Containers to the form

To add tabbed containers to the form:

- 1. Open Form Builder
- 2. Select and hold Tabbed Container in Left Navigation Area.
- 3. Drag and drop the Tabbed Container on the Form Canvas.
- 4. Click +. A tab appears in the Tabbed Container.
- 5. Select Configure icon next to New Tab. The Container dialogue appears.
- 6. Complete details and select **OK** to save.

Adding Fields to an Object

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 1:16 pm AEST

To add fields to an object:

- 1. Open the Form Builder, see Opening the Form Builder.
- 2. Select + the Add field icon in Left Navigation Area. The list of fields appears.
- 3. Select and hold the type of field that you want to add to the object.
- 4. Drag and drop the field to the Left Navigation Area.
- 5. Select **SAVE** to save the field to the Object.

Adding Fields to a Form

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 1:13 pm AEST

To add fields to a form:

- 1. Open the Form Builder.
- 2. Select + the Add field icon in Left Navigation Area. The list of fields appears.
- 3. Select and hold the type of field that you want to add to the object or form.
- 4. Drag and drop the field to the Form Canvas.
- 5. Select **SAVE** to save the field to the object and the form.

When you add the fields directly to the form they are vertically stacked. To add fields horizontally across the form, add Containers to the form and then add the fields to the Containers. Adding Containers to the form assists with a better form layout, see Form Layout.

Fields are of different datatypes. Depending on the schema of the application pick the datatype that will be most suitable for the type of field it represents. Field Types explains each of the datatype in detail, see Form Layout.

Cascading Fields

Last Modified on 17/08/2020 1:32 pm AEST

The ability to filter one field from another field is called cascading fields.

Cascading fields can be configured between:

- Two choice fields
- A single choice field and a multi choice field
- Two lookup fields
- A lookup and a relationship field

Cascade between choice fields

The example below describes how to filter between Category and Sub-category choice fields.

- 1. Open the form of where you want to configure the cascading choice fields
- 2. Create and add values to both Category and Sub-category choice fields
- 3. Select Save
- 4. Navigate to Application toolbox
- 5. Expand the Choice Fields menu from left hand navigation
- 6. Select the application in the drop down of where Category and Sub-category choice fields were created in
- 7. Select the child choice field, in this case Sub-Category and Create a new form
- 8. Add the Name field to the form
- 9. Select + in left navigation area of the Form Builder
- 10. Drag and drop Choice Field field onto the form
- 11. In the Choice Field Properties dialog select Use Existing
- 12. Find and select the parent choice field, in this case Category
- 13. Name your choice field with the same name as the existing one
- 14. Select OK
- 15. Save the form
- 16. Navigate to Administration Resources Choice fields
- 17. Find and select the child choice field, in this case Sub-Category
- 18. Select choice field value
- 19. Edit the choice field and select the appropriate parent value
- 20. Repeat steps 18 and 19 until all parent-child values have been assigned
- 21. Navigate back to the Form from step 1
- 22. Modify the Choice Field Properties of the child choice field, in this case Sub-Category
- 23. Expand Options and from the Form Detail tab, select the Filter By picker
- 24. Add Filter and select the parent choice field in Filter by field and Relationship
- 25. Select OK

26. Save the form

Cascade between lookups/relationships

The example below describes how to filter between Campus and Buildings lookups.

- To filter the child lookup based on the value of the parent, firstly, ensure that you have a parent-child relationship between two objects. In our campus and building example, campus is the parent and building child, where the campus object must contain a relationship to building.
- 2. Secondly, ensure you have records against Campus which also include Building relationship records
- 3. Now open the form of where you want to configure the cascading lookups
- 4. Modify the Lookup Properties of the child lookup, in this case Building
- 5. Expand Options and from the Form Detail tab select Filter By picker
- 6. Add Filter and select the parent choice field in Filter by field and Relationship
- 7. Select OK
- 8. Save the form

Showing or Hiding Fields

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 3:24 pm AEST

This is a conditional visibility feature allows you to conditionally hide or show elements on a form, depending on the data the user has input to the form. A show/hide rule can be configured in the form of a Calculation that results in a true/false. If the condition is TRUE, then the element will be shown, if the condition is FALSE, then the element will be hidden. Show/Hide rules can be configured on the following elements

- Fields
- Containers
- Tab Containers
- Action buttons on from

Creating a Show/Hide Rule

- 1. Go to form builder of the form you want to apply the show/hide rule
- 2. Select the Configure icon of the element you want to configure a show/hide condition to open the properties of that element
- 3. Find the "Show When" property (Depending on the element, this may be in **OPTIONS**> **Visibility** of the properties window)
- 4. Type in a calculation that evaluates to a true/false
- 5. Click OK.
- 6. Select **SAVE** to save changes.

For more information about the condition, please see Calculations.

Control only **Show When** condition has a True value.

Conditions are 'form specific' (i.e. only apply to the form where the condition is set)

Field Properties

Last Modified on 22/04/2020 10:37 am AEST

Check the details of a field in the Field Properties dialog. Each Field Type has its Field Properties dialog.

Opening the Field Properties dialog

To open the Field Properties dialog:

- 1. Open Form Builder mode, see Opening and Using Form Builder
- 2. Hover over the desired Field. The control icons appear.
- 3. Select Configure icon. The Field Properties dialog displays.
- 4. Make any desired changes, then select **OK** to save.

ReadiNow					
<i>Rsadi</i> BUILDER	 Drag and Drop items f 	rom left menu to page 🖛			
Form	Students F	orm			
Fields and Related Objects	PERSONAL DEATI	S			
Search Q	StudentID :				
+ Address Details	Title :	[Select]			
Address line2	Full name :				
Country An Email address	First name :		\sim		
A Postcode	Last name :				
🗄 Suburb	Gender :	[Select]			
Default ≜ Description	DOB :				
Aa Name	Phone number :				
Image Details	User Account :		1 ×		
Personal Details	Photo :				
DOB					
A First name					
A Last name					
Aa Phone number					
Title					
Relationships					
System					
	Openii	ng field propertie <u>s dial</u>	ogue in Form B	uilder	

Viewing Field Properties details

- 1. Open Field Properties dialog.
- 2. Select OPTIONS. The options tabs appear.
- 3. Select the desired tab:
 - Form Detail : Set whether Field is Mandatory or whether pop-up Help is available for this Field

- Form Behaviour : Define Read Only and/or Visibility settings
- Object Detail : Define Script name, Minimum and Maximum input size, Default values or Text Patterns
- Format : Set Background Colour, Horizontal Resize or Vertical Resize
- **Custom Form Validation**: Define a Boolean evaluated calculation used to validate the input in this Field

Text Field Properties							
Field Name :	Text						
Display Name : Description :							
	5 01 1		- · ·				Ø
Form Detail Mandatory:	Form Behaviour	Object Detail	Format	Custom Form Validation			
Show Help:						_	
	_	_	Field Typ	e Properties Dialog	_	ОК	Cancel

Form Detail Tab

The Form Detail tab is where the Field may be set to Mandatory, and whether pop-up Help is available for this Field.

Text Field Properties							
Field Name : Display Name : Description :	Text						
OPTIONS Form Detail	Form Behaviour	Object Detail	Format	Custom Form Validation			L ²
Mandatory: Show Help:							
OK Cancel Form Detail Tab							

Checking the Mandatory box means a new Record created on this Form cannot be saved without a value in this Field. This will be indicated on Record creation by the red line adjacent to the field, as below:



Checking the Show Help box means Pop-up Help will be available for this field. The text for the Pop-up Help is taken from the *Description* field in the Field Properties Dialog.

Text:	
Рор	p-up Help icon

Form Behaviour Tab

The Form Behaviour tab allows the definition of rules around a Field's Read-only and/or Visibility attribute.

Text Field Properties	
Field Name : T Display Name : Description :	ext
OPTIONS Form Detail Form Beh Control behaviour	aviour Object Detail Format Custom Form Validation
	Always Calculated Never
	C ²
	Q (f(*) 2</td
	OK Cancel
	Form Behaviour Tab

To configure the Visibility behaviour of the field, select Visibility from the Control Behaviour drop down, then select:

- *Always* the expression box is disabled and the field will always be Visible. This will not delete an existing calculation in the expression box, but any calculation therein will be ignored
- *Calculated* this requires a calculation that evaluates to a Boolean when TRUE this field will be visible and when FALSE this field will not be visible
- Note that Never is not applicable to Visibility and is disabled

To configure the Read-only behaviour of the field, select Read-only from the Control Behaviour drop down.

• Always - the expression box is disabled and the field will always be Read-only. This will not delete an existing

calculation in the expression box, but any calculation therein will be ignored

- *Calculated* this requires a calculation that evaluates to a Boolean when TRUE this field will be Read-only and when FALSE this field will not be Read-only
- *Never* the expression box is disabled and the field will never be Read-only. This will not delete an existing calculation in the expression box, but any calculation therein will be ignored

Note that the setting applied to both Read-only and Visibility behaviours are shown in parentheses after each respective item. For example, in the screenshot below, *Read-only* is set to *Calculated* and *Visible* is set to *Always*.

Control behaviour	Read-only (calculated)	1
	Read-only (calculated)	
	Visible (always)	
	Setting in effect shown in parentheses	

A Text field is a basic text control that enables the user to type a line of text. If the intention is to obtain more than one line of input from the user, use a Multiline Text Field.

- Max. length: 1,000 characters, with an exception on Name field with max. length 300 characters
- Can be defined as Mandatory
- Can be defined as Read-only
- Can be defined with a Minimum or Maximum value
- Can be defined with a specific text pattern

Multiline Text

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 3:16 pm AEST

A Multiline Text field is a field that enables the user to type a large amount of text. If the intention is to use a small amount of text, use a Text Field.

- Max. length: 10,000 characters.
- Can be defined as Mandatory
- Can be defined as Read-only
- Can specify a minimum or maximum length
- Can be defined with a specific text pattern

Rich Text

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 7:04 pm AEST

The Rich text field type is provides the ability for users to enter and record special formatted content.

Rich text supports the following formatting:

- 1. Paragraph
 - 1. Bullet list
 - 2. Numbered list
 - 3. Text alignment supporting left, right and centre
- 2. Font
 - 1. Bold text
 - 2. Italics text
 - 3. Underlined text
- 3. Quotes
- 4. Links
 - 1. URL default to be opened in a new tab
- 5. Undo/Redo



Rich text behaviour on forms:

- Rich text formatting is done in edit mode and same is viewed in view mode.
- When the contents of the field is too large to fit into the space, a pop up button is displayed.

Rich text on reports:

- Rich text renders the same character length as of the text field.
- When inline editing is turned on, the user is presented a single text field control in the report.
- When the user clicks on the pop up button of the rich text field control they are presented with a pop up window, the rich text tool bar is displayed in the pop up.

Audit on Rich text:

• When auditing rich text field, the actual non-rendered HTML (including tags) is displayed since the Rich Text

is stored as HTML.

• Only the value and the formatting are audited. For example, let's say on a rich text field the user enters "Hello World" and saves it. They then make the text bold "**Hello World**" and save again. The audit record on the second save would show as <bold> Hello World </bold>.

Number

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 3:18 pm AEST

A Number field is a field that enables the user to type a whole number.

- Value range: -999,999,999 ~ 999,999,999
- Can be defined as Mandatory
- Can be defined as Read-only
- Can specify a minimum or maximum value
- Can specify a default value

AutoNumber Fields

Last Modified on 12/10/2020 9:52 pm AEDT

AutoNumber fields are fields that 'automatically increment'; i.e. they are automatically assigned a number when a new record is created and the number increases by 1 for each new record. This means they can be used to create an identity column which uniquely identifies each record in a report.

AutoNumber fields also support number patterns with 'zero-padding' as well as prefixes and suffixes; this is useful for generating employee IDs, Invoices, etc. The image below shows a Student ID that is generated using an AutoNumber field.

ReadiNow				۲ Admini	stration 😑 💄	500	63
>							
	Science S [.]	tudents					
- Č -	ACTION - + N	IEW P EDIT INLINE			Ŧ	Search	0,
	StudentID Stud	dent Name	Major	StudentCountry	Enrolled	Graduated	
	ID-0000016 Flor	rence Nightingale	Mathematics	England	11/05/1820	13/08/1910	^
•	ID-0000017 Geo	org Cantor	Mathematics	Germany	02/03/1845	06/01/1918	
	ID-0000018 Geo	orge Boole	Mathematics	England	01/11/1815	07/12/1864	
^	ID-0000019 Geo	orge Carver	Biology	USA	31/12/1863	05/01/1943	
	ID-0000020 Imm	manuel Velikovsky	Psychiatry	Russia	10/06/1895	17/11/1979	÷
	ID-0000021 Jam	nes Clerk Maxwell	Mathematics	Scotland	12/06/1831	04/11/1879	
•	ID-0000022 Kurl	rt Gödel	Mathematics	Austria	28/04/1906	14/01/1978	
	ID-0000023 Leo	on Festinger	Psychology	USA	08/05/1919	11/02/1989	
	ID-0000024 Linu	us Pauling	Chemistry	USA	28/02/1901	19/08/1994	
	ID-0000025 Lise	e Meitner	Physics	Austria	06/11/1878	27/10/1968	
	ID-0000026 Lou	uis Pasteur	Chemistry	France	26/12/1822	28/09/1895	
•	ID-0000027 Lyal	ll Watson	Botany	South Africa	12/04/1939	25/06/2008	
	ID-0000028 Mar	ria Mitchell	Astronomy	USA	31/07/1818	27/06/1889	
	ID-0000029 Mar	rie Curie	Physics	Poland	06/11/1867	04/07/1934	-
2.146.0.0-Master / (C: 2.146.1.0-Master-		Powered by ReadiNor	N			

Records in a Report sorted by the first column in this report, this is a unique value provided by an AutoNumber field called 'StudentID'.

Supported Patterns for AutoNumbers

AutoNumbers can be prefixed (INV: 00001) or suffixed (000001-X), or both (INV: 00001-X) using 'patterns'. These patterns have the following rules:

- can be left blank (default) output will be a number
- can be a string of zeros output will use leading zeros as padding
- can be a single '#' output will be a number
- prefixes and suffixes must be accompanied by either one or more '0's, or a '#'
- to include a '#' or '-' in the output the character must be escaped using a '\'
- there can only be 1 number group in a pattern
- prefixes and suffixes may contain characters 'a' through to 'Z', spaces, colons
- prefixes and suffixes may NOT contain any number [0-9]

AutoNumber Properties

AutoNumber fields can also specify a 'starting number', note that the starting number can not be changed once it has been set. In contrast the pattern can be changed at any time. The AutoNumber field properties is shown in the image below:

AutoNumber Field Properties					
Field Name :	StudentID				
Display Name :	StudentID				
Description :	AutoNumber field that generates a unique number that can be used a	is an Id fo	r each student	record	ł.
	NOTE: the escape char '\' must be used to output the hyphen: ID-0000	0002			12
Form Behaviour O	bject Detail Format				
Script Name :	StudentID				
Starting Number :	1				
Pattern :	ID\-000000				
Specifier	Description	Input	Pattern		Output
"0"	Zero placeholder	1234	00000	->	01234
"#"	Digit placeholder	1234	(#####)	->	(1234)
string	Literal string	1234	# degrees	->	1234 degrees
"\"	Escape character	1234	\#team\-#	->	#team-1234
				C)K Cancel
AutoNumber F	Field Properties for a Student ID, the pattern ID\-000000 will o	utput: IC	0-000001, IC	-000	002, etc.

Points to note about AutoNumber Fields

AutoNumber fields:

- are read-only
- do NOT have Form Detail or Custom Form Validation tabs
- can specify a starting number, default = 1 (can not be changed after being set)
- support pattern formatting, e.g.: INV-0001, ID-0001-X
- can be setup as Resource Keys

Note: for general information about field properties refer to General Field Properties.

Decimal

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 3:22 pm AEST

A Decimal field is a field that enables the user to type a number as a decimal.

- Can be defined as Mandatory
- Can be defined as Read-only
- Can specify a minimum or maximum value
- Can specify a default value
- Can specify decimal places



A Currency field is similar to the Decimal Field, and includes the currency symbol in the field label.

General field properties can be found in General Field Properties.

• The maximum value allowed in a currency field is 1 000 000 000.

Date and Time

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 3:19 pm AEST

A Date and Time field is a control that you can use to specify both date and time values.

- Can be defined as mandatory
- Can specify a minimum or maximum value
- Can specify a default value, or tick to choose now

A Date field is a control that you can use to specify a date value.

- Can be defined as Mandatory
- Can specify a minimum or maximum value
- Can specify a default value, or tick to choose today

A Time Field is a control that user can use to specify a time value.

- Can be defined as Mandatory
- Can specify a minimum or maximum value
- Can specify a default value, including now



A Yes/No field is a control that enables the user to choose either True or False.

• You can specify a default value

Image

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:04 am AEST

An Image field is a control that enables you to upload an image.

- Can be defined as Mandatory
- Can specify a default image
- Internally, it is a relationship to image type
- For details on Thumbnail Sizes, see Thumbnail Sizes



Last Modified on 14/03/2019 10:32 am AEDT

A Calculation field allows you to define a read-only field on an object whose value is automatically calculated based on other fields/relationships.

Calculations are performed dynamically when user views a record.

Lookup

Last Modified on 14/03/2019 12:01 pm AEDT

Lookup is a type of control that enables the user to define a 'to-one' relationship.

There are two types of Lookup fields, defined in RELATIONSHIP TYPE tab:

- Many to One
- One to One

Ownership Properties

Ownership can also be defined on Lookups, there are two types:

- No Ownership
- Full Ownership

Туре	Ownership	Description	Example
Many to One	No Ownership	A normal lookup. Points to a single resource, but neither is owned by the other	Employee is in Department
Many to One	Full ownership	This resource is owned by the resource being pointed to	Plan Step belongs to Plan
One to One	No Ownership	A normal lookup. Points to a single resource, but neither is owned by the other	Car has Engine
One to One	Full Ownership	This resource is owned by the resource being pointed to	Each Student has a User Account

Relationship Control

Last Modified on 20/02/2020 11:56 pm AEDT

Relationship is a type of control that enables the user to define a 'to-many' relationship.

Refer to Relationships for more details about how records can be related to each other, and about the meaning and behavior of these relationship settings.

There are two types of Relationship fields, defined in the RELATIONSHIP TYPE tab:

- One to Many
- Many to Many

Туре	Description	Example
One to Many	One item points to multiple related items	Department has Employees
Many to Many	Many items point to multiple related items, but does not strongly own them.	Students study Subjects

Refer to Relationships for more details about relationship types.

Ownership Properties

Ownership can also be defined on Relationships, there are two types:

- No Ownership
- Full Ownership

Туре	Ownership	Description	Example
Many to One	No Ownership	A normal lookup. Points to a single resource, but neither is owned by the other	Employee is in Department
Many to One	Full ownership	This resource is owned by the resource being pointed to	Plan Step belongs to Plan

Туре	Ownership	Description	Example
One to One	No Ownership	A normal lookup. Points to a single resource, but neither is owned by the other	Car has Engine
One to One	Full Ownership	This resource is owned by the resource being pointed to	Each Student has a User Account

Refer to Relationships for more details about relationship ownership.

Refer to Security Relationships for information about the Security settings that are available on a relationship.



Documents field is a control that enables you to upload a document. The Document field enables users to define a 'one-to-many' relationship to documents.

Documents can be added by dragging them to the Document field.

Clicking on a document name will download the document.

Security for document file names

In line with our commitment to ensuring the highest level of security, we have introduced new filename restrictions for files uploaded to the document library and generated by the platform.

File names and file extensions can use any combination of characters except for the following prohibited characters (which will be automatically sanitised by replacing with an underscore):

; - semicolon	" - straight double quote	. – period or dot	/ - slash
: - colon	- vertical bar or pipe	% - percent	\ - backslash
> - greater than	? - question mark	* - asterisk or star	& - ampersand or and
< - less than	# - hash or pound	! - exclamation mark	= - equals

Note: a single 'dot' is permitted to separate the file name from the file extension.

Other generally prohibited characters are:

- Integer value zero, sometimes referred to as the ASCII NUL character
- Characters whose integer representations are in the range from 1 through 31

For convenience, when an attempt is made to upload a file with any of the listed characters is made ReadiNow will automatically sanitise the file name by replacing the prohibited characters with an underscore, \subseteq '. Similarly generated and downloaded files will also be renamed by replacing the prohibited characters with an underscore, \subseteq '.

In the case of a period or dot, replacement will occur from left to right and only the last period or dot will be left in place to separate the file name from the file extension.

Choice

Last Modified on 12/01/2022 11:02 am AEDT

A Choice field is a control that enables the user to choose from defined a group of option values.

There are two Types of Choice field:

- Single select, choose one value from a list
- Multi select, choose more than one values from a list

When you define a new choice field, indicate whether it is Single or Multi select before you save the field.

General field properties can be found in General Field Properties.

- Option values can re-use existing choice field for available option values
- Option values can be imported from file
- Can be defined as Mandatory
- Can define default value
- Internally, it is a relationship to choice field entity

Conditional formatting can be applied to the choice field values. When this is applied, the conditional format will be displayed on the form (in view mode) and by default on a report, when that choice field is added to a report. To learn more about Conditional formatting on reports, see Conditional Formatting on Reports

To Set Conditional Formatting on Choice field values

- 1. Open the form that contains the choice field
- 2. Use the spanner to Modify Form.
- 3. Hover over the choice field and Select Properties button for the choice field to open properties dialog.
- 4. Select the type of formatting to apply from the Format Dropdown.
- 5. For each of the Choice Values select the format to apply.
- 6. Select OK.
 - Display Text option is only able to be checked/unchecked for Icon formatting
Create a New Chart

Last Modified on 17/08/2020 2:00 pm AEST

To create a standalone chart

- 1. Open an Application in Edit mode
- 2. Open the 'Create New Page' menu (click + Page Item)
- 3. Select New Chart
- 4. Select Create

To create a chart via Screen Builder

To create a chart from Screen builder:

- 1. Open Screen Builder
- 2. Select ' + ' (right of the Application dropdown selector)
- 3. Select Add Chart.

New Chart dialogue

As you create a chart the New Chart dialogue appears, see screenshot.

To complete the New Chart dialogue:

- 1. Type the name for the chart in the **Name** field.
- 2. Type the description for the chart in the **Description** field.
- 3. In the Report field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Report dialogue appears.
- 4. Select the report for the chart and select **OK**.
- 5. Select the Chart type you want.
- 6. Select OK. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.

New Chart	
Name :	New Chart
Description :	
Report:	
Chart type:	
✓ OPTIONS	
	OK Cancel

Chart Builder

Last Modified on 04/09/2020 5:05 pm AEST

The chart builder page has the following features:

- A Left Navigation Area toolbox with a list of fields from based report
- A toolbar at the top right corner
- Chart header area
 - Chart name editable label
 - Chart description editable label
- Chart series panel
- Chart preview

Any change to the chart settings makes the preview update immediately, except those made in property windows, which are applied when you select OK.

Toolbox

Chart builder consists of:

- The chart report name
 - Which is linked to the based report (navigate to it if clicking on it)
 - And will show <none> if there is no name
- A 'refresh' icon, which will reload the based report
- A list of chart series, each of which have:
 - A list of report columns, which can be used as data sources
 - A special 'Count' source of type integer
 - A special 'Row number' source of type integer

The chart series:

- Show the column name
- Show an icon, based on the data type of the report column
- Can use drag and drop onto chart series inputs

Header

- Allows name and description to be edited
- Committed once you press enter or click away, or select save

Toolbar

Chart toolbar has the following options:

- Refresh Reloads the report data, and re-renders the chart
- Properties Opens the chart properties dialog
- Undo/Redo Should work for all chart operations
- Save Saves the chart (and reloads it). Prompts that save was successful
- Save As Saves a copy of the chart as a new one. Prompts with a dialog for new chart name
- X Closes chart builder, prompts the user to save any unsaved changes then does a navigate to parent

Series Panel

A chart has one or more series.

A series represents an instruction to take a particular set of sources and render them in a particular way.

Each series consists of the following:

- A name
- A chart type e.g. column, line, pie, etc.
- Several data source inputs e.g. primary, value, colour, that report columns (sources) can be assigned to
- Various properties (although these are typically exposed in the UI via property pages of individual inputs)
- A primary axis and a value axis (although some charts do not make use of these).
 - Either or both of the axes may be shared between series

Updating the name

- The name of a series can be renamed by selecting the name and typing over it, otherwise a default name is assigned based on the chart type and the 'values' source
- A name can be restored to 'using the default value' by editing it and clearing the value

Adding or removing a series

- The Add series button bar at the top of the series panel adds a new series
- The X icon on each series will remove it
- A chart must have at least one series to work

Setting chart types

- The chart type can be selected from the Properties icon.
- Chart type is selected per-series, not per-chart

Chart Types Overview

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 3:59 pm AEST

Chart Types allow inputs as follows:

- Mandatory (or series won't render)
- Supported (optional)

Chart Type	Primary	Value	End Value	Size	Associate	Colour	Text	Image	Symbol	Can be stacked	Configurable data label position
Line	4	4				0	Ø		Ø		
Area	4	4	⊘			0	Ø			•	
Column	Ø	A	0			0	Ø			Ø	۲
Bar	Ø	4	Ø			0	Ø			•	۲
Pie	Ø	A				0	0	Ø			۲
Donut	Ø	4				⊘	ਂ	◙			•
Matrix	Ø	4				0	⊘	•			
Scatter	•	4				⊘	⊘		•		
Bubble	⊘	4		0		0	Ø	0			
Funnel	⊘	4				⊘	Ø	⊘			◙
Gauge		4									
Tree Map	4	4			Ø	⊘	⊘	⊘			
Force Graph	A				Ø	0	0				
Horizontal Tree	۸				Ø	0	0				
Radial Tree	•				ø	ø	•				
Sunburst	4	Ø			•	•	0	0			
Arrow	4	4	0	Ø			Ø	0			

General Principles

- End value is available on anything for which it makes sense to have ranges (and they are subsequently stackable)
- Image is available on chart types that allow images
- Hierarchy chart types (and only hierarchy charts) have the associate input

Chart Targets

Last Modified on 08/04/2019 5:24 pm AEST

Characteristics

Each chart target shows the following characteristics:

- A non-adjustable input name e.g. primary, value, size, etc.
- Some targets also have a 'Properties' button, that is generally meaningful even if no source has been applied
- For targets that have no source assigned:
 - some sort of drop-zone indicator e.g. 'Drop items here'
- For targets that do have a source assigned:
 - the column source name i.e. column name
 - an icon, indicating the column source type
 - depending on the source, a drop-down arrow to allow data aggregation, see 'Pivoting' below

Information about individual chart targets

Primary	Source identifies the row being shown.	0	Properties actually shows primary axis properties.
Values	Source shows the value of the row.	ø	Properties shows primary axis properties, with a few series properties tacked on. Special case for hero text - has its own properties page here.
End Values	Source shows the other end of a value range.	0	
Size	Adjusts the size of the data point (bubble chart).	8	
Associate	Identifies the related data, for hierarchies/networks.	8	
Colour	Unique values get assigned unique colours.	0	Or if the report column has conditional formatting, this can be activated in the colour properties.
Text	Show a data label with this source value on all data points.	0	

Image	The background is painted with this image.	8	Can only be assigned a report image column.
Symbol	Unique values get assigned unique symbols, until all are exhausted.	•	

Drag and drop

Drag and drop is the only way to assign chart sources to chart targets.

- A source can be dragged from the toolbox to a target. This creates a new chart source entity
- The same source can be dropped in multiple places.
- Sources cannot be removed from the toolbar.
- A source can be dragged from one chart target to another. This creates a copy of the chart source entity
- A source can be removed from a chart target by dragging it onto the background

Line Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:34 pm AEST

- 1. Select Line chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust the data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.



Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:34 pm AEST

- 1. Select Area chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Select + Add Series.
- 4. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust the data source as required.
- 5. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Column Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:39 pm AEST

To create a new chart, see 4 Ways to Create a Chart.

- 1. Select Column chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

BUSINESS BREAK OF OPEN INCIDENT



Bar Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:38 pm AEST

To create a new chart, see 4 Ways to Create a Chart.

- 1. Select Bar chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust the data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

BY STATUS



Pie Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:41 pm AEST

- 1. Select Pie chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Donut Chart

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:19 am AEST

To create a new chart, see 4 Ways to Create a Chart.

- 1. Select Donut chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart target to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

BY MAO



Matrix Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:42 pm AEST

- 1. Select Matrix chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Scatter Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:43 pm AEST

- 1. Select Scatter chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tooltip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Bubble Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:43 pm AEST

- 1. Select Bubble chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Funnel Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:43 pm AEST

- 1. Select Funnel chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Gauge Chart

Last Modified on 04/02/2020 10:06 am AEDT

To create a new chart, see 4 Ways to Create a Chart.

- 1. Select Gauge chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.



Gauge chart example

Custom Color Levels

The minimum and maximum values of the gauge chart and the values of the colored regions can be customised in the Value properties window.

1. Select the Properties button to the right of the Values source:



- 2. Enter values for minimum, maxiumum, marker 1, and marker 2.
 - Minimum is the numerical value for the lower-left hand side of the gauge.
 - Maximum is the numerical value for the upper-right hand side of the gauge.
 - Marker 1 is the numerical value for the position of the marker between red to yellow.
 - Marker 2 is the numerical value for the position of the marker between yellow to green.
 - The order of the values should be increasing from minimum, marker1, marker2, maximum.
- 3. Select OK

For example, a minimum and maximum of -200 and 200 may be specified, with the red/yellow marker at zero and the yellow/green marker at 100, as follows:

Value Axis Properties							
Axis label:							
Minimum:	O Auto Manual -200						
Maximum:	O Auto Manual 200						
Marker 1:	O Auto Manual 0						
Marker 2:	O Auto Manual 100						
	OK Cancel						

The above settings will produce the following gauge chart:



Tree Map

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:34 pm AEST

- 1. Select Tree map chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Force Graph

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:35 pm AEST

- 1. Select Force graph chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Horizontal Tree

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:35 pm AEST

- 1. Select Horizontal tree chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Radial Tree

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:35 pm AEST

- 1. Select Radial tree chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Sunburst

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:36 pm AEST

- 1. Select Sunburst chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Arrow Chart

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:36 pm AEST

- 1. Select Arrow chart type (or, hover on each type to see the tool tip).
- 2. Select **OK**. The chart displays in Chart Builder mode.
- 3. Drag and drop fields from Left Navigation Area to Chart Targets to adjust data source as required.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the chart.

Add Gridlines to Charts

Last Modified on 07/09/2020 1:11 pm AEST

It is easy to add gridlines to your charts, here's how:

- 1. Navigate to the chart you want to edit
- 2. Open the chart builder (find out about the Chart Builder)
- 3. Edit the axes properties (click on 😐)
- 4. Enable 'Show Grid'
- 5. Click 'Ok' > 'Save' > Close the builder



Screen Builder

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 7:01 pm AEST

There can be multiple screens with the same name within an application and an application can have as many screens as you want.

Add a screen to the application using the Left Navigation Area.

As a general overview to the Screen Builder, refer to the screenshot below. Screen Builder has four main features:

- 1. Left Navigation Area: displays the list of Reports, Forms and Charts for the application
- 2. Display Options: has the controls to create Hero text and organise the screen layout using Containers and Tabbed Containers
- 3. Screen Canvas: used to design the screen layout
- 4. Toolbox: view properties and save the screen



Creating and Editing Screens

Last Modified on 12/08/2020 10:45 am AEST

Add a screen to the application using the Left Navigation Area.

To create a new screen:

- 1. Turn on configuration mode by clicking on the spanner 🔪 on top right.
- 2. Locate the **+** Page Item button in the left navigation area and click once.
- 3. This should load the Create New Page selection screen.
- 4. Select New Screen
- 5. Select Create
- 6. Type the name for the screen in the **Name** field.
- 7. Type the description for the screen in the **Description** field.
- 8. Select **Options** > **Format** and assign an Icon to the section.
- 9. Select OK to save. The new screen appears in Screen Builder mode.

To modify an existing screen:

- 1. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner.
- 2. Hover on the screen to be edited. The Configure icon appears for the screen.
- 3. Select the Configure icon.
- 4. Select **Modify Screen**. The screen appears in Screen Builder mode.

To save the screen:

1. Select **SAVE** to save the screen.

Screen Layout

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 4:08 pm AEST

When designing the screen, items such as Charts, Reports, Hero Text and Forms can be either placed directly on the screen or can be added to a Container or Tabbed Container.

Adding items to a Container and a Tabbed Container assists with better screen layout.

Adding a Container

To add a Container to the screen:

- 1. Open the Screen Builder
- 2. In Left Navigation Area, Display Options, drag and drop a Container on the Screen

Adding a Tabbed Container

To add a Tabbed Container to the screen

- 1. Open the Screen Builder
- 2. In Left Navigation Area, Display Options, drag and drop a Tabbed Container on the Screen.
- 3. Select + to add additional tabs to the Tabbed Container.

Containers can be placed horizontally next to one another whereas Tabbed Containers can ONLY be placed one beneath another.

Hero Text

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:19 am AEST

Hero Text is text added to a screen to highlight features displayed on the screen.

Adding a Hero Text control

- 1. Open the Screen Builder
- 2. In Left Navigation Area, Display Options, drag and drop Hero Text on the Screen.

Defining Hero Text

- 1. Add Hero Text control on Screen as described above.
- 2. Hover on Hero Text control and select Configure icon. The menu appears.
- 3. Select Hero Text Properties. The Hero Text Properties dialogue appears, see screenshot.
- 4. In Report field select Pencil icon. The Select dialogue appears.
- 5. Select the report you want.
- 6. Select the options you want for the other fields from the drop-down lists. (Default settings can be changed.)
- 7. Select **OK**. The Hero Text appears on Screen.
- 8. Select **SAVE** to save the screen.

Hero Text Properties							
Label:	Title						
Report:	Student report						
Column:	Count						
Method:	Count						
Style:	Style 1						
Sample:	Title						
	102						
	OK Cancel						
	Defining Hero Text						

Action Buttons

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:59 am AEST

You are able to create an Action Button to create a record or run a workflow.

To configure action button on a Screen

- 1. Open the Screen Builder
- 2. Select + Actions button. The menu appears with two options available:
 - Create Record (adds a button on the screen to create a record of a specified object)
 - Run Workflow (adds a button on the screen to run a specified workflow)
- 3. If creating a record:
 - Enter Name
 - Select Object
 - Select Form to open
- 4. If running a workflow, select:
 - Workflow to run
- 5. Select **OK** to save. The activity appears as an action button at the top right of the screen
- 6. Select **SAVE** to save the screen.

The Action Button is only functional in screen view mode (not Screen Builder mode).

Master Detail

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 5:24 pm AEST

The Master Detail functionality of the screen allows you to select an element as a Parent (or Master) of the other elements on the screen. Using this functionality you can filter the details of the selected entity from master element. (e.g. click on a segment of a chart to filter the contents of a report on the screen)

Examples:

- User selects a segment of a chart to filter the contents of a report on the screen
- User selects a segment of a chart to filter another chart on the screen
- User selects a record in a report to show that record on a form on the screen

Configuring Master Detail

Go to Screen Builder of the screen you want to setup the master-detail:

- Select the configuration spanner of the element that you want to be the 'Child' (any report, chart or form on the screen).
- Select Assign Parent
- Select the element on the screen that you want to be the 'parent' of the current element
 - When linking a Chart or Report to a form, both need to be based on the same object.
 - A form cannot be made as Parent (Master) to a report.

Creating, Viewing and Editing Boards

Last Modified on 31/07/2020 12:18 pm AEST

To create a Board:

- 1. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner.
- 2. Select +Page Item icon in the Left Navigation Area.
- 3. Select New Board
- 4. Select Create
- 5. Type the name for the board in the **Name** field.
- 6. Type the description for the board in the **Description** field.
- 7. In the Report field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Report dialog appears.
- 8. Select the report for the board and select **OK**.
- 9. Select the **Show quick add** checkbox if you want to create new record from the board, otherwise leave it without a tick.
- 10. Select OK. The Board is created with the default template of Name & description.

To view and edit a Board:

- 1. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner.
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, hover on the Board you want to view or edit. The Configure icon appears.
- 3. Select the Configure icon for the Board. The menu appears.
- 4. Select **Board Properties**. The **Board Properties** dialog appears. Note: You can view or edit details as shown above.
- 5. Select **Options**. The options tabs appear with focus on **Advanced** tab.
- 6. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialog appears.
- 7. Select the application you want and select **OK**. Note: Creating a board from the Left Navigation Area associates the board to that application by default.
- 8. Select the Format tab. The Icon field appears.
- 9. Select the Pencil icon. The Select Icon dialog appears.
- 10. Select the icon you want and select OK. Note: Optional. A default icon appears.
- 11. Select the **Deploy** tab. The Deploy options appear. Note: By default, the board is deployed in desktop and not in tablet and mobile.
- 12. Select **OK** to save or **Cancel** to leave.

Boards are not supported on mobile at present.

If a report has 'State', 'Assigned', 'Priority' as the columns, then the 'State' is selected as the column of the

board by default and 'Assigned' is selected as the colour by default (user can change).

If a report has 'State', 'Priority' as the columns, then the 'State' is selected as the column by default and 'Priority' is selected as the colour by default (user can change).

If a report has only 'State' as a column, then it is selected as the column for the board by default and the colour is left blank if no other choice/lookup column is available in report else will pick the next choice column for the colour. (User can select the colour manually.)

If a numeric value like id / auto number / number exists for a record, it appears on the top of the card.

Board Settings

Last Modified on 14/06/2019 2:22 pm AEST

To view and change settings go to the Administration applications and select Boards under the Resources section.

📋 New Bo	bard									
Name -	New Poard									
Description :	New Board									
			12							
BOARD DETAILS			E	DIMENSION DETAILS						
Report :	Document Default Dis	ø	×	Column dimension :	Unnamed resource		×	Card template name :		
Child report :			×	Swimlane dimension :	Unnamed resource		×	Custom card template :		
Rank column :			×	Style dimension :	Unnamed resource		×			
Drilldown Target :			×							
Show quick add :										
Drilldown Target for	Boards									
BOARDS										
C - ACTION -	+ NEW 🔍 🖉 P EDIT I	INLINE							Y Search	Q
Name	-	▲			Description					
Board settings in Admistration										

- 1. In the Card template field, select the down arrow. The options appear as shown below.
 - All values & labels Displays the values of all columns with their corresponding column name / label on the card
 - All values only Displays the values of all columns but not the label
 - Name only Displays only the value of the name column on the car
 - Name & description Displays name and description on the card
 - Approvals Displays the values for approver and owner on the card (if the report has those columns)
- 2. Show column for: Single select choice field and the lookup field on the report are displayed as the options for the column on the board. The values of the selected column appears as the columns on the board.
 - For example, if a single select choice field 'State' has values as NSW, VIC, SA, WA, QLD, TAS, NT, ACT then these values appears as the columns on the board. An extra column 'Undefined' also appears as the first column by default on the board.
 - You can uncheck any value of the selected column for it not to appear on board.
- 3. Show rows for: Single select choice field and the lookup field on the report are displayed as the options for the rows on the board. The values of the selected row appears as the rows on the board.
 - For example, if a single select choice field 'State' has values as NSW, VIC, SA, WA, QLD, TAS, NT, ACT then these values appears as the rows on the board. Data on the board are grouped under these values.
 - You can uncheck any value of the selected row for it not to appear on board.
- 4. Use colours for: Single select choice field and the lookup field on the report are displayed as the options for the colours on the board. The values of the selected colour appears as the legend on the board.
- 5. Select **Save** to save the setting.
- 6. Select **Close** to close the Settings dialog.

Creating Records on a Board

Last Modified on 14/03/2019 2:46 pm AEDT

To create a record on a Board:

- 1. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner.
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, hover on the board you want and select the Configure icon. The menu appears.
- 3. Select **Board Properties**. The Board Properties dialog appears.
- 4. Select the **Show quick add** checkbox.
- 5. Select **OK**. The New item field appears at the top left of the Board.
- 6. Type a value in the **New item** field.
- 7. Select the + icon to add the value to the board.

Board Operations

Last Modified on 14/03/2019 2:47 pm AEDT

- 1. You can create a new record for the object with the board if the property 'Show quick add' is enabled
- 2. You can search for any record on the board using search box
- 3. You can perform drag and drop between the columns on any value of the board and the value for the corresponding field will be changed
- 4. You can perform drag and drop of the legend on any value and the value for the corresponding field will be changed
- 5. You can perform drag and drop of the value on any legend and the value for the corresponding field will be changed

Access Control

Last Modified on 12/11/2020 3:14 pm AEDT

Overview

Access Control is the security system that determines which users have permission to:

- view, modify, and delete existing existing records
- create new records
- access screens, reports, and other content

Access control rules that automatically grant per-record permission based on the metadata of those records, or based on how the records relate back to individual users, can be easily achieved by creating an Access Rule report.

See also: Access Control Security whitepaper.

Access Control Terminology

- User Each person typically has one user account. All interactions with the ReadiNow server are done in the context of a user account.
- User Roles Users are members of security roles. A user can be in multiple roles. Role can be members of other roles.
- **Permission** A permission is something that is required to perform an activity, such as View, Modify, Delete, Create. For example, you need the **View** permission to see a record.
- Access Rules An access rule (or simply Rule) grants some permissions for users in a role to interact with records of a particular type.
- Access Rule Reports Access rules typically include a report which acts as a record filter to determine which records are included by the rule. Whether or not an access rule grants access to a report is determined by whether or not the access rule report, and its analyser filter, includes the record as a row.
- Navigation Access Simply makes app content, such as screens and reports, visible to a role
- Security Relationships Allows a relationship to be configured so that permissions for one record flow to related records.

Other Elements of Security

The ReadiNow platform supports other security features such as SSO (single-sign), configurable Password Policy, IP whitelisting, configurable Record Audit Log and Security Audit Log. These work in tandem with access control, but are not part of access control.

Record Access

Last Modified on 16/08/2021 4:15 pm AEST

Record Access is used to grant User Role data level access.

Record Access is all about data level access. **Navigation Access** should be granted to allow any non-admin user to see the navigation item.

Granting record access

To grant record access:

- 1. Open the tenant administration page more
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 3. Select User Roles. The existing User Roles display.
- 4. Select the user role you want and select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 5. Select Edit. The user role displays.

ReadiNow					
<					
Applications	🔳 Stude	nts			
Audit ^					
	Name:	students			
Resources	Del Suption :	Foster university students.			
🛅 Security 👻	Applications :	Foster University 🖋 🗙			
IP Panner	Role level :	Full Role			
	Record Access N	lavigation Access Members (Roles) Member of Users Access Summary			
Password Policy	C +NEW				
Security Audit Log Setti	Enabled Object		Permissions	Query	
G Security Addit Log Security	Libraŋ	y card	View	Own library card	
Navigation Access	 Qualif 	ications	View •	My qualifications	
 Interstite Descriptions 	🗹 Staff		View •	Staff in my faculty	
Identity Providers	Studer	nt	View and Edit	Own student record	
Record Access	 Subject 	rt Timetables	View •	Subject Timetables	
O CONTRACTOR	 Subject 	tts	View •	Subjects for my qualifications	
Security Audit Log					
LUSER Accounts					
🛓 User Roles					
	Adding a new access rule				

6. Select +NEW. The New Access Rule dialog appears.

Rea	adiNow					🔨 Administration 💄 🕜	c
	Security	New Acc	ess Rule			1	EDI
	Identity Provide	Object:		Qualifications		•	
	Password Policy		Description	Organisation Assets Organisation Structure Owned Items Person		Î	
	Security Audit L	.og S	o comp do	Phone Contact Qualifications	N	_	
	Security Audit L	.og	Applicatio Record	Report Template Results Rooms Staff	45	ccess Summary	
	User Accounts	- 1	¢ +	Stock Student		Search Q	
	🔲 User Roles	- 1	Enablec	Subject Timetables Subjects Task		uery ubjects for my qualific	
•			Ø	Temperature Textbooks Uni Person		aff in my faculty wn student record	
			Ø	University Workflow		↓ Iy qualifications	
	Workflows	-	e e	Library card Subject Timetables	View View	Own library card Subject Timetables	
•				Qualifications	View	Qualifications	
	Selecting the object from the list						

- 7. In **Object** field select down arrow and select the object from drop-down list.
- 8. Select **OK** to confirm.
- 9. Find the new rule just added and select the checkbox.
- 10. Select **SAVE** to save the user role.

By default, View access is granted. However, it can be changed by selecting from Permissions drop-down

Navigation Access

Last Modified on 11/08/2020 4:19 pm AEST

Navigation Access grants a User Role the access to see a specific navigation item.

Navigation Access is about access to a navigation item. Record Access should be granted to allow any nonadmin user to see all or partial records.

Granting navigation access

To grant navigation access:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select User Roles. The existing User Roles display.
- 5. Select the user role you want and select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 6. Select Edit. The user role displays.
- 7. Select Navigation Access tab.
- 8. In Application field select down arrow and select the application from drop-down list, e.g. Foster University.

ReadiNow				
~<				
Applications	Students	2		
🖿 Audit 🔺	Name : Students	- 0		
Resources	Description : Foster university students.			
🖿 Security 🔻	Applications : Foster University			
🚊 IP Ranges	Role level : Full Role			
-	Record Access Navigation Access Members (Roles) Member of Users Access Summary			
Password Policy	Application: Foster University			
Security Audit Log Setti	🖉 🖿 Foster University			
Navigation Access	 Reports Student report 			
💄 Identity Providers	Staff Report			
Record Access	Gens of University report			
	Ibrary cards			
Security Audit Log	Qualification Report			
🚢 User Accounts				
Uses Deles	Gampuses			
	Textbooks			
Granting navigation access				

9. Select the checkbox next to the item you want to grant the navigation access to.



10. Select **SAVE** to save the user role.

User Roles

Last Modified on 17/08/2021 9:07 am AEST

A user role defines permissions for users to perform a group of activities.

To create a new User Role

NOTE: Basic and Lite Roles are only available if your subscription is based on Full/Basic/Lite user model. See Licensing

To create a Lite/Basic user role:

- 1. Open the tenant administration page more
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 3. Select User Roles. The existing User Roles display.
- 4. Click on + NEW, choose on of: Full Role, Lite Role, or Basic Role from menu pending on the need. On the form:
 - 1. Type the name for the user role in the Name field.
 - 2. Type the description for the user role in the **Description** field.
 - 3. In **Applications** field select Pencil icon. The Select dialogue appears. In Select Application dialogue, select the application you want and click OK button to confirm the selection.
 - 4. For **Record Access** tab, create access for the role. Please refer to Record Access for more information.
 - 5. For Navigation Access tab, pick the desired navigation items.
- 5. Click **Save** to save changes on form.

Alternatively, new user role can be created from Security roles tab of the User Accounts form.

Assigning an existing user account to a user role

To assign an existing user account to a user role:

- 1. On User Role form, select the Users tab.
- 2. Select the Link to Existing icon. The Select User Account dialogue appears.
- 3. Quicksearch for the user account you want.
- 4. Select **OK** to confirm.

If the user account is not yet created, please refer to the User Accounts page to create it beforehand.

Alternatively, it can be created by selecting +NEW on Users tab (see step 1)

Role Access

Last Modified on 15/03/2019 11:04 am AEDT

The **Access Summary** feature gives a summary of the access for a particular role. It shows a list of all objects the current role has access to, the level of permission and a summary of the reason 'why' these roles have access to the specified object.

A user role may be granted access to the records of an object for a variety of reasons, including:

- Granted by an access rule the access rule has been created to explicitly grant a role access to records of an object
- Granted by an inherited access rule the access rule may be inherited from a parent object
- Granted by a user role the access rule may be included from another 'included' role
- Granted by relationship access access may be granted based on implicitly securing a relationship (set in the object relationship properties)

Viewing the Access Summary of a User Role

To view the Access Summary of a User Role:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select User Roles. The existing User Roles display.
- 5. Select the user role you want and select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 6. Select View. The user role displays.
- 7. Select the Access Summary tab. The Access Summary displays.

Role Nesting

Last Modified on 17/08/2021 9:20 am AEST

You can arrange Security Roles hierarchically. Each role may be include multiple roles, or be included by multiple roles, or both. This is referred to as 'Role Nesting'.

If one role includes a second role as a member - in the **Members (Roles)** tab of the first role – then the first role applies to users that are assigned to the second role. Equivalently, users assigned to the second role receive permissions that are assigned to the first role.

If the second role is shown in the **Members (Roles)** tab of the first role, then conversely the first role will appear in the **Member Of** tab of the second role.

Members (Roles)

- The listed roles are members of the currently role.
- Users assigned to member roles are also effectively in the current role.
- Equivalently, each of the Members (Roles) inherit permissions of the current role

Member Of

- The current role is a member of the listed roles
- Users assigned to the current role are also effectively in the listed roles.
- Equivalently, the current role inherits permissions of the Member Of roles.

Role Nesting is transitive, which means that users and permissions flow through the hierarchy if multiple roles are chained together. For example, if the Members (Roles) tab of role A contains role B, and if the Members (Roles) tab of role B contains role C, then role C is also effectively a member of role A; the users assigned to role C will effectively be in role A; and equivalently permissions assigned to role A are granted to users in role C.

Nesting a user role

To add a user role to another user role:

- 1. Open the tenant administration page more
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 3. Select User Roles. The existing User Roles display.
- 4. Select the user role you want to be the parent and select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 5. Select Edit. The User Role displays.
- 6. Select Members (Roles) tab.
- 7. Select the Link to Existing icon. The Select User Role dialogue appears.
- 8. Quick search for the user role you want.
- 9. Select **OK** to confirm.

		<			
, -	Applications	^ 🔳 Staff			
	Audit	Name :	Staff		
	Resources	Description :	Foster University Staff		
	Security	Applications :	Foster University		
	💄 IP Ranges	Role level :	Full Role		
		Record Access Na	vigation Access Members (Roles) Member of	Users Access Summary	
	Password Policy	MEMBERS (ROLES)			
	Security Audit Log Sett	ن	+ NEW 04 02		
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	User Role	A	Description	Applications
	Avigation Access	Deans		Foster University Deans	Foster University
	Identity Providers				
	Record Access				
	Security Audit Log				

User Accounts
 User Roles

154

User Accounts

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:26 am AEST

A user account allows or does not allow a user to connect to ReadiNow.

Only an administrator can create or modify an account for other users.

Creating a user account

To create a user account:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select **Security**. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select User Accounts. The existing User Accounts display.
- 5. Select + NEW. The User Account form appears.
- 6. Type the username for the user account in the Username field.
- 7. In Account holder field select Pencil icon. The Select dialogue appears.
- 8. Select the person you want.
- 9. Select OK to confirm.
- 10. Type the description for the user account in the **Description** field.
- 11. Select the correct **User level** from drop-down list (**1** NOTE: This option is only available if your company is on the Full/Basic/Lite subscription model. See Licencing)
- 12. Complete mandatory fields.
- 13. Select **SAVE** to save the user account.

Alternatively, a new user account can be created from Users tab of User Role form.

Now the new user account is ready to be linked to a sensible role. By default, the new user account is in Everyone role, which has very limited access.

Editing an existing user account

To edit an existing user account:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select User Accounts. The existing User Accounts display.

- 5. Select the user account you want and select **ACTION**. The menu appears.
- 6. Select Edit. The user account displays.

ReadiNow			*	Administration \equiv	. ? -
< ^					
Applications	User Account	S			
🖿 Settings 🔺	C - ACTION - + NEW			▼ John.Sm	×
	Username	Account holder	Account status	User roles	
Resources A	John.Smith		Active		
Security -			۹ View 'John.Smith'		
,			✓ Edit 'John.Smith'	1	
🚢 Identity Providers			× Delete 'John.Smith'		
Password Policy					
Security Audit Log Set					
Security Audit Log					
User Accounts					
🔲 User Roles					
	Ed	it an existing user accou	nt		

- 7. Add or modify information as required.
- 8. Select **SAVE** to save the user account.

Reset a user's password

To reset a user's password:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select **Security**. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select User Accounts. The existing User Accounts display.
- 5. Select the user account you want and select **ACTION**. The menu appears.
- 6. Select Edit. The user account displays.

ReadiNow		*	Administration 😑 💄	8 🗉
<	User Accounts			
🖿 Settings 🔺	C - ACTION - + NEW		▼ John.Sm	×
🖿 Resources 🔺	Username Account holder John.Smith	Account status Active	User roles	
🖿 Security 🔻		 View 'John.Smith' Edit 'John.Smith' 	1	
Identity Providers		× Delete 'John.Smith		
Password Policy				
Security Audit Log Set				
G Security Audit Log				
User Accounts				
🗐 User Roles 🗸				
	Edit an existing u	ser account		

7. In **Password** field, type the password you want.

ReadiNow					-	× -	Administration	= 1 0
ADMINISTRATION +								
<						2	🗎 Save	imes Cancel
Applications	🔲 Fontane	eLau						
🖿 Settings 🗠	Usemame :	John Smith						
Resources	Account holder :	×						
	Description :							
Security -		e						
Identity Providers	ACCOUNT STATUS			ACCOUNT ACTIVITY				
	Account status :	Locked •		Last logon :				
Password Policy	Account expiration :	M/d/yyyy 🛗 HH:MM A 💿		Password last changed :				
	PASSWORD			Last lockout :				
Security Audit Log Set	Password :	·	1	Bad logon count : 0				
Security Audit Log	Change on next logon :		-					
E there to examine	Password never expire							
User Accounts	Security roles							
🗉 User Roles	C - ACTION -	+ NEW 02 02					T Search	9
	User Role	▲	Description		Applications			
Integration								
🖬 Surveys 🗠								
🖿 Workflows 🗠								
		Fill in informatic	n on the Use	r Account form				

8. Select **SAVE** to save the user account.

Unlock a user account

To unlock a user account:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select User Accounts. The existing User Accounts display.
- 5. Select the user account you want and select ACTION. The menu appears.

6. Select **Edit**. The user account displays.

ReadiNow		٩	Administration 😑 💄	8 🗆
< ^				
Applications	User Accounts			
🖿 Settings 🔺	C - ACTION - + NEW		▼ John.Sm	×
🖬 Resources 🔺	Username Account holder John.Smith	Account status Active	User roles	
Security		۹ View 'John.Smith'		
Identity Providers		Edit 'John.Smith' Delete 'John Smith'	1	
Password Policy		N Delete Johnsmith		
Security Audit Log Set				
Security Audit Log				
User Accounts				
🗐 User Roles				
↓				_
	Edit an existing us	er account		

- 7. In Account status field, select the down arrow.
- 8. In the drop down list, select Active.

ReadiNow				🖴 🔨 Administration ≡	: 🛓 🗆
ADMINISTRATION +					
<				3 💾 Save	imes Cancel
Applications *	🔲 Fontane Lau				
🖿 Settings 🗠	Usemame : John Smith				
Resources	Account holder : X Description :				
Security 🗸	12				
Identity Providers	ACCOUNT STATUS	ACCOUNT ACT	VITY		
	Account status : Locked	1 Last logon :			
Password Policy	Account expiration : [Select]	Password last char	nged :		
Security Audit Log Set	PASSWORD Disabled	Last lockout :			
G Coounty Addit Log Count	Password : Expired	Bad logon count :	0		
Security Audit Log	Change on next logon :				
Illeer Accounte	Password never expire				
	Security roles				
🔲 User Roles	C - ACTION - + NEW O, OL			Y Search	0,
	User Role	Description	Applications		
🖬 Surveys 🗠					
🖿 Workflows 🔶					
	Editing	the account status			

9. Select **SAVE** to save the user account.

Self Serve Reports

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:49 pm AEST

Self serve is a feature that enables a non-administration user to create their own private reports, charts and screens.

Granting Self Serve

To grant self serve:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select User Roles. The existing User Roles display.
- 5. Select Self Serve role.
- 6. Select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 7. Select Edit. Form opens.
- 8. Select Users tab. The existing users with Self Serve display.
- 9. As required, add a new user, see User Accounts or link to an existing user account.
- 10. Select Link to Existing icon. The Select User Account dialogue appears.
- 11. Quick search for the user role you want.
- 12. Select OK to confirm.
- 13. Select **Save** to save the user role.

Using Self Serve

To use Self Serve:

- 1. Login with the self-serve user account added or linked in the steps above.
- 2. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 3. Select Home. The Home application displays.
- 4. Select Configure icon to enable builder mode.
- 5. Select + in Left Navigation Area to build private reports, charts and screens.

See Report Builder, Chart Builder, Screen Builder

If the intention is to add private items to other applications rather than Home, then after the user is added to the Self Serve role, the administrator performs the steps:

- Navigate to the Application which you want self serve user to place private item in.
- Create a Personal Section.
- Grant self-serve user the navigation access to the Personal Section, see Navigation Access.

A private item is private, which means other users won't be able to see it including administrators.

Adding Personal Sections

Personal Sections are special sections that can be added anywhere to the navigation that allows users to create Self Service reports, charts and screens.

- 1. Select the Configure icon in the top right corner.
- 2. Select the + Page Item icon in the Left Navigation Area. The Create New Page dialogue appears.
- 3. Select New Personal Section
- 4. Select Create.
- 5. In the Name field, type name of the personal section.
- 6. In the **Description** field, type the description.

You will now need to grant Navigation Access to the roles that require access to this new section.

Password Policy

Last Modified on 18/03/2024 12:47 pm AEDT

The Password Policy enables Administrators to set limits and restrictions on the types of passwords their users can create. You can use this feature to create a more secure system.

Configuring the password policy

To configure the password policy:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select Password Policy. The existing Password Policy displays.
- 5. Select Edit and configure the following fields as required:
 - Maximum age (days): type the maximum password age in days
 - Minimum length: type the minimum password length
 - Must contain digits: select the checkbox if a digit is required for the password
 - Must contain lowercase characters: select the checkbox if a lowercase character is required for the passwords
 - Must contain special characters: select the checkbox if a special character is required for the passwords
 - Must contain uppercase characters: select the checkbox if a uppercase character is required for the passwords
 - Lockout duration: type the number of minutes a locked account remains locked
 - Invalid attempts: type the number of invalid logons before accounts are locked
- 6. Select **Save** to save changes.

Screenshot: Configure the Password Policy

ReadiNow			۲ Administration	= 1 0
<				🗎 save 🛛 🗙
Applications	Password Policy			
🖿 Settings 🗠	Name Password Policy			
Resources	Description : The policy settings that apply to passwords.	~ e		
Security *	PASSWORD POLICY	ACCOUNT LOCKOUT		
Lidentity Providers	Maximum age (days) : 90 Minimum length : 7	Lockout duration : Invalid attempts :	60 3	
Password Policy	Must contain digits :			
Security Audit Log Settin	Must contain lowercase 🗹 Must contain special cha			
Security Audit Log	Must contain uppercase			
🖽 User Accounts				

Changing your password

There are two scenarios where the password may need to be reset:

- A user is logged in, but wants to change the password
- A user has forgotten the username or password and can't log in

Changing your password when logged in

See Changing the Password.

Resetting the password from the login page

See Forgot your username or password

Administrative Roles

Last Modified on 24/08/2021 1:39 pm AEST

From time to time you may require users to perform particular administrative tasks, yet giving users full Administration access is providing too much privilege. The predefined Administrative Roles allow Administrators to grant users access to specific administrative functions.

In addition, further refinement or customisation of the administrative roles can be achieved by creating new roles and specifying access rules.

Predefined Administrative Roles

Roles	Description
Spreadsheet importer	Role that will allow users to import data only.
Spreadsheet administrator	Role that will allow users to add new configurations and import data.
User administrator	Role that will allow users to manage user accounts, such as disabling accounts, resetting passwords, and assigning roles.
Security administrator	Role that will allow users to create roles, define access rules and assign navigation access.
Survey creator	Role that will allow users to create and manage surveys.
Content administrator	Role that will allow users to configure navigation, reports and screens
Workflows & Schedule administrator	Role that will allow users to maintain workflows, triggers and schedules, including the ability to create, modify and delete workflows.

For the following roles, you will also need to create separate access rules that grant "create" access for the objects that require administrating.

- Spreadsheet Importer
- Spreadsheet Administrator
- Content Administrator

For example, if the Spreadsheet Importer requires to import a list of Employees, "create" access to Employee records is required.

Customise Administrative Roles

If the predefined Administrative Roles are not exactly what you are after, Administrators are also able to create their own custom administrative roles. Just like how normal access rules are configured to restrict the permissions (Create, View, Edit and Delete) and/or conditionally set restrictions on records, the same applies to administrative functions when setting up the access rules.

To configure a new administrative role:

- 1. Decide what type administrative tasks the role will need to perform (such as Spreadsheet importing, user manager, role management etc)
- 2. Create a new custom admin role
- 3. Determine which Administrator Base Roles are required and then add them to the role.
- 4. For each administrative task that the role will need to perform, configure the access rules and navigation. See Access Summary for Administrative Roles for a listing the objects that require record access and the reports that require navigation access.

Administrative Base Roles

In addition to the administrative roles, the base roles below are included by the administrative roles to grant special administrative access.

Administrator Base Roles

Description

Roles including this role

Administrator Base Roles	Description	Roles including this role
Administrator Base – Core	A role used as the foundation for other administrative roles.	 User Administrators Security Administrators Spreadsheet Importers Spreadsheet Administrators Content Administrators Workflow & Schedule Administrators
Administrator Base – Navigation	Grants selective view access to the navigation structure for the purpose of making administrative changes.	 User Administrator Security Administrators
Administrator Base - Security	Grants administrative access to accounts and security roles	 User Administrator Security Administrators
Administrator Base – Configure Navigation	Grants access to configure mode and the navigation structure.	Content Administrators

Administrator Base - Core role will need to be included for *all* custom created admin roles.

Access Summary for Administrative Roles

To configure custom administrative roles, you will need to determine the type of administrative tasks a user will need to perform and then define the access rules and also grant the appropriate navigation access for that particular task.

Spreadsheet Importers

Object	Access Type	Description
Import Configuration object	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
	Navigation	Import Spreadsheet
Import Runs	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user

Spreadsheet Administrators

Object	Access Type	Description
	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
import Configuration object	Navigation	Import Spreadsheet
Schedule Import Configuration	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
	Navigation	Schedule Import report
Schedule Export Configuration	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
	Navigation	Schedule Export report

User Administrators

Object	Access Type	Description
User Account	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
	Navigation	User Accounts
Navigation Container	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Full Role	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Tuirkõie	Navigation	User Roles
Lite Role *	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Basic Role *	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Person	Record Access	Full (Create/View/Edit/Delete)
Identity Provider	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
	Navigation	Identity Providers
Identity Provider User	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
OpenID Connect Identify Provider	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
SAML Identity Provider	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user

Security Administrators

Object	Access Type	Description
User Account	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Full Role	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Lite Role *	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Basic Role *	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Logon Audit Log Entry	Record Access	View only
	Navigation	Security Audit Log
Identify Provider	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
	Navigation	Identity Providers
OpenID Connect Identify Provider	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
SAML Identity Provider	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Identity Provider User	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user

Content Administrator

_		
0	bie	ect

Access Type

Description

Object	Access Type	Description
Board	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Chart	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Document Folder	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Navigation Section	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Private Content Section	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Report	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Screen	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Top Menu	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
	Navigation	Administration \rightarrow Resources \rightarrow Boards
	Navigation	Administration \rightarrow Resources \rightarrow Charts
	Navigation	Administration \rightarrow Resources \rightarrow Reports
	Navigation	Administration \rightarrow Resources \rightarrow Screens

Workflows & Schedules Administrator

Object	Access Type	Description
Workflow	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Triggers	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Relationships	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Schedule Daily Repeat	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Schedule One Off	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Workflow Run	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user
Workflow Run Log Entry	Record Access	Record access to be decided by the user

* Feature only available for specific client plans

Metadata-Based Security

Last Modified on 31/05/2019 4:19 pm AEST

User roles can leverage metadata-based security, which is the ability to secure objects based on metadata. This is done by selecting the **Edit Query** option for **Record Access** and configuring the security as desired.

Example

Step 1

Navigate to User Roles in the security administration, and open a role that needs to be configured.

🔳 Talen	t Manager			
Name : Description :	Talent Manager			
Applications : Role level : Record Access	Full Role Navigation Access Members (Roles) Member of Users Access Summary			
Enabled Obje	ect 🔺			
Perso	Edit Query Delete			
Step 1: Modify the Record Access query				

Step 2

A report appears, where the filter can be edited; modify the filter and save.

<i>Readi</i> BUILDER				🖒 RELOAD	PROPERTIES	🗎 SAVE	SAVE AS	×
Report	Person							
Relationship viewer	ACTIONS 3						T	
Σ 🗐 기 +	Person	Job title :	= •	Actor				
Person	Pierce Brosnan	City :	= *				•	
Fields & Related Objects					1	Apply	E Davah	
Search Q						Арру	* J Neset	
Drag and drop to page 🕞 🖩 🕇								
- Default								
Aa Name 🖉 🗌								
Aa Description								
Step 2: Modify the filter								

Step 3:Test

While other users can view the full list of contacts, signing in with the talent manager role will only show Pierce in the list.



Security Relationships

Last Modified on 07/12/2020 4:44 pm AEDT

Overview

The ReadiNow platform lets you define access control policy that takes advantage of the relationships between individual records. Ordinarily this is achieved by using metadata based security to define a report that follows some path of relationships between individual records and the users that are trying to access them.

However, it is sometimes convenient to define, for a particular type of relationship that any permission users have on one record should automatically apply to its related record as well.

For example, a "Recovery Plan" object may relate to a "Plan Step" object such that each Recovery Plan record contains several Plan Step records. There may be various access rules that describe who can view or modify a "Recovery Plan", but a desired policy might be that if a user can access a recovery plan, for whatever reason, they should also be able to access the plan step records for that plan.

A relationship configured in this way is called a *security relationship*. In this case, Recovery Plan is acting as the *granting object*, and Plan Step is acting as the *secured object*.

This option is a property of the relationship, and it cannot be configured on a per-role basis.

Types of Security Relationships

A relationship can be configured so that a User who has access to Recovery Plan (but not necessarily the Plan Steps):

- does not gain any access to Plan Steps → Off
- gains ability to see the *Name* of any related Plan Steps → Revealing Name Only
- gain *Read Access* to view any related Plan Steps → Propagating View Permission
- gains the *Same Access* for Plan Steps that they have for Recovery Plan → Propagating All Permission

Note: it may be the case that a User has access to the secured record via some other access rule(s).

Caution: Poorly configured 'propagate view' and 'propagate all' relationships can significantly increase the number of records that need to be checked when calculating access permissions, which can *significant* impact response times across the application. Refer to best practices below.

Revealing Name Only

If relationship is configured as a 'name only' security relationship, and the user has permission to view some *granting* record, then the user will also automatically have permission to view the name of the related record.

For example, consider a "Recovery Plan last reviewed by Employee" lookup relationship between the Recovery Plan and Employee objects. This can be configured as: "If I have access to Recovery Plan then: I can see the **name** of any related Employee."

Tip: Enabling 'name only' security relationships can boost response times in cases where reports only require the name, or a count, of related records, and where there are other access control rules being applied to the secured object.

Propagate View Permission

If a relationship is configured to propagate view permission only, and if the user has permission to view the granting record, then the user will receive view permissions to see the secured record. Permission to modify and delete are not automatically propagated.

For example, consider a relationship "Recovery Plan was used for Recovery Events" in which each recovery plan has related records that represent historical recovery events. It may be required that a user should always be able to see these historical recovery events, but that they should not necessarily be able to modify them. This can be configured as: "If I have access to Recovery Plan then: I have **read access** to any related Recovery Event."

Propagate All Permission

If a relationship is configured to propagate all permissions, then whatever permissions the current user has to view, modify, and delete granting record will also be received by the secured record.

For example, consider a relationship "Recovery Plan has Plan Steps". If the user can view a plan, then they may also view any related Plan Step records. If they can modify the plan, then they may also modify any related Plan Step records. This can be configured as: "If I have access to Recovery Plan then: I have the **same access** to any related Plan Step."

Configuring Security Relationships

To configure a relationship to be a security relationship:

- 1. Open the Relationship Properties for the relationship or Lookup.
 - 1. Open Form Builder mode, see Opening and Using Form Builder
 - 2. Navigate to the field you want.
 - 3. Hover on relationship or lookup. The control icons appear.
 - 4. Select Configure icon. The Relationship Properties dialog displays.
- 2. Expand the Security tab
- 3. Options such as the following are presented:

▲ SECURITY

If I have access to Plan Step do I also have access to the linked Recovery Plan(s) ?



- 4. Select changes as required.
- 5. Select **OK** to close the window.
- 6. Select Save to save the form, including the new relationship settings.

Cascading Access

If a securing relationship is configured to use the propagate view or all permissions then these permissions will continue to cascade across other adjoining securing relationships.

For example, in "Recovery Plan has Plan Steps" example, there could be an additional "Plan Steps have Step Revision History" relationship. If both relationships are configured to propagate view or all permissions, and if a user has permission to read a recovery plan record, then they will also receive read permission for the plan step records, and the Step Revision History records related to those plan step records.

Recursive Relationships

A relationship that relates from some object back to the same object is a recursive relationship and forms a hierarchy of records.

If a security relationship is recursive, then access control will cascade along the recursive relationship.

Recursive security relationships are permitted but should only be used to propagate permissions from a parent record to a child record. For example, it's OK to configure a recursive "Region contains Region" relationship such that someone with permission to view an 'Australia' record will automatically be able to see the 'Sydney' record.

Tip: At present, the security engine will generally process relationships recursively in access rule reports more efficiently than recursive security relationships.

Caution: Access control configurations that involve checking a large number of descendent records in a hierarchy just in case one of them might cause an ancestor node to become visible can significantly impact response times.

Caution: Take extra care with recursive relationships to ensure that security is being granted in the intended direction, as it can be easy to accidentally select the wrong direction. Verify that records you intend to be visible are visible, and that records you intend to be hidden are hidden.

Bidirectional Security Relationships

It is possible to configure a relationship to be a security relationship in both directions. However, if this is being done then it is recommended that at least one of the directions be set to 'name only'.

Configuring a relationship to propagate view (or all) permissions in both directions is not recommended and can lead to unexpected outcomes. For example, consider a relationship between "Employee is in Department" that has been incorrectly configured to propagate view in both directions. A user who is able to view an employee record will then receive view access to their department, and then this will cascade to other employees in the same department. Platform support for this may be discontinued in future versions.

This effect can be compounded considerably if the relationship is a many-to-many relationship. Consider an "Employees invited to Meetings" relationship: the access will cascade from an employee record, to all of their meetings, to other employees in those meetings, to their meetings, and so on.

Caution: A relationship that is configured to propagate view or all permissions in both directions can result in permission being granted to more records than expected. In the case of many-to-many relationship, the effect can be considerable.

'Assume Always Related' optimiser option

The relationship properties page has a checkbox option:

"Allow security engine to assume that every Object1 record will always have a related Object2 record."

The ReadiNow platform allows for lookups to be marked as mandatory on forms but does not presently support enforcing this at an object level. Enable this option if, as an app developer or tenant administrator, you know that this relationship is effectively mandatory and will be set on every record.

The ReadiNow report security engine is able to take advantage of this knowledge to perform various optimisations.

For example "Allow security engine to assume that every Employee record will always have a related Department record."

Don't Explicitly Check Relationship In Reports

This option offers a performance optimisation that applies when propagating 'Read Only' and 'All' permissions. The optimisation works by restricting which records are returned to a Report.

Consider 2 Security Access Rules that apply to a User:

- full access to Recovery Plan Records whose Name starts with 'X1'
- full access to Recovery Step Records whose Name ends with '00'

Note: not all Recovery Plan Names start with 'X1' and not all Plan Steps Names end with '00'

In this example there is a securing relationship which grants access as follows:

- Recovery Plans starting with 'X1' grant access to any related Plan Steps
- Plan Steps ending in '00' grant access to any related Recovery Plans

If this option is unchecked (default) the ReadiNow platform will fully exhaust all opportunities to return Records that a User is implicitly granted access to. This means a User will likely see Recovery Plans that start with something other than 'X1' because a Plan Step ending '00' was found, and permissions were propagated from 'Plan Step' to 'Recovery Plan'.

If this option is checked the ReadiNow platform will only evaluate securing relationships where the User has explicit access to the Recovery Plan Records. In other words securing relationships that can only ever return Recovery Plan Records via an access grant will not be evaluated. This typically results in fewer Records being returned and can have a significant performance boost.

When to use this option

An ideal situation for using this option is, for example, a general purpose Report of Tasks which can rely on an access control rule such as 'Tasks Assigned to Me'.

In this example consider a system where objects: Risk, Incident, and Remediation all relate to Task. For each of these Objects, if you can access the Record, then you want to have to access to the related tasks. Without this option the Report would need to evaluate the access rules for every security relationship.

Instead, for Reports where it is not necessary for every document to be shown, using this option will significantly improve performance.

Additional Details for Name Only relationships

Name-only security relationships have been introduced to:

- make access control configuration easier by reducing the number of access rules that need to be created for trivial 'name' scenarios.
- improve report performance the ReadiNow engines are able to take significant advantage of this setting.

Their use is encouraged; and they may be enabled by default for all lookups in a future version of the ReadiNow platform.

Advanced users may wish to be aware of the following behaviors of name-only relationships. They are all consequent of the above two objectives.

Name-Only Lookups on Forms

If a Lookup control for this relationship was placed on a form, and the current user happened to have access to the related employee record because of some other access rule, then the Lookup will show the name as a link and the

user can click through to see the related employee record.

However, if the user did not otherwise have permission to view the related employee record, then the form will simply show the name of the employee without it being linked.

Similarly, if a Lookup control has been used to show a to-many relationship as an inline comma separated list, then it is possible that the user may have name-only access to some records, and view access to other records. In this scenario, the records that can be viewed will be shown as links, and the records that cannot be viewed will be shown as text. These may appear intermixed in the same list in accordance with the security configuration.

Name-Only Relationships on Forms

If name-only is enabled for a to-many relationship, and if there are no other access rules that grant permission to view the related records, then the relationship report on a form will only show values for the name field. Other fields will appear as blank in report columns, and as null in calculations.

Name-Only relationships and record-existence

Ordinarily, the ReadiNow access control system causes all features and calculations to treat non-visible records as though they don't exist at all. This is done to ensure that users can't use features such as 'summarize' or 'is defined' to infer information about records that they cannot directly view.

A name-only security relationship causes a user to become aware of the *existence* of related records that they don't otherwise have permission to see.

This means that the following features now act as though they can detect that the related record exists:

- The 'is defined' and 'is not defined' report analyser conditions
- Report summarize as 'count'. Other summarize operations such as max and min that rely on field values will not be able to see those fields.
- Report 'Show Totals' options that relate to count.
- The count calculation function. For example: count([Name of the security relationship])
- The is null and is not null calculation keywords

Name-Only allows the record's object to be accessed

In addition to a record's name, a name-only securing relationship also allows a report or calculation to access a record's type without requiring or checking for view access to the record. All other fields, relationships, and lookups, behave as though they are not set.

Name-Only only shows record names when the security relationship is being followed

The name-only security relationships only make record names visible in reports, forms and calculations where the security relationships is actually being followed.

That is to say, name-only security relationships are not consulted in other cases where a record is being accessed. For example, consider a "Recovery Plan has Reviewer" name-only securing lookup that allows the review's name to be seen if the user has view permission on a plan. The user does not automatically get to see the review's name in other places such as Person picker reports solely on the basis of this name-only relationship. The user will require normal view access to the Person record to see the Person in a picker or Person report.
Using Name-Only for Performance benefits

The name-only security relationship will give a performance benefit when a report or calculation:

- follows the relationship or lookup in the direction towards the secured (name only) record
- and there are multiple or complex access control rules that would otherwise apply to the secured record
- and the only interactions with the record involve:
 - accessing the record's name
 - or its object type
 - or checking for its existence

The improvement in response times can be considerable for some security configurations.

If the report or calculation accesses other fields or relationships on the record, then a full access control check would typically still be performed on the record.

Best Practices for Security Relationships

Security relationships are a double-edged sword. Best practices can be summarised as follows:

Security relationships can significantly simplify configuration and improve response times.

- DO: use name-only security relationships to ensure related lookup names are visible.
- DO: use propagating (view or all) security relationships to make 'sub-component' records visible with their parent records.
- DO: use the Report Diagnostics tool (run as a 'typical' user) to identify potential problems.

Poorly configured security relationships can significantly impact response times and complicate access control configuration.

- DON'T: configure security such that a record access check may need to consult a potentially large number of related records.
- DON'T: make networks of propagating security relationships that connect back to the same object.
- DON'T: propagate security on a relationship unless it makes sense for every user/role.

The same, in more detail means:

- 1. Name-only security relationships:
 - Can generally always be used with negligible risk of accidental over exposure or response times.
 - Are usually the right choice for lookups to objects that have any access control policy.
- 2. Securing relationships that propagate 'view' and propagate 'all' permissions are fairly similar:
 - They provide identical access for view/read operations, which is to say most operations.

- They have identical performance considerations
- They only differ when performing security checks for modifications.
- 3. Propagating security relationships are a good choice when:
 - The relationship represents some sort of parent-record to subcomponent relationship.
 - So long as the permissions are being propagated from the parent to the child.
 - They can aid performance, even more than name-only relationships, when used in this manner.
 - For similar reasons, relationships that are Full Ownership or Partial Ownership may be good candidates.
- 4. Propagating security relationships will generally cascade efficiently along lookups
 - For example, consider two lookups: "Work Item is for Project" and "Project belongs to Department"
 - These relationships can be configured as "If I have access to Department: then I have read access to any related Project" and "If I have access to Project: then I have read access to any related Work Item" respectively. This configuration will run fairly efficiently as the platform only has to step from a Work Item to its single Project record, to its single Department record, and then evaluate any access rules on the department.
- 5. Avoid scenarios where multiple related records need to be checked in order to determine if some record is visible
 - For example, consider a relationship such as "Project has Tasks"
 - If this relationship were configured using "If I have access to Tasks: then I have read access to any related Project" then multiple access rules will need to be calculated for a potentially very large number of tasks for each and every record in a report, which will impact response times.
- 6. Consider how many indirectly related records might need to be checked while calculating access control
 - If a large hierarchy of related records need to be checked, this may impact response times.
 - If a securing relationship propagate in both directions, this may impact response times.
 - If a securing relationship is recursive, and many related child records need to be checked, this will impact response times.
- 7. Avoid combinations of securing relationships that circle back to the same object to form a cycle
 - When the platform detects a cycle in security relationships, it enters a special processing mode that can handle more complex scenarios but is slower to process access control.
 - For example: Object1 records provide access to Object2 record according to one relationship type; and Object2 (or an object that inherits from it) records provide access to Object3 records; and Object3 records (or an object that inherits from it) provide access to Object1 records.
 - There is also a fixed internal limit for the maximum number of records that may be checked in this way per report run.
- 8. Avoid combinations of securing relationships where a secured object might receive access along more than one direct securing relationship
 - For example, a Plan Step is visible because its Recovery Plan is visible *or* because its Author is visible.
 - The platform is designed to handle this scenario, however it can lead to inconsistent response times in complex tenants.

- 9. Don't use propagating security relationship relationships unless it is always appropriate for every possible role.
 - The propagation always applies to every role and cannot be conditionally applied or revoked for only certain roles.
 - For example: consider a "Recovery Plan has Plan Steps" relationship. Some users may have permission to no plans, some may have access to some plans, and some may have access to all plans. It's OK to propagate permission from the Recovery Plan to the Plan Steps so long as that's appropriate for every user for whichever plans they can see. However, if there exists even a single role that should have access to the Recovery Plans without having access to the Plan steps, then security relationships should not be used. Define individual access rules to the Plan Steps instead.
- 10. Use the Report Diagnostics and Tenant Health Check tools to help identify problematic configurations.
 - Always run the report diagnostics as a user that is representative of the type of users who are experiencing problems. This ensures that the diagnostics tool considers security configuration that is applicable to that user.
 - Refer to the Active Security Relationships section of the report diagnostics tool.
 - Any warnings in this section should, in the first instance, be treated as likely or possible causes for the slow reports.

Surveys Overview

Last Modified on 24/01/2022 10:01 am AEDT

Surveys are a tool for collecting and information from individuals.

The survey process can be split into two distinct phases.

- Designing the survey build a library of questions and survey layouts
- Collecting the survey results analyse the results of the survey



Survey form for building survey layouts

Responding to a Survey

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:25 am AEST

Survey Tasks are created for each recipient, see Launching a Survey. The survey is accessed via any **Task** report such as **My Tasks** report in the Home application. Alternatively, a notification with a link can be set up to alert survey recipients that a survey is waiting for them.

To respond to a survey:

- 1. Select the Survey Task from the Task report. This opens the Survey.
- 2. Click on Pencil icon to drop down list exists, select a record to target the survey against.
- 3. If a record is displayed at the top of the survey, this is the chosen record that is required to target the survey against.
- 4. Alternately, there may be no records to target against the survey.
- 5. The survey can be saved at any time.
- 6. The user can close and go back to the Survey by selecting the Survey Task in the Task report,
- 7. Once all the questions have been answered and Progress is 100%, select Complete.

Surveys in Workflows

Last Modified on 24/05/2019 1:51 pm AEST

In order to access the survey inside the workflow, the workflow input parameter must be a Survey Result.

Inputs	Variables	Outputs	Security		
Input Para	meter				×
Name		Input			
Туре		Record Arg	jument	•	
Definition		Survey Resi	ult		
New Input	Parameters				
Workflow input parameter for survey triggers					

Then it is possible to access the survey from calculations, for example:

[Input].[Campaign] like '%Data Sensitivity Assessment%'

To configure a workflow to run:

- 1. Open the survey you want, see Creating or Editing a Survey.
- 2. Select Workflow tab.
- 3. In the On survey complete field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Workflow dialogue appears.
- 4. Select the Workflow you want and select **OK**.
- 5. In the **On campaign close** field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Workflow dialogue appears.
- 6. Select the Workflow you want and select **OK**.
- 7. Select Save.

Trigger Event	Event Description
On survey complete	This event triggers when a user completes a survey
On campaign close	This event triggers when the campaign due date elapses OR when all campaign targets (viz. survey recipients) have completed the survey

Creating Surveys

Last Modified on 09/09/2021 11:26 am AEST

Creating a Survey

Note: to create a Survey you need to be a member of the 'Survey Creator' administrative role.

To create a survey:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Surveys. The Surveys expand to display list.
- 4. Select **Surveys**. The existing Surveys display.
- 5. Select + NEW. The new Survey appears.
- 6. Type the name for the survey in the **Name** field.
- 7. Type the description for the survey in the **Description** field.
- 8. Select the checkbox for **Show help text** to enable an information icon that will show the survey description when clicked.
- 9. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialog appears.
- 10. Select the application you want and select OK.
- 11. Select **+SECTION**, **+QUESTION**, **+BREAK** and **+** as required. A section, break or an existing question appears on the survey canvas.

Questions can be added to the survey canvas either by creating a new question or adding an existing question from the library.

For information on what questions to use in the survey, see Question Types.

Creating a New Question

- 1. Open the survey you want to edit.
- 2. Select Survey Layout tab.
- 3. Select +QUESTION. The menu appears.
- 4. Select the type of question to add. The Question Properties dialogue appears.
- 5. Type the question in the **Question** field.
- 6. Type the description for the question in the **Description** field.
- 7. Complete the preferred settings. Note: The settings available in the Question Properties dialogue depend on the type of question chosen.
- 8. Select **OK** to save or **Cancel** to leave.
- 9. Select **Save** to save the survey.

Adding a Question from the Library

To add a question from the Library:

- 1. Open the survey you want to edit.
- 2. Select Survey Layout tab.
- 3. Select the + icon. The Select dialogue appears.
- 4. Select the checkbox for the question you want to add. Note: Use the analyser to filter and find the question you want.
- 5. Select **OK**. The question appears at the bottom of the survey canvas.
- 6. Select **Save** to save the survey.

Question Types

Last Modified on 24/05/2019 12:16 pm AEST

Closed-Ended Questions

Closed-ended questions restrict the user to a pre-defined choice of answers.

Available closed-ended question types:

- Single Choice selection
- Multi Choice selection

Open-Ended Questions

Open-ended questions allow users to enter a flexible response without the restrictions of other types such as choice questions.

Available open-ended question types:

- Numerical
- Multi-line text

Question Property Options

Property	Description
Question	Name of the question
Description	Detail defining the question
Id	Used to identify question from an external source
Order	Used to control the order in which questions appear. Smaller value appear before larger ones.
Weighting	The relative importance of the question in the overall survey
Allow Attachments	Allows the user to include attachments with their answer
Allow Notes	Allows the user to include notes with their answer
Allow Multiple Selection	Allows the user to select multiple answers for a question (only applicable for Choice Questions)

Property	Description
Allow Whole Numbers	Restricts the user to enter whole numbers (only applicable for Number Questions)
Mandatory	Allows question to be marked mandatory and survey cannot be completed without the question being answered
Categories	Can be used to group results in reporting
Library	Questions that form part of a library

Importing Questions

Last Modified on 24/05/2019 12:34 pm AEST

Importing Survey data can be used when dealing with a large number of questions or from an existing library.

The following Survey elements are supported for import:

- Choice Option Set (see below)
- Question Category
- Question Library

Importing a Choice Option Set

- 1. If necessary, first create a new Choice Option Set
 - 1. Administration \rightarrow Survey \rightarrow Choice Options \rightarrow New button
- 2. Prepare a spreadsheet with the data
 - 1. One column called "Name"
 - 2. One column called "Order"
 - 3. One column called "Value"
 - 4. One row for each option to be imported. Note that there are no resource keys presently defined on survey choice options, so take care not to create duplicates.
- 3. Select Import Spreadsheet to start a new import
- 4. Wizard page 1:
 - 1. Upload the file created in step 2
- 5. Wizard page 2:
 - 1. On the "Select Object" screen, leave the import type as Objects
 - 2. Open the object picker
 - 3. In the analyser, set "Advanced objects" to Yes, and apply.
 - 4. Select the row named "Choice Option"
- 6. Wizard page 3:
 - 1. On the "Select Columns" screen, the Name, Order and Value columns should map automatically. If not, map them as usual.
 - 2. Click on the "Fixed Value" link in the top-right corner.
 - 3. When the window opens, change the "Fixed Value" setting to the name of the Choice Option Set that you want to import into (e.g. the one created in step 1), and press OK
 - 4. Observe there is a new mapping row.
 - 5. Set the "Object Field" drop down for the new row to "Choice Option Set"
- 7. Proceed with remainder of import as normal.

Viewing Responses

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 5:32 pm AEST

To view survey responses:

- 1. Open the survey you want, see Creating or Editing a Survey.
- 2. Select Campaigns tab.
- 3. Select the Campaign you want and select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 4. Select **Edit**. The Campaign form appears.
- 5. Select **Responses** tab. This lists the responses with an Outcome and Total Score.

• Select a Response to drill down on individual answers.

Launching a Survey

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 3:50 pm AEST

Surveys are launched using campaigns.

Launching a Person Campaign

Surveys can be directly targeted to a group of people.

Additionally, a Person Campaign survey can also set against a target object if required. When the respondent opens the survey, they will select from a list of records that they will need to choose from in order to complete the survey.

To create a Person Campaign:

- 1. Open the survey you want to send.
- 2. Select Campaigns tab.
- 3. Select +NEW. The menu appears.
- 4. Select Person Campaign. The Person Campaign form appears.
- 5. Type the name for the Person Campaign in the Name field.
- 6. Type the description for the Person Campaign in the Description field.
- 7. Type the date you want in the **Closes On** field or select the Date icon and select the date. A due date is set on the survey task that is created when the survey is launched.
- 8. If required, in the Target Object field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Object dialogue appears.
- 9. Select the object you want and select OK. The survey is set against the records of the object.
- 10. In the Recipients tab, select + . The Select Person dialogue appears.
- 11. Select the checkbox for the people you want to target for the survey and select OK.
- 12. Select Launch Campaign button in the top right corner of the form. This creates survey tasks for each recipient.

Launching a Target Campaign

Surveys can be generated from one or many records. First, a target object is selected following the nominated record(s). The person who receives the survey will be based on the selected relationship, where the relationship based on a 'Person', such as an 'Owner'. When the respondent opens the survey, they see the target record which they need to complete the survey against.

- 1. Open the survey you want to send.
- 2. Select Campaigns tab.
- 3. Select +NEW. The menu appears.
- 4. Select Target Campaign. The Target Campaign form appears.
- 5. Type the name for the Target Campaign in the **Name** field.
- 6. Type the description for the Target Campaign in the **Description** field.
- 7. Type the date you want in the Closes On field or select the Date icon and select the date. A due date is set on

the survey task that is created when the survey is launched.

- 8. In the Target Object field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Object dialogue appears.
- 9. Select the object you want and select **OK**.
- 10. In the Survey Taker field select the down arrow. The drop down list appears.
- 11. Select the one you want in the drop down list.
- 12. In the **Targets** tab, select + . The Select dialogue appears.
- 13. Select the checkbox for the people you want to target for the survey and select **OK**.
- 14. Select Launch Campaign button in the top right corner of the form. This creates survey tasks for each recipient.

Survey Tasks are created for each record assigned to the nominated people identified in the Target Object

Branching

Last Modified on 24/05/2019 12:24 pm AEST

Survey branching (or skip logic) allows you to skip questions and point user to different part of the survey depending on their answers.

For example, you could be asking customers how frequently they use our product, if they are a regular user or if it's their first time you can have different survey questions for each type of customer.

How does branching work

- Branching survey questions is similar to the Showing/Hiding Elements on form feature
 - Visibility is set on a per question question basis
 - For a given question, if the condition of a previous question is true, then the question will show.
- Questions are referenced by a script name
 - This means that each question that is required as part of the logic will require a script name to be defined
- Mandatory questions that are skipped as a part of the branching logic will be left blank in the survey response

How to show/hide survey questions

- 1. Assign a **Script** name to the question to be referenced. This can be done one of two way:
 - 1. Click on the script name label
 - 2. Open the Question Properties dialogue and click on the Visibility tab
- 2. Now go to the the question that requires the branching logic, that you would like to show or hide, depending on the result of an earlier question.
- 3. Open the **Question Properties** dialogue and click on the **Visibility** tab.
- Enter the calculation that will result in either true or false.
 This could be simply a Boolean field reference, for example:

[Product Used?]

Or any expression with a Boolean result, such as:

[Product Price] > 500

An equation could be used on a Boolean field but it would be redundant and introduce unnecessary complexity. An example would be:

[Product Used?] = True

5. Launch the Survey, and observe that the question will be visible only when the result is true.

Survey Security

Last Modified on 24/05/2019 1:35 pm AEST

Giving users permission to create surveys

Users other than administrators may want to create their own surveys, such as a Marketing Campaign Manager. A **Survey Creator** role is used to grant end users permission. In the Security section of Administration, add the **Survey Creator** role to the nominated User Account.

Survey Layout

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 3:48 pm AEST

Split surveys into logical sections so that respondents see a manageable amount of content, and feel a sense of progress as they complete each section.

Moving a question

To move a question:

- 1. Open the survey you want to edit.
- 2. Select Survey Layout tab.
- 3. Click and hold the question you want to move.
- 4. Drag and drop the question to the preferred place on the survey canvas.
- 5. Select **Save** to save the survey.

Adding a Section

Sections can be used to break down questions into titled groupings.

To add a section:

- 1. Open the survey you want to edit.
- 2. Select Survey Layout tab.
- 3. Select + SECTION. A Section appears at the bottom of the survey canvas.
- 4. Select **Save** to save the survey.

To move a section:

- 1. Open the survey you want to edit.
- 2. Select Survey Layout tab.
- 3. Click and hold the section you want to move.
- 4. Drag and drop the section to the preferred place on the survey canvas.
- 5. Select **Save** to save the survey.

Adding a Break

Adding a break will add a page break visual cue to the canvas layout. When a user is responding to the survey, they will see the actual page break and use **Next** and **Back** buttons to navigate through the survey.

To add a break:

- 1. Open the survey you want to edit.
- 2. Select Survey Layout tab.
- 3. Select + BREAK. a Break appears at the bottom of the survey canvas.

4. Select **Save** to save the survey.

To move a break:

- 1. Open the survey you want to edit.
- 2. Select Survey Layout tab.
- 3. Click and hold the break you want to move.
- 4. Drag and drop the break to the preferred place on the survey canvas.
- 5. Select **Save** to save the survey.

Outcomes

Last Modified on 24/05/2019 12:43 pm AEST

Survey outcomes can be used to categorise and summarise survey results based on question weightings.

A survey result has this outcome if the total score is equal to or greater than the threshold value, up to the threshold value of the next highest outcome.

To create an outcome:

- 1. Open the survey you want, see Creating or Editing a Survey.
- 2. Select Outcomes tab.
- 3. Select **+NEW**. The Survey Outcome form appears.
- 4. Type the name for the outcome in the Name field.
- 5. Type the description for the outcome in the **Description** field.
- 6. Type the threshold value for the outcome in the Threshold field.
- 7. Select **Save** to save the outcome.

The starting threshold is 0, with each additional threshold defining an outcome range.

Example

The following thresholds are defined: "Awful" = 0, "Bad" = 40, "Good" = 60, "Excellent" = 80

The result set is [11, 34, 40, 50, 59, 77, 85, 94, 97]

The results would be the following categorisations:

- Awful: 11, 34
- Bad: 40, 50, 59
- Good: 77
- Excellent: 85, 94, 97



Last Modified on 15/03/2019 9:42 am AEDT

Since the survey information is represented as objects in the system, any of the information can be added to any application, in the form of screens, reports and charts through reports. For example, a Marketing application may only want to display survey and survey outcomes that are relevant to them, this can be done by creating custom filtered reports and added to the application.

Creating reports based on survey information

When creating a new Report, remember to filter the **Report based on** to display Advanced Objects to see the survey based objects.

To analyse survey results Administrators can also set up their own Reports and Charts based on the Survey Results object or from the nominated targeted objects used in the surveys and add them to their own applications.

Editing Surveys

Last Modified on 24/05/2019 1:25 pm AEST

Editing a Survey

To open or edit a survey:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Surveys. The Surveys expand to display list.
- 4. Select Surveys. The existing Surveys display.
- 5. Double click on an existing survey and the survey will open in edit mode.

Editing a Question

The following properties are specific to each survey's instance of the question, so that editing the property will not affect instances of the question in other surveys:

- Mandatory
- Order
- Visibility

If a question is in a question library then editing the following properties will change all instances of the question in all surveys where it appears:

- Question
- Question ID
- Description
- Guidance
- Weighting
- Allow attachments
- Allow notes
- Allow multiple selection

When editing the choice set on a question, the choice set itself is modified, so all questions where the choice set is used will be affected. It is recommended the each choice set name accurately represents the contents and new set are made when changes are specific a question. For example:

- Changing the Yes/No option set to include "Answered above" would produce undesirable results
- Changing the list of office locations to add a new office location would be desirable because the selection will be consistent and correctly include the new office in all instances

Removing a Question

- 1. Open the survey you want to edit.
- 2. Select Survey Layout tab.
- 3. To the right of the question you want to remove, select the X icon. The question no longer appears on the current survey, but will remain in the question library if one was selected.

Calculations in Workflows

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 6:05 pm AEST

Calculations in workflows are used:

- to evaluate a test status based on a business rule and when used, generally they are followed up with an action
- to perform a special calculation on a given set of data
 - the result can be used to continue the current activity
 - the result can be used for other activities within the workflow
 - the result can be saved to a field of an object

Example 1, in the Gateway activity, enter a simple test such as [Task] = 'Completed' and if the condition is true the gateway follows the path of exit.

Example 2, in the Update activity, a calculation can be entered to determine the field value on a certain condition, *if*([*Task Status*] = 'Completed', [*Task Completed*] = *true*, [*Task Completed*] = *false*).

Workflow Analyser

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:23 am AEST

Overview

Workflow analyser is visualisation tool that displays the interconnections between triggers and workflows.

As more workflows and triggers are built, it is essential for designers to understand how a trigger or workflow may affect other triggers and workflows.



Screenshot: Workflow Analyser in action

What is the scope of the Workflow Analyser?

When using the workflow analyser network visualiser, it is important to remember that the analyser will not blindly list all the workflows in the system.

Workflow Analyser scope:

- A workflow will only be displayed if:
 - it will run other workflows,
 - it will cause a trigger to fire,
 - it is run by another workflow,
 - it is run by a trigger
- When checking if triggers will fire the system checks if:
 - the trigger is enabled,
 - the object change e.g. create/update matches the trigger condition,
 - the fields or relationships that are changed matches the triggering fields and relationships
- When a single workflow is chosen the analyser will only show other workflows and triggers that the selected workflow starts. This means that if the chosen workflow does not cause other triggers or workflows to fire and is only launched by other workflows or triggers then only the workflow itself will be displayed.
- Triggers are suppressed for the workflow Change Type activity, therefore will you not see these.
- Only the latest version of the workflow will displayed
- Objects will only be displayed if their associated triggers will fire
 - for example: a workflow has an update activity on Person Age field, if no triggers are to be fired with

this update then the Person object will not be shown on the graph

• on the other hand if a trigger is fire because of this action the trigger along with the object will be displayed

How to use the Workflow Analyser?

- 1. Select Administration → Workflows → Workflow Analyser
- 2. Choose between either a:
 - 1. Full visualisation displaying allworkflows that can fire triggers, and triggers that fire workflow
 - 1. Select Generate Workflow Map
 - 2. Partial visualisation filtered by an Application
 - 1. Filter by Application
 - 2. Select Generate Workflow Map
 - 3. *Single* workflow starting point visualisation, that only shows workflows and triggers connected to the starting workflow
 - 1. Filter by a particular Workflow
 - 2. Select Generate Workflow Map
- 3. Optional filter Loop detection (workflow/trigger cycles)
 - 1. Highlight any loops any loops will be highlighted in red
 - 2. Show only loops will zoom on detected loops and drop all other nodes

Creating and Editing Workflows

Last Modified on 26/03/2021 3:17 pm AEDT

Navigate to the Application Menu
 Administration.

Administration

on the top right of your screen and select

- In the Left Navigation Area, expand the Workflows menu
- Select Workflows (existing Workflows are displayed)
- Select + NEW WORKFLOW (the Workflow Builder opens)

To edit an existing Workflow:

1. Right click on a workflow, select Edit

Inputs Last Modified on 17/04/2019 6:04 pm AEST

Overview

Inputs is information that is fed into the workflow to be used by the workflow. For example, if you create a workflow to update the 'employee status' the input would be an employee record.

Inputs can be of the following types:

- String string of text up to 200 characters
- Record List a list of references to records like selection of multiple related resources must define the object type of the record(s)
- Date Date field
- Decimal decimal or fraction or real number field
- Record Argument a single reference to a record must define the object type of the record
- Date/Time Date time field
- GUID (reserved)
- Yes/No Boolean yes/no or True/False field.
- Time Time field
- Number number or Integer field
- Currency number field represented as a currency

Defining Inputs

To define an input:

- 1. Open the workflow in Workflow Builder mode, see Create or Edit Workflow.
- 2. Select the Start Activity icon. The Configuration Panel displays properties.
- 3. In the Configuration Panel, select the Inputs tab.

To configure inputs:

- 1. Select the + icon to add a single input or repeat to add multiple inputs.
- 2. Type the name for the input.
- 3. Select the input type (in most cases this will be Record Argument).
- 4. Select the starting value. If 'Resource Argument is selected' then select the object type.

Triggering Input

When triggering from a Action buttons on forms or Action menu (see Configuring action menus) then this defines which of the inputs will be used to trigger the workflow.

Related Resource

When triggered from a report on a form, this will identify which input is the parent record type.

Outputs are used if the workflow is triggered by another workflow. In this case, the output is pushed back into the master workflow for further processing.

Defining an output

To define an output:

- 1. Open the workflow in Workflow Builder mode, see Create or Edit Workflow.
- 2. Select the Start Activity icon. The Configuration Panel displays properties.
- 3. In the Configuration Panel, select the **Outputs** tab.

Configuring an output

To configure an output:

- 1. Select the + icon to add a single output or repeat to add multiple outputs.
- 2. Type the name for the output.
- 3. Select the output type.
- 4. Select the value of the output.

Variables

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:22 am AEST

Variables are used to store temporary values within the workflow as a Parameter.

Defining a variable

To define a variable:

- 1. Open the workflow in Workflow Builder mode, see Create or Edit Workflow.
- 2. Select the Start Activity icon. The Configuration Panel displays properties.
- 3. In the Configuration Panel, select the Variables tab.

Configuring a variable

To configure a variable:

- 1. Select the + icon to add a single variable or repeat to add multiple variables, see screenshot.
- 2. Type the name for the variable.
- 3. Select the variable type.
- 4. Select the value of the variable.

Note

- For some types like Record Argument and Record List you also have to select the object it refers to
- You can set an initial value if you want. Warning these values are set before the workflow starts so it does not know what the input values are at this stage.

New Workflow Variables Inputs Outputs Security × VarDate v Date 3 × VarPassFail Yes/No v False × Var Record Argument 2 base definition . String + 1 Record List Date Decimal **Record Argument** Date/Time GUID Yes/No Time Number Currency

Screenshot: Workflow Start - Variables properties

A workflow has the security option to 'Run as workflow owner'.

Defining the security setting

To define the security setting:

- 1. Open the workflow in Workflow Builder mode, see Create or Edit Workflow.
- 2. Select the Start Activity icon. The Configuration Panel displays properties.
- 3. In the Configuration Panel, select the **Security** tab.

Configuring the security setting

To configure the security setting:

- 1. Select the checkbox for **Run as workflow owner**. A tick appears.
- 2. Select the checkbox again to remove the tick.

Run as workflow owner OFF	When the workflow is triggered, it will run as if the person who triggered the workflow was performing the steps. Therefore the workflow will only be able to undertake steps that the 'triggering user' would be able to do with their current security permissions
Run as workflow owner ON	When the workflow is triggered, it will run as if the owner of the workflow was performing the steps. In most cases, this would be an administrator role.

Activities Overview

Last Modified on 26/03/2021 5:15 pm AEDT

The table below lists each of the Workflow Activities and provides a short description. For general information about configuring workflows please see General Workflow Activity Configuration.

Data Activities	
Create	Create a new record of a selected object
Update	Update multiple fields or relationships for a selected record
Delete	Delete a selected record
Clone	Clone an record from one object to another
Change Type	Change the Type of an existing Record (used when migrating Records)
Get Records	Get a list of records from a selected object
For Each	Run a sequence of activities down a list of records
Gateway	Make a decision based on a calculation
User Activities	
User Action	Displays a form to the user and creates a user task
User Input	Displays a automatic form to the user for data input
User Message	Send a onscreen message to a user
Send Email	Send an email to a single or list of addresses
Survey Activities	
Launch Person Campaign	Create and launch a person-based survey campaign
Launch Target Campaign	Create and launch a target-based survey campaign
System Activities	
Assign To Variable	Assign a specified value to a predefined variable
Run Workflow	Run another workflow and wait for results

Create Link	Create a link to an entity
Log	Record a message to the system log
Other Activities	
API Callout	
Generate Document	Generate a document based on a report template
Export To	Export the data from a report
FTP Fetch	Fetch a file from a remote server via FTP.
FTP Put	
Import Spreadsheet	Imports an excel or CSV file in to an object
Notify	Send SMS notifications to a list of people
Sequence to End	Shortcut - connects the selected activity to the End Event
End Event	Visual Layout Only - Add an extra end point to the workflow

Activity Settings

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 6:13 pm AEST

When configuring workflow activities, there are various settings that need to be configured for each workflow activity. Depending on the workflow activity and setting being configured, the following are the various options of configuring the workflow settings.

Туре	Description
Select Record	Ability to choose a specific record from a selected object. After choosing "Select Record" option, select "choose object" to choose the object type which will then display all records of the chosen object.
Select Parameter	Ability to choose a parameter to use in the workflow activity. See "Understanding Parameters" below
Calculation	Ability to use a calculation to configure the workflow activity. See Calculations in Workflows
Select Object	Ability to select from any object in the system
Select Fields	Ability to select from a list of fields of a given object
Select Relationship	Ability to select from a list of lookups or relationships of a given object

All workflow activity configurations are in the format of a Parameter or Calculation. Therefore, to type in plain text use single quotes. e.g. 'simple text'.

Understanding Parameters

Parameters are used within workflows to pass information from one activity to another. Workflow activities automatically create parameters as an output of that activity.

As an example, a 'create' activity creates a parameter called '[Activity Name].[record]'. This means that that any subsequent activity can use the '[Activity Name].[record]' parameter to perform further tasks. For example, a user can add a 'create' activity to create a new employee, which is then used by a 'Send Email' activity to send that newly created employee an email.

Every workflow starts with three parameters:

- **Triggering Person** the Person record that triggered the start of the workflow.
- Triggering Trigger the trigger that triggered the run.
- **Triggering User** the user account record that triggered the start of the workflow.
- Workflow Owner the assigned user account that is set as the 'owner' of the workflow.


Create a new record of a selected object. Fields and relationships of that new record can also be updated.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Object to create	Select the object type for the record being created Note: if there is resource key associated with object type, option 'Update existing record with matching key' is displayed. if ticked, new instance will merge with existing record if key is matched.
Field or relationship to update	 Two part setting. 1. Select the field or relationship to update 2. Select the value to update Note: If updating a relationship, two additional options are displayed 1. Replace: Replace the current linked records 2. Add related record: allows multiple records to be linked via this relationship
Add field or relationship	Add another setting row to update further fields or relationships

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].resource	Record	The record created by the activity



Update multiple fields or relationships for a selected record

Configuration

Setting	Description
Record to update	Select the record to updated
Field or relationship to update	 Two part setting. 1. Select the field or relationship to update 2. Select the value to update Note: If updating a relationship, two additional options are displayed 1. Replace: Replace the current linked records 2. Add related record: allows multiple records to be linked via this
	relationship
Add field or relationship	Add another setting row to update further fields or relationships

Parameters created

None

Delete Last Modified on 26/03/2021 4:19 pm AEDT

Purpose

Deletes a selected record

Configuration

Setting	Description
Record to delete	Select the record being deleted

Parameters created

None

Duplicate a record or clone an record from one object to another object.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Record	The record that is to be cloned
Object	The object to clone to. This can be the same object as the source object or a different object Note: This destination object can be the same object or a different object. If it is the same object, all fields will be copied across. If its a different object, fields of the same name and type will be copied across automatically.
Field or relationship to update	Update additional fields or relationships. This is in addition to what is automatically copied as above. Two part setting. 1. Select the field or relationship to update 2. Select the value to update Note: If updating a relationship, two additional options are displayed 1. Replace: Replace the current linked records 2. Add related record: allows multiple records to be linked via this relationship
Add field or relationship	Add another setting row to update further fields or relationships

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Record	Record	The record created by the clone activity

Additional Notes

- Resource Keys can be set to restrict duplicate records. Ensure the cloned record does not violate any resource keys for that object otherwise it will fail to clone.
- Relationships are clones based on the relationship type. A property called 'Clone' is set based on the following options:
 - Drop this relationship is dropped when record is cloned so the new record will have this relationship empty
 - Clone References Will copy the relationship to the same record e.g. if Owner is Clone Reference, then the new record will point to the same Owner.
 - Clone Entities A copy of the destination is also made and the new record will point to the new
 destination e.g. If Course has Notes with Clone Entities set, then cloning the Course will also clone all
 the notes, and the new notes will be linked to the new course.



The purpose of this activity to change the type of an existing record. This is to avoid having to create a new record and delete the old one.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Record	The record that is to be changed
Object	 The object to change the type to. Notes: When using the Change Type activity to change the type of a record from A to B where the type of A is T_A and the type of B is T_B: When T_A is a base type of T_B (i.e. T_B inherits T_A) then all the fields and relationships of A will be automatically be present on the updated record When T_B is a base type of T_A (i.e. T_A inherits T_B) then only the fields and relationships that exist on B should be present on the updated record When T_{A and T}B both derive from a common ancestor type T_C then only the fields and relationships defined for T_C will be present on the updated record
Add field or relationship	Add another setting row to update further fields or relationships

Triggers are suppressed on a **Change Type** activity, therefore no triggers are fired after the conversion.

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Record	Record	The record created by the change type activity

Get Records

Last Modified on 31/08/2021 4:30 pm AEST

Purpose

Get a list of records from a selected object (limits apply).

Configuration

Configure either Object OR Report

Setting	Description
Object	Gets all records of the selected object
Report	Gets all records of the selected report

Parameters created

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].First	Record	The first record in the list of records
[Activity Name].List	List of records	A list of all records fetched

When a report is selected, you can also add filters that you require provided that the condition exists in the analyser of the report you have selected.

This will allow:

- Dynamic filtering
- Reducing the number of steps of workflow
- Improvement of workflow performance as result of targeted filtering
- Minimising the reports required

For Each Last Modified on 17/04/2019 6:15 pm AEST

Purpose

Run a sequence of activities down a list of records.

As an example, an 'update' activity can be placed after the 'Loop' activity to update each record individually. At the end of the list, the activity will process through the 'Finished' exit point.

Configuration

To configure a 'For Each' activity, a list must be provided to the activity from a parameter (see Parameters of General Workflow Activity Configuration). The 'For Each' activity has two exit points:

- Loop: on each record of the provided list, the 'For Each' activity will process through the 'loop' exit (see example below). This must then be connected back to the entry point of the 'For Each' activity.
- Finished: after the entire list is processed, the activity will process through the 'Finished' exit point

Setting	Description
List	A list or records to loop through

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Record	Record	The currently selected record in the 'For Each' loop



This activity routes the process based on a calculation.

Multiple conditions can be added (based on a calculation), when a condition is found to be true, then the corresponding exit point is used to progress the workflow. As an example, a 'Gateway' activity can be used to choose a path depending on an expense amount (e.g. if expense is greater than \$1000, then follow path 1. If expense is less than \$1000, then follow path 2).

Properties

Multiple 'Conditions' can be added. Each condition is any calculation that evaluates to a true or false answer. When a condition is found to be true, then the corresponding exit point is used to progress the workflow.

If no conditions are found to be true, then the 'Otherwise' exit point is used to progress the workflow.

Note: if multiple conditions and exit points are used, then the conditions are evaluated from top to bottom.

Setting	Description
Condition & Exit point	 Two Part Setting 1. Calculation that must be evaluated to a true/false 2. Exit point name
Add new condition	Ability to add another condition and exit point

Parameters created

None

User Action

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 2:52 pm AEST

Purpose

Displays a form to the user and creates a user task. Also presents buttons at the top of the form for the user to progress the workflow. For example, a 'User Action' activity can be used to provide a manager with the ability to Approve or Reject an expense.

Behaviour

When a 'User Action' activity is used, it creates an 'Approval Task' for the specified person. This is a special type of task that links to another record. This task will be seen in any 'Task Report' accessible by the user, when the user opens the task, they will be presented with a form (as specified in the activity configuration). The user is also presented with buttons at the top of the form (corresponding to the specified user responses in the activity configuration). When the user selects one of the buttons, it will progress the workflow.

Properties

Setting	Description
For Person	The person who this action intended for
Record	The record that will be presented to the person
Form	The form that will be presented to the person
Priority	The priority of the task that is created
Task name	The title of the task that is created as seen in a task list and user messages. If left blank, the task name will default to the name given on the User Action activity label
Due date/time	The date and time when the user activity is due
Time out date/time	The date and time when the user activity will time-out
Keep completed task history	Enabling this option will keep the completed task in Task report, otherwise completed task is deleted permanently
Wait for next form	If there are multiple user actions in a row (with other activities in the middle), then enabling this option will pause the user's screen until the middle activities are complete, and then take the user to the next user action
Hide comment field	Removes the ability for the responding user to add a comment

Setting	Description
Comment mandatory	If enabled, the comment field is made mandatory and buttons are disabled until the user enters commentary.
Open in edit mode	When the form is presented to the user, automatically put the form in edit mode
User Responses	The name of the buttons presented to the user. Defaulted to 'Approve' and 'Reject', however these defaults can be changed. The 'action summary' is text that can be added to the history log if the corresponding user response is selected

Parameters created

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].completed by	Person	The person who completed the task
[Activity Name].completed task	Record	The task created by the user action activity

Auditing on User Actions

Every time a user interacts with a user action activity, such as a click of the button, a record is saved to the audit log to track each time the workflow pauses. To view the Audit log on a record, see either Record Audit Log or Contextual Audit Log.

Auditing on on User Action is a workflow setting rather than an activity setting, enabling the setting will automatically audit all User Action activities for a given workflow.

To enable the audit:

- 1. Open the Workflow
- 2. Select Workflow Properties and tick Enable audit for user action option.

The format of the User Action Audit log is described below:

	Format	Example
Name	<workflow owner="">(<workflow by="" triggered="">)</workflow></workflow>	Admin(john.smith)(jane.lowe) Updated 'Task
Field:	(<user action="" actioned="" by="">)</user>	1'

	Format	Example
Description Field	Assigned to: <acting person="">, Due: <due date="">, Actioned By: <actioned person="">, Completed: <completed date="">, Action: <action summary=""></action></completed></actioned></due></acting>	Assigned to: John Smith, Due: 30/05/2017 3:35:42 AM, Actioned By: Jane Lowe, Completed: 30/05/2017 3:36:45 AM, Action: Approve



Presents the user with an auto-generated form or a pop-up picker window, to input data for use in the workflow.

Properties

The 'user input' activity can present the user with a form or a pop-up picker to input data for use in a workflow as Variables or Inputs

Setting	Description
For Person	The person who is presented with this input
Record	The record that will be presented to the person when opening the task
Task name	The user input task name in the message box
Prompt	Text to display at the top of the form or in pop-up picker window
Display as	Select either Form or Pop up to display
Add Workflow Inputs or Variables	Add variables or inputs that will be displayed to the user
Save for later	Option for the user to complete the user input at a later time

Parameters created

None

User Input activity has the ability to filter one input variable list based on another. This can be configured between choice fields, lookups or even relationships.

How to set up a filtered list on a User input activity

Whether you are filtering between choice fields, lookups or even relationships, it is all dependant on a parent-child relationship and the set-up on a report and its analyser conditions. The report of the child relationship must contain the parent as a filter on the analyser.

The example below describes how to filter between Campus and Buildings lookups and assumes you already this scenario configured.

1. Open up the child report the in Report Builder that you would like to use for the workflow, in this case a

Building report

- 2. Add the Campus lookup as a condition on the Analyser
- 3. Save the report
- 4. Create a new Workflow
- 5. Select the Start activity and add select New Input Parameters
- 6. Select the object **Definition** of where you would like this workflow to be based on
- 7. Select New Variable and add to Campus details:
 - 1. Name: Campus
 - 2. Type: Record List
 - 3. Definition: Campus
- 8. Select New Variable again and add Building details:
 - 1. Name: Building
 - 2. Type: Record List
 - 3. Definition: Building
- 9. Add User Input activity to the workflow
- 10. In the User Input activity properties select Add Workflow Inputs or Variables for Campus:
 - 1. Variable Name: Campus
 - 2. Report: Campus Report
- 11. Select Add Workflow Inputs or Variables for Building:
 - 1. Variable Name: Building
 - 2. **Report:** Building Report
 - 3. Select the funnel icon and Add Filter and select the parent in Filter by field and Parameter
- 12. Save the workflow

Send Email Last Modified on 03/11/2022 9:24 am AEDT

This activity sends an email to a single address or a list of addresses.

Properties

The 'Send Email' activity can be used to send to a list of addresses or an individual email account. Depending on whether sending to a list or individual, the following settings must be configured:

Setting	Description
Email To	 Email Address - Send to a specific email address Recipients - send to a single or list of people

Send to a Specific Email Address

Setting	Description
To Address	The email address to send to Note: if typing in an email address directly, enclose the email address in single quotes e.g. 'email@example.com'
CC Address	The email address to CC to Note: if typing in an email address directly, enclose the email address in single quotes e.g. 'email@example.com'
BCC Address	The email address to BCC Note: if typing in an email address directly, enclose the email address in single quotes e.g. 'email@example.com'

Setting	Description
No Reply	 Set True: Do not accept replies Set False: Accept Replies
Reply to Inbox	Which of the Inboxes to reply to
Subject	The subject line of the email Note: if typing in text directly, enclose the email address in single quotes
Body	Body text Note: if typing in text directly, enclose the email address in single quotes
Attachments	Attachments to send with the email. Usually from an Export To activity or Generate Document activity
Use Template	Ticking this box will present the option to select an email template. Note: Subject and Body fields defined in the Email template will be used in the email instead of Subject and Body fields defined above. Attachments Select Email Template Template Template Inputs var1

Setting	Description
Template Inputs	This section will show all the input variables defined in the selected Email Template. The value of the variables can be set here. See 'Variables' section under Email Templates page for more information.
	Template Email template 1 Template Inputs var1

Send to list of person or List of people

Setting	Description
Recipient List	A list of people or single person that you want to send an email to; use where people are represented as records
TO Address	The field on the "Person" record in which to send the email to
CC Address	The field on the "Person" record in which to CC the email to
BCC Address	The field on the "Person" record in which to BCC the email to
No Reply	 Set True: Do not accept replies Set False: Accept Replies
Reply to Inbox	Which or the Inboxes to reply to
Subject	The subject line of the email Note: if typing in text directly, enclose the email address in single quotes

Setting	Description
Body	Note: if typing in text directly, enclose the email address in single quotes
Attachments	Attachments to send with the email. Usually from a Generate Document or Export To activity.

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Sent Emails	List of records	A list of emails sent out.

User Message

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:20 am AEST

Purpose

The 'user message' activity can be configured to send a message to a particular user (or list of users) as part of a workflow. The message will appear as a pop-up at the bottom right of the users screen (if they are logged in) and also added to the 'Notification Tray' in the top right menu bar.

As an example, a 'User Message' activity can be used to inform the user that a new record has been created as a result of the workflow run.

A 'create link' activity can be used prior to the 'user message' activity to embed a link to the user message that is displayed to the user. As an example, a user message can be used to inform the user that a new record is created and include a link to that record.

Configuration

The 'User Message' activity can be used to send to a list of people or an individual one. Depending on whether sending to a list or individual, the following settings must be configured:

Setting	Description
Sent To	Whether this message intended for 'Specified Person', 'List of People' or 'Workflow Initiator'
Person (Note: this field only appears when 'Send To' field is set to 'Specified Person')	The person who will receive this message
Recipient List (Note: this field only appears when 'Send To' field is set to 'List of People')	A list people who will receive this message

Setting	Description
Message Text	The actual message to be displayed to user. It could be set with specified with fixed message, or referring to an expression by calculation, parameter or a record.

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Sent Message	Record	The message sent out by the User Message activity

Launch Person Campaign

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 6:20 pm AEST

Purpose

Create and launch a person-based survey campaign. See Surveys.

Configuration

This activity will create and launch a survey campaign and send a survey task link to a list of nominated people.

Setting	Description
Survey	The survey to use
Recipients	The person or people that this survey is sent to
Target Object	If required, a survey can also be set against records of an object
Target Record	If required, a survey can also be set against records of an object.
Task Name	The title of the task that recipients will see in their task list. If no name is given, the task title will default to the survey name.
Due Date/Time	The date and time by which the survey must be completed
Pause Until Completed	Waits until all surveys have been completed before the workflow continues

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Responses	Record	The record linking to the survey responses.

Launch Target Campaign

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 6:21 pm AEST

Purpose

Create and launch a target-based survey campaign. See Surveys.

Configuration

This activity will create and launch a survey campaign based on one or more records and send to a nominated person.

Setting	Description
Survey	The survey to use
Targets	The record(s) that the survey is generated for
Survey Taker	The person that this survey is sent to
Target Object	if required, a survey can also be set against records of an object
Task Name	The title of the task that recipients will see in their task list. If no name is given, the task title will default to the survey name.
Due Date/Time	The date and time by which the survey must be completed
Pause Until Completed	Waits until all surveys have been completed before the workflow continues

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Responses	Record	The record linking to the survey responses.

Assign to Variable

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 6:21 pm AEST

Purpose

Assign a specified value to a predefined Variables.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Value	The value to be assigned to the variable
Variable	The variable to be updated

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].resource	Record	The record created by the activity

Run Workflow

Last Modified on 12/10/2020 3:41 pm AEDT

Purpose

This Activity runs a child workflow from within a parent workflow. Depending on the child workflow chosen the it may require inputs from the parent workflow and/or return a result depending on its outputs.

	Child W click to e	orkflow Run Workflow dit description	
Child Workflow	Workflow to run		
end	Workflow	Child Workflow - generate file and pt 💽 & 🖋	
	Workflow Inputs		
	Input		
Configuration options for a child workflow.			

Time Saving Tip:

When working with child workflows you can navigate directly to the child workflow from the parent workflow by clicking the workflow and then clicking the 'edit' icon next to the workflow picker.

Configuration Options

Setting	Description
Workflow	The workflow to be run
Do not pause	Enable if the parent workflow should continue processing while the child workflow runs. Disable if the parent workflow should wait for the child workflow to finish.
Inputs	Depending on the workflow chosen above, a list of Inputs will be displayed to be configured. These are the inputs required to run the chosen workflow and can be selected from a list of parameters or based on a calculation.

Parameters created

Various parameters may be created, depending on the Outputs of the chosen workflow.



Create a link to record, which then can be embedded in an email

Configuration

Setting	Description
Resource	The selected record that a link will be generated for

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].link	Record	A link to the chosen record above. Can be used in an email activity

Log Last Modified on 17/04/2019 6:22 pm AEST

Purpose

Record a message to the system log.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Message	The message to be written to the system log
Object	Optional setting to link this log message to a record. See Audit Log

Parameters created

None



This will add another exit point to the workflow. All the exit points in a workflow will be visible as exit points in Run Workflow activities that call the workflow.

Sequence to End

Last Modified on 23/05/2019 12:37 pm AEST

This is not an activity but rather a shortcut to link the current activity to the default end event. If more than one exit point is required then the appropriate activity is the End Event.

Generate Document

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 9:58 pm AEST

Purpose

Generate document based on a report template. See Document Generation Templates.

Configuration

This activity will create a document based on the settings below. The document is stored in **Documents Library** under **Generated** Section.

Setting	Description
Document Template	The document template to use
Data Source	The starting record used to populate the document template
Generated Name	The name of the generated document

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].document	Document Record	The document record created by the activity



Export data from a report.

Configuration

This activity creates a document based on the settings below. The document is stored in **Documents Library** under **Documents** Section.

Setting	Description
Report	The report which contains the data to be exported
File Name	The name of the file that will be created
Format	The file format to export. (csv, Excel, Word)

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].document	Document Record	The document record created by the activity



Fetch a file from a remote server via FTP.

Configuration

Setting	Description
URL	Path of FTP server and file name. The URL protocol must be 'ftp' or 'sftp'.
Credentials	The credentials to use when fetching the file.

Parameters created

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Ftp fetch.File]	File	A file that fetched over via FTP Fetch activity. Can also be used in conjunction with Import Spreadsheet Activity.

Output Paths

- Success
- Failure

Unsupported file types

Any files with the following extensions will be blocked from being uploaded.

application, .bat, .cmd, .com, .cpl, .exe, gadget, .hta, .inf, .jar, .js, .jse, .lnk, .msc, .msh, .msh1, .msh1xml, .msh2, .msh2xml, .mshxml, .msi, .msp, .pif, .ps1, .ps1xml, .ps2, .ps2xml, .psc1, .psc2, .reg, .scf, .scr, .vb, .vbe, .vbs, .ws, .wsc, .wsf, .wsh



To be able to schedule the generation of a report that is uploaded to a ftp server

The exported filename can be customised in the URL setting of the activity. For example: FILENAME_YYYYMMDD.csv, where the date is appended each day to the report.

Configuration

Setting	Description
File	 Choose from either: 1. An existing file from the Document library; or 2. A generated report. This also requires Export activity to generate a nominated report and then is passed a parameter into the FTP Put activity
URL	FTP server path and file name. The URL protocol must be 'ftp' or 'sftp'.
Credentials	The credentials to use when uploading the file.

Parameters created

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Ftp fetch.File]	File	A file that fetched over via FTP Fetch activity. Can also be used in conjunction with Import Spreadsheet Activity

Output Paths

- Success
- Failure

Screenshot: FTP Put implementation example



Import Spreadsheet

Last Modified on 13/06/2019 12:54 pm AEST

This workflow activity is used to import an excel or CSV file into an object.

Purpose

Import data from spreadsheet.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Import Configuration	Configuration used to do spreadsheet import.
Import File	Data file to import.

Parameters created

None.

Prerequisites when using this activity:

- An existing Import Spreadsheet configuration for the corresponding object must be available
- The excel or CSV file must be in the Documents library
- Dates should be formatted as ISO 8601 to avoid time zone ambiguity see General Settings for time zone settings

This activity can be also used in conjunction with FTP fetch activity to retrieve a file.

Prior to using this activity, a notification provider must be setup. See SMS Notifications

Purpose

Send SMS notifications to a list of people

Configuration

Setting	Description	
People	A list of people to send the message to. Note : the message is sent to the person's 'business email'	
Message	The message to be sent. Note: if typing in text, use single quotes e.g. 'This is the message'	
Link to record	Optionally link the send records to another record in the system	
Wait for replies	If selected, the activity will pause until all respondents have replied. If not selected, the workflow will progress immediately	
Accept Replies for	If the above 'wait for replies' is selected, the workflow will wait a set amount of time before progressing the workflow	
Workflow to run on replies	 Only the first matching workflow will be used. Two part configuration: <i>Reply contains</i>: the text to match in the reply message <i>Workflow to run</i>: the workflow to run if the text matches 	
Add workflow replies	Add more workflow reply conditions	
Parameter	Туре	Description
-------------------------------------	--------	--
[Activity Name].Notification Record	Record	The record of the notification created by the activity

- If a person replies, the reply is linked to the latest message sent to that person
- Mobile number formats for Australian numbers must be in the format of 04 or +614



This is a task that requires technical skills.

The following is necessary to consume an API :

- 1. API documentation
- 2. An API account (unless it is a public service that has no authentication)

Step 1: Configuring an API Callout

The API documentation must provide the following:

- 1. authentication scheme (API key, basic, custom and OAuth are supported)
- 2. data format (JSON, text and XML are supported)
- 3. the URL
- 4. sample requests and responses

See Configuring an API Callout and for examples and instructions to set up the API; once configured it can be consumed in workflows using the API Callout activity as described in the same article.

Step 2: Consuming the API in a Workflow

After adding the API Callout activity, subsequent activities in the workflow can then access the output of the API callout as variables. If the API Callout activity was not renamed then the output is referenced by [API Callout.Reponse] and any value in the output can be referenced by following the schema as shown in Configuring an API Callout.

Data integration that relies on external systems and third parties can easily stop working. It is worth checking the API response codes in the workflow to ensure that API failures generate notifications or take alternative steps, otherwise a broken integration could go unnoticed.

Triggers Overview

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:06 pm AEST

A trigger is something that is used to start a workflow running.

Generally, there are two types of triggers:

- Trigger on Create/Update
- Trigger on Schedule

Object Event Triggers

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:55 pm AEST

This type of trigger depends on the create or update event occurring on an object.

Adding a Trigger on Create/Update

To add a trigger on create/update:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Workflows. The Workflows expand to display list.
- 4. Select Triggers. The existing Triggers display.
- 5. In TRIGGER ON CREATE/UPDATE, select +NEW. The Trigger on Create/Update form displays.
- 6. Type the name for the trigger in the **Name** field.
- 7. Type the description for the trigger in the **Description** field.
- 8. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialog appears.
- 9. Select the application you want and select **OK**.
- 10. Complete the fields, including:
 - Trigger on: choose trigger on Create, Update or both
 - Object to trigger on: choose the object on which the create or update behaviour will trigger relevant event
 - Workflow to run: specify which workflow to run when trigger condition is met
 - Specify Field or Relationship to Trigger On with corresponding tab: select Link to Existing icon.

ø.

The Select dialog appears. Select OK to confirm

11. Select **Save** to save the trigger.

Schedule Triggers

Last Modified on 22/05/2019 12:17 pm AEST

This type of trigger is determined on a defined Schedule in ReadiNow.

Adding a new Trigger on Schedule.

To add a new Trigger on Schedule:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Workflows. The Workflows expand to display list.
- 4. Select Triggers. The existing Triggers display.
- 5. In TRIGGER ON SCHEDULE, Select **+NEW**. The Trigger on Schedule form displays.
- 6. Type the name for the trigger in the **Name** field.
- 7. Type the description for the trigger in the **Description** field.
- 8. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialogue appears.
- 9. Select the application you want and select **OK**.
- 10. Complete the fields, including:
 - Workflow to run: specify which workflow to run when trigger condition is met
 - Specify schedule: select Link to Existing
 - Select a schedule in the Select Schedule dialogue and select OK to confirm
- 11. Select **Save** to save the trigger.

Defining Schedules

Last Modified on 16/05/2022 2:24 pm AEST

This page explains how to setup schedules to run workflows (similar settings can be used for scheduled Import/Export of Configuration). There are three types of schedules:

- Once-off
- Daily
- Cron

Warning: Be aware of the transition hours for daylight saving. Avoid schedules that run between 2:00 AM and 3:00 AM hours during transitions in and out of daylight saving time.

Once-off

Once off schedules are useful for situations where you need to run a workflow a specific time, but (as the name implies) only once. To add a Once Off Schedule:

- 1. In the Administration area select Workflows > Schedules.
- 2. In ONCE OFF SCHEDULE, select +NEW. The Schedule One Off form displays.
- 3. Add a Name and Description for the schedule.
- 4. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialogue appears.
- 5. Select the Application you want and select OK.
- 6. Complete the Date and Time field : a specified date and time
- 7. Select **Save** to save the schedule.

Daily

To add a Daily Schedule:

- 1. In the Administration area select Workflows > Schedules.
- 2. In DAILY REPEAT SCHEDULE, select +NEW. The Schedule Daily Repeat form displays.
- 3. Add a Name and Description for the schedule.
- 4. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialogue appears.
- 5. Select the Application you want and select OK.
- 6. Complete the fields, including:
 - Days: the days of the week the schedule applies to
 - Time of day: specified time of the day
- 7. Select **Save** to save the schedule.

Cron

Cron is a highly flexible scheduling tool, ReadiNow uses a 'Quartz Scheduler' and the Quartz variant of cron. To use cron with ReadiNow you need to understand the basics of a 'cron expression'. A workflow can be triggered by multiple schedules.

The following steps explain how to setup a schedule based on a cron expression:

- 1. In the Administration area select Workflows > Triggers.
- 2. Click **+New** from the 'Trigger on Schedule' container. The Trigger on Schedule form displays.
- 3. Add a Name and Description for the schedule.
- 4. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialogue appears.
- 5. Select the Application you want and select **OK**.
- 6. Complete the fields, Workflow to run: specify which workflow to run when trigger condition is met
- 7. Specify schedule: select +New > Schedule Cron. The Schedule Cron form displays.
- 8. Add a Name and Description for the schedule.
- 9. Enter a cron expression in the 'Cron definition' field.
- 10. Click **Save** to save the trigger.

Testing Workflows

Last Modified on 16/08/2021 3:52 pm AEST

Workflows can be tested to ensure they perform as expected.

The Run workflow page can be accessed either through Workflow Builder or the Workflow Report.

Accessing the Run Workflow Page

To access the Run Workflow Page:

- 1. Open the tenant administration page more
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Workflows. The Workflows expands to display list.
- 3. Select Workflows. The existing Workflows display.
- 4. Option 1: access via the Workflow Builder
 - 1. Select the Workflow that requires testing.
 - 2. Ensure the workflow is saved after any modifications.
 - 3. Select the **Run** button from the right left hand action menu.
- 5. Option 2: access via the Workflow Report
 - 1. Right click on the Workflow that requires testing. The menu appears
 - 2. Select 'Start <your workflow>'.
- 6. See Running a Workflow Test, below for how to perform a test.

Running a Workflow Test

Be careful when testing a workflow that modifies or deletes records. It is recommended that test data is entered beforehand to test the workflow where there are records being modified or deleted.

To run a workflow test:

- 1. In the input text box, select the record that you would like to run the workflow against. If you do not have any, go back and enter test sample data.
- 2. Enable Trace: select this if you would like to see the detailed steps of each activity action. Particularity handy for both troubleshooting issues and when workflows have loops and more complex evaluation to ensure the correct flow is taken.
- 3. **Open Follow-up tasks**: select this if your workflow contains a User Action, User Input or Review Survey activity. This option will open up any tasks that are generated by the workflow by these activities.
- 4. Select Run.

In summary, the results will show whether the workflow run was successful. If the workflow was not successful, use the trace steps to determine where the cause may lie in the workflow.

It is recommended that all possible paths are tested so that any issues can be fixed prior to releasing the workflow.

To assist with troubleshooting a workflow, use the Log activity to write results of a particular action to a log, to help determine the cause. This information can also be used with the Workflow Runs.

Workflow Runs

Last Modified on 23/05/2019 1:01 pm AEST

The Workflow Runs report displays a list of past instances and running instances of workflows that have been triggered. This report is useful in ensuring workflows are running as expected and it is recommended that this checked on a regular basis. Alternatively, a notification workflow could be set up to send alerts for failing workflows.

Viewing Details of Workflow Runs

To view the details of Workflow Runs:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Workflows. The Workflows expands to display list.
- 4. Select Workflow Runs. The Workflow Runs display.
- 5. Select the Workflow Run you want.
- 6. Select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 7. Select View. The Workflow Run displays.

The workflow run record displays all the information of the running workflow such as who triggered, when it was triggered, how many actions its taken and etc. More importantly, it also shows you any **Log Messages** that logged as a result of the **Log activity** if it was used in the workflow. This is helpful when troubleshooting a workflow.

Workflow Run States

Status	Description
Queued	Indicates that the workflow is queued up to run.
Paused	Indicates that the workflow paused because it is waiting on an action from a user.
Failed	Indicates that the workflow has failed.
Completed	Indicated that the workflow has completed.
Long Running	Indicates that the workflow requires significant processing and is running in the background.

Examine Run

Last Modified on 04/12/2019 5:17 pm AEDT

Administrators can trouble-shoot workflow execution by using the *Examine* context menu option.

Workflow	v Runs			
Workflow	Version Modified	Status	Trigger	Log
Annual Assessment Pr	7 05/06/20	Completed		
Calculation workfic $ {f Q} $	View 'Annual Assessme	nt Process'		
Person Name Upd	Examine 'Annual Assess	ment Process	;' irig Person Name Upd	
Person Name Upd	Cancel 'Annual Assessm	ent Process'	'rig Person Name Upd	
Person Name Update	2 31/05/20	Completed	Trig Person Name Upd	
Test Cascade Limit	4 31/05/20	Failed	cascade	Workflow exceeded tri
Navigating	to the new Examine fe	ature from tl	he workflow run's cont	ext menu

This will show summary page with details that can be separately enabled. The blue buttons toggle the detail shown below them, and the number of buttons shown depends on what activities are in the workflow, as well as the state of the workflow; for example, a workflow will have state information while if is paused or running that is not available once it is complete. Clicking in the toolbar will toggle the display of the various types of data available, where items with the blue are shown and those with grey are hidden.

Workflow:	Annual Asse	essment Prod	cess (27330)	State: Paused
Started at: 6/5/19 1:08 PM Completed at: 6/5/19 1:08 P Last updated: 6/5/19 1:08 P Duration (ms): 1076 Correlation code: S07285-P(M M 01960:workflowRun:27330-Z:	354821-051308		
Inputs	Variables	Steps taken	Time in activities	Activity outputs
Showing: Activity outputs, V	'ariables			
Variables				^
year: 2019 subject: Expiry Notification				
Activity outputs				^
Launch Person Campaig Responses: [Unnamed]	gn (27388)			
	An exar	nple of state information	n for a paused workflow	

Workflow: Annual Assessment Process (27330)							
Started at: 6/5/19 1:08 PM Completed at: 6/5/19 1:17 P Last updated: 6/5/19 1:17 PI Duration (ms): 1095 Correlation code: S07285-P	M M 01960:workflowRun:27330-Z3	54821-051308					
Inputs	Steps 1	taken	Time in activities	Child runs			
Showing: Child runs, Time i	n activities						
Time in activities				^			
Activity Launch Person Campaign Run Workflow	Total evaluate inputs (ms) 608 0	Total run (ms) 464 9					
Child runs				^			
Calculation workflow (2739)							
	Τ	he same workfl	ow once it is completed				

State information

Inputs

This the input parameter(s) to the workflow, which link to the object's view form.

Variables

The current variable values are shown in this section.

Steps taken

This is the ordered sequence of activities (limited to the last 200).

Time in activities

Summary activity information is shown here in milliseconds, divided into preparation time (*Total evaluate inputs*) and running time (*Total run*).

Total Evaluate Inputs

This is the preparation time taken for all an activity's parameters to be evaluated, including calculation of any calculation parameters.



The Run Workflow activity had only one parameter without any calculations, so Total evaluate inputs was zero.

Total Run

This is the time take for the execution of an activity, excluding the preparation time. Expect this to be high for user interaction, network communication, or processing numerous records; conversely, it would be low for the Assign to Variable or Gateway activity.

Activity outputs

These are tasks generated by the workflow, such as from a Launch Person Campaign or User Action activity.

Child runs

This section lists workflows that were initiated from the current workflow by a Run Workflow activity. The workflow name can be selected to navigate to the child workflow.

Inbox Workflows to Run

Last Modified on 04/09/2019 3:58 pm AEST

Inboxes support the use of workflows to process the incoming emails, as shown below where a workflow named *Capture Event* will run for every received email.

🔲 listener	
Name : listener	
Description :	
Enabled :	
From name :	
Reply address :	
Email Address : @apps.readinow.com	
Received messages Workflows to Run	
WORKFLOWS TO RUN	
🐮 👻 ACTION 👻 🖉 🧭 EDIT INLINE	
Name	Description
Capture Event	
Inbox workflow co	nfiguration

Input Parameters

In order to access the received email, the *Input Parameter* must be set to an *Email* type *Record Argument* as shown here. It is then possible to access the email subject, body, attachments and recipients in calculations.

C	Capture Event click to edit desc	ription		Workflow			
Inputs	Variables	Outputs	Security				
Input Pa	rameter			×			
Name		Input					
Туре		Record Argument					
Definition	1	Email					
New Inpu	ut Parameters						
Input Parameter configuration							

Calendar Attachments

Inboxes will automatically recognise RFC 5545 calendar attachments on incoming emails. This enables the access of the event data through the following calculation:

[Input].[Calendar attachments]	
--------------------------------	--

Each attachment has one or more events, each of which has one or more attendees; this hierarchy can be followed in the calculation editor via the prompts. As an example, the calculation above has [Events] as a possible field choice in the calculation editor.



Use Cases

Inbox workflows can be used for automated ticketing on a support email address, or to record meeting requests against companies in an application, using smart matching of the sender email to a company domain.

Connect a Workflow to an API Callout Library

Last Modified on 26/03/2020 2:23 pm AEDT

This article provides a minimal worked example to demonstrate how to add an API Callout to a Workflow. It uses the {{Open Weather Map}} API as an example and assumes the API has already been set up and configured in the API Library.

When you setup a new Work Flow, it will look like this:

ReadiNow			٩	Administrat	ion 😑	L 5	Q	?
Readi BUILDER 😽 📥	← Undo → Redo - 100% +	🕨 Run	X Delete	Properti	es 💾 Sa	ave 🛛 📂 S	ave As	× Close
Workflow	New Workflow							
Data Activities	start	^	0	New Workflow click to edit descr	iption			Workflow
Ex Create			Inputs	Variables	Outputs	Security		
🗢 Update			New Inpu	t Parameters				
× Delete			Default in	nut Parameter				
Clone			Triggering	Input	Inone			•
Change Type			Related Re	esource	none			•
Get Records								
For Each								
🖌 Gateway	4	• • •						
2.137.6016.0-Release / C: 2.137.6018-Release	Powered by ReadiNow							
	The Workflow Builder showing 3 s	ections:						
	left = drag and drop 'Activities' (all workflows have a	a 'start' a	and 'end	'activity				
	middle = the Workflow design & lay	/out area	a					
	right = a properties window for the selec	cted 'Ac	tivity'					

Drag-and-Drop activities onto the design area

In this example the API takes an 'Argument' called {city}, and returns information about the weather in whichever city was 'passed' to the API.

To achieve this we will drag-and-drop the following Activities to the Workflow:

- 1. User Activities > User Input (prompts user to enter a city)
- 2. Other Activities > API Callout (calls the API, gets raw data for the city)
- 3. User Activities > User Message (displays specific weather information)

start	User Input	API Callout	User Message end Succeeded
Workflow Activities or square on it that	n the design canv	vas, before bei	ing connected to each other. Each activity (except 'end') has a small grey
	at can be dragge	d to other acti	ivities (the squares are easier to see when you hover over them).

Link the activities



Once the Activities are linked together the workflow should looks something like:

To achieve drag connectors from:

- 1. 'start' onto 'User Input'
- 2. 'User Input Cancel' onto 'end'
- 3. 'User Input Done' onto 'API Callout'
- 4. 'API Callout Exit' onto 'User Message'
- 5. 'API Callout Failure' onto 'end'
- 6. 'User Message Succeeded' onto 'end'

Setup the Workflow Variable for passing the {city} argument to the API

The Workflow needs to have a variable to pass to the API {city} argument, variables can be in the configuration options for the 'start' activity. Once it is set up it should looks something like this.



To achieve this, navigate to the 'Variables' tab, then:

- 1. Click on 'New Variable'
- 2. Give the variable a Name (it does NOT have to be 'city')
- 3. Select 'string' as the variable type
- 4. Optionally, enter a 'default value'

Setup the User Input

The workflow needs to pass a 'city' to the API and since the API can check the weather in any city we thought it would be sensible to ask the user to enter a city. In this example when the workflow is run, a form will appear and the person who initiates the workflow (i.e. the 'Triggering Person' will be prompted to enter a city.

The city that the person specifies will be save to the variable called 'City'.



To achieve this, select the User Input activity, and:

- 1. Click on the {{Tickbox}} for 'For Person' > 'Select Parameter' > choose: [Triggering Person]
- 2. For the Prompt type the text as shown (must include the 'single quotes')
- 3. From the 'Display As' drop down, select: Form
- 4. Associate the input with the variable 'City'

Setup the API Callout

Once configured the API Callout activity should look like:



To achieve this:

- 1. For 'API to call', click on the {{Tickbox}} and select the 'Open Weather Map'
- 2. For the 'City' input, click on the {{Tickbox}} and select 'Select Parameter' > choose 'City'
- 3. For the 'metric' input, click on the {{Tickbox}} and select 'Calculation' > type: 'metric'

Setup the User Message

If the API call is successful it will return a response (similar to the one in the response template) AND we will want to display a message that includes the name of the 'city' and the current 'temperature'.

Edit Ca	lculation			User Message click to edit desc	ription	User Messag
1 'T [A	Q M f(w) ϕ () (E) he temperature in ' + [City] + ' is ' + PI Callout.Response].[main].[temp]	User Message	Send To Message	Text	[Workflow Initiator]] 'The temperature in '	
	OK Cancel	,				
	Message Text in the Calculation "The ten	n editor, the user messag nperature in Sydney is 19	ge will d 9.420"	isplay some	thing like:	

To achieve this:

- 1. Click on the {{Tickbox}} for 'Send To' and select '[Workflow Initiator]'
- 2. Click on the {{Tickbox}} for 'Message Text' and:
 - type: 'The temperature in ' +
 - click on the parameters button, select: 'City'
 - type: +'is'+
 - click on parameters button, select: 'API Callout.Response'
 - type: .[main].[temp]

Note:

".[main].[temp]" is from the API sample response.

Manually Run a Workflow

Last Modified on 26/03/2020 1:55 pm AEDT

Explains how to 'run' a Workflow manually. This example is based on the {{Open Weather Map}} API Callout example.

From the workflow designer, click: Run (opens the workflow runner shown below):

		Administration \equiv	₄_2 ♀ ♀ ◎
		Open Items	X
New Workflow Run 1	3	User Input Please complete this task	41 seconds ago
Examine 🔥 Refresh			
Completed Date	Status		
3/26/2020 1:30 PM	Paused		
	The Workflow runner.		

- 1. click 'Run' (again) (a message appears)
- 2. click on the message icon
- 3. click on the 'User Input' task (the 'User Input' form opens)

				٦	Administration \equiv	\$	5	9	8	c
					🗸 Done	💾 Sav	e for late	er	imes Ca	ncel
🔳 User I	nput									
Enter a City										
City :	Sydney									
	The 'User Input' form used to assign Workflow 'variables'.									

- 1. Enter the name of a city in Australia (or use the default: Sydney)
- 2. Click: Done (a message appears, see below)



Document Generation Overview

Last Modified on 29/05/2020 6:12 pm AEST

ReadiNow lets you export data directly from Reports and Forms into preformatted MS Word documents. The steps involved are:

- 1. identify the data to export
- 2. create a document in MS Word
- 3. add Mail Merge fields to the document
- 4. upload the document to your 'Documents Library'
- 5. link the document to a Form, Report, or workflow

The document generator works by starting with a template document that contains various Word merge fields. The inserted macros consisting of Word merge fields control the generation and data insertion.

Macros can:

- render some field data for the current object, or
- select an object (such as a specific object, or related object) into the current context
- if multiple objects are are selected, then that section of the template document is repeated for each object

Document generation macros can also be used to generate text directly from within calculations. Refer to Text Templates for details.

Screenshot: Sample template document with word merge fields.

Contact Details

Full Name	{ MERGEFIELD [Name] }
Job Tile	{ MERGEFIELD [Job title] }
Mobile	{ MERGEFIELD [Mobile phone] }
Email Address	{ MERGEFIELD [Business email] }

Document Templates

Last Modified on 03/04/2019 11:52 am AEDT

Begin with a template document that contains Word merge fields specific to the subject related to objects in ReadiNow.

Creating a new template document

To create a new template document:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select **Documents**. The application displays.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Document Library. The Document Library expands to display list.
- 4. Select Documents. The Documents report displays.
- 5. Select +NEW. The Document form displays.
- 6. In the File field, select the Browse button and navigate to the template document you want to upload.
- 7. Select **Save** to save the form.
- 8. In the Left Navigation Area, select Report Templates. The Report Templates report displays.
- 9. Select **+NEW**. The Report Template form displays
- 10. Type a Name for the template. Note: Ideally an action button friendly name as this is where they are used.
- 11. Select a Document from the document picker.
- 12. Select the target **Object** which is the start context for the document.
- 13. Select Save to save.

Modifying an existing template document

To modify an existing template document:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select **Documents**. The application displays.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Document Library. The Document Library expands to display list.
- 4. Select **Documents**. The Documents report displays.
- 5. Select the existing template document and select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 6. Select Edit. The form displays.
- 7. In the **File** field, select the **Browse** button and navigate to the updated template document you want to upload.
- 8. Select **Save** to save the form.

Sample Mail Merge Fields

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 1:53 pm AEDT

Showing Fields

A simple template document loading a single specific instance.

```
{ MERGEFIELD with load Person [Peter Smith] }
{ MERGEFIELD [Age] }
{ MERGEFIELD [First Name] }
{ MERGEFIELD [Last Name] }
```

Style and colour

Any formatting such as bold or colour that is applied to the Word field (when in Field Code mode) is applied to the output result. For example:

{ MERGEFIELD [First Name] }

Loading all records of an object

To load all records of an object, a block of the template document gets repeated. Start the block that gets repeated with the 'with' command, then follow it with 'all' to indicate we're loading all records. Note: All is a calculation function therefore you need to put the definition name in round brackets ().

```
{ MERGEFIELD with all ([Person]) }
Name: { MERGEFIELD [First Name] } { MERGEFIELD [Last Name] }
Age: { MERGEFIELD [Age] }
{ MERGEFIELD end }
```

The content that gets repeated is whatever is between the starting instruction, and the 'end' instruction.

This includes any paragraph separators. The result may be contained within a single paragraph, or may span multiple paragraphs.

Note that if an 'end' keyword is not specified, then the block will implicitly end at the end of the document (or some other appropriate place).

Repeating within a paragraph

{ MERGEFIELD with all ([All Fields]) } { MERGEFIELD Name } { MERGEFIELD end }.

Repeated content with exactly one paragraph separator

```
{ MERGEFIELD with all ([Person]) }
Welcome, { MERGEFIELD [First Name] } { MERGEFIELD [Last Name] }.{ MERGEFIELD end }
```

In this example, the start of the instruction is immediately followed by the paragraph break, which is repeated at the start of each paragraph. The 'end' is on the same line as the paragraph itself, to ensure that the following paragraph doesn't get included in repeated content. (So we only get one paragraph break instead of two).

Repeated content in a bullet or numeric list

A bulleted list

```
* { MERGEFIELD list all ([Building]) } { MERGEFIELD Name }
```

A numbered list

1. { MERGEFIELD list all ([Building]) } { MERGEFIELD Name }

For bullet lists it is usually more convenient to place the instruction within the bullet using the 'list' instruction. Note that these do not need to be closed with an 'end'.

Note that this example also illustrates the more general pattern for instructions that show repeated content. That is: first the display mode is set, then the data source is set. In this case 'list' is the display mode, and 'all Building' is the data source.

See also: list

Repeated content in tables

On the first column of a row, specify a repeating instruction with 'rows' as the display mode. If the 'end' instruction is not specified, then it will implicitly end at the end of the row.

First Name	Age
{ MERGEFIELD rows all (Person) }{ MERGEFIELD [First Name] }	{MERGEFIELD [Age] }

Performing calculations

A variety of calculations can be performed. Refer to the Calculated Fields documentation.

{ MERGEFIELD Quantity * [Cost per Unit] }

Table Sums

It is possible to use the Word SUM field feature to perform sums and some other aggregate operations.

First Name	Age
{ MERGEFIELD rows all (Employee) }{ MERGEFIELD [First Name] }	{MERGEFIELD [Age] }
	{=SUM(ABOVE)}

Note that the SUM value is not computed by the document generator, rather this is a feature of Word.

After opening the result document, follow these steps:

- 1. Ctrl+A (select the whole document)
- 2. F9 (updates the field values, for the whole selection)
- 3. Alt+F9 (toggle document from viewing field codes to field value ... if you don't see the sum already)

Table of Contents

Similar to using sum-above, the existing Word table-of-contents (TOC) can be used. Follow these steps:

- Include a Word heading in your repeated section.
- Include a Word table of contents at the top of the template.
- When the document is generated, the heading will be repeated once for each value, but the TOC isn't

updated yet

• Open the result in Word, then (as above) Ctrl+A, F9, and Alt+F9 if necessary.

Following Relationships

If an entity is already in context, you can show the name of a related entity by just using the name (or the fromname or to-name) of that relationship - exactly the same as you would with a field:

Example 1: Simply showing the name of a related entity.

```
{ MERGEFIELD with load Person [Peter Smith] }
Name: { MERGEFIELD [First Name] }
Manager: { MERGEFIELD [Manager] }
Organization: { MERGEFIELD [Works for Organization] }
```

You can switch the content to a related entity by using the 'with' keyword.

Example 2: Following all instances of a relationship of a specific resource. The paragraph is repeated for each related entry.

```
{ MERGEFIELD with load Person [Peter Smith] }
Direct reports of Peter:
{ MERGEFIELD with [Direct Reports] }
{ MERGEFIELD [First Name] } { MERGEFIELD [Last Name] }
{ MERGEFIELD end }
```

Example 3: Following all instances of a relationship, for all instances of a type. The bullet point is repeated for each related entry.

{ MERGEFIELD with all (Manager) }
Manager name: { MERGEFIELD [First Name] } { MERGEFIELD [Last Name] }
Direct reports:
* { MERGEFIELD list [Direct Reports] } { MERGEFIELD [First Name] } { MERGEFIELD [Last Name] }
{ MERGEFIELD end }

Include a block of text, if there are values for a particular relationship

In the above example, the text 'Direct reports:' would appear even if the manager has no direct reports. We can wrap that whole section in an 'if' keyword, to test if there are any related entities first.

```
{ MERGEFIELD with all ([Manager]) }
Manager name: { MERGEFIELD [First Name] } { MERGEFIELD [Last Name] }
{ MERGEFIELD if [Direct Reports] }
Direct reports:
* { MERGEFIELD list [Direct Reports] } { MERGEFIELD [First Name] } { MERGEFIELD [Last Name] }
{ MERGEFIELD end }
{ MERGEFIELD end }
```

Inserting a Chart

Data-drived charts can be generated and inserted into Word documents. Calculations can also be used to filter the chart to only include certain records.

{ MERGEFIELD chart([Whatever] with [Created By]: currentuser()) }

See: insert chart

Microsoft Word Mail Merge Fields

Last Modified on 29/05/2020 4:32 pm AEST

The document generator uses Word merge-fields extensively. This page contains tips for working with Merge Fields in Word.

Adding Merge Fields

Merge fields can be inserted into the word document with two different methods:

- Using Words Quick Parts preformatted texts
- Using Document Content for free text MergeField formatting

Using Quick Parts

- 1. Create a new Word document.
- 2. On the Ribbon: Insert (tab) > Quick Parts > Field
- 3. In the Field dialogue:
 - a) select Mail Merge from Categories
 - b) select MergeField from Field Names
 - c) enter document generation macro in Field name (e.g. [First Name])
 - d) click **OK**



Using Field Codes (advanced)

- 1. Select: File > Options > Advanced.
- 2. Tick Show field codes instead of their values.
- 3. Then press Ctrl+F9 to insert a new MergeField
- 4. Type MERGEFIELD between the braces along with your document generation macro, for example, [First Name]

How Merge Fields appear in the document

A merge field may appear in one of two modes:

1. Result mode- This shows what value it's currently taking.

- For example: «with load Person Harry Potter»
- 2. Field Code mode- This shows the full Word Field Code and is the view used to insert document generation marcos.
 - For example: { MERGEFIELD [First Name] }

Generating Documents

Last Modified on 03/04/2019 1:26 pm AEDT

Using the template documents, documents can be generated from the following:

- Reports
- Forms
- Workflows (Generate Document)

Template documents have a target object starting context. Begin with the target object the template document is based on and choose where the action button will appear either on the form or report.

Generating a document from a form

To generate a document from a form:

- 1. Select the form where the action button to generate documents will be placed and open in Form Builder.
- 2. On the top right hand corner of the screen, select + Actions. The Actions dialog appears.
- 3. Find the report template name and select the checkbox for **Enable**. This provides an action button on the form.
- 4. Select OK.
- 5. Select **SAVE** to save the form.
- 6. Open any record in the target object.
- 7. Select the newly created Action button from on top of the form.
- 8. The document downloads to your browser. Select to open.

Generating a document from a report

To generate a document from a report:

- 1. Select the report of where the action button to generate documents will be placed and open it in Report Builder.
- 2. Select Actions.
- 3. Find the report template name and tick **Enable** and **Show Button** from the actions menu. This will provide an action button on the report.
- 4. Select OK.
- 5. Select **SAVE** to save the report.
- 6. Open the report and then single click to highlight a record to generate the document against. The action button is enabled.
- 7. Select the generated Action button from the top of the form.
- 8. The document downloads to your browser. Select to open.

Microsoft Word Interoperability

Last Modified on 09/12/2019 9:42 am AEDT

Custom Fonts

If non-standard fonts are being used in the template Word document, then it is recommended that those fonts be embedded into the template file so that generated documents will be correctly viewable by all recipients.

Refer to the Embed fonts in Word or PowerPoints Microsoft support article.

Table of Contents

Document generation does not support automatically updating data-driven Word content such as the table of contents, table sums, and save date. To update this content:

- 1. Open the generated document in Word
- 2. Press Ctrl+A to select the entire document
- 3. Press F9 to update all Word content fields

Sample Calculations

Last Modified on 03/04/2019 2:59 pm AEDT

Date Manipulation

Returns the Month of when a record was created.

DatePart(Day,[Created Date], getdate())

Assessing Relationships

Returns the of name of the organisation that a person works for.

[Contact].[Organisation]

Categorising Data

Returns whether a person is an adult or child.

iif([Age] > 17, 'Adult', 'Child')

Date and Time Differences

Calculates the difference between when a Task record was created and the current date, only when the Task status is not completed. Otherwise it returns null.

iif([Task Status] <> 'Completed', Datediff(day,[Created Date], getdate()), null)

Maximum Age

Finds the maximum field value for given a set of data.

Max([Age])

Text Manipulation

Returns the person's name from an email address.

LEFT([Business Email],charindex('@',[Business Email]) -1)

Conditional Count

Returns a count of the number of textbooks that are only e-books.

Count([Textbooks] where [E-book] = true)

Sum with Conditions

Returns sum of the cost of textbooks that are only e-books

sum(([Textbooks] where [E-book]=true).[Purchase Price])

Variables

Using a variable in a calculation

Let a = [Start Date] SELECT iif(a>getdate(),'Future','Past')

Calculation Operators

Last Modified on 30/08/2022 12:11 pm AEST

Operation	Token	Arguments	Data Type	Example	Comments			
Maths Operators (more)								
Add	+	numeric, numeric<	numeric	Age + 10				
Subtract	-	numeric, numeric	numeric	Age - Manager.Age				
Multiply	*	numeric, numeric	numeric	Cost * Quantity				
Divide	/	numeric, numeric	numeric	Cost / Quantity	Result is always a decimal.			
Modulo	%	int, int	int	10 % 7 (result is 3)	Remainder of integer division. See details.			
Negate	-	numeric	numeric	-Age				
String Operators (more)								
Concatenate	+	string, string	string	Title + ' ' + [Last Name]	Joins multiple strings together.			
Logic Operators (more)								
Not	not	bool	bool	not [Is approver]	'not' has a higher precedence than 'and'			
And	and	bool, bool	bool	Cost < 1000 and Quantity < 10	'and' has a higher precedence than 'or'.			

Operation	Token	Arguments	Data Type	Example	Comments	
Or	or	bool, bool	bool	Cost >= 1000 or Quantity >= 10		
Comparison Operators (more)						
Less than	<	comparable, comparable	bool	Cost < 1000		
Less than or equal	<=	comparable, comparable	bool	Cost <= 1000		
Greater than	>	comparable, comparable	bool	Name > 'M'		
Greater than or equal	>=	comparable, comparable	bool	Cost >= 1000		
Equal	=	equatable, equatable	bool	Name = 'Peter Smith'		
Not equal	<>	equatable, equatable	bool	Name <> 'Peter Smith'		
Like	like	string, string	bool	Name like 'Peter%'	Supports % wildcards at either end.	
Not Like	not like	string, string	bool	Name not like 'Peter%'	Supports % wildcards at either end.	
ls Null	is null	resource	bool	Department is null	Returns true if a resource/relationship is not set	
Membership	in	comparable, comparable	bool	[Project].[Tasks] in ('Document','Test')	The search and option expressions can be scalar values, choice field values, or records.	

Operation	Token	Arguments	Data Type	Example	Comments
List Op	erato	ors (Where	e, Ord	er By)	
Where	where	entity list, bool	entity list	[Direct Reports] where Name='Peter Smith'	Applies a condition (bool)
Order by	order by	entity list, comparable	entity list	[Direct Reports] order by Name	Note: Currently only a single ascending order can be applied. Note: not supported for reports.

Notes on types:

- Numeric types: number (int), decimal, currency, percent
- Comparable types: All numeric types and date, time, date time, string
- Equatable types: All comparable types and yes/no (bool), GUID
currentuser

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:22 pm AEDT

Returns the record that represents the User Account of the current user.

Function

currentuser()

Arguments

Argument	Data Type

result record

Comments

Returns the record that represents the User Account of the current user.

If a workflow runs is triggered by a change made by a user, then the currentuser function will return that user record, unless the workflow is configured to run as the workflow owner, in which case the currentuser function will return the user who owns the workflow.

Examples

currentuser().[Account Holder]

context

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 2:37 pm AEDT

Returns the record that will be implicitly used in a calculation.

Function

context()

Arguments

Argument Data Type

Comments

The context function explicitly returns the record that would otherwise be implicitly used for accessing fields.

Typically a calculation will implicitly be working in the context of some record, so field and relationship names such as [First Name] can be typed directly and are implicitly understood. However, sometimes the record itself is needed and the **context** function provides this. Put differently, **context().[Some field]** is always equivalent to **[Some field]**.

A common use of the **context** function is when a calculation needs to refer to a field or relationship that is defined on some object that inherits the current record.

Examples

Assume that the following is a calculated column on a report of Vehicle records, where:

- Car inherits from Vehicle
- Registration is a field on Car

convert(Car, context()).[Registration] -- this will return the registration when the current row is a Car record

convert

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 3:23 pm AEDT

Converts a calculation value from one data type to another.

Function

convert(type, input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
type	data type name
input	any
result	any

Comments

When converting objects, the data-type of the second argument must conform to the data-type given in the first. For example, if the right hand side is a relationship that points to a "Dog" (or a variable of type "Dog") but the author knows from context that thing that is actually being pointed at is a "Poodle", then the left hand side can have the type "Poodle". This allows the author to then get to the "Poodle" specific field and relationships.

For more details, refer to: Converting between data types.

Examples

convert(decimal, '10')

iif

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 3:17 pm AEDT

Returns one of two values, depending on whether the condition value gives a true result or a false result.

Function

iif(condition, true-result, false-result)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
condition	any
true-result	any
false-result	any
result	any

Comments

The *true-result* and *false-result* calculations should both return the same type of data. This may be a record data type.

The calculation iif(*some-condition*, true, false) is always redundant and can be rewritten simply as *some-condition*. Similarly, the calculation iif(*some-boolean-field* = true, *option1*, *option2*) can be rewritten as iif(*some-boolean-field*, option1, option2).

Tip: consider using the case feature if you need to select between multiple options.

Examples

iif(grade>80, 'good', 'bad')

iif(hour(gettime())<12, [Morning contact person], [Afternoon contact person])</pre>

isnull

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 3:19 pm AEDT

Returns its input, or falls back to a default value if the input is null.

Function

isnull(input, null-result)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	any
null-result	any
result	any

Comments

If *input* is null, then the *null-result* is returned, otherwise the *input* is returned.

Examples

The following calculation will follow a relationship named 'Person' and show the person's name, or the text 'No person' if there was no related person.

isnull([Person], 'No person')

link

Last Modified on 16/08/2023 2:54 pm AEST

Creates a web address (URL) that will open a page for a specific record or navigation page.

Function

Classic console

link(record)
link(view, record, form)
link(edit, record, form)
link(create, object, form)
link(report, target)
link(chart, target)
link(board, target)

Nova Form Pages

link(view, record, nova shared form)
link(edit, record, nova shared form)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
record	record
form	(Optional) identifier or form record
nova shared form	form record
object	identifier or form record
target	identifier or form record

Comments

The link function can be used to create URLs pointing to individual records or console pages. This link may then, for example, be emailed to users as part of a workflow. Users who open links will be automatically directed to the login page if they have not already signed in. They will then be redirected to the link.

The result of the link function includes the whole web address, including the https prefix and servername. The result type is a URL string.

The user must also have access control permission to view the page/record requested, or they will receive an error message telling them that they do not have permission.

Links are not permalinks. They will generally not change, however links may change if a tenant is moved to a new server.

Record Links

If a record is provided to the link function, then the platform will automatically determine the default page for handling the record, and return a link accordingly.

For example:

link(currentuser())

This will create a link that refers to the form, in view mode, for the current user.

Links to view records

Various keywords may be placed in front of the record to control what type of link should be returned, such as whether the link should open the record in view mode or edit mode.

You may explicitly direct the platform to generate a view mode link to a record's form by using the **view** keyword. The default form for the record's object will be used. You may also specify the name of a different compatible form to use. For example:

```
link( view, [My Record Variable] )
link( view, [My Record Variable], [My Custom Form] )
```

In the above example, 'My Record Variable' may refer to some record variable in the workflow, and 'My Custom Form' refers to the name of an appropriate form.

Links to edit records

Links may similarly be created that automatically open the record in edit mode by using the edit keyword.

For example:

```
link( edit, [My Record Variable] )
link( edit, [My Record Variable], [My Custom Form] )
```

Links to create records

You may create a link that directs the user to create a new record of some object by using the create keyword and the object name. You can specify the name of the specific form to use, or the default form for the object will be used if none is provided.

For example:

```
link( create, [Person] )
link( create, [Person], [My Custom Person Form] )
```

Page Links

You may create links that refer to specific pages by using a keyword that is appropriate for each page.

There must only be a single page that matches the name provided.

Examples:

link(report, [My report name])
link(chart, [My chart name])
link(board, [My board name])
link(screen, [My screen name])

Notes

- The link function will always try to match a Classic form name before searching for a nova form name. Only if no classic form is found will Nova forms be searched.
- Where the link function is unable to find a match for the require entity an exception is thrown at runtime.
- The record type of the form and type of the record must be compatible, if not a exception will be thrown at runtime.

Resource Function

Last Modified on 24/08/2022 1:51 pm AEST

Returns the record from an Object by Record Name.

Function

resource([Object], 'Record Name')

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
Input 1	Object
Input 2	String
Result	Record

Comments

The resource function returns a record with a specified name..

A common use of the **resource** function is when an Record needs to be processed by a workflow, but the name the record is unknown until the workflow runs - this allows records to be processed dynamically.

Example

Assume you need send a Survey (survey is a stored as a Record) using a Workflow, but the survey changes each year. Rather than hard code the name of the survey and change it each year, you can use the context function to retrieve the survey IF you can predict its name.

Resource ([Object] , 'Exact name of Record')

For the sake of this example consider a Workflow with an activity 'Launch Person Campaign' where the name of the Survey is:

[BCM Assessment FY23]

By extracting the last 2 digits from date year into a Variable called [FY] we can dynamically return the correct survey for any given year:

Resource([User survey], '[BCM Assessment FY]' + [FY])

To make use of the Resource function the rest of the name must be consistent, that means the spacing in the string is important - the input string MUST be an exact match to the Record Name. Perhaps more common use-cases for the Resource function are to return a:

... person without knowing their name

Resource([Person] , 'John Smith')

... choice field option

Resource([Task Status] , 'Active')

Resource function can be used with any [Object]; it's worth noting that the Resource function also supports dot notation, [Object].[Attribute] - e.g.:

Resource([Configuration] , 'BCM Config').[Review Frequency]

count

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:13 pm AEDT

Returns the number of items in a list.

Function

count(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	record list
result	integer

Comments

Returns the number of items in a list.

Note: it is also possible to count the number of related records in a report without writing a calculation by using column totals or by summarising a report relationship.

Example

The following calculation assumes it is being run in the context of a Manager record, and it returns the number of employees that directly report to the manager.

count([Direct Reports])

Performance Tip

A common inclination is to use the **count** function to determine whether some particular records exists, such as: count([Assigned Tasks])>0. However, it is better to use the any function (or every function) for this type of calculation. The **count** function will consider (and perform security checks) on every record to calculate a count. Whereas the **any** function and **every** function are able to skip processing records once a positive (or negative) match has been found. In some cases this can lead to a considerable improvement in response times.

```
count([Assigned Tasks] where [Status] = 'In Progress') > 0 -- don't do this
```

any([Assigned Tasks].[Status] = 'In Progress') -- this gives the same result, but run more quickly

any

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:02 pm AEDT

Returns true if some condition is met for any record in a list of records. Or alternatively, can be used to return true if at least one record is found.

Function

any(condition)		
any(records)		

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
condition	Boolean list
records	Record list
result	Boolean

Comments

The any function receives a list of records, and returns a single true/false result. It can be used in two ways:

- 1. To return true if one or more record meets some condition.
- 2. Or, to return true if some there is at least one record in some list of records.

In both cases, the **any** function will return false if there are no records.

Examples

The following calculation assumes it is running in the context of a person record. It will return true if the person record is related to one or more task records.

any([Assigned Tasks])

The following calculation assumes further checks to the status of the tasks. It will return true if the context person has at least one 'In Progress' task. It will return false if they have no tasks, or if none of the tasks have a status of 'In Progress'.

any([Assigned Tasks].[Status] = 'In Progress')

every

Last Modified on 13/12/2021 12:44 pm AEDT

Returns true if some condition is met for every record in a list of records. Returns true for an empty list.

Function

every(condition)	
every(records)	

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
condition	Boolean list
result	Boolean

Comments

The **every** function receives a list of records with some condition, and returns true if that condition is met for every record in the list. If there are one or more records that do not meet the condition, then the **every** function will return false.

If there are no records in the list then the every function will return true. Note that this is in deliberate contrast to the any function.

Example

The following calculation assumes it is running in the context of a person record. It will return true if every task assigned to that person is completed. It will also return true if the person has no assigned tasks. It will return true if the person has one or more tasks that do not have a state of 'Completed'.

every([Assigned Tasks].[Status] = 'Completed')

sum

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:14 pm AEDT

Returns the sum of all the input values.

Function

sum(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric list
result	numeric

Comments

Returns the sum of all the input values.

Note: The ReadiNow platform cannot always handle numbers greater than 2 billion. If large numbers of records are being added, then this may cause a partial calculation result to exceed this limit, which can cause calculations to fail, even if that partial result is then to be subsequently divided by some other number.

Note: it is also possible to calculate the sum of values in a report without writing a calculation by using column totals or by summarising a report relationship.

Examples

The following calculation assumes it is run in the context of a hypothetical purchase order record that has multiple items, each with a numeric 'weight' field. It returns the total of the weight values.

sum([Items].[Weight])

avg Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:12 pm AEDT

Returns the average (mean) of all the input values.

Function

avg(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric list
result	decimal

Comments

Returns the average of all the input values. The input data can be any numeric data type. If the input is an integer data type, then the result will have a decimal data type.

Note: it is also possible to calculate the average of values in a report without writing a calculation by using column totals or by summarising a report relationship.

Examples

The following calculation assumes it is run in the context of a hypothetical purchase order record that has multiple items, each with a numeric 'weight' field. It returns the average of the weight values.

avg([Items].[Weight])

stdev

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:04 pm AEDT

Returns the statistical standard deviation of all the input values.

Function

stdev(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric list
result	numeric

Comments

Returns the statistical standard deviation of all the input values.

Examples

The following calculation assumes it is run in the context of a hypothetical purchase order record that has multiple items, each with a numeric 'weight' field. It returns the standard deviation of the weight values.

stdev([Items].[Weight])

max

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:15 pm AEDT

Returns the maximum value from a list of values.

Function

max(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	comparable value list
result	comparable value

Comments

The max function can be used with various data types, and behave as follows:

- Numeric
 - max returns the highest value.
- Date-only, Time-Only, Date-Time
 - max returns the latest value.
- Strings
 - max returns the last value, when values are in alphabetical order
- Choice field values
 - **max** returns the choice value that is considered most maximum, which is to say the choice value that appears latest on the list of values in the Choice Field Properties page.

Note: it is also possible to show the maximum value of a column in a report without writing a calculation by using column totals or by summarising a report relationship.

Examples

The following calculation assumes it is run in the context of a hypothetical purchase order record that has multiple items, each with a numeric 'weight' field. It returns the numeric weight value of the heaviest item.

max([Items].[Weight])

The following calculation assumes it is run in the context of a person. It returns the priority level of the highest inprogess task related to that user. For example, if the person has low, medium and high priority tasks in progress, the result will be 'High' max([Assigned Tasks].[Priority] where [Status]='In Progress')

min

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:15 pm AEDT

Returns the minimum value from a list of values.

Function

min(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	comparable value list
result	comparable value

Comments

The **min** function can be used with various data types, and behave as follows:

- Numeric
 - min returns the lowest value. That is, the number closest to negative infinity.
- Date-only, Time-Only, Date-Time
 - **min** returns the earliest value.
- Strings
 - o min returns the first value, when values are in alphabetical order
- Choice field values
 - **min** returns the choice value that is considered most minimum, which is to say the choice value that appears earliest on the list of values in the Choice Field Properties page.

Note: it is also possible to show the minimum value of a column in a report without writing a calculation by using column totals or by summarising a report relationship.

Examples

The following calculation assumes it is run in the context of a hypothetical purchase order record that has multiple items, each with a numeric 'weight' field. It returns the numeric weight value of the lightest item.

min([Items].[Weight])

The following calculation assumes it is run in the context of a person. It returns the priority level of the lowest inprogess task related to that user. For example, if the person has low, medium and high priority tasks in progress, the result will be 'Low' min([Assigned Tasks].[Priority] where [Status]='In Progress')

join

Last Modified on 09/03/2020 1:01 pm AEDT

Joins a list of strings together.

Function

join(input, [separator])

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	string list
separator	string
result	string

Comments

Joins a list of strings together using the *separator*. The default separator is a comma.

Consider using the text template functions for more complicated text generation.

The **join** function is not available in report calculations.

Examples

join([Business Email])

join([Business Email], '; ')

dateadd

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 12:56 pm AEST

Adds or subtracts a certain duration of time to an existing date or time value.

Function

result = dateadd(period, count, input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
period	datepart
count	integer
input	date or time or datetime
result	date or time or datetime

Comments

Adds count of period to input. To subtract use a negative value for count.

datepart can be one of the following, specified as the word without quotes: year, quarter, month, week, day, hour, minute, second

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

result = dateadd(year, 1, getdate()) /* 1 year from today */

datediff

Last Modified on 13/12/2021 12:49 pm AEDT

Returns the duration of time between two date or time values.

Function

result = datediff(period, first, second)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
period	datepart
first	date or time or datetime
second	date or time or datetime
result	integer

Comments

Counts the number of *period* intervals from *first* to *second*. Returns a positive number if the *second* value is chronologically after the *first* value, and a negative value if it is before.

This function operates in the local time-zone if datetime inputs are provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Take care when calculating time differences that span across a daylight saving adjustment. The dated iff result is calculated based on the actual time that has elapsed, therefore a day is not necessarily equal to 24 hours.

Examples

result = datediff(year, #2000-12-31#, getdate()) /* result is 19 if the current year is 2019 */

result = datediff(day, #2019-06-20#, #2019-07-10#) /* result is 20 */

result = datediff(day, #2019-07-10#, #2019-06-20#) /* result is -20 */

datefromparts

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 12:58 pm AEST

Returns a date-only value with given numerical year, month and day values.

Function

result = datefromparts(year, month, day)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
year	integer
month	integer
day	integer
result	date

Comments

Converts individual numbers into a date result.

This function operates without regard to the local time zone. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = datefromparts(2019,1,10) /* result is the date 10 January 2019 */
```

datename

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:00 pm AEST

Returns the text name for part of a date, such as the name of a month or the weekday name.

Function

result = datename(part, input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
part	datepart
input	date or time or datetime
result	string

Comments

datepart is one of the following words without quotes: year, quarter, month, week, day of month, hour, minute, second

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = datename(month, getdate()) /* result = 'May' if the current month is May */
```

```
result = datename(weekday, #2019-07-06#) /* result = 'Friday' */
```

datetimefromparts

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 12:58 pm AEST

Returns a date-time value with given numerical year, month, day, hour, minute, second values.

Function

result = datetimefromparts(year, month, day, hour, minute, second)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
year	integer
month	integer
day	integer
hour	integer
minute	integer
second	integer
result	datetime

Comments

Converts individual numbers into a date result.

The values provided to this function are interpreted according to the local time-zone. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

result = datetimefromparts(2019,1,10,2,55,31) /* result is 02:55:31 on 10 January 2019 */

day Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:00 pm AEST

Returns the day-of-month part of a date or date-time value.

Function

result = day(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	date (datetime will be implicitly cast to date)
result	integer

Comments

Returns the day of a date as a number from 1 to 31.

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = day(#1988-11-25#) /* result = 25 */
```

```
result = day(getdate())
```

dayofyear

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:08 pm AEST

Returns the day of the year as a number for a given date or date-time.

Function

result = dayofyear(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	date (datetime will be implicitly cast to date)
result	integer

Comments

Returns the day of the year as a number from 1 to 366.

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = dayofyear(#2019-05-30#) /* result = 150 */
```

```
result = dayofyear(getdate())
```

getdate

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:08 pm AEST

Returns the current date for the current user as a date-only value.

Function

result = getdate()

Arguments

result date

Comments

The current date in the local time zone. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

result = getdate()

getdatetime

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:07 pm AEST

Returns the current date and time as a date-time value.

Function

result = getdatetime()

Arguments

Argument	Data	Туре
----------	------	------

result datetime

Comments

The current date time determined in UTC, but presented in local time zone.

See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

result = getdatetime()

gettime Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:07 pm AEST

Returns the current time for the current user as a time-only value.

Function

result = gettime()

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
----------	-----------

result time

Comments

The current time in the local time zone. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

result = gettime()

hour

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:01 pm AEST

Returns the hour of a time or date-time value as a number.

Function

result = hour(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	time (datetime will be implicitly cast to time)
result	integer

Comments

Returns the hour of a time as a number from 0 to 23.

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = hour(#16:43#) /* result = 16 */
```

result = hour(getdate())

minute

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:01 pm AEST

Returns the minute of a time or date-time value as a number.

Function

result = minute(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	time (datetime will be implicitly cast to time)
result	integer

Comments

Returns the minute of a time as a number from 0 to 59.

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = minute(#16:43#) /* result = 43 */
```

```
result = minute(getdate())
```

month

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:04 pm AEST

Returns the month of a date or date-time value as a number.

Function

result = month(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	date (datetime will be implicitly cast to date)
result	integer

Comments

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = month(#1988-11-25#) /* result = 11 */
```

result = month(getdate())

quarter

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:04 pm AEST

Returns the calendar quarter of a date or date-time value as a number.

Function

result = quarter(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	date (datetime will be implicitly cast to date)
result	integer

Comments

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = quarter(#1988-11-25#) /* result = 4 */
```

result = quarter(getdate())

second

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:01 pm AEST

Returns the seconds of a time or date-time value as a number.

Function

result = second(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	time (datetime will be implicitly cast to time)
result	integer

Comments

Returns the second of a time as a number from 0 to 59.

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = second(#16:43:59#) /* result = 59 */
```

```
result = second(getdate())
```
timefromparts

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:05 pm AEST

Returns a time-only value with given numerical hour, minute and seconds values.

Function

result = timefromparts(hour, minute, second)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
hour	integer
minute	integer
second	integer
result	time

Comments

Converts individual numbers into a time result.

This function operates without regard to the local time zone. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

```
result = timefromparts(22, 15, 32) /* result is the time 10:15:32 PM */
```

week

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:02 pm AEST

Returns the week of the year as a number.

Function

result = week(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	date (datetime will be implicitly cast to date)
result	integer

Comments

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = week(#2019-05-30#) /* result = 22 */
```

result = week(getdate())

weekday

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:04 pm AEST

Returns the day of the week as a number, where Sunday is the first day of the week and returns 1.

Function

result = weekday(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	date (datetime will be implicitly cast to date)
result	integer

Comments

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = weekday(#2019-04-21#) /* result = 1 (Sunday) */
```

result = weekday(#2019-04-27#) /* result = 7 (Saturday) */

```
result = weekday(getdate())
```

year

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:05 pm AEST

Returns the year of a date or date-time value as a number.

Function

result = year(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	date (datetime will be implicitly cast to date)
result	integer

Comments

This function operates in the local time-zone if a datetime input is provided. See Dates, Times and Time Zones.

Examples

```
result = year(#1988-11-25#) /* result = 1988 */
```

result = year(getdate())

concat

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:10 pm AEST

Returns a list result that combines two other lists or values.

Function

result = concat(first, second)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
first	any or list
second	any or list
result	list

Comments

Returns a single list of items that contains the records of the *first* input followed by the records of the *second* input. Either input may be a list or a single value.

- result = concat([Manager], [Direct Reports])
- result = concat([External Contacts], [Employees])
- result = concat([CEO], [CTO])

distinct

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:10 pm AEST

Removes duplicates from a list of values.

Function

result = distinct(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	list
result	list

Comments

Returns a list of unique values; the result will be the input with all duplicates removed.

Examples

result = distinct([Post Code])

first

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:11 pm AEST

Returns the first (or several first) items in a list.

Function

result = first([count], input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
count	integer
input	list
result	list or single value of the input list's item type

Comments

The default value for *count* is 1. Returns the first *count* records of the *input* list as a list of values if *count* is greater than 1; if *count* is equal to 1 then the return type is a single value of the same type as the *input* list's values.

This function is usually used with ordering to return a meaningful output. An example of this is shown below.

```
result = first([Direct Reports])
result = first(2, [Direct Reports])
result = first([Direct Reports] order by [Name])
```

last

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:12 pm AEST

Returns the last (or several last) items in a list.

Function

result = last([count], input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
count	integer
input	list
result	list or single value of the input list's item type

Comments

The default value for *count* is 1. Returns the last *count* records of the *input* list as a list of values if *count* is greater than 1; if *count* is equal to 1 then the return type is a single value of the same type as the *input* list's values.

This function is usually used with ordering to return a meaningful output. An example of this is shown below.

```
result = last([Direct Reports])
result = last(2, [Direct Reports])
result = last([Direct Reports] order by [Name])
```

reverse

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:12 pm AEST

Returns a list result in the reverse order.

Function

result = reverse(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	list
result	list

Comments

Reverses the order of a list.

This function is usually used with ordering to return a meaningful output. An example of this is shown below.

Examples

result = reverse([Direct Reports] order by [Name])

skip Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:14 pm AEST

Returns a provided list, but with the first, or several first, items omitted.

Function

result = skip(count, input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
count	integer
input	list
result	list

Comments

Returns the *input* list starting with the item at position *count* + 1; the number of items in the *result* list and the *input* list will differ by *count*.

This function is usually used with ordering to return a meaningful output. An example of this is shown below.

```
result = skip(2, [Direct Reports])
result = skip(2, [Direct Reports] order by [Name])
```

abs

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:24 pm AEST

Returns the absolute (non-negative) value of a number.

Function

result = abs(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric
result	numeric

Comments

Absolute value function that converts negative numbers to positive.

Examples

result = abs(-35) /* result = 35 */

ceiling

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:25 pm AEST

Rounds a number up to the next integer.

Function

result = ceiling(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric
result	int

Comments

Rounds up to the next integer. Positive numbers are rounded up. Negative numbers are rounded towards zero.

Examples

result = ceiling(100.75)
/* result = 101 */

exp Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:27 pm AEST

Calculates the result of raising the natural base 'e' to the exponent specified.

Function

result = exp(exponent)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
exponent	numeric
result	decimal

Comments

Raises the constant 'e' to the exponent specified. That is, the inverse of the natural logarithm.

Examples

result = exp(2) /* result = 7.3890... */

floor

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:25 pm AEST

Rounds a number down to the next integer.

Function

result = floor(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric
result	int

Comments

Positive numbers are rounded down. Negative numbers are rounded away from zero.

Examples

result = floor(100.75) /* result = 100 */ log Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:27 pm AEST

Calculates the logarithm of a positive number.

Function

result = log(input, [base])

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric
base	numeric (optional)
result	decimal

Comments

Perform a natural logarithm (base 'e') if the base is not specified. Zero and negative inputs evaluate to null.

```
result = log(1000) /* result = 6/9077.... */
result = log(1000,10) /* result = 3 */
```

log10 Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:28 pm AEST

Calculates the base-10 logarithm of a number.

Function

result = log10(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric
result	decimal

Comments

Base 10 logarithm. Zero and negative inputs evaluate to null.

Examples

result = log10(1000) /* result = 3 */

power

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:28 pm AEST

Calculates the result of raising one number to the power of another number.

Function

result = power(input, exponent)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	any
result	anv

Comments

Raises the input value to the specified exponent.

Examples

result = power(2,3) /* result = 8 */

round

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:35 pm AEST

Rounds a decimal value to the specified number of decimal places.

Function

result = round(value, precision)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
value	numeric
precision	numeric
result	decimal

Comments

If a number is halfway between two rounding values then the result rounds away from zero. For example, if -3.65 is rounded to one decimal place then the result will be -3.7.

Examples

result = round(18.3333333, 2) /* result = 18.33 */

Sign Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:35 pm AEST

Returns 1, 0 or -1 for positive, zero and negative respectively.

Function

result = sign(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric
result	decimal

```
result = sign(-16) /* result = -1 */
result = sign(5) /* result = 1 */
```

square

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:36 pm AEST

Calculates the square of a number.

Function

result = square(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric
result	numeric

Comments

Squares the number, that is multiplies it by itself.

Examples

result = square(8) /* result = 64 */

sqrt

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:37 pm AEST

Calculates the square root of a number.

Function

result = sqrt(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	numeric
result	decimal

Comments

If the input number is negative then the result will be null.

Examples

result = sqrt(64) /* result = 8 */

rand

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:39 pm AEST

Generates a random number.

Function

There are two distinct calls which output different data types.

n = rand(lower, upper)	
x = rand()	

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
lower	integer
upper	integer
n	integer
x	decimal

Comments

If two integers inputs are provided, then rand generates a random integer from lower to upper inclusive.

If no inputs are provided, then rand generates a random decimal between zero and one.

The rand function is not available for use in reports.

- result = rand(1, 100) // example result = 74
- result = rand() // example result = 0.988

charindex

Last Modified on 08/05/2019 9:54 am AEST

Function

result = charindex(needle, haystack, [start])

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
needle	string
haystack	string
start	integer
result	integer

Comments

This function searches for the *needle* string, in the *haystack* string, and returns the starting position if found or zero if not found. If the *start* parameter is less than 1 then the search starts from the beginning of the *haystack* string. *haystack* is limited to 8000 characters.

Examples

result = charindex('boson', 'Higgs boson experiment') /* result = 7 */
result = charindex('boson', 'Milgram experiment') /* result = 0 */

len

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:15 pm AEST

Returns the number of characters in the input string.

Function

result = len(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	string
result	integer

Comments

If the string is a rich-text string then this will be inclusive of HTML formatting characters.

Examples

result = len('Brave New World') /* result = 15 */

left

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:16 pm AEST

Returns the specified number of characters from the start of a text value.

Function

result = left(text, count)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
text	string
count	integer
result	string

Examples

result = left('Falcon Heavy', 6) /* result = 'Falcon' */

newguid

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:41 pm AEST

Generates a new globally unique identifier (GUID).

Function

result = newguid()

Arguments

Argument D	Data Type
------------	-----------

result string

Comments

Generates a new globally unique identifier as a string, without braces.

The **newguid** function is not available for use in reports.

Examples

result = newguid()

replace

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:19 pm AEST

Performs a search and replace over some text and returns the result.

Function

result = replace(text, find, replace)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
text	string
find	string
replace	string
result	string

Comments

Finds *find* within *text* and replaces it with *replace*. Note: this does not modify the underlying field - it only returns the resulting text.

Examples

result = replace('Old world', 'Old', 'New') /* result = 'New world' */

right Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:17 pm AEST

Returns to specified number of characters from the end of a text value.

Function

result = right(text, count)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
text	string
count	integer
result	string

Examples

result = right('Falcon Heavy', 5) /* result = 'Heavy' */

substring

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:20 pm AEST

Returns a sub portion of a text value.

Function

result = substring(text, start, count)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
text	string
start	integer
count	integer
result	string

Comments

Clips a string, beginning at the start position and selecting count characters. The first character of the text is position 1, and if the specified start parameter is less that 1 then the result will begin with the first character of the specified text parameter. Count must be positive, and if it is greater than the number that can be returned with the given text parameter, then the function will return the input text from the start character onward.

```
result = substring('Higgs boson experiment', 7, 5) /* result = 'boson' */
```

tolower

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:23 pm AEST

Converts the input text to lowercase.

Function

result = tolower(input)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	string
result	integer

Comments

Text values should not be converted to upper or lower case for the sole purpose of comparing values in a caseinsensitive manner as this can reduce performance and text comparisons are automatically case insensitive.

Examples

result = tolower('Falcon Heavy') /* result = 'falcon heavy' */

toupper

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:23 pm AEST

Converts the input text to uppercase.

Function

result = toupper(condition)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
input	any
result	any

Comments

Text values should not be converted to upper or lower case for the sole purpose of comparing values in a caseinsensitive manner as this can reduce performance and text comparisons are automatically case insensitive.

Examples

result = toupper('Falcon Heavy') /* 'FALCON HEAVY' */

case

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:42 pm AEST

Returns one of several results based on some condition.

Keyword

case value
when option1 then result1
when option2 then result2
 else default end

case
when condition1 then result1
when condition2 then result2
else default
end

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
value	any
option	any single-value
condition	bool (true/false)
result	any
default	any

Comments

The case keywords provides a convenient way to test for multiple conditions. It can be used in one of two ways:

- 1. An initial *value* calculation is provided immediately after the case keyword, and that calculation result is then matched to one of several possible options.
- 2. Or, no initial calculation is provided, but several true/false conditions are provided.

If multiple options match the value, or if multiple conditions result in true, then the first match determines the result value.

If a value search calculation is provided, then it may be a single-value or list calculation, resulting in a single bool (true/false) or list of bools respectively.

It is common that the options and results are simply hard-coded string values, however any single-value calculation

can be used for option, result, and default.

Default 'else' result

Optionally, an **else** keyword can be used to indicate the default result that should be returned if none of the other options were matched. If no no **else** keyword is provided, and none of the options are matched, then the result will be **null**.

Case-insensitive

String comparisons are case insentive for the case keyword, and for the ReadiNow platform in general.

Output data type

If the output data types do not match then a common data type that matches all the possible results will be used; for example, this will be a string if one of the results are a string data type.

It is recommended that calculations are written such that all outputs are of the same type.

Nulls

Consistent with the way that nulls are treated in calculations (where a null value represents the idea that the value is unknown or unknowable):

- 1. If an initial value is provided, and it is null, then none of the options will match, even if they also evaluate to null.
- 2. If a list of conditions is used, and either side of the condition is null, then the condition will be false.

In either case, the default result will be returned.

Examples

```
case
  when [Input].[Country] = 'Australia' then 'citizen'
  when [Input].[City] = 'Sydney' then 'local'
  when [Input] is null then 'unspecified'
  else 'foreign'
end
```

```
case [Input].[Country]
when 'Australia' then 'citizen'
when 'New Zealand' then 'resident'
else 'foreign'
end
```

case [Var] when 'Australia' then 'citizen' when 'Singapore' then 457 end case [All Tasks].[Priority] when 'High' then 5 when 'Low' then 1 end

/* tax bracket calculator - illustrative only */
case
 when [Gross Income] <= 18200 then 0
 when [Gross Income] <= 37000 then 0.19 * ([Gross Income] - 18200)
 when [Gross Income] <= 90000 then 3572 + 0.325 * ([Gross Income] - 37000)
 when [Gross Income] <= 180000 then 20797 + 0.37 * ([Gross Income] - 90000)
 when [Gross Income] >= 180000 then 54097 + 0.45 * ([Gross Income] - 180000)
end

in

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:43 pm AEST

Returns true if some calculated value is equal to one of several options.

Keyword

search **in** (options)

search not in (options)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
search	any
input	comma-separated list of single-value calculations
result	bool (true/false)

Comments

The in keyword tests to see if the search calculation matches any of several possible options. It returns true if a match is found, and false if no match is found. The *search* and *input* will be converted to a common data type if possible.

The search input may be a list or single-value, and the result will be a bool (true/false) or list of bools respectively. The individual items specified in the list are typically constant values. They may also be calculations, but each must individually only return a single-value result.

Not in

The **not** keyword may be placed directly before the **in** keyword. This causes the opposite result to be returned, except if a null is provided (in which case false is still returned).

Case-insensitive

String comparisons are case insentive for the in keyword, and for the ReadiNow platform in general.

Nulls

Consistent with the way that nulls are treated in calculations (where a null value represents the idea that the value is unknown or unknowable):

- 1. If the search value is null, then an in calculation will return false.
- 2. If the search value is null, then a **not in** calculation will also return false.

Examples

[Project].[Project Tasks] in ('Documentation', 'Unit tests')

'A+' in (85, '79%', 'B+') /* all values are converted to the string data type to be a common type */

'readinow' in ('ReadiNow') /* returns true - string comparisons are case insensitive */

1 in (1, 2, 3)	/* returns true */
4 in (1, 2, 3)	/* returns false */
null in (1, 2, 3)	/* returns false */
null in (1, null)	/* returns false, but may be reviewed in a future release */

1 not in (1, 2, 3)	/* returns false */
4 not in (1, 2, 3)	/* returns true */
null not in (1, 2, 3)	/* returns false */
null not in (1, null)	/* returns false */

x in (

'Options can be', 'spread over', 'multiple lines')

```
x in (
'Options' + 'can' + 'be',
[based on] + 'calculations'
)
```
let select

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:44 pm AEST

Assigns a sub-calculation to a variable that can then be used later in the calculation.

Keywords

let variable = calculation select result

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
variable	a label in the calculation
calculation	any
result	any

Comments

The **let** and **select** keywords can be used together to allow calculations to be simplified and organised into smaller sub-calculations.

The **let** keyword is used to associate some calculation to a with a variable name. That variable name can then be used within the *result* calculation that follows the **select** keyword.

```
let dueDate = [Assessment].[Due date]
select 'The assessment is due ' + dueDate
```

Multiple variables

The **let** keyword may be used multiple times to define multiple variables. A list of**let** keywords is concluded with a single **select** keyword. The calculation for each variable may make reference to other variables that were defined before it (but not after). In the following example, the reminderDate calculation may refer to the dueDate variable, and the overall result calculation can refer to both variables.

let dueDate = [Assessment].[Due date] let reminderDate = dateadd(day, -7, dueDate) select 'The assessment is due ' + dueDate + ' and a reminder will be sent ' + reminderDate

Variable scope

Typically variables are listed at the top of a calculation, but they may also be declared and used within subcalculations. Doing so can some times be advantageous when organising a more complicated calculation that contains aggregation calculations. A variable name is *scoped* such that it may only used within the **select** calculation that it corresponds to, and within other **let** calculations that follow it that also belong to the same select keyword.

In general, the calculation: (let x = value select result), may be used with or without brackets in most places that any

other calculation can be used. In the following example, variables are defined within the sum function to simplify the calculation of individual items.

```
sum(
    let x = [Order Items]
    let discount = iif(x.[Item quantity] >= 10, 20.0, 0)
    select x.[Item cost] * x.[Item quantity] - discount
)
```

Variable names

Variables names behave similar to field and relationship names. They:

- May be specified with or without square brackets.
- If there are no square brackets, then they may only consist of letters, numbers, and underscore (and further may not start with a number).
- If square brackets are used, then any name may be used so long as it does not itself consist of square brackets.

Variable names are case-insensitive. By convention, variable names are usually specified without square brackets, and tend to join multiple words together. The following are all legal variable names:

- X
- costOfShipping
- [Cost of shipping]

Variables that hold lists

ReadiNow calculation variables do not hold values as such. Rather, they are associated with sub-calculations. The distinction is subtle, but it can be helpful in understanding how variables will behave in certain circumstances.

For example, variables that return list results generally cannot be used within summarise functions such as **count** and **sum**. The reason for this is that summarise calculations often need to filter some list of records according to some external criteria that needs to be fixed to some constant value while the summarization is being performed. In the following calculation, the x variable is associated with a simple calculation for determining a maximum allowable transaction size. The **select** result then visits all related transactions, testing the amount of each transaction to the fixed value of x. Correspondingly, this calculation could not make meaninful sense if x were to hold a list of numbers instead.

```
let x = [Department].[Maximum allowable transaction]
select
count( [Transactions] where [Amount] > x )
```

Precedence

Care should be taken to avoid variable names that coincide with field and relationship names. However, if a variable name ends up being the same as a field name, relationship name, or an externally provided workflow variable, then the **let** keywords variable will be selected with the highest priority over the others to minimise the chance of a calculation becoming broken due to unrelated changes such as new fields being added to an object.

Examples

let fullName = [First name] + ' ' + [Last name]
select
'Dear ' + fullName + ', we have received your reservation under the name: ' + fullName

order by

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:45 pm AEST

The order by keyword sorts a list of records by one or more fields, or calculations.

Keyword

<i>list</i> order by value		
<i>list</i> order by value desc		

list order by value1 asc, value2 desc

Arguments

Argument	Data Type	Remarks
list	record list	
value	Any of single-value: • string • number/decimal/currency • date/time/date-time • choice-field	Typically simply a field name.
result	record list	

Comments

A list calculation (such as requesting all records of a particular type, or following a to-many relationship) is provided to the left of the **order by** keywords. A sorting calculation, typically a field name, is then provided to the right. The sorting calculation must be a single-value calculation, not a list calculation.

For example, you can sort a list of Person records by their names, but not by their related tasks, because a person may have multiple tasks, so that would be considered as a list calculation.

Direction of sort

The **asc** or **desc** keywords may be added directly after the sorting calculation to indicate that the sorting should occur in ascending or descending order. The default is ascending, so the asc keyword is redundant, but can aid readability.

A choice field may also be provided as a sort calculation

Sorting on multiple fields

More than one sorting calculation may be provided, separated by commas. If two records have the same value for

the first sorting calculation, then sorting defers to the second calculations, and so on. For example, this can be used to sort Person records by Last Name and then First Name. If two or more people have the same Last name, then they will be then sorted by first name.

Using 'order by' within a function

If you need to sort a some list of records by multiple fields, and then provide the sorted list as an input to some other function, then it is necessary to enclose the whole list, including the ordering, within a separate brackets. This is necessary to prevent the commas of the sorting from becoming mixed up with the commas of the function.

For example, the following calculation will load Person records, sort them by last name, falling back to first name, and then return the first ten records. Note the second and second-last bracket that is required to avoid ambiguity caused by the comma.

first(10, (all(Person) order by [Last Name], [First Name]))

Context

The right-hand sorting calculations are evaluated with respect to the records returned by the left-hand side. For example, if you refer to the [Name] field on the right-hand side, then it refers to the name field of the record list being sorted, not the name field of some other parent record that may be applicable to the calculation as a whole.

Availability

The **order by** keyword is not available in reports. Calculated fields that make use of **order by** are similarly not available in reports.

Examples

[Incidents] order by [Reported Date]

all([Person]) order by [Last Name], [First Name]

all([Person]) order by len([Email address]) desc

where

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 1:45 pm AEST

The where keyword filters a record list by applying a yes/no condition.

Keyword

list where condition

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
list	record list
condition	single-value bool (true/false)
result	record list

Comments

A list calculation (such as requesting all records of a particular type, or following a to-many relationship) is provided to the left of the **where** keyword. A filtering calculation, typically some sort of comparison, is then provided to the right.

The filtering calculation must be a single-value calculation, not a list calculation. For example, you can filter a list of Person records by testing whether their name is equal to some value, but not (directly) by testing whether they have a task that is named some value, because a person could have multiple tasks, which would therefore result in multiple true/false results for each person. Note, however, that the any and every functions can combine multiple yes/no results back into a single result.

Use of true/false fields

The **where** keyword is typically used with a comparison such as [Field] = 'value'. However, any calculation that returns a true/false function can be provided to the right-hand side of a the **where** keyword, including the name of a bool true/false field. For example:

all([Task]) where [Is completed]

Context

The right-hand sorting calculations are evaluated with respect to the records returned by the left-hand side. For example, if you refer to the [Name] field on the right-hand side, then it refers to the name field of the record list being filtered, not the name field of some other parent record that may be applicable to the calculation as a whole.

If it is necessary to refer to the parent record, then first assign the context to a variable and then refer to the variable within the **where** condition. For example:

let parentRecordDueDate = [Project due date]
select
count([Tasks] where [Estimated task completion] > parentRecordDueDate)

Examples

[Incidents] where State='NSW'

all([Person]) where any(not [Assigned Tasks].[Is complete])

Comments

Last Modified on 06/04/2020 11:11 am AEST

Comments allow you to keep notes within a calculation.

Overview

Use comments for notes such as:

- how your calculation works, for convenience later
- relevant business logic
- other information or caveats that you may need to remember the next time you revisit a calculation.

Comment notation can be used to indicate that all text between two markers is a comment, or to indicate that the remainder of the current line is a comment. The ReadiNow calculation engine skips over comments when processing.

How to add comments

Block comments

```
Text between /* and */ pairs will be treated as block style comments.
```

```
/*
This is a mult-line
block comment.
*/
```

Single-line comments

Using two hyphens (--) will treat the text following the hypens, till the end of the line, as in-line comments.

[First name] + ' ' + [Last name] -- this is single line comment, at the end of a line

Markup Keywords

Last Modified on 27/02/2020 3:22 pm AEDT

Markup keywords may be placed after elements of code to change how it behaves.

Operation	Use After	Example	Comments
!unsecured	Relationship	[Person has User Account]!unsecured.[Name]	This allows the related records (and their fields) to be accessed even when the user does not have access. See important notes below.
!recursive	Relationship	[Direct reports]!recursive	The relationship will return immediately related values, and recursively related values.
!self	Relationship	[Direct reports]!recursive!self	Must be used after the 'recursive' markup. Causes the initial record to also be returned. This is a common requirement when evaluating recursive functions.

Additional notes for the Unsecured keyword

Use of the unsecured keyword disables access control checks for certain records. This may be done, for example, when:

- an administrator wishes to make aggregates, such as count or sum, available to users who cannot see individual records
- or in cases where the administrator wishes to improve performance by disabling access control checks where the administrator knows (with regard to the purpose and sensitivity of the data) that other aspects of the calculation ensure that only appropriate data is disclosed.

Administrators MUST take care to ensure use of the !unsecured does not result in unintended disclosure of information.

The !unsecured keyword may be used in reports, however non-administrative self-serve users and content administrators may also author report calculations. Therefore the following additional rules apply:

- The report must be saved (last modified) by a security administrator for the !unsecured keyword to work.
- If a content administrator, who is not a security administrator, subsequently modifies the report then !unsecured will no longer be honored in that report.
- However, if the user who saved the report ceases to be a security administrator, or if their account is deactivated, then the report and !unsecured calculation will still run to work as intended for other users.

Text Templates

Last Modified on 06/02/2020 4:59 pm AEDT

Overview

Text templates provide a convenient and safe way to generate **rich-text (HTML)** and **plain-text** within a calculation by using document generation macros.

Consider a calculation that adds strings together to form a rich-text email message, such as:

```
\label{eq:point} $$ '' + 'Dear ' + p.[First Name] + ' + p.[Last Name] + ',' + '' + '' + 'You currently have ' + count(p.[Assigned Tasks]) + ' assigned tasks.' + '' + '' + 'Please review your tasks' + ''
```

(Assuming that a variable 'p' is present in the Workflow that is assigned to a person.)

This calculation can be rewritten using text templates as follows:

```
html(|

Dear {p.[First Name]} {p.[Last Name]},

You current have { count(p.[Assigned Tasks]) } assigned tasks.

<b>Please review your tasks.</b>
```

Plain Text Templates

Plain text templates can be used to generate text by using the **text(|content|)** function. Note that the content within the text function must be contained within two '|' pipe characters.

Free form text, including new lines and (most) special characters, can be used between the pipe characters. Individual calculations and document generation macros can then be placed in the content by using a pair of {} braces.

For example, the result of:

text(|The question is 1 + 2 + 3|)

will literally be 'The question is 1 + 2 + 3', not 'The question is 6'.

Wheras, the result of:

```
text(|The answer is \{1 + 2 + 3\} |)
```

will be: 'The answer is 6'.

Important - do not use the text function for generating rich text HTML as this may cause your calculation to

introduce a security vulnerability into your app. Use the html() function instead.

Note that the results of a text template can themselves be used in a calculation, such as the following, which will calculate the length of the generated message.

len(text(|The weather is [Weather]|))

Rich Text (HTML formatted) Templates

Rich text HTML templates can be used to generate rich text content by using thehtml(|content|) functions.

HTML tags, plain text, and macros can be placed within the HTML template content area, such as:

html(|A message formatted with bold text: {[Important Message]}|)

The html() and text() functions are similar in use, but the html function has the following important differences:

- 1. Macro Encoding to ensure that content is correctly and securely displayed
- 2. Sanitization to protect against potentially malicious generated HTML
- 3. HTML Result type so that other ReadiNow calculation and platform features know to treat the content as HTML

Refer to the HTML Security Considerations section for more details.

Availability

Plain text and rich text template are available for use in workflows, calculated fields on forms, and most places that calculations are supported.

They are not, however, available for use in report calculations (either directly or via calculated fields on a report).

Using Document Generation Macros

Most document generation macros can also be used within the **text()** and **html()** functions, except the MERGEFIELD keyword is not required. (This keyword is only required in Word document templates).

Conditionally Including Content

For example, the following plain-text template can be used to include some text only if a certain condition is met:

```
text(|
Welcome [First Name],
{ if count(all([Person]))=100 }
You are the 100th person!
{ end }
This part of the message is always shown.
|)
```

The **if** keyword will conditionally include/exclude a section of the template - up to the corresponding **end** keyword - based on whether the condition is true or false respectively. Take note of the difference between the document

generation **if** keyword (one 'f' and no brackets) and the standard **iif**(*condition*, *result-if-true*, *result-if-false*) calculation function.

Repeated Content

The following example assumes that a person variable called 'p' has been passed. It uses a HTML template to generate a bullet-point list of tasks:

```
html(|

    { with p.[Assigned Tasks] order by [Name] } {[Name]}
    { end }
```

The and HTML tags indicate the start and end of a bullet point list.

The {with p.[Assigned Tasks] } macro is a template macro that visits each task record related to the person record. The content between a macro (such as this one) that returns a list of records - and its corresponding {end} macro is then repeated - once for each task.

In this case, the repeated content is <**li**>{[**Name**]}</**li**>, where <**li**> and </**li**> are the HTML tags to start and end each individual bullet point. The repeated content section gets repeated once for every record that was returned by the list calculation - that is once for every task in this example. On each repeat, the current task record become the context record for any further macros within. So the {[**Name**]} macro will show the name of the current task.

A simple list with separators

A common requirement is a comma-separated list of names. Or a list with a HTML line break between each item. These can be achieved respectively by using the {sep} keyword:

text(|All tasks: {with p.[Assigned Tasks}{[Name]}{sep}, {end}|)

html(|All tasks: {with p.[Assigned Tasks}{[Name]}{sep}
{end}|)

In each case, the content between the **{p.[Assigned Tasks**} list calculation and the **{sep}** keyword is the content that gets repeated, and the content between the **{sep}** keyword and the **{end}** keyword gets used as a separator between each item of content. Note that **
** is a HTML tag that inserts a line-break.

HTML tables

A HTML table can be generated by repeating the row tags of a table. For example:

```
html(|

Task Name
Task Name

<tp>Due Date

<tp>{p.[Assigned Tasks]}

{[Name]}

<</td>

<</td>

<</td>

<</td>

<
```

HTML Security Considerations

HTML Macro Encoding

When the html function is used, the *result* of any calculation macros that are used within the html function will automatically have any special characters encoded to HTML to ensure that they are correctly and securely represented. For example, characters such as apostrophes and angle brackets needs to be converted to HTML encodings such as ' and < in order for email programs and web browsers to treat them correctly.

For example, if a workflow had a variable called 'message', and the content of message was:

We've got a surprise for you! <limited time only>

Then the calculation:

html(|The message is: {message}|)

Will give a correct HTML response of:

The message is: We've got a surprise for you! <limited time only>

Which, in turn, will correctly be shown in an email program.

HTML Sanitization

The html function provides additional security protection by running a *sanitization check* over the generated richtext HTML.

The sanitization check ensures that the generated content does not contain any potentially malicious HTML instructions. For example, if a malicious user were to edit some record data to contain the HTML <script> tag with the hopes of running the script on the recipients computer (known as a *cross site scripting attack*), then the sanitization step would detect and remove the script tag.

The sanitization works as follows:

- a whitelist of known safe HTML (and SVG) tags and attributes is used.
- sanitization is applied on the overall result of the html function, not just to individual macros, to protect against malicious tags being splits across multiple macros.
- the sanitizer uses a 'parse and reconstruct' approach, which gives added protection, but does mean that the

output HTML may not be character-for-character identical to what is specified in the template.

Sanitization of HTML Headers: html() vs htmldoc()

Ordinarily the HTML sanitizer will also discard HTML header tags (such as <title> and <style>) as these are invalid in most contexts. However, if you are intending to perform whole-of-document generation, then a separate htmldoc(|content|) function is also available, which works identical in every respect except that it allows (and ensures) HTML header tags.

In general, prefer the html(|content|) function unless headers are shown to be needed.

Escape Sequences

In the unlikely scenario that you need to use the '|' pipe character within the content of a text() or html() template, this can be achieved by typing the pipe character twice. For example the calculation:

text(|Left of pipe || Right of pipe|)

Will give a result of:

Left of pipe | Right of pipe

Calculation Names and Identifiers

Last Modified on 06/04/2020 2:00 pm AEST

Names are used in a calculations to refer to various data values such as field names, variable names and so on.

Overview

Names, also called *identifiers*, are the text labels within a calculation that refer to different sources of information.

Names may refer to:

- Field names
- Relationship names
- Calculation Variable names
- Workflow Variable names
- Object names
- Record names

Representing names in calculations

Simple names may be used directly in calculations. More complex names that contain spaces or certain special characters need to be enclosed in square brackets.

For example, consider the calculation:

[Last Name] + ' ' + Status

In this example, **Status** is a simple name and may be used directly, whereas **Last Name** must be surrounded by square brackets because it contains a space. Note that square brackets may also be used around simple names, so [Status] is also valid.

More details about simple and complex are described later on this page.

Case Insensitive

Names are *not* case sensitivity, which is to say that you do not need to have correct or consistent upper and lower case capitalization.

However, it is recommended that you try to use capitalization consistently because it will make your calculation easier to read.

Relationship Names

Relationships between records can be following from either record to the other. However, typically the natural name of a relationship in one direction is different to the name of the relationship in the other.

For example, the relationship from an employee to their manager might be **Employee's manager**, or simply **Manager**. Conversely, the same relationship from the manager back to their team members would more

appropriately be Direct Reports.

ReadiNow calculations require that the correct name be used for the direction that is being followed.

See Relationships to learn more about relationship names.

Tip: When you create a new relationship, the default reverse name of the relationship is the name of the object that the relationship comes from. For example, if you create a relationship from the Incident object to the Employee object, the default reverse name is Incident. In many cases this is a suitable name - but it should be reviewed to make sure it does not cause later confusion.

Changing Name - Script Names

Fields and relationships have a setting (located in the field or relationship properties window within the form builder) called Script Name. The Script Name is the name that must be used in a calculation. Relationships have one Script Name for each direction.

When a field or relationship is first created, the Script Name is initially set to be the same as the name that is entered. However, if the name is later modified to something else then the script name does not automatically change. This allows fields and relationships to be renamed without risking problems for any existing calculations, workflows or APIs.

However, only the script name may be used in calculations.

If you wish to change the Script Name for a field or a relationship, then you may do so, however you will need to update the name in any calculations, workflows that are referring to it.

Non-Unique Names

Precedence for different types of names

If the same name could refer to a field name, variable name, or workflow variable name, then the following precedence rules are applied:

- 1. **Calculation Variable name** highest precedence, so that if a new field (conflicting) field is added to an object or workflow then existing calculations are not impacted. Calculation Variables only have meaning within the calculation so can be easily changed you wish to refer to something else.
- 2. Workflow Variable name next highest predecence, so that if a new field (conflicting) field is added to an object then existing workflows are not impacted. Workflows Variables meaning within the workflow so can be changed if you need to refer to a field or relationship, but need to be changed throughout the workflow.
- 3. Field or Relationship name lowest precedence.

Explicitly referring to a particular type of name

Consider a calculation, such as the following, that has a calculation variable called status, within a workflow that also has a variable called status, and the calculation is working with an object that also has a field called status

let status = 'x'
select all([Employee] where Status = 'Available')

In this example, the second usage of the name Status is ambiguous, but the precedent rules would mean that it would refer to the calculation variable defined on the line above. If we want to access the status choice field, then the most natural option is to change the variable name:

```
let somethingElse = 'x'
select all([Employee] where Status = 'Available')
```

However, another option is to use the context function to select the record, which then makes it clear that we intend to access the choice field:

```
let status = 'x'
select all([Employee] where context().Status = 'Available')
```

Or, if there is a workflow parameter called status, then we can prefix the name (and any square brackets) with the @ symbol to explicitly specify that a workflow variable is being referenced:

```
let status = 'x'
select all([Employee] where @Status = 'Available') -- explicitly refer to a workflow variable called 'Status'
```

Field and Relationship names must be unique

When referring to fields, relationships, objects and records, the name must be uniquely identify. If a name is used in a calculation that does not uniquely identify the item (in the context that the name is being used) then the calculation builder will show an saying that the name is not valid.

For example, if an object named ChildObject has a field named Status, but the object inherits another object, ParentObject, that also has a field named Status, then a calculation in a ChildObject report cannot refer to the status field because it is ambiguous.

However, if the report is basd on the ParentObject, then the calculation can refer to the status field because the fields of the child object are not available in that context (unless the calculation uses the convert function to treat the record as a ChildObject).

Name conflicts can be resolved by giving the two fields different Script Names. See below for details.

Simple and Complex Names in detail

Simple Names

A name is a simple name and can be used directly in a calculation if:

- it starts with a letter
- and it only contains letters and numbers i.e. with no spaces or other characters

If a name is the same as a calculation keyword, then - depending on the scenario - it may not be possible to use it as a simple name.

Complex Names

If a name contains spaces or special characters then it must be enclosed within square brackets within the calculation.

Once a square bracket is encountered, all characters are then treated as part of the name until a closing square bracket is found.

Examples:

[Name with spaces]

[This & that character.]

Escape Sequence

Most special characters are allowed within square brackets. Very rarely you may need to refer to a field name that actually contains a square bracket in the name itself. In this scenario, the square bracket must be represented (*escaped*) by typing the square bracket twice.

For example, to represent the name A [slightly] complicated name use:

[A [slightly]] complicated name]

Comparison Operators

Last Modified on 30/08/2022 12:17 pm AEST

Less than '<'

Returns True if:

- the first numerical value is less than the second
- the first text value alphabetically comes before the second
- the first date or time is before the second
- the first choice field value is ordered before the second

Less than or equal to '<='

Returns True if:

- the first numerical value is less than or equal to the second
- the first text value alphabetically comes before or is equal to the second
- the first choice field value is ordered before or is equal to the second

Greater than '>'

Returns true if:

- the first numerical value is greater than the second
- the first text value alphabetically comes after the second
- the first date or time is after the second
- the first choice field value is ordered after the second

Greater than or equal to '>='

Returns true if:

- the first numerical value is greater than or equal to the second
- the first text value alphabetically comes after or is equal to the second
- the first date or time is after or is equal to the second
- the first choice field value is ordered after or is equal to the second

Equal '='

Returns true is two values are equal, or if two record calculations refer to the same record.

[Department] = 'Sales'

Not equal '<>'

Returns true is two values or records are different to each other. For example:

[Price] <> 0

Like

Used to compare text to a pattern. The text (on the left of Like) can be a string literal (e.g. a fixed value) however it is more common to provide the string text via a string variable (i.e. text from a field such as [Name]). The Like operator returns True if the text value matches the pattern.

A percentage symbol can be used as a wildcard at the start of end of the pattern.

For example, the following calculation will return True if the Name starts with Peter:

[Name] Like 'Peter%'

Note that you can search for square brackets literally by escaping the opening square bracket, like this:

[SomeFieldText] Like '%[[]Person]%'

The above will match any string that literally contains the text "[Person]".

Not Like

Used with Like, the Not operator (Not Like) changes a True to a False. Not Like will return False if the text value matches the pattern. For example the following calculation will return False if the Name starts with Peter:

[Name] Not Like 'Peter%'

Is null

Checks if a relationship, record, or value is equal to null (not set).

[Quantity] Is null

In (membership)

Determines if the first value is equal to one of several options.

Logic Operators

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 2:12 pm AEST

Logical NOT

The not operator converts a true result to false, and a false result to true.

For example, the following will return true if x is not equal to 5.

not x = 5

The following calculation will return true if the boolean field 'Report submitted' has not been ticked:

not [Report Submitted]

NOT has the highest precedence of the three logical operators. For example, the following calculation will return true:

not false and true

Logical AND

The and operator returns true if both of its inputs are true.

Example:

```
[Department] = 'Marketing' and [Quantity] > 100
```

AND has the second highest precedence of the three logical operators, after negation. For example, the following calculation:

a and b or c and d

is equivalent to:

(a and b) or (c and d)

Logical OR

The or operator returns true if either or both of its inputs are true.

Example:

[Cost] > 1000 or [Description] like '%urgent%'

OR has the lowest precedence of the three logical operators. For example, the following calculation:

a or b and c or d $% \left({{{\mathbf{r}}_{\mathbf{r}}}_{\mathbf{r}}} \right)$

is equivalent to:

a or (b and c) or d

Mathematical Operators

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 2:16 pm AEST

Add

Adds two numbers.

Example:

[Invoice Total] + [Delivery Cost]

Subtract

Subtracts the second number from the first number.

Example:

[Invoice Total] - [Discount]

Multiply

Multiplies two numbers.

Example:

[Unit Price] * [GST Percentage]

Divide

Returns a decimal result of a numeric division.

Example:

[EBITDA] / 12

Modulo

Returns the remainder of an integer division.

Example:

10 % 7 /* result = 3 */

Negate

Reverses the sign of a number.

Example:

-[Discount]

String Operators

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 2:13 pm AEST

Concatenate

Joins multiple strings together.

For example:

[Title] + ' ' + [Last Name]

Data Type Limits and Field Limits

Last Modified on 19/06/2019 12:34 pm AEST

Data Type	Minimum	Maximum
Currency	-1 000 000 000.00	+1 000 000 000.00
Decimal	-1 000 000 000.000	+1 000 000 000.000
Number	-1 000 000 000	+1 000 000 000
Date	01/01/1753	31/12/9999
Text	Empty	300 characters
Multi-line Text	Empty	10 000 characters including formatting
Rich Text	Empty	10 000 characters including formatting
Field	Minimum	Maximum
Form Field Name	1 character	300 characters - 20 shown
Form Field Display Name	Empty	300 characters - 20 shown
Survey Question	Empty	300 characters
Survey Guidance Text	Empty	10 000 characters including formatting

Data types within calculations

Last Modified on 13/06/2019 12:32 pm AEST

Introduction to data types in calculations

Every calculation produces a result of a particular data type, such as a numeric result or a particular type of record, for example. Understanding how ReadiScript considers data types can be helpful in understanding how to create and trouble-shoot calculations.

Escape characters

Text data is delimited by a single quote, which means that this character will cause an error if it appears in a literal parameter. To use a quote in literal text it is necessary to employ the escape character before the quote character. The escape character is defined as a backslash.

```
result = len('Roger's new scooter') /* invalid calculation */
result = len('Roger\'s new scooter') /* valid calculation */
```

Result types are based on the calculation structure

ReadiScript determines the result data type of a calculation by considering the calculation itself, and without regard to the specific results that are calculated on a particular run. This approach is often referred to as *static typing*. For example: a calculation that returns all employees who have a status of "On Leave" will have a 'list of Employee record' data type - even if there is only one employee that is on leave.

Calculations are usually made up of smaller sub-calculations, often referred to as *expressions*. Each sub-calculation also has a result type. The result types of these sub-calculations can influence how ReadiScript interprets a calculation.

In the following example, the sub-calculations [Quantity in inventory] and [Quantity received] may both represent number fields. The plus operator will perform a numeric addition if presented with two sub calculations that both have a number result type.

```
[Quantity in inventory] + [Quantity received]
```

Whereas, in the following combination, each sub-calculation has a text result type, so the plus operator will combine the two text values into a single long text value.

[First name] + ' ' + [Last Name]

List of data types

ReadiScript supports the following data types:

 string
 Represents text, including formatted text.

 int
 Represents a whole number.

decimal	Represents a number with a decimal component.
currency	Represents an amount of money.
bool	Represents a yes/no, or true/false, value.
datetime	Represents a date and time, and is time-zone aware.
date	Represents a date only, and is not time-zone aware.
time	Represents a time of day only, and is <i>not</i> time-zone aware.
record	Represents a record of a particular type.

In addition to the above, a result data type also includes:

- for strings, encoding information (for example if the string is JSON or XML for use in API callouts).
- for decimal, the number of decimal places.
- for records, the type (object) of record that is returned.
- for all of the above, the result type may be a single value or a list of values.

For example, the following calculation has a result type of "List of employee". That is the result type, regardless of whether there are zero, one, or many records returned; and also regardless of whether the actual records returned are exactly 'Employee', or of some other object that inherits from 'Employee' such as 'Manager'.

all(Employee)

Type conversion

Each function and operator accepts particular data types for input, and also a particular result type for the larger calculation that is formed. When a sub calculation is not of the correct type for use with a function, or when two sub calculations of different types are combined together, an automatic conversion may occur.

In the following calculation, the [Manager] sub expression may return a Manager record. The len function accepts a string, and returns a number (specifically, the length of the string). The manager record will be automatically converted to a string by using the name of the record. The len function, which returns a number is then added to the decimal 1.234. In order for this addition to occur, the whole number is automatically converted to a decimal, and so the overall result type is decimal.

len([Manager]) + 1.234

See Converting between data types for more details.

Record types

If a sub expression returns a record result data type, then the result data type also keeps track of which object

might be returned. This always includes any inheriting types, but it may be necessary to use the convert function to access fields and relationships that only apply to those inheriting records.

The following calculation may, for example, have a result data type of Person record. But when the calculation runs, a more specific type of inheriting record, such as a Manager record may be returned.

[Process Document].[Last Reviewed By Who]

Expected result data types

In some ReadiNow features, such as when adding a calculated column to a report, a calculation of any result type may be used.

In other ReadiNow features, there may be specific constraints on what result data type a calculation may have. For example, the calculation for a calculated field may only return a single value, not a list. Attempting to use a calculation that is determined to have a **list** result data type will result in a calculation error.

A challenge can arise when a calculation is designed such that the author/administrator knows there is only one result, but ReadiScript has determined that the calculation returns a list result. In these cases, aggregate functions such as any, count, and first can be used to guide ReadiScript.

Converting between data types

Last Modified on 01/06/2019 4:00 am AEST

Implicit and explicit conversion

A calculation or sub calculation with a particular result type will often need to be used in a place that requires a different data type.

For example, a record field that contains a date, or number, may need to be combined with other text in order to generate an email message. In this example, the date sub calculation needs to first be converted to text.

There are two ways that conversion may occur between types.

Implicit conversion

For many data type conversions, the meaning of the data conversion is clear, and there will be no loss of information. In such cases, conversion will happen automatically.

In the following calculation, the **decimal** 0.5 is being added to the whole **number** 120. In this case, the whole number would be implicitly converted to a decimal before being added to the other decimal, and further returning a decimal result data type.

Explicit conversion

For some data type conversions, a way of converting the data may be imagined, but it may not be the kind of conversion that one wants to perform accidentally. In these cases, conversion must be explicitly performed using the **convert** function.

In the following example, the decimal 5.1 is being passed to the second parameter of the left function, which only accepts whole numbers. On its own, this will cause a calculation error to be shown because the data types do not match, and decimal does not implicitly convert back to **int**. However, a conversion can be imagined - namely to round the decimal. The convert function can be used to explicitly force this.

```
left( "Welcome", 5.1 ) -- error
left( "Welcome", convert( int, 5.1 ) ) -- OK
```

Permitted conversions

The following table shows what type conversions are implicitly and explicitly allowed.

- Implicit conversion allowed from the type on the left to the type on the top
- Explicit conversion allowed from the type on the left to the type on the top

string int decimal currency date time datetime record bool

	string	int	decimal	currency	date	time	datetime	record	bool
string	n/a	*	*	*	*	*	*		*
int	*	n/a	*	*					*
decimal	*	*	n/a	*					*
currency	*	*	*	n/a					
date	*				n/a		*		
time	*					n/a	*		
datetime	*				*	*	n/a		
record	*							n/a	*
bool	*								n/a

Specific conversions

Converting from record to string

A record will implicitly convert to a string. When this is done, then name of record is returned.

For example, the following calculation will retrieve the name field of each record, and prefix it with the text provided.

'Hello ' + all(Person)

Converting between record objects

If a result data type is **record**, then the record object is also tracked.

Record calculations can be *implicitly* converted from an object to a parent object. For example, an expression that returns a list of Employees can then be used to access fields that are defined on Person, because Employee derives from Person.

Record expressions can be *explicitly* converted from a object to a derived object. Explicit conversion is done by specifying the object script name. For example, the following calculation will get all Employees, but then treat the result as manager:

convert([Manager], all([Employee]))

That is, this expression can now access fields and relationships that are now only available on managers. If employees are encountered that are not managers, then the conversion will turn them into null.

Converting from datetime to string

If a calculation that has a **datetime** result data type is converted to a **string**, then the date/time value is firstly transformed into the time zone of the user who is currently viewing the calculation result (or running the workflow), and the date/time is then formatted using Australian date format.

Time zone adjustments are not, however, made for date-only or time-only data types.

Implicit conversion and comparisons

If two different data types are compared (for example to check whether one is larger than the other) then implicit conversion can contribute to accidental calculation errors. For example, if a **number** were to be accidentally compared to a **string** then this could cause unintended behavior. So help prevent this type of error, the calculation builder will give warnings and/or errors for suspicious conversions - including some scenarios where implicit conversion would ordinarily otherwise apply.

Dates, Times and Time Zones

Last Modified on 07/06/2019 12:50 am AEST

Date and Time Data Types

ReadiNow supports three related data types:

- Date only
- Time only
- Date and Time

The date-time data type is time zone aware. The date-only and time-only data types are not time zone aware.

Date only type

A date-only field holds a year, month and day. Date only fields are not time zone aware, which is to say that if a record has a particular date stored in a date-only field, then all ReadiNow users will see the same year, month and day for that record, irrespective of what time zone was active when the record was created, or what time zone they are in when viewing the record.

Calculations and sub calculations can also return date-only values, and they are similarly (mostly) time zone unaware. For example, a calculation may refer to a date-only field on a record.

A constant date-only value can be added to a calculation using the ISO format: #yyyy-mm-dd#. For example:

[Review date] > #2015-10-21#

The one manner in which date-only data type is aware is when using the getdate() function. This will return a today's date, according to the current user's time zone, as date-only value.

getdate()	
-----------	--

Time only type

A time-only field works in a similar manner, holding a hour, minute, and second. Note that the second value is recorded, even if it is often not visibly presented. This can cause some confusion with time calculations that perform 'equals' comparisons.

Time only fields and calculations are similarly not time zone aware, and all users will see the same hour, minute and second, regardless of their local time zone. (Time zone adjustments are not possible without a date in order to determine daylight savings offsets).

A constant time-only value can be added to a calculation using the ISO format: #hh:mm# or #hh:mm:ss#, where the hour is expressed in 24 hour time.

```
[Start time] < #17:15#
```

Time-only is similarly time-zone aware when the gettime() function is used. This function will return the current time, according to the current user's time zone, as a time-only value.

gettime()

Date time type

A date-time field represents a specific moment in history. It has the appearance of holding a date and a time. But it is time-zone aware, and its value will always be presented using the local time zone of each user. It does not, however, store a timezone in itself. Time zones are discussed below.

A constant date-time value can be added to a calculation using the following formats, all equivalently giving a result of 31st December 2019, 1:30pm and 59 seconds.

```
#2019-12-31T13:30:59# -- ISO format

#2019-12-31 13:30:59# -- 31st December 2019, 1:30:59pm

#2019-12-31 1:30 PM# -- 31st December 2019, 1:30:59pm
```

The getdatetime function always returns the current moment in time as a date-time value, which is then always presented in the user's local time in the same manner as any other date-time value.

getdatetime()

Time zones and the date-time type

When a date-time field value is entered into a record through a form, or some other manner, the date and time numbers entered are understood to be in the local time zone region of the current user. When the record is then later used on a form or report, the values are then converted back to the user's local time zone region.

However, a different user viewing the same record from a different time-zone region will see different values - the same moment in time, but represented according to their time-zone region.

The general principle, however, is that any one user (operating within one time zone) will always see a consistent view of date-time record data, throughout the year, in their own local time zone.

Internally stored as UTC

The ReadiNow platform internally converts any date-time values entered to UTC (GMT) date-times for storage and processing. When the record is then later used on a form or report, the values are then converted back to the user's local time zone region.

Note that time-zone region, rather than time-zone offset, is used because different regions have different historical timings for the start and end of daylight saving. When a date-time value is being converted to local time, the date in that date-time value is used to determine whether daylight time is used (not whether the present time is currently in daylight saving). This similarly ensures a consistent view of the data year around.

In this manner:

• a user who enters a date-time value into a record, will see the same date-time value for that record throughout the platform. (assuming they do not change the time-zone of their computer).

- and will continue to see the same value presented throughout the year, even as their local offset adjusts for daylight saving.
- a different user who views the date-time record from a different time zone, will see the same moment in time but converted to their own time zone.

For example:

- if a date-time value of 10am on 6/6/2019 is set on a record by a user in Sydney (GMT+10)
- then a user in California (GMT-7) viewing the same record will see a value of: 5pm on 5/6/2019
- six months later, the Sydney user will still see that record showing 10am on 6/6/2019.

Determining the time zone

All calculations are run in the context of a time zone.

Web Browsers

For calculations that are performed in the web user interface, the time-zone region information provided by the user's operating system and browser is used to determine the time-zone offsets.

Default Time Zone Region and Scheduled Workflows

For calculations that are performed in a workflow that is run on a schedule, or similarly triggered by a background operation, the time zone region is based on the Time Zone setting, located under Administration / Settings / General Settings.

Note that the general settings page shows an hours offset. However, it is the region, not the present offset, that is recorded as the setting, for the reasons above.

Date and Time Calculations

General principles

The following general principles guide the treatment of time zones for date-time values (but not date-only, nor time-only) in calculations:

- 1. whenever a date-time value gets created from individual parts, those parts are understood to be in the local time zone.
- 2. whenever a date-time value gets dissolved into its parts, or the parts shown, those parts will represent the local time zone.
- 3. whenever a function could be impacted by the time zone, that function is performed in local time.

Examples

- 1. Principle 1 the following are all understood to be 9:30am on 30th June 2019, *in local time*:
 - #2019-06-30T09:30:00#
 - datetimefromparts(2019, 6, 30, 9, 30, 0)
- convert(datetime, '2015-07-27 09:30:00')
- 2. Principle 2 examples:
 - 1. hour(getdatetime()) returns the current hour as a number, according to local time
 - 2. 'The time is ' + getdatetime() creates a string that includes the current date time, according to local time.
 - 3. datename(month, getdatetime()) returns the name of the current month, according to local time
- 3. Principle 3 example:
 - 1. dateadd(month, 1, getdatetime()) the result of adding one month can be slightly different depending on the time zone.

	mpact of time zone	on various	date and	time functions
--	--------------------	------------	----------	----------------

getdate	returns the current date, according to the local time zone, as a date-only value.
gettime	returns the current time, according to the local time zone, as a time-only value.
getdatetime	returns the current moment, as a date-time value.
year	gets the year number of a date-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
month	gets the month number from 1 to 12 of a date-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
day	gets the day number from 1 to 31 of a date-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
hour	gets the hour number from 0 to 23 of a time-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
minute	gets the minute number from 0 to 59 of a time-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
second	gets the second number from 0 to 59 of a time-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)

quarter	gets the quarter number from 1 to 4 of a date-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
dayofyear	gets the day of the year from 1 to 366 of a date-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
week	gets the week number of the year from 1 to 53 of a date-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
weekday	gets the day of the week as a number from Sunday=1 to Saturday=7 of a date-only or date-time value (for the latter, according to the local time zone)
datefromparts	composes a date-only value from a year, month, and day, number, without regard to time-zone.
timefromparts	composes a time-only value from a hour, minute, and second number, without regard to time-zone.
datetimefromparts	composes a date-time value from year, month, day, hour, minute, and second numbers, interpreting those numbers with regard to the current time zone.
dateadd	add (or subtracts) a specified number of units to a date-only or date-time value. The former is performed without regard to time-zone. The latter is performed in the context of the current time zone.
datediff	calculates the difference between two date-only values, or two date-time values. The former is performed without regard to time-zone. The latter is performed in the context of the current time zone.
datename	returns a part of a date-only or date-time value as text (such as the month name). The former is performed without regard to time-zone. The latter is performed in the context of the current time zone.

Impact of time zone on conversion functions

A date-time can be implicitly converted to:

- a date-only
- a time-only
- text

In each case, the date-time is converted to local time, and the local components of the date and/or time are used to make up the new value.

A date-only can be implicitly converted to:

- a date-time in which case, the date-time is constructed by taking midnight, according to the local time zone, of the date-only value and using that as the date-time value.
- text in which case the time zone takes has no effect.

A time-only can be implicitly converted to text, and similarly has no effect.

A text string can be explicitly converted to:

- a date-time in which case the text is processed as though it is representing a local date-time.
- a date-only in which case, the numerical values of year, month, date are used directly, irrespective of time zone
- a date-only in which case, the numerical values of hour, minute, second are used directly, irrespective of time zone

insert chart

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 12:47 pm AEST

Calculation to insert a chart into a generated document, such as a Word document.

Function

insert chart([chart-name])

insert chart([chart-name], optional-settings)

insert chart([chart-name] with column-filters)

insert chart([chart-name], optional-settings with column-filters)

Arguments

Argument	Data Type
chart-name	The name of a uniquely named chart, surrounded with square brackets.
optional-settings	Optional display arguments, which must include the name of the argument. See below.
column-filters	Optional filters that can be applied to column values. See below.

Optional Named Arguments

Argument	Data Type
WidthCm	The width of the chart in a generated Word document, in centimeters.
HeightCm	The height of the chart in centimeters.
Rotate	The clockwise rotation of the chart in degrees.
PixelsPerInch	The pixels-per-inch (PPI) resolution to use when drawing the chart.

Comments

The **insert chart** keywords are used in document generation macros to insert a chart image into a generated Word document.

The chart function requires a chart name to be provided. The chart name typically requires square brackets (it is an identifier). There must be exactly one chart with a name that matches the name provided.

For example:

{ MERGEFIELD insert chart([My Chart Name]) }

Column Filters

Every chart is based on a report. You may provide a list of one or more column names, along with a value, to*drill down* or filter the chart to only consider matching records.

To use column filters, use the **with** keyword inside the function, and then follow it with a comma separated list of filters. Each field includes has the column name, followed by a colon, and then the value. Use square brackets if the column name contains spaces or special characters.

For example:

{ MERGEFIELD insert chart([Task Chart] with [Priority]:1) }

{ MERGEFIELD insert chart([Task Chart] with [Priority]:1, [Status]:'Open', [Owner]:currentuser()) }

These example macros assume that there exist exactly one chart named "Task Chart", and that it is based on a report that contains (at least) a "Priority" column that contains numbers and an "Owner column" that displays Person records.

The calculation data type provided to each column needs to match the data type of the report column. For example, a text value cannot be passed to a number column.

Report name columns, and related name columns are record data types to ensure that the exact records match, rather than just all records with the same name. The value provided may be either:

- a calculation that returns a record of the appropriate type. For example, the context function or a calculation that follows a relationship.
- or the name of the record, surrounded in single quotes. There must be exactly one record of the required type that matches the name.

Typical Usage Example for Column Filters

Use column filters to achieve within a document the same type of drill down effect that you may use on screens.

For example, consider a scenario of tasks assigned to employees in departments. You may have an existing report of Departments and wish to be able to right-click on one department record and generate a Word document that includes a chart showing the number of tasks assigned to each employee in the department. This can be achieved as follows:

- 1. Create a new report for the chart called "Department Tasks Report"
 - Create the report to be of type Department
 - Follow the Employees relationship to show the employees in the department
 - Follow the Tasks relationship to show the Tasks for each employee
 - You should have a report that contains columns "Department", "Employee" and "Task"
 - Save the Report
- 2. Create a new chart named "Department Tasks Chart"
 - Create a new column chart based on the "Department Tasks Report"
 - Drag the "Employee" column onto the Primary chart input

- Drag the "Count" source onto the Count chart input
- You should see a column chart that shows the number of Tasks for each employee across all Departments
- Save the Chart
- 3. Create a new Word document template
 - Include the macro: { MERGEFIELD insert chart([Department Tasks Chart] with
 - [Department]:context()) }
 - Upload the template document to the ReadiNow documents folder
 - Create a new Document Template record that Department as its Object, and the new document template selected.
 - Save the Document Template

The context function will return the department record that was right-clicked to generate the document. It should now be possible to right-click any Department record in any report of Departments and generate a document. The generated document will be filtered to only include records for the department that was right-clicked.

Display Settings

After the chart name you may optionally provide several settings to control the sizing of the chart and other aspects of how the chart is drawn. Unlike most functions, both the name and value of these settings need to be provided, with the name, followed by a colon, then a value. A calculation may be used for the values. Each of the display settings is optional.

WidthCm and HeightCm

The WidthCm and HeightCm options allow the size of the chart, as it appears in the generated Word document, to be adjusted. You may also specify one without the other. If only one value is specified, then the other is selected automatically to maintain a consisten aspect ratio.

For example:

{ MERGEFIELD insert chart([My Chart Name], WidthCm:8, HeightCm:6) }

Rotate

The chart may be rotated by providing a clockwise rotation in degrees.

For example, to rotate to the right:

{ MERGEFIELD insert chart([My Chart Name], Rotate:90) }

PixelsPerInch

The PixelsPerInch the resolution that is used when drawing the chart. It affects the width of lines, size of text, and how many grid lines will appear.

The document generation engine uses the WidthCm, HeightCm, and PixelsPerInch settings to calculate a pixel

width and height, which is then used to generate a chart as though it had that much space available.

Using Display Settings and Column Filters together

If you need to include display settings and column filters, place the display settings before the with keyword, and column filters after the keyword.

For example:

{ MERGEFIELD insert chart([Task Chart], WidthCm:6, HeightCm:5 with [Owner]:currentuser()) }

list Last Modified on 25/05/2020 12:46 pm AEST

Template macro to insert a bullet-point or numbered list into a generated Microsoft Word document.

Function

list [list-of-values]

Arguments

Argument Data Type

list-of-records A calculation that returns a list of records.

Comments

The **list** macro keyword is used as the first keyword after MERGEFIELD indocument generation macros. The macro should be the first macro inside of a bullet-point or numbered list to indicate that the calculation will return a list of results, with each result generating one item in the list.

Calculations that subsequently appear within the list item are recalculated for each record that is returned - and the record currently being processed acts as the context record for those calculations. The list macro essentially works in the same manner as the repeat macro, except that it signals that the list bullet or number also needs to participate in the repeated block.

A {MERGEFIELD end} macro may be placed at the end of a list item to indicate the end of the repeated section. For simple lists that only a single line of text this is optional - and the end of the repeated section will automatically be determined, but more complicated scenarios may require this.

Example

The following document template could be used to generate the following result. Note that any calculation that returns a list of records can be used in place of the **all** function.

```
{ MERGEFIELD list all([Fruit]) } { MERGEFIELD [Quantity] }x { MERGEFIELD [Name] }
```

{ MERGEFIELD list all([Recipe Steps]) order by [Step Number]} { MERGEFIELD [Name] }

Document template:

Ingredients:

• { MERGEFIELD list all([Fruit]) } MERGEFIELD [Quantity] }x { MERGEFIELD [Name] }

Recipe:

1. { MERGEFIELD list all([Recipe Steps]) order by [Step Number] } { MERGEFIELD [Name] }

Generated document:

Ingredients:

- 2x Apple
- 1x Orange
- 3x Banana

Recipe:

- 1. Peel orange and banana
- 2. Chop fruit
- 3. Mix and serve

Calculation Editor

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 11:59 am AEST

Toolbar Buttons

The calculation editor will appear with different toolbar buttons visible depending on where it is used.

Edit Calculation	
Q × f(*)	⊞
1 [Input].[Calendar attachments]	
OK Can	cel
Calculation editor in a workflow context	

Show hints

Selecting this (or using the keyboard shortcut ctrl + space) shows the list of object fields in context in the same way that typing a dot does, and adds the dot and field name when a field is selected.



Parameters

Opens a selection dialogue with accessible context information, including workflow variables and the output of previous workflow activities.

The dialogue appears over the calculation window.

Functions

The function reference can be used to find a function name and parameters without going to the help documentation. The selected function will paste it into the current calculation when double-clicked.

The functions dialogue appears below the calculation window by default, but can be moved and will re-open in its previous position. Positioning is reset to default when the calculation window is closed.

Search	×	
General functions (10)	\sim	
and or not iif null isnull		
currentuser		
Data functions (2)		
Mathematical functions (13)		
Text functions (11)		
Date/Time functions (19)		
Aggregate functions (9)		
List functions (9)		
Functions dialogue		

Edit Calculation	
Q x f(*)	< \> (i) ⊞
1 datetimefromparts (year, month, day, hour, minute, second)	
Object (Calendar Attachment) door not have a field or relationship perced wear) (nor 10)	
Object Calendar Attachment does not have a field or relationship hamed year. (pos 19)	
	OK Cancel

Snippets

Snippets are commonly used components of calculations. The snippet dialogue shows predefined snippets, which paste into the current calculation when double-clicked. Users cannot modify the available snippets or add more.

The snippets dialogue appears below the calculation window by default, but can be moved and will re-open in its previous position. Positioning is reset to default when the calculation window is closed.

Search.		×	
let case (value list) case (condition list)			
in date literal date-time literal			
Snippet dialogue			

Properties

Opens a selection dialogue that shows the list of object fields available for selection.

The dialogue appears over the calculation window.

Records

Opens a dialogue to search for and select records.

The dialogue appears over the calculation window.

Messages

Edit Calculation
Q X f(x)
1 datetimefromparts (year, month, day, hour, minute, second)
Object 'Calendar Attachment' does not have a field or relationship named 'year'. (pos 19)
OK Cancel
Example error messages

Error messages, warnings and suggestions are shown with a red underline in the calculation itself, and the corresponding error description in an orange bar below the editing area. Suggestions will be shown when there is a possible alternative to the current calculation which will be more efficient.

It is important to always understand how a calculation works before making changes.

Actionable Emails

Last Modified on 15/04/2019 1:49 pm AEST

This is a feature of Microsoft Office 365 and only available to users with the relevant licenses and services.

This is a complex task that will require technical skills.

Office 365 users have the option of receiving actionable emails, which they can respond to in Outlook.

Microsoft reference documentation and tools:

- https://docs.microsoft.com/en-au/outlook/actionable-messages/adaptive-card
- https://docs.microsoft.com/en-au/outlook/actionable-messages/email-dev-dashboard

The email can be created by API Callout in a Workflow or by a specially crafted email to the user, provided that actionable emails are enabled on their mailbox or for their organisation. It will be automatically approved when set up by an individual on their own mailbox.

Methods for sending actionable emails:

- https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/outlook/actionable-messages/send-via-email
- https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/outlook/actionable-messages/send-via-connectors

An example implementation using connectors would contain the following components:

- 1. An Office 365 mailbox with actionable emails enabled.
- 2. REST API enabled on the tenant to receive button actions.
- 3. A workflow with an API Callout to call the connector webhook which sends the email.
- 4. JSON for the API Callout that specifies buttons which do HTTP POST to update a User Action task.

It is recommended to test the emails before connecting to the REST API. There are cloud services and client software suited for this task.

Smart Email Handling

Last Modified on 05/04/2019 12:02 pm AEDT

ReadiNow has the ability to receive incoming emails with Inboxes and then process those emails with Workflows. There are many ways this can be used, for example:

- automated responses to emails
- automated support ticket creation from support emails
- logging sales activities automatically
- logging requests automatically
- or even giving approvals via email

By way of example, the first four of these use cases can be covered in this article.

The assumed requirements are that incoming support emails need to get and automated response and create a support ticket. For simplicity the update will not be covered, but typically the ticket number is put into the email subject of the response, and any further replies will allow the workflow to update the existing ticket provided the logic is captured.

Step 1: Create an Inbox

Start by creating an Inbox with the reply email set to the same email that will receive the initial message.

🗉 Inbox			
Name :	Support Inbox		
Description :			
	12		
Fachlad .	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
Enabled :			
From name :			
Reply address :	support@readinow.com		
Email Address :			
Received messages Workflows to Run			
RECEIVED MESSAGE	S		
🖒 👻 ACTION 👻			
То	From		
Create an Inbox			

On saving, the incoming email address is shown in the **Email Address** field. In this example it will look similar to SupportInbox89257298@readinow.com.

Step 2: Email Redirection

This part is a corporate mail system configuration that must be done outside of ReadiNow. Make sure to configure mail redirection to redirect emails from the incoming address to this email address - it is the same as the reply address. In this example the email address is support@readinow.com and this mail must redirect to SupportInbox89257298@readinow.com.

Step 3: Workflow

A workflow must be created to handle the emails.



Here's a brief description of each activity.

Start

Set the input parameter to the Received Email definition.



Get Domain

This calculation retrieves part of the sender's email address to determine what company they are from.

```
let pos=charindex('@',[Input].[From])
select substring([Input].[From],pos+1,len([Input].[From])-pos-1)
```

Match Company

The company form has the company domain captured on it, and the company report has this domain in a column, so this activity uses the company report with a filter set to the variable from the previous activity. This way the loop will only need to iterate through one company at most.

Gateway

The gateway simply guards against the event where the domain does not match any existing companies.

For Each

This loops through the result set, which should contain only a single result. It is possible it may contain more than one, and that scenario is not covered in this article. It is recommended that additional safeguards be put in place to ensure only one ticket is created from one email.

Assign to Variable

This is a variable containing the matching company.

Create

Create the ticket! The ticket has a lookup to company, which uses the company variable set during the For Each loop. The object could be anything from a support incident or a sales activity.

Confirmation Email

Send a confirmation email, and put the ticket number in the subject to later support updating existing tickets. The field can be referenced from the Create activity as follows:

[Create.Record].[Ticket Number]

End

Nothing special here!

Step 4: The Trigger

Go back to the Inbox settings and click on the tab **Workflows to Run**. Click on the \mathscr{P}_{+} icon to link to an existing workflow and select the appropriate workflow.

Received messages Workflows to Run			
WORKFLOWS TO RUN			
🖒 👻 ACTION 👻	🖉 + 🖗 🖌 🖍 EDIT INLINE		
Name			
Process incoming email			
Link to the email processing workflow			

Test

Now check the records that have been created - and the email replies that are sent out.

• Activity Report				
C - ACTION - +	EDIT INLINE			
Created date	Туре	Company		
28/03/2019 2:20 pm	Email	ReadiNow		
28/03/2019 2:30 pm	Email	ReadiNow		
Example sales activities captured from emails				

Managing Events and Invitations

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:42 pm AEST

There are a number of ways to manage events and invitations, some of which are through integration with third party cloud services.

Send an Invitation via Email

An iCal is a file format which stores events. Typically these are sent as email attachments to invite attendees to an event. A workflow can be created for an Appointment object as follows:

- 1. Set the input parameter to the Appointment object (or your custom Meeting object)
- 2. Use a Generate Document activity; for the Document Template reference an iCal template that has been uploaded to Report Templates in the Documents application
- Use a Send Email activity with the attachments set to the formula [Generate iCal.Document]; if your meeting has Documents (such as agenda documents or reference material) then use concat([Input].[Documents], [Generate iCal.Document])



Send an Invitation via AddEvent

Attendees can be sent invitations via the cloud service AddEvent.

- 1. Sign up for an account at AddEvent (you cannot use Hobby tier)
- 2. Insert your AddEvent client id and event details into the link below to replace all the values in brackets
- 3. Add the resulting link to an email notification in a workflow

https://www.addevent.com/dir/?client=[id]&start=[start]&end=[end]&title=[title]&description= [description]&location=[address]&timezone=Australia%2FSydney&service=stream

The last parameter ("stream") directs the service to create a downloadable iCal. Removing the last parameter ("stream") will allow the users to land on an event page, which is a better experience.

O AddEvent	× (+)		////Vi	- 0 ×
< → C ↔	A https://www.addevent.com	m/event/	* * 📀 🥹	0 🖪 I 🍲 E.
Title	e of the event			
() Th	ursday. November 15. 09:00a	am - 11:00am (PST)		
Descri	ption of the event			
ä	Add to Calendar			
() Th	ursday. November 15. 09:002	am - 11:00am (PST)		
9 16	00 Amphitheatre Pkwy, Mour	ntain View, CA 9404	3	

AddEvent	× (+)		MILLIVI	
→ C O	https://www.addeven	it.com/event/	\$ © ©	9 0 🖪 I 🔮
Title	of the event			
() The	ursday, November 15, 09	:00am - 11:00am (PS1)	
- E	Apple			
G	Google (online)			
02	Outlook			
62	Outlook.com (mline)			
		am - 11:00am (PST)	

¥ 1600 Amphitheatre Pkwy, Mountain View, CA 94043







Event added

The event was added to your Outlook Calendar.

Proceed to the event, or close the window.

By proceeding to the event, please notice that some Android devices may fail to open the event. If you have more than one Outlook account, you may need to switch account,

Synchronise with an Office 365 Calendar

Microsoft Flow is an integration service which can be leveraged for a broad range of automation tasks. Here is an example of automatically saving each event created in an **Outlook** calendar into an **Event** record in **ReadiNow**. Note that the JSON body needs to be of type **Object** and not **String** for the Flow to succeed.

When a new eve	ent is created (V2) 2		
	\downarrow		
{x} Set API URL			
	\downarrow		
$\{x\}$ Set Token			
	\downarrow		
$\{x\}$ Initialize variable	;		
*Name	JSON		
* Туре	Object		\sim
	{		
Value	"name": "		
	"startdate": " 💶 Start time 🗙	a	
	}		
	\downarrow		
Ф нттр			
* Method	POST		\checkmark
* URI	{x} API URL × /event?key= {x	Token ×	
Headers	Enter key	Enter value	
Queries	Enter key	Enter value	Ē
Body	(x) JSON ×		
Show advanced options	/		

The trigger in this example above is a new calendar event, but this approach can be extended to also synchronise deletes and updates made in Outlook. The following example uses a trigger that will fire on add, update and delete of a calendar event.

	When an event is added	, updated or deleted		
	_	\downarrow		
	Condition			
	Edit in advanced mode	is equal to	✓ added	Collapse condition
_				
If yes			X If no	
Create new event				
	Add an action			

These examples will only trigger if the event is edited in Office 365. To have a ReadiNow event saved to Office 365 will require use of a workflow with the API Callout activity.

Smart Survey Handling

Last Modified on 05/04/2019 12:01 pm AEDT

A survey has an outcome, which is a representation of all the answers, but individual answers can also be identified and used to conditionally trigger additional processes. Workflow is used for this this purpose, and this article explains how this can be achieved, using a simple contrived example.

The Workflow

Create a new workflow and use a **Survey Result** as the input definition. In the picker the filter on **Advanced Object** needs to be cleared to see the **Survey Result** object.

0	Process survey results click to edit description			Workflow
Inputs	Variables	Outputs	Security	
Input Pa	rameter			×
Name		Input		
Туре		Record Arg	gument	•
Definition	1	Survey Res	ult	•
	Input def	inition for pr	ocessing a surv	/ey

The Calculation

Inside workflow activities,

max([Input].[Answers].[Single choice answer].[Name] where
[Input].[Answers].[Question].[Question ID] = 'Question 6')='Yes'

The Survey

Finally, the survey needs to be edited to set the **On survey complete** property; select the workflow just created and save.

🔳 Workpla	ace Survey				
SURVEY DETAIL					
Name :	Workplace Survey				
Description :		•			
		-	2	Į.	
Show help text :					
Application :	 × 				
Survey Layout Outco	omes Campaigns Workflow				
On survey complete :	Process survey results 💉 🗙				
On campaign close :					
Survey configuration for the completion workflow					

Public Forms

Getting Started with Public Forms

Please read Public Forms best practices and Public Forms Security Overview before starting with Public Forms.

To create a new Public Form you first need to create the Form using the Classic Form Builder (or use an existing Form).

Open the Public Forms editor from the Tenant Administration page:

	Administration
	Quick Links
÷	Applications
*	Application Library Public Forms
*	
5.0	

The Public Forms Page looks like this:

Rea	IRNOVATE			२ % Admir	nistration ≡ Q	±	5 G	?
		<						
.4	Administration	Public forms					Create ne	w form
	Applications	A						
	Audit	 Form to edit 	Created	Last upd	Preview li	Status		
	Metrics	 No records to display 						
	Resources	•						
	Security							
	Settings							
	Workflows	*						
	Integration	•						
	Surveys	•						
2.152	2.12.0-Master / C: 2.152.14.0-Master		Powered by ReadiNow					

Click on 'Create new form' and a form creation wizard opens:

ReadiNow			م 🗶 Administration ≡ ۹	4	9	∽ <mark>21</mark> ?	53
	<	< All forms		Best	t practio	es >	
Applications	*		Now Dublic Form				
audit	•		New Public Form				
Metrics	*						
Resources	•	Name					
Security		New Public Form					
Settings		Description					
Workflows							
Integration		URL slug					
Surveys		NewPublicForm					
			2	ancel	Crea	ate	
2.152.12.0-Master / C: 2.152.14.0-M	laster		Powered by ReadiNow				

Clicking 'Create' opens a configuration page where you can configure Public Form. The configuration areas are:

- Form Information change the name, description, and slug.
- Header & Footer includes page logo, heading, and background colours.
- Form Page preamble text (e.g. guidelines or instructions) and select form to display.
- Finish Page text which can be used to say thank you or provide further information to the user.



Email Templates

Last Modified on 03/11/2022 9:23 am AEDT

Overview

Sending emails as part of workflows is very useful and widely used feature in ReadiNow. The Email Templates feature provides a central place to define and manage the content and style of emails. I.e. define the content of the email once (with variables) and then use it in multiple 'Send Email Workflow' Activities.

Most emails will have common elements like headers and footers that can be defined and managed separately.

Configuring an email template

To define an email template:

- Select Administration from the Application Menu.
- Select Email Templates, located under the Email section.
- Select **+NEW** to show the Email Template form.
- Complete the following details
 - Name the name you want to give this Email template
 - Description any additional description for the Email template
 - Application select the application you want
 - Variables variables can be used to refer to some information that can be used in expressions (see Variables section below for more information)
 - Images images can be used in email body (see Images section below for more information)
 - **Subject** the subject line for the email. This can be static text or combination of text or expression using variables (see Subject section below for more information)
 - **Body** the body of the email. This can be static text or combination of text, images, expression using variables (see Body section below for more information)
 - Header select a header (see Header section below for more information)
 - Footer select a footer (see Footer section below for more information)

<						
Administration	🖻 Email Tem	nplates				
🗖 Email 🔻	C - ACTION - + N	EW		Ŧ	Search	٩
Email Templates	Name	Last modified date	Last modified by	Used in workflows	Application	
	Incident approval	10/10/2022	.admin	1	Incident Managemen	t
🖻 Footers						
😂 Headers						
Email templates list						

Email template components

Following are the main components of an email template:

- General details name, description, application
- Variables
- Images
- Subject
- Body
- Header
- Footer

← Back					Discard	Save
Edit email template					_	
Details		Variables			+ A	dd new
Name		IncidentLink	Text		0	Ĥ
Incident approval					-	
Description		IncidentApprover	Record argument	Person	0	Û
This email template is used for email requesting incident approval.		IncidentName	Text		0	Û
	li					
Application						
Incident Management	× ~					
Selected Application is used for packaging and deployment						
Email template						
Email template	~	Images			+ A	dd new
Email template Header	~	Images	on		+ Ai	dd new
Email template Header Subject 'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName]	× 2	Images Water contamination	on		+ Ai	dd new
Email template Header Subject 'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName]	~ Ľ	Images Water contamination	on		+ A	dd new
Email template Header Subject 'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName] Email body 'Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + 'cbr>cbr>' +	× 2 2	Images Water contamination	on		+ A	dd new
Email template Header Subject 'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName] Email body 'Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + 'cbr>cbr>' + 'na incident has been submitted for approval.cbr>' + 'Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentLin 'cbr>cbr]chr=' + 'SWMater contamination%'	✓ </td <td>Images Water contamination</td> <td>on</td> <td></td> <td>+ A</td> <td>dd new</td>	Images Water contamination	on		+ A	dd new
Email template Header Subject 'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName] Email body 'Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + 'cbr>cbr>' + '/an incident has been submitted for approval.cbr>' + 'Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentLin' 'cbr>cbr>Incident photo:cbr>' + '%%Water contamination%%'	C C nk] +	Images Water contamination	on		+ A	dd new
Email template Header Subject 'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName] Email body Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + ' ' + 'An incident has been submitted for approval.cbr>' + 'An incident has been submitted for approval.cbr>' + 'Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentLiv 'cbr> cbr>Incident photorcbr>' + 'XWWater contaminationXX' Footer	✓ </td <td>Images Water contamination</td> <td>m</td> <td></td> <td>+ A/</td> <td>dd new</td>	Images Water contamination	m		+ A/	dd new
Email template Header Subject 'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName] Email body Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + 'cbr>cbr>' + 'An incident has been submitted for approval.cbr>' + 'An incident has been submitted for approval.cbr>' + 'Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentLin' 'cbr>cbr>Incident photo:cbr>' + 'XWWater contaminationXX' Footer	✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓	Images Water contamination	on		+ A	dd new
Email template Header Subject 'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName] Email body 'Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + 'cbr>cbr>' + 'An incident has been submitted for approval.cbr>' + 'Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentLin 'cbr>cbr>Incident photo:cbr>' + 'XXWater contaminationXX' Footer	✓ ✓ ✓ ✓	Images Water contamination	20		+ A	dd new
<pre>imail template eader ibject Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName] mail body Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + ' >br>' + An incident has been submitted for approval. ' + Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentLink Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentLink boter </pre>		Images Water contamination	20		+ A	Û.

Variables

Emails are sent using workflows. Sometimes the information that is to be included in the email, is only accessible during the workflow run. To access this information, variables can be defined in the email template and the value of these variables can be set in the workflow.

In the Email template form image above, a link to the given incident is to be included in the email body. This link is generated during the workflow run.

To make this work, a text variable 'IncidentLink' is defined in the email template. And the value of this variable is set in the workflow.

			Discard	Save
Variables				+ Add new
IncidentLink	Text			Ø Û
IncidentApprover	Record argument	Person		Ø Ū
IncidentName	Text			00



Images

Images can be included in the email body. New images can be uploaded or existing images that are already uploaded in ReadiNow can be used.

Images can be referenced in email body with syntax '%%ImageName%%' (not including the file extension).

For example if the name of image is 'Water contamination', the syntax to use the image in body would be '%%Water contamination%%'

Only the images selected for the email template can be referenced in email body.

Image × Click to upload new image Click to select existing image Tag Image name Alt text	
Cancel Save	+ Add new
Water contamination	0 0
Adding an image to the template	

Subject

Subject can include a combination of text, variables, functions.

Subject	3
<pre>'Incident approval for: ' + [IncidentName] + [IncidentApprover].[Last name]</pre>	
Subject field	

Email body

Email body can include a combination of text, variables, functions, images.

Email body

```
'Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + '<br><br>' +
'An incident has been submitted for approval.<br>' +
'Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentLink] +
'<br><br>Incident photo:<br>' + '%%Water contamination%%'
```

Email body field

Both subject and email body fields can be edited in expression editor by clicking on popup icon available on top right corner of the field.

Z

Email body 'Dear ' + [IncidentApprover].[Name] + ',' + ' ' + 'An incident has been submitted for approval. ' + 'Please click the following link to view the incident details: ' + [IncidentL ' Incident photo: ' + '%%Water contamination%%'
<pre>Sections snippets variables functions snippets variables f(n) f(n) f(n) <!-- --></pre>
Cancel Apply
Expression builder

Header

A header is an optional element that can be used in an email template. In a typical case, a header may contain a company logo and some static information and links etc. that is to be displayed at the top of the email.

A header can be used in multiple email templates that require the same information.

To define a header:

- Select Administration from the Application Menu.
- Select Headers, located under the Email section.
- Select **+NEW** to show the Header form.
- Complete the following details
 - Name the name you want to give this Header
 - Description any additional description for this Header
 - Application select an application
 - Images upload new images or select existing images (see Images section above for more details)
 - Header contents header for the email. It can be static text or combination of formatted text, images, web links.

 Administration 	Headers							
🖬 Email 🔻	C - ACTION - + NEW					Ŧ	þearch	Q
🖂 Email Templates	Email Template Header	Last modified date	Last modified by	Used in templates	Used in workflows	Application		
	Header 1	11/10/2022	admin	1	1	Incident Manag	ement	
E Headers								
Footers								
		He	aders list					

← Back		Discard	d s	ave
Edit header*				
Name	Images		+ A(d new
Header 1				
Description	📟 Logo	o Company logo small	0	Û
	smal	ll logo	0	Û
li li				
Application				
Incident Management X V				
Selected Application is used for packaging and deployment Header contents				
$\begin{array}{c c} B & I & \underline{U} \\ \hline \\ C^{*} \\ \hline \\ \end{array} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 0 \\ \hline \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 0 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 0 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \hline \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \hline \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \hline \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \hline \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \hline \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \hline \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 } \begin{array}{c} \end{array} \end{array} \end{array} \xrightarrow{ 1 }$				
Cancel Insert image				
Heade	er form			

Footer

A footer is an optional element that can be used in an email template. In a typical case, a footer may contain images, some static information and links etc. that is to be displayed at the bottom of the email.

A footer can be used in multiple email templates that require the same information.

To define a footer:

- Select Administration from the Application Menu.
- Select Footers, located under the Email section.
- Select +NEW to show the Footer form.
- Complete the following details
 - Name the name you want to give this Footer
 - Description any additional description for this Footer
 - Application select an application
 - Images upload new images or select existing images (see Images section above for more details)

• Footer contents - footer for the email. It can be static text or combination of formatted text, images, web links.

 Administration Email Email Templates Headers Footers 	Footers Action ~ + NEW Email Template Footer Footer 1	Last modified date 11/10/2022 2:26 pm	Last modified by anurag.admin	Used in templates 1	♥ Se Used in workflows App 1 Inci	arch vlication dent Managen	Q
		Foo	oters list				
← Back Edit footer					Discar	d S	ave
Name			Imag	es		+ Ac	ld new
Footer 1				Annia		^	A
Description				Арріе		0	U
			E	Car		0	Û
Application		//					
Incident Management		X ~					
Selected Application is used for	r packaging and deployment						
Footer contents		C					
Disclaimer : This email and the use of the individual or receive this email by mistal make any use of the email.	any file attached are inte entity to whom they are a ke, please notify the auth	ended solely for addressed. If you or and do not					
		Foo	ter form				

Using Email Templates

An email can be sent using Send Email Activity in workflows. Send Email activity can now use Email Template to send email. See SEND EMAIL ACTIVITY for more information.

Platform Capacities

Last Modified on 24/04/2023 4:29 pm AEST

Overview

The table below summarises the limits of any one tenant. The stated limits are not a commitment that the resources are allocated, rather provide an upper limit in a tenant and the storage capacity is as listed in a Work Order. Other factors may prevent these limits from being reached (e.g. load, performance, contract restrictions & licence restrictions). In addition, whilst not all limits are technically enforced, ReadiNow may monitor usage to ensure adherence to these limits.

ReadiNow Platform Capacity Table

Applications & Data Model	
Custom applications	50
Relationships per object	50
Custom fields per object	100
Custom objects	200
Choice field values	500
Maximum of records per object	2 000 000
Maximum of records per tenant	20 000 000
Maximum number of security rules per object	20
Maximum number of security rules per role	50
Maximum number of security rules per user per object	10
Maximum content size per field	100 000 characters
Combined content size all fields on a single record	200 000 characters
Files	
Maximum files per tenant	50 000
Maximum file size (per file)	200MB
Total Max file storage	1TB

Theme images/logos/icons size	20kb
Audit	
Maximum fields to audit per object	15
Maximum age of record change audit history	18 months
Maximum number of configuration log entries	10 000
Maximum number of security log entries	10 000
Calculations	
Maximum length of calculation	5 000 characters
Time to run	2 seconds (elapsed server time)
Screens & Reports	
Analyser items on a report	20
Calculations per report	5
Columns per report	10
Time to run a report	10 seconds (elapsed server time)
Scheduled screen refreshes	50
Maximum elements on a screen	12
Workflows	
Maximum number of concurrent running workflows	30
Maximum number of workflows	500
Maximum number of workflow runs per day	5 000
Total number of activities in a workflow	50
Maximum number of steps per workflow	100 000
Maximum workflow processing time	10 hours

Maximum age of workflow run	18 months
Maximum paused workflows	20 000
Integrations	
Records through excel/csv import (does not include when triggers are enabled) per day	100 000
Records through API import (does not include when triggers are enabled) per day	100 000
Maximum number of Records fetched using get-record activity (per call)	10 000
Active import schedules	25
Email attachment maximum size	20MB
Email content size	1MB
Inbound Email messages processed per hour	500
Outbound Email messages processed per day	50/full user ¹
Inbound SMS processed per day	100 000
Outbound SMS processed per day	100 000
Other	
Documents Generated per day	300
I/O (bandwidth)	1 TB per month

Notes:

1. This may require use of client's email server to send emails

Defined Terms

"Capacities" means the defined limits or restrictions on the use or access to elements of the Software including but not limited to file and data storage, number of records, number of workflows processes, usage limits, bandwidths limits, service request time, or other such variables as defined by ReadiNow or outlined in Documentation for the Tenant or Non-Production Tenant.

"Tenant Usage limits" are as detailed in the Documentation. An example of these (but not limited to) are the usage limits for custom applications, files, screens, reports, workflows, integration, the number of GB capacity and records allocation per tenant, whether as described in a Performance Pack, Capacities or other variables that are
relevant to the tenant allocation.

"Performance Pack" means the allocation of the User package (type of Users, type of applications purchased) together with the corresponding allocation of Capacities, file and data storage allocation, number of records, App Objects, number of workflows, usage limits, bandwidths limits, service request time, or other such variables as defined by ReadiNow from time to time and updated in this Documentation.

Exporting and Importing Resources

Last Modified on 23/05/2019 12:50 pm AEST

Applies to:

- Objects
- Reports
- Forms
- Boards
- Screens
- Charts
- Records
- Hierarchies of structure view
- Choice fields and their options
- Relationships
- Photos and Icons
- Documents and Document templates
- Resource Keys

Overview

- Import/Export XML allows components such as reports, screens, charts, boards, workflows, etc., to be exported to XML.
- Any resource can be exported/imported, including user data
- The XML file can be imported into a different tenant.
- If the item being imported already exists, it will be replaced by the imported file.

Exporting to XML

- 1. The user first must be assigned the 'Import/Export' role
- 2. Navigate to a report (or create a report) that displays the element you are trying to export. (e.g. if trying to export a report, navigate to the "Reports" report in Administration)
- 3. Right click on the row and select 'Export'
- 4. The XML file will download

Importing through the console

Note: Only administrators with the Import/Export role can import XML files

- 1. The user first must be assigned the 'Import/Export' role
- 2. Go to Administration
- 3. Select Resources

4. Select Import Resources

5. Select Upload and select the file to upload

If there are dependency errors when importing a resource then this can be resolved by adding the relevant resources to a new application. A new application can be created expressly for this purpose if necessary, and the whole application can be exported.

Relationship Rules

- To import related instance, the relationship must be imported first, meaning the relationship should exists on both the tenants.
- The relationship must be set to full ownership on both the tenants.
- Full ownership can be set on following fields:
 - 1-1 lookup
 - Many-1 lookup
 - 1-Many relationships
 - Image field
- Once the full ownership is set and the relationship is made available on both the tenants, user would be able to import related instance

Import Rules

- When importing a file, if the content does not already exist, then the imported content is added to the system.
- If the content being imported does already exist, then it replaces the existing one

Tenant Health Check

Last Modified on 29/09/2020 1:01 pm AEST

What is a Tenant Health Check?

The Tenant Health Check is a static analysis of the application functionality in a tenant. It analyses Access Rules, API Callouts, Calculated Fields, Forms, Reports, Report Templates and Workflows. However, it does not predict problems that occur as a result of data, such as a division by zero.

Why Use It?

The Tenant Health Check gives an indication of the integrity of a tenant, so it is particularly useful as a validation checkpoint when changes have been made to Applications.

Running a Tenant Health Check

To run a Tenant Health Check:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Metrics to expand to list
- 4. Select Health Check to display the Health Check page
- 5. Start the check by clicking the Start Scan button. The status will update to show that a scan is running. The blue status box will turn green when the scan is complete. Once the scan has completed click the refresh icon on the Health Check Summary report.

Health Check							Start Scan
Health Check Scan Status							Refresh
Health check scan Running - Finding items Start Date : 5/14/2019 12: Duration : 12 secs	to process. 05 PM						
HEALTH CHECK SUMMARY					ITEMS B	Y ТҮРЕ	
C - ACTION -		T	Search	Q,			Error
Health Check Type	ОК	Errors	Warnings	Suggestions			Suggestion
Access Rules	0	0	0	0			ОК
API Callouts	0	0	0	0			Other
Calculated fields	0	0	0	0		No records found	
Forms	0	0	0	0			
Report Templates	0	0	0	0			
Reports	0	0	0	0			
Workflows	0	0	0	0			
A health check in progress							

Health checks are run on demand by an administrator. The check may take a significant amount of time depending on the number of items in the tenant - the number of Reports, Report columns, Workflows, Workflow Activities, Action Buttons, Objects, Forms and Access Rules. The check is affected by the number of Definition and not Instances; for example, the number of Records and Workflow runs do not matter, but the number of Objects and Workflows matter. Typically the check will take between 10 and 60 minutes depending on the tenant complexity, but the time taken will be consistent for each tenant. Please note that running a Tenant Health Check will not impact system performance.

Interpreting Results

The results are categorised as suggestions, warnings or errors, but the health check has no real understanding of how applications need to work, so the results need to be reviewed to validate them in context.



Results of a completed health check

Errors

This is the place to start when checking the results. Invalid columns are the first errors to address, along with Calculation errors. If these are fixed and the scan is run again, many of the invalid condition errors will also be resolved. Only start checking warnings when there are no errors. Try to fix as many as possible before running the scan again, and remember to refresh the report again afterwards.

Warnings

Warnings are generated where a recommendation will affect the functionality of an Application, such as when Calculations may not seem to be logical according to the Health Check rules. If the warning does not raise any concerns then it may be a false positive, and there is no need to make any changes.

Suggestions

Suggestions are specific recommendations for improving Applications for better maintainability or performance, but have no functional impact. A good example of this is when a new Calculation operator is released and existing Calculations may benefit from from using the new operator.

Troubleshooting

Last Modified on 04/12/2019 5:15 pm AEDT

Application errors are managed by the platform, but both application builders and users should be aware of how errors are handled.

Application errors are handled according to where the error occurs and the nature of the error. For instance, a column in a report may reference a deleted field or have a calculation that is invalid under specific conditions - e.g. a division by zero - and each of these situations are handled in different ways. If this same exception were to happen in a workflow it would necessarily be managed differently to how it was managed in the report.

Calculations

Calculation are a common source of errors because changing data can cause unexpected situations, so that the calculation may be valid for some data and yet cause errors with other data, such as the example of a division by a field that is sometimes zero.

Compilation Errors

In the case where the calculation contains an error such a typo on a function name, the error will be highlighted in the calculation editor but the calculation can still be saved. This is convenient so that the calculation can reference a field before the field is created, but if the field is never created then the calculation will have an error.

Run-time Errors

Run-time errors as usually caused by unexpected data. When certain data causes an error, the calculation result will be blank. This means that a report might have some rows where the value is blank.

Imagine a stock inventory report where there are columns for *numbers of units, total value,* and a *unit value* that is calculated by dividing the *total value* by the *number of units.* If the *number of units* is zero then the *unit value* column will be blank on those rows.

Schema Changes

Over time there will be changes to the definition of various objects and fields will be deleted. This will have an effect on the behaviour of the application.

Forms

Form Builder is the interface to edit objects, so changes to an object will immediately update the current form; where there are multiple forms for an object an error will appear when the form is opened.

Reports

Reports that were created before the deletion may still have these fields as columns in the report definition. When this happens, the report will run for users but the affected column will be missing because it cannot be resolved when the report runs. This will continue to happen until the the report definition is edited; when report builder is

opened then a message appears saying that the affected columns will be deleted when the report definition is saved, thereby automatically resolving the problem.

Workflow Errors

An error in a workflow will result in the workflow ending with a failed state, even if only a single record causes the failure. An example is a Get Records loop, where an error on one record will cause the entire workflow to fail. The Workflow Runs page has a history of workflow execution and the state of each, where **Completed** indicates success and **Failed** denotes a failure.

Some workflow activities contain timeout routing, which is a method for the application builder to manage how expiry conditions are handled.

Update

Last Modified on 27/05/2020 10:27 am AEST

Data Activities				
E Create		Update		Update
🖆 Update	:=s	click to edit des	cription	
× Delete	Record			
😳 Clone	Field o	or Relationship		×
Change Type	Name			
Get Records	Value			
💵 For Each	Add Fi	eld or Relationship]	
J Gateway				

Purpose

Update Field(s) or Relationship(s) for a selected Record.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Record	Select the Record to updated. This can be set via:RecordParameterCalculation

Click on Add Field or Relationship for each entry to create.	Setting	Description
Name The Name of the Field or Relationship to be updated in this entry. This can be set via: • Field • Relationship • Calculation Field or Relationship If updating via a Relationship, two additional options are displayed 1. Add related record - used to link multiple Records via this Relationship 2. Replace existing record - Replace the currently linked Records Value The Value to set the Field or Relationship to. This can be set via: • Parameter • Calculation	Field or Relationship	 Click on Add Field or Relationship for each entry to create. Name The Name of the Field or Relationship to be updated in this entry. This can be set via: Field Relationship Calculation If updating via a Relationship, two additional options are displayed Add related record - used to link multiple Records via this Relationship Replace existing record - Replace the currently linked Records Value The Value to set the Field or Relationship to. This can be set via: Parameter Calculation

Parameters created

None

Delete

Last Modified on 27/05/2020 1:33 pm AEST

 Data Activities Create Update 			
× Delete	×	Delete click to edit description	Delete
턚 Clone	Record	1	
Change Type			
Get Records			
For Each			
Gateway			

Purpose

Delete the specified record(s).

Configuration

Setting	Description
Record to delete	 Specify the Record(s) to be deleted. This can be set via: Record Parameter Calculation

Parameters created

None

Clone

Last Modified on 28/05/2020 3:40 pm AEST

Data Activities		
E Create	Clone click to edit description	Clone
🗢 Update	Record	
× Delete	Object	
문 Clone	Field or Relationship	×
Change Type	Name	
Get Records	Value	
For Each	Add Field or Relationship	
Gateway		

Purpose

Clone a Record from one Object to another.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Record	 The Record to be cloned. This can be set via: Record Parameter Calculation
Object	The destination Object that the Record(s) will be cloned to. This can be the same object as the source object or a different object Note: The destination Object may be the same or a different Object. If it is the same Object, all Fields will be copied across. If its a different object, only Fields of the same Name and Type will be copied across automatically.

Setting	Description
Field or Relationship	Update additional fields or relationships in addition to what is automatically copied as above. Click on Add Field or Relationship for each additional entry to create. Name The Name of the Field or Relationship to be updated in this entry. This can be set via: • Field • Relationship • Calculation If updating via a Relationship, two additional options are displayed 1. Add related record - used to link multiple Records via this Relationship 2. Replace existing record - Replace the currently linked Records Value The Value to set the Field or Relationship to. This can be set via: • Parameter • Calculation

Parameters created

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Record	Record	The record created by the clone activity

Additional Notes

- Resource Keys can be set to restrict duplicate records. An attempt to clone a Record that violates any Resource Keys for that Object will not be allowed to clone.
- Relationships are clones based on the Relationship Type. A property called 'Clone' is set based on the following options:
 - Drop this Relationship is dropped when record is cloned so the new record will have this relationship empty
 - *Clone References* Will copy the relationship to the same record e.g. if Owner is Clone Reference, then the new record will point to the same Owner.
 - Clone Entities A copy of the destination is also made and the new Record will point to the new

destination e.g. If *Course* has *Notes* with Clone Entities set, then cloning the *Course* will also clone all the *Notes*, and the new *Notes* will be linked to the new course.

Change Type

Last Modified on 28/05/2020 3:40 pm AEST

Data Activities		
💷 Create	Change Type click to edit description	Change Type
౨ Update	Record	
× Delete	Object	
면 Clone	Field or Relationship	×
Change Type	Name	
Get Records	Value	
For Each	Add Field or Relationship	
J Gateway		

Purpose

To change the Type of an existing Record, used to avoid having to create a new Record and delete the old one when migrating Records. Triggers are suppressed on a **Change Type** activity - no Triggers are fired after the conversion.

Configuration

Setting	Description
Record	 The Record to change Types. This can be set via: Record Parameter Calculation

Setting	Description
Object	 The Object to change the Type to. Note: When using the Change Type activity to change the type of a record from A to B where the type of A is T_A and the type of B is T_B: When T_A is a base type of T_B (i.e. T_B inherits T_A) then all the Fields and Relationships of A will be automatically be present on the updated Record When T_B is a base type of T_A (i.e. T_A inherits T_B) then only the Fields and Relationships that exist on B should be present on the updated Record When T_A and T_B both derive from a common ancestor type T_C then only the Fields and Relationships defined for T_C will be present on the updated Record
Field or relationship	Click on Add Field or Relationship for each entry to create. Name The Name of the Field or Relationship to be additionally updated in this Activity. This can be set via: • Field • Relationship • Calculation If updating via a Relationship, two additional options are displayed 1. Add related record - used to link multiple Records via this Relationship 2. Replace existing record - Replace the currently linked Records Value The Value to set the Field or Relationship to. This can be set via: • Parameter • Calculation

Parameters created

Parameter	Туре	Description
[Activity Name].Record	Record	The record created by the change type activity

Examining Workflow Runs

Last Modified on 27/05/2020 2:04 pm AEST

Examining Workflow Runs

Examine Workflow Run assists Tenant Administrators in troubleshooting or fine tuning workflow execution. The **Examine** option is available via the Right Click context menu, or via selecting the Workflow Run record and selecting **Examine** from the Action list.

Workflow Runs					
ن Action -					
Workflow	Version Modified date				
Initiate Resources	1 19/05/2020 2:09 pm				
Generate Scen	View 'Initiate Resources' 9 pm				
Activate Plan	Examine 'Initiate Resources' 7 pm				
	Cancel 'Initiate Resources'				
	Redirect to Latest Version				
Ċ	Replay Run				
Examine Work	flow Run from Context Menu				

This will show summary page with details that may be toggled on (blue) or off (gray). The number of tabs shown depends on what activities are in the workflow, as well as the state of the workflow; for example, if there are no *Variables* in the Workflow, then the *Variables* tab will not be present.

Below is an example page of **Examine Workflow Run** on a failed Workflow.

Workflow: S	et Gap (193	0652)		State: Failed
Triggering run: Duplicate Funct	ion (2043351)			
Trigger: Recalculate Gap (19372	91)			
Triggering entity: Contact Cent	re Specialist (2084542)			
Started at: 2020-05-19 14:57:02	757 +1000			
Completed at: 2020-05-19 14:57	:07.753 +1000			
Last updated: 2020-05-19 14:57	:07.833 +1000			
Duration (ms): 163				
Correlation code: S04844-P085	39:report:1921536-Z894389-	191455		
Error Log: Workflow run interna	al error (2044613)			
Inputs	Variables	Steps taken	Time in activities	Activity outputs
Showing: Activity outputs, Inpu	ts, Steps taken, Time in activi	ties, Variables		
	The	Examine Workflow Ru	n Summary Page	

State information

There are up to six potential information tabs that will be available in the Examine page. At the bare minimum, *Steps Taken* and *Time in Activities* will always be available.

- 1. Inputs
- 2. Variables
- 3. Steps Taken
- 4. Time in Activities
- 5. Activity Outputs
- 6. Child Runs

Inputs

Inputs	^
Resources: Contact Centre Specialist (2084542)	
Inputs section of Examine Workflow Run	

This the input parameter(s) to the workflow, which links to the object(s) view form. Tenant Administrators may check here to verify that the expected Input is being passed into the Workflow - should this be unexpected, the flow must be traced upstream to determine why.

Variables

Variables		^
Process MAO Numeric: 4 Business RTO Numeric: 4 Upstream MAO Numeric: 0 Has Gap: False		
	Variables section of Examine Workflow Run	

The current state of *Variable* values are shown in this section. If the Workflow run has produced some unexpected results, knowing what the Variable values are will assist in correctly tracing through the execution path.

Steps taken

Steps taken					^
Timestamp	Step	Activity	Evaluate inputs (ms)	Run (ms)	-
2020-05-19 14:57:07.583 +1000	1	Gateway1	0	0	
2020-05-19 14:57:07.583 +1000	2	ls a People Resource with Key Person Risk	0	0	
2020-05-19 14:57:07.614 +1000	3	Update	0	28	
2020-05-19 14:57:07.630 +1000	4	Gateway	1	1	+
	Steps 7	Faken section of Examine Workflow R	Run		

This is the ordered sequence of activities (limited to the last 200). This information is used to determine the exact path this Workflow Run is or has taken to assist in troubleshooting a Workflow Run, such as:

- 1. Walking through the Workflow to check that given the understood *Inputs*, *Variables* and expected state of fields on which Workflow Calculations are dependent that the Workflow is following the intended path
- 2. Using the Timestamp to interleave the execution history of Activities across multiple concurrently running Workflows. This is of significant importance where changes effected by one Workflow may impact other running Workflows. For example, Workflow A makes a change to a field value on Record X, and Workflow B using using that value from Record X as an evaluator in a Gateway Activity.
- 3. The Run (ms) metric will assist in identifying performance bottlenecks at the individual Step level. Conversely, the *Time in Activities* tab provides aggregated time metrics.

Time in activities				
Activity	Count	Evaluate inputs (ms)	Run (ms)	Total time (ms)
User Message	1	8	70	78
Update Business	1	0	35	35
Update	1	0	28	28
Assign Bus	1	1	1	2
Gateway	1	1	1	2

Time in Activities

Summary activity information is shown here in milliseconds, divided into preparation time - *Evaluate inputs(ms)* and running time - *Total time (ms)*. This information is useful when Tenant Administrators are seeking to optimise the run time of Workflows by providing direction as to where the most time is being spent by the Workflow Run under inspection.

By comparing the *Time in Activities* in several Workflow Runs of the same Workflow, Tenant Administrators may be able to infer additional information such as whether it has been degrading over time (which may be symptomatic of

growth of the volume of data the Workflow is interacting with), or if a particular Workflow Run is an outlier (Workflow Runs before and after are similar, but the one under inspection is significantly greater - which may be symptomatic of varying Platform load over the course of the day).

Activity outputs

Activity outputs
Create Link URL: https://us.readinow.com/sp/#/Dev/1968847/viewForm?formId=196514966
Link:
For Each Asset Record: (1951089)
Security Doc Document: Security Report (1967571)
Risk Manager Completed task: Property Works: Complete - BROWNS PLAINS (1967577)
Activities Outputs section of Examine Workflow Run

These are Entities that have been generated by the workflow, such URL Links, new Records, User Messages/Inputs, or Tasks from a Launch Person Campaign or User Action activity.

Check here to verify that the expected Outputs were created by the Workflow.

Child runs

Child runs
Start Assessment (1938893)
Child Runs section of Examine Workflow Run

This section lists Workflows that were initiated from the current workflow by a Run Workflow activity. Each Workflow Run in the list is a link to the Examine Workflow Run page for that specific Child Run.

Note that if any Child Workflow Run fails, the Parent Workflow Run will also be marked as failed.

Introduction

Last Modified on 26/05/2020 5:36 pm AEST

The ReadiNow Platform affords Tenant Administrators extraordinary power and freedom to build bespoke applications that meet their precise requirements. At the heart of the Platform resides the Workflow Engine, which allows for the creation of ever increasingly complex Workflows, wide scale automation of processes and the manipulation of large volumes of data. While this level of freedom is where the power of the Platform shines through, it comes with a degree of responsibility and accountability that Tenant Administrators should be prepared to take ownership.

It is not possible to provide a simple Troubleshooting FAQ that lists common problems mapped to their solutions, as any given problem could manifest in a myriad of ways, and it all depends on how the application is designed and built.

The articles contained within this section are based on real life case studies whose purpose is to provide a framework and mindset to Tenant Administrators as to how they might investigate issues on their applications. They chronicle in detail the kinds of troubleshooting that is required and showcase how finding the root cause of issues are not black and white affairs.

A Workflow has started to fail despite the Workflow was unchanged

Last Modified on 25/05/2020 12:17 pm AEST

Assuming that the Workflow is unchanged and that the Platform has not changed since the last successful Workflow run, consider that a Workflow is not a discrete entity but rather a potentially highly complex set of Activities that has the potential to touch upon nearly every aspect of the Platform.

While the Workflow may itself remain unchanged, any changes made to any entity which the Workflow interacts with has potential impact.

Below are a few potential causes to illustrate this:

- The volume of data with which one of the Workflow Activities is interacting has increased beyond documented Platform capacities. This may been the result of a gradual increase over time that has reached a critical point, or a recent and significant data injection
- A Report which the Workflow relies on is timing out. This may be an example of data growth as above, or that some aspect of the Report has changed since the last Workflow Run, or one of the Report calculations has been altered in a way that degrades performance.
- There was a change to the security rules that leads to Reports timing out, or blocking access to certain entities that was required for the Workflow to execute successfully. It may be happening across or users, or only a subset of users.

This is by no means an exhaustive list but serves as an example of the potential complexity behind the cause of a Workflow that had run successfully in the past, even for a long period of time, may suddenly stop with no clear reason.

If this should happen, a good place to start is selecting the failed Workflow Run record in the **Workflow Runs** report and select Examine - please refer to Examining Workflow Runs for more detail.

Below is a Sample Cast Study to demonstrate how an investigation of a failing Workflow could be undertaken, and primarily serves as a guideline as to how Tenant Administrators might perform such troubleshooting.

Sample Case Study

There was a Workflow called *Set Gap* which had been running without an issue when it suddenly started to fail. It had been verified that the Workflow has not changed since the last successful run.

The Tenant Administrator opens the Workflow Run report by navigating to Administration > Workflows > Workflow Runs and locates the record for the failed run, and selects Examine from the Context Menu.

Workflow		Versi	Modified date	Status
Set Gap	a	View 'Set Gap'	19/05/2020 2:57 pm	Failed
Initialise New Strate	~	view Set Gap	19/05/2020 2:57 pm	Completed
Initialise New Strate		Examine 'Set Gap'	19/05/2020 2:57 pm	Completed
Set Gap		Cancel 'Set Gap'	19/05/2020 2:57 pm	Completed
Initialise New Strate		Redirect to Latest Version	19/05/2020 2:57 pm	Completed
Set Gap	Q	Replay Run	19/05/2020 2:57 pm	Completed
Initialise New Strate		Export	19/05/2020 2:57 pm	Completed

This opens the **Examine Workflow Run** page. The Tenant Administrator toggles on *Steps Taken* to see at which Workflow Activity the run had reached when it failed.

Inputs		Variables	Steps t	aken		Time in activities	
Showing: Steps taken							
Steps taken							^
2020-05-19 14:57:07.399 +1000	2	Is a People Resource with Risk		1	2		•
2020-05-19 14:57:07.399 +1000	3	Workplace		0	1		
2020-05-19 14:57:07.413 +1000	4	Assign Numeric		8	9		
2020-05-19 14:57:07.413 +1000	5	Assign Upstream		0	1		
2020-05-19 14:57:07.429 +1000	6	Assign Process		1	2		
2020-05-19 14:57:07.460 +1000	7	Update as No Business		0	20		
2020-05-19 14:57:07.507 +1000	8	Get Business		0	47		
Steps Taken in the Examine Workflow Run page							

The Tenant Administrator scrolls down to see what the last step was and sees that it reached Step 8 - *Get Business*. He/she then navigates to Administration > Workflows > Workflows, locates the Workflow Set Gap and opens it in the Workflow Editor by double clicking.

 Workflows C - Action - + NEW WAR 	ORKFLOW 🖌 EDIT INLINE			
Name	Ve Description			
Set Gap	123			
Run Recalculation	4			
Schedule A Plan Activity	15			
The problematic Workflow				

The Tenant Administrator locates the last Workflow Activity registered in the *Steps Taken* tab of the Examine Workflow Runs page, above and inspects what this activity is doing.

Get Business	Get Busiclick to et	i ness dit description	Get Records
	Object	[Employee]	
	Report	Employees	
	Vith filters		
	Report Filter		×
	Condition	Employee	~
	Operator	Contains	~
	Value(s)	For Each Imported	
	Add Filter		
	Inspecting the p	problematic Activity	

The Tenant Administrator sees that this Activity is running the Report Employees against the Object Employee with filters. He/she navigates to Administration > Resources > Reports to load the Report and apply the same filters - which it does successfully.

The Tenant Administrator navigates back to **Administration > Workflows > Workflow Runs** and locates the record for the failed Workflow Run and checks who the Triggering User was.

Workfle	ow Runs									
C - ACTION -							T	Se	arch	٩
Workflow	Ve	Modified date	Status	Trigger	Log	Log Details	Pending	Cr	Correlati	Triggerin
Set Gap	123	19/05/2020 2:	Failed		4.00.00			19	S04844	Joseph
		lc	lentify	ing the	Trigg	ering User				

Using Report Diagnostics, the Tenant Administrator attempts to run the Report as that user and this time the Report times out.

Report Diagnos	tics	
Report Name	Employees	
User	Joseph	 ×
Show diagnostics	Use 'Current User Account'	
	Dov	vnload Close
	Run Timed as specified user via Report Diagnostics	

At this point it has become clear that the Workflow itself does not have a problem, but this Report with which the Workflow is using is has an issue, specifically when being run as the user 'Joseph'.

The Tenant Administrator then runs Show Diagnostics and attempts to identify the root cause.

Refer to Report Diagnostics documentation for further information on how to interpret Diagnostics.

My Workflow Runs are not running in the order I expect

Last Modified on 26/05/2020 5:49 pm AEST

While Workflow Runs are triggered on a first come, first serve basis, the order in which the Workflow Runs will be executed is not guaranteed to adhere to that order. This is not a Platform shortcoming but simply the case where potentially hundreds of Workflows may be queued to run or currently running cannot be handled in an enforced consecutive manner. In the vast majority of cases this will not have any impact on the correct functioning of the application, but it can present a potential issue if the Workflows have been designed in such a manner that timing down to the millisecond level becomes important - and should be a foremost design concern in the application architecture.

Consider a Parent Workflow A, which itself contains Child Workflows X, Y, Z and there are numerous Activities that result in firing off Triggers which in turn start their associated Workflows, each of which may have their own Child and Triggered Workflows. When designing a series of coordinated Workflows, and walking through all the possible paths and triggering events, there may be a scenario where the value of a particular Field in particular Record is used for a Calculation in another Workflow, and that value may not be the expected value at the time the latter Workflow executes.

Sample Case Study

The Tenant Administrator had noticed that on a very few Records, an important piece of data was missing which was meant to populated by a Workflow. These Records were for *IT Recovery Scenarios* which included the fields *Actual Start Time* and *Actual End Time*, which are in turn used in calculating the real elapsed time taken to execute that *IT Recovery Scenario*.

However, out of thousands of *IT Recovery Scenarios*, there were 6 that were missing *Actual Start Time*. As such, the elapsed time could not be calculated.

The Tenant Administrator knows which Workflow is responsible for setting the *Actual Start Time* and opens it in the Workflow Builder to commence troubleshooting. This Workflow is called *Act Start and End Time*, and the Input is an *IT Recovery Scenario* record. *BELOW*



The Tenant Administrator inspects the Gateway Activity and opens the Calculation used to determine the criteria

that the Gateway will take the Start Time path.

Edit Calculation
Q, × f(*) ≻ ③ ⊞</td
1 [Input].[Actual Start Time] is null and
[Input].[Status] = 'Running'
OK Cancel
Gateway Calculation for the Start Time path

This Calculation is saying "if the *IT Recovery Scenario* has no *Actual Start Time* value and the value for the field *Status* on this *IT Recovery Scenario* is equal to *Running*, then take this path".

The Tenant Administrator inspects the Update Start Activity - this appears to be straight forward.



It simply updates the value of *Actual Start Time* on the Input Record (*IT Recovery Scenario*) with the current date and time.

There is nothing that looks complicated about this Activity, and it has worked for the vast majority of Records that have been passed through it. Using the **Examine Workflow Run**, the Tenant Administrator views the *Steps Taken* tab for the *Act Start and End Time* Workflow for the record that was missing the *Actual Start Time* and notices a key piece of information - the Gateway did not take the *Start Time* path, and instead went straight to the End Activity.

teps taken				
Timestamp	Step	Activity	Evaluate inputs (ms)	Run (ms)
2020-05-25 14:39:43.777 +1000	1	Gateway	2	4
The	Gatewa	ay was the	only Activity execute	d

For some reason, based on the available evidence, the Calculation:

[Input].[Actual Start Time] is null and [Input].[Status] = 'Running'

... is returning FALSE (for the sake of accuracy, both paths evaluate as FALSE since neither path was taken, but we are focusing on Start since the expectation is that this returns TRUE). For that to occur, either the *Actual Start Time* is not empty, or the value for the *Status* field on the Input *IT Recovery Scenario* is not *Running*. Given that the problem the Tenant Administrator is troubleshooting is that the *Actual Start Time* is empty, that leaves only the other alternative - that the value for the field *Status* is not set as *Running* when this Gateway was evaluated.

The Tenant Administrator determines that the Act Start and End Time Workflow has a Trigger for it.

	Trigger	ſS									
TRIGGE	R ON CREAT	E/UPDAT	E								
Ģ -	ACTION +	+ NEW	🖍 EDIT	INLINE					Ŧ	Search	
Trigge	r on Create/U	pdate		Workflow to Run		Object to Trigger on	Enabled	Applications		Last im	Modifie
Trig Ste	p Start and En	d Time		Act Start and End Tir	ne	IT Recovery Scenario	•				
				The Trigger	responsible	e for Act Start and E	Ind Time				

Inspecting the Trigger, it is seen that the Act Start and End Time Workflow will be run whenever the Relationship Status on a Record of type IT Recovery Scenario has been updated.

TRIGGER DETAILS							_
Enabled :	V						
Triggered on :	Update						
Object to trigger on :	IT Recovery Scen	ario					
Workflow to run:	ITSCM - Act Star	and End 1	Time			L2	
Run in foreground :	V						
Allow self triggering :							
Fields to Trigger on	Relationships to T	rigger on	Running	Workflows	_		
C + ACTION +	🥂 🖉 🧪 EDIT INI	INE					
Name	From Object	Secure	Clone	Secure	To Object		Cardinality
Status	IT Recovery Scenario	No	Clone R	No	Status		Many to one
	Trigger definition	n for when	to run 'Ac	t Start and	l End time'		

The Tenant Administrator opens the Form for the IT Recovery Scenario to check in what ways the *Status* Field may be changed. When editing a Record, it can be seen that the *Status* Field is not directly editable from the Form. However, there is an Action Button labelled Start.

🔳 Step #4	Ļ			Save × Cancel Start
STEP EXECUTION DET	AIL	EXECUTION METRICS		
Step ID :	4	Ready to start? :	v	
Name :	Step #4	Status :	Not Started	
Recovery Instructions :	DBA team will execute the job	Exp Duration (Mins) :	45	
	12	Actual Duration (Mins) :		
Execution Order :	Sequential	Business Constraint:	None (As soon as possible)	
IT RTO :		Estimated Start Time :		
IT RTO Override :	[Select]	Actual Start Time :		
RTO Start? :		Estimated End Time :		
RTO End?:		Actual End Time :		
	An IT Recove	ery Scenario Reco	ord	

The Tenant Administrator then opens the *Start* Workflow in the Workflow Builder.



There are several Gateways which provide validation checks to ensure that this *IT Recovery Scenario* may be started - whether the initiator is part of the group that owns this *IT Recovery Scenario*, whether it has been marked as ready, whether it has been allowed to be started, and whether it was already marked as *Running*.

Inspecting the sole Update Activity in the Workflow reveals that this is how the Trigger to run Act Start and End Time is fired - an update to the Status Relationship.



The scenario is as follows:

- 1. A user is viewing an IT Recovery Scenario who is a member of the group that owns it
- 2. The IT Recovery Scenario is marked as both ready and allowed to start, and it is not marked as Running
- 3. The user presses the Start Action button, and the *IT Recovery Scenario* Record is passed into the Start Workflow
- 4. It passes all of the Gateway checks contained within the Start workflow and reaches the Update Activity
- 5. The Running Update Activity changes the value of the Status Field from Not Started to Running
- 6. This change triggers the Act Start and End Time Workflow to execute, which takes the same IT Recovery Scenario Record as input

- 7. The Gateway in *Act Start and End Time* evaluated to FALSE, and by elimination it is because the value of the Status Field is not *Running*
- 8. The Act Start and End Time Workflowproceeds directly the End activity, and the value for Actual Start Time is not set

Due to the way that Workflows are queued, and depending on the precise timing, it is possible that the Act Start and End Time workflow runs to completion before the change to the value of the Status Field has been propagated to the database. In the vast majority of the cases this does not happen - when the Act Start and End Time Workflow's Gateway evaluates, the Status Field has been changed to Running.

However, in a very small number of cases this condition does occur, and as such the way these Workflows are implemented needs to be changed.

Consider that there are two Fields which are being acted on - the *Status* Field and the *Actual Start Time* field. Both of these values are on the same *IT Recovery Scenario* Record, and yet the updates are in two separate Workflows. The second Workflow, *Act Start and End Time* serves no other function than to set the *Actual Start Time* (and *Actual End Time*).

There is no reason to split the updates into two Workflows - there is an existing *Update* Activity in the *Start* Workflow that is already making a change to one Field. The solution is set the *Actual Start Time* in the same *Update* Activity that changes the *Status* Field.

[≣ <u>*</u>	Running click to edit desc	ription	Update
Record		[Input]	~
Field or F	Relationship		×
Name		[Status]	•
Value		[Running]	~
Field or F	Relationship		×
Name		[Actual Start Time]	.
Value		getdatetime()	.
Add Field	l or Relationship		
	Mitig	ating the race condition	

Before the Tenant Administrator is moves the update to the *Actual Start Time* out of the *Act Start and End Time* Workflow, the impact needs to be considered. The Act Start and End Time had Gateway conditions to dictate when to set the *Actual Start Time*:

[Input].[Actual Start Time] is null and [Input].[Status] = 'Running'

The second condition is checking whether the Status Field is set to Running, and given that the *Running* Update Activity is setting *Status* Field to *Running*, this does not represent a problem - there is no need to check as that condition is being set in that *Update* Activity.

The first condition is checking that there is no Actual Start Time value. This could be a problem if someone is able to

run the *Start* Workflow using an *IT Recovery Scenario* that is already *Running* or *Completed* where there is an existing value for *Actual Start Time* - the original value would be overridden with an incorrect value.

The Tenant Administrator revisits the *IT Recovery Scenario* Form and checks the Start Action Button. It is only visible when the *Status* Field is set to *Not Started*.

Action Button Pro	operties		Finish Start + Actions
Name :	Start		A
Show When:	[Status]='Not Started'	Q f(s) 2<br OK Cancel	 <
	Start Action button visibi	ility calculation	

As long as the following criteria are met, it is safe to make the change:

- 1. There is no other valid path to populate Actual Start Time apart from the Start Workflow
- 2. The *Start* Workflow can only be initiated on an *IT Recovery Scenario* Record via the Start Action button on the Form
- 3. That the default value for all IT Recovery Scenario Records for the Status Field is Not Started

Once this is done, the Tenant Administrator knows there is another avenue to check, even though there is not yet an issue arising from it - the Act Start and End Time Workflow, as the name states, does both the Start and End times. It is possible that the Gateway that evaluates the condition for the End path may be vulnerable to the same problem.



The Tenant Administrator now follows a similar analytical approach as they did with the Actual Start Time to determine if there is a safer way to implement this.

Welcome to the ReadiNow platform

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 11:02 am AEDT

Before we begin

The ReadiNow platform makes it easy for anyone to create business applications that automate processes across the organisation. Beautiful, professional applications can be created without the need for programmers or heavy configuration effort. Simply drag and drop to create forms, reports, charts and workflows.



This starting guide provides a high-level overview of the ReadiNow platform, its major components and how these components interconnect with each other to provide a fully functioning solution. If you are new to ReadiNow, or if you want a refresher on the basics of the platform capabilities, then this guide is for you.

Points to note

- The ReadiNow platform is web-based. All you need to get started is your browser and an internet connection. Check out the supported browsers here
- Ensure you have your URL and login details handy.
- You can access your application anywhere at anytime using your PC, tablet or mobile phone.

Training

• ReadiNow offers online platform training and it is recommended that any user undertaking any administration or configuration activity complete this training course.

-->

Introduction to ReadiNowTerminology

Last Modified on 22/12/2021 12:58 pm AEDT

As a ReadiNow customer, you are provided with a Tenant you can use to create multiple applications. Each application you create will include three major components: *Schema*, *User Interface*, *and Automation*. These three components play important roles in all applications.

Familiarize yourself with the following terminology as it will be used throughout this guide. Simply hover on the icon to view the corresponding description.

Tenant						
	Appl	ication				
	Schema	User Interface				
	Object	Reports				
	Relationship	Forms				
	Record	Charts				
		Screens				
		Boards				
		Navigation				
	Auto	mation				
	Workflows					
	Email and SMS Alerts					
	Document Generation					

Introduction to ReadiNow Application Components

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 11:43 am AEDT

ReadiNow tenants can host multiple applications. Depending on the design of the applications, it is possible to allow data to flow between the applications. This helps to prevent the development of departmental silos.

The diagram below is an example of a single application showing the different platform components and how they relate to each other.

Tenant		
	Application	

The outer yellow circle represents your **Application**. You may like to think of this as a container that holds the collection of platform resources used for your solution.

The top purple box shows your **Objects**. An object is used to define something, like a person or a building. You add fields to the object to specify the details that you are interested in. For example, Person might have Address, Email and Phone. Building might have Address and Number of Floors. It is possible to create links between your objects. These links are called **Relationships**. For example, Person might have a relationship to Building, to show which people work in which building.

The blue circle is titled **Resources**. Resources can be thought of as all those things that help you work with your data. For example, a Form allows you to view an existing record or create a new one. Reports show information about multiple records. Charts are a graphical representation of reports. Workflow allow you to automate your business processes, by manipulating data for you.

Finally, the bottom orange box is your **Navigation**. Navigation allows you to display your resources in line with your application design. For example, a Screen (or dashboard) can display Reports, Forms and Charts. A Board allows you to display a report in a Kanban style. Sections and Tabs allow you to group your application resources into a logical flow.

Introduction to Objects

Last Modified on 09/11/2022 11:57 pm AEDT

Objects are the foundations of your application, they are used to define something, like a *person* or a *building*. The ReadiNow platform comes with built-in (out of the box) Objects. You can build on top of these and/or create your own Objects. The following table explains differences between these Objects:

Object	Description
Out of the box Object	Any object included as part of an 'out of box' application. Note: An 'out of box' object cannot be 'repurposed' if not utilised as it may subsequently cause issues for future upgrades or compromise the design of the out of the box application. Licence Fees associated with Out of Box Objects are included with the application licence.
Abstract Object	An object that acts only for the purpose of schema modelling and acts as a parent for other derived objects. Abstract objects do not hold any records themselves. Abstract objects are defined in the object properties where 'abstract property' is set to 'true'. Abstract Objects are not chargeable
Reporting Object	An object that is used to summarise existing records for displaying existing Objects data, usually in the form of reports or dashboards etc. Reporting Objects are not chargeable.
Custom Object/Expansion Block	An object created to hold business data (eg applications) and typically used for new use cases or expansion of out of the box applications. These objects are separately chargeable. Also known an Expansion Object or Application Building block.

For instructions on creating and Object, visit Creating an Object.

When creating objects, by default they are tagged as 'Custom Objects' and will be counted in your license metrics if the object is created in or moved to your production tenant. If you believe the object you create should not be chargeable as it falls within the definitions of Abstract or Reporting object, please contact your account manager.

You add fields to Objects to specify the details that you are interested in. When adding a new field, you select the type of field that is most appropriate for your data. Some examples to field types include:
- boolean (yes/no)
- choice
- numeric
- text

You might, for example, have an object called Library with fields called Address and Collection. And you might have an object called Book. Fields for Book might include Type, Cost and Location.

Objects are linked to each other through relationships. For example, a relationship between Library (Address) and Book (Location) would allow you to specify which books were located in which libraries.

If we add another object called Member, we could add more relationships to show which library a member belonged to and which books the member had borrowed.

There are three types of relationships:

- one to one (one book can be on loan to one member)
- one to many (one library can have many members)
- many to many (many libraries can have many books)

Introduction to Reports

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 11:07 am AEDT

Reports are used to list a set of records and to access the forms of individual records.

A report is based on an object, called the base object. The report can include some or all of the fields from the object. If the base object has relationships to other objects, then you may add fields from those objects to your report.

e.g. You could create a report based on Library that showed Members (from the Library Object) and postcode (from the Members object).

Different kinds of formatting can be applied to the columns of a report. Some of the formatting options are simple (alignment) and some are more complex (conditional formatting). You can also perform operations such as totals and subtotals, or group-by (roll up). To learn more about a report's basic capabilities, click here.

After you have created and configured your report, creating a record is easy. Simply click on the + NEW button to open a blank form in edit mode. Now you can fill out the fields with the necessary information.

Introduction to Forms

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 11:08 am AEDT

Forms are used to manipulate data. They display a single record at a time.

Forms are based on an object and have two modes:

- View Mode Fields are read only.
- Edit Mode Fields are editable. Edit mode allows you to create a new record or edit an existing record.

When you create or edit a form you will be able to see all the fields that have been added to the object. You can choose which fields you need to add to the form. This means different forms based on the same object can show different information. If you need a piece of information that is not already present, you will be able to add a new field to the form and to the object.

Fields come in different types to help you record your data easily and accurately. For example, a numeric field will not accept a text input.

To learn more about configuring forms, see Form Builder .

Introduction to Charts

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 11:10 am AEDT

A Chart is a graphical representation of the data in a report. This means, like a report, a chart has a base object. And like a report, a chart can contain fields from related objects. However, the chart can only include the fields shown in the chart's base report. If you want to add an additional field from the object you will either have to add the extra field to your existing report, or create a new report that includes the field.

There are many different types of chart available. Pick the type of chart that is responsible for the shape of the data you have.

To learn more about a chart's basic capabilities, click here .

Introduction to Screens

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 11:11 am AEDT

Screens, or dashboards, are used to combine multiple reports, forms and charts into a single page. They are great for providing a snapshot of your data.

Screens use the concept of "master-detail". A master resource will determine what is displayed in a detail resource.

For example, lets say we have a report of libraries that included the state for each library along with the number of books by category. In the accompanying column chart we might show the number of books by category by state. Next we make the chart the master (parent) of the report. If we click on a particular state in the chart, the report will change to show information from only the same state.

See a screen sample here.

Introduction to Boards

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 11:12 am AEDT

Boards are special reports that can be used to visualise records as 'cards' in a kanban style. Cards are represented visually on a kanban board, allowing team members to see the state of every piece of work at any time.

Another advantage of the kanban board is that data can be updated with 'drag and drop'. For example, your kanban board might have three columns representing three status types: planning; in progress and completed. As you drag a card from one column to the next, the status field on each record will be updated.

To learn more about a board's basic capabilities, click here .

Creating an Application

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 10:41 am AEDT

- 1. Login to your tenant using your administrator credentials.
- 2. After successfully logging in, you will be redirect to your tenant landing page.
- 3. Turn on configuration mode by clicking on the spanner on top right. This will enable the "New Application" option.
- 4. Click on New Application to start the application creation process.

Name :	New Applicat	ion	
Description :			
			2
Format Deplo	ру		

- 5. Enter a Name for your application.
- 6. **Description** is optional but it is a good practice to add one especially if you are planning to build multiple applications.
- 7. Under **Options** -> **Format** tab, choose an icon from the list that suits your application name.
- 8. If you want to use your own custom icon, here is the process to upload it.
 - From your landing page, click on **Documents.** This will open up your Document Library.
 - On the left menu, click on Document Library to expand the sub-folders.
 - Click on Icons -> New.
 - Upload your icon and click Save.
- 9. Finally, under **Options -> Deploy** tab, select Desktop, Tablet, and Mobile as appropriate.
- 10. Click **OK** to save and exit.

Creating an Object

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 10:42 am AEDT

There are two methods of creating an object.

Option 1:

After creating your application, you will be presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 on. (The green spanner continuity icon on the top right is enabled.) locate the presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 on. (The green spanner continuity icon on the top right is enabled.) locate the presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 on. (The green spanner continuity icon on the top right is enabled.) locate the presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 on. (The green spanner continuity icon on the top right is enabled.) locate the presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 on. (The green spanner continuity icon on the top right is enabled.) locate the presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 on. (The green spanner continuity icon on the top right is enabled.) locate the presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 on. (The green spanner continuity icon on the top right is enabled.) locate the presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 on. (The green spanner continuity icon on the top right is enabled.) locate the presented with a blank canvas. Ensure that configuration mode is
 ensure that configu

Administration (😑)

on the top right of your screen and select

• This will load the Create New Page selection screen.

-

• Select New Object -> Create.

Option 2:

- Navigate to the Application Menu
 Administration.
- Locate Resources -> Objects.
- Click New to create a new Object.

The New Object dialog box

Object name :			
Description :			
			12
Script name :			
Applications :		1	×
Extends from :		1	X
Abstract type :			
Multiple type :			
lcon:	/ ×		

- 1. Enter a value for your Object name.
- 2. Briefly describe the usage of this object in to the description field.
- 3. The *Script name* is automatically populated as you key in your Object name. Both Object and Script names should match.
- 4. Link this object to your newly created Application. Click on the pencil icon beside the Applications field, search and select your new application from the list.
- 5. Click OK when done or Cancel to start over again.

Note: The creation of the object triggers the automatic creation of a default form and default report for that object. In addition, after the object has been created, to streamline the configuration process, the created form will automatically be loaded in Edit Mode for you to add fields.

Creating a Report

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 10:42 am AEDT

Note: When an object is created, the system will automatically create a default report for this object. If you intend to create additional reports, please follow the steps below.

- Navigate to the Application Menu
 Administration
 Administration
- On the left hand menu -> Locate Resources -> Objects
- Search for and double click your Object name
- On the right hand side of your screen, locate and click the + Report button

+ Report + Form + Chart

- This will open the New Report dialog box
- Give your new report an appropriate name and click OK
- This will open a new report in report builder
- You can now add fields to the new report
- Click Save when done.

Creating a Form

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 10:43 am AEDT

Note: When an object is created, the system will automatically create a default form for this object. If you intend to create additional forms, please follow the steps below.

- Navigate to the Application Menu
 Administration
 Administration
- On the left hand menu -> Locate Resources -> Objects.
- Search for and double click your Object name
- On the right hand side of your screen, locate and click the **+ Form** button

+ Report + Form + Chart

- This will create a new form in Form Builder
- Click the Name at the top of the form to edit the name as per your requirements
- Add fields and related objects to the form
- Click Save when done.

Creating a Chart

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 10:43 am AEDT

Note: When an object is created, the system will automatically create a default form and a default report for this object. But a default chart will not be created automatically.

- Navigate to the Application Menu
 Administration
 Administration
- On the left hand menu -> Locate Resources -> Objects.
- Search for and double click your Object name.
- On the right hand side of your screen, locate and click the + Chart button

+ Report + Form + Chart

- This will open the new chart dialog box
- Give your new chart a name
- Select the type of chart you wish to have
- Click OK when done
- This will open a new chart in chart builder
- You can now drag and drop fields from the left-hand column to the series panel
 - The fields in the left-hand column are the same fields that are shown on your report. If a field you want is missing, check that the field has been added to the report.
- Click Save when done.

Creating Relationships

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 10:44 am AEDT

Using Form Builder

- Navigate to the Application Menu Administration.
- 2. Navigate to **Resources** > **Forms**
- 3. Search for your form > Right click > Edit
- 4. Locate the + to add a field / relationship
- 5. Click on Other > Relationship > Hold and drag and drop to the Form canvas.

a 🔨

Administration (=

- 6. Select which **Object** you wanted to connect to (this will auto populate the Name field).
- 7. Add a description explaining what the relationship is used for and where
- 8. Click OK when done.

on the top right of your screen and select

Configuring Navigation

Last Modified on 05/10/2020 10:45 am AEDT

Creating Tabs

- Ensuring that the configuration mode is **ON** with the green spanner **c** icon on the top right is enabled
- Locate the +NEW TAB button and click once.
- This will load the create new tab dialog box.

Name :		Foster Uni	versity	
Description :		Main land	ing page for the Foster University application.	٤
Advanced	Format	Deploy		
Applications:			Foster University	

- Add a tab name and description.
- Ensure that the new tab is linked to your application.
- Click **OK** when done.

Adding Sections and Resources to the Left Menu

- Still on configuration mode, locate the + Page Item button and click once.
- This will load the *Create New Page* selection screen.
- Select the elements you would like to display.

Navigation Access

Navigation Access grants a User Role the access to see a specific navigation item, to configure this, click here

13. Application Breakdown - Navigation - leave this one

Last Modified on 02/10/2020 7:26 am AEST



Best Practices Configure Videos

Naming Conventions

• When choosing a navigation tab, pick a name that is relevant to its use. Use descriptive titles in the left navigation panel, especially if the purpose of a screen is to specifically create something. For example,

--- Create Risk Assessment

• Use title case for your tab names.

Description

• It is recommended to add a description of the tab usage.

Tabs to Align to Process

- Where possible, use the 'left to right' navigation of tabs in a module.
- When you are inside a tab, the left navigation panel should align with the logical steps of a process.

Simplify Navigation

Access to information in ReadiNow is not modular. You can simplify the way users interact with the platform.
 For example, 'Reporting Only' users can have all they need in a single screen, rather than needing to navigate to the different modules.

Application Linking

• It is important to check that your tabs are linked to the correct applications.

Combining all your user interface resources together into your navigation completes your application. You have done the basics and congratulations on completing ReadiNow's Getting Started and Best Practices Guide.

Our knowledge base is full of helpful resources to guide you learn and improve your application. As you progress on adding more functionalities on your application, you will learn to use advanced features and we are here to assist you.

For now, get back into that application and improve it as you see fit. Happy building!

 \leftarrow Previous

 $\mathsf{Finish} \, {\boldsymbol{\rightarrow}} \,$

4. Application Breakdown - Application - leave this one for now

Last Modified on 30/09/2020 7:37 pm AEST



Best Practices Configure Videos

Application name

• The best application names are short and simple. Try to pick a name that reflects the application's purpose.

Application icon

- Choose an icon that provides clarity and aligns to your application name.
- The file types can be svg or png.
- A square icon works best (e.g. 256 x 256 pixels).

Deploy type

• It is recommended to select all deploy options (Desktop, Tablet, Mobile) to cover all device types.

Single solution

• If you have several related solutions in mind, create them individually as smaller applications. Smaller applications run faster than one large application. Do not worry about creating silos as the ReadiNow platform makes it easy to integrate applications.

After creating your application, you will be presented with a blank canvas and you can now start creating your platform resources needed for your application.

The next stage is to guide you through the best practices in creating and managing your objects.

 \leftarrow Previous

6. Application Breakdown - Relationships - leave this one

Last Modified on 30/09/2020 8:14 pm AEST



Best Practices

Configure Videos

Naming Conventions

- Use title case on your fields and titles.
- When creating relationships, use unique names for the following:
 - Relationship Name
 - Script Name
 - Reverse Name

	Contract	
Display Name :		
Description :		
Object:	Contract	/ ×
✓ RELATIONSHIP	TYPE	
V OWNERSHIP		
SECURITY		
▲ OPTIONS Form Detail	Form Behaviour Object Detail Format	
COPTIONS Form Detail Default Value:	Form Behaviour Object Detail Format	
COPTIONS Form Detail Default Value: Relationship Na	Form Behaviour Object Detail Format	×
COPTIONS Form Detail Default Value: Relationship Na Script Name :	Form Behaviour Object Detail Format	×
COPTIONS Form Detail Default Value: Relationship Na Script Name : Reverse Name :	Form Behaviour Object Detail Format	
COPTIONS Form Detail Default Value: Relationship Na Script Name : Reverse Name : Hide in Reverse	Form Behaviour Object Detail Format	

Description

• A description of what that relationship is used for can be extremely useful for audit purposes and peer review tracking.

Cardinality

 Think about how the cardinality is structured. For example, the relationship between Department and Employees is a one to many relationship, and the name should reflect this. A good name would be Department - Employees. The "one" end of the relationship has a singular name and the "many" end has a plural name.

It is important that you fully understand the concept of an object and creating relationships as this will help you fully appreciate the power of the platform and enjoy building applications.

The next stage of the guide is to introduce you with forms, a very important resource used to create records.

← Previous

Introduction to Forms \rightarrow

7.Introduction to Forms - leave this one

Last Modified on 30/09/2020 8:42 pm AEST

	Forms
	Forms are used to access, edit and create new records. Forms are the main way to view and edit data. Forms are based on an object and have two modes:
Full Application Diagram	 View Mode - Fields are read only. Edit Mode - Fields are editable. To configure forms, see Form Builder .

Best Practices

Configure Videos

Naming Conventions

- When choosing a form title, pick a title that is relevant to its use and what information you are presenting to your users.
- Use title case on your titles.

Description

• A description of what and where the form is used can be extremely useful for audit purposes and peer review tracking.

Fields

- Name and lookups are set to Autofill horizontally to give more visibility.
- Other fields default to Compact but may be changed to Autofill if required.
- *Choice fields* should be alphabetically sorted unless they are sorted by a categorisation (i.e. priority, severity, critical etc.)

Field Groups

• Consider using *field groups* to categorise fields and relationships .

Form Container

• Typically, the first left hand container will be titled < Object Name > Details.

Form Layouts

• Forms with **multiple Reports** can be slow to open. Place Reports in Tabbed Containers to reduce the overall loading time of the Form. By default the first Tab of a Tabbed Container will be 'active' (the 'default Tab') and

its content will load immediately. Content (including Reports) placed in other Tabs only loads when the Tab is activated.

- Mandatory fields should be placed directly on the Form, in non-tabbed containers, or in the 'primary Tab' of a tabbed container. In other words, mandatory fields should be visible without having to search through Tabs. In situations where a field in a 'non-primary tab' must be mandatory there are 2 approaches to consider:
 - Custom Form Validation
 - Conditional Mandatory

Relationships

- Consider which relationships you want to show. There is an option: "*Do not show in reverse*". This does exactly what the name suggests
 - For example: Last Approved By may have little value in the other direction and would just clutter the report and form builder.

Application Linking

• It is important that you link your form to your application as this is the main requirement for you to properly package and publish your application later on.

After you have completed adding all your fields and relationships, your form is now ready to be used. There are a few ways on how to access your form. The most common way is through reports.

The next stage of this guide is to introduce you on the best practices to configure your report.

← Previous

Introduction to Reports \rightarrow

What Is a Nova Application?

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:42 am AEDT

Nova represents the evolution and enhancement of Readinow's platform, introducing a new and improved interface that includes updated design elements and improved user experience. As a term, "Nova application" encapsulates the second version of applications offered by Readinow, highlighting its innovative features and the revamped interface that users can expect when utilizing this new version. Users can anticipate a more modern, user-friendly, and efficient experience when interacting with the Nova application for their tasks.



Points to note: 🔗

• Nova is an improvement to the user interface tools. Existing structural elements such asObjects are still used.

Creating a Nova application

Last Modified on 12/04/2024 10:49 am AEST

- 1. Log in to your tenant using your administrator credentials.
- 2. After successfully logging in, you will be redirected to your tenant landing page.
- 3. Go to Administration



4. In the left menu, click on ReadiNow Nova and then click on Apps



5. An **Apps** page will appear. In the upper right side of the screen, click on the **Create new** button to start the creation process.



6. In the New App pop-up screen, complete the following information:

- App Name this is the unique identifier assigned to the application.
- **Description** the concise and informative piece of text that introduces and highlights the key features, and functionalities of the application.
- **URL Slug** the part of a URL that identifies a particular application. It is the segment of the URL that comes after the domain name and any subdirectories.
- **Display menu** if enabled, this will add the top menu to all new pages in the app by default.

New App		×
App name		
New UI App		
Description (optional)		
URL Slug		
NewUIApp		
https://psbuild.readinow.com/sp/#/ITSCMNova1/0/apprunner?app=NewUIApp		
Display menu		
Menu enabled by default on new pages		
	Cancel	Create app

7. Click the **Create App** button.

Create app

This will open the Nova **Page Builder** where you can create and design your page using different components and settings.

Parts of the Page Builder:

Introd		Read/Now	🔨 Administration 🚍 👗 🧐 🖓 😨 🗆
Image: Section of the sec	::	textApp 奔 〉 Welcome ⑧ 【1	6 Preview Save
		Image: The second s	Bettings Page name Welcome Uitt sing Welcome Uitt sing Welcome Uitt sing Welcome Display men on page Teene Default Created Java I 12/27/2023 Created by Administrator Edited date 12/28/2023 Last edited by Administrator Edited by Edited

- 1. Application properties used to access application properties.
- 2. Tools Section used to access all available tools to create a Nova application.
- 3. Builder canvas the workspace where you can visually structure the layout of your application.
- 4. View mode used to switch between Desktop view, Tablet view, or Mobile view.
- 5. Settings section shows all available properties or settings of the selected element.
- 6. **Preview and Save** click the **Preview** button to preview the current state of the canvas. Click the **Save** button to save current changes.

Editing an Existing Nova Application

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:48 am AEDT

Editing an existing application typically involves making changes, updates, or improvements to meet new requirements, fix issues, or enhance functionality.

To edit an existing application:

ReadNew					 Administration m A 	9000
C A Administration Application Application	Apps					Create new
Enal -	Q Search 2					
Metrics *	Name	Status	Created	Last updated	Modified By	
Esources -	Policy Management	Enabled	\$/29/2023	11/21/2023	Administrator	60
Security *	Policy Management - Authors	Enabled	\$15/2023	11/21/2823	Administrator	e 3
Settings *	TenSApp	Disabl.	12/27/2823	1/3/2024	Administrator	80
Workfous Hospation Sorrys FradHom Nova Ayps	b)					
2.183.198.5 miles / G.2.185.276.5 Miles			Forenet by Readingow			

- 1. Go to Administration \rightarrow Readinow Nova \rightarrow Apps.
- 2. In the Apps menu look for the application that you want to edit. You can either scroll down through the list of applications or type in the name of the application in the **Search bar**.
- 3. Lastly, on the right-hand side, click the application's corresponding edit



icon

Properties of a Nova Application

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:47 am AEDT

Application properties generally refer to the configurable settings or parameters that define the behavior, appearance, and functionality of the application.

Readinger						Administration = 1 5 0 0 1
C Administration Applications -	Apps					Create new
Audt - truel -	O, Search					
Metrics	Name	Status	Created	Last updated	Modified By	
Resources ·	Policy Management	Enabled	9/29/2023	11/21/2023	Administrator	60
Security -	Policy Management - Authors	Enabled	6/5/2022	11/21/2023	Administrator	80-0
Settings *	TestApp	Disabl.	12/27/2023	1/3/2024	Administrator	60-
Workflows						Properties
Integration *						Enable App
E Sunnya -						Delete
ReadNow Nova 1 *						
Apps						
			Þ			

To navigate to the application properties:

- 1. Go to Administration \rightarrow Readinow Nova \rightarrow Apps.
- 2. In the Apps menu look for the application that you want to edit. You can either scroll down through the list of applications or type in the name of the application in the **Search bar**.
- 3. On the right-hand side, click the application's corresponding Options
 - •••

icon and select Properties.



Section	Property	Function
General	App name	The unique identifier assigned to an application.
	Description	The concise and informative piece of text that introduces and highlights the key features, functionalities of the app.

Section	Property	Function
	URL Slug	The part of a URL that identifies a particular application. It is the segment of the URL that comes after the domain name and any subdirectories.
	Application	Selected application is used for packaging and deployment.
Security	Status	Toggle to give the selected users right to access the app.
	Access rights	The user roles that will have right to access the app.
Appearance	lcon	The visual representation or symbol used to represent application.
	Show menu by default	Toggle to show menu will be by default on new pages.

Enabling and Disabling a Nova Application

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:48 am AEDT

Enabling and disabling an application refers to the ability to turn the application on or off. Nova applications that are enabled will be available on the Homepage.

Readinger		< chos	or Application a	*	9	р 6	
Jack Admin							
	D ₂						
Nova Apps							
A ME HILD HAVE / C A HELPIG HIME	Numerica (a), Researching						

To Enable or Disable an Application:

Readinger						Administration 🖬 🕹 😏 😡 🗆
	· <					
Administration	Apps					Create new
 Applications 						
 Audit 	a search					
 fmall 						
Metics	* Name	Status	Created	Last updated	Modified By	
 Resources 	C Policy Management	Enabled	9/29/2023	11/21/2029	Administrator	c ø
 Security 	* Policy Management - Authors	Enabled	8/5/2023	11/21/2823	Administrator	60-
 Settings 	TwetApp	Disabl	12/27/2023	1/3/2024	Administrator	60-3
 Workflows 						Properties
 Integration 	-					Enable App
 Surveys 						uesese
 ReadNow Nova 						
Apps						
			R.			
			Bandhir			
5140106 0 man / C 218F5 MP WP			Powered by Predictive			

- 1. Go to Administration \rightarrow Readinow Nova \rightarrow Apps.
- 2. In the Apps menu look for the application that you want to edit. You can either scroll down through the list of applications or type in the name of the application in the **Search bar**.
- 3. On the right-hand side, click the application's corresponding Options

•••

icon and select Enable App to enable or Disable App to disable the application.

What Are Nova Pages?

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:51 am AEDT

In the context of Nova, Pages are its backbone. "Nova Pages" work like Screens in classic where users can create and design their application by adding various components. These components could include elements like text, images, data tables, or other interactive features. Essentially, pages in Nova act as the primary interface where users can arrange and customize these components to build their desired application structure. Meanwhile, Shared pages serve as your Forms while still retaining the functionality of a page.

Creating a Nova Page

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:52 am AEDT

To create a Nova Page:

- 1. Go to the Nova application builder.
- 2. On the left-hand side expand the Pages section by clicking



icon.

3. Click on the Create New Page icon



4. In the pop-up screen, enter the appropriate Page name and URL Slug.

New Page		×
Page name		
Page name		
URL slug		
Pagename		
https://psbuild.readinow.com/sp/#/Nova_Policy/0/apprunner?app=TestApp&page=Pagename		
	Cancel	Create Page

5. Click on **Create Page** button to create the page.

New Page		×
Page name		
Page name		
URL slug		
Pagename		
https://psbuild.readinow.com/sp/#/Nova_Policy/0/apprunner?app=TestApp&page=Pagename		
	Cancel	Create Page

Page Properties

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:53 am AEDT

Page properties refer to the configurable settings and options that allow users to customize the characteristics and behavior of a Nova page.

Property	Function
Page name	The unique identifier assigned to a page.
URL slug	The part of a URL that identifies the particular page.
Display menu on page	Toggle switch to display menu on page.
Theme	A page theme refers to a set of design elements, styles, and visual components that define the overall look and feel of a page.
Input	Defines the input object for the page.
	Created date
Details	Created by
Details	Edited date
	Last edited by

Configuring the Menu structure

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:56 am AEDT

The Pages section has two parts:

- Menu structure arrangement of navigational elements within the application.
- Other pages this is where your newly created page will show. All pages located here will be automatically hidden in the app's actual menu.



To make a page appear in the app menu, simply drag the page upward and drop it in the menu structure.



Similarly, you may rearrange the menu structure by dragging the page either up or down.

Ð	Pages	Ð
ൿ	Q Search	
	Menu structure	
_1	Welcome	
	Test Page	
×°	Test Page 2	
	🗋 Test Page	1
	• 🗋 Test Page 3	
	Other pages 🕐	

To create a hierarchy structure:

1. Simply create a page folder by clicking on the Menu structure's options icon

•••

2. Select New folder.

Ð	Pages		est Page 2	Test
ക	Q Search			
ß	Menu structure			
.1	G Welcome	Œ	New folder	
-	Test Page 2	۲	Menu setting	IS
~	Test Page			
	Test Page 3			

3. A new folder will be created at the bottom of the structure. To rename it, right-click the **New folder**, and select **Rename folder**.



- 4. Enter the desired name and hit Enter.
- 5. Drag and drop the page onto the folder.



All changes are automatically saved by the app builder.
Desktop/Tablet/Mobile

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 8:58 am AEDT

Desktop, tablet, and mobile views refer to the different layouts and presentations of an application designed to accommodate various screen sizes and devices. Responsive design aims to ensure a seamless and user-friendly experience across a range of devices, from large desktop monitors to tablets and smartphones. Each view is optimized for the specific characteristics of the device it is intended for:

- Desktop View:
 - Designed for larger screens, such as desktop monitors and laptops.
 - Utilizes a spacious layout, often with multiple columns and a navigation bar.
 - May include additional features or content that take advantage of the larger screen real estate.
- Tablet View:
 - Tailored for mid-sized screens, typically tablets.
 - Adjusts the layout to accommodate the smaller screen size while maintaining readability and usability.
 - May reorganize content and navigation to fit a more compact space.
- Mobile View:
 - Optimized for smaller screens found on smartphones.
 - Typically a single-column layout to simplify navigation and readability on small screens.
 - May prioritize key content and interactions, hiding non-essential elements.

To change the view mode:

- 1. Go to the Nova application builder.
- 2. Navigate to the top section of the builder.



3. Click **Desktop** to switch into desktop mode, **Tablet** to switch to tablet mode, and **Mobile** to switch to mobile mode.

eter:							_				•
Policy Management (#	H > Nyfore @			Dealing . Taken	State					Preview	Sere
	My Space Register Guidance									Chart properties	
	Policies that require my Approval									0 chat_proces_that_re	
			Low Mount	Q. Fed a word	⊽ mr.•			-		Layout	
			Nigh 📕	Policy ID	Pulicy	Version	Approval Stat.	Risk Classif		Proportion	
		No records found							D		
					Records not ava	allable in builder				6 conumes	
										Behaviour	
										Visibility topic	
				& fams loaded			c	1.5		Only visible when	
	Policies that require my Beview									Visibility condition	
			-	Q, find a mont	⊽ Here						
			Medum Rogh	Policy ID	Policy	Version	Approval Stat	Risk Classif		Data	
										Polices that repr. 2	< v
		No records found								C Go to Charts	
					Records not ave	allable in builder				Object	
										Palicy	
itanışını tü iztifizikleri İstin	Mar .			Postal ly Read				_	drividation a	Display form	0
tonya rozistotkow New Torcy Management (1)	tine ≚ > Mytanor @	Policy Management		Asserved by Assession Societies	Bow I Mada			-	devicitation as	Charl properties	0
Screen ng 2002/KGAN	ana	Policy Management Policies that require my Approval	-	Ausenti ly AvadA	Bow D Matik				devicidation a	Depies from Profess Trans Trans Depies Trans Provident Chart properties De Chart properties	0
Samuer (C. 2.1982/M.G.M. Samu Samu Salay Management 🗿	8 > Mytaxx @	Poley Management Publicies that require my Apprenal	Ū	Aurenti ly Read				b		Display from Desire From Room Proview Chart properties Chart poperties Chart poperties Chart poperties Chart poperties	0
Converte Enternant	tere Ξ) My Space @	Policy Management Publicies Blad regular my Approval	Ū	Assessing (Þ		Displays from The Core Series Chart properties Chart partices Chart partices	6 4
Shear I C 21822600	tere Ξ) My Tanon @	Pulcy Management Pulcies that require my Approval	÷	Service (Bow Documents Book Book Book Book Book			D		Division from from Provine Chart properties Chart properties	6
dimen / C 2182/Koh	nor Z > Hylpon @	Pulicy Management Pulicies, Biol regular my Approval	Ģ	Powersi by Read				Ŀ	drivesturier a	Displays from There is the second se	6
tinen () filologi tin	nor Z) Mytaer @	Pulcy Management Pulcies But regime my Approval	Ģ	Powersi by Read				4	Selection a	Displays from Provide and Provide and Provide and Chart properties Chart proper	-
ilinen () filologia	nor	Foldy Management Printien Bet register my Ageneral	Piere and a second	Averail to Period				þ	aniatan a	Depter from Partie Provider Provider Chart properties B crast_particut_phat_ph Lappot Reportes 4.3 Watter Partie Behaviour Valabley supp	-
Areas (C.2.10.0.44	ton £ > Milaner @	Policy Management Publicits that require my Approxi	No recon	nuevių Andria (sens)				þ	ubeietitudes g	Dependention Normal Constants La Constants Chart properties Chart properties Ch	6
Alterni C. 2.12	enter	Fully Management Publick Mit registe my Agenesi	No recorr	Averative Read				Þ	derintstatus a	Dependence Norm Free Free Terre Provine Carry program Carry Provine Carry Pr	•
aneory o zestankale teor	ener	Foldy Management Printien Bet register my Approval		News Read				Þ		Depict for Anison from Anison Provide Charp properties 0 Charp properies 0 Charp properties 0 Charp properti	6
Savara (2000) Savara Wa Manganat ()	ten	Policy Management Publicies Und regular my Approved.	No recor	Second Land				þ		Department Animal Animal Anima	-
Savara (2000) Nor Ola Managament 👔	ton	Pulty Management Pulsions that require my Approxim	No recor	Denne (ů,		Despending of the second secon	
Sover () 2000 Main	MAR Z) Mylteor @	Pulity Management Pulitics that regular sey Approxi	Na recor	Series				Þ		Despet for Animal Analysis of Animal	
Alfanger (Calabitation	nor	Puky Managament Pukise Biol regins mp Agenerat	No recor	Averative Feedball				Þ		Design for a second sec	
Allower (THE ALLOW AND ALLOW AND ALL AND A	ter	Fully Management Particles Met regular my Approval	No recor	Second Second				Þ	anniar a	Design form And a form of the second Provide Charp progetties Charp progetties Charp progetties Charp progetties And Second Provide And Provide And Pr	

Standhow Sector			🔪 Administration 🔳 🛓 🗇 🖓 🖬 🗆
👪 Policy Management 🏨 🖒 My Space 🛞	Constant Con		Preview Seve
	Policy Management		Chart properties
<u> </u>	Approval		chart_polices_that_repute_mp_r
0			Levost
	Low B	P.	
	Ho 📕		43 V
~	No records found		-
			ne 🗸
			Benaviour
			Visibility logic
	The second second second second		Chip record share.
	Q, Find a record 🖓 🗸 🕂		Viability condition
	Policy ID Policy		
			bata
	Bandards and available in builder		Boyte
			Policies that reps. X 🗸 🖉
			🔮 de te Charte
			Object
	< 1 >		-349
	Radiates Red ensuine and		Received From Marcolle
2.95198.0 man / 0.2.95.238.0 mpn	Apparent by Readinger		

What are page components?

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 9:52 am AEDT

A Page Component generally refers to a modular and reusable unit of a user interface that is part of a Nova application. It is a self-contained module that performs a specific function or displays specific content. These components can be combined to create more complex and feature-rich pages.





- 1. EHorizontal & Vertical Container
- 2. **T**ab Container
- 3. **B**utton
- 4. Elmage
- 5. 🖻 Data Table
- 6. EChart
- 7. EHero Counter
- 8. **E**Filter
- 9. **E**Page Heading
- 10. EText

- 1. First, create a new Nova application or edit an existing one.
- 2. Then, in the app builder create a new Nova page or go to an existing Nova page where you want to add the component.
- 3. On the left-hand side expand the components section by clicking



icon.

3. Click, drag, and drop the component onto the builder canvas on the right side of your screen.



4. Select **SAVE** to save the changes.

Review the component's properties and update if necessary. Feel free to experiment and combine more components to create your desired pages.

Horizontal & Vertical Container

Last Modified on 25/07/2024 11:45 am AEST

Horizontal and vertical containers are page components used in the Nova application to organize and structure content on a page.

- A horizontal container, referred to as a "row" is a layout element that arranges its child elements or components in a horizontal line, side by side.
- A vertical container, referred to as a "column" is a layout element that arranges its child elements or components in a vertical stack, one on top of the other.

This layout structure allows for a flexible and responsive design, adapting well to different screen sizes and orientations. It's a fundamental concept in creating well-organized and visually appealing user interfaces.

Container Properties &			
Section	Property	Function	
	Name	The unique name of the container.	
Styling	Background	 Sets the background of a container. Transparent - makes the background transparent Card - makes the background card-like visual 	
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the container, minimum value is 1 and maximum is 12(Full).	

Section	Property	Function
Gap		 The gap between the next component. Extra-small Small Medium Large Extra large Extra large
	Direction	Changes the type of the container to either:HorizontalVertical
	Alignment	Sets how the contents are alligned.
Behavior	Display on Desktop	Toggle to hide the component on the Desktop view.
	Visibility logic	 Defines when the component is visible None - always visible Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met

Tab Container

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 9:53 am AEDT

A Tab Container is a page component that organizes content into tabs, allowing users to switch between different sections or views of information without navigating to separate pages. Each tab typically represents a distinct category or set of related content. Users can click on the tabs to switch between the different views or sections within the same space.

Tab Container Properties 🥏			
Section	Property	Function	
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.	
		Manage all tabs within the container.	
Taba	Tab	Add tab	
Tabs	Tab	Rename tab	
		Delete tab	
Container	Width	Sets the width of the container, minimum value is 2 and maximum is 12(Full).	
		Defines when the component is visible	
Debayior	Vicibility logic	None - always visible	
DELIAVIO	יואוווגי וטצוכ	• Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met	
		 Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met 	

Button

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 9:54 am AEDT

A Button is a page component with a clickable area to initiate a specific action.

Button Properties

Section	Property	Function
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.
	Text	The text label of the button.
Style	Style	Sets the button style Primary Outline Subtle
	Size	Sets the button size Small Standard Large
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the button, minimum value is 1 and maximum is 12(Full).

Section	Property	Function
Behavior	Visibility logic	 Defines when the component is visible None - always visible Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met
Actions	Action type	 Sets what action to perform when button is click: Create record with classic form Create record with form page Export document Navigate to page Navigate to form page Run workflow

Image

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:00 am AEDT

An Image component is a visual representation or depiction of an object, scene, concept, or idea. It plays a vital role in conveying information and enhancing the overall user experience.

Image Properti	es	
Section	Property	Function
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.
	Caption	Adds an optional caption at the bottom of the image
	Alttext	Alternative text is meant to convey the "why" of the image. It also displays on the page if the image fails to load.
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the image, minimum value is 1 and maximum is 12(Full).
Behavior	Visibility logic	 Defines when the component is visible None - always visible Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met

• Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met

Section	Property	Function
Styling	Proportion	Sets image proportion: • Auto • 1:1 • 3:2 • 4:3 • 16:9 • 18:6 • 21:9
	Scaling	Sets the scale of the image: • Fill • Fit
Data	Source	Sets the image source

Data Table

Last Modified on 24/07/2024 12:18 pm AEST

A Data Table is a page component that displays a Report. The same as reports it shows a structured arrangement of information in rows and columns, to organize, and present data in a systematic format. Each row in a data table represents a specific record, while each column represents a different attribute.

Data Table Properties

Section	Property	Function
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.
	Title	Adds an optional title for the table.
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the table, minimum value is 3 and maximum is 12(Full).
	Height(rows)	Sets how many rows to show, minimum of 1 and maximum of 20.
		Defines when the component is visible
		None - always visible
Behavior	Visibility logic	• Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met
		 Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met
Data	Source	Sets the source report.
	Object	Automatically shows what object is the selected report.

Section	Property	Function
	Display form	Sets what form to use when viewing a record.

Chart

Last Modified on 24/07/2024 12:22 pm AEST

Chart is a page component that allows you to display aChart from a specified resource.

Chart Properties

Section	Property	Function
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the chart, minimum value is 1 and maximum is 12(Full).
		Sets chart proportion:
		• Auto
		• 1:1
	Duranautian	• 3:2
	Proportion	• 4:3
		• 16:9
		• 18:6
		• 21:9
		Defines when the component is visible
		None - always visible
Behavior	Visibility logic	• Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met
		• Not visible when - not visible when the set condition

is met

Section	Property	Function
Data	Source	Sets the chart source.
	Object	Automatically shows what object is the selected chart.
	Display form	Sets what form to use when viewing records.

Hero Counter

Last Modified on 27/09/2024 11:33 am AEST

A Hero Counter is a prominent and large text displayed on a page to highlight features.

Hero Counter Properties

Section	Property	Function
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.
	Text	The title text of the hero counter.
Styling	Size	Sets the size: • Small • Standard • Large
	Text Position	Sets the text position: • Top • Bottom

Section	Property	Function
	Value Color	 Sets the value's color: Black Primary brand Danger Warning Success Informative
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the hero counter, minimum value is 1 and maximum is 12(Full).
Behavior	Visibility logic	 Defines when the component is visible None - always visible Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met
Data	Source	Sets the source report.
	Column	Sets what column to calculate.

Section	Property	Function
		Sets the calculation method:
		• Count
1	Method	Count (Unique)
		• Min
		• Max
	Object	Automatically shows what object is the selected report.
	Display form	Sets what form to use when viewing records

Page Filter

Last Modified on 25/07/2024 11:51 am AEST

Filter is used to filter the report data based on some values to narrow down or focus on specific information. To filter the report based on any value of a field, the corresponding field needs to be added to the Analyzer.

Filter Properties

Section	Property	Function
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the filter, minimum value is 1 and maximum is 12(Full).
	Overflow	Can be set to: • Scrollable • Wrap
Behavior	Visibility logic	 Defines when the component is visible None - always visible Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met
Filters	Active filters	Shows all active or applied filters.
	Available filters	Shows all available filters from the selected report analyzer.

Page Heading

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:06 am AEDT

A Page Heading is the title or main heading at the top of a page. It serves as a brief, concise description of the content or purpose of the page, providing users with a clear indication of what to expect.

Page Heading Properties

Section	Property	Function
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.
	Format	 Sets the content format: Expression - content is derived from an expression formula. Plain text - content is plain text only.
	Expression formula	Visible when expression is selected as format type - input your formula here.
	Text	Visible when plain text is selected as format type - input heading content here.
Styling	Heading Style	 Sets the heading size: Heading 1 Heading 2 Heading 3 Heading 4
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the heading, minimum value is 1 and maximum is 12(Full).

Section	Property	Function
	Truncate text	Toggle to truncate text.
	Maximum Lines	Sets the maximum lines for the page heading, minimum of 1 line and maximum of 15 lines.
		Defines when the component is visible
Behavior	Visibility logic	None - always visible
		• Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met
		• Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met

Text

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:07 am AEDT

A Text is a basic text control that enables the user to display multiple lines of plain text.

Text Properties

Section	Property	Function
	ID	The unique ID or name of the component.
	Format	 Sets the content format: Expression - content is derived from an expression formula. Rich text - content is plain text only.
	Expression formula	Visible when expression is selected as format type - input your formula here.
	Text	Visible when plain text is selected as format type - input your text content here.
Styling	Text size	Sets the text size: • Extra large • Large • Medium • Small
Layout	Width	Sets the width of the text, minimum value is 1 and maximum is 12(Full).

Section	Property	Function
		Can be set to:
	Sizing	Fit content
		Fixed height
	Height lines	Sets the number lines for the text, minimum of 1 line and maximum of 20 lines.
		Defines when the component is visible
		None - always visible
Behavior	Visibility logic	• Only visible when - only visible when the set condition is met
		• Not visible when - not visible when the set condition is met

Binding

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:08 am AEDT

Binding is a component property that enables the automatic, one-way filtration of component content based on the provided source input.

To perform binding on a page component:



- 1. Go to the Nova application builder.
- 2. On the left-hand side expand the pages section by clicking



icon.

- 3. Select the page that has the component to which you want to apply the binding.
- 4. Select the component you want to apply the binding.
- 5. On the right-hand side, scroll down the **Properties** section. Go to **Binding** → **Input**, click the dropdown, and select the appropriate binding component. Alternatively, you can expand the calculation field and use the formulas and other tools to create more specific binding.
- 6. Click **Save** to save the changes.

Selecting Page Elements

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:09 am AEDT

The Page Elements section serves as a helpful organizational feature for users dealing with the complexities of crafting intricate Nova applications. In the process of designing and editing pages, the multitude of components can be challenging to manage efficiently. This section is designed to alleviate this challenge by providing a centralized repository where users can easily locate and manage all components associated with the selected or currently edited page. This feature aims to enhance the overall user experience by simplifying the retrieval and organization of components, ensuring a smoother and more efficient development process.

Policy Management - Authors (2) > My Space (8)			Desktop [] Tablet	Mobile			Previe	-	Save
Page elements	ard Report	ts 🗸 Guidance					Container pro	perties	
M Container (Container)							Name		
3						New Policy	Container		
T Text (text, Policies, J, Created)									
Button (button_NewPolicy)		Draft.	Q. Fedancod	V Filter			Styring		
>		Pending Review	Policy ID	Policy	Version	Accessval Stat	Background		
E continue output and		More Information Required					Tratoperent		~
Osta Table (data_table_Policies_I_Orested)	d	Approvise					Layout		
T Text (text_policies_that_require_my_approval)									
				Records not ava	allable in builder		Full		~
E cost (cost (cost cost of a cost of a cost (cost (cost)							Gap		
Data Table (bata_table_policies_that_require_my_app	(Smat		~
T Test (test_N/_veview)			6 items loaded			< 🖪 >	Direction		
							I-P Horizonta	Ŧ	Vertical
(ar Chart (chart, for, review)							Alignment		
Data Table (data_table_for_review)			Q Feet a record	\tag{ritur}			4 H		-m
T Text (text_Policies_that_require_try_Acknowledgeme	ent)	Medium							-01
		Pign	Policy ID	Poscy	version Ap	provai stat Hosk classif			
Chart (chart, Polices, that, require, my, Acknowledger	ment)						A. A.		dt
E data Table (bata_table_Polices_that_require_my_Acc	ds found nouredgement)								
				Records not ava	allable in builder		K X		8
							Behaviour		

To easily retrieve and navigate between page elements:

- 1. Go to the Nova application builder.
- 2. On the left-hand side expand the pages section by clicking



icon and select the page you want to edit.

3. Then, on the left-hand side expand the page element section by clicking



icon.

4. Select the component you want to retrieve or edit and view its properties on the right-hand side.

Notice that all components are sorted by container and the component's name is enclosed in a parenthesis.

Creating a Shared Page

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:12 am AEDT

Shared Pages acts like Forms in Nova and these are available to use across different apps. Shared pages can be a long form or a Multistep form.

To create a long form - shared page:

- 1. Go to the Nova application builder.
- 2. On the left-hand side expand the Shared Pages section by clicking



icon.

3. Click the add Shared Page icon

Co

and select Long form.

4. An object selector should pop up. Expand the dropdown and select the object that will be used for the form.

lost an object that will be used for the f	arm Maur records createring	duuish she form will be a
rect an object that will be used for the t	orm. New records created	a with the form will be o
s object type, snared forms are availab	ie to use across unierent	apps.
oject *		
1		~ 0
Acknowledgement		
Action Plan		prm
A new user-created definition.	De	
Action Plan Linked To		
Appointment		
Appointment definition.		
Approval Items		
toplact		
Contact		

- 5. Then, click Create form.
- 6. Lastly, based on your application requirement add the necessary page components, fields, or relationships.

New records created with the form will be of the selected object type. Just like classic forms, you may create multiple versions of shared pages per object.

Shared Page Settings

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:13 am AEDT

Page settings refer to the configurable properties and options that allow users to customize the characteristics and behavior of a Nova page.

Available Properties 🤗

Section	Property	Function
	Page name	The unique ID or name of the page.
	Shared	Ticked by default if page is shared.
	Туре	The page type, which can be:Long form
		Multistep form
	Form Title	 The title heading of a form or page when viewing a record. Record name Expression - title is derived from an expression formula. Plain text - title is the inputted text only.
	Multistep alternative	The alternative multistep form of the page.
Data	Object	Automically shows what object the form is derived.
	Preview test record	Set the preview test record you want to use.

Section	Property	Function
	Created date	
Details	Created byEdited date	General information about the page.

• Last edited by

Adding Fields/Relationships to a page

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:14 am AEDT

To show fields or relationships on a shared page, you need to to create them within the form builder. Once they are on the object, you can access them using the Data adapter and place them on a NOVA shared page.

To add Fields or Relationships to a page 🔗



Testileo B	> Test form (Blaned Test) (8	Dealer C tank D Mon	*		Preview Se
	÷ 848				Page settings
	Record Name				Long form
					the second s
	Task details		Additional information		Record same
	Subject *				
			Reminder		Multistep alternative
			Raminder time		seed
	Detai	8		B (3)	Duta
			Completed		
				:	Tatl
	Due date *		Completed date		
					Preview text record
	Start date				Sectore V
		0			Details
	Priority				for data take
		~			-
	Assigned to "				0.000
	Current Person	- × v /			Created by
	Tesk status				
		~] ~			Edited date
					and the second second
		B			Last edited by
	Data adapters			~	A
	D. B. Lauren				
	(Nart Turi				C Delete page

2. Notice on the right-hand side all the available fields and relationships for that particular object. These are sorted by field groups that were declared when the object was created.

D	
TaskForm	
Object	
Task	
Data	
Q Search	
Default	^
S Action Plan	
A Description	
ିକ୍ର Issues	
A Name	
System	^
S Assigned to	
S Created by	
🛱 Created date	
🛱 Last import date	
(a) Last modified by	

3. Find the field or relationship you wish to add, by scrolling down or searching the name in the search bar.

Data	
Q Is complete	×
Task Details	^
Is complete	

4. Click, drag, and drop the field onto the builder canvas on the left side of your screen.

TestApp	(1) Taol Form (Shared Taol)	Dealter _ Table _ Mook		Preview Seve
1	e tas Record Name			Object adapter properties
	Record Marine			
	Task details		Additional information	
	Dubject *		- Beninder	Object
				Tasin
	Detail		Ramoda Una	Deta
6			Considered	Q is consisted at
			:	Task Defails
	Due date *		Completed date	THIS OF ANY
				2 is complete
	Start date			
				9
	Priority	~		
	Registered to 1			
	Current Person	x 🗸 🧳		
	Tank status			
		~		
			K	
	Data adapters		^	
	Ch. H. Incidents			

5. Drag the field to your desired position, and resize it if needed by dragging the right corner.

Lookup field (TaskForm:Created_by)		
Created by	÷	Ûj

- 6. Review its properties, and update if necessary.
- 7. Click the **SAVE** button to save the changes.

To remove Field or Relationship to a page 🔗

- 1. Select the field or relationship you wish to remove.
- 2. Click on the delete icon.

Lookup field (TaskForm:Created_by)		
reated by	+	Û

3. Click the **SAVE** button to save the changes.

Creating a Multi-Step Page

Last Modified on 24/01/2024 10:22 am AEDT

A multi-step page allows you to break down a complex form into a series of smaller, more manageable steps. Instead of presenting all the form fields or information at once, users navigate through a sequence of steps, completing one set of inputs before moving on to the next. Multi-Step forms streamlines complex processes and improves user engagement by reducing apprehension and anxiety for new or infrequent users.

To create Multistep page:

- 1. Go to the Nova application builder.
- 2. On the left-hand side expand the Shared Pages section by clicking



icon.

3. Click the add Shared Page icon

Co

and select Multistep form.

4. An object selector should pop up. Expand the dropdown and select the object that will be used for the form. New records created with the form will be of the selected object type.



5. Click Create form.

6. A default section should be created right after. To add more sections click on the plus icon. Each section will be presented to the user as a separate page in the multistep form. you can move sections around to set the desired order for your users.

Readincer			Administratio	
# TestApp 班 >	Policy form (Shared Policy)	Deektop [] facier [] Mocile		Preview Save
Ð			_	Multistep form properties
	Section			0
			1	mutistepFormContainer
0			Add new section	Visibility condition
—				
~				
-5				Sections +
				Gestion
				Layout
				Wdh
				Full V
	Data adapters		~	
	D (D. record			
	Object: Policy			

7. To rename a section, right-click the section \rightarrow select **Rename section**.

D	
multistepFormCor	ntainer
Visibility condition	
Sections	+
G Section	
Section1	ame section
Layout Dele	rte section
Width	
Put I	~

8. Enter the name, press Enter, and click on Save.

Based on your application requirement, add the necessary page components, fields, or <u>relationships</u> in the form.



Visibility condition Optional expression formula to set the section's visibility.

Property	Function
Sections	Use to add, remove, rename, and rearrange all sections.
Width	Sets the width of the section, minimum value is 2 and maximum is 12(Full).

Identifying Issues on the page

Last Modified on 02/08/2024 2:29 pm AEST

The Issues Page is your go-to destination for identifying and resolving any errors in your Nova applications. It plays a crucial role in the debugging process, offering a comprehensive view of all issues associated with your page. This is designed to streamline your debugging efforts and is divided into two main sections for added clarity: "Issues in Pages" and "Issues in Shared Pages." With these dedicated spaces, it aims to empower users with a systematic and organized approach to debugging, facilitating a smoother and more efficient development experience.

To navigate to Issues in Pages:

- 1. Go to the Nova application builder.
- 2. On the left-hand side expand the Pages section by clicking



icon and select a page.

3. The Issues in Pages section will be available. To open, click on the



icon.



Name

Purpose

1 Issues in pages icon

Click to view all issues. Also indicates the number of issues within the page.

2 Error icon Click to show all errors that needs to be addressed.
3 Warning icon Click to show all warnings that needs review.
4 Information icon Click to show useful information about the page.
5 Pages icon Click to show all issues sorted by page.
6 Description Shows the detailed information of the issue which is useful for debugging.

To navigate to Issues in Shared Pages 🔗

- 1. Go to the Nova application builder.
- 2. On the left-hand side expand the Shared Pages section by clicking



icon and select a page.

3. The Issues in shared pages section will be available. To open, click on the



icon.


	Name	Purpose
1	Issues in shared pages icon	Click to view all issues. Also indicates the number of issues within the page.
2	Error icon	Click to show all errors that needs to be addressed.
3	Warning icon	Click to show all warnings that needs review.
4	Description	Shows the detailed information of the issue which is useful for debugging.

ReadiNow Responsible Al

Last Modified on 15/08/2024 10:32 am AEST

Overview

At ReadiNow, we are committed to innovation, empowering our customers to fully harness the potential of our AI features both now and in the future. We believe that the transformative power of AI, when combined with the ReadiNow no-code platform, will deliver significant value for our clients.

However, we acknowledge the critical importance of data security and the responsible use of AI technologies. To ensure this, all ReadiNow AI features developed and deployed will comply with relevant data protection standards, privacy regulations, and ethical considerations.

This document outlines the relevant AI features and their implementation, ensuring transparency and providing customers with the information they need to build trust in ReadiNow.

Generative Al

What is Generative AI

Generative AI is a technology that creates original content in response to user prompts. It leverages Large Language Models that have been trained on extensive datasets sourced from the internet. See here to read more about Generative AI.

How we use Generative AI

ReadiNow utilizes a private Microsoft Azure tenancy to host an instance of Azure OpenAl for running ReadiNow Generative AI, all within Australia. All communications to and from the ReadiNow platform and the Microsoft instance are fully encrypted.

User prompts (inputs) and completions (outputs) in this private instance:

- Are NOT available to non-ReadiNow customers.
- Are NOT shared across ReadiNow tenants.
- Are NOT accessible to OpenAl.
- Are NOT used to improve OpenAI models.
- Are NOT used to enhance any Microsoft or third-party products or services.
- Are NOT used for automatically improving Azure OpenAI models unless explicitly fine-tuned with userprovided training data.

Any fine-tuned Azure OpenAI models are exclusively for ReadiNow's use. The Azure OpenAI Service is fully hosted within the ReadiNow environment on Azure and does not interact with any services operated by OpenAI. (e.g. ChatGPT, OpenAI API)

For more details on the Azure Data, privacy, and security for Azure OpenAI Service, please click here.

Data Privacy and Security

Tenant Isolation

A detailed explanation of the ReadiNow Tenant Isolation Model can be found here.

The ReadiNow AI features build on the foundational Tenant Isolation model. Specifically:

- Prompts and completions from a specific ReadiNow tenant are **not** utilized to serve requests or generate prompts for other tenants.
- Tenant data is **not** shared between tenants for query prompts or completion determinations.
- Tenant data remains confidential and is not publicly exposed during the use of the AI Suggest service.
- Usage metrics are collected individually for each tenant to monitor for any unauthorized or malicious access and usage.

Data Security

ReadiNow employs multiple layers of industry standard practices, protocols and techniques to mitigate the risk of unauthorised access or modification to data or systems. Refer here for more information on the ReadiNow platform security.

The Azure AI service infrastructure protects user data from web exposure through stringent security measures. These measures include industry-standard encryption protocols, access controls, rate limiting, and continuous monitoring to detect and mitigate potential threats or vulnerabilities.

Responsible Al

Microsoft, through its Azure OpenAI services, places a strong emphasis on responsible AI practices. The Microsoft Responsible AI model is guided by six core principles:

- Fairness and inclusiveness: AI systems should treat everyone fairly and ensure non-discrimination.
- Reliability and safety: AI systems should operate reliably, safely, and consistently.
- Transparency: AI systems should provide clarity and openness regarding how the AI operates.
- Privacy and security: AI systems must protect privacy and secure personal and business information .
- Accountability: Stakeholders must be held accountable for AI deployment and usage.

These principles are not merely theoretical constructs; they are actively integrated into the design and functionality of Azure OpenAI models. By using the Azure OpenAI model, these principles are incorporated into the AI Suggest feature offered by the ReadiNow platform.

Content Filtering

The Azure OpenAl Service features a robust content filtering system that analyses both prompts and completions using classification models to detect and prevent harmful content. This system targets categories such as hate speech, sexual content, violence, and self-harm, with filters set to a medium severity threshold to ensure a safe and appropriate user experience. Additionally, the content filtering models are specifically trained and tested in

multiple languages, including English, German, Japanese, Spanish, French, Italian, Portuguese, and Chinese.

For more details, refer to Azure OpenAI Service content filtering.

Abuse Monitoring

The Azure OpenAl Service detects and mitigates instances of recurring content and/or behaviours that suggest use of the service in a manner that may violate the Microsoft Code of Conduct or other relevant product terms.

Full details of the Azure OpenAI Service abuse monitoring can be found on the Microsoft website: <u>https://learn.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/ai-services/openai/concepts/abuse-monitoring</u>

Configuring and using AI Suggest

Last Modified on 08/08/2024 10:48 am AEST

An AI prompt is a specific input or instruction given to the ReadiNow AI Engine to elicit a desired response or output. The ReadiNow AI query language leverages the power of the ReadiNow calculation engine. App builders can easily create engaging and interactive prompts that will assist users to accomplish their data entry.

Prompts can be added to the following **Nova Page forms** fields:

- Multiline text field
- Lookup field
- Relationship field displayed as both:
 - data table
 - ∘ inline

Here is an example of a ReadiNow AI query expression:

'Provide a list of controls for '+ [Name] + ' risk for a company where each control name is less than 300 characters'

		Relations
Al query field		×
AI Query Expression		
Q, f(x) × ③		
1 'Provide a list of c	ontrols for ' + [Name] + ' risk for a company where each control name is less than 300 chara	cters'
	Cancel	Apply
		_
ReadiNow C	alculation engine offers app builders the ability to a	add
	contextual information to the prompt	



Configure and run an Al query:

- 1. Locate a Shared page where you want to incorporate the AI query.
- 2. Locate one of the supported **AI Suggest** field type properties:

Multiline text fields. Lookup fields. Relationship fields displayed as both data table and inline fields.

- 3. Find the Al Query expression in the properties panel.
- 4. Input the prompt as a calculation and click **Apply**.
- 5. Save the form.
- 6. Access the **Page form** through an app.
- 7. Click on the magic icon for **AI Suggest**.
- 8. In the AI Suggest modal dialog, review the response text or list returned. You may want make modifications to the suggestions and then click **Apply** to input the data into the field(s).
- 9. Optionally, you can amend and refine the prompt to improve your response.

Cyber security attac	ĸ	
Risk Name Cyber security attack		
Risk description One significant cyber security attack attack. Phishing is a method used by into revealing sensitive information s	K risk for a company is a phishing y orbercriminals to rick individuals auch as basswood, crofit card	
details, or social security numbers, sending deceptive emails or messa source, such as a bank or a colleag personal information. If a company falls victim to a phish consequences, Cuberriminals can	Al Suggestion	×
Controls	Provide a description for a Cyber security attack risk for a company in 150 words Suggested text	Ľ
	One significant cyber security attack risk for a company is a phishing attack. Phishing is a method used by cybercriminals to tric individuals into revealing sensitive information such as passwords, credit card details, or social security numbers. These attacks typically involve sending deceptive emails or messages that appear to be from a trusted source, such as a bank or a colleague, b	k iut
	Cancel A	pply

0

If you would like to provide feedback on this feature e.g limits or usage, please connect with ReadiNow Support

Tips for effective AI Suggest prompts

Last Modified on 26/08/2024 11:55 am AEST

- Ensure that your prompt is concise, easy to understand, and written in natural language
- For lookup and relationships, use words such as 'list' or 'itemise' to prompt responses that provide a list of items:

'List 5 actions that are immediately required after a cyber attack where each action name is less than 300 characters'

- For multiline fields, use words such as 'describe', 'report', or 'summarise' to elicit descriptive responses: 'Provide a description for a Business Impact Analysis for Payroll'
- Specify a word or character limit in your prompt to maintain succinctness in the given context.
- Be mindful of field limits: lookup and relationship names have a 300-character limit, while multiline fields have a 10,000-character limit.
- Collect feedback from end-users to assess the effectiveness of your prompt in generating the desired responses.
- Ensure that you provide business or operational specific context within your query to ensure the response is relevant and beneficial.
- Utilize your data context fields such as "Category" or "type" etc to provide dynamic context to your query.
 - e.g. "Suggest sequential '+[Recovery Strategy type]+' tasks to respond and recover from a loss of '+[Asset name]+' Which is a '+[Asset Type]+' type asset"

If you would like to provide feedback on this feature, including suggestions for enhancements or identifying limitations, please reach out to ReadiNow Support.

Best Practices Index

Last Modified on 28/08/2020 9:52 am AEST



Applications Best Practices

Last Modified on 11/09/2020 9:52 am AEST

Application name

• The best application names are short and simple. Try to pick a name that reflects the application's purpose.

Application icon

- Choose an icon that provides clarity and aligns to your application name.
- The file types can be svg or png.
- A square icon works best (e.g. 256 x 256 pixels).

Deploy type

• It is recommended to select all *deploy options* (Desktop, Tablet, Mobile) to cover all device types.

Single solution

• If you have several related solutions in mind, create them individually as smaller applications. Smaller applications run faster than one large application. Do not worry about creating silos as the ReadiNow platform makes it easy to integrate applications.

Boards Best Practices

Last Modified on 02/09/2020 9:45 am AEST

Naming Conventions

- When choosing a board title, pick a title that is relevant to its use and what information you are presenting to your users.
- Use title case for your names.

Description

• A description of what and where the board is used can be extremely useful for audit purposes and peer review tracking.

Filters

• Boards are based on reports. As there is a 100-limit on the number of cards displayed, consider filtering the report to reduce the number of records displayed.

Application Linking

• It is important that you link your boards to your application as this is the main requirement for you to properly package and publish your application later on.

Calculations Best Practices

Last Modified on 11/09/2020 10:05 am AEST

Calculations in reports

If a calculation is used in a report, then any relationships that are followed in the calculations are internally converted to report nodes in the report. Similarly, any aggregates that appear in the calculation also get turned into aggregates in the report. This also applies to the use of Calculated Fields. These can be viewed in the Report Diagnostics tool.

Aggregates

Aggregates, such as sum, max, min and count, in calculations can cause a very large number of records to be accessed (and secured) in the process of generating a report. If aggregation is required, then be mindful of the number of records that may be accessed and of the security rules that will apply to those records.

Calculations that follow relationships

Every calculation relationship node must be secured in the same way as for following a relationship normally.

If you follow the same relationship more than once, then in some very limited scenarios the calculation engine is able to share the same node in the generated report, which is more efficient. For this to be possible, the same relationship path needs to be followed from the root, and there cannot be any where clause.

▲ If you need to access something more than once, then assign it to a variable using "let". This makes it much more likely that the calculation engine will be able to generate an efficient report.

Date functions

▲ As with the analyser, any calculations that refer to the current time will cause the report result to not be cached. Therefore use the **getdate** function in preference to the **getdatetime** function.

Charts Best Practices

Last Modified on 02/09/2020 9:46 am AEST

Charts use the reporting engine. Running a pivoted chart is equivalent to running a rollup (grouped) report.

Naming Conventions

- When choosing a chart title, pick a title that is relevant to its use and what information you are presenting to your users.
- Use title case for your names.

Description

• A description of what and where the chart is used can be extremely useful for audit purposes and peer review tracking.

Unused columns in Reports

In general, it is best to use a report that has only the columns required for the chart.

Data in Charts

Where possible show the value on the graph as a **label** to simplify the analysis for the User. Labels should be shown:

- outside bars and columns
- inside pie charts

Displaying the Legend

• If chart colours do not reflect the labels, show the legend on top right hand corner.

Charts - Axis label

- Avoid using axis labels for 'Count'.
- If the chart is on a screen, and the container already states what the chart is showing, it is recommended to hide the axis label.
- Only show the axis label when the data is not obvious.

Application Linking

• It is important that you link your boards to your application as this is the main requirement for you to properly package and publish your application later on.

Forms Best Practices

Last Modified on 18/05/2022 11:17 am AEST

Naming Conventions

- When choosing a form title, pick a title that is relevant to its use and what information you are presenting to your users.
- Use title case on your titles.

Description

• A description of what and where the form is used can be extremely useful for audit purposes and peer review tracking.

Fields

- Name and lookups are set to Autofill horizontally to give more visibility.
- Other fields default to Compact but may be changed to Autofill if required.
- *Choice fields* should be alphabetically sorted unless they are sorted by a categorisation (i.e. priority, severity, critical etc.)

Field Groups

• Consider using *field groups* to categorise fields and relationships .

Form Container

• Typically, the first left hand container will be titled < Object Name> Details.

Form Layouts

- Forms with **multiple Reports** can be slow to open. Place Reports in Tabbed Containers to reduce the overall loading time of the Form. By default the first Tab of a Tabbed Container will be 'active' (the 'default Tab') and its content will load immediately. Content (including Reports) placed in other Tabs only loads when the Tab is activated.
- Mandatory fields should be placed directly on the Form, in non-tabbed containers, or in the 'primary Tab' of a tabbed container. In other words, mandatory fields should be visible without having to search through Tabs. In situations where a field in a 'non-primary tab' must be mandatory there are 2 approaches to consider:
 - Custom Form Validation
 - Conditional Mandatory

Relationships

- Consider which relationships you want to show. There is an option: "*Do not show in reverse* ". This does exactly what the name suggests
 - For example: Last Approved By may have little value in the other direction and would just clutter the report and form builder.

Application Linking

• It is important that you link your form to your application as this is the main requirement for you to properly

package and publish your application later on.

Navigation Best Practices

Last Modified on 02/09/2020 9:47 am AEST

Naming Conventions

• When choosing a navigation tab, pick a name that is relevant to its use. Use descriptive titles in the left navigation panel, especially if the purpose of a screen is to specifically create something. For example,



• Use title case for your tab names.

Description

• It is recommended to add a description of the tab usage.

Tabs to Align to Process

- Where possible, use the 'left to right' navigation of tabs in a module.
- When you are inside a tab, the left navigation panel should align with the logical steps of a process.

Simplify Navigation

Access to information in ReadiNow is not modular. You can simplify the way users interact with the platform.
 For example, 'Reporting Only' users can have all they need in a single screen, rather than needing to navigate to the different modules.

Application Linking

• It is important to check that your tabs are linked to the correct applications.

Objects Best Practices

Last Modified on 02/09/2020 9:54 am AEST

Naming Conventions

- A singular noun
- Exception: Aggregate abstract objects (e.g. Owned Items, Approval Items etc.)
- The Script Name should match the Object name
- Use title case on your fields and titles.

Description

• Add a description explaining the purpose of the object and where the object is used. This is really helpful for audit purposes; peer review tracking and workflow identification.

Application Linking

• It is important that you link your objects to your application as this is the main requirement for you to properly package and publish your application later on.

Public Forms Best Practices

Last Modified on 27/05/2021 10:53 am AEST

Overview

Public Forms provide a lightweight, low friction solution that allows you to collect information from unauthenticated users, i.e. members of the public. Generally Public Forms are for data entry and do NOT support retrieval and/or editing of existing Records.

Use cases for Public Forms include:

- hazard/incident reporting
- collecting customer feedback

Public Forms are 'public' in the sense that they do not support user authentication; it is important to appreciate that by necessity Public Forms allow anyone on the internet (subject to your configured IP Whitelist) to create Records in your tenant. Furthermore Public Forms support the use of relationship pickers and can be configured to trigger Workflows.

This article is general in nature and does NOT intend to cover any specific use-case for Public Forms; rather it outlines some of the best practices and key points to consider when using Public Forms.

Also see:

- Public Forms Security Overview
- Getting Started with Public Forms

Public Forms should only be implemented by experienced tenant administrators who understand tenant security and data integrity.

Requirements & recommendations

The following are key recommendations for implementing Public Forms, they are not currently enforced. Public Forms allows unauthenticated users to create records in your tenant, therefore to ensure data integrity and avoid potential data leakage ReadiNow strongly recommends adopting the following precautions:

- 1. Use dedicated objects
- 2. Use dedicated workflows
- 3. Avoid resource keys
- 4. Review IP Ranges

Use dedicated Objects

Failure to implement dedicated Objects for each Public Form introduces a risk of data contamination and increases a risk of data leakage. Dedicated Objects provide a means of quarantining dirty data.

Rationale

Data contamination could be the result of low quality form submissions. Using a dedicated Object for Public Forms provides the cleanest solution for segregating potentially dirty data from clean data. Dedicated Objects also make it easier to implement a dedicated workflow to triage/sanitise data submitted using Public Forms.

Public Forms support Relationships. For example: by setting up a relationship, an incident report form can expose a list of locations where an incident may have occurred. This necessarily exposes a subset of the information in your tenant to members of the public so they can select a location. However data leakage could occur if a relationship containing sensitive data is inadvertently added to the Public Form.

Comments

The potential for data leakage has been minimised by restricting the Relationship pickers so that they ONLY expose a single field, specifically the first text field in the Picker Report.

In addition to using dedicated Objects, the potential for inadvertently modifying Objects that are publicly exposed can be further reduced by adopting a naming convention that highlights the Object's association with Public Forms.

Use dedicated Workflows

Submitting a Public Forms results in a Record being created, this provides an opportunity to trigger workflows. Workflows that are triggered by Public Forms should be simple and they should be dedicated to the Public Form's underlying Object.

Workflows that run when a Public Form is submitted should focus on validating the integrity of submitted data and moving validated records from quarantine to operational data.

Triggering a Workflow from Public Form submissions <u>requires</u> the Workflow Security to be: '*run as workflow owner*'.

Avoid Resource Keys

Resource Keys can be defined by one or more Form Fields, their purpose is avoid duplicate records. Failure to avoid Resource Keys in Public Forms introduces a risk that Form submission will fail silently.

Ordinarily when an authenticated user creates a Record that violates a Resource Key constraint they receive a message: 'resource key already exists'. However, in the context of Public Forms that message effectively leaks data to an unauthenticated user. Therefore if form submission fails due to a Resource Key violation the submission will necessarily fail silently.

Review IP Ranges

Public Forms respects the IP Ranges for your tenant. Users will be unable to access your Public Forms if they are using an IP address that is outside of the whitelisted IP Ranges. Whitelisted IP Ranges can be configured for your Tenant.

Support for Field Features and Form Layout

Public Forms supports most fields and various functional configuration.

Fields that are NOT supported (and not displayed) by Public Forms are:

- calculated fields
- autonumber fields
- relationships
- documents

Fields that are supported but have restricted functionality are:

- lookups
 - picker is restricted to a single string field
 - manual entry is not supported
 - analyser is not shown
 - create new is not supported
 - display as dropdown is not supported
- choice fields
 - cascading choice is not supported
- images
 - image value can not be used in a calculation
 - default image not supported
- date & date-time
 - keyboard entry is not supported for date entry
 - time does not support a default value

All other fields are supported with some general configuration limitations as outlined below.

Support and limitations for field configuration

Supported field configuration:

- Mandatory fields are supported however non-mandatory are marked as optional
- Calculated visibility and read-only are supported (except for calculations based on the presence of an image)
- Min, Max values for number and date-time values are supported
- Min, Max values for string length are supported
- Default values are supported
- Text pattern validation is supported
- Show Help is supported

Public Forms do NOT support the following field configurations:

- Form level validation
- Conditional formatting
- Horizontal and Vertical size
- Background colour
- Layout & position

Notes:

Layout controls such as containers are not supported. The Public Form runner supports basic layout by arranging form fields in a single column. When creating a form to be exposed as a Public Form, the best practice is to arrange fields in a single column without using containers.

Behaviour for containers has not been defined and containers should be considered as NOT supported.

Relationships Best Practices

Last Modified on 02/09/2020 9:47 am AEST

Naming Conventions

- Use title case on your fields and titles.
- When creating relationships, use unique names for the following:
 - Relationship Name
 - Script Name
 - Reverse Name

Name :	Contract	
Display Name :		
Description :		
Object:	[contract	
▼ RELATIONSHIP TYPE		
the second se		
V OWNERSHIP		
OWNERSHIP SECURITY		
OWNERSHIP SECURITY OPTIONS		
OWNERSHIP SECURITY OPTIONS Form Detail Form	n Behaviour Object Detail Format	
OWNERSHIP SECURITY OPTIONS Form Detail Form	n Behaviour Object Detail Format	
OWNERSHIP SECURITY OPTIONS Form Detail Form Default Value: Relationship Name :	n Behaviour Object Detail Format	2
OWNERSHIP SECURITY OPTIONS Form Detail Form Default Value: Relationship Name : Script Name :	n Behaviour Object Detail Format	2
OWNERSHIP SECURITY OPTIONS Form Detail Form Default Value: Relationship Name : Script Name : Reverse Name :	n Behaviour Object Detail Format Person - Contract Contract Person	2
OWNERSHIP SECURITY OPTIONS Form Detail Form Default Value: Relationship Name : Script Name : Reverse Name : Hide in Reverse:	n Behaviour Object Detail Format Person - Contract Contract Person	

Description

• A description of what that relationship is used for can be extremely useful for audit purposes and peer review tracking.

Cardinality

 Think about how the cardinality is structured. For example, the relationship between Department and Employees is a one to many relationship, and the name should reflect this. A good name would be Department - Employees. The "one" end of the relationship has a singular name and the "many" end has a plural name.

Reports Best Practices

Last Modified on 07/12/2020 4:43 pm AEDT

Naming Conventions

- When choosing a report title, pick a title that is relevant to its use and what information you are presenting to your users.
- Use title case on your titles.

Description

• A description of what and where the report is used can be extremely useful for audit purposes and peer review tracking.

Analyser text search

When searching for records, the following methods work from fastest to slowest:

- 1. Where ever possible, use the "Any of" analyser condition to match a resource rather than searching for it by Date.
- 2. If searching text, use equals (=) wherever possible.
- 3. Where ever possible, avoid using "Starts with", "Contains" and "Ends with" when searching for records on large reports.

Use Analyzer Conditions to Optimize Performance

In some situations the performance of Reports can be significantly improved by using Analyzer conditions as opposed to relying solely on security access rules. This optimisation requires the access rules to be defined on the same object, or a parent object, as the report (but not a derived object).

If a report has analyser conditions that cause the (root node) records of the report to be filtered, then (as long as the filter is in place) the Report can be optimised if the following conditions are true:

- the user has at least one access rule that applies to that type of record (other than 'grant read to all records')
- the filters on the report imply that at least one of the access rules will always be fulfilled

Examples:

The optimization can be used if:

- an access rule says that 'status' must be any of: "medium", "large", "x-large"; and the report Analyzer says that the status must be any of "medium", "large", OR
- an access rule applies to "employees" and says that status must be any of: "available", "on leave"; and the report is of "managers" with the same Analyzer condition

However, the optimization does not apply if:

- the access rule applies to "managers" and says that status must any of "available", "on leave"; but the report is of "employee" with the same Analyzer condition, OR
- the access rule has the "exact type only" advanced option set, and the report does not have "exact type only" advanced option set, and the object has derived types

Conditional formatting

Only use conditional formatting when it adds value to the report.

Ordering

Ideally, order the report in a way that the user will find useful (e.g. **by Name**). If users are continually re-ordering a report then this means more delays for the user.

However, when performance tuning a report, it is a good idea to check the advanced ordering option and remove any unnecessary sorting.

Application Linking

• It is important that you link your reports to your application as this is the main requirement for you to properly package and publish your application later on.

Security Rules Best Practices

Last Modified on 11/09/2020 12:22 pm AEST

The design of security rules can have an enormous impact on system responseness and scalability.

Relationship Security

Significant performance advantages can be achieved by judicious use of Security Relationships. Conversely, poorly configured security relationships can significantly impact performance.

Refer to Security Relationships for a list of best practices for configuring security relationships.

Security rules that relate to the current user

If any part of a report refers to 'current user', or if any of the security rules that apply to any part of the report refer to 'current user', then the results may change from user to user. This means that the cached report results cannot be shared across users, which can impact scalability.

Security rules that are optimised well by reports

A security rule will be detected as granting access to all records of a particular type 'T' if its report satisfies*all* of these conditions:

- The root node is *not* set to 'exact type only' in the advanced properties. (the default setting is the preferred setting)
- The report does not follow any relationships
- The report has no analyser conditions
- The root type of the report is either 'T' or an ancestor of 'T'
- The security rule itself applies to type 'T' or an ancestor of 'T'

While this is a pretty tight set of requirements, it's a fairly common scenario to say that (either for some roles or all roles), the user has access to all records of a particular type. For example, all users may have read permissions to see the record that represent departments or geographic locations so that they can select them in various forms. (But not necessarily the records that are associated with those departments or locations).

The ReadiNow reporting engine optimises this specific scenario.

A report is created for a particular object. However, most reports also follow relationships that lead to other objects (either in the report relationship tree, or by referring to them in calculations or calculated fields).

The reporting engine will determine all security rules that must be considered for all objects referenced in the report. However, if for a particular object, *any* of the rules are determined to satisfy the above conditions then reports know that it does not need to calculate and of the other security rules for that object - including ones that might be for inherited types.

However, this optimisation only applies if the security rule type is the same as, or a parent of, the node type. For example. if you have a relationship that points to records of the 'Person' object, and you have a rule that grants access to all 'Employee', then the optimisation cannot apply because it may be the case that some of the records linked by the relationship are of some type other than 'Employee', and therefore do not automatically receive

access according to that security rule. If possible, consider tightening the relationship to only point to employee, or loosen the rule to grant access to all Persons. (Assuming of course that this makes sense for the rest of the business logic)

▲ Make as many of these rules (that grant access to all instances of a type) as you can - and as broadly as you can.

Security rules apply to derived types

Security rules that do not grant access to all records of a type, however, also apply to derived types - and may even slow reports down.

For example, if a security rule says you can access a person if their email address contains @readinow, then that security rule will also apply to employees, customers, suppliers, or anything else that derives from person.

So make these rules apply to the tightest type possible. In this example, if you're only expecting the rule to only ever grant access to employees, then set employee as the rule type - so that way it can be ignored for other types.

If reports determines that a particular resource type has *no* rules that would grant access then it knows that the user can never see any records of that type, and will similarly optimise that case. However a stray rule applied to a parent type, such as the one above, would prevent this from happening.

▲ Don't create general rules that apply to resource or editable resource. These rules will be brought to bear on every relationship of every reports.

Sharing of report preparations

Prior to performing the task of gathering and securing records, the ReadiNow reporting engine automatically performs a number of preparatory steps. This preparation work will be cached and shared among multiple users so long as those users are in the same roles. The roles must be the same, not just partially overlapping.

Report Object

A report is based on a particular object. Try to create reports using the most specific type of object for your purpose. For example, if the the purpose of the report is to show employee records, then ensure the report is created using the 'employee' object, and not the 'person' object. Even though the 'person' object is inherited by employee, using 'person' means all security rules that apply to the 'person' object, and every object that inherits from the person object, will be taken into consideration. This will impact performance. When designing applications, use objects and inheritance to classify different types of records, rather than choice fields (unless the classification is likely to be changed). This allows for more targeted access control rules to be created and reduces the number of access control rules that are applied when running a report.

Screens Best Practices

Last Modified on 02/09/2020 9:49 am AEST

General

- Limit the number of forms, reports and charts on a screen. The fewer the resources, the faster the loading time.
- Consider creating smaller targeted screens.

Naming Conventions

- When choosing a screen title, pick a title that is relevant to its use and what information you are presenting to your users.
- Use title case for your titles.

Description

• A description of what the screen is used for can be extremely useful for audit purposes and peer review tracking.

Application Linking

• It is important that you link your screens to your application as this is the main requirement for you to properly package and publish your application later on.

Workflows Best Practices

Last Modified on 02/09/2020 9:50 am AEST

General

Single Application

• Avoid workflows that cross applications.

Naming Conventions

- Use title case for your names.
- Consider whether this workflow will be visible on a form as a button or run in the background. Workflows that are accessible from user forms should have short and meaningful names that explain their purpose such as 'Submit for Approval' or 'Activate Plans'.
- If the workflow will be run in the background, use a longer name which can be helpful to differentiate between workflows. For example 'Finance: Create Kanban Status Summary'.

Workflow Properties

Workflow Proper	ties	
Name :	Enroll for Approval	
Description :	Risk approval for Enterprise Risk	
		12
Applications :	Enterprise Risk Management	Ø 🗶
Owned by :	svc_GRC_Professional	×
Enable audit for user action :		
		OK Cancel

- **Description:** Use the Description field to describe what the workflow does. ReadiNow consultants normally put a specific label on the first line of the Description such as the form name where the workflow will be used or any specific area which makes it easy to know where the workflow will be used.
- Applications: This is the application that the workflow belongs to. Do not leave this blank unless the workflow is actually generic and does not belong to any particular application.
- Owned By: By default this will take the name of the creator. The best practice is to then change it to the name of an Administrator user that will always be present and not disabled or deleted as admins leave the company. The user account must have adequate privilege to run any task required by the workflow such as deletion or access to secured records.

Break complex workflows into multiple workflows

• Workflows are often used to model multi-step business processes. Each step may in turn require multiple

workflow activity steps to be completed. Consider creating individual workflows to model individual business process steps, with a master workflow to call each of them in turn using the Run Workflow activity.

Use the Workflow Analyzer to review interdependencies between workflows

- Workflows may cause other workflows to run, either by use of the Run Workflow activity, or implicitly by modifying records that in turn have a trigger set up to run another workflow. Take care to ensure that workflows are not designed in a loop that causes them to call each other.
- The Workflow Analyser tool can be used to graphically show which workflows may cause other workflows to be started.

Designing Efficient Workflows

There is often more than one way to achieve a particular outcome. However, some patterns will tend to run more efficiently than others. The following patterns will generally result in workflows that run more quickly.

Use the Workflow Examine Run tool to investigate workflow efficiency

The Examine Run tool allows you to view the amount of time spent processing each activity in the workflow, and to drill down into the contents of variables.

The Start Activity

Workflows are used to automate tasks or manipulate selected records or a group of them. The workflow can either work on a selected record which is either the open record in a form, or the selected record in a report, or it can work on a collection of records that are read from a report.

To tell the workflow that you want to work on the selected record use the Input Parameter:

Submit Inciden click to edit desc	Workflow		
Inputs Variables	Outputs	Security	
Input Parameter			×
Name	Incinput		
Туре	Record Argu	ment	\sim
Definition	WHS Incident		
New Input Parameters			
Default Input Parameter	r		
Triggering Input	Incinput		~
Related Resource	none		~

• Name: if you have only one record source then you can remain with the default name of 'Input'. Otherwise give this a name that would help distinguish the input parameter from another. For example you can use 'Incident Input' or 'Risk Input' to indicate that one parameter is related to an Incident and the other to a Risk

object.

- **Type**: The Type tells the workflow what kind of input the workflow is dealing with. The workflow can operate on a selected record or on information passed on from other workflows. The most common use of the Input Parameter is a Record Argument which means the Input value will be a selected record. If you want to handle a set of records then set the Type to Record List. The other types, can be used to specify what is the nature of the value passed to the workflow. This is when the value is passed from yet another workflow.
- **Definition**: This is where you specify what object will the record source hold. If you want to run the workflow on an Incident form then your Definition should have Incident in it. Note that once the workflow is saved you can show the workflow as a button on the object form by using Actions.

		i. P	ROPERTIES 🛗 SAVE	SAVE AS	×
	Export Inc	ident to Word	Submit Incident	+ Actions	
				^	
Action	IS				
Recor	d Actions				
					\sim \sim
lcon	Name	Enable	Custom Label	Button	Туре
	Export Incident to				\sim
►	Submit Incident	М			~

The Submit Incident workflow (second line in Record Actions list) will appear in this list because the workflow has the same object as the form.

OK

Cancel

Note: there is no need to add any Input Parameter if the workflow will not get any input from a selected record. For example when all the records fetched will come from a 'Get Records' activity.

Use the Get Records activity to get a filtered list of records

When to use:

If you need to need to process all records of a particular object that meet some criteria, such as having a particular status or field value, then use the Get Records activity to load the records from that report.

This is particularly helpful for objects that have a very large number of records, even if only a small number of those records will match the criteria. At present this approach will generally run more quickly than writing an equivalent calculation in a workflow.

How to use:

- 1. Create a report and add analyser conditions to perform the required filtering.
- 2. Add the Get Records activity to the Workflow to load the records.
 - Optionally, Workflow variables can be used to control analyser conditions to perform filtering relevant to the current workflow run.
- 3. Use the [Get Records.List] output of the Get Records activity as needed, for example in an Update activity or Loop.

Provide a list of records to the Update and Create activities to update multiple records at once

When to use:

If multiple records are being processed and having fields and lookups set, then it is possible to provide a list of records as the input to the Update activity. The calculations used for setting field and relationship values may make reference to other fields and relationships on the individual record.

When the update activity is used in this manner, the records will be processed in batches and this is typically more efficient than writing an equivalent workflow that uses the loop activity to check each record in turn.

How to use:

- 1. Provide a list parameter or list calculation to the Records input of the Update activity.
 - The [Get Records].List output of a Get Records, as described above, can be used here.
- 2. The calculations for each field and relationship may make direct reference to existing fields and relationship on the record.
- 3. For example, the Name record of a person record could be updated with the calculation: [First Name] + ' ' + [Last Name]

The same technique can be used with the Create activity by providing a list of records to the 'Based On' input of the Create activity.

Use the Create Activity in combination with Resource Keys to create/update records

When to use:

A common workflow requirement is to retrieve data from an external source, such as by making an API call, or processing a spreadsheet. This data is then used to create and/or update records. Typically there is some form of identity field or ID number, and if a pre-existing record has the same number then it needs to be updated, but if the is no pre-existing record then one needs to be created.

The most efficient way to perform the combined task of: checking for an existing record, updating the existing record, or creating one if it does not already is exist, is to use a Create activity in conjunction with a Resource Key.

How to use:

- 1. Create a Resource Key for the object that indicates that a particular ID field on the record will uniquely identify records.
- 2. In the Workflow, add a Create activity (not an update activity) to create records of the required object.

- 3. Enable the Create activity option "Update existing record with matching key". Note: this option will only appear if an object is selected that has a resource key defined on it.
- 4. Set a value for the field (or all of the fields and relationships) that make up the resource key.
- 5. Set any other field or relationship values that need to be set.
- 6. Optionally:
 - 1. As described above, a list of record can be provided as the input to the Create activity, which will cause the create/update operations to be performed in batches.
 - 2. And ideally this list input should be the List output of an earlier Get Records activity.

Take care when using loops

If a workflow has a loop that runs over a large number of records, then the workflow may take a long time to run.

- Where possible, use techniques such as those described above to avoid needing to use loops.
- If a loop is unavoidable, then examine activities and calculations that are within the loop. If there are any calculations or parts of calculations that are essentially the same for each record in the loop, then consider performing those calculations before entering the loop, and assigning the result to a workflow variable.
- This means that the calculation does not need to be performed for each record in the loop. This can save considerable time.

Take extra care when using nested loops

If a workflow has a loop that in turn contains another loop, then the time required to run the workflow may be proportional to the number of records in the outer loop *multiplied* by the number of records in the inner loop. This can be a large number in some cases.

If this type of nesting cannot be avoided then, minimally, carefully examine each calculation and activity as described above. Ideally move common calculations to before the outer loop. However if this cannot be done, then minimally move common calculations from within the inner loop to just before the inner loop.

Configuration Auditing

Last Modified on 03/04/2019 1:57 pm AEDT

System configuration changes are logged as shown for:

- object definitions
- charts
- forms
- reports screens
- resource keys
- email settings
- schedules
- triggers
- workflows



There is no prior configuration required to use this feature.

Record Auditing

Last Modified on 03/04/2019 1:59 pm AEDT

It is often necessary to capture the history of changes made to a record for auditing purposes.

For example, a user may update a record with new values or delete an existing record. The updated or deleted record is saved along with the entire activity log such as old value, modified value, user who modified/deleted the record etc. This serves as documentary evidence for the sequence of activities taking place on application records.

Please note that the retained records are only for viewing/auditing purposes and cannot be restored.

Record Change Auditing

Last Modified on 04/09/2020 4:46 pm AEST

Record Change Audit Policies define what changes are tracked on Records; auditing can be enabled on Fields and Relationships.

To configure an audit policy:

- 1. Navigate to the **Administration** landing page.
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Audit. The Audit expands to display list.
- 3. Select Record Change Policies (existing Record Change Policies display)
- 4. Select +NEW (Record Change Audit Policy form displays)
- Complete the necessary information, e.g. Name, Object to trigger on, Fields to Audit (or, Relationship to Audit).
- 6. Select Save

Notes:

- Multiple fields or relationships can be defined in one audit policy
- Multiple policies can be defined on the same object. However, it may lead to multiple audit log entries
- If an audit log has more than 10,000 characters, then it is truncated and added to the next line.

Record Audit Log

Last Modified on 14/07/2020 12:14 pm AEST

The record audit log allows administrators to look back at changes that have been made. This is useful when a problem has occurred, or a record of important events needs to be kept, such as when a record is deleted.

Audit log is not intended to record all activity in ReadiNow. For example, it does not track whether a record is being viewed by any user. Rather, it is intended to record the data changes for a field or relationship, given the field or relationship is configured in Record Auditing Policies

Only an Administrator has the permissions to view the audit log report in Administration application

Non-administrator users can view audit log on target record if they have been granted access.

To view the audit log:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Audit. The Audit expands to display list.
- 4. Select Audit Log. The Audit Log displays.

There are no records on the report unless **Record Auditing Policies** are enabled for an object and the audited activities have taken place since the auditing was enabled.

For archiving of record audit logs, see Retention Policies settings.

Event Log

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:49 pm AEST

The Event Log is a place where events are tracked.

To view the event log:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select **Audit**. The Audit expands to display list.
- 4. Select **Event Log**. The Event Log displays.

Screenshot: View event log



By default, the event log has newest on top. However it can be changed by modifying the report in Report Builder
Event Log Settings

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:08 pm AEST

Viewing the event log settings

To view the event log settings:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Audit. The Audit expands to display list.
- 4. Select **Event Log Settings**. The Event Log Settings display.

Screenshot: View event log setting

ReadiNow	×	Administration	6
S APIs	← BACK	-	🖋 EDIT
s API Keys	Event Log Settings		
Import Spreadsheet	Name: Event Log Settings		
Import Runs	Description : The event log settings e configured by the tenant.		
Scheduled Import	EVENT LOG SETTINGS DETAILS Maximum event log entr 10,000		
🖿 Surveys 🗠	Inspect security checks on resource		
🖿 Workflows 🗠	C - ACTION - Ø, 82 → EDIT INLINE Name Description Type Created Date	 Search Modified Date 	0
🖿 Audit 2 🔹			
Event Log Settings 3			
Policies			
III Audit Log			
Event Log			

Editing the event log settings

To editing the event log settings:

- 1. Navigate to the Event Log Settings.
- 2. Select Edit at top right corner to modify settings.
- 3. Select Link to Existing

Ø4

the Select Resource dialogue appears.

- 4. Select the resource you want so that system logs the security check events.
- 5. Select OK.
- 6. Select Save to save changes.

Contextual Audit Log

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:34 am AEST

The Record Audit Log is the place to see log entries for all objects, but log entries for a record can also be viewed on the form for that particular record.

Adding the object audit log to its form

To capture an audit log on a record:

- 1. Open the form for any object.
- 2. Add a new tab in the tabbed container, see screenshot.
- 3. Quick search for 'log' in Left Navigation Area and drag and drop Log entries for object onto the form.
- 4. Select **SAVE** to save the changes.
- 5. Select **X** to exit form builder mode.

Viewing the audit log for a target record

- 1. Set up audit log to appear for the record you want,
- 2. Find any record and make a change.
- 3. Navigate to Log entries for object tab.
- 4. Select Refresh to view new log entries.

If a log entry does not appear as expected, navigate to Record Auditing Policies and make sure the audit policy is created, or enabled, or if the field (or relationship) being edited is set on trigger.

Security Audit Log

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:15 am AEST

A security audit log is a tamper resistant record of security sensitive occurrences that affect a system. It is used as a deterrent to prevent administrators maliciously or accidentally abusing their privileges when they otherwise have few restrictions. It can also be used to detect malicious activity (e.g. use of a compromised account).

Unlike the existing Event Log, the audit log is mainly aimed for administrators and their auditors.

Security Audit Log Settings

This page is about viewing or configuring the security audit log.

To view or edit Security Audit Log settings:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select **Security**. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select Security Audit Log Settings. The existing Security Audit Log Settings display.
- 5. Select **Edit** and configure the following fields as required:
 - Maximum audit log entries Type the maximum number of audit log entries. There is a minimum value of 1 and a maximum value of 10,000
 - Minimum severity Type the minimum message severity to log to the audit log
- 6. Screenshot: View security audit log setting



7. Select **Save** at the top right corner.

Viewing Security Audit Log

To view Security Audit log:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select Security Audit Log. The Security Audit Log displays.

Screenshot: View security audit log

100						- Administration 🚹 i		4
1	Thumbrall Sizes							7
6	Conditional Format Ic	Security Audit	Log					
0	Text Field Patterns	6 - ACTON -				T Search	0,	
		Audit log entry created data	Security	Message	Success	User		
	s inensa	11/28/2016 1:08 PM	Information	Logon, User name: snadmin, User agent Missiliar'S.0 (Windows NT 102); WOWH4; nr/SU2) Gecko/20100101 Findsar/SD3.	Yes	snadmin	^	
	Resources -	11/28/2016 10:48 AM	Information	Legon. User name ty admin. User agent: Mocila/Sil (Windows NII 112); Windo x64; AppleWebKir/SII 36 (DHTML, Use Gecke) Overver/SL0204039 Safasi/SII 36.	Tes .	tgadwin		
		11/28/2016 10:06 AM	Information	Lagon, Dar name tg.admin, Dar agent: Mocila/53 (Windows NT 11.0; Wind4; s64; AppleWebRe337.36 (D-ITML, Hx Gecke) Chrome/54.0.2440.09 Safas/337.36.	Tes	tpadmin		
	Security 7	11/28/2016 10:05 AM	Warning	Legon. User name: Admin. User agent: Messilar5.0 (Mindows NT 10.0; Winkl; eli4) AppleIIIeb86(537.36 (DHTML; like Eecks) Chrome/54.0.2848.99 Selari537.26	No	Administrator		1
	Name and Address	11/28/2016 10:82 AM	Information	Legon, User name: on.admin. User agent Musilla/3.0 (Windows NT 102); WOWH vs50.0 Gecko/20100101 Finite/203.	Tes	snadmin		
	Contra Provident	10/28/2018 8:59 AM	Information	Legon, User name: snadmin, User agent Medilla/3.0 (Windows NT 100; WOWH); rc/50.0 Occko/20100101 Pirefex/30.0.	Te .	snadmin		
	1 Paceword Policy	11/21/2016 1.26 PM	Information	Lagon, Daw name: on admin, Dow agent, Musilia/S.0 (Mindows NT 103); WOW64) ApplitMubRit/S3736 (OrTMs, Bie Sector) Chrome/S632598.99 Safar/S3736	Tec	onadmin		
		11/21/2018 1:25 PM	Information	Legon, User name: snadmin, User agent Medilla/3.0 (Windows NT 100; WOWH); rc/50.0 Occko/20100101 Pinfex/30.0.	10	snadmin		
	Security Audit Log Set.	11/21/2016 1.25 PM	Information	Legon, Daw names on admin, Dow agent Musilia/S.D (Mindows NT 10.0) WOWIG vsSL0) Gecks/2010/101 Findias/S0.0.	Tes	on admin		
R	🔟 Security Audit Loo 🧭	11/21/2016 1:23 PM	Information	Legon. User name: snadmin. User agent: Medilar3.0 (Windows NT 102; WOWH); rc50.0) Geolor/2010/101 Pinftsr/303.	70	snadmin		
		11/18/2016 2:08 PM	Information	Delete access rule. Subject name Students; Second type: Qualifications; Authorisation report: -	Tes	snadmin		
E	User Accounts	11/18/2016 2:07 PM	Information	Change access rule permissions. Subject name: Students, Secured type: Qualifications, Authorization report; , Old permissions: Read, New permissions: Read,	No	snadmin		
		11/18/2016 3:07 PM	Information	Create access rule Subject name Budents, Secured type Qualifications.	Tes	snadmin		
	el Oserkoles	11/16/2016 2:06 PM	Information	Change access rule permissions, Subject name: Students, Secured type: Qualifications, Authorization report; , Old permissions: Read, New permissions: Read,	No	snadmin		
	Integration -	11/18/2016 2:06 PM	Information	Create access rule. Subject name: Rudents, Secured type: Qualifications.	Tes .	snadmin		
		11/18/2016 2:06 PM	Information	Delete access rule. Subject name: Students, Secured type: Student, Authorisation report: -	Yes	snadmin		
	b APts	11/18/2016 2:05 PM	Information	Charge access rule permissions. Subject name: Students, Secured type: Student, Authorisation reports, Old permissions: Read, New permissions: Read,	10	snadmin		
	A AD Your	11/18/2016 2:05 PM	Information	Course access rule, Subject names Rudents, Secured type Student,	Tes	on.admin		
		11/18/2016 1-43 PM	Information	Legon. User name: snadmin. User agent Medilar3.0 (Windows NT 102; WOWHG AppleMed/6/317.36 (OHTML; Me Decks) Chrome/34.0.2548.99 Selari 337.26	To	snadmin		
	b Import Spreadsheet	11/0/2015 2:40 PM	Maxing	Legon. Daw name typosis. User agent: Musille/S.D (Windows NT 10.3) Win64; 66() Applebilistics/S27.36 (04756), like Gecku) Choome/S43.2081.71 Safas/S17.26.	No	Administrator		
		TU/9/2016 2:40 PM	Marring	Legon. User name: tgosain. User agent: Mestila/3.0 (Windows NT 102; Windok s64) AppleMebR/0/35736 (04TML, Mix Decks) Chrome/54.0.2640.71 Selas/357.36.	No	Administrator		
- 1	e Import Runs	11/6/2016 1/52 PM	Information	Cousts user account, then names take, finith,	Tes	onadmin		
	Scheduled Import	11/4/2016 1:07 PM	Information	Legon, User name: sn.admin, User agant: Mesiliar3.0 (Windows NT 10.2; WOWH); no48.0; Gecko/20100101 Pindrav40.0.	No.	snadmin		
		11/16/2016 12:02 PM	Information	Lagon. Dar name scadnin, Dar agent Musilig/SJ (Hinduws NT 103) WOWIG rotKI) Geslar/2010/11 Forfus/WIJ.	Tei	snadmin		
	Sannya -	11/4/2016 11/43 AM	Information	Legon, User name: an admin. User agent Mosilia/3.0 (Windows NT 100); WOWH4; no48.0) Geolo/20100101 Findox/49.8.	Yes	snadmin		

- The entries are sorted by Date Time by default with most recent events first
- Custom formatting shows error entries in red and warnings in yellow
- Customers can use the export feature to get a downloadable copy
- Auditors can periodically download the audit log and clear it

Security Audit Log Messages

The following security events are captured in the security audit log. Messages include whether the event was successful, or failed, along with relevant details.

Record change events can be logged using Record Auditing, not security audit messages.

Security Event	Notes
User account creation	
User account deletion	
User account rename	
User account expiry	This is logged at the first attempt to use the expired account, not the actual time of expiry.
User account password change	
Change user account expiration	
Change of user account status	
Locked user account	Logged when a user has too many incorrect attempts.
Logon	
Logoff	Not all logoffs may be audited, since a user may not explicitly log off.
User role creation	

Security Event	Notes
User role deletion	
User role rename	
User role membership change	
Application creation	
Application deletion	
Application deployment	
Application publish	
Password policy change	
Access rule creation	
Access rule enabling	
Access rule query change	
Access rule permission change	
Access rule deletion	
Tenant rollback	

Credentials

Last Modified on 15/03/2019 2:19 pm AEDT

Overview

Centrally manage credentials for the following integration configurations:

- Scheduled Exports
- Scheduled Imports
- FTP Fetch workflow activity
- FTP Put workflow activity

Creating a new Credential

To create a Credential:

- 1. Select Administration.
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Integration.
- 3. Select +NEW.
- 4. Type in the name of the credential
- 5. Type in a Username and password and save.

The **Configuration** report on the Credential form displays in which configurations the credentials are used.

Scheduled Import

Last Modified on 17/08/2021 9:51 am AEST

ReadiNow allows users to schedule various data import jobs so that they are executed at regular time intervals.

Preconditions

- Prepare a sample file to be uploaded.
- Set up FTP server and address, e.g. ftps://rnftp01.example.com/Testdatafile.csv
- Scheduled Import is supported on both SFTP and FTPS protocols

Configuring scheduled import

- 1. Open the tenant administration page more
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Integration. The Integration expands to display list.
- 3. Select Scheduled Import. The existing Scheduled Imports display.
- 4. Select **+NEW**. The Scheduled Import configuration form appears.
- 5. Complete fields as required.
- 6. Select checkbox for **Enabled**.
- 7. Select the Import configuration you want (or set up Import Spreadsheet, if not already done).

Scheduled Export

Last Modified on 18/11/2021 2:23 pm AEDT

ReadiNow allows users to schedule various data export jobs so that they are executed at regular time intervals.

Preconditions:

- Set up FTP server and address, e.g. ftps://rnftp01.example.com/Testdatafile.csv
- Scheduled Export is supported on both SFTP and FTPS protocols

Configuring scheduled export

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Integration. The Integration expands to display list.
- 4. Select Scheduled Export. The existing Scheduled Exports display.
- 5. Select ACTION > New. The Scheduled Export configuration form appears, see screenshot.
- 6. Complete fields as required.
- 7. Select checkbox for Enabled.
- 8. Select the Report you want to export data from.
- 9. Select the File type.
- 10. Type the FTP address along with the filename to be created as part of the export configuration (e.g. ftps://rnftp01.example.com/ExportedStudentInfo.xlsx). Note: If a file already exists with the same name in the FTP location, it will be overridden with every export run.
- 11. Set up a schedule to run, see Schedules.
- 12. Select **Save** to save the configuration.

Once the export run is complete, there is a log entry in the **Log** tab of the export configuration.

At present, there's a limit of 100,000 records that can be exported at a time from a report.

Import Spreadsheet

Last Modified on 12/10/2020 9:57 pm AEDT

This page describes how to import object data from a file (while tenant administrator is logged in to console). ReadiNow supports the following types of files:

- Excel in .xlsx format (Note: .xls is not supported)
- Comma separated .csv file
- Tab separated .csv file

If the intention is to import object data from third-party web interface, please refer to Configuring API page.

Dates should be formatted as ISO 8601 in the import file to avoid time zone ambiguity. See General Settings for the time zone setting.

Importing Process

Object Data

- 1. Open the Import Spreadsheet wizard
 - 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
 - 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
 - 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Integration. The Integration expands to display list.
 - 4. Select Import Spreadsheet. The existing Import configurations display.
 - 5. Select +NEW. The Import Spreadsheet wizard displays, see screenshot.
- 2. Import the data:
 - 1. Upload Document, select Upload button and navigate to the sample spreadsheet file, comma separated .csv file or a tab separated .csv file you want, set row numbers, sheet to import etc as required, select Next.
 - 2. Select Object
 - 1. Select Objects for the Import type
 - 2. Choose the object from picker
 - 3. Select Next.
 - 3. Select Columns
 - 1. Map spreadsheet columns and object fields (or relationships) as required
 - 2. Select Next.
 - 4. For Options:
 - 1. Name the configuration for future use

- 2. Select Test Import if this run is a trial
- 3. Select Workflows to prevent events from being triggered
- 4. Select Next
- 5. Select Import. The configuration proceeds and verifies records.

Choice Options

If the choice field has been created already then skip step 1.

- 1. Define a new choice field type
 - 1. Go to a form in an application
 - 2. Open Form Builder
 - 3. Add a new choice field
 - 4. Add a new option by selecting "New"
 - 5. Select OK to save
 - 6. Open the choice field properties. The choice field type is now defined. It will say "Use existing", and show the name for the choice type. <u>Note this name.</u>
 - 7. Save the form
- 2. Prepare a spreadsheet for import
 - 1. One column must contain names
 - 2. One column of numbers to specify ordering is highly recommended
- 3. Import the spreadsheet
 - 1. Select "Choice Field Values"
 - 2. Then select the name of the choice type, from step 1.f
 - 3. Assign the two columns to the name field and the order field
 - 4. Import
- 4. Open the Import Spreadsheet wizard
 - 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
 - 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
 - 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Integration. The Integration expands to display list.
 - 4. Select Import Spreadsheet. The existing Import configurations display.
 - 5. Select +NEW. The Import Spreadsheet wizard displays, see screenshot.
- 5. Import the data
 - 1. Upload Document
 - 1. Select the Upload button and navigate to the spreadsheet file and set options as required
 - 2. Select Next
 - 2. Select Object
 - 1. Select Choice field values for the Import type
 - 2. In the picker select the name of the choice type from step 1.f
 - 3. Select Next

3. Select Columns

- 1. Map the name and sort order spreadsheet columns to their corresponding fields
- 2. Select Next.
- 4. Options
 - 1. Name the configuration for future use
 - 2. Select **Test Import** if this run is a trial
 - 3. Select Workflows to prevent events from being triggered
 - 4. Select Next
- 5. Select Import. The configuration proceeds and verifies records.
- 6. Delete the initial value record ("New Option") created in step 1.d

Dates and Times

Dates must be formatted as ISO 8601 in the import file before importing.

Configuration Settings

- The configuration file can be saved for later use. As a result, file name is not saved as part of the configuration.
- Preview on Upload Document is limited to 10 rows only.
- Preview can be reloaded after changing settings to make sure the settings are right before you start importing.
- You can cancel the data import at any time while the import is in progress.
- The import spreadsheet can handle trailing and leading spaces of the excel data and is not case sensitive.

ReadiNow		۹ Administra	tion 🚹 🛓 🖓 😗 🖬		
< -	Import Spreadshee	et			
Applications	Upload Document Select O	bject Select Columns Option	ns Import 6		
Settings	File Employee.xisx	4 Upload 🗸	Next Import		
	Sheet Settings				
APIs	Row number contains heading Row number to start reading data	2	No heading row		
🐁 API Keys	Last row number to read Worksheet to import	Sheet1	(optional)		
Import Spreadsheet	+ Preview				
Import Runs	Name	First name	Last name		
Scheduled Import	Abida Begum	Abida	Begum		
Import Spreadsheet screenshot					

Add fixed value to field and relationships

You can set a fixed value for any column using Add a fixed value option in the column mapping page. Once a fixed

value is created, it needs to be mapped with a field / column in the object. The mapped column cannot be mapped again with any other column in the import file.

Ability to Append or overwrite

APPEND or OVERWRITE can be set on relationships and multi-select choice fields. When a column in the import file is mapped with a relationship field two options are provided; Append and Overwrite. **Append** will add the data to the existing data for the corresponding record. **Overwrite** will overwrite the data on the corresponding record.

Ability to Ignore or Clear blanks on lookups

Ignore or Clear blanks can be set on lookups and single choice fields. When a column in the excel is mapped to a lookup field, two options are provided; Ignore blanks and Clear blanks. **Ignore blanks** ignores the blank cell in the excel and keeps the value on the lookup or single select choice field. **Clear blanks** clears the value of the lookup or single select choice field if the corresponding row in the excel is blank.

Import Runs

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:12 pm AEST

For each import spreadsheet, the run result is not only displayed on the last screen of the wizard, but also saved into import runs for future checks.

Viewing the import run report

To view the import run report:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Integration. The Integration expands to display list.
- 4. Select Import Runs. The Import Runs display.

Screenshot: View import run report



To change the default look of the report, please go to report builder mode and make changes according to preference.

User can also cancel an import from Import Runs page. Select the Correct Import Configuration , do a right click and select **Cancel 'Import Run'** to stop the Import progress

API Callouts Overview

Last Modified on 15/03/2019 2:25 pm AEDT

Overview

API Callouts is the ReadiNow Platform feature that enables calling out to external third-party web APIs.

Data payloads can be included in both the request and response. In this way, ReadiNow can:

- Push data to external systems
- Pull data from external systems

Usage

When should I use API callouts?

Situations where using API Callouts would be appropriate can include:

- Pushing data from a ReadiNow application into a third-party system
- Pulling data from a third-party system into a ReadiNow application
- Requesting that one or more operations be performed on a third-party system as part of a ReadiNow workflow
- Notifying a third-party system of something that has occurred in a ReadiNow application

What kinds of APIs can ReadiNow APIs communicate with?

To communicate with a third-party system, ReadiNow and the third-party system must be compatible in the following ways:

• Transport

ReadiNow supports HTTP and HTTPS web requests

Message Format

ReadiNow supports JSON, XML, and plain text message formats

• Authentication

ReadiNow supports unauthenticated APIs, OAuth 2.0, HTTP Basic authentication, API key authentication, and custom authentication (any authentication scheme that utilises the HTTP "Authorization" header)

Providing that these requirements are met, ReadiNow can connect to most web APIs (including REST-style APIs).

Connectivity

Finally, third-party APIs must be accessible over the public internet; if it is not physically possible for the ReadiNow servers to reach the third-party system (for example if it is an on-premises system), then it is not possible for API Callouts to be used.

Configuring an API Callout

Last Modified on 27/01/2021 3:07 pm AEDT

To configure an individual API Callout endpoint, the following information is required:

- The HTTP Method
- The endpoint address
- Information about the data being sent (optional)

HTTP Method

The HTTP method is a part of how HTTP requests work. It will typically be one of "GET", "POST" "PUT", or "DELETE" and should be identified in the documentation for the API being called.

If the method is not specified by the documentation then, as a rule of thumb:

- Assume that the method is GET if there is no data (XML or JSON) being sent as part of the request
- Assume that the method is **POST** if there is data (XML or JSON) being sent as part of the request

Endpoint address

The endpoint address is the web address of the individual third-party API being called. For ReadiNow API Callouts, a base address can be configured as part of the API Callout Library, such as http://thirdparty.com/. Individual endpoints then specify their address relative to this base address (enter this information into the Relative URL field). For example: /someapi

Before calling the API, the base address is prepended to the relative address (e.g. http://thirdparty.com/someapi).

It is common for web APIs to receive certain information as part of their address. This information may take the form of part of the path, or as part of the parameter. You may include static parameters as part of the address by directly typing those values.

For example: /someapi?settings=somevalue. Information that is provided in this way must be correctly encoded as per normal URL encoding rules so that it will form a valid URL.

You may also include values that are provided by the calling workflow by embedding them as parameters. For example, Relative URL may be: /api/department/{[Department Code]}/staff.

If an API Callout activity is added to a workflow, then the above URL will automatically case a "Department Code" string input to be provided, and information received from the workflow activity will be included into the URL. The system will automatically perform the relevant URL encoding in this case. See below for more details.

Request Body

If the HTTP Method is one of POST, PUT, or DELETE, then an additional "Request Template" input is shown. This is where XML, or JSON, or other data may be defined that will be sent to the server. The third-party API documentation will describe the format of data that it is expecting.

Text Templates

As described above, a web request consists of various components, including:

- A web address that is, a URL
- A request body
- HTTP Headers (additional metadata)

For each of these, the data is text. To allow complete flexibility over what text is offered, ReadiNow APIs use a text template system, which is very similar to ReadiNow document templates.

You enter what the request message needs to look like, and then embed additional macros that can be used to:

- Insert data values
- Conditionally include/exclude certain parts of the message
- Generate repeated content in the message

The macros to do this are very similar to those for document generation.

Simple example

A JSON request URL and body might look like this:

URL: http://hostname.com/api/department/sales/staff

```
{
   "firstName":"Jack",
   "lastName":"Smith",
   "status":"NewHire",
   "hoursPerWeek":38,
   "startDate":"2017-01-09"
}
```

The corresponding templates for the request URL and body could look like this:

URL: http://hostname.com/api/department/{[Department Code]}/staff

```
{
  "firstName": { [Firstname] },
  "lastName": { [Lastname] },
  "status": "NewHire",
  "hoursPerWeek": { input(int, [Hoursperweek]) },
  "startDate": { dateadd(day, 14, getdate()) }
}
```

In the above example, the API Callout would detect 4 inputs that can be passed in from a workflow:

• Department Code (Text)

- First Name (Text)
- Last Name (Text)
- Hours per week (Integer)

It would also calculate the date 14 days into the future and specify that as the start date. The system will automatically perform URL and JSON string encoding as necessary.

Encoding inputs

As illustrated above, any unrecognised identifier is treated as an input. By default, these are treated as string inputs but by using the "input" function, it is possible to also specify the type of input. For example, <u>input(currency,</u> [Balance]) will expose an input called "Balance" of type currency.

Records can also be passed as inputs by using the object name as the input type. For example, input([Person], [Owner]) will create an input called "Owner" that receives a Person record. This can then be used to access individual fields in the same manner as other calculations.

Note that the type of an input only needs to be specified the first time that an input is used in the document. For example:

```
{
    "ownerName": { input([Person], [Owner].[Firstname])+' '+[Owner].[Lastname] },
    "department": { [Owner].[Department] }
}
```

Repeated Content

Repeated content can be written in API requests in the same way that it can be done for document generation. For example:

```
{
 "ownerName": {
  input([
   Person
  ],
  [
   Owner
  ].[
   Firstname
  ])+' '+[
   Owner
  ].[
   Lastname
  ])
 },
 "department": {
  [
   Owner
  ].[
   Department
  ]
}
}
```

The {sep} instruction can also be used to create separation lists:

```
{with all(Student)} {[First Name]} {sep},{end}
```

Which yields the result: "Adam, Belinda, Charles, Diana"

For JSON data, the API requests can also use the special array keyword as follows (it automatically handles the square brackets and commas):

```
{
"students": {
 arrayall(Student)
}{
  "firstName": {
  [
    Firstname
   ]
 },
 "lastName": {
  [
    Lastname
   ]
 },
 "subjects": {
   array[
    Subjects
   ]
 }{
   [
    Name
  ]
 }{
   end
 }
}{
 end
}
}
```

Which yields the following result:

```
{
 "students": [
  {
    "firstName": "Alex",
    "lastName": "Zeo",
    "subjects": [
     "Accounting",
     "Economics"
   1
  },
  {
   "firstName": "Belinda",
   "lastName": "Yang",
    "subjects": [
     "Linguistics",
     "Maths"
   ]
  }
 ]
}
```

The example above generates an array of student as objects. For each student it also follows the "subjects" relationship and creates an array of subject names as strings for that student.

Output encoding

When building XML / JSON templates using calculation, the system will automatically attempt to encode values as required; this is achieved by setting the expected result type to URL, XML or JSON respectively. When building URLs, the system will also attempt encode values as required.

Calculations will implicitly convert strings, and other values, to these encodings by applying the standard escaping rules for each format.

Additionally, for JSON strings and dates, the encoding will add enclosing double-quote marks. This is necessary so that JSON encoding can appropriately encode nulls.

For example:

- Before: I have one" double quote
- After: "I have one\" double quote"

Note the addition of the surrounding quote marks.

When dates, times, and date-times are converted (explicitly or implicitly) to URL, XML or JSON encodings, they will automatically assume an ISO8601 format:

- Dates: 2012-07-31
- Times: 23:30:00
- Date-times: 2012-07-31T23:30:00

In all the above cases, automatic encoding can be bypassed by using the explicit donotencode encoding. For example, convert(donotencode, getdate())

Escape sequences for braces

In the case of JSON, curly braces define both the macros, and the object syntax. Curly braces have been used as they are a common delimiter for documentation in how APIs describe URLs, and they are also used in Word for document generation macros.

The API callout will generally be able to decide the meaning of the curly brace from context, but it can be explicitly controlled using the following rules:

- If the first non-whitespace character after an opening curly brace is a double quote, or if the enclosed sequence contains a colon, then the text is assumed to be a JSON object (otherwise it is assumed to be a template macro)
- The syntax \${..} can be used to explicitly enforce the template syntax.
- The syntax \${{ can be used to mark a literal '{' within plain text
- The syntax \$}} can be used to mark a literal '}' within a macro string
- The syntax \$\$ can be used to mark a literal '\$' in either context

The goal of these rules is that explicit escape sequences are seldom used but are available in case some obscure combination of text is required.

Responses

An API Callout makes a web request to some remote third-party service. In most cases the service will reply with some form of response, either to indicate the success/failure of the call, or to return some form of requested data (REST APIs typically return their results in either JSON or XML format).

API Callouts are accessed via a workflow activity and this activity makes response information available through output parameters.

Activity Output Parameters

API Callout activities return the following output parameters, which can then be used in calculations for other activities:

Parameter Name	Туре	Description
Response	Dynamic type	A record that represents the root JSON or XML item that can be used to directly access properties and arrays from the parsed response. The platform uses the response template to work out what type of field should be made available in the response.

HTTP Status Code	Integer	The HTTP Response code, such as 200 for OK. See list of typical response codes.
HTTP Response Body	String	The raw unprocessed text response (e.g. raw JSON or XML) from the server.
HTTP Request URL	String	The web address that was called. This can be useful when troubleshooting, to see how parameters were encoded into the URL.
HTTP Request Body	String	The content that was sent as part of the web request. This can be useful when troubleshooting, to see how parameters were encoded into the request template.

Setting a Response Template

The system uses the Message format setting on the API Callout to determine what type of response to expect. Options are:

- JSON
- XML

When an API Callout endpoint is created, a "typical" expected response (the response template) must be provided.

The template provides the platform with an example of what a response will look like. The platform uses the template to discover what types of fields and relationships it should expose via the Response parameter.

For example, a response template may be:

```
{
 "fullName": "Whatever",
 "birthday": "2000-01-01T00:00:00",
 "shirtSize": 1,
 "address": {
  "line1": "whatever",
  "line2": "whatever",
  "suburb": "whatever"
 },
 "hobbies": [
  "a",
  "b"
 ],
 "pets": [
  {
   "name": "whatever",
   "age": 1
  }
 ]
}
```

From the above information, the platform will deduce the following:

- There is a string field called fullName
- There is a date-time field called birthday
- There is an integer field called shirtSize
- There is a lookup called address
 - The related data has string fields called line1, line2 and suburb
- There is a relationship called hobbies
 - The related data has a string field called Value
- There is a relationship called pets
 - The related field has a string field called name, and an integer field called age

The general idea is that a response template can be filled in by copying and pasting the "example response" from the third-party service's API documentation. In practice, example documentation often contains non-standard notation that must be removed or adjusted to make the message valid. The sample response entered into the ReadiNow response template must be valid JSON or XML and match the message format.

The actual data values specified in the template are used to determine the field types and are then replaced with the actual response data when the API itself is called.

Accessing Response Information

A workflow activity calculation can access response data via the Response output parameter. For example, if there is an API Callout activity called "Api Callout1", then response data for the above example template can be accessed using any of the following expressions

- [API Callout1.Response].[fullName]
- [API Callout1.Response].[birthday]

- [API Callout1.Response].[shirtSize]
- [API Callout1.Response].[address]
- [API Callout1.Response].[address].[line1]
- [API Callout1.Response].[address].[line2]
- [API Callout1.Response].[address].[suburb]
- [API Callout1.Response].[hobbies]
- [API Callout1.Response].[pets]

This information can be used in the same way that normal fields and relationships can in calculations. For example:

```
let r = [API Callout1.Response]
```

```
select r.[fullName] + (r.[shirtSize]*2) + count(r.[hobbies])
```

Note that, as with all calculations, the square brackets are optional if the field name only contains letters/numbers, and starts with a letter.

These dynamic types cannot be assigned to workflow variables.

Accessing response arrays using the For Each activity

The response data can be used inside For Each activities.

For example, a **For Each** activity could be created in an example workflow with its **List** input parameter set to: [API Callout1.Response].pets] and would then iterate over the items in the JSON response, assigning each in turn to the

[For Each.Record] output parameter. Activities within the **For Each** loop can then further access JSON properties on each individual entry. For example by using [For Each.Record].[age].

If the array is an array of strings, numbers or some other simple data type, then the information is made available via a special 'Value' property. It can be accessed, for example, by using [For Each.Record].[Value].

If the JSON template refers to an embedded object, or an array, such as this example does for address, hobbies, and pets, then the value acts like a record that has a dynamic type.

If it is a single embedded object (like address in this example), then it behaves like a lookup to a single related record. If it is an array, then it acts like a relationship to many related records.

Rules for Interpretation of Field Types

The platform uses the following rules when interpreting the response template to infer field types.

For JSON

- true, false (without quotes) \rightarrow yes/no field
- numbers (without quotes) that do not contain decimal points → Number (integer) field
- numbers (without quotes) that do contain decimal points → Decimal field
- quoted strings where the example data contains a datetime → DateTime field (the date must be in one of the

following formats):

- ° 2014-12-31T00:00:00
- ° 2014-12-31 00:00:00
- 2014-12-31T00:00:00.123
- 2014-12-31T00:00:00.123Z
- quoted string where the example data contains a date only → Date field
 - The date must be in following format: 2014-07-31
- embedded objects using { curly braces } → treated as lookups
- embedded arrays using [square brackets] → treated as relationships
- embedded arrays of simple types:
 - If an embedded array contains only strings, then the related object will have a single string field called "Value".
 - If an embedded array contains only one other type of data, as per the rules above, then the related object will have a single field called "Value" of that type.
 - If an array contains a mixture of types, then the platform will attempt to find the most general type.
 (numbers and decimals mixed will result in array of decimals; most things mixed with strings will result in array of strings).
- Embedded arrays of objects:
- If the sample template has multiple example records, then their contents are effectively "unioned".Or, if there are conflicting types, then the most general type is selected
- Root level arrays
 - Return an object that contains a single relationship called values
 - e.g. for a root object array: [{"myfield":1}, {"myfield":2}], you can access individual objects via the special 'Values' relationship.
 - e.g. For each: [Values]
 - Or sum individual items using sum([Values].[myfield])
 - e.g. for root scalar array: [1,2,3,4] can access the individual values via [Values].[Value]
 - e.g. sum([Values].[Value])
- null is generally ignored
 - If the example response template contains a null, then the user should change the example to show what type of data might be expected
 - A null in arrays will merge with other types in the array without affecting them
- A special [JSON] string field can be used on any dynamic JSON object to get its JSON representation as text

For XML

- XML attributes appear as fields
 - Same detection rules as for XML, namely:
 - true, false \rightarrow yes/no field
 - Whole numbers \rightarrow Number (integer) field
 - Decimal numbers \rightarrow Decimal field
 - Same date and date-time formats as for JSON
- XML elements appear as relationships
- The text content of an element can be accessed via a [Text] string field.
- E.g. [API Callout.Response].rootElement.childElement.text
- If an element appears once, then it behaves like a to-one lookup
- If an element appears more than once in the same parent, then it behaves like a to-many relationship. It may b e convenient to use the <item/> shorthand notation to specify the second instance.

• For example:

In this instance, the books can be accessed via [API Callout.Response].books.book, then the titles acces sed via [For Each.Record].title.text

- A special [XML] string field can be used on any dynamic XML element to get its XML representation as text
- XML attributes appear as fields
 - Same detection rules as for XML, namely:
 - true, false → yes/no field
 - Whole numbers \rightarrow Number (integer) field
 - $\circ \ \ \text{Decimal numbers} \rightarrow \text{Decimal field}$
 - Same date and date-time formats as for JSON
- XML elements appear as relationships
- The text content of an element can be accessed via a [Text] string field.
- E.g. [API Callout.Response].rootElement.childElement.text
- If an element appears once, then it behaves like a to-one lookup
- If an element appears more than once in the same parent, then it behaves like a to-many relationship. It may b e convenient to use the <item/> shorthand notation to specify the second instance.
 - For example:

In this instance, the books can be accessed via [API Callout.Response].books.book, then the titles acces sed via [For Each.Record].title.text

• A special [XML] string field can be used on any dynamic XML element to get its XML representation as text

- XML attributes appear as fields
 - Same detection rules as for XML, namely:
 - true, false → yes/no field
 - Whole numbers \rightarrow Number (integer) field
 - $\circ \ \ \text{Decimal numbers} \rightarrow \text{Decimal field}$
 - Same date and date-time formats as for JSON
- XML elements appear as relationships
- The text content of an element can be accessed via a [Text] string field.
- E.g. [API Callout.Response].rootElement.childElement.text
- If an element appears once, then it behaves like a to-one lookup
- If an element appears more than once in the same parent, then it behaves like a to-many relationship. It may b e convenient to use the <item/> shorthand notation to specify the second instance.
 - For example:
 - dads

In this instance, the books can be accessed via [API Callout.Response].books.book, then the titles acces sed via [For Each.Record].title.text

- A special [XML] string field can be used on any dynamic XML element to get its XML representation as text
- XML attributes appear as fields
 - Same detection rules as for XML, namely:
 - true , false \rightarrow yes / no field
 - Whole numbers \rightarrow Number (integer) field
 - Decimal numbers → Decimal field
 - Same date and date-time formats as for JSON
- XML elements appear as relationships
- The text content of an element can be accessed via a [Text] string field.
 - E.g. [API Callout.Response].rootElement.childElement.text
- If an element appears once, then it behaves like a to-one lookup
- If an element appears more than once in the same parent, then it behaves like a to-many relationship. It may be convenient to use the <item/> shorthand notation to specify the second instance.
 - For example:

In this instance, the books can be accessed via [API Callout.Response].books.book , then the titles accessed via [For Each.Record].title.text

• A special [XML] string field can be used on any dynamic XML element to get its XML representation as text

API Callout in a Workflow

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 11:01 am AEST

API Callouts allow ReadiNow workflows to call out to third-party web-based APIs in order to send or receive data. The third-party API must first be configured in the API administration section.

Once the API Callout record is set up, it can be readily reused in various workflows.

Designing the workflow

- 1. Create a new Workflow
- 2. Drop the API Callout activity onto the workflow design area
- 3. The Exit path will be followed if the report server returned an HTTP status code of OK (200)
- 4. The **Failure** path will be followed if the report server an HTTP status code indicating an error, if the service could not be reached, or if the API Call timed out
- 5. Provide logic for each of the "Exit" and "Failure" paths

Configuring the API Callout activity

- 1. Select the API Callout activity
- 2. In the properties pane on the right-hand side, select the desired API Callout
- 3. If the API Callout used any parameters in its Request URL, or its Request template, then those inputs will be shown
- 4. For each of the API Callout inputs, enter a calculation or select an input
- 5. Remember that the inputs are calculations, so you will need quote marks around any text
- 6. These parameter values will be evaluated, and the system will use the templates to formulate a request

··· (#P]··· API click	Callout to edit description	API Callout	
API to call	Exchange rate	*	
API Callout In	puts		
Currency 2	'USD'	~	
Currency 1	'AUD'	~	

Using standard output parameters

- The outputs of an API Callout activity can be used in the same manner as the outputs of other activities.
- For API Callouts that also include a Response Template, the properties that appear in the response template can be accessed as part of the calculation via the [API Callout.Response] output or similar (e.g. [API Callout.Response].query.results.rate.Name + ' ' + [API Callout.Response].query.results.rate.rate) where query.results.rate.Name corresponds to a path of property values in the response template.
- The failure path may be used to inspect information about the actual request and response. For example, [API Callout.HTTP Response Body]

Processing List Responses

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:36 pm AEST

Designing the workflow

1. Set up a workflow and include a For Each activity after the exit



- 2. Configure the API Callout
- 3. Configure the For Each activity
- 4. Set the List input to:

[API Callout.Response].query.results.channel.item.forecast

- 5. This will follow the JSON response as far as the forecast array, and then loop over each item
 - 1. Configure the loop Log activity
 - 2. Set the message to:

[For Each.Record].Date + ' ' + [For Each.Record].High + ' ' + [For Each.Record].Low

- 3. This will access the JSON results for each item in the array
 - 1. Finish and run
 - 2. Configure the failure log activity (see steps from previous section)
 - 3. Save and run the workflow (see steps from previous section)

Scroll to the bottom of the log and you should see a list of forecast high/low temperatures for each day.



Authentication and Encryption

Last Modified on 15/03/2019 2:34 pm AEDT

Authentication

Although some third-party systems will allow public anonymous interaction most do not. Instead, most systems require that you establish some form of account. Then at the time the API is called, some form of authentication information is passed so that the third-party server knows that the API is being called on behalf of that account.

ReadiNow supports the following authentication models:

- None
 - No authentication information is passed
- OAuth 2.0
 - This is a widely used authentication standard.
 - The main benefit of OAuth is that permission can be delegated to ReadiNow without providing your third-party username and password to ReadiNow
 - However, it is also the most complex authentication system to configure
 - OAuth 2.0 can only be used with encrypted (HTTPS) requests
 - That is, unencrypted (HTTP) APIs are explicitly prohibited for OAuth 2.0.
 - ReadiNow stores the OAuth details encrypted (specifically, the client secret, the access token and the refresh token)
- Basic authentication
 - This is an old part of the HTTP standard, but still widely used
 - A username and password must be provided to the ReadiNow platform
 - These are stored, and sent with every call to the API
 - Basic authentication is not encrypted in transmission unless it is used in conjunction with HTTPS
 - If the account password is changed with the third-party provider, then the new password needs to be entered into ReadiNow (the password is stored in encrypted form)
- API Key authentication
 - This is a simple authentication technique that is widely used by third-party services
 - The third-party provider provides some piece of text called a key
 - This key is then passed as part of the URL for example:
 - ReadiNow API keys allow you to specify the parameter name (for example apikey) and the key value for the library, which it then includes for every API in the library
 - API keys are not encrypted in transmission unless used in conjunction with HTTPSReadiNow stores
 API keys encrypted in the database but only if they are entered properly in the proper API Key
 password field (API keys that have been typed into the web address directly are not stored encrypted)
- Custom authentication
 - For more use in advanced scenarios (e.g. APIs whose authentication mechanism does not utilise one of the standards listed above). API callout library uses a specific API callout to perform an authentication

request and retrieve an access token

• The API callout library specifies expressions that can be used to extract an access token and/or error messages from an authentication response

Failure Responses

All APIs return an output called the "HTTP Response Status". This is the response code according to the list of HTTP response codes. If there is a problem during authorization, then the remote server will typically return a response status of [401], which means [Unauthorized].

The third-party server might also provide a message describing the reason for failure, which can be accessed via the "HTTP Response Body" string output.

Possible causes for authentication failure include:

- The wrong authentication method was used, or it was configured incorrectly
- The password may be incorrect
- The third-party account may have an invalid status, such as expired, or locked
- The account may not have permission to use the API
- Refer to the documentation and support of the third-party API service

Alternatively, the API may authorize successfully, which is to say it correctly identifies who the caller is, but that caller may be disallowed from performing the specific task that was requested. In that case, the server would typically respond with a 403 (Forbidden) response code.

Note that a poorly implemented third-party API may also give some other unpredictable result, such as returning a 200 OK message, or an internal error, when everything is not OK with authentication.

Encryption

Web requests may be made using HTTP or HTTPS addresses. For HTTPS requests, the communication between ReadiNow and the third-party server will be encrypted (whereas HTTP is unencrypted).

ReadiNow API Callouts will only communicate with HTTPS APIs if they have a valid publicly-recognised certificate.

Depending on the type of authorisation method, the ReadiNow server needs to store confidential data. The following are stored encrypted in the database: password, API key, OAuth secrets / tokens, and custom authentication tokens.

Connecting to Azure APIs

Last Modified on 06/12/2019 7:25 pm AEDT

ReadiNow API Callouts can connect to Microsoft Azure APIs by using OAuth 2.0 authentication. This page describes how to set up an API Callout Endpoint to call the Microsoft Graph Service; and a workflow retrieve a list of uses.

Configure authentication

Azure offers two permission models:

- Application where a software application such as ReadiNow connects to an API service on its own behalf
- Delegated where a software application is connecting to an API service on behalf of a specific end user

Generally the application model is recommended and most suitable for use by ReadiNow API Callouts. However, certain APIs may only be made accessible via the delegated model.

Before proceeding, set up authentication and permissions by following the steps at either:

- Configuring Azure with Application Permissions (recommended)
- Configuring Azure with Delegated Permissions

Additional information can also be found in the Microsoft Azure reference at: Configuring a client application to access web APIs

Add an endpoint in ReadiNow that can query for all objects

The following example shows how to create an API Callout that will call the Active Directory users API to return a list of users.

- 1. Click on the APIs tab and click New
- 2. Name: Get AD Users (or some other suitable name)
- 3. Set the Method to GET
- 4. Set the Query string to https://graph.microsoft.com/v1.0/users
- 5. On the **Response Template** tab, enter: (note: the data values do not matter. The template just requires an example of the expected reply format.)

ſ
"value": [
{
"id": "b6168b8e-d059-4a60-b4e3-f17f7eb746d8",
"businessPhones": [],
"displayName": "Sample",
"givenName": "Sample",
"jobTitle": "Sample",
"mail": "sample@sample.com",
"mobilePhone": "123123123",
"officeLocation": null,
"preferredLanguage": null,
"surname": null,
"userPrincipalName": "sample@sample.com"
}
]
}

7. Save the API

Create a workflow to use the API

The following provides an example of how to create a workflow that will call the above API Callout, and display the results to a log message.

- 1. Go to Workflows and create a new workflow
- 2. Drop on the API Callout activity
- 3. Select the "Get AD Users" API, or whichever name was given to it previously
- 4. Drop a log activity after it
 - 1. Set the message to: [API Callout.HTTP Response Body]
- 5. Drop a For Each activity after it
 - 1. Set the List parameter to: [API Callout.Response].[Value]
 - 2. Connect the Finished exit to the end
- 6. Drop a log activity after the for loop exit
 - 1. Set its message parameter to be, for example: [For Each.Record].displayName + ' ' + [For Each.Record].mail
 - 2. The data can similarly be accessed from the For Each record to create new records.
- 7. Save and run the workflow
 - 1. Run with Show Trace turned on so that the log messages will be displayed

Azure Application Permissions

Last Modified on 06/12/2019 7:09 pm AEDT

ReadiNow API Callouts can connect to Microsoft Azure APIs by using OAuth 2.0 authentication.

Azure offers two permission models:

- Application where a software application such as ReadiNow connects to an API service on its own behalf
- Delegated where a software application is connecting to an API service on behalf of a specific end user

This page describes how to configure API Callouts to connect using the **Application** model, which is the recommended approach. However, certain APIs may only be made accessible via the delegated model. See Azure Delegated Permissions for details on configuring delegated permissions.

Additional information can also be found in the Microsoft Azure reference at: Configuring a client application to access web APIs

Overview

The following sample demonstrates how to:

- configure Azure to receive connections using the application permission model
- configure ReadiNow API Callouts to authenticate with Azure

Once complete, refer to Connecting to Azure APIs to extend the sample to set up specific API endpoints and call them using a workflow.

Note: the following is provided as an example to illustrate connecting to the Azure APIs in general, and use the Azure 'users' API as an example. If you wish to achieve automatic provisioning, then use the single-sign-on provisioning mechanism.

Configure Azure

The following steps will configure Azure to receive a connection from the ReadiNow platform, and grant sufficient permission for the ReadiNow API Callout to request information about users.

- 1. Register an application
 - 1. Log into the Azure portal
 - 2. Select Azure Active Directory on left, or locate it under All services

🗔 Dashboard	All services \wp	Search All		
⊨ All services	All		CENERAL (1)	
- + FAVORITES	General			÷
🔷 Azure Active Directory	Identity			~
💄 Users	Security		IDENTITY (9)	
Enterprise applications			Azure Active Directory	*
			A Groups	\$
			🚨 Users	*

- 3. Select App Registrations
- 4. Click the New Application Registration button
- 5. Enter a name for the application registration, such as "ReadiNow Application Permission Sample"

	Nume	
	The user-facing display name for this application (this can be changed later).	1. Select an application name
	ReadiNow - Application Permission Sample	
	Supported account types	
	Who can use this application or access this API?	2. Select the first, default, opti
	 Accounts in this organizational directory only (ReadiNow - Single tenant) 	
	O Accounts in any organizational directory (Any Azure AD directory - Multitenant)	
	O Accounts in any organizational directory (Any Azure AD directory - Multitenant) and per	rsonal Microsoft accounts (e.g. Skype, Xbox)
	Help me choose	
	Redirect URI (optional)	3. Leave blank. This is not requ when using 'Application Permis
	We'll return the authentication response to this URI after successfully authenticating the user changed later, but a value is required for most authentication scenarios.	r. Providing this now is optional and it can b
	Web 🗸 e.g. https://myapp.com/auth	
Z 1	any a Supported account types and Dedirect LIDI as their default a	and blank antions respectively.
0. L	eave Supported account types and Redirect ORI as their default a	ind blank options respectively.
7. C	lick the Register button at the bottom of the screen	
nfig	ure the application	

,> Search (Ctrl+/)	🐃 🔲 Delete 🌐 Endpoints	
Overview	Display name ReadiNow - Application Permission Sample	Supported account types My organization only
Quickstart	Application (client) ID d7ad578e-7dcb-4572-8158-a5735fb56076	Redirect URIs Add a Redirect URI
Manage	Directory (tenant) ID	Application ID URI
💳 Branding	40004295-5005-4756-0209-889291559506 Object ID	Managed application in local directory
Authentication	4dfe61a7-4f56-400f-b024-4fa774922bee	ReadiNow - Application Permission Sample

- 2. Make a note of the Application (client) ID you will need this in a later step
- 3. Configure a Client Secret
 - 1. A client secret can be thought of as a password for an application, such as the ReadiNow platform, rather

than a person.

- 2. Click Certificates & secrets on the left hand margin
- 3. Click the New Client secret button
- 4. Select an expiry date and click the Add button
- 5. A new value will appear such as: LjVYHK9r0oCUCMutAN5QUU4vzgu@X=_: in the client secrets table

Client secrets

A secret string that the application uses to prove its identity when requesting a token. Also can be referred to as application password.

+ New client secret		
Description	Expires	Value
Password uploaded on Fri Dec 06 2019	12/6/2020	LjVYHK9r0oCUCMutAN5QUU4vzgu@X=_:

- 6. Immediately copy it to a notepad document, or similar. This is the OAuthclient secret. It cannot be recovered later.
- 4. Configure permissions that are needed to access the API
 - 1. Click on API permissions in the left margin
 - 2. Click the Add a permission button
 - 3. Click on the **Microsoft Graph** tile (or whichever API service you wish to access via ReadiNow API Callouts)
 - 4. Select Application permissions

5. Locate and enable the **User.Read.All** permission (or whichever permissions are required for the API you intend to call)

∨User (1)					
	User.Export.All Export user's data 🕡				
	User.Invite.All Invite guest users to the organization ()				
\checkmark	User.Read.All Read all users' full profiles ()				
	User.ReadWrite.All Read and write all users' full profiles ()				
Add per	missions Discard				

- 6. Click the Add permissions button at the bottom of the panel
- 7. The new permission will appear in the permissions table
- 8.

+ Add a permission Grant admin	consent for Rea	diNow account			
API / Permissions name	Туре	Description	Admin Consent Requir	Status	
∽Microsoft Graph (2)					
User.Read	Delegated	Sign in and read user profile	-		
User.Read.All	Application	Read all users' full profiles	Yes	🛕 Not granted for ReadiN	•••

9. The new permission will have a status of not granted. It must be explicitly given consent because it is an
Application permission granted to a software system (namely the ReadiNow API Callouts) rather than a delegated permission acting on behalf of a person.

- 10. Click the Grant admin consent for account button
- 11. A Microsoft login window will appear
- 12. Login, review the permissions granted, and click the Accept button

Configure ReadiNow API Callouts

The following steps will start to prepare a new API Callout library in ReadiNow to connect to Azure.

- 1. Log into ReadiNow
- 2. Go to Administration / Integration / API Callouts
- 3. Create a new API Callout
- 4. Name it "Azure" or similar
- 5. Leave the Base URL blank
- 6. Set the message format to JSON
- 7. On the Authention tab, set the Authentication method to OAuth 2.0
- 8. Ensure that the Grant Type is set to Client Credentials this corresponds to the Azure 'Application

permission' type

BASIC SETTINGS			
Base URL :			
Message format :	JSON		
Ignore certificate error :			
APIs API Categories	Authentication Shared Headers Shared Inputs		
Authentication method :	OAuth 2.0		
Grant type :	Client Credentials		
Client Id :	d7ad578e-7dcb-4572-8158-a573		
Client secret :			
Token URL :	https://login.microsoftonline.com/ yourdomain.com /oauth2/token		
Scope (optional) :			
Additional params :	resource:https://graph.microsoft.com/		

- 9. Set the Client ID to the Application (client) ID value provided by Azure above
- 10. Set the Client Secret to the value provided by Azure above
- 11. Set the **Token URL** to: https://login.microsoftonline.com/yourdomain.com/oauth2/token (where yourdomain.com is your ActiveDirectory domain, such as company.com)
- 12. Set the Additional params to: resource:https://graph.microsoft.com/ This indicates to Azure which Azure API service the authentication token will be allowed to access.

Next Steps

Azure and ReadiNow are now both configured so that ReadiNow callouts can connect to Azure.

Continue with Connecting to Azure APIs to extend the sample to:

- create a API Callout endpoint to request user details
- create a workflow that uses the API Callout and processes results

Azure Delegated Permissions

Last Modified on 06/12/2019 7:07 pm AEDT

ReadiNow API Callouts can connect to Microsoft Azure APIs by using OAuth 2.0 authentication.

Azure offers two permission models:

- Application where a software application such as ReadiNow connects to an API service on its own behalf
- Delegated where a software application is connecting to an API service on behalf of a specific end user

This page describes how to configure API Callouts to connect using the **Delegated** model.

Note that ReadiNow API Callout requests are made on behalf on a fixed nominated account, not on behalf of the currently logged in users. As such they are not truely delegated, and it is generally more appropriate to use the Application Permission model. However, the delegated model is still supported to handle cases where the API being called only offers support for delegated permissions.

Additional information can also be found in the Microsoft Azure reference at: Configuring a client application to access web APIs

Overview

The following sample demonstrates how to:

- configure Azure to receive connections using the delegated permission model
- configure ReadiNow API Callouts to authenticate with Azure

Once complete, refer to Connecting to Azure APIs to extend the sample to set up specific API endpoints and call them using a workflow.

Note: the following is provided as an example to illustrate connecting to the Azure APIs in general, and use the Azure 'users' API as an example. If you wish to achieve automatic provisioning, then use the single-sign-on provisioning mechanism.

Configure Azure

The following steps will configure Azure to receive a connection from the ReadiNow platform, and grant sufficient permission for the ReadiNow API Callout to request information about users.

- 1. Register an application
 - 1. Log into the Azure portal
 - 2. Select Azure Active Directory on left, or locate it under All services

🗔 Dashboard	All services $\table \label{eq:All}$ Sear	rch All	
🗮 All services	All	CENERAL (1)	
- 🛧 FAVORITES	General	GENERAL (1)	×
line contractive Directory	Identity	A Help + support	ж
🚨 Users	Security	IDENTITY (9)	
Enterprise applications		Azure Active Directory	*
		🛃 Groups	☆
		🚨 Users	*

- 3. Select App Registrations
- 4. Click the New Application Registration button
- 5. Enter a name for the application registration, such as "ReadiNow Delegated Permission Sample"

Register an application

* Name

The user-facing display name for this application (this can be changed later).

ReadiNow - Delegated Permission Sample

Supported account types

Who can use this application or access this API?

- Accounts in this organizational directory only (ReadiNow Readisoft account only Single tenant)
- Accounts in any organizational directory (Any Azure AD directory Multitenant)
- O Accounts in any organizational directory (Any Azure AD directory Multitenant) and personal Microsoft accounts (e.g. Skype, Xbox)

Help me choose ...

Platform configuration (Optional)

Depending on the platform or device this application is targeting, additional configuration may be required such as redirect URIs, specific authentication settings, or fields specific to the platform.

- Client Application (Web, iOS, Android, Desktop+Devices)
- O Background process and Automation (Daemon) Application
- Web API
- 6. Leave **Supported account types** as the default optionand blank options respectively.
- 7. Select Client Application for the Platform configuration this corresponds to
- 8. Click the **Register** button at the bottom of the screen

2. Configure the authorization

- 1. You should automatically be redirected to the Authentication page (or select **Authentication** on the left)
- 2. Click the Add a platform button (under the Platform configurations section)
- 3. On the right, click the Web tile (Single page apps, Web apps)
- 4. Enter a Redirect URL value of: https://tenantname.readinow.com/sp/oauth.html (where tenantname is your ReadiNow tenant name, or more generally use the same host name that you use to connect open ReadiNow in a web browser)

 \checkmark

Redirect URIs

The URIs that we will accept as destinations when returning authentication responses (tokens) after successfully authenticating users. Also referred to as reply URLs. Learn more about redirect URIs

	http://top.org/		
nttp	s://tenantname	e.readinow.com/sp	sp/oautn.ntm

- 5. Click the **Configure** button at the bottom right
- 3. Configure the application
 - 1. An application information screen such as the following will be presented

ReadiNow - Delegated Application Sample				
, Search (Ctrl+/) «	💼 Delete 🛛 🕀 Endpoints			
Uverview	Display name ReadiNow - Delegated Application Sample	Supported account types My organization only		
🖗 Quickstart	Application (client) ID a02582eb-6570-4dcc-acaa-64c0ca127aeb	Redirect URIs Add a Redirect URI		
Manage	Directory (tenant) ID 466d4e93-3865-4736-bac9-a892913595b6	Application ID URI Add an Application ID URI		
BrandingAuthentication	Object ID 624e6717-a53a-4afb-b77b-04b5aa8eff67	Managed application in local directory ReadiNow - Delegated Application Sample		

- 2. Make a note of the Application (client) ID you will need this in a later step
- 4. Configure a Client Secret
 - 1. A *client secret* can be thought of as a password for an application, such as the ReadiNow platform, rather than a person.
 - 2. Click Certificates & secrets on the left hand margin
 - 3. Click the New Client secret button
 - 4. Select an expiry date and click the Add button
 - $5. \ A \ new \ value \ will \ appear \ such \ as: LjVYHK9r0oCUCMutAN5QUU4vzgu@X=_: in the \ client \ secrets \ table$

Client secrets

A secret string that the application uses to prove its identity when requesting a token. Also can be referred to as application password.

+ New client secret		
Description	Expires	Value
Password uploaded on Fri Dec 06 2019	12/6/2020	LjVYHK9r0oCUCMutAN5QUU4vzgu@X=_:

- 6. Immediately copy it to a notepad document, or similar. This is the OAuthclient secret. It cannot be recovered later.
- 5. Configure permissions that are needed to access the API
 - 1. Click on API permissions in the left margin
 - 2. Click the Add a permission button
 - Click on the Microsoft Graph tile (or whichever API service you wish to access via ReadiNow API Callouts)
 - 4. Select Delegated permissions
 - 5. Locate and enable the **User.Read.All** permission (or whichever permissions are required for the API you intend to call)

∨User (1)			
	User.Export.All Export user's data ()		
	User.Invite.All Invite guest users to the organization (i)		
\checkmark	User.Read.All Read all users' full profiles ①		
	User.ReadWrite.All Read and write all users' full profiles ()		
Add pe	Add permissions Discard		

6. Click the Add permissions button at the bottom of the panel

7. The new permission will appear in the permissions table

8.

+ Add a permission	Grant admin consent for Read	liNow account		
API / Permissions name	е Туре	Description	Admin Consent Requir	Status
✓ Microsoft Graph (2)				
User.Read	Delegated	Sign in and read user profile	-	
User.Read.All	Application	Read all users' full profiles	Yes	🛕 Not granted for ReadiN 🚥

- 9. Certain API permissions, such as User.Read.All, require explicit consent to be granted by an administrator.
- 10. Click the Grant admin consent for account button
- 11. A Microsoft login window will appear
- 12. Login, review the permissions granted, and click the Accept button
- 13. Keep the Azure window open for further configuration steps later

Configure ReadiNow API Callouts

The following steps will start to prepare a new API Callout library in ReadiNow to connect to Azure.

- 1. Create a new API Callout
 - 1. Log into ReadiNow
 - 2. Go to Administration / Integration / API Callouts
 - 3. Click the New button to create a new API Callout
 - 4. Name it "Azure Delegated Sample"
 - 5. Leave the Base URL blank
 - 6. Set the message format to JSON
- 2. Configure authentication
 - 1. On the Authention tab, set the Authentication method to OAuth 2.0
 - 2. Ensure that the **Grant Type** is set to **Client Credentials** this corresponds to the Azure 'Application permission' type

- 3. Set the Client ID to the Application (client) ID value provided by Azure in previous steps
- 4. Set the Client Secret to the value provided by Azure in previous steps
- 5. Set the **Token URL** to: https://login.microsoftonline.com/yourdomain.com/oauth2/token (where yourdomain.com is your ActiveDirectory domain, such as company.com)
- 6. Set the **Authorization URL** to: https://login.microsoftonline.com/yourdomain.com/oauth2/authorize (where yourdomain.com is your ActiveDirectory domain, such as company.com)
- 7. Set the **Additional params** to: resource:https://graph.microsoft.com/ This indicates to Azure which Azure API service the authentication token will be allowed to access.
- 8. Click the Save button do not click the Update Access button yet
- 9. Check that the OAuth Redirect URL shown is the same as was provided to Azure in previous steps

3. Perform the OAuth grant

- 1. Click on the green Grant access button
- 2. An Azure login page might pop-up (or more likely it will remember that you are already logged into the portal).
- 3. Log in using the account that should be used for the purpose of making API calls (which is ideally not the same as your admin account).
- 4. If you are not prompted for login details, and you need to use a different account, then log out of the Azure portal now and try again.
- 5. You should then be presented with an Azure "Allow Access?" screen.
- 6. Click Accept, at the bottom. Note: this might not appear either if you're re-granting.

4. You should see a message saying that you are now authorized.

BASIC	SETTINGS				
Base UF	RL :				
Messag	je format :	JSON			
Ignore	certificate error :				
APIs	API Categories	Authentication Shared Headers Shared Inputs			
Authen	tication method :	OAuth 2.0			
Grant ty	/pe :	Authorization Code			
Client lo	d:	a02582eb-6570-4dcc-acaa-64c0			
Client s	ecret :				
Token l	JRL :	https://login.microsoftonline.com/yourdomain.com/oauth2/token			
Authori	zation URL :	https://login.microsoftonline.com/yourdomain.com/oauth2/authorize			
Scope (optional) :				
Additio	nal params :	resource:https://graph.microsoft.com/			
OAuth	Redirect URL:	https://tenantname.readinow.com/sp/oauth.html			
Grant s	tatus:	Access granted - expires 6/12/2019 7:58 PM			
Grant a	ccess:	Update access for Azure Delegated Sample X Revoke			

Next Steps

Azure and ReadiNow are now both configured so that ReadiNow callouts can connect to Azure.

Read Connecting to Azure APIs to continue building the sample to:

- create a API Callout endpoint to request user details
- create a workflow that uses the API Callout and processes results

Connect a Workflow to an API

Last Modified on 26/03/2020 2:34 pm AEDT

This article demonstrates how to connect a Workflow to an API (*Application Programming Interface*). Key concepts include:

- Workflows (like an automated flowchart)
- API Callouts (a web address used by programs)

The example is based on the Open Weather Maps' API, but is also generally applicable. You will need an Open Weather Maps account to practice this example yourself.

Overview

The Workflow will:

- prompt for a 'city of interest' where we want to: check the weather
- connect to a 'weather-API-endpoint' and wait for a 'response'
- process the response by Open Weather Maps' server
- display and log the weather information for our city of interest



The finished Workflow could look something like:

This Workflow connects to the Open Weather Map API via an 'API Callout Library'. Using a library means all the API information is located centrally and can be used by an Apps, which in turn can be used by other Apps (*this makes working with, and reusing APIs really easy*).

To achieve this we will:

- 1. Setup a new API Callout Library for the Open Weather Map 'current weather' API:
 - 1. Create an 'API Callout Library' called "Open Weather Map"
 - 2. Setup the API-key (provided by Open Weather Map) in the API Callout Library
 - 3. Add an 'API endpoint' and 'sample response' to the API Callout Library

Advanced users see: Configuring an API Callout

- 2. Setup and configure a new Workflow to 'consume' the weather information:
 - 1. Create a new Workflow
 - 2. Connect the Workflow to the API Callout Library
- 3. Test the Workflow
 - 1. Open the Workflow runner and click: Run
 - 2. Enter the name of a city (or use the default: Sydney)
 - 3. Click: Done

	Notification	×
	The temperature in Sydney is 19.610	
Powered by ReadiNow		
Notification showing the temperature in the specified city.		

Open Weather Map API Example

Last Modified on 23/08/2022 2:56 pm AEST

This article shows you how to setup a new API Callout Library and is based on the 'Open Weather Map' API. APIs solve the problem of how to connect an App to the internet - specifically 3rd party data source like: a weather forecast, sports-statistics, anything really.

The next sections outlines the basics of setting up an API (and provide links to more advanced information).

Create an 'API Callout Library' called "Open Weather Map"

When this step is completed the API Callouts form will look something like:

ReadiNow		× A0	dministration 😑	4 9	P 8	53
Import Spreadsheet						
Scheduled Export	API Callouts	5				
Scheduled Import	C - ACTION - + NEW	EDIT INLINE	•	Search	Q	
API Callouts	API Callout Library	Description	Website		APIs	
	Open Weather Map	A comprehensive weather API			1	- 1
OAuth Clients						- 1
🗖 Surveys 🔺						-
2.137.6016.0-Release / C:	Powere	ed by ReadiNow				

To achieve this:

• navigate to the API Callouts Page:

Choose Application > Administration > Integration (left hand panel) > API Callouts

• Click on '+ New' (a blank Library form opens)

Once the minimum required information is completed, the completed 'Library Form' will look something like this:

	Open Weather Map	
Description :	A comprehensive weather API	
Website :		
API documentation :		
Application :		
BASIC SETTINGS		
Base URL:	http://api.openweathermap.org	
Message format:	JSON	
gnore certificate error		
APIs API Catego	ries Authentication Shared Headers Shared Inputs	
APIS		
C - ACTION -	+ NEW OL i COLI INLINE	▼ Sear
API Callout Cate	gory Endpoint	API callout library
Open Wea Weat	her GET /data/2.5/weather?q={City},AU&units=metric	Open Weather Map

The 'tabs' at the bottom section that we need to set up include: Authentication and APIs. These are covered in the remaining sections.

Learn about: advanced API configuration.

Setup the API-key (provided by Open Weather Map) in the API Callout Library

Learn about: other methods of authentication.

Before anything else we prefer to setup the <u>API-key</u>, this is how your Apps will Authenticate with the Open Weather Maps server.

In the image below, the 'parameter name' and 'API key' are provided by Open Weather Map; they also specify the authentication method.

APIs API Categories	Authentication Shared Headers	Shared Inputs
Authentication method :	API Key 🔻	
Parameter name :	APPID	
API key:	•••••	
The 'Authenticat	ion' tab is where you store	your user credentials for the API, each of the API endpoints will use the same 'credentials'.

Add an 'API endpoint' and 'sample response' to the API Callout Library

Learn about: using APIs.

API endpoint

An API endpoint is basically a website for Apps. The base address was set as a general library setting and all other URLs are relative to the base address. There are two points worth mentioning:

You can pass arguments to your endpoints; an argument is denoted by curly braces. For example if the endpoint could check the weather in any city in the world then you would create an argument like: {city}

The open tab 'APIs' shows our API Callout; it is named "Open Weather Maps", categorized as "Weather", and ends at a specified endpoint (of type 'GET').

ACTION - +	NEW \mathscr{O}_{+} $\dot{\mathscr{O}}_{-}$ \mathscr{E} EDIT INLINE	Y Search O
PI Callout Category	Endpoint	API callout library
pen Wea Weather	GET /data/2.5/weather?q={City},AU&units={metric}	Open Weather Map
	1 t - 3M	- Frank and F

On the other hand, since our App is specially tweaked for 'Australian conditions' we do want

- to restrict the country code to "AU", and
- insist on using 'the metric system'

By the time the request is sent {city} will have a value, for example the user may have entered: "Nhulunbuy"; in that case, the API call looks like:

/data/2.5/weather?q=nhulunbuy,AU&units=metric

However, we don't always want to know the weather in Nhulunbuy so we can add a placeholder for the City Name {city}, this is shown below:

	🗎 Save 🛛 🗙 Canc
Oper	n Weather Map
Name:	Open Weather Map
Category:	Weather 🖌 🗙
Description :	Endpoint: current weather for any city ({city}), in Australia (AU), [and optionally using 'the metric system' for units].
Request Respo	Advanced Inputs
Relative URL :	/data/2.5/weather?q={City},AU&units=metric
The API Callo	but form - open by double clicking on an existing API Callout OR create a new API Callout by pressing the '+Nev
	button (on the parent form, not shown)

Configure Inputs

The inputs are created automatically when you use the curly braces { } when specifying the 'request url'. If they are not showing up press the refresh button.

dnoint the innuts were created	ted
dpoint, the inputs were crea	ted
dpoint, the inputs were crea revious image.	ted
dpoint, the inputs were crea revious image.	ted

Sample response

An API endpoint is basically a website for your App (except all the information is passed using a system of notation called JSON). In this example the 'Response template' is a JSON Object.

The sample response is literally *dummy-data*. What it does, however, is let you base decisions on the weather (or your own real-time analysis of your data) AND it helps with calculations.



Record APIs - Getting Started

Last Modified on 17/01/2023 8:07 pm AEDT

ReadiNow allows you to integrate your tenant data with other systems. You can query and update data from outside the platform by exposing your data through Record APIs.

Authentication

The platform's APIs use OAuth 2.0 authentication with the Client Credentials Grant Flow, which generates a token from a client identifier and a shared secret.

Client and Secret Configuration

To obtain an access token for the platform's APIs, it is necessary to create a Client Identifier and a Shared Secret. Each Client Id is linked to a user account, and access tokens issued against this client Id will cause API operations to be performed in the context of this user account. It is security best practice that a new account is created for each integration, as well as a new OAuth Client definition; in this way it is easy to identify the origin of requests and disable one integration without affecting others.

ReadiNow	\checkmark Administration \equiv	4 'D	Q	•	
Integration					
API Keys API Keys					
APIs C → ACTION → + NEW → EDIT INLINE		Y Search		Q	
Client Id Credentials	User Account				
Export Runs					
5 Import Runs					
Import Spreadsheet					
Scheduled Export					
Scheduled Import					
API Callouts					
OAuth Clients					
🖿 Surveys 🔺 🕌					
New OAuth Clients configuration in	Integration				

This configuration is done in Administration > Integration > OAuth Clients.

Step 1: Creating a new client

Select +NEW and the following dialogue appears, where the associated user account must be selected.

🗉 OAuth	Client	🗎 Save
Client ld : User account : SECRETS		
C - ACTION -	+NEW 🕰 🖉 FEDIT INLINE	
	Select the associated User account and save	_

Once the user account is selected, select **Save** and the *Client Id* will be automatically generated and populated on the form.

🗉 OAut	h Client
Client Id :	e0aff5ac-e729-44a8-86f4-2bd96f
User account :	Administrator
SECRETS	
C - ACTION	+ NEW 🕰 🖉 P EDIT INLINE
Secret	
	The automatically-generated Client Id

Step 2: Creating a new secret

After the Client Id has been created, select **+NEW** under **SECRETS**; in the dialogue that appears simply select **Save** and a secret will be automatically generated. Secrets do not expire.

	Save
OAuth Client Secret	
Security	
Secret.	
Creating a new secret	
OAuth Client	
Client ld : e0aff5ac-e729-44a8-86f4-2bd96f	
User account : Administrator	
SECRETS	
C - ACTION - + NEW \mathcal{P}_{+} $\dot{\mathcal{P}}_{-}$ \mathscr{P} EDIT INLINE	
Secret	
+/LHsk2r7OdtcNPsVDBkyJ64N4valObOd+YxXqiR7v8=	
An automatically-generated secret	

Requesting an Access Token

The Client Id and Client Secret can be used to generate a token; this step will usually be done in the calling software, but for clarity a tool such as Postman can be used, as shown below.

A POST method call to the token service will respond with the access token and validity period if successful, and an error message if unsuccessful.

The *client_id*, *client_secret*, *scope* and *grant_type* must be sent in the body of the POST using the "x-www-form-urlencoded" content-type. The URL for the token service is https://{domain}.readinow.com/sts/v1/{tenant}/connect/token, replacing "domain" and "tenant" as appropriate.

POST https://rndylan.readinow.net/sts/v1/ABC/	′connect/token	Send V Save V		
Params Authorization Headers (9) Body •	Pre-request Script Tests	Cookies Code Comments (0)		
🜑 none 🔍 form-data 💿 x-www-form-urlencoded 🜑 raw 🜑 binary 🜑 GraphQL BETA				
KEY	VALUE	DESCRIPTION ••• Bulk Edit		
grant_type	client_credentials			
scope	public-api			
Client_id	e0aff5ac-e729-44a8-86f4-2bd96f6f5292			
Client_secret	+/LHsk2r7OdtcNPsVDBkyJ64N4valObOd+YxXqiR7v8=			
Кеу	Value	Description		
Body Cookies Headers (10) Test Results	Status: 200 OK T	ime: 539 ms Size: 1.24 KB Save Download		
Pretty Raw Preview JSON 🔻 🛱				
<pre>1 * { 2 "access_token": "eyJhbGci0iJSUZIINiISImtpZCIGIjQZNjFFMZYX0UU0MTAwMzkZRTMwM0Q3MjMxMDREMjVDMEY4MkRFRkEiLCJ0eXAi0iJKVlQiLCJ4NXQi0iJRMkhqWvolQkFE ayINRDF5TVFUU1hBLUMzdmBifQ.eyJuvmYi0jEINjA3NDYSNzgsTm4cCIGMTU2HDC0Nzg3OCwiaXNzIjoicm46c3RZIiwiYXVkIjpbTJuOnN0cy9yZXNvdXJjZXMiLCJwdUJSAW MtYXBpI0sInNsaWudF9pZCIGTMuVYZWMWFjLUU3MjKHDRhOc04MmV01TJi2DkZjTmVIISMistTJuOnRlbmtudElKijoiMTVMTEiLCJybjp2VShbnROVWILjojUJDIiw icm46dXNlcklkIjoiMTU4NTgiLCJybjl2VSTmFtZSIGIkFkbwluaXN0cmF0b3ILCJybjp2VShDaUblyDy2ZThZGlpbmlzdHJhdG9yUm9sZSIsInNjb3BlIjpbInB1YmxpYy1h cGkiXX0.dXYMfuS6g7q_sQwLZGyuVmRDUQNS4JHZHUU1d0QuIXEG3ITZhUTdeSAZ_8bBZkl540nPwg06g140PgeQexnqNdfc0hNoTqRfiotHJzEfFC2tV_EG5zdznlu4mrAs9 -bJiH6m3X9dIYtrUadNiyUnuNAVgV-FLgbXcLhSuTFZL_f30TS3hxrhq96KrbXon298b33NNwyMYHV4M49IINPtosu5ZggPYac69zBfYC7QyiEZkwTR8Th33IHE508E1mk5hd U6peUwz846C9MaEn_mFQIFjoV_0A-qrE0KIK7grFrzd6VnBTqlkF-EMi8BjocWr-R6plLDslQll-dmMQ", "expires_in": 900, "token_type": "Bearer" 5 } </pre>				
	An example token response			

Paste the Client Id and secret values from the previous steps, then request a token and copy the generated token.

Record Types

See the article on Record Types for information about how *Objects* and their *Fields / Relationships* are represented in Record APIs, as well as the difference between Preview and Published APIs.

Enabling Record APIs

Once you have created an OAuth Client, you can go to **Administration** > **Integration** > **Record APIs**, and you will be shown a list of *Record Types* (*Objects*) for which record APIs can be enabled.

To enable preview APIs for a record type, click the **Enabled** radio button for that record type.

You can also use the **Application** drop-down to filter the displayed record types by the *Application* (*Solution*) that defines them. Once you have selected an *Application*, you can also choose to enable Record APIs for all*Record Types* assigned to that Application by clicking the **Enable Application** button.

Once you have enabled record APIs, you can click on the name of the Record Type to view its details.

From this page, you can enable, disable, modify, and publish the APIs for this *Record Type*. You can also view documentation for your *Record Type*'s available APIs.

Note - if your *Object* is not attached to a *Solution*, then it will not appear as a *Record Type* on the Record APIs page.

You can select the application that an Object is attached to via its properties window in the form builder:

Publishing Record APIs

When you are satisfied that your API is stable (i.e. is not likely to change) then you can publish it. It will then become available for use at a well-known URL which will not change unless you re-publish the API. Any changes made to the *Preview* API (i.e. the API form) after the API has been *Published* will not be reflected in the *Published* API until you publish it again.

Each time APIs are published for a *Record Type*, its *Revision Number* is incremented (so its path changes from "records/my-record-type/r1" to "records/my-record-type/r2", etc).

Sandbox (Swagger) Interface

A sandbox (Swagger UI) is available for the platform's public APIs. This UI provides documentation for each API and its operations, as well as a facility for invoking those operations.

Open a web browser and navigate to https://{domain}.readinow.com/api/swagger/{tenant}/index.html replacing "domain" and "tenant" with the appropriate values.

From the **Select a spec** drop-down, you can choose to view the documentation for either your Preview or your Published APIs.

🕀 swagger	Select a spec	Public API - Preview	~
Public API - Preview			
			Authorize
Filter by tag			
Appointment (Preview)			\checkmark
GET /v1/preview/records/appointment/by/u	iid/{uid} Get Ap	pointment (Preview) by UID	a
GET /v1/preview/records/appointment List App	ppointment (Preview)		a
Contact (Preview)			\checkmark
Sw:	agger interface		

😁 swagger	Select a spec Public API - Preview	~
Public AP	I - Preview [©] Available authorizations ×	
	Access Token (apiKey) The value of the Authorization header. Example: "Bearer (token)"	
Filter by tag	Name: Authorization In: header Value:	
Appointment	Authorize Close	×
GET /v1/prev	view/records/appointment List Appointment (Preview)	
	Click the Authorize button to enter the token (remember to first add "Bearer ")	

With a valid token it is possible to execute any of the API methods directly in the Swagger interface; where parameters are required these can be entered in the Swagger interface.

GET /v1/pre	eview/records/appointment/by/uid/{uid} Get Appointment (Preview) by UID	í
Look up and retrieve a	a single Appointment (Preview) record by its UID.	
Parameters		Cancel
Name	Description	
<pre>uid * required string(\$uuid) (path)</pre>	The UID of the Appointment (Preview) to retrieve	
	uid - The UID of the Appointment (Preview) to	
Accept-Language string (header)	An (optional) language / culture name to be used for comparisons and sorting.	
	Accept-Language - An (optional) language / c	
RN-TimeZone string (header)	An (optional) time zone name to be used when performing date / time calculations.	
	RN-TimeZone - An (optional) time zone name	
	Execute	

Record APIs - Record Types

Last Modified on 23/04/2020 2:52 pm AEST

Record Types

Data for most types of *Object* in the platform can be exposed via Record APIs (subject to a couple of basic restrictions listed in Getting Started). Each *Object* will correspond to a *Record Type* in the Record APIs.

API Naming Conventions

The platform places few, if any, restrictions on the naming of objects, fields, and relationships. In order to reliably use these as part of APIs, however, some basic rules are used to create "safe" equivalents for these names.

It is the Script Name of an Object, Field, or Relationship that is used in APIs.

Names in Paths

When used as part of a path (i.e. URL), names are converted to "snake case" (e.g. "Hello, BeautifulWorld!" becomes "hello-beautiful-world").

- 1. Names are split into chunks wherever there is whitespace or an upper-case letter followed by a lower-case letter
- 2. Each chunk's letters are converted to lower-case
- 3. The chunks are joined together again using the "-" character

Names in JSON

When used as in JSON (e.g. to represent the value of a field or relationship), names are converted to "camel case" (e.g. "Hello, BeautifulWorld!" becomes "helloBeautifulWorld").

- Names are split into chunks wherever there is whitespace or an upper-case letter followed by a lower-case letter
- The first letter of each chunk (except the first one) is converted to upper-case
- The remaining letters of each chunk (including the first one) are converted to lower-case
- The chunks are then directly joined together

As a general rule, if you're not sure of the naming of a*Record Type*, *Field*, or *Relationship*, take a look at the Swagger Sandbox to see details of the expected request / response format(s).

API Forms

When Record APIs are enabled for an Object, an *API Form* is created. This is a special type of *Edit Form* whose controls describe the fields and relationships exposed via the Object's Record API.

Note: fields and/or relationships that are marked as mandatory at the object level *must* be included on the API form, or you will not be able to create new records.

Preview APIs

Preview APIs are "live" reflections of the current system configuration. If you make changes to an Object's API Form, they are immediately reflected in the API.

The general URL pattern for Preview APIs is:

https://{domain}.readinow.com/api/v1/preview/records/{record-type-name}

Preview APIs are for use during the API-design phase, and are not supported for production usage.

Published APIs

Published APIs are a "snapshot" of the current system configuration. They are produced by publishing (or republishing) an existing preview API. If you make changes to an Object's API Form, they will not be reflected in the published API until you re-publish.

https://{domain}.readinow.com/api/v1/preview/records/{record-type-name}/{record-type-revision-number}

Record-type Revision Numbers

Each time a record type is published, its revision number is incremented. This means that publishing changes to a record type will change the URL (slightly) and clients will need to be updated to match. This behaviour is by design as modifying the API usually means clients will need to be updated anyway.

Record APIs - Reading Data

Last Modified on 23/04/2020 3:35 pm AEST

The platform's Record APIs can be used to retrieve data in the form of individual records, or pages of multiple records.

Listing records

The platform can be used to retrieve a page of matching records of a specific type (a "Record Type").

The pattern for the URL used to list records of a specific (preview) record type is:

GET https://{mydomain}.readinow.com/api/v1/preview/records/{record-type-name}

The pattern for the URL used to list records of a specific (published) record type is:

GET https://{mydomain}.readinow.com/api/v1/records/{record-type-name}/r{record-type-revision}

The following query parameters are supported:

Parameter	Description
\$filter	A Calculation expression used to filter the returned records
\$sort	A comma-separated list of field names used to sort the returned records
\$skip	The (0-based) index of the first record to return. If omitted, defaults to 0 (i.e. the first record).
\$take	The number of records to return. If omitted, the system default is used (usually 25).

Example

Using Postman, a new request was created and GET was selected from the method drop down.

Selected the Authorization tab and for the Type drop down, Bearer Token was selected.

🤣 Postman File Edit View Helo	-		- 0 ×
H New T Import Runner	🚦 My Workspace 🔻 👗 Invite	0 v r r v	🕗 Upgrade 🔻
GET Untitled Request • + •••		No Environment	v 💿 🌞
Untitled Request			📮 Comments (0)
GET • Enter request URL		Send	▼ Save ▼
Params Authorization Headers Body	Pre-request Script Tests Settings		Cookies Code
TYPE Bearer Token 🔻	Heads up! These parameters hold sensitive data. To keep this data secure w recommend using variables. Learn more about variables	hile working in a collaborative	e environment, we 🗙
The authorization header will be automatically generated when you send the request. Learn more about authorization	Token		
Preview Request			
Response			
	🔂 Bootcamp	Build Brow	wse 🔹 🦉 (?)

The value of the Response Payload attribute called "*access_token*" generated using the token service was pasted into the *Token* field (Refer to Record APIs - Getting Started, under *Requesting an Access Token* for instructions on how to generate the Access Token).

The *Params* tab was selected and populated as shown in the screenshot below. This example lists all matching *Person* records.

🥖 Postman				- 🗆 ×
File Edit View	v Help			
🕂 New	V Import Runner 📭 🗸	🚦 My Workspace 🔻 🌲 Invite	<u> </u>	🕜 Upgrade 🔻
GET List "Pers	son" records X POST Request Access To	ken (client 🕂 🚥	No Environment	• • •
▶ List "Perso	on" records		Comments (0)	Examples (0) 🔻
GET	 https://rndev36.readinow.net/api/v1/reco 	rds/person/r1?\$take=5&\$sort=Name:Asc	Send	▼ Save ▼
Params	Authorization Headers (9) Body	Pre-request Script Tests Settings		Cookies Code
Query Param	15			
KEY		VALUE	DESCRIPTION	••• Bulk Edit
✓ \$take		5		
✓ \$sort		Name:Asc		
Key		Value	Description	
Body Cookie	s Headers (10) Test Results	Statu	s: 200 OK Time: 3.83s Size: 1.12 KB	Save Response 🔻
Pretty	Raw Preview Visualize BETA JSON	- -		Q
		얀 Boo	otcamp Build Browse	•• § ?

In this case there are only 2 Person records that exist, which results in the following response:

```
{
  "status": "Success",
  "message": "2 record(s) returned.",
  "correlationCode": "Z564973-070925",
  "type": {
    "id": 16017,
    "name": "Person",
    "slug": "person",
    "application": {
       "name": "ReadiNow Core"
    },
    "revision": 1
  },
  "sort": [{
    "field": "Name",
    "direction": "Ascending"
  }],
  "count": 2,
  "first": 1,
  "last": 2,
  "data": [{
       "uid": "f70aa441-f9ba-470a-986b-26959e759cd6",
       "lid": 16318,
       "name": "Jack Admin",
       "firstName": "Jack",
       "lastName": "Admin"
    },
     {
       "uid": "38614861-6593-4044-bb33-b1876b4b343c",
       "lid": 27465,
       "name": "Shared Service Account",
       "firstName": "Shared",
       "lastName": "Service Account"
    }
  ]
}
```

Retrieving a specific record

The platform can be used to retrieve a specific record of a specific type (a "Record Type"). Each record has a unique identifier (UID) which is fixed for the lifetime of that record.

The pattern for the URL used to retrieve a specific record of a specific (preview) record type is:

GET https://{mydomain}.readinow.com/api/v1/preview/records/{record-type-name}/by/uid/{record-uid}

The pattern for the URL used to retrieve a specific record of a specific (published) record type is:

GET https://{mydomain}.readinow.com/api/v1/records/{record-type-name}/r{record-type-revision}/by/uid/{record-ui d}

Example

The following example uses Postman to retrieve the *Person* record with UID "f70aa441-f9ba-470a-986b-26959e759cd6".

🤣 Postman				- 🗆 X
File Edit View Help				
🕂 New 🔻 Import Runner 📭	📲 My Workspace 🔻 🤽 Invite	⊘ 🔮	¢ • • (🕖 Upgrade 🔻
GET Get "Person" record "Jack Adm X POST Request Access Toke	en (dient 🕇 🚥	No Er	nvironment	• • •
Fot "Person" record "Jack Admin"			Comments (0)	Examples (0) 🔻
GET • https://rndev36.readinow.net/api/v1/record	ds/person/r1/by/uid/f70aa441-f9ba-470a-986b-26959e759c	16	Send	▼ Save ▼
Params Authorization Headers (9) Body Pre-	request Script Tests Settings			Cookies Code
Query Params				
KEY	VALUE	DESCRIPTION		••• Bulk Edit
Кеу	Value	Description		
	හ Boo	tcamp [Build Browse	N ()

Which returns the following response:

```
{
 "status": "Success",
 "correlationCode": "Z403181-071244",
 "type": {
  "id": 16017,
  "name": "Person",
  "slug": "person",
  "application": {
  "name": "ReadiNow Core"
  },
  "revision": 1
 },
 "data": {
  "uid": "f70aa441-f9ba-470a-986b-26959e759cd6",
  "lid": 16318,
  "name": "Jack Admin",
  "firstName": "Jack",
  "lastName": "Admin"
}
}
```

Record APIs - Creating And Modifying Data

Last Modified on 23/04/2020 3:35 pm AEST

The platform's Record APIs can be used to create and modify data in the form of individual records.

Creating a new record

The platform's record APIs can be used to create a record of a specific type (a "Record Type").

The pattern for the URL used to create a new record of a specific (preview) record type is:

POST https://{mydomain}.readinow.com/api/v1/preview/records/{record-type-name}

The pattern for the URL used to create a new record of a specific (published) record type is:

POST https://{mydomain}.readinow.com/api/v1/records/{record-type-name}/r{record-type-revision}

The request body must be JSON (Content-Type "application/json") in the following format:

```
{
    "data": {
        "field1": "Hello",
        "field2": "World",
        "field3": 12345,
        "relationship1": [
            { "id": "f0c5b86d-d021-4c87-9213-1b9c1b5e3ed2" },
            { "id": "963afbe3-1376-429d-9e1c-6ae0af787747" }
     ]
     }
}
```

Note that the exact request body format for a given *Record Type* can be viewed in the Sandbox (Swagger) interface for that *Record Type*.

Example

Using Postman, a new request was created and GET was selected from the method drop down.

Selected the Authorization tab and for the Type drop down, Bearer Token was selected.

🤣 Postman File Edit View Help	-		- 🗆 X	:
🕂 New 🔻 Import Runner 📭 🔻	🖬 My Workspace 🔻 よ Invite	0 v r a	🖤 🕗 Upgrade 🔻	
GET Untitled Request • + •••		No Environmen	it v 💿 🛱	t
Untitled Request			Comments (0)	
GET • Enter request URL			Send T Save T	
Params Authorization Headers Body	Pre-request Script Tests Settings		Cookies Code	
TYPE Bearer Token 👻	Heads up! These parameters hold sensitive data. To keep this data sec recommend using variables. Learn more about variables	cure while working in a colla	borative environment, we X	
The authorization header will be automatically generated when you send the request. Learn more about authorization	Token Token			
Preview Request				
Response				
	윤 Boot	camp Build	Browse	?)

The value of the Response Payload attribute called "*access_token*" generated using the token service was pasted into the *Token* field (Refer to Record APIs - Getting Started, under *Requesting an Access Token* for instructions on how to generate the Access Token).

The *Params* tab was selected and populated as shown in the screenshot below. This example is how to create a new *Person* record.

The Person record is created, which results in the following response:

```
{
 "status": "Success",
 "message": "Created new 'Person' (R1) record with UID '6bb04efa-dfc5-41cc-86cd-c32c6db818a3'.",
 "correlationCode": "Z067214-081002",
 "type": {
  "id": 16017,
  "name": "Person",
  "slug": "person",
  "application": {
   "name": "ReadiNow Core"
  },
  "revision": 1
 },
 "data": {
  "uid": "6bb04efa-dfc5-41cc-86cd-c32c6db818a3",
  "lid": 62120,
  "firstName": "Jill",
  "lastName": "Admin",
  "businessEmail": "jill.admin@admin.com",
  "primaryPhone": "Business",
  "primaryEmail": "Business"
 }
}
```

Updating an existing record

The platform can be used to modify an existing record of a specific type (a "Record Type"). Each record has a unique identifier (UID) which is fixed for the lifetime of that record.

The pattern for the URL used to modify an existing record of a specific (preview) record type is:

PATCH https://{mydomain}.readinow.com/api/v1/preview/records/{record-type-name}/by/uid/{record-uid}

The pattern for the URL used to modify an existing record of a specific (published) record type is:

PATCH https://{mydomain}.readinow.com/api/v1/records/{record-type-name}/r{record-type-revision}/by/uid/{record-uid}

The request body must be JSON (Content-Type "application/json") in the following format:

```
{
    "data": {
        "field1": "Hello",
        "field2": "World",
        "field3": 12345,
        "relationship1": [
            { "id": "f0c5b86d-d021-4c87-9213-1b9c1b5e3ed2" },
            { "id": "963afbe3-1376-429d-9e1c-6ae0af787747" }
     ]
     }
}
```

When updating a record, you only supply values for fields or relationships that you want to modify.

Note that the exact request body format for a given *Record Type* can be viewed in the Sandbox (Swagger) interface for that *Record Type*.

Example

The following example uses Postman to modify the *Person* record with UID "6bb04efa-dfc5-41cc-86cd-c32c6db818a3".

Which returns the following response:

```
{
 "status": "Success",
 "message": "Updated 'Person' (R1) record with UID '6bb04efa-dfc5-41cc-86cd-c32c6db818a3'.",
 "correlationCode": "Z829511-081026",
 "type": {
  "id": 16017,
  "name": "Person",
  "slug": "person",
  "application": {
   "name": "ReadiNow Core"
  },
  "revision": 1
 },
 "data": {
  "uid": "6bb04efa-dfc5-41cc-86cd-c32c6db818a3",
  "lid": 62120,
  "firstName": "Jillian",
  "lastName": "Administrator",
  "businessEmail": "jill.admin@admin.com",
  "primaryPhone": "Business",
  "primaryEmail": "Business"
}
}
```

REST API for POST and PUT method calls

Last Modified on 16/04/2020 2:42 pm AEST

The REST API for POST and PUT feature will be deprecated.

Consider using the Record APIs feature instead.

Overview

ReadiNow allows third party systems to connect to ReadiNow to Create, Update or Delete records of any object within ReadiNow. This is achieved through configurable API endpoints where the Administrator specifies which object to expose to an API.

Definitions:

- API: An application programming interface. Within ReadiNow this is a collection of endpoints that are grouped and secured together in order for third party systems to perform actions on records within ReadiNow
- API Endpoint: An endpoint is a web address that the remote system can use to connect to our system. Each endpoint does either a create, update or delete of a particular record of a nominated object. These Endpoints can be created and configured by the ReadiNow Administrator
- API Key: The authentication mechanism for calling endpoints in an API.

Process:

- Decide which object needs to be exposed to an API
- Create an API (see below)
- Configure the Endpoint which specifies the object and allowed actions (create, update, delete via API)
- Create API key (see below)
- Use the details generated to configure the third party system (or integration tool) to POST, PUT or DELETE (which corresponds to create, update and delete) action to ReadiNow

Creating an API

To create an API:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Integration. The Integration expands to display list.
- 4. Select APIs. The existing APIs display.
- 5. Select +NEW. The API form displays.

- 6. Type the Name in the Name field
- 7. Type the Address in the **Address** field, e.g. the name of application in one word. Please refer to step 4 of creating endpoint.
- 8. Select the checkbox for **Enabled**.
- 9. Select **Save** to save the details.

Creating an Endpoint for any object

To create an Endpoint for any object:

- 1. On the Endpoints tab of the newly created API, select +NEW. The menu appears.
- 2. Select API Resource Endpoint. The API Resource Endpoint form displays.
- 3. In the **Object** field, select the Pencil

icon and select from the list e.g. Student.

- Type the Address in the Address field, e.g. the name of the object in one word. (https://yourseveraddress/spapi/api/yourtenant/yourapiaddress/yourendpoint)
- 5. Select the checkbox for **Enabled**.
- 6. Select fields as required.
- 7. Select Save to save the details.

Creating an API Key

To create an API Key:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Integration. The Integration expands to display list.
- 4. Select API Keys. The existing API Keys display.
- 5. Select +NEW. The API Key form displays.
- 6. In the **API Key** field, enter a guid. E.g. b9c91534-7cc1-4e09-b22f-2808072e333e, or generate one at https://www.guidgenerator.com/.
- 7. Select the checkbox for Enabled, if not ticked.
- 8. For **Run as user**, select a user account such as Administrator (The user account must have access control permission to do whatever you expect the API to do).
- 9. Under APIs Granted tab, link to the New API (or other API as required).
- 10. Select Save to save the details.

Using a tool that can simulate making web requests

To get a tool that can simulate making web requests:

- 1. Use a tool that can simulate making web requests e.g. the Postman Plugin for Chrome.
- 2. Alternatively, see getpostman.com, or just navigate in the Chrome app store.

Running a request to create a new data record

To run a request to create a new account:

- 1. Use Postman to issue a request like this: (see image below).
- 2. Use the 'POST' verb.
- 3. Use key that is generated (e.g.

https://yourseveraddress/spapi/api/yourtenant/yourapiaddress/yourendpoint?key=b9c91534-7cc1-4e09-b22f-2808072e333e).

- 4. Select the Body tab.
- 5. Select 'Raw'. The textbox appears.
- 6. Enter this (case sensitive) query:

{ "field1 of string type":"value of field1", "field2 of decimal type":234.0 }

- 7. Set the type to JSON (application/json).
- 8. Select Send.

Notes

- A 201 Created response appears.
- Navigate to your report of your object, a new data record with specified field values is created.

Response Codes

When an API call is made, the server will response with a HTTP response code as follows:

HTTP Response Codes



HTTP Response Code	Meaning
400 - Bad Request	 Something about the request received from the client was invalid. There was something invalid about the request received from the client. I.e. not a server problem, configuration problem, or internal error. Body of a 400 reply should contain a message and an ID (in the E1xxx range). See error codes below.
401 - Unauthorized	 Any of the following: An API key was not provided The API key was an invalid format The API key was not found in the specified tenant The specified tenant not not exist (to be indistinguishable from the above) The API key is not attached to a user account The API key is attached to a user account that is disabled, locked, or expired There are multiple API key objects with the same key name (which is invalid)
403 - Forbidden	 Any of the following: The API key does not have permission to access the requested API The API key is attached to a user account that does not have permission to perform the requested task
405 - Method not allowed	Caller attempted to use a verb that was not supported or allowed or enabled by that endpoint.

HTTP Response Code	Meaning
500 - Server-side Error	 Either of the following: A platform server error - for example with IIS A platform unhandled exception - includes a E0001 message. Raise a bug ticket if you see these. A connector configuration error (such as a misconfigured API mapping) - not a platform bug Ideally all 500 errors will also include an Exxxx error number in their message. See table
	below.

Error Codes

In addition to the standard HTTP response codes, the body of the responsee message may contain an error code. Note that error codes do not form part of the HTTP standard.

Errors in the range E0xxx represent platform errors. Errors in the range E1xxx represent request errors. Errors in the range E2xxx represent tenant configuration errors.

Error Code	Message
E0001	Platform internal error.
E1001	Property "name" was formatted incorrectly.
E1002	No resource of the correct type matched the GUID 'guid'.
E1003	No resources were found that matched 'value'.
E1004	Multiple resources were found that matched 'value'.
Error Code	Message
------------	---
E1005	Identifier list contained nulls.
E1006	Expected an array of identities for 'property'.
E1007	Cardinality violation.
E1008	Field validation rules were not met.
E1009	The message body was empty.
E1010	Mandatory property 'property' was not provided.
E2001	Multiple API keys have the same value.
E2002	Multiple APIs matching "name".
E2003	Multiple APIs endpoint matching "name".
E2004	Endpoint has no resource mapping.
E2005	Resource mapping has no resource type.
E2006	Resource mapping identity field cannot be write-only.
E2007	Resource mapping identity field was not set.

Error Code	Message
E2008	Field mapping ''name'' did not point to a field.
E2009	Relationship mapping "name" did not point to a relationship.
E2010	Field mapping ''name'' did not have a mapped name.

REST API for GET method calls

Last Modified on 09/01/2020 10:06 am AEDT

Relationships

Last Modified on 14/07/2020 5:53 pm AEST

What is a Relationship?

Relationships allow records to be associated with each other.

Depending on context, the word relationship might refer to:

- a type of relationship
 - that defines a particular type of association between two objects
 - For example: there is an "Assigned tasks" relationship defined between the Person object and the Task object.
- an instance of a relationship
 - that represents a concrete association, of a particular relationship type, between two particular records
 - For example: 'Susan has been assigned the Q1 2020 Procurement Risk Assessment task'.

To-one and To-many relationships

Every relationship type has a *cardinality*, which simply describes whether each record can relate to one or multiple related records.

Relationships types that only allow a record to point to a single related record are referred to as a lookup.

The following relationship cardinalities are possible:

- one-to-many
- many-to-one
- many-to-many
- one-to-one

One-to-Many relationships

For a one-to-many relationship, each record on the first side of the relationship can be related to multiple records on the seconds side. However, in the other direction, this is an exclusive relationship, and the second record can only be related from one record.

For example: a "Building has Rooms" relationship would be one-to-many.

To define a one-to many relationship: add a relationship control to a form. Refer to Relationship Control for more details.

Many-to-One Relationships

Each record on the first side relates to a single record on the second side. For example: an "Employee is in a Department".

You will notice this is equivalent to a one-to-many relationship, but defined in the other direction. The platform does not distinguish between the two, so use which ever feels most natural in context.

To define a many-to-one relationship: add a lookup control to a form. Refer to Lookup Control for details.

Many-to-Many Relationships

Records can be associated with multiple records in either direction.

For example: "Employee is invited to Meeting".

To define a many-to-many relationship: add a relationship control to a form, then change the **Relationship Type** setting to relate to many records in both directions.

One-to-One Relationships

Each record, on either side, can only associated to only a single record. The relationship is exclusive in both directions. For example, "Person has Payroll Details".

It is uncommon to require this type of relationship, but it can be useful to secure access to certain information, such as allowing Person records to be visible to certain users without also making Payroll Details accessible.

To define a one-to-one relationship: add a lookup control to a form and then change the **Relationship Type** settings to relate to one record in both directions.

Relationships are Bi-Directional

Relationships have meaning in both directions and can be used in both directions.

For example, consider a relationship between the Employee object and the Employee object that represents the employee-manager relationships.

- in one direction it may simply be called "Manager", and is considered as being a lookup. That is, each employee has (at most) one manager.
- in the other direction it may be called "Direct Reports", and in this direction is considered a to-many relationship.

Any association made between records in one direction is immediately present in the other direction as well.

When a new Relationship or Lookup is first added to a form, the control will initially only appear on that form. However, the relationship is now available to use in all application building features, such as forms, reports, workflows, and calculations, in both directions. That is to say, from either of the two objects that the relationship connects.

Relationship Names

Relationship types can be named in both directions. The relationship as a whole can also be named. Typically the name that is displayed is the name that is relevant to the direction that the relationship is being followed.

For example, consider a relationship between departments and their employees.

- When viewed from a Department object, it might be called "Employees"
- When viewed from an Employee, it might be called "Employee's department"
- The overall relationship might be named "Department Employees"

When a relationship is created, a reverse name and overall name will be automatically selected based on the selected object.

Lookup Propertie	s	
Name :	Employee's Department ← name, when accessed from the Employee object	
Display Name :		
Description :		L ²
Object:	Department	×
Debug:	Debug Info Click 'Esc' key to close debug info popup	
▼ RELATIONSHIP TYPE		
➤ OWNERSHIP		
✓ SECURITY		
Form Detail Object	ct Detail Visibility Format Custom Form Validation	
Default Value:		 ×
Relationship Name :	Employees - Department	
Script Name :	Department ← name for use in calculations	
Reverse Name :	Employees ← name when used in opposite direction	
Hide in Reverse: Show Properties in Reve	this link will allow all relationship properties to be viewed as though they had been accessed from the opposite object.	
	OK	Cancel

Relationship can connect an object to itself

A relationship type can be defined so that both ends point to the same object. A relationship between Employee and Employee to represent the employee-manager relationship is a good example of this.

The direction that the relationship is being followed remains significant, and platform features such as the report builder and form builder will present both direction. It is important to always clearly name such relationships in both direction to avoid confusion.

Relationship can form hierarchies and be followed recursively

If a relationship type connects an object to itself (or to an inherited object), then, depending on its cardinality, the relationship effectively describes a network of records as follows:

• a many-to-one (or one-to-many) relationship describes a hierarchy or tree of records

• a many-to-many relationship describes a directed graph of records

The ReadiNow platform has various application features for working with hierarchies and directed graphs, including:

- ability to define a hierarchy picker control
- ability to follow relationships recursively in calculations and report
- ability to filter to sub-trees in reports
- additional display options in reports
- security access control rules can be defined to take advantage of hierarchy and directed graph relationships

Relationships and Object Inheritance

Relationships are aware of object inheritance.

If a relationship type is defined between objects A and B, then that relationship type is also automatically available from any object that (directly or indirect) inherits from A or B.

For example, consider a relationship between an Asset object and a Location object. Any hypothetical object that inherits Asset, such as Computer, or Laptop, will automatically have this relationship. This means that:

- any Asset record, any Computer record, any Laptop record, etc, can be associated with a location
- any form, report, calculations, etc, that is based on any of Asset, Computer, or Laptop can all make use of this relationship

Relationship Ownership

Each relationship type has an *ownership* setting. This influences how various ReadiNow features treat the relationship.

Relationship ownership, described below, can be set to one of:

- Full ownership
- Partial ownership
- No ownership

The exact options and phrasing shown in the relationship properties will vary depending on the cardinality of the relationship.

Caution: Full and partial ownership levels enable cascade deleting of records. Take care to ensure that configurations are correct and understood to avoid unintended record deletion.

Full Ownership Relationships

A full ownership relationship is also known as a component/subcomponent relationship. It means that the owned

child record is a part of its parent record.

For example, a "Recovery Plan" record may have individual "Recovery steps" record. The steps are logically a subcomponent of the plan.

A full ownership relationship behaves as follows:

- if the parent is record is deleted, the child record will be deleted. This delete will also cascade to any subcomponents of the subcomponents and so on.
- if the parent record is cloned in a workflow, then a full (deep) clone is made of subcomponents.
- if the parent record is exported to XML, or included in an application, then child records are recursively included in full as well.

Partial Ownership Relationships

A partial ownership relationship is also known as a dependency relationship. It means that the child record depends on the parent record being present - but the child record isn't logically part of the parent record.

An "Employee has Performance Review" relationship might be an example of a partial ownership relationship. This would allow a workflow, for example, to create clones of Person records, without any linked performance reviews being copied to the new record. However, if the Person record gets deleted, then so does their Performance Review records.

A partial ownership relationship behaves as follows:

- a child record will be cascaded deleted when its parent is delated.
- neither record is processed in full when the other is exported or cloned, however references may be, depending on the cardinality.

No Ownership Relationships

For a no ownership relationship:

- neither record is deleted when the other record is deleted
- neither record is processed in full when the other is exported or cloned, however references may be, depending on the cardinality.

Security Relationships

Relationships can be configured such that either:

- 1. If a user has permission to a record, then they can always see the name (only) of the related record
- 2. or, if a user has permission to a record, then they automatically have view permission for the related record
- 3. or, if a user has permission to a record, then they automatically have the same permissions for the related record

Relationship security can offer significant benefits (or disadvantages if configured incorrectly) for administration

convenience, and for system performance.

Refer to Security Relationships for details.

Resource Keys

Last Modified on 20/02/2020 1:00 pm AEDT

Overview

Resource Keys describe how to uniquely identify records. For example, a contact record could be uniquely identified by their email address. The Resource Key will be functional once its **Generating hashes** flag is "No". It may take a few minutes for the flag to turn from "Yes" to "No" if there are numerous records to process.

One or more properties of the record are selected when creating a resource key and ReadiNow ensures that no two records have the same values for those records.

Configuring a resource key

Resource keys are applied to an Object. That is, a type of record. If a resource key is applied to an Object, then it will also automatically apply to any other Objects that inherit from that object.

To define a resource key:

- 1. Select Administration from the Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Resource Keys, located under the Resources section. This will list all resource keys for all objects.
- 3. Select **+NEW**. The Resource Key form appears.
- 4. Type a name in the Name field.
- 5. Type a description in the **Description** field.
- 6. If the resource key should automatically merge records, then select the checkbox for Merge duplicate.
- 7. Type a message that should be shown if someone attempts to create a duplicate record (optional).
- 8. Select the Object that the resource key applies to.
- 9. On the Resource Key Fields tab, select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 10. Select Link to existing. The Select dialog appears.
- 11. Select the field you want to include in the resource key ensuring that the field belongs to the correct object.
- 12. On the **Resource Key Relationships** tab, select **+NEW**. The Resource Key Relationship form displays. Note: You can add a new relationship, choice field, or lookup to the resource key.
- 13. In the '**Resource key relationship**' field, select the relationship. Note: Make sure either the From Object or To Object refers to the current object.
- 14. Select 'Forward' from the dropdown if the relationship is being followed in the forward direction (e.g. if the From Object matches the current object).
- 15. Or select 'Reverse' from the dropdown if the relationship is being followed in the reverse direction (e.g. if the To Object matches the current object).
- 16. Select **Save** to save the resource keys.

To manage resource keys, navigate to Administration > Resources > Resource Keys

Create a new Resource Key and select the object that it applies to.

Enforcing Resource Keys

The platform enforces that each record is unique, and it can do this in one of two ways.

- The resource key can be configured to disallow two records with the same key. If a new record is created to have the same value as an existing record, then the new record cannot be saved. For example, in this mode, it would not be possible to create a new contact record if there is already another contact record with the same email address.
- The resource key can be configured to merge records with the same key. If a new record is created to have the same value as an existing record, then the details of the two records are merged together into a single key.

Resource keys that use multiple fields

A resource key may be set up to allow more than one field to be specified. If multiple fields are specified, then no two records can exist that have the same value for all of the fields. It is still allowable to create multiple records that have the same values for some fields, and not others.

For example, a resource key could be created on the First Name and Last Name fields. This would enforce that no two records have the same First Name and Last Name. Two records could exist that share the same first name, but have different last names. Similarly two records could share the same last name if they have different first names. However, the combination of the two must be unique. In practice this example is not recommended, as sometimes people have the same name.

Multiple resource keys

In addition to specifying multiple fields on a resource key, it is also possible to specify multiple resource keys. A second resource key might be desirable to enforce uniqueness on unrelated fields. For example, one resource key could ensure that First Name and Last Name are together unique, while a second resource key could ensure that every contact has a unique email address. In this way, no two records can share the same first/last name combination, nor can they share the same email address.

Resource Keys that include relationships

In addition to including fields, a resource key can also include one or more lookups or relationships. For example, consider a Plan record that relates to Plan Step records. Each Plan Step might have a step number field. We can enforce that the number of each step is unique within the plan, (but not unique across all steps) by creating a resource key that includes both the step number field and the lookup to the Plan. In this way, the step number field must be unique, but only within the plan.

Existing Data

If a resource key is set up for an object that has existing data, then that existing data is not automatically consolidated. However, anyone attempting to subsequently save those duplicate records will be prompted to resolve the problem.

Importing Data

Ensure that the **Generating hashes** flag is false before importing data. If data is being imported using a spreadsheet, then the spreadsheet import feature will match imported data to existing data by using resource keys. The import spreadsheet feature has an option to automatically merge records, even if the resource key is not set up to support merging.



Last Modified on 02/10/2024 4:15 pm AEST

What is sensitive data?

Many customers must ensure that confidential or sensitive data remains within their production tenant during operations such as tenant refreshes or exports. This is a critical compliance requirement, particularly when individuals working in Development or Test environments may not have the necessary permissions to access this sensitive information.

By default, any data marked as sensitive will be obfuscated (masked) during a tenant refresh.

What data can be marked as sensitive?

To achieve this goal, clients now have the ability to flag fields as sensitive at the object level. The following field types can be marked as sensitive:

- Text
- Multiline Text
- Rich Text
- Number
- Decimal
- Currency
- DateTime
- Date
- Time
- Yes/No

Additionally, special consideration has been given to the Person object. The following fields for Person are marked as sensitive by default:

- Name
- Address 1
- Address 2
- Address 3
- Business Email
- Business Phone
- Direct phone
- First Name
- Last Name
- Mobile phone
- Personal email

How can fields be flagged as sensitive?

The process involves modifying the fields on the object properties itself. This can be achieved by modifying a form based on the object; or by using the application toolbox. (Refer to https://readinow.knowledgeowl.com/docs/creating-an-object for more details on the application toolbox).

- 1. Open a form for the desired object in builder mode.
- 2. Navigate to the field to be configured.
- 3. Click the configuration icon.
- 4. In the properties dialog, expand Options and click Object Detail
- 5. Check the box labelled Sensitive
- 6. Click OK to close the properties dialog
- 7. Repeat the process to mark further fields as sensitive, if required.
- 8. Remember to save the form. This saves both the form and the object itself.

What happens to sensitive data during the obfuscation process?

The method of data obfuscation varies depending on the type of field. Below are the details for each field type:

- Text, Multiline Text, and Rich Text Fields: The existing data will be transformed into a hashed string using the SHA2_256 hashing algorithm. Please note that the length of the hashed string will differ from the original string. Any defined minimum and maximum values for these fields will be disregarded during this process.
- Number, Decimal, and Currency Fields: If a minimum value is specified for the field, the obfuscation process will set the new value to this minimum. If no minimum value is defined, the new value will default to 0.
- Date and DateTime Fields: For fields with a defined minimum value, the new value will be set to this minimum. If no minimum is specified, the date will default to January 1, 1753.
- **Time Field**: For a time field with a defined minimum value, the new value will be set to this minimum. If no minimum is specified, the time will be set to midnight.
- Yes/No Fields: The value will be replaced with a randomly generated Boolean.

Anything else I should know?

Marking a field as sensitive in a parent object will mark the field as sensitive for any child object, as expected with object inheritance. (More information on object inheritance can be found here.)

Sensitive data will be obfuscated (masked) by default during any operations that involve copying or exporting data from a production tenant. This option can be disabled upon request. If you prefer that your data not be obfuscated during a tenant refresh, please ensure to include this request in your tenant refresh ticket.

[link to article on tenant refresh]

Object Inheritance

Last Modified on 02/10/2024 4:15 pm AEST

What is object inheritance?

Object inheritance is a key feature of the ReadiNow platform that enables the creation of object hierarchies. This functionality allows a child object to inherit all the fields and relationships defined in its parent object, which is also known as a "derived type."



Key features of object inheritance

- Field Inheritance: A child object automatically inherits all fields and relationships from its parent object. This ensures consistency across related objects, as all child objects will have the same essential fields and relationships as defined in the parent.
- Adding Unique Fields: While a child object inherits fields from its parent, you can also add additional fields that are not present in the parent object. This allows for customization while maintaining the foundational structure.
- Field and Relationship Properties: Any properties applied to fields or relationships in the parent object are inherited by the child object. These inherited properties cannot be modified at the child level, ensuring uniformity.
- Automatic Updates: Changes made to the parent object, such as adding or removing fields and relationships, or marking the object as sensitive, will automatically replicate to all child objects. This feature simplifies maintenance and ensures that all related objects remain up-to-date.
- **Display Options:** Although inherited fields and relationships are part of the child object, they do not have to be displayed in forms and reports. This flexibility allows the app builder to highlight the information most relevant to the child object.

Text Field P	roperties					
Field Name :	Parent Ma	indatory				
Display Name :						
Description :						e
Form Detail	Form Behaviour	Object Detail	Format	Custom Form Validation		
Script Name : Mandatory:	Parent M	andatory	Inher cha	ited property car anged on child o	nnot be bject	

How to create an inherited (child) object

Note: Creating an object may incur additional license costs. For further details please contact your ReadiNow Account manager before creating a child object.

First, create your parent object. Once you are satisfied with your parent object, save the parent and move onto creating a child object:

- 1. Navigate to Administration > Resources > Objects.
- 2. Click the +New button and select Object.
- 3. Choose the required parent object for the "Extends from" field. More than one parent object can be selected if required.
- 4. Continue creating the object following your normal process.
- 5. Remember to save your new child object.

In the Report Builder, there are two ways to identify inherited fields in the left-hand navigation pane:

- 1. The names of inherited fields are displayed in italics.
- 2. An inherited field will not show a delete icon when you hover over it.

Default	
18 Child Currency	
Aa Child Text	
Child Yes/No	
≜ Description	
Aa Name	
🔡 Parent Choice	
🔁 Parent Lookup	
A Parent Mandatory	Inherited fields are
■ Parent Related Object	shown in italics
123 Parent Sensitive	
Aa Parent Text	1

Anything else I should know?

It is not recommended to change inheritance after an object has been created, and this cannot be done through the UI. Reach out to ReadiNow Support to discuss your options should it become necessary to update inheritance.

Deleting a field that contains data will delete the data along with the field. Exercise caution when deleting fields from parent objects.

Conditional Format Icons

Last Modified on 15/03/2019 12:08 pm AEDT

Conditional format icons are used to apply conditional formatting for a column in Reports.

You can use the existing icons or upload a new icon.

Uploading a new conditional format icon

To upload a new conditional format icon:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.
- 4. Select Conditional Format Icons. The existing Conditional Format Icons display.
- 5. Select +NEW. The Conditional Format Icon form displays.
- 6. Type the name for the Conditional Format Icon in the **Name** field.
- 7. Type the description for the Conditional Format Icon in the **Description** field.
- 8. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialog appears.
- 9. Select the application you want and select **OK**.
- 10. Select **Upload** and upload an icon from your computer.
- 11. Select **Save** to save the form.

The Icon appears in the Conditional Format Icon report and can be used to apply conditional formatting for a column.

Add a Document Type

Last Modified on 08/12/2023 3:16 pm AEDT

Any file type (e.g. images, text, e-mail attachment) can be treated as a 'document', and stored in the document library or attached to an object. However, for security reasons, the document types first have to be added to the document types list by an Administrator (the most frequently used file types come pre-configured out of the box).

Whenever needed, an Administrator can add a new document type to the document types list by specifying:

- valid file extensions for the document type
- a file type description
- the document MIME type

The process for adding a new document type (in this case an XML document) is shown below.

- 1. navigate to: Administration > Settings > Document Types
- 2. click the ' + New' button
- 3. enter file type details
- 4. optional add a document type image (document icon)

Rea	adiNow THENOVATE			× -	Administration 😑 🔒	500	0
	<						-
.d	Administration	Administratio	n				
	Applications	, lan in istratio					
-	Audit	Quick Links				Help &	
-	Metrics 🔺	Applications	🗶 Audit	Integration	Resources	Contact	
	Resources	Application Library	Audit Log Event Log Event Log Settings Policies	API Keys APIs Import Runs Import Spreadsheet	Boards Charts Choice Fields Forms	Support	
	Security 🔺			Record APIs Scheduled Import	Hierarchies Objects	Release Notes	
	Settings 🏾 🗠	2			Relationships Reports Resource Keys		
	Workflows				Screens		
	Integration *	Security	 Settings 	🖺 Surveys	■t, Workflows		
-	Surveys 🔺	Identity Providers Navigation Access Password Policy Record Access Security Audit Log Security Audit Log Settings User Accounts User Roles	Conditional Formatting Icons Document Types Email Settings Global Search Settings Image Settings Inboxes Text Field Patterns Themes	Choice Options Question Categories Question Libraries Surveys	Schedules Triggers Workflow Runs Workflows	Third Party License	
2.14	5.0.0-Master / C: 2.146.4.0-Master-		Powered by Readin	low		Information	Ŧ
mari	Evample chowing houst	add a pow document	turne se that desure	onto of that turns of	an ha addad t a tha	document librory	
	Example showing now to	auu a new document	type so that docume	ents of that type ca	an be added to the	uocument indrary.	

Detailed information about MIME Types is available at MDN Webdocs.

Unsupported file types

Any files with the following extensions will be blocked from being uploaded.

application, .bat, .cmd, .com, .cpl, .exe, gadget, .hta, .inf, .jar, .js, .jse, .lnk, .msc, .msh, .msh1, .msh1xml, .msh2, .msh2xml, .mshxml, .msi, .msp, .pif, .ps1, .ps1xml, .ps2, .ps2xml, .psc1, .psc2, .reg, .scf, .scr, .vb, .vbe, .vbs, .ws, .wsc, .wsf, .wsh

Email Server Settings

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:27 pm AEST

All outbound email is sent via SMTP. New tenants use Readinow's SMTP service by default. This allows the new tenant to be able to generate email (such as password reset) without further configuration.

ReadiNow's SMTP service is restricted to conservative limits. It is therefore recommended that the administrator change the configuration to use the corporate SMTP servers.

Viewing or Editing Email Server Settings

To view or edit Email Server Settings:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.
- 4. Select Email Server Settings. The existing Email Server Settings display.
- 5. Select Edit in top right corner.
- 6. Complete the fields, including:
 - Server
 - Port
 - Use SSL Select the checkbox if required, else leave it
 - Account
 - Password
 - No-reply address
- 7. Select Save to save the settings.

Sent Email Messages

Emails are logged in Sent Email Messages tabbed report.

🔲 Email S	erver Settings			
SMTP SERVER DETAIL	s			
Server :	mail.readinow.com			
Port :				
Use SSL :				
Account :				
Password :				
No-reply address :	noreply@readinow.com			
		Email sent from Rea will be lo	dinow software platfrom ogged here	
SENT EMAIL MESSAG	ES			
C - ACTION -		•		
То		From	Subject	Sent
rt_test@readinow.com		noreply@readinow.com	Sending Mail Test	19/12/2016 11:29 AM

General Settings

Last Modified on 14/10/2024 4:47 pm AEDT

General Settings allow you to set general tenant wide settings

Viewing or Editing General Settings

To view or edit General Settings:

- 1. Open the tenant administration page more
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.
- 3. Select General Settings. The existing General Settings display.
- 4. Select **Edit** in top right corner.
- 5. Make the desired change (see settings below):
- 6. Select **Save** to save the settings.

General Settings

Setting	Description
Currency symbol	The currency symbol set here will reflect in all the places where currency is displayed within ReadiNow
Tenant theme	The general theme for the entire tenant. See Themes
Financial year start month	Set the financial year start month which affects the "FY" Analyser conditions
Disable communication	Disabling communications effectively prevents the tenant from sending out any data. This includes: email, SMS; API Callouts: exporting of files to endpoints through FTP/SFTP.
Disable console session timeout	When checked, the console session timeout will be disabled (i.e session timeout will not occur). Note: applies when logging on using standard ReadiNow credentials or any external identity providers such as OpenID Connect or SAML. Note: session timeout is 60 mins.

Setting	Description
Disable API Callouts	Workflows are not permitted to call external APIs when Disable API Callouts is checked. However, if communications are disabled, API callouts will also be disabled, regardless of the setting of the Disable API Callouts checkbox
Time zone	 Tenant time zone setting is used in situations where there is no time context given. For example, when a workflow is scheduled rather than being triggered manually certain workflow activities default back to the default time zone, unless a tenant time zone has been set. The following operations use the tenant time zone: Right-click actions Calculations Workflow: API Callout activity Workflow: Export to activity Workflow: Generate Document activity Workflow: Get Records activity Please contact support to verify the default time zone, when this setting is not selected.

Image Settings

Last Modified on 15/03/2019 11:27 am AEDT

Image settings is used to set the maximum file size allowed to upload the image.

Viewing or Editing Image Settings

To view or edit image settings:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.
- 4. Select Image Settings. The existing Image Settings display.
- 5. Select **Edit** in top right corner.
- 6. Type the maximum file size you want in the Maximum file size (MB) field.
- 7. Select **Save** to save the settings.

Inboxes

Last Modified on 28/08/2019 3:45 pm AEST

Overview

Inboxes are email listeners, which can be used in workflows to process incoming emails.

ReadiNow creates and maintains a catch-all mailbox under *apps.readinow.com* that captures all emails sent to this domain. Hence all emails sent to *xxxxx@apps.readinow.com* (where xxxx is anything) will end up in this mailbox.

When an Inbox is created within a tenant in ReadiNow, it is given a random and unique Email Address (e.g. [NAME]56743353@apps.readinow.com). When ReadiNow sweeps the catch-all mailbox it uses this Email Address to match each email to a tenant's Inbox and routes it accordingly.

In order for end users to be able to send emails to a tenant's inbox, the customer creates an inbox on their own Email server (e.g. *support@organisation.com*) and creates a forwarding rule that routes any email from this inbox to the corresponding ReadiNow tenant's Inbox address (e.g. [NAME]56743353@apps.readinow.com). In this way any email sent to *support@organisation.com* would end up in the tenant's inbox in the ReadiNow.

Creating an Inbox

To create an Inbox:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list
- 4. Select Inboxes. The existing Inboxes display
- 5. Select +New and the new Inbox form displays
- 6. Type the name for the inbox in the Name field
- 7. (Optional) Type the description for the inbox in the Description field
- 8. By default, the Inbox will be Enabled
- 9. Type the From name this is the name in the received email. For example: Support.
- Type the Reply Address emails will be received from this address, and replies will route to this address. For example: *abc@readinow.com*. Customer creates a forwarding rule on this email address to receive it in the email address in the next step.
- 11. Email Address this is random generated email address under apps.readinow.com which is automatically created on saving this save. This is created using the value entered in the Name field, all invalid characters and spaces stripped, and adding a random generated integer. For example, if Name was set to "Test Support @#\$%" the generated email address would look like:

Test Support 480405856 @apps.read in ow.com

12. Received Messages - This report maintains a log of any email received in the above email address. Please

note that Inboxes will be unable to receive emails where they have been set only as a BCC recipient

- 13. Workflows to Run Link existing workflow(s) to be run whenever this Inbox receives an email
- 14. Click Save to create the new Inbox

-			
Screens	hot:	View	Inbox
	101.	V 1C VV	11DOA

vame :	TestSupport		
Description :			
nabled :			
rom name :	Support		
Reply address :	abc@readinow.com		
mail Address :	TestSupport480405856@apps.readinow.com		
Received messag	Workflows to Run		
C - ACTION -			
T -	From		

An email received using the above settings appears as shown in the screenshot.

Screenshot: View Test email

P	Support <abc@readinow.com></abc@readinow.com>
Test for	sending Email
	Sample email sent from the platform

Editing an Inbox

To edit an Inbox:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.
- 4. Select Inboxes. The existing Inboxes display.
- 5. Select the inbox you want to edit and select ACTION. The menu appears.
- 6. Select Edit. The Inbox form displays.
- 7. Make the changes you want and select **Save** to save changes.

Notification Provider

Last Modified on 17/08/2021 8:59 am AEST

Notification Provider is where the administrator configures the SMS gateway integration. SMS messages can be sent to end users and replies from end users can be received by ReadiNow. ReadiNow integrates with the Twilio SMS gateway: https://www.twilio.com/

A new 'Notify' workflow activity can be utilised to send SMS at any point in a workflow.

Creating a Twilio Account

To set up a Twilio account:

- 1. Go to https://www.twilio.com/
- 2. Select 'Sign up' to create a new account.
- 3. Follow the prompts to create and verify your account.
- 4. Once your account is created, from the left menu select 'Phone Numbers'.
- 5. Select 'Get Started'.
- 6. Select 'Get your first Twilio phone number'.
- 7. Follow the prompts to buy a phone number. (Note: ensure the phone number that is purchased has SMS capabilities.)

By default, Twilio creates an initial trial account which restricts messages to only be able to be sent to the verified account holders phone number. Select "Upgrade" from the top right menu to add funds to your account to leverage the full capabilities.

Configuring Twilio integration

To configure the Twilio integration:

- 1. Open the tenant administration page more
- 2. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.
- 3. Select Notification Provider. The existing Notification Provider displays.
- 4. Select Edit in top right corner.
- 5. Complete the fields and copy in the following details:
 - Account SID: found on the home page of your Twilio account.
 - Auth Token: found on the home page of your Twilio account.
 - Sending Number: the phone number you just purchased in the format of +61412345678.

- Enable Test Mode: by default this is enabled. This means that you are able to configure and test your notification workflow without sending messages to Twilio. When you are ready to send messages to Twilio, deselect this checkbox.
- 6. Select **Save** to save the details.

Notification Provider						
Name :	Notification Provider					
Description :	The Twilio account used for sending notifications.	*	Ľ			
Account SID :	Enter SID					
Auth token :	****					
Sending number :	12345-12345					
Enable test mode :	×					

Enable Test Mode, when enabled you can configure and test your notification workflow without sending messages to Twilio. When you are ready to send messages to Twilio, deselect this checkbox.

When the Twilio configuration in our product is updated or re-enabled, Software Platform automatically connects to Twilio and updates these details with the correct information. No manual configuration is required in Twilio.

Tenant Rollback

Last Modified on 26/11/2020 9:56 am AEDT

Overview

The Tenant Rollback feature enables you to rollback changes to your tenant to a selected Restore Point. You may rollback up to 28 calendar days or until the last ReadiNow platform upgrade, whichever is more recent.

To access Tenant Rollback:

- 1. Select the Application Menu to display the available options
- 2. Select Administration to view the Administration landing page
- 3. In the Left Tree Navigation Area, select Settings to expand the list
- 4. Select Tenant Rollback

Tenant Rollback Page

When you arrive at the **Tenant Rollback** page, you will see all available Restore Points on the left pane. When you select a Restore Point, the right pane will display showing the first 1000 changes made since that selected Restore Point.

estore Points	C Refresh	Changes since 9	/12/2019,	10:16:45 AM (first 1000)
Date	Name	Date	User	Details
9/12/2019, 10:19:45 AM	Manual Restore Point 2	9/12/2019, 10:21:05 AM	Administrator	WebApi - Entity.PostGet S09033-P07171:createForm:2039622-Z094922-121021->Save
9/12/2019, 10:16:45 AM	Manual Restore Point 1	9/12/2019, 10:20:46 AM	Administrator	WebApi - Entity.Post S09033-P09638:workflowNew:2014696-Z940859-121020->Save
9/4/2019, 10:08:32 AM	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.132.5008.0) Restore Point	9/12/2019, 10:19:15 AM	Administrator	WebApi - Workflow.UpdateWorkflow S09033-P04841:workflowEdit:2338593-Z602223-12101
9/3/2019, 8:34:45 PM	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.132.5008.0) Restore Point	9/12/2019, 10:18:36 AM	Administrator	WebApi - Entity.Post S09033-P04240:workflowNew:2014696-Z642223-121018->Save
9/3/2019, 8:34:23 PM	Upgrading tenant 2013297	9/12/2019, 10:17:59 AM	Administrator	WebApi - Entity.PostGet S09033-P08629:createForm:2037746-Z146724-121017->Save
8/29/2019, 5:29:40 PM	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.132.5004.0) Restore Point			
8/29/2019, 5:29:18 PM	Upgrading tenant 2013297			
8/23/2019, 5:58:58 PM	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.132.5000.0) Restore Point			
Start Rollback New R	lestore Point			
The Tenant Rollback page				

To initiate a Tenant Rollback:

- 1. Select the desired Restore Point
- 2. Select Start Rollback
- 3. The Database Rollback Job Status will appear, providing information about the rollback and its progression



4. When it completes, the **Database Rollback Job Status** will update to reflect accordingly. Please note that it will display all Rollback history for the past hour. Rollback jobs that are older than an hour expire and are removed

D	ataba	ase Rollback Job Status R	Refresh
		Rollback to 2019-09-12 00:28:21 UTC Completed Start Date : 12/09/2019 10:30 am Duration : 02 secs	
		Rollback to 2019-09-12 00:28:08 UTC Completed Start Date : 12/09/2019 10:30 am Duration : 02 secs	
		Rollback to 2019-09-12 00:28:21 UTC Completed Start Date : 12/09/2019 10:28 am Duration : 09 secs	
	Tenant Rollback completed - history retained for the past one hour		

Please note that only a single Tenant Rollback operation may be run at a time. Any attempt to start a Tenant Rollback while one is already in progress will be denied and you will be notified in the console that another rollback task is running.

Restore Points

Restore Points represent the platform database state at the time of creation, allowing the system to be reverted to that state. **Restore Points** are kept for a maximum of 28 calendar days before they expire and are removed.

Restore Points may either created manually or automatically.

To manually create a **Restore Point**:

- 1. Navigate to the **Tenant Rollback** page
- 2. Select New Restore Point
- 3. The Create Restore Point dialog will appear enter in the desired name and select Create

Create Restore Point
Creates a new system restore point with the specified name.
Manual Restore Point Name
Create Cancel
Create Restore Point dialog

Restore Points are created automatically when:

- 1. The Platform is installed/upgraded
- 2. Deploying an Application
- 3. When a Tenant Rollback is initiated

Please note that performing a **Tenant Rollback** to a **Restore Point** that was created on a previous version of the platform is not supported.

Text Field Patterns

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:15 pm AEST

Supported Text Field Patterns

The following text field patterns are supported by ReadiNow.

Name	Description
Cron Pattern	Valid pattern for a Cron schedule definition
Default	All text fields must match this pattern, if no other pattern is specified.
Email Address	An email address. Fairly broad.
FTP Address	FTP web address.
Host Name	The network address of a device.
Instance's Name	Valid resource name
Person's Name	A person's name. Allows international characters. Excludes only numbers and a few characters.
Phone Number	A phone number. Allows digits and applicable punctuation.
Script Name	A valid name for use in scripts.
Secure FTP Address	Security FTP web address.
Secure Web Address	HTTPS web address.
Unrestricted	All text is allowed.
Web Address	HTTP web address.

Viewing text field patterns

To view text field patterns:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.

- 4. Select Text Field Patterns. The existing Text Field Patterns display.
- Select the Text Field Pattern you want to view and select ACTION > View. The Text Field Pattern form displays.
- 6. Select **Back** to go back.
 - To set any pattern for a text field, you need to select the corresponding pattern in the text field properties in Form builder, see Form Builder.

Themes Last Modified on 24/05/2024 9:54 am AEST

Themes can be applied to a specific application or to the entire platform.

Creating a new theme

To create a new theme:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.
- 4. Select Themes. The existing Themes display.
- 5. Select **+NEW**. The Console Theme form appears.
- 6. Type the name for the Console Theme in the Name field.
- 7. Type the description for the Console Theme in the Description field.
- 8. In the Application field, select the Pencil icon. The Select Application dialog appears.
- 9. Select the application you want and select OK.
- 10. Complete the details as described in the next steps and select Save to save the Console Theme.

Applying a Theme

To apply a theme, go to General Settings and specify the "Tenant theme" .

Themed Areas of ReadiNow

There are four areas of the platform and you can select the required images / logo / colour for the platform / application.

- Header area
- Top Navigation area
- Left Navigation area
- General Content area

Complete the details as described in the next steps for each area.

Header Area

- 1. Background colour Colour for the header of the platform / application
- 2. Background Image Image appears at the header of the platform / application
- 3. Background image repeat Enable this if the background image needs to be repeated
- 4. Text colour Colour of the text on the header of the platform / application. Generally an application name

• If both background image and background colour is set, then only the background image is displayed on the header

• If you want to display a background colour, then leave the background image field empty.

Top Navigation Area

- 1. Background colour Colour for the top navigation part of the platform / application
- 2. Background image Image appears at the top navigation of the platform / application
- 3. Background image repeat Enable this if the background image on the top navigation needs to be repeated
- 4. Tab style User can select a style for the tabs in the platform / application
- 5. Selected tab colour Colour for the selected tab
- 6. Selected tab border colour Colour of the border of the selected tab
- 7. Selected tab font colour Colour of the title of the selected tab on the top navigation
- 8. Unselected tab colour Colour for the unselected tab on the top navigation
- 9. UnSelected tab font colour Colour of the title of the unselected tab

Left Navigation Area

- 1. Background colour Colour for the left navigation part of the platform / application
- 2. Mobile Background colour Colour appears on the left navigation part of the platform on Mobile only
- 3. Background image Image appears at the left navigation of the platform / application
- 4. Background image repeat Enable this if the background image on the left navigation needs to be repeated
- 5. Font colour Colour of the title of the elements appearing on the left navigation
- 6. Selected element colour Colour of the selected element on the left navigation
- 7. Selected font colour Colour of the title of selected element on the left navigation

General Content Area

- 1. Title font colour Colour of the Form and Report title
- 2. Container heading font colour Colour of the heading of the container
- 3. Container heading line colour Colour of the line of the container
- 4. Form selected tab colour Colour of the selected tab on the form
- 5. Form selected tab font colour Colour of the title of selected tab on the form
- 6. Form unselected tab colour Colour of the unselected tab on the form
- 7. Form unselected tab font colour Colour of the title of unselected tab on the form
- 8. Report header colour Colour for report header
- 9. Report header font colour Colour for the title of the columns
 - You need to refresh the browser to see the changes.

Log Retention Policies

Last Modified on 04/09/2020 5:01 pm AEST

Log Retention Policies provide a transparent way to manage the archiving frequency of your Record Audit Logs on a per log-type basis. When logs are automatically 'archived', they are consolidated into files which are saved as zip files in a secure admin only section within the document library.

Out of the box settings

Out of the box there are 5 log-types, they have the following settings (Max Days & Max Records show upper limits):

Name	Туре	OOTB Days	Max Days	Max Records
Alert Log Entry Retention Policy	Alert Log Entry	180	365	10,000
Log Entry Retention Policy	Log Entry	365 x 3	365 x 5	5,000,000
Managed Object Log Entry Retention Policy	Managed Object Log Entry	365 x 3	365 x 5	5,000,000
Security Audit Log Retention Policy	Audit Log Entry	30	90	100,000
Workflow Run Log Entry Retention Policy	Workflow Run Log Entry	30	90	100,000

Log Retention Policy Administration

In addition to configuring the OOTB audit settings, additional retention policies can be specified for specific audit types. The Administration screen for Audit Settings is located: Administration > Settings > Retention Policies. Any additional retention policies will inherit upper-limits from the policy they derive from.

ReadiNow					1	Administratio	• ≡ 4	9 0
Applications				-				
🖿 Audit 🔺	🔲 Retention Policie	ès						
Metrics	C - ACTION - + NEW / EDIT	INLINE					Ŧ	Search
Resources	Retention Policy	Enabled	Туре	Maximum days	Maximum records	Last run	Status	
	Alert Log Entry Retention Policy	Yes	Alert Log Entry	180	10,000			
🗖 Security –	Log Entry Retention Policy	Yes	Log Entry	1,095	5,000,000			
	Managed Object Log Entry Retention	Yes	Managed Object Log Entry	1,095	5,000,000			
	Security Audit Log Retention Policy	Yes	Audit Log Entry	30	100,000			
Conditional Format Ic	Workflow Run Log Entry Retention Pol	Yes	Workflow Run Log Entry	30	100,000			
Document Types								
Email Server Settings								
🌣 General Settings								
Image Settings								
Notification Provider								
Retention Policies								
🖳 Tenant Rollback 🗸								
2142111.0-Master / C.2.142460-Master								
Retentition Policies Administration: The columns 'Maximum days' and 'Maximum records' show the current settings and can be adjusted f								
minimum of 1 (day / record) up to the maximum for the policy type.								

Viewing Archived Logs

Archived logs are stored indefinitely and Administrators can view them via the Document Library which is located: Documents > Document Library > Purge Backups . The Purge Backup files can be identified by purge date and log type, and downloaded by clicking on the file name. Downloaded log files can be opened with any 'zip' utility. To protect the integrity of the archived logs, the 'Purge Backups' folder can only be written to by the system and can be treated as a source of the truth.

ReadiNow			<mark>1</mark> Documents ≡ ▲ 切 ア
Document Library 2	Purge Backups		
Documents	C - ACTION - P EDIT INLINE		▼ [\$earch
Generated	Purge Backup	Total Purge Count	Size Created date
	Log Entry Retention Policy	1,000	4,275,810 02/06/2020 8:47 am
Icons	Log Entry Retention Policy	4	18,472 04/06/2020 8:18 am
D Photos	Log Entry Retention Policy	20,000	83,586,220 04/06/2020 8:22 am
Purge Backups 3			
Report Templates			
2.141.176.0-Users-user/david/s41528-	Powered by R	eadiNow	
rotactionDelicion el / Cr 2 141 205 0 Urara marte			
Viewing Archived Logs	: Archived logs are stored indefintely in the docu	iments library as zip files a	nd can only be accessed by Administrat

Thumbnail Sizes

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 10:30 am AEST

Thumbnail sizes are the pixels set for Image field. You can create different Thumbnail sizes for the Image Field.

The created thumbnail sizes are reflected in the Image Field properties.

Creating or editing Thumbnail Sizes

To create or edit Thumbnail Sizes:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Settings. The Settings expand to display list.
- 4. Select Thumbnail Sizes. The existing Thumbnail Sizes display.

Screenshot: Thumbnail Sizes

🔳 🖓 Thumbnail Sizes				
C - ACTION - + NEW				
Thumbnail size	Description	Thumbnail width (pixels)	Thumbnail height (pixels)	Applications
Small	150 x 150 (pixels)	150	150	ReadiNow Console
Large	300 x 300 (pixels)	300	300	ReadiNow Console

- 5. Select +NEW if you want to create a new Thumbnail Size. The Thumbnail Size form displays.
- 6. Or, select the Thumbnail Size you want to edit and select ACTION > Edit. The Thumbnail Size form displays.
- 7. Complete the form and select **Save** to save the details.

Image Field Properties

For details see Image Field.

Screenshot: Image Field Properties

Image Field Properties							
Name :	Photo						
Display Name :							
Description :	~ 2						
A OPTIONS	ct Detail Visibility Format						
Mandatory:							
Read Only:							
Thumbnail Size:	•	j					
Thumbnail Scaling:	Small Large First wave Resize mage to fit inside the item Cop image to fit inside the item						
	OK Cancel						

IP Ranges

Last Modified on 15/03/2019 12:25 pm AEDT

IP Ranges restricts access to the specified IP range, which means only traffic from given IP range are allowed to access ReadiNow. This is also known as **whitelisting**.

To avoid being locked out, the administrator must add their current IP range as first step. ReadiNow stops you from moving forward if user chooses not to do so.

Adding a New IP Range

To add new IP range:

- 1. Select Application Menu.
- 2. Select Administration.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security.
- 4. Select IP Range.
- 5. Click **+NEW** button, and provide the following details:
 - 1. Name: the name used to identify this IP range in your tenancy.
 - 2. Start address: the starting IP address that is allowed to access your tenancy.
 - 3. End address: the ending IP address that is allowed to access your tenancy, it can be the same as the start address, in which case, only access from given IP address is allowed to your tenancy.
- 6. Click Save.

Password Policy

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:26 pm AEST

The Password Policy enables Administrators to set limits and restrictions on the types of passwords their users can create. You can use this feature to create a more secure system.

Configuring the password policy

To configure the password policy:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Security. The Security expands to display list.
- 4. Select Password Policy. The existing Password Policy displays.
- 5. Select Edit and configure the following fields as required:
 - Maximum age (days): type the maximum password age in days
 - Minimum length: type the minimum password length
 - Must contain digits: select the checkbox if a digit is required for the password
 - Must contain lowercase characters: select the checkbox if a lowercase character is required for the passwords
 - Must contain special characters: select the checkbox if a special character is required for the passwords
 - Must contain uppercase characters: select the checkbox if a uppercase character is required for the passwords
 - Lockout duration: type the number of minutes a locked account remains locked
 - Invalid attempts: type the number of invalid logons before accounts are locked
- 6. Select **Save** to save changes.

Screenshot: Configure the Password Policy

ReadiNow					٩	Administration	= 4	
<							🗎 SAVE	×
Applications ^	Passwore	d Policy						
🗖 Settings 🗠	Name :	Password Policy						
Resources 🔶	Description :	The policy settings that apply to passwords.	 N					
Security ~	PASSWORD POLICY		 ACCOUNT LOCKOUT					
Lentity Providers	Maximum age (days) : Minimum length :	90	Lockout duration : Invalid attempts :	60 3				
Password Policy	Must contain digits :							
Security Audit Log Settin	Must contain lowercase Must contain special cha							
Security Audit Log	Must contain uppercase							
III User Accounts								

Changing your password

There are two scenarios where the password may need to be reset:

- A user is logged in, but wants to change the password
- A user has forgotten the username or password and can't log in

Changing your password when logged in

See Changing the Password.

Resetting the password from the login page

See Forgot your username or password

Changing Password

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 5:26 pm AEST

You can change your password at any time.

To change your password:

- 1. Navigate to the User Menu in the top right corner
- 2. Select the User Account icon. The menu appears.
- 3. Select Change password. The Change password dialog appears.
- 4. Type the old password, and then type the new password. Re-enter your new password in the **Confirm password** field.
- 5. Select **OK** to save changes.



The new password can only be set as defined in the Password Policy rules.

Configure Single Sign On

Last Modified on 24/02/2022 10:03 am AEDT

Single sign-on (SSO) allows centralised user management via an identity provider such as 'OpenID Connect' and 'SAML' (permissions are still configured in the ReadiNow tenant).

Note: SSO configuration is done on a per tenant basis, customers with multiple tenants can repeat the configure for each tenant as required.

This article explains how to:

- configure new identity providers
- update expired certificates
- troubleshoot common errors

Terminology

Identity Provider (IDP)

An identity provider is a service that stores and verifies user identities, such as Microsoft Azure, Okta or Ping. ReadiNow cannot assist with the configuration of your identity provider.

SAML and OIDC

Identity providers can be configured to use different protocols. ReadiNow supports both SAML and OIDC (OpenID Connect). The team responsible for your identity provider will advise you which protocol to use when configuring your ReadiNow tenant.

Internal versus external Identity Providers

When configuring your ReadiNow tenant you will need to know if your identity provider is internal or external as this changes the configuration. Internal and external are defined as follows:

- Internal cannot be accessed by ReadiNow's servers, e.g. an ADFS server behind a company's firewall.
- External is accessible by ReadiNow's servers, e.g. Microsoft Azure.

When configuring an internal provider, the identity provider's metadata must be entered in ReadiNow during the identity provider creation. An administrator will need to download the metadata from the identity provider and save it as a document.

Automatic Login

If automatic login is enabled and the user cannot log in, then navigating back to the login page again will present the user with an option to select a different identity provider. This is useful for users with multiple accounts, such as administrators. SSO will only fail if the identity provider is unavailable, or the user has been disabled by the identity provider.

SSO Auto Provisioning

Automatic user provisioning means that when an administrator creates or modifies a user account in your identity provider, then a corresponding account for that user will created or modified within your ReadiNow tenant.

SP-vs IDP-initiated SSO

Service Provider Initiated (SP-initiated) SSO gives your users the ability to sign into the ReadiNow login page. ReadiNow then sends an authorisation request to your IDP to authenticate the user. With Identity Provider Initiated (IdP-initiated) SSO, the user must first log into your IDP's SSO page and then click an icon to log into ReadiNow.

Claim Mappings

In SSO, a claim is an assertion that a particular user has a particular property. Claim or attribute mappings are used to map values that exist in your identity provider to the corresponding values within ReadiNow during user auto provisioning. For example, your identity provider may have a field called "Surname". The claim will map this field to the corresponding field in ReadiNow called "Last Name".

Quick Start Guide

Open the Identity Provider configuration screen

In the left menu, go to: Administration > Security > Identity Providers > New

Select the identity provider type:

- OIDC OpenID Connect
- SAML



Common Options

Regardless of whether your identify provider uses SAML or OIDC:

- The identity provider will need a Name, use a descriptive name of your choosing
- Add a Description to include any notes required to describe this configuration
- The identity provider will be enabled by default (to disable, uncheck: Is provider enabled).
- You can specify the Order of preference of the identity providers, if you have multiple providers configured.

SAML quick start

To configure your ReadiNow tenant for SAML SSO, the following information is necessary. Typically, this is provided by the team responsible for your IDP.

- 1. Whether your IDP is internal or external
- 2. Decide if users should be logged in automatically or prompted
- 3. Decide if users should be auto provisioned
- 4. Decide if SSO will be SP or IDP initiated
- 5. App Id (sometimes referred to as the Entity ID)
- 6. A copy of the federation metadata document if your IDP is internal OR the URL for the metadata if your IDP is external

Use this information to configure the SAML Identity Provider in your ReadiNow tenant

IDENTITY PROVIDER D	ETAILS		SAML IDENTITY PROV	IDER DETAILS
Name:			Always prompt:	
Description :		5	App Id:	
		6	Metadata document URL:	
Is provider enabled :		-		
ls provider internal :				
Order:	1			
ls auto login enabled :				
Auto provision users :				
Allow IdP initiated logon :				

Once your tenant has been configured to connect to your identity provider, the next step is to configure your users unless auto provisioning has been enabled.

OIDC quick start

To configure your ReadiNow tenant for OIDC SSO, the following information is necessary. Typically, this is provided by the team responsible for your IDP.

- 1. Whether your IDP is internal or external
- 2. Decide if users should be logged in automatically or prompted
- 3. Decide if users should be auto provisioned
- 4. Client Id (sometimes referred to as the Application ID)
- 5. Client Secret (sometimes referred to as the Application Key) for external IDPs
- 6. Identity claim
- 7. The URL for the metadata if your IDP is external OR copies of the configuration document and JSON web key set document

Use this information to configure the OIDC Identity Provider in your ReadiNow tenant

	IDENTITY PROVIDER	DETAILS	OPENID CONNECT II	DENTITY PROVIDER DETAILS
	Name:		Always prompt :	
	Description :	4	Client ld :	
		5	Client secret :	9
	Is provider enabled :		Identity claim :	
1	ls provider internal :	0 7	Configuration URL:	
-	Order:	1		
2	Is auto login enabled :			
3	Auto provision users :)	
		Configuring OIDC	Identity Provider	

Once your tenant has been configured to connect to your identity provider, the next step is to configure your users unless auto provisioning has been enabled.

Users

Manual user provisioning

Note: This section can be ignored if 'auto provision users' is enabled.

The lower part of the configuration page contains mappings for the identity provider users. All users that login with SSO need to be added to this section.

To add a user, enter their 'email address' in the 'Name' field and select the Associated account

IDENTITY PROVIDER USER DETAILS					
Name :	dylan.thorne@read	dinow.com			
Description :		L ²			
Associated account :	dylan.thorne	 × 			
Identity provider :	ADFS	 × 			
Example user mapping					

Automatic User Provisioning

Automatic user provisioning will create or modify user accounts. Roles must already exist in ReadiNow. The autoprovisioning process does not create roles.

Users may not be able to log in if automatic provisioning is incorrectly configured. It is recommended to initially configure this in a non-production environment to verify the configuration.

Enable automatic user provisioning by checking Auto provision users. This will reveal the 'Update existing users' option and the Claim mappings and Claims tabs.

IDENTITY PROVIDER DETAILS				
Name :				
Description :		Ø		
Is provider enabled :				
Is provider internal :				
Order :	1			
ls auto login enabled :				
Auto provision users :		(i)		
Update existing users :		(i)		
Identity provider user	rs Claim mappings Claims			
¢ + NEM -				
Claim name				
Configuration item	ns for automatic user provisior	ning		

'Update existing users'

- If unchecked, only user accounts that do not exist will be created using the specified claim mappings.
- If checked, existing user accounts will also be updated based on the specified claim mappings.

Claim Mappings

Claim mappings need to be configured so that a user account can be successfully provisioned. Typically, this means

that mappings are required for:

- email address
- first name
- last name
- security role

Mappings are used to map, or translate, between your identity provider and your ReadiNow tenant. For example, a field called 'Designation" in your identity provider may be called 'Title' in your ReadiNow tenant. The difference in the labels is not an issue, provide you create a mapping between the two values.

The names for these claims are typically as follows, although note that not all identity providers are configured in the same way. For example, although the list of OpenID Connect standard claims doesn't include the role, an additional field can sometimes be configured for that. Unfortunately, it must be observed that cloud identity providers may not give sufficient control to make that type of change. Note that without a role specified, the user will have very little permissions until the administrator can assign proper permissions manually.

OpenID Connect	SAML
email	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/emailaddress
given_name	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/givenname
family_name	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/surname
-	http://schemas.microsoft.com/ws/2008/06/identity/claims/role

To create the mappings, use the appropriate name from the table above- depending on whether the provider is OpenID or SAML - and create a row for each claim-field pair that is required. Note that the SAML names appear to be internet links.

Id	Identity provider users Claim mappings Claims						
¢	+ NEW -						
	Claim name	Claim script name	Field				
. A	Mapped object: Person , Condition: [IsPerson] = '1'						
	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/emailaddress	EmailAddress	Business email*				
	Department	Department	Departments				
	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/givenname	GivenName	First name*				
	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/surname	Surname	Last name*				
A	Mapped object: User Account						
	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/emailaddress	EmailAddress	Name*				
	http://schemas.microsoft.com/ws/2008/06/identity/claims/role	roles	Security roles				
	A. L						

A typical configuration for SAML

Note that the Name field on the *User Account* must be mapped to the unique identifier for each user. Typically this is the email address, but in some cases it may be a staff number or some other unique identifier; be sure to use the claim name that matches the existing users otherwise new accounts will be created when they attempt to log in.

Process to create claims and claim mappings

- 1. Navigate to the 'Claims mappings' tab. Click New.
- 2. Select the type of mapping to create. In this example, we will use Person
- 3. The 'Claim Mapping for Person' dialog appears. Under 'Source Claim' select [New Claim]
- 4. The 'New claim' dialog appears
- 5. For 'Claim name' field use the value for SAML or OIDC as appropriate.

e.g. For SAML email address we would use

http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/emailaddress

- 6. For 'Claim script name' enter a value that can be used to refer to this claim. This is used only if you are adding conditions to your claim import rules
- 7. 'Description' is optional
- 8. Click OK to save your new claim

Claim name :	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/emailaddress
Claim script name :	emailaddress
Description :	

- 9. You are returned to the 'Claim Mapping for Person' dialog. The 'Target field' is the corresponding field in your ReadiNow tenant. E.g. 'Business email'
- 10. Click OK to save your new mapping

Claim Mapping for Person					
Source claim :	http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/emailaddress	~			
Source claim script name :	emailadddress				
Target field :	Business email*	~			
Target field details :	String Field				
		_			
	OK Ca	ncel			

Further Notes on Claims and Claim Mappings

- As the NameID is always first, the code will always use the value which is in the NameID field. The code will only look for the http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/emailaddress if the NameID claim is missing.
- 2. (SAML) The claim for email must be named

http://schemas.xmlsoap.org/ws/2005/05/identity/claims/emailaddress

- 3. The Person mapping must have all the default fields mapped. This includes First Name, Last Name and Business Email. Other fields/claims may be defined but they are not required.
- 4. If a mapping is added for the Account Holder relationship for User Account, then the provisioning code will search to see if there are any existing Account Holders that match the mapped field.
 For example, the Business Email field of the User Account -> Account holder can be mapped to the email claim. If an Account Holder is found with the mapped field, this Account Holder will be assigned to the User Account. If no matching Account Holder is found, one will be created ONLY if claim mapping rules exist for Person.

If there is no Account holder relationship from the User Account and claim mappings for Person exist, the code will attempt to lookup Account holders whose Name = First name + " " + Last name

- 5. ReadiNow supports multiple claims. For example, in your identity provider users may have been migrated from different systems. Some users may have an email address while others have an employee ID. Both these fields can be mapped to name.
- 6. Provided the mapping is correct, email address may have different domains. For example, as the result of a merger some users may have emails address from @salt.com while other users have @vinegar.com

Login Process for a New User

If the user account does not exist, then the provisioning process will run synchronously until the user account, account holder, and identity provider user entities have been created and the claim mappings have been applied. Once this is completed then the user will be signed in.

If there are errors when mapping fields for the user account or account holder the provisioning will fail and the user will not be signed in.

Login Process for an Existing User

If the 'Update existing users' check box is checked then existing User Account and Account Holder records may be updated if their mapped claims values differ from their field values.

If 'Update existing users' is unchecked then the User Account and Account holder records may get out of sync with the claim values.

NOTE: As long as a User Account is found based on the claim mappings the user will be allowed to login.

Update expiring/expired certificates

By design SSL certificates expire. Typically, before a certificate expires it will be replaced with a new one - this happens within the identity provider (i.e. external to your ReadiNow tenant). It is the tenant administrators' responsibility to update the metadata documents in their tenant. ReadiNow does not have access to the identity provider, and does not provide these documents or certificates.

The steps required for updating SSL certificates depends on whether your tenant is configured to use SAML or OpenID, and whether the certificate is accessible externally or only internally (see above). However, it is generally necessary to replace the metadata document. The following steps are an overview, for additional information refer to the configuration section.

NOTE: prior to replacing the metadata document, clear the existing documents from the picker using the 'X' button - this will ensure they are removed properly.

For an *internal SAML* provider updating a certificate involves replacing the metadata document in the document library and linking the new document in the identity provider configuration.

SAML Identity Provider

IDENTITY PROVIDER I	DETAILS		SAML IDENTITY PRO	VIDER DETAILS	
Name:			Always prompt:		
Description :			App Id:		
		12	Metadata document :		
Is provider enabled :					
ls provider internal :	✓				
Order:	1				
ls auto login enabled :					
Auto provision users :		(i)			
Allow IdP initiated logon :		(i)			

For an *external SAML* provider the metadata document is found by URL - it may use the same URL. Check the metadata URL is still valid and update as necessary.

🗉 SAML Id	entity Provider		
IDENTITY PROVIDER DE	TAILS		SAML IDENTITY PROVIDER DETAILS
Name:			Always prompt :
Description :		٦.	App ld:
	Ŀ	2	Metadata document URL:
Is provider enabled :	<		
ls provider internal :			
0-4			

For an *internal OpenID* provider updating a certificate involves replacing the configuration document and the web key set document and linking the new documents in the identity provider configuration.

OpenID Connect Identity Provider

IDENTITY PROVIDER DETAILS OPENID CONNECT IDENTITY P			ENTITY PROVIDER DETA	ILS		
Name:			Always prompt:			
Description :			Client Id :	I		
		ce.	Identity claim :	I		
Is provider enabled :			Configuration document:	I		×
ls provider internal :			Web key set document:	I		×
Order:	1					_
ls auto login enabled :						

For an *external OpenID* provider the metadata document is found by URL - it may use the same URL. Check the 'Configuration URL' is still valid and update as necessary.

DENTITY PROVIDER	DETAILS		OPENID CONNECT	IDENTITY PROVIDER DETAILS
Name :			Always prompt :	✓
Description :			Client ld :	
		2	Client secret :	
s provider enabled :	e		Identity claim :	
s provider internal :			Configuration URL :	
Order :	1			
s auto login enabled :				

Further Information

SAML

Basic example of SAML identity provider configuration

Log into the identity provider administration and perform the following steps:

- 1. Create a new application registration
- 2. Select 'SAML-based Sign-on' for the Single Sign-on mode
- 3. Set the identifier (Entity ID) to be the host part of the tenant URL

e.g. https://

The Entity ID must match the App Id in the ReadiNow tenant.

- 4. Set the reply URL to:
 - SP Initiated logon:

https://[company].readinow.com/spapi/data/v1/login/saml/authresponse/[tenant]

<u>Or</u>

- IDP Initiated logon:

https://[company].readinow.com/spapi/data/v1/login/saml/authresponse/[tenant]/[identity_provider_name] where [identity_provider_name] is the name of the identity provider within the ReadiNow tenant.

- Set the Relay State to the URL (note: login Redirect is case sensitive and '//' is required): https://[company]/sp/index.html#/[tenant]//loginRedirect
- 6. Leave the Logout URL blank
- 7. Select the email address as the user identifier
- 8. Adjust any attributes or claims as necessary for your use case
- 9. Grant access to the appropriate users and groups
- 10. Save the application registration

The identity provider will provide a metadata document URL which must be used to configure the tenant. If your identify provider is internal, download the metadata document as this will be needed to configure your ReadiNow tenant.

Configure the tenant for SAML SSO

Log into your ReadiNow tenant.

Go to: Administration > Security > Identity Providers > New. Select SAML.

- 1. Provide a name. This will be displayed to users on the login screen
- 2. [Optional] Enter a description
- 3. Check 'Is provider enabled'
- 4. Check 'Is provider internal' if required
- 5. If more than one identity provider is used, specify the Order of preference
- 6. Check 'Is auto login enabled' if required
- 7. Check 'Auto provision users' if this has been enabled in your identity provider
- 8. Check 'Allow IdP initiated logon' if this has been enabled in your identity provider. (Note: you can use SP and IdP initiated logon at the same time.)
- 9. Check 'Always prompt' if the user should always be prompted to re-enter their SSO credentials
- 10. Enter the App Id. This must match the Entity ID configured in the identity provider. For this example it would be: https://[company].readinow.com
- 11. For an external identity provider enter the metadata document URL
- 12. For an internal identity provider upload the metadata document itself

🔳 SAML Io	dentity Provider	
	DETAILS	SAML IDENTITY PROVIDER DETAILS
Name:	I	Aiways prompt:
beenpion.	2	Metadata document URL:
Is provider enabled :	2	
Is provider internal :		
Order:	1	
Is auto login enabled :		
Auto provision users :)
Allow IdP initiated logon :)
	SAML c	onfiguration

OIDC

Basic example of OIDC identity provider configuration

Log into the identity provider administration console and perform the following steps:

- 1. Create a new application registration
- 2. Select 'OIDC-based Sign-on' for the Single Sign-on mode
- 3. Set the application ID URI (Entity ID) to be the host part of the tenant URL

e.g. https://[company].readinow.com

The application ID must match the App Id in the ReadiNow tenant.

- 4. Set the reply URL to: https://<sign-in-url>/spapi/data/v1/login/oidc/authresponse/<tenant> e.g. https://[company].readinow.com/spapi/data/v1/login/oidc/authresponse/[tenant]
- 5. Leave the Logout URL blank
- 6. Create the client secret (password)
- 7. Grant access to the appropriate users and groups
- 8. Save the application registration

The identity provider will provide a metadata document URL which will be used to configure the tenant. If your identify provider is internal, download the configuration document and JSON web key set document as these will be needed to configure your ReadiNow tenant.

Configure the tenant for OIDC SSO

Log into your ReadiNow tenant.

Go to: Administration > Security > Identity Providers > New. Select OIDC.

- 1. Provide a name. This will be displayed to users on the login screen
- 2. [Optional] Enter description

- 3. Check 'Is provider enabled'
- 4. Check 'Is provider internal' if required
- 5. If more than one identity provider is used, specify the Order of preference
- 6. Check 'Is auto login enabled' if required
- 7. Check 'Always prompt' if the user should always be prompted to re-enter their SSO credentials
- 8. Enter the Client Id. This must match the Entity ID configured in the identity provider. For this example it would be: https://[company].readinow.com
- 9. Enter the Client secret. This is the password or app key used in the configuration of the identity provider
- 10. Enter the identity claim. The name of the claim to use to map identity provider users to user accounts. The value of the claim must match the name of the identity provider user. For example, upn (user principal name) or email. (Refer to: https://docs.microsoft.com/en-us/azure/active-directory/develop/active-directory-optional-claims
- 11. For an external identity provider enter the Configuration URL
- 12. For an internal identity provider upload the configuration document and JSON web key set document

OpenID Connect Identity Provider

IDENTITY PROVIDER DETAILS			OPENID CONNECT IDENTITY PROVIDER DETAILS		
Name :			Always prompt :	 Image: A start of the start of	
Description :			Client Id :		
		æ	Client secret :		
Is provider enabled :	 Image: A start of the start of		Identity claim :		
Is provider internal :			Configuration URL :		
Order :	1				
Is auto login enabled :					

The Configuration URL for commonly used identity providers are:

Identity Provider	Example configuration URL (note: replace [xxx] as appropriate)
Google	https://accounts.google.com/.well-known/openid-configuration
Microsoft	https://login.microsoftonline.com/[xxx]/.well-known/openid-configuration
Okta	https://[instance].okta.com/.well-known/openid-configuration

Failure Logging

Errors will be written to the Event Log during the SSO login process.

Login page messages

The end user may see one of the following error messages on the login page.

The user name may be incorrect or the account may be locked, disabled or expired.

This indicates that the user successfully logged into the IDP and that the response was sent back successfully, however a valid identity provider user could not be found. The tenant event log will have a message containing the name of the user that the IDP has found. This name should match the name of the identity provider user. The log message is of the form **The request context could not be found for identity provider user '<username>'. The user name may be incorrect or the account may be locked, disabled or expired.**

The identity provider configuration appears to be invalid, please contact your administrator.

This indicates that an error occurred during the processing of the authentication request to IDP or the or the processing of the response from the IDP.

Event log messages

SSO event log messages will have the following titles:

Failed to process SAML authorization response.

Failure occurred processing the SAML response. The error may have occurred at the IDP or ReadiNow. Details will have more information.

Failed to process SAML authorization request.

Failure occurred processing the SAML request.

Failed to process OpenID Connect authorization response.

Failure occurred processing the OpenID Connect response. The error may have occurred at the IDP or ReadiNow. Details will have more information.

Failed to process OpenID Connect authorization request.

Failure occurred processing the OpenID Connect request.

List of common errors and possible causes

Error	Solution
The SAML auth cookie does not exist. Ensure the ReadiNow URL is correct.	Cookies are used during the SSO login process so all user and IDP requests must be on the same domain.
The request context could not be found for SAML identity provider user ' <username>'. The user name</username>	The user successfully logged into the IDP and the response was sent back successfully. However a valid identity provider user could not be found.
may be incorrect or the account may be locked, disabled or expired.	Check that a identity provider user whose name is <username> exists and is not locked, disabled or expired.</username>

Error	Solution
The RelayState was not specified. Parameter name: RelayState	The SAML identity provider needs to be configured to return relay state.
The OpenID Connect auth cookie does not exist. Ensure the ReadiNow URL is correct.	Cookies are used during the SSO login process so all requests must be on the same domain.
The identity provider configuration appears to be invalid. The remote server returned an error: (404) Not Found.	This indicates that the server did not find the metadata at the specified URL. Verify that the Metadata document URL is valid and accessible.
An error occurred validating the SAML response. The Saml2Response must have status success to extract claims. Status: Responder.	This message indicates that there is a configuration error on the IDP. Check that it is returning the NameID claim of type emailAddress or nameidentifier
An error occurred validating the SAML response. The Saml2Response must have status success to extract claims. Status: Requester. Second Level Status: urn:oasis:names:tc:SAML:2.0:status:InvalidNameIDPolicy.	This message indicates that there is a configuration error on the IDP. Check that it is returning the NameID claim of type emailAddress or nameidentifier

SFTP Credentials

Last Modified on 22/02/2022 9:42 am AEDT

Overview

This article covers the configuration of credentials for:

- Scheduled Imports & Exports
- FTP Put & Fetch activities in Workflows

The platform supports:

- 1. Username + Password
- 2. Username + SSH Key

Username and Password

Username and Password credentials are supported for FTP, FTPS, and SFTP connections.

SSH Keys

SSH Key credentials are supported for SFTP connections only.

Paste the contents of your SSH private key file (e.g. `~/.ssh/id_rsa`) into the "Private key" field on the credential form.

Note:

- Password-protected SSH keys are not supported (SSH keys are encrypted within the platform).
- The platform only supports SSH keys in "PEM" OpenSSH format (not the new OpenSSH or `.ppk` format).
- to create a new Private Key (in the classic OpenSSH PEM format) use the command: ssh-keygen -t rsa -m PEM
- to convert an existing key file to the classic OpenSSH PEM format, use the command:

ssh-keygen -p -f my_key_file -m pem -P "my password" -N ""

(if your key is not password-protected, replace "my password" with "").

FAQ: Can ReadiNow provide my company with a SSH Key?

No. Private keys must remain private therefore ReadiNow can not create or manage private or public keys for your tenant. Private Keys are entered as plain text and immediately encrypted when the security settings are saved.

Add a Credential

You must be logged in with Administrator privileges to create and manage credentials.



The steps to configure credentials are:

- 1. Navigate to: Administration > Integration > Remote Credentials.
- 2. Select +NEW and choose a credential type (or open an existing credential).
- 3. Enter a descriptive name for the credential
- 4. Enter the 'user name' for the credential.
- 5. Enter other information as/if required (depends on credential type).
- 6. Save.

The Configuration report on the Credential form lists where the credentials are used.

Note:

• When updating configuration for a SSH Key Credential (e.g. changing the name of the configuration record) you will be required to re-enter the Private SSH Key.

Examining Workflow Runs

Last Modified on 04/12/2019 5:17 pm AEDT

Administrators can trouble-shoot workflow execution by using the *Examine* context menu option.

Workflov C - ACTION -	w Runs				
Workflow	Version	Modified	Status	Trigger	Log
Annual Assessment Pr	7	05/06/20	Completed		
Calculation workfie $$ $$	View 'Annua	l Assessmen	t Process'		
Person Name Upd	Examine 'An	nual Assessn	nent Process	' 'rig Person Name Upd	
Person Name Upd	Cancel 'Annı	ual Assessme	ent Process'	'rig Person Name Upd	
Person Name Update	2	31/05/20	Completed	Trig Person Name Upd	
Test Cascade Limit	4	31/05/20	Failed	cascade	Workflow exceeded tri
Navigating	to the new I	E xamine fea	ture from tł	ne workflow run's cont	ext menu

This will show summary page with details that can be separately enabled. The blue buttons toggle the detail shown below them, and the number of buttons shown depends on what activities are in the workflow, as well as the state of the workflow; for example, a workflow will have state information while if is paused or running that is not available once it is complete. Clicking in the toolbar will toggle the display of the various types of data available, where items with the blue are shown and those with grey are hidden.

Workflow: Annual Assessment Process (27330)					
Started at: 6/5/19 1:08 PM Completed at: 6/5/19 1:08 P Last updated: 6/5/19 1:08 P Duration (ms): 1076 Correlation code: S07285-Pi	M VI D1960:workflowRun:27330-Z3	54821-051308			
Inputs	Variables	Steps taken	Time in activities	Activity outputs	
Showing: Activity outputs, V	'ariables				
Variables					
year: 2019 subject: Expiry Notification					
Activity outputs				^	
Launch Person Campai Responses: [Unnamed]	gn (27388)				
	An example of state information for a paused workflow				

Workflow: Annual Assessment Process (27330)					
Started at: 6/5/19 1:08 PM Completed at: 6/5/19 1:17 P Last updated: 6/5/19 1:17 PI Duration (ms): 1095 Correlation code: S07285-P	M M 01960:workflowRun:27330-Z3	54821-051308			
Inputs	Steps 1	taken	Time in activities	Child runs	
Showing: Child runs, Time i	n activities				
Time in activities				^	
Activity Launch Person Campaign Run Workflow	Total evaluate inputs (ms) 608 0	Total run (ms) 464 9			
Child runs				^	
Calculation workflow (27390	Calculation workflow (27390)				
	т	he same workfl	ow once it is completed		

State information

Inputs

This the input parameter(s) to the workflow, which link to the object's view form.

Variables

The current variable values are shown in this section.

Steps taken

This is the ordered sequence of activities (limited to the last 200).

Time in activities

Summary activity information is shown here in milliseconds, divided into preparation time (*Total evaluate inputs*) and running time (*Total run*).

Total Evaluate Inputs

This is the preparation time taken for all an activity's parameters to be evaluated, including calculation of any calculation parameters.



The Run Workflow activity had only one parameter without any calculations, so Total evaluate inputs was zero.

Total Run

This is the time take for the execution of an activity, excluding the preparation time. Expect this to be high for user interaction, network communication, or processing numerous records; conversely, it would be low for the Assign to Variable or Gateway activity.

Activity outputs

These are tasks generated by the workflow, such as from a Launch Person Campaign or User Action activity.

Child runs

This section lists workflows that were initiated from the current workflow by a Run Workflow activity. The workflow name can be selected to navigate to the child workflow.

File Download Audit Report

Last Modified on 05/09/2024 8:23 am AEST

File Download Audit Report

A new type of audit log has been added to the ReadiNow Platform to assist customers with their Data Loss Detection and Prevention (DLP) requirements. This new log, known as the File Download Audit Log, is generated each time a document is downloaded from the platform. The purpose of this log entry is to provide an auditable record of every instance in which a document stored on the ReadiNow platform is downloaded by a user.

Why use it?

A File Download Audit Log is created where the following occur;

- Download of a document from the Document library
- Download of a document from a Form
- Sending of a document as an Email attachment
- Uploading of a document from the ReadiNow platform to an FTP server

How to find audit entries?

File Download Audit Log entries appears in the Event Log report that can be found under Administration -> Audit in the ReadiNow console. Filter the Event Log by "File Download" to restrict the search to only these log entries.

ReadiNow				dministration 🔳	4 '9	P 6	• •
🔲 Audit Log							
Configuration Changes	🔲 Event Log						
😑 Event Log	C - ACTION - + NEW				Y. Search		Q
	Event time	Title	Details	Severity level			
Event Log Settings	7/19/2023 12:37 PM	File Download	Email Attachment of lorem_docx (2).docx(version:2.0) by Administrator	Information			
	7/19/2023 12:36 PM	File Download	Ftp Upload of Iorem_docx (2).docx(version:2.0) by Administrator	Information			
Record Change Policies	7/19/2023 12:27 PM	File Download	Download of lorem_docx (2).docx(version:2.0) by Administrator	Information			
Email 🔶	7/19/2023 12:26 PM	File Download	Download of lorem_pdf.pdf(version:1.0) by Administrator	Information			
	7/17/2023 11:42 AM	File Download	Ftp Upload of 2.0.png by Administrator	Information			
Metrics ^	7/17/2023 11:05 AM	File Download	Ftp Upload of Log Entry Retention Policy.zip	Information			

What is captured in the log entry?

Each of these log entries contains the following properties:

- Accessed file link to the document that was downloaded
- Accessed revision the version/revision of the document that was downloaded
- Correlation code the correlation code of the download request
- Downloaded by link to the user who performed the download
- Event time the time of the download
- File access operation the type of document access that was performed.

Options are: Download, Email Attachment, FTP Upload

Where else can I view this information?

If you are looking for information on a document stored in the Document Library, you will find the information on the Document Downloads tab of each document.

						← Back	1
🗉 lorem	docx (2)						4
loreni	_000x (E)						
FILE DETAILS			DOCUMENT DETAIL	s			
File:	lorem_docx (2)		Current revision :	2.0			
Document type:	Word Document		Tags/keywords :				
Description :			Applications :	Foster University			
USER DETAILS							
Created by:							
Modified by:	Administrator						
Document history	Document Downloads						1
	UCAD.						
C - ACTION -	P. P. PEDIT INUNE					T Search	9
Accessed Revision	Correlation code	Downloaded by	Event time		Severity	File Access Operation	
2.0	S07879-P04993:workflowRun:72595-Z059353-191236	Administrator	7/19/2023 12:36 PM	4	Information	FTP Upload	
2.0	\$07879-P06184;workflowRun:72557-Z752623-191237	Administrator	7/19/2023 12:37 PN	4	Information	Email Attachment	
1.0	Z217660-191226	Administrator	7/19/2023 12:26 PM	4	Information	Download	
2.0	Z761794-191227	Administrator	7/19/2023 12:27 Ph	4	Information	Download	-

What setup is required?

The File Download Audit Log feature is enabled by default: no configuration is necessary to record the log entries into the Event Log.

If business requirements call for a specific retention period for the download audit report, a retention policy with the required settings will need to be configured. (To learn more about the retention policy feature, please check out this article on Log Retention Policies.)

Create a new retention policy for the file download audit report by selecting 'File Data Log Entry' for 'Retention Policy Type' Field.

	Select Purgeable Type	
■ Retention Policy	Ċ -	Y Search Q
Name	Purgeable Type Deploy Application Audit Log Entry	Description Ueploy application audit log entry
Description :	Enable Access Rule Audit Log Entry	Enable access rule audit log entry
	Expired User Account Audit Log Entry	Expired user account audit log entry
RETENTION POLICY DETAILS	Invalid Email Attachment Audit Log Entry	A log entry that is generated when a file is down
Enabled:	Lock User Account Audit Log Entry	Lock user account audit log entry
Retention policy type:		
Maximum days:		OK Cancel
Maximum records:		

Maintenance Periods

Last Modified on 03/08/2022 2:21 pm AEST

Overview

The ReadiNow platform allows administrators to place a tenant into a 'maintenance' mode.

The purpose of this feature is to allow tenant administrators to define their own maintenance periods and place the tenant in 'maintenance' mode.

When a tenant is in maintenance mode non-admin users are prevented from interacting with the tenant - this may be necessary during large data migrations or schema changes, for example.

Users who are members of the administrators role will be able to use the console as normal.

Reminders and notifications are used to inform all users about the current status of the tenant, including start and end times for the maintenance period.

Note: 'Maintenance Periods' performed by tenant administrators are different to Scheduled Maintenance & Updates performed by ReadiNow.

Setting a Maintenance Period

Tenant administrators can create, edit, delete their own Maintenance Periods via:

Administration > Settings > Maintenance Periods

A scheduled maintenance period settings Form has the following fields :

- Name : An optional name for the maintenance period
- Description: An optional description of the maintenance period displayed in messages & reminders relating to the maintenance period.
- Enabled: Must be checked to activate the maintenance period.
- Start date: The date and time of the start of the maintenance period (required)
- End date: The date and time of the end of the maintenance period (required)
- Reminder date: An optional reminder notification sent to all users currently logged into the tenant.



What users experience

Once a maintenance period has been set and enabled by an administrator the following events will take place:

- if configured a reminder will be sent at the specified time to all users currently logged into the tenant
- prior to the scheduled maintenance, a reminder will be sent* to all users currently logged into the tenant with:
 - 10 minutes notice
 - 5 minutes notice
- the tenant will enter maintenance mode at the scheduled time
 - all logged-in users will see a notification stating the tenant is in maintenance
 - users will NOT be logged out
 - admin-users will be able to dismiss the notification
 - the maintenance start & end times will be specified
 - non-admin users will be unable to interact with the platform
 - users with tenant administrator roles will be able to use the platform normally (after dismissing the notification)
- when the maintenance period ends all logged-in users will receive a notification that the scheduled maintenance period has finished

*NOTE: if maintenance period is created with less than 10 (5) minutes notice the 10 (5) minute reminder will not

be sent.

Notifications

Last Modified on 12/04/2024 4:14 pm AEST

Overview

Notifications is a ReadiNow Platform feature that allows an administrator to configure the Platform to notify users when specific conditions are met.

The currently supported notification mechanism is via email. SMS notifications may be available in a future release.

Creating a new Notification

To create a new Nofication:

- 1. Select Administration from the Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications.
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page.
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Notifications. The Notifications expand to display list.
- 4. Select Notifications. The existing Notifications display.
- Select New to display the drop down and select the type of Notification to create. The appropriate Notification form appears.
- 6. Complete the details as described in the next sections and select **Save** to save the Notification.

Scheduled Notification

This notification type enables users to receive notifications about records on a set schedule.

Note: Scheduled notifications can be triggered manually from the **Notifications** report page. This can be done by selecting the **Run** option from the right-click context menu or the report actions menu.

Property	Description
Туре	The type of Notification. This will display Scheduled Notification after the record is saved.
Name	The name of the Notification.
Description	An optional description for this Notification.
Application	The selected application. This is used for packaging and deployment.
Enabled	This determines whether the notification is enabled.

Section - General

Property	Description
Object	The object that this notification relates to.
Notify person	An expression that should evaluate to a Person this notification is being sent to.

Section - Source details

Property	Description
Report	The report used to select records for generating notifications.
Filters	When a report is selected, this section will list any analyzer conditions that are defined on the selected report.
	Any filters that are defined only apply to the current notification and allows for dynamic filtering to be applied to the selected report.
	The Override checkbox will be shown for any configured analyzer conditions. It allow for any existing values to be overridden with local values.

Section - Schedules

This section lists the related schedule records that define when the notification will be run.

The New button will display a drop down that allows a new schedule to be created.

Creating or modifying schedules will display a dialog that allows the schedule to be updated.

Section - Targets

The related target records that define the targets for this notification.

At the moment only Email Notifications are supported.

Creating or modifying targets will display a dialog that allows the target to be updated.

Trigger Notification

This notification type enables users to receive notifications when records are updated or created.
Section - General

Property	Description
Туре	The type of Notification. This will display Scheduled Notification after the record is saved.
Name	The name of the Notification.
Description	An optional description for this Notification.
Application	The selected application. This is used for packaging and deployment.
Enabled	This determines whether the notification is enabled
Object	The object that this notification relates to
Notify person	An expression that should evaluate to a Person this notification is being sent to.

Section - Trigger

Property	Description
	Choose when to trigger. Available options are:
	Create - run only when record is created
Trigger on	Update - run only when specified fields or relationships are updated
	Create or Update - runs when record is created or specified fields or relationships
	are updated
Fields	Specify the fields of the selected object to trigger on.
Relationships	Specify the relationships of the selected object to trigger on.

Section - Targets

The related target records that define the targets for this notification.

At the moment only Email Notifications are supported.

Creating or modifying targets will display a dialog that allows the target to be updated.

Schedule Dialogs

Cron

Property	Description
Name	The name of the schedule.
Description	The description of the schedule.
Cron definition	The cron expression defining when the schedule will trigger. See Cron Trigger Tutorial for details regarding cron expressions.

Daily Repeat

Property	Description
Name	The name of the schedule.
Days	Specify the days of the week the schedule will trigger on.
Time of day	Specify the time of the day the schedule will trigger on.

One Off

Property	Description
Name	The name of the schedule.
Description	The description of the schedule.
Date and time	Specify the date and time the schedule will trigger.

Email Target Dialog

Property	Description
Name	The name of the email target. Entries that are written to the tenant event log will show this name.
Enabled	This determines whether the email target is enabled.
Email field	Specify which text field on person object represents the email field.
Email template	Specify which email template to use.
Object variable	Select which variable defined in the email template references the object.
СС	Provide an expression that evaluates to a string of email addresses separated by semicolons, or that evaluates to a Person for use in the CC field.
BCC	Provide an expression that evaluates to a string of email addresses separated by semicolons, or that evaluates to a Person for use in the BCC field.
Person variable	Select which variable defined in the email template references the person.
Aggregate notifications	 Specify whether to aggregate notifications. False - Per Notification Run: sends an email per record associated with the notification run True - Per Notification Run: sends a single email for all records associated with the notification run for a given person

Spreadsheet Import

A new option has been added to the spreadsheet import options called Suppress Notifications.

If this is true, trigger based notifications will not be raised during an import.

Logging

The **Sent Email Messages** report in **Administration** → **Settings** → **Email Server Settings** will list all emails that were sent from notification runs.

The tenant event log in Administration \rightarrow Audit \rightarrow Event Log will list notification run failures along with a reason for the failure.

Tenant Health Check

Last Modified on 29/09/2020 1:01 pm AEST

What is a Tenant Health Check?

The Tenant Health Check is a static analysis of the application functionality in a tenant. It analyses Access Rules, API Callouts, Calculated Fields, Forms, Reports, Report Templates and Workflows. However, it does not predict problems that occur as a result of data, such as a division by zero.

Why Use It?

The Tenant Health Check gives an indication of the integrity of a tenant, so it is particularly useful as a validation checkpoint when changes have been made to Applications.

Running a Tenant Health Check

To run a Tenant Health Check:

- 1. Select Application Menu. The menu appears with available applications
- 2. Select Administration. The application displays at the landing page
- 3. In the Left Navigation Area, select Metrics to expand to list
- 4. Select Health Check to display the Health Check page
- 5. Start the check by clicking the Start Scan button. The status will update to show that a scan is running. The blue status box will turn green when the scan is complete. Once the scan has completed click the refresh icon on the Health Check Summary report.

Health Check							Start Scan
Health Check Scan Status							Refresh
Health check scan Running - Finding items Start Date : 5/14/2019 12:0 Duration : 12 secs	to process. D5 PM						
HEALTH CHECK SUMMARY			_		ITEMS B	Y TYPE	
C ACTION -		T	Search	Q			Error
Health Check Type	ОК	Errors	Warnings	Suggestions			Suggestion
Access Rules	0	0	0	0			OK
API Callouts	0	0	0	0			Other
Calculated fields	0	0	0	0		No records found	
Forms	0	0	0	0			
Report Templates	0	0	0	0			
Reports	0	0	0	0			
Workflows	0	0	0	0			
				A health ch	eck in p	progress	

Health checks are run on demand by an administrator. The check may take a significant amount of time depending on the number of items in the tenant - the number of Reports, Report columns, Workflows, Workflow Activities, Action Buttons, Objects, Forms and Access Rules. The check is affected by the number of Definition and not Instances; for example, the number of Records and Workflow runs do not matter, but the number of Objects and Workflows matter. Typically the check will take between 10 and 60 minutes depending on the tenant complexity, but the time taken will be consistent for each tenant. Please note that running a Tenant Health Check will not impact system performance.

Interpreting Results

The results are categorised as suggestions, warnings or errors, but the health check has no real understanding of how applications need to work, so the results need to be reviewed to validate them in context.



Results of a completed health check

Errors

This is the place to start when checking the results. Invalid columns are the first errors to address, along with Calculation errors. If these are fixed and the scan is run again, many of the invalid condition errors will also be resolved. Only start checking warnings when there are no errors. Try to fix as many as possible before running the scan again, and remember to refresh the report again afterwards.

Warnings

Warnings are generated where a recommendation will affect the functionality of an Application, such as when Calculations may not seem to be logical according to the Health Check rules. If the warning does not raise any concerns then it may be a false positive, and there is no need to make any changes.

Suggestions

Suggestions are specific recommendations for improving Applications for better maintainability or performance, but have no functional impact. A good example of this is when a new Calculation operator is released and existing Calculations may benefit from from using the new operator.

Tenant Refresh

Last Modified on 10/01/2025 12:22 pm AEDT

A tenant refresh is a process that involves copying data from a source tenant to a target tenant. Please note that if a target tenant already exists prior to the refresh, it will be replaced during this operation. Therefore, it is important to ensure that your production tenant is never designated as the target tenant for a tenant refresh.

Typically, a tenant refresh is used to create a copy a of the production tenant that can be used for:

- developing and modifying solutions
- testing and troubleshooting

For details on how sensitive data is obfuscated (masked) during a tenant refresh, please refer to the following article:

https://readinow.knowledgeowl.com/docs/sensitive-data

Before refresh

If the target tenant already exists, replacing it through a tenant refresh will impact other users currently utilizing that tenant. Before requesting a tenant refresh, please verify whether the target tenant exists. If it does, check the following:

- Are all users in agreement with the proposed refresh date?
- Is there data or users that need be retained by XML export?
- Are there any special integrations, such as API or SSO, that need to be recorded or exported via XML?
- Are there specific mail settings, including an email forwarding address, that should be recorded?
- Navigate to Administration > Settings > General settings. Record the current general settings in the existing tenant.

Post refresh

You will receive notification from ReadiNow once your tenant refresh request has been actioned. The target tenant is now ready for your post-refresh actions:

- Import any data that was exported during your preparation
- Re-create any special integrations, such as API or SSO, from your notes or via XML import
- Update specific mail settings, including an email forwarding address, as required

Regardless of whether the target tenant existed before the tenant refresh, you should verify the General Settings match your requirements. Navigate to Administration > Settings > General settings. Update these settings as necessary.

Our recommendation is to disable communications, API callouts and scheduled workflows to prevent confusion caused by any overlap with your production tenant. For this reason, enabling communications does not automatically enable API callouts. To enable API callouts you must first enable communications and then explicitly enable API callouts.

How to request a tenant refresh

Tenant refreshes can be requested via ReadiService, the ReadiNow Service Desk.

Create a ticket with the title "Tenant Refresh", including the name of the target tenant and the preferred date for the refresh.

In the ticket description:

- Clarify the 'source' tenant, typically your production tenant (*i.e. a production tenant*) and 'target' (*i.e. a non-production tenant*). Remember the tenant refresh process will delete any existing target tenant.
- Indicate if sensitive data should obfuscated during the refresh. See here for information on obfuscation.
 - Data is not obfuscated by default
- Indicate if internal data should be included in the refresh. See here for an explanation of internal data.
 - Internal data is excluded by default.

Standard Maintenance & Support allows customers up to 2 tenant refreshes per month free-of-charge with a minimum of 3 days notice to ReadiNow.

Release Notes 2.197 (09 January 2025)

Last Modified on 21/01/2025 2:21 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Platform Feature Enhancements

Security Upgrade: Disable Password Reset via SMS

Administrators now have the option to disable password resets through SMS. This new setting can be found in Administration > Settings > General Settings and applies to all user accounts. The ability to reset passwords via email remains unchanged.

If a user attempts to reset their password using SMS, the following warning message will be displayed:

Password reset via SMS is not enabled for tenant EDC. Please use email to reset password or contact your system administrator.

Nova Feature Enhancements

Data Table Refinements

- **Refresh:** A manual refresh option has been added to the data table component, allowing users to easily refresh the table and view the most current information without needing to reload the entire browser tab.
- Multiselect to Delete: Users can now select and delete multiple rows in data tables with a single action. This feature simplifies the deletion process, enabling quicker management of large datasets and enhancing the overall user experience for bulk data handling.
- **Pagination:** Improved pagination now clearly indicates when additional pages are available. This enhancement also boosts responsiveness, providing a more intuitive user experience when navigating through large datasets.
- Footer Updates for Non-Grouped Reports: The data table footer has been enhanced to provide clear information about the user's current position and the total number of records. Users can now view both the range of displayed records and the total record count. Additionally, the data table component retains the records range and count when navigating through records, ensuring a seamless experience.

Page Builder Enhancements:

• Object Creation: Admins can now create new objects in all types of forms within Page Builder, including multi-step forms.

- **Preventing Accidental Deletions:** To prevent unintentional deletion of components in Page Builder and to make it easy to revert to the last saved state, two new features have been introduced:
 - **Discard Button:** The "Discard" button allows users to quickly revert their work to the last saved state, clearing unsaved changes with a single click.
 - **Delete Confirmation Modal:** A confirmation prompt now appears before deleting a component, helping to safeguard against accidental deletions.

Display Improvements:

• **Tooltips** have been added to truncated field labels and data table titles. The tooltip will automatically display the full text of the label or title when hovering over it, with no configuration necessary.

Nova Features available in Beta

The ReadiNow Process engine is an exciting development in the realm of business process automation. It offers a highly configurable and user-friendly approach to designing and implementing business processes. The Process feature entered the beta phase in Release 2.189 and will be accessible to customers interested in joining the early access program. If you would like to try out the Process feature, please submit a support ticket

• Path signifiers: An enhancement to path signifiers in Release 2.197 provides a clear visual of alternative and default paths, making it significantly easier to understand the overall process structure. Users can configure and maintain processes with greater efficiency and clarity, reducing complexity and improving accuracy in setup and troubleshooting.

Perform driving test		Issue license	License confirmation
Block 1 Parallel flow	Blo	ock 3 allel flow	Block 5 Parallel flow
💭 Step name		Block 3.1 Parallel flow	🖵 Step name
💂 Step name		🚍 Step name	🔜 Step name
+ Step		+ Step	+ Step
Next: Block 2	2	Block 3.2 Parallel flow	Next: Block 6
Block 2 Parallel flow)	🚍 Step name	Block 6 Parallel flow
🖵 Step name		+ Step	🖵 Step name
🖵 Step name		+ Block	🖵 Step name
+ Step	Ne	t: Block 4	+ Step
Next: Block 3 🗸 🗸	Blo	ock 4	Next: Process end 🔹 🕞
Default path	Par	allel flow	

Bug Fixes

Nova Resolved Issues

• **Containers on Forms Expanding in View Mode:** Field values for text, lookup, and choice fields now truncate correctly in view mode, preventing containers from expanding unexpectedly.

- Inline Edit Fixes:
 - Visibility Conditions Respected: A validation error will no longer appear when a mandatory field is hidden on a form during inline editing. The mandatory field value will again be enforced if the visibility condition is removed in the future.
 - Read-Only Respected: It is no longer possible to edit a read-only field while using inline edit.
 - **Display and Picker Reports:** Resolved an issue where inline edit was not available in display and picker reports.
- Scrollbars:
 - Flickering has been resolved.
 - The scrollbar experience has been enhanced, improved hover states, a better scrolling experience with trackpads or cursors, and larger scrollbars in data tables.
- Display:
 - Improved text wrapping and truncation in Heading and Text components. Previously, long headings or values would cause the container to expand, affecting the layout of the form.
 - Fixed a bug in container paddings in the Page builder, to provide a consistent layout for both admins and users.
- Warning Message for Choice Field Value Deletion: The delete confirmation popup for deleting a value in a choice field has been clarified to avoid confusion about the deletion of the entire page.

Release Notes 2.196 (28 November 2024)

Last Modified on 28/11/2024 1:52 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova Feature Enhancements

Redesigned Date, Time, and DateTime Form Fields:

The new design introduces user-friendly pickers for app builders. These enhancements will be noticeable when working with pages, process builders, and scheduled notifications.

Refinements to Multiline and Rich Text Fields:

Both multiline and rich text fields now feature an increased height, providing a more spacious and comfortable editing experience.

Object Properties Enhancements:

- Choice Fields:
 - Improved the drag-and-drop experience for choice field values within the field schema modal during creation or editing. The mouse cursor and drag/drop icon are now properly aligned.
 - Added a drop indicator to clearly show users where a choice value will be placed.

• Lookup, Relationship, and Document Fields:

- Resolved minor issues in the properties for Lookup, Relationship, and Document fields, including:
 - Hide in Reverse
 - Ownership
 - Security
 - Use Current Person

Improved File Upload Security:

The file upload area has been improved to enhance security and user experience. Users without create permissions for a document object will no longer see the file upload area, effectively disabling the upload functionality. This change ensures that users cannot attempt to upload files to documents they do not have permission to modify, thereby streamlining the interface and preventing unauthorized actions.

Car Documents 2 Q Find a record V Filter						
Allowed files Drop your files here to upload, or Choose files						
Туре	Name 🔶	Extension	Size	Modified date	Last modified by	
	rent a car banner (1) .png 831,653 11/20/2024 12:19 AM Administrator				Administrator	
			With Create Permis	sion		
Car Docume	Car Documents 2 Q Find a record ⊽ Filter					
Туре	Name 🌲	Extension	Size	Modified date	Last modified by	
rent a car banner (1) .png 831,653 11/20/2024 12:19 AM Administrator					Administrator	
	Without Create Permission					

Remembering applied sorting:

• The data table component will remember sorting applied when drilling through to a record.

Bug Fixes

Nova Resolved Issues

- File Name Sanitization During Upload: File names are now properly sanitized during the upload process. This allows files with multiple periods in their names to be uploaded successfully. Any extra periods will be replaced with underscores, while a single period is still permitted to separate the file name from its extension.
- Back Navigation Button Update: The back navigation button will no longer be displayed when there is no context to return to, such as when a user clicks a link from an email.
- Container Expansion Fix: Resolved an issue that caused containers to expand unexpectedly when long text was entered into Lookup, Choice, Single Line, or Rich Text fields.
- Form Field Label Truncation: Labels within vertical containers will now truncate when the maximum width of the container is reached, preventing the container from expanding unexpectedly.

Release Notes 2.195 (31 October 2024)

Last Modified on 30/10/2024 11:54 am AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova feature enhancements

AI Explain

Al Explain is a powerful new feature for app developers that effortlessly translates calculations and expressions into natural language descriptions. This tool provides both concise summaries and detailed step-by-step breakdowns, making complex expressions easier to understand. By leveraging generative AI, AI Explain not only streamlines knowledge transfer but also simplifies the maintenance of calculations, ultimately saving developers valuable time.

Enhanced File Upload Area

We are excited to announce an improvement to the file upload area within the document object. Previously, this area was visible to all users, regardless of their access rights. With the new show/hide functionality, administrators now have the ability to configure the file upload area independently of the 'New Document' button. This enhancement allows for greater flexibility in user interface customization, reducing potential confusion for users and ensuring a more tailored experience.

Calculation Editor Update

The Calculation Editor, located in the Calculation Field schema modal, has been enhanced for improved usability. Previously, the editor had a fixed height, which made it challenging to enter or read long calculations. We have now adjusted the editor's height to be dynamic, depending on the modal's height. Additionally, horizontal and vertical scrollbars have been added to facilitate easier navigation through lengthy calculations. These improvements aim to provide a more user-friendly experience when working with complex expressions.

Calculation field schema × Contact / Count Incidents as POI		Calculation field schema AA_AII Fields / New field					
E General	Q f(+) × ①						
Calculation	1 count([Involved Party Classification (Involved Par	🖂 General	Q, f(x) × ③				
		Calculation	1 <idoctype html="">' +</idoctype>				
		Validation	<pre>1 'nearbo' * 2 'reple : '' 3 'reple : '' 4 ''reple : '' 5 '' border : po solid black;' * 7 '' border-collapse: collapse;' * 8 '') * 9 '' 9 '' 1 '' 1 '' 1 '' 11 ''</pre>				
Previous cal	iculation editor		 'cbAction Required(/bc' + 'club': [cl/mk/].fcim/F Action Required] where [Name] = 'clibWc[lapet].[cl/mk/]T Action Required] where [Name] = 'tl/Mk/[lapet].[cl/mk/]T Action Required] where [Name] = 				
			Updated calculation editor				

Platform feature enhancements

Delete Modal

We have enhanced the Delete Modal to provide clearer visibility into which configurations may be affected when an item is deleted.

Review the modal for detailed information about potential impacts on functionality when attempting to delete an item. For example, if a user wants to clean up unused workflows but is uncertain about their current usage, the Delete Modal will list the items slated for deletion and highlight any functionalities that could be affected, such as a Nova form page that may cease to function.

Further enhancements to this feature will be included in future upgrades. These improvements aim to provide users with comprehensive insight into all areas of their application that might be impacted.

Are you sure that you want to delete 'Third Report 2.1952'?	
Following highlighted resources will also be deleted:	
Recourses - (10)	
Chart	
Third Chart	
Test Chart 2.195	
Hero Text Control	
Hero CT1 -> New Container -> Unnamed -> Third Screen	
Hero CT2 -> New Container -> Unnamed -> Test Screen 2.195	
Hero AA2 -> heroAA2 -> Welcome -> Welcome -> Nova Dependencies	
Hero AA -> heroAA -> Welcome -> Welcome -> Nova Dependencies	
Hero BB -> heroBB -> Page A -> Page A -> Nova Dependencies	
Hero CC -> heroCC -> AA_All Fields Form -> Create	
Hero DD -> heroDD -> AA_Dogbreeds Form -> Dog Breed	
Following highlighted resources will be affected:	
▼ Related resources - (6)	
UI App	
data_table_AA -> Welcome -> Welcome -> Nova Dependencies	
data_table_BB -> Page A -> Page A -> Nova Dependencies	
data_table_AA2 -> Welcome -> Welcome -> Nova Dependencies	
Shared Page	
data_table_cc -> AA_All Fields Form -> Create	
data_table_dd -> AA_DogBreeds Form -> Dog Breed	
data_table_dd2 -> AA_DogBreeds Form -> Dog Breed	

General Enhancements

Rebranding of AI Suggest

The visual design of our AI Suggest feature has been refreshed with a new logo and updated colors. This rebranding will provide a more cohesive and visually appealing user experience.

Cyber security attack							Discard	Save
Cycles security attack Rick Name Cycles security attack Cycles security attack Cycles security attack risk for a company tack attack, Philahing is a method used by objection mails to track attack, Philahing is a method used by objection mails to track attack, Philahing is a method used by objection mails to track attack, Philahing is a method used by objection mails to track attack of the attack splicit attack, Philahing is an entrack splicit attack, Philahing attack, I can hwa connequences, Objectminalis can an an an unauthorate lattack Philahing Controls Investigation	Al Su uestion rovide a desc	Business Resilience Q Find a record Business Resilience ggest ription for a Cyber security attack rip	✓ Fiter ● Owner ak for a company in 150 wor	Status	+ New C List Impac ×	Ø &	Discard	Save
			0			<	1 >	

Release Notes 2.194 (03 October 2024)

Last Modified on 02/10/2024 4:17 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova feature enhancements

Cascading Fields

The data entry experience for cascading fields has been improved. No options are displayed in a child field before the parent value has been selected. (Cascading fields for Nova were introduced in Release 2.193.)

Hero Counter

The width control for the Hero text now has three versatile options to choose from:

- Fill container: This option ensures that the Hero text expands to fill the container alongside other components, creating a cohesive look.
- **Compact:** With this setting, the Hero text will truncate once it reaches the specified width, keeping your design neat and tidy.
- **Dynamic:** This flexible option allows the Hero text to resize based on the content, ensuring it always fits perfectly.

Remembering applied filters

Search filters are now retained when drilling through to a record and then returning back to the original page.

- The data table component will remember applied filters, search results, selected record, and active pagination when drilling through to a record
- The page filter component will remember the applied filter when drilling through from the page filter to a hero counter, chart or data table.

Process

We have three enhancements for Process in Release 2.194.

- 1. **Streamlined Action Buttons:** Users can now save and complete forms in one step, eliminating the need to click the save button separately. This simplifies the form submission process.
- 2. Flexible Form Configuration: Admins can now set the form to open in View, Edit, or Create mode when configuring a process step. This enhancement allows tasks to be opened for data review, thereby streamlining the workflow experience.

3. **Run Condition Signifiers:** Run condition signifiers are now displayed in every step or block where a run condition is configured. This improvement helps users quickly identify which steps or blocks have run conditions, enhancing navigation and understanding of the overall process.

Operations Enhancement

By default, any data marked as sensitive will now be obfuscated during a tenant refresh.

- Details of senstive data are given here: https://readinow.knowledgeowl.com/docs/sensitive-data
- The process for raising a tenant refresh request is covered here: https://readinow.knowledgeowl.com/docs/tenant-refresh

Release Notes 2.193 (05 September 2024)

Last Modified on 05/09/2024 8:19 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

Navigation: Menu Enhancements

The menu in Nova applications has been improved to clearly indicate the currently active page within folders.

Executive Summary	Business Impact Analysis 🗸	BC Planning 🗸	BC F
	Business Impact Analysis		
	Process Register		
	BIA Dashboard		

Additionally, the overall look and feel of the menu have been enhanced for better usability. For menus with a large number of items, navigation is now more intuitive. If the menu bar exceeds the screen width, arrow icons will appear at both ends. Hovering over these arrows will allow users to scroll the menu left and right seamlessly.

				Cho	ose Application \blacksquare	٩	4	IJ	~30	8	
< ry	Business Impact Analysis 🗸	BC Planning \checkmark	BC Rehearsals	\sim	BC Events 🗸	BC As	sets 🚿	/ A	dmin	\sim	>

Process: Enhanced Looping to Parent Blocks

Previously, the Process feature only allowed navigation back to a stage level, limiting your ability to return to specific blocks within a stage. With this new enhancement, you can now configure your process to loop back to a specific parent block within a stage. Each stage can contain multiple parent blocks, and you can easily set up your process to navigate back to any of these blocks as needed.

Process: Action Dialog

The new Action Dialog feature enhances user interaction by allowing users to confirm actions, input additional details, or view specific information before proceeding to the next step. You can now configure customizable dialogs that appear as modals when users perform actions, such as clicking a button. This feature enables you to display information and gather user input directly within the process, creating a more interactive and user-friendly experience.

• Information Dialogs: Display relevant information or details after a step, providing users with additional context, instructions, or updates.

• Confirmation Dialogs: Gather user confirmation or input, ensuring that users verify actions or provide

necessary information before moving forward.

Retrieve Cars 🗸	Log Request	Request Approval	Notify Requestor for Updates	Complete	Retrieve Cars 🗸	Log Request 🗸	Request Approval	Notify Requestor for Updates	Complete
Car Maintenance Process: Log Request Assigned to: Jock Admin				Subr	Car Maintenance Process: Approver Action Auxigned to: Ruby Pabiliaran	n			Reject Review Approve
Request for Servicing Notified as hour ago by Jack Admin				Edr	de Request for Servicing Modified 17 hours age by Jack Admin				Edit
Request ID 00					Request ID 86			_	
Slatza New	 Request Ser 	nt			Status New	Approve		×	
Select Car * Chevrolet Camaro LS	Your servicing request has be notified for any undated	been successfully submitted and is per	nding for approval. You will		Select Car * Chevrolet Carnero LS	Are you sure you want to a processed.	spprove this request? Once you click Ap	prove, this request will be	
Select Service * Brakes					Select Service * Englis Oil & Filters	Comments (optional)			
Service Date 9/3/2024			σκ		Service Date 9/3/2024			Cancel Approve	
Approver * Ruby Publikaran					Approver * Fuby Pabilisron	_		_	
		Information Dialog					Confirmation Dialog		

Forms: Cascading Fields

Cascading fields allow you to filter one field based on the selection of another. This functionality can be configured between the following field types:

- Choice and Lookup fields
- Choice and Inline Relationship fields
- Two Choice fields (displayed as Radio or Checklist)
- Lookup and Choice fields
- Inline Relationship and Choice fields
- Inline Relationship and Lookup fields
- Two Inline Relationship fields

For detailed guidance on setting up cascading fields, please refer to this article in our documentation. https://readinow.knowledgeowl.com/docs/cascading-fields

Inline Editing: General Availability

The inline editing feature, introduced in Release 2.191, is now generally available with the following improvements:

- Fixed an issue where records with errors were being saved alongside records without errors.
- Updated custom validation to respect the 'Always Validate' settings during the saving process.

Nova Bug Fixes

• The error message displayed when the input binding does not match the column or filter analyzer in the data table has been enhanced to provide clearer and more meaningful information.

Deprecated Features

Withdrawal of Calendar Feature in Classic

ReadiNow is withdrawing the classic calendar feature, resulting in the removal of calendar functionalities, including the creation and selection of calendar items and navigation views. Your data will remain intact and accessible via an alternative report view.

For more details, including timing, please refer to this notice: Withdrawal of Calendar Feature in Classic

Release Notes 2.192 (08 August 2024)

Last Modified on 07/08/2024 9:41 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

AI Suggest

Al Suggest brings the power of Al to data entry

Users can utilize ReadiNow AI Suggest to create their own prompts, enhancing the efficiency and accuracy of their data entry process. This intelligent assistance provides valuable suggestions that add important context to the data being entered.

Cyber security attack	
Risk Name	
Cyber security attack	
Risk description	₩ ⊅
One significant cyber security attack attack. Phishing is a method used by individuals into revealing sensitive in	risk for a company is a phishing cybercriminals to trick formation such as passwords,

Prompts can be added to the following Nova Page forms fields:

- Multiline text fields
- Lookup fields.
- Relationship fields displayed as both data table and inline fields.

More documentation about the ReadiNow AI Suggest feature can be found here.

Choice Fields

Choice fields can be modified via the Nova app builder.

We are streamlining the app configuration process to help you customise your app more efficiently. The object schema can be modified to add new Choice fields without the need to use the classic form builder. II

These updates will occur over several releases. Our sixth release focuses on creating and modifying Choice fields.

Previous releases of this feature have improved:

- 1. Text and numeric fields. See here.
- 2. All the datetime fields. See here.
- 3. Calculation and lookup fields. See here.

- 4. Relationships. See here.
- 5. Document fields. See here.

Signifiers

Signifiers have been added to to the read-only condition in Page builder.

When adding read-only conditions in the Page Builder, an indicator will appear when hovering over a form field on the canvas. A slashed pencil icon indicates that the field has read-only conditional properties applied. Hovering over the icon will reveal the specific condition that has been applied.

Date and Time	field (record:Date_and_Time)		
and Time		⇔	Û
Conditional read-only Read-only when true			0

Previous releases have introduced signifiers for fields and components. See here.

Inline editing

Inline editing available in Beta availability - update

The ability to edit inline was introduced in Release 2.191. The following improvements have been made to this feature:

- Saving with a mix of errors and successful changes now allows the Save button to save only the successful rows.
- The overall user experience of keyboard control has been enhanced, enabling users to use the up and down arrows to edit multiple rows while remaining in the same column.
- Image, Calculation, and AutoNumber fields are now appropriately labeled as non-editable fields.
- Mandatory fields now display an error icon when validation occurs.
- The behavior of double-clicking to edit a cell in Inline Edit has been adjusted to align with Classic behavior, changing it to a single click.
- Custom validation behavior has been updated to validate only after the Save action.

Bug Fixes

Classic & Platform resolved issues

• Under specific circumstances, users would encounter an error message stating, "The writer is in closed or in error state" while accessing a record. This issue has now been resolved.

Nova resolved issues

• Users are now redirected back to the report after clicking the Discard button for a new record.

Release Notes 2.191 (11 July 2024)

Last Modified on 02/09/2024 1:19 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

Inline editing available in Beta availability

Users will now have the ability to edit inline just like in Classic, which allows them to bulk edit information within the data table component. Inline Edit action button will be displayed as available Actions within Shared Pages properties panel.

Known issues:

- 1. Saving with a mix of errors and successful changes prevents the bulk edit feature from saving the successful changes..
- 2. The user experience of highlighting successful and unsuccessful rows will be improved.
- 3. The keyboard controls (up and down arrow keys and tab key) are not yet functioning as expected.
- 4. An image field will incorrectly appear as editable when editing inline.
- 5. Mandatory fields are shown as required, but there is no error icon displayed when validation occurs.

If you would like to try out the inline editing feature, please submit a support ticket.

Group titles in a data table

The group title in a grouped report within a data table will expand across all columns to show the full title. If the text is too long or if a subtotal is included in the same row as the group title, a tooltip will appear when hovering over the text.

Page builder refinements: save flow

Users will not need to search through the app to find errors that prevent saving. The panel containing the property with an error that presents saving will be locked until the issue is resolved. A toast and an inline message is shown to inform the user what errors must be resolved.

When attempting to navigate away without saving changes using the top bar, a confirmation dialog will appear. If the page encounters an error that prevents saving, the confirmation dialog will display a disabled save button and provide a tooltip explaining why the user is unable to save the changes.

Properties that prevent saving are:

• Page name

- URL slug
- Input
- Component ID
- Container name

Bug Fixes

Classic & Platform resolved issues

- Fixed an issue where a Visio file could not be uploaded after the tenant administrator added the file extension. (See here for information on adding allowed file types.)
- Fixed an issue that was preventing users from logging into a tenant under specific circumstances.
- Auto-generated secrets now exclude the use of the + or / characters, as required by certain OAuth providers.
- Process can be launched from an iOS device.
- The form now loads during a debug run of a process when utilizing a Multistep form in a Process Display Step assigned to a non-administrator role.

Nova resolved issues

• Fixed a form relationship issue that removes a linked record when refreshing for a specific scenario

Release Notes 2.190 (13 June 2024)

Last Modified on 08/07/2024 10:25 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

Document fields can be modified via the Nova app builder

We are streamlining the app configuration process to help you customise your app more efficiently. The object schema can be modified to add new Document fields without the need to use the classic form builder.

These updates will occur over several releases. Our fifth release focuses on creating and modifying Document fields.

Previous releases of this feature have improved:

- 1. Text and numeric fields. See here.
- 2. All the datetime fields. See here.
- 3. Calculation and lookup fields. See here.
- 4. Relationship. See here.

Cancelling file uploads during document upload

Users have greater control over document uploads with the introduction of a cancellation feature. Whether uploading a single file or multiple files, users now have the flexibility to cancel uploads that are in progress or queued.

Within the document upload modal dialog, a "Cancel" button is now accessible for files labeled as "In progress" or "In queue". By clicking the "x" button associated with the respective file, users can promptly cancel the upload or remove the file from the queue. The cancel feature allows for quick adjustments based on changing requirements.

Platform features

Assign to Variable workflow activity has been improved

The Assign to Variable workflow activity has been updated to better support list variables. This activity can now add to or remove records from a list variable.

A new dropdown called **Action** has been added to the Assign to Variable configuration panel. This dropdown appears only when the variable is of type Record List.

Action controls how the variable is updated. The following options are supported:

- 1. Replace List. The variable is overwritten or replaced with the record(s) from the Value field.
- 2. Append To List. The record(s) from the Value field are appended to the record(s) in the variable.
- 3. Remove From List. The new record(s) are removed from the record(s) in the variable.

Modifications to the User Message workflow activity

The workflow activity User Message has been enhanced:

• Improved Management of Message Status:

Clicking on an individual user message icon in the header no longer marks all messages as read, providing a more intuitive experience.

• Enhanced Functionality:

A new icon has been introduced, empowering users to mark all messages as read with ease. This addition streamlines the process, ensuring efficient management of message status.

• Persistent Unread Messages:

Messages will retain their unread status until either the specific message or the "read all" icon is clicked, ensuring users can prioritize their attention effectively.

Bug Fixes

Classic & Platform resolved issues

- Debug runs now display complete information of the run when accessed from the Process runs list.
- A process with active process version runs can now be deleted.

Nova resolved issues

• Fixed the "Filter by Relationship" to filter correctly when using hierarchies.

Release Notes 2.189 (16 May 2024)

Last Modified on 22/01/2025 10:22 am AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

• Relationships can be modified via the Nova app builder

We have streamlined the app configuration process to help you customise your app more efficiently. You can now modify the object schema and add new fields without the need to use the classic form builder.

We will be releasing these updates over several releases. Our fourth release of this feature focuses on creating and modifying the **Relationship** field.

Previous releases of this feature have focused on:

- 1. Text and numeric fields. See here.
- 2. All the datetime fields. See here.
- 3. Calculation and lookup fields. See here.
- Signifiers are automatically displayed on fields and components on canvas and page elements panel.
 - Signifiers (or indicators) serve as aids for app developers.
 - Fields display a signifier if the field has a visibility condition.
 - Components display a signifier if the component has a visibility condition or has been hidden completely.
- **Display options** for choice fields.
 - The multi-select and single-select choice fields now offer the option to be displayed as a checklist and radio button, respectively.
- Custom Validation for fields.
 - Custom validation can be defined for all fields, except for relationship data table fields.
 - Custom validation properties, including Validation Expression, Error Message, and Always Validate, have been integrated into the field properties panel.
 - The Always Validate feature is controlled by an on-off toggle switch.

ReadiNow Process - beta availability

The ReadiNow Process engine is an exciting development in the realm of business process automation. It offers a highly configurable and user-friendly approach to designing and implementing business processes.

• Configurability: Easily configure end-to-end business processes.

- Flexibility: Supports both sequential and parallel paths for complex process implementation.
- Extendibility: Complements the existing Workflow engine, which provides data transformation and API integration
- Visual Guidance: Provides users with visual cues to indicate their progress within a process.
- Task Notifications: Users receive task notifications as part of the process flow.
- Digital Transformation: Aims to streamline time-consuming and complex processes, enhancing efficiency.

Use Cases

- Approval Processes: Streamlines approval procedures.
- Vendor Management Procurement: Simplifies vendor interactions and procurement steps.
- Complaint Handling: Manages and resolves complaints effectively.

From Release 2.189, the Process feature will enter the Beta phase and will be accessible to customers interested in joining the early access program. If you would like to try out the Process feature, please submit a support ticket.

				Antices I Visite Dave	Submission	Processing	Delievery
Company one is convery process. (B)		O VIA DIAN 🗸 👳		Stage properties	Company order & delivery process: Enter customer details Assigned to: Aide Ghera	O Pack Items	Cancel Subr
Submission	Processing	Delievery	+ Stage	Name		O check inventory	
Sequential flow	C Parallel flow	> Sequential flow		Processing		O true stock	Sive
Place order	Process rder	Courier pick up		Description			
Enter customer details	- Pack items	Deliver to customer			Enter	customer details	
Confirm basket conte	+ Step	+ Step		Execution Flow	Customer ID	Status	
Enter payment info		Next State: Process Ford		Parallel V			
+ Step	Sequential flow			Default path	Company Nar	20	
	 Check inventory 			Default next stage	Date request		
+ Block	Grder stock		5	Delevery			
ext Stage: Processing 👻	+ Step			Conditional Paths +	Address		
	+ Block				Sabarb	State Postcode	
	Next Stage: Delivery			Delete		v v	:

Known issues

- Cannot launch process from an iOS device.
- The form does not load during a debug run of a process when using a Multistep form in a Process Display Step that is assigned to a non-administrator role.
- Some debug runs may not show complete run information when opening from Process runs list.
- Cannot delete a process with an active process version launched runs
 - Workaround Create a new version, make it active, ensure you do not launch any runs, then attempt to delete process.

Release Notes 2.188 (18 April 2024)

Last Modified on 10/05/2024 12:00 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

• Modifying object schema via the Nova app builder - Calculation & Lookup

We have streamlined the app configuration process to help you customise your app more efficiently. You can now modify the object schema and add new fields without the need to use the classic form builder.

We will be releasing these updates over several releases. Our *third* release of this feature focuses on creating and modifying the **Calculation** and **Lookup** fields.

See the first release notes here and the second release notes here.

• Data table - added the ability to save data table column width

Users can now adjust the column width of a Data table and save the adjusted width as configuration in local storage. If no adjustments are made, the column width behavior will remain unchanged and match the Classic report definition of column width.

• Data table filter - added a None option operator

A **None** option has been added to Data table filter operators to allow any operator to be selected. The None option achieves the same results as the Classic report analyzer operator [Select] option.

Platform features

Notifications

Notifications is a new ReadiNow Platform feature that allows an administrator to configure the Platform to notify users when specific conditions are met. See here for the article explaining this feature: https://readinow.knowledgeowl.com/docs/notifications

• Option to turn off CSV Injection escaping during Export to CSV

Provides an option for the administrator to control escaping of CSV injection attack variables when exporting data to CSV from the ReadiNow platform.

The default behaviour of the ReadiNow platform is to escape all CSV injection attack variables when exporting data to a CVS file. Export to CSV is provided on the Report UI and in the Workflow Export activity. However, there are situations where the default behaviour is not desirable. A new option to turn off escaping of CSV injection attack variables has been added to the General Settings dialog under Administration.

• Option to strip Rich Text Markup tags during Export.

Provides an option for the administrator to strip Rich Text Markup tags when exporting data from the

ReadiNow platform.

This option gives an administrator the ability to remove all Rich Text Markup tags on export and applies to all export formats: CVS, Excel and Word. The new setting has been added to the General Settings dialog under Administration.

Bug Fixes

Classic & Platform resolved issues

• Resolved an issue where under certain situations the screen would continuously resize when the browser zoom was set above 100%

Release Notes 2.187 (21st March 2024)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 11:50 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

Modifying object schema via the Nova app builder - Date time & boolean

We have streamlined the app configuration process to help you customise your app more efficiently. You can now modify the object schema and add new fields without the need classic form builder. III

We will be releasing these updates over several releases. Our *second* release of this feature focuses on the creating and modifying **date and date** and **boolean** fields.

- Date and Time
- Time
- Date
- Boolean

See first release here.

Platform features

Reset password of ReadiNow native account via SMS as well

Users can now reset their password using SMS. Simply click on the *Forgot your username or password*? link and follow the step.

See Logging In for more details.

	ReadiNow
오 Username	
A Password	We will send you a link or code to reset your passwor
EDC EDC	Email or Mobile Number
SIGN IN	Go Back SUBMIT

Release Notes 2.186 (22nd February, 2024)

Last Modified on 22/02/2024 4:40 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

Modifying object schema via the Nova app builder - Text & numeric fields

We have streamlined the app configuration process to help you customise your app more efficiently. You can now modify the object schema and add new fields without the need classic form builder. ??

We will be releasing these updates over several releases. Our first release of this feature focuses on the creating and modifying **text** and **numeric** fields.

- Text field
- Multiline field
- Rich text

- Number
- Decimal
- Autonumber
- Currency





Bug Fixes

Nova resolved issues

- Choice Fields Multiselect no longer displays the selected fields after discarding
- Form pages Save and New functionality now ensures that fields are cleared even when the form loads slowly
Release Notes 2.185 (25th January 2024)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 11:50 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

Nova is live!

Based from our announcement on Release 2.169, Nova applications is now officially part of the Platform. Access your custom apps and benefit on the features available and start creating your own via "Administration" > "ReadiNow Nova" > Apps. The 'Beta' label is removed in the application list.

Read all about it in the press release here.



System document form

The system document form is a new feature to update and view document properties. From record's file attachments, select either 'View' or 'Edit' to navigate the system document form.

Q Find a record		∀ Filter				+	Document 🛃 🕞
⑦ Allow	ed files		Drop you	ur files here to upload, c	Choose files		
Туре	Name 🌻		Extension	Size	Modified date	Last modified by	y
1	essay2		.odf	30,522	1/22/2024 12:41 PM	laniers	
			© View 'essay2'	System	Document		
			🗄 Download				
			C Replace file				
							/ — ·

System document form on view and edit mode respectively.

← feck Exec Report 2020-11-20T11	_13_17					Edit	Exec Report 2020-1	1-20T11_13_17	Panlace file			Discard Erve
File details File.details sect File tere figure 1380-11 00111,11,17 & Browner type Noci Socianes Description -	on Download	Docum Current ave 1.0 Tegeherer - RM Cutor	eent details man write man	Becument details			File details Par Enc Report 2000-11-2011-1.3.2. Decement type Word Document Description	Bownload	× ~ Ø	Document details Cannel rentice 1.8 Tage beyonds Application CBH Data Pact	Bocument details	× ~ Ø × ~ Ø
Document history Q. Interest Q. In							Document history	Q naw				
Version # @	Carmineros	Modified by		Modified date	Stee	e (bytes)	Version # #	Commenta	Modify	dby	Modified date	Sau Ovteri
10	Generaled decurseri.	Advanture				105011		Generated document.	Adminia	wor		185.011
Version history					Version history							
1 items loaded					< 1		1 Herna loaded					< 🔳 >

Extended features such as Download and Replace file are available in edit mode and Download only on view mode.

Record's modified date and modified by

Display updates on record showing the last user and date modified.



Notification badge on report filter

On report's filter, a new feature which displays a badge which indicates that there are filters applied on the report. The badge will be automatically removed when the custom filters are cleared or reset.



Bug Fixes

Classic & Platform resolved issues

• Aligned the display of date value on report and form

Release Notes 2.184 (14th December 2023)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 11:51 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

Document upload

Introducing the Document upload feature which allows users to store documents connected to a record. Other than the standard View, Edit and Delete features, below are the additional functionalities:

- Choose files : select a file or files from your local workstation
- Drag and drop: Drag a file and drop to specific area on the report
- Download: Download an existing file and save to local workstation
- Replace file: Replace an existing file

Q. Find	a record	V Fit	er					+ bourners 🙀 🗛
() AI	lowed files	Shows the t allowed to b	ype of files e uploaded	Æ	Drop your files here to upload, i	Choose files	Select files from your workstation	Download Replace file
Type	Name 🖨			Extension	Size	Modified date	Last more	dified by
	20230707_024	825000_005	(7) Marc 1019030	1 004915000 108	121,089	11/30/2023 12:06 PM	lariers	
	DooGenUpload	Document (1)	A 5401000000		19,245	12/7/2023 12:55 PM	latiers	
1	Document uplo	ad	 Cuit 20230707, Dalata 202307 	024023000,03	158,919	11/21/2023 5:51 PM	laniers	
1	enniy2		 Download 		30,532	11/28/2023 3:12 PM	laniers	
1	image01		C. Renlace file		289,964	10/19/2023 1:11 PM	laniers	
1	test-img			jpeg.	27,661	11/1/2023 10:27 AM	latiers	
9	Q Pind arread ♥ Hher ⑦ Allowed files							
0	Allowed files	Δ1	ller	Â	Drop zoo	choose files	Ŧ	becoment & Q2
0	Allowed files	⊽,	lter	Â	Drop zon	chosse files	+	50000000 & Qa
0	Allowed files	⊽,	ller	Extension	Drop zoo Drop your files here to upload, or Size	2 area Chosee files Wodified date	+ Last modified	becament 🕁 💽 …
- 	Allowed files	▼ P 124825000_JOS 1005000_JOS	ller	Extension 190	Drop your files here to upload, or Size 121,099	Choser Files	Last modified laries	becamere & D
0 1	Allowed files pe Name Possibility Documentum	▼ P 124825000.JOS 0x402coursent (1) enload	ller	Entension 19 docx	Drop your files here to upload, or Size 121,099 18,245 18,419	2 area Choose files Wodified date 11/38/2022 12:05 PM	Last modified laters laters	becarrent 🕁 💽
() () () () () () () () () () () () () (Allowed files pe Name Pageonology Documentul Documentul mage01	♥ P	ller	Entension 10 10 10	Drop zoo Drop your files here to upfold, or Size 12:099 15:039 28:954	e area Choose files Medified date 1//2/2223 12:06 PM 1//2//2223 12:05 PM 1//2//2223 5:51 PM 96/78/2223 1:11 PM	+ Last motified laters laters laters laters	besnett & D

A document upload modal dialog appears to show the progress of the upload procedure for single and multiple files.

Document upload	Queueing progress
test-img.jpeg	0.03 MB 🕚 In queue
) Uploading
ocument upload	Progress while uploading a file
🔝 test-img.jpeg	0.03 MB
100%	ر Upleading
Document upload	
test-img.jpeg	0.03 MB 🛛 💋 Uploaded

Classic & Platform resolved issues

- Organization Structure: The Hierarchy report for Organisation structure no longer appears in the Admin Toolbox. Other uses for the organisational structure Hierarchy report remain unchanged including use in a picker report; use in an analyzer condition; and applying the column value formatting in the report builder
- Forms: The action menu responds to the OK button which was previously failing under specific circumstances
- Workflow activity: Fixed a workflow issue where the send mail activity would not consistently follow the failed path when appropriate.
- Password: The error shown to a user when incorrectly resetting a password has been improved.

Nova resolved issues

• Chart: Fixed the tooltip display on chart segment

Release Notes 2.183 (16th November 2023)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 11:56 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Nova features

Copy to app

A feature to copy a page from one application to another, this is accessible via context menu of the page on the Pages panel. This makes a copy of the page to the target application instead of creating a page from scratch with the same functionality.



Visibility logic and conditions

When loading the page, fields with conditions or exceptions will be evaluated first before showing or hiding them on the page.

Workflow

Recognizes the value of the nominated related resource parameter when executing the workflow in a record

Filter

User input remains on the filter component after search result.

Bug Fixes

Classic & Platform resolved issues

- Health check: showing the "Last Health Check Run" on top of the report always
- Extended the Record API call to accept more than 40 fields

Nova resolved issues

 Multiple choice: Intermittent behavior of fields dependent to the visibility conditions or exceptions of multiple choice field is fixed.

- Text field: Displays the content of a text which ends in numeric is fixed
- Page: Redirecting to new mode when page refreshes on view after creating a record is fixed.
- Risk rating: result evaluation appears after form submission is fixed
- Button: fixed the intermittent issue when a workflow is running after form submission

Release Notes 2.182 (19th October 2023)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 11:56 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Bug Fixes

Classic and Platform resolved issues

• Fixed the chart builder's result on fields having no order dimension such as date and time and numeric fields.

Nova resolved issues

N/A

Release Notes 2.181 (21st September 2023)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 11:56 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Classic & Platform features

FTP Put workflow activity limits

When the FTP Put workflow activity is used to upload multiple documents, the rate of upload is now throttled. This helps to prevent document uploads from exceeding the connection rate limit of FTP endpoints.

Nova features

Text styling

A new feature for text component to show the text sizing between "Small", "Medium", "Large" and "Extra Large".

Process

The data table for task report now supports opening the following workflow UIs:

- Approval task
- User survey task
- Prompt task
- Navigate to task

Picker modal

Updates the item selection(s) via "Link to existing" or the paper clip icon on report



Vertical and horizontal containers

Additional styling under properties panel Styling > Background > to show either "Transparent" or "Card"

- "Transparent" background shows transparent
- "Card" background shows white in color, shadow and rounded corners

Vertical container	Horizontal	Tab container
Transparent	Transparent	Transparent
		Tab
Card	Card	Card
		Tab

Data table grouped report

- Grouped report's load more icon to display next to each group label
- Report bound to a chart component shows related records

Matr	x chart with jo	oins							Dat	a table bound to chart			
								Very Low	0	C Find a record	V Filter		+ New
	Almost Certain		0	0	0	0	0	Low Medium		Risk ID	Risk Library	Linked to Asset	Busines
	Likely		0	0	0	0	0	High Critical	~	Financial			
hood	Possible		0	4	1	0	0			RSK000006	Natural Disasters - such	Site North	Org Level
Likel	Unlikely		0	2	2	0	0			RSK000033	Org may be subject to fra		Org Level
	Rare		0	0	0	0	0			RSK000018	Org may be subject to fra		Org Level
	(Blank)	2								RSK000031	Natural Disasters - such		Org Level
			~			4	-0		~	Operational			
		Blacks	antican	wines w	sherate	Wall .	soone			RSK000036	ICS may be subject to sig		Org Level
		4.		Conse	quence	C ^o			11	items loaded			

Supporting remembering where you are when signing out from Nova pages

Signing out from a Nova page is remembered once the user signs in again when the default page is not configured under a user's account. However, if this will not not override any default that you have previously set for a user account.

Bug fixes

Nova resolved issues

• Fixed text rendering of rich text field type via expression builder

Release Notes 2.180 (24th August 2023)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 11:57 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Classic and Platform

Features

File download and audit log features

In order to assist customers with Data Loss Detection and Prevention a new type of audit log has been added to the ReadiNow Platform. This new type of Audit log is called the File Download Audit Log and is created whenever a document is download from the platform. The purpose of this new log entry is to provide an auditable record of whenever a document, which is stored on the ReadiNow platform, is downloaded by a user.

A File Download Audit Log is created where the following occur;

- Download of a document from the Document library
- Download of a document from a Form
- Sending of a document as an Email attachment
- Uploading of a document from the ReadiNow platform to an FTP server

File Download Audit Log entries appears in the Event Log report that can be found under Administration -> Audit in the ReadiNow console.

Each of these log entries contains the following properties;

- Accessed file link to the document that was downloaded
- Accessed revision the version/revision of the document that was downloaded
- Correlation code the correlation code of the download request
- Downloaded by link to the user who performed the download
- Event time the time of the download
- File access operation the type of document access that was performed. Options are: Download, Email Attachment, FTP Upload

Email Templates

Email templates is now included as a platform feature in Nova. Find out how to configure Email Templates!

- Fixed the 'OK' button on 'Actions' when there are multiple workflows available for selection
- Removed the unexpected display of 'info' button in all states of title bar in Nova and in React forms such as Email templates

Release Notes 2.179 (27th July 2023)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 11:58 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Nova

Features

Data table

- Supports opening user action, user prompt and user survey tasks
 - Known issue: When a data table is used as a relationship, tasks will not open. Use the data table as a component to work around this issue until 2.180 when the issue has been resolved
- Report now have lines on formatting, group by and totals

Chart

• Shows tooltip on mouse hover



Container

• Background property selection between card and transparent

Link

• Link to function is now supported in Nova pages. Returns a URL to open the specified Nova shared form in either view or edit modes. The documentation has been updated to and you can link to it from the release notes here.

Release Notes 2.178 (29th June 2023)

Last Modified on 04/07/2024 12:00 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Removed automatic prefix of 'http://' on the 'mailto:' hyperlink for email header and footer
- Email Server Settings > Override Address field now accepts a semi-colon character (';') as the delimiter for multiple email addresses.

Release Notes 2.177 (1st June, 2023)

Last Modified on 25/07/2023 2:26 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Classic and Platform

Enhancements

• This release includes a change to to the way workflows are queued. Under specific circumstances a single tenant could consume too many workflow "processing slots" by launching a very large number of long running workflows. The effect was to "starve" other tenants of workflow processing cycles. The change introduced in this release dedicates a minimum number of workflow processing slots to each tenant.

Bug Fixes

• Improved field validation for mandatory fields when using inline mode to edit

Nova

Features

Pickers

We are proud to announce pickers is available in data table filter.

Q Find a record		√ Filter					+ New		
Process 🔶	Owner	Process Type	any of	~		~	MAO R		
Process 1		New Arrent Date							
Process 2		Next Assessment Date		~					
Process 3		Organisation Levels	any of	\sim	Top Org Level X	0			
Process 4					Org Level West X	^			
Process 5		Modified date	>	\sim	Org Level East	O			
Process 6		Business Resilience BIA-PI	any of	~	Org Level North	0			
6 items loaded					Org Level South		< 1 >		
					🗹 Org Level West	oply			
					Top Org Level				
Data table filter									

Release Notes 2.176 (4th May, 2023)

Last Modified on 28/04/2023 5:30 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Bug Fixes

• FTP Fetch workflow activity - Fixed the SFTP URL not respecting different port numbers

Release Notes 2.175 (6th April, 2023)

Last Modified on 04/04/2023 10:02 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Classic and Platform

Enhancements

- FTP fetch workflow activity
 - Files imported through FTP Fetch will now be saved as "Document" type instead of "FileType". This
 means these files will now appear in the Document Library.
 - A new optional field has been added to the FTP Fetch activity, allowing users to specify a Filename expression. If left blank, the URL will be used as the filename which was the previous behaviour.

Bug Fixes

- Fixed the alignment of text after conditional formatting of multiline
- FTP Fetch workflow activity: updates on blocked file extensions on upload
 - Consistent upload restrictions have been applied to files imported through FTP Fetch activity. The same file content and type restrictions that apply to files uploaded to the Document Library are now also applied to files imported through FTP Fetch. Previously, the file update restrictions applied to the FTP Fetch activity were different to those on the Document Library. This change makes these restrictions consistent.
 - In order to maintain backwards compatibility the following behaviours have been implemented;
 - The changed file upload restrictions are only applied if a Filename expression has been specified.
 Since the Filename expression is a new field it will be blank on all existing workflows. This will ensure that existing workflows will not be impacted by file upload restrictions.
 - See FTP Fetch for unsupported file types.

NOVA

Features

• We are excited to announce that the Data table component now has a filter.

Q Find a record		√ Filter					New	Create BIA]					
Process 🔶	Owner	Process	is	~				BIA Status	BCP St					
Process 1	Adrianna P	Owner	any of	~	Cherilyn Fraize 🗙	×	nth	 Approved 	• In I					
Process 2	Business C	Criticality	any of	~		~		Not Started	No					
Process 3	Heather Git						ith	 In Progress 	 No 					
Process 41	Heather Git	Process Type	any of	~	Support X	X V		Approved	 No 					
Process 5	Heather Git	Next Assessment Date	is empty	\sim			nth	 Approved 	• In I					
Process 6	Aide Ghera	Organisation Levels	any of	\sim	QA X	× ~	ith	 Approved 	No					
6 items loaded					R	eset Apply		< 1 2	>					
							_		_					
			Data	table fi	Data table filter									

Release Notes 2.174 (9th March, 2023)

Last Modified on 03/03/2023 2:24 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Bug Fixes

• Fixed the creation of duplicate records when 'Save and New' button is clicked multiple times on forms.

Release Notes 2.173 (9th February, 2023)

Last Modified on 03/02/2023 1:11 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Release 2.173 will involve standard platform maintenance only.

Release Notes 2.172 (12th January, 2023)

Last Modified on 23/12/2022 5:29 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Classic and Platform

Bug Fixes

- Record APIs now respect the Tenant time zone settings
- Fixed an issue in scrolling reports to the right when in inline edit mode

NOVA

Features

- Container component styling
- Data table component group with paging

Release Notes 2.171 (1st December, 2022)

Last Modified on 25/11/2022 12:59 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Email Templates

ReadiNow introduces Email Templates as one of our deliverables in the Product Roadmap for 2022!

Enjoy the benefits of having a centralized location to maintain email templates with these key features:

- customize header and footer according to your corporate branding
- customize content on email subject with preferred text from variables
- customize content on the body of the email with images, text, links and variables
- reusability across multiple workflows
- integrate with Send email activity

Find out how to configure Email Templates!

Bug Fixes & Other improvements

- Additional browser window no longer appears using Edit-In line for Document
- Issue fixed in displaying search results on Change Management application
- Fixed the unexpected character string in report's calculated column
- API Callout authentication via password grant type setting is fixed
- Error message will appear when an activity does not have any next step in workflow builder upon save
- Fixed an issue which causes SSO responses to fail under specific circumstances
- New metrics reporting objects & collection framework for future Tenant Metric Reporting feature

Release Notes 2.170 (3rd November, 2022)

Last Modified on 28/10/2022 12:49 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Fixed an error that forced users to close all browser tabs and restart their browser in order to continue working
- Fixed an issue where in certain situations a tenant rollback would fail
- Fixed an issue in Surveys that prevented saving when the response to a mandatory numeric question was '0' (zero)

Release Notes 2.169 (6th October, 2022)

Last Modified on 20/10/2022 10:52 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Bug Fixes

- Fixed expressions when calculation shows different result for Form and Report
- Fixed expressions when match pattern for 'Like' comparison operator treats square brackets as RegEx group (instead of literal) with no way to escape
- Appropriate message will be displayed if a calculation on a form fails because of missing metadata

ReadiNow Nova Beta Availability

ReadiNow is committed to continual improvement and we are excited to announce our biggest enhancement yet. We have listened to your feedback and look forward to introducing you to the next evolution of ReadiNow called ReadiNow Nova.

ReadiNow Nova is a new user interface paradigm, built from the ground up. Aimed to improve user experience and provide even more flexibility in the configuration of your application.

From Release 2.169 onwards, ReadiNow Nova will be available in 'Beta' for any customers wishing to be part of the early access beta program. If you would like to register for the beta program, please visit https://www.readinow.com/novabeta

Release Notes 2.168 (8th September, 2022)

Last Modified on 05/09/2022 4:06 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Fixed an issue when data was displayed incorrectly when scrolling while using the Inline Edit function
- Improved the behaviour around deselecting multiple choice field values in forms
- The file type of '.wav' to has been added to the list of allowed file types under Document Types
- Improved the rendering of certain report styles
- Metrics Dashboard is now displaying the expected values for hero texts

Release Notes 2.167 (11th August, 2022)

Last Modified on 25/08/2022 9:58 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Message "Users unexpectedly receiving 'User Message' with Source: SAML Identity Provider 'SSO'" is appropriate for monitoring via Audit log instead to client
- Fixed multiple issues to prevent the workflows failing with "Internal Error" and "can only be associated with one record using 'Modified by'"
- Support to expressions were applied to fix the issue security rules are not updating in timely manner
- Update the behavior on checkbox label to prevent inconsistencies on totals modal dialog on Report Builder same as the tick box
- Prevents non-admin users to access the system within maintenance periods

Release Notes 2.166 (14th July, 2022)

Last Modified on 08/08/2022 3:42 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Fixed an issue where email body was missing from an email sent under specific circumstances
- Fixed an issue wherein the user is not able to export a report
- Fixed the issue on Forms where decimal field in the secondary tab is treating '0' and null equivalent

Release Notes 2.165 (16th June, 2022)

Last Modified on 15/06/2022 10:53 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Mandatory fields in tabbed containers were not respected unless the tab was visited or visible
- Large file uploads were being rejected from the documents library, size limits are now respected
- Fixed an issue where concurrent user data was not being displayed on the metrics screen
- The swagger page now shows API request body examples for POST & PATCH
- Fixed an issue with the Landing Page not showing Custom icons
- Fixed a refresh issue that prevented some HERO Texts on a Screen from displaying accurate record counts
- Fixed an issue that prevented certain colour ranges from being used for conditional formatting
- Improved error messages for Offline Forms when Form contains an invalid expression
- Fixed an issue where certain expressions were failing with the 'html()' function
- Fixed a Primary Key violation in the database that caused some workflows to fail randomly
- Fixed the issue on Workflows with a 'Clone' activity failed under specific circumstances

Release Notes 2.164 (5th May, 2022)

Last Modified on 05/05/2022 12:48 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Enhancements

- Compressed import and export are now supported for resources
- Resource imports now list all errors instead of stopping at the first error

- Chart menu options no longer shows options for numerical fields when a non-numeric field is selected
- Fixed an issue that prevented the Report Builder from closing when navigating from the Chart Builder
- Fixed a display issue for the Rich Text hyperlink tool
- Fixed an issue whereby Record APIs failed to retrieve records if the Record Name and Slug were different
- Fixed an issue that caused some workflows to become 'long running' when processing API Callouts
- Fixed a bug that allowed emails to remain undelivered if the initial delivery attempts failed due to relay delays
- Fixed an issue where Boolean values stopped working when passed inside a workflow For-Each activity
- Retired Choice Field values are no longer displayed by the workflow User Input activity

Release Notes 2.163 (10th April, 2022)

Last Modified on 05/05/2022 9:14 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Notice

Platform Core Upgrade

This release will update the core code of the ReadiNow platform. While this update will not affect functionality it will ensure the platform code remains up to date with latest best practices and standards.

Deprecation of REST APIs

REST APIs for POST and PUT method calls have been deprecated in favour of our Record APIs and Callout APIs. Your existing REST APIs will continue to function and can still be modified; however: it won't be possible to create new REST APIs, and we strongly encourage transitioning to the new APIs.

Enhancements

Change Management Report

The Change Management Report has been enhanced with filtering capability (Type, User, and App) and improvements to data export (ability to customise data to export and adds ability to export as CSV).

Bug Fixes

• Fixed an issue where in certain situations SSO URL redirects were causing some users to be redirected from their home page.

Release Notes 2.162 (March, 2022)

Last Modified on 07/03/2022 2:17 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Enhancements

The DateDiff () calculation can produce unexpected results when different input types are used for date comparison. With this enhancement users are now warned when inputs are mixed, e.g. Date & DateTime:

DateDiff (period, Date, DateTime)

- Fixed an issue where Document Generation was failing to add Charts under certain circumstances
- Reassigning a Workflow button now refreshes the button text without requiring an additional save
- In Surveys it is now possible to edit the Value and Order of options in a Choice Field prior to launching a Survey

Release Notes 2.161 (February, 2022)

Last Modified on 07/02/2022 2:39 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Enhancements

Surveys now support Date fields

We've added a new Date field to Surveys. So now you can add questions that have a date based answer. Survey recipients can simply use their system date picker to easily complete questions with date input.

Easier to find numbers using Global Search

Global search now adds an 'alpha' wildcard card characters (i.e. [a-Z]) around numbers whenever the search expression is numeric.

For example searching for **12345** will now match:

- aa**12345**zz
- aa12345
- 12345zz

Note that searching for 12345 will not match '123456' but you can still add wildcards manually like this: 12345*

- Replying to emails with a nested email no longer truncates the body of nested emails.
- Fixed an issue where currency fields were not shown as mandatory if the currency was not defined globally.
- Global Search now displays a message if the search expression does not match any records.

Release Notes 2.160 (January, 2022)

Last Modified on 12/01/2022 8:39 am AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Calendars - ready for beta testing

ReadiNow are excited to introduce the latest feature from our product roadmap: Calendars.

	W		DAY WEEK	WORK WEEK	MONTH Y	EAR IN AGENDA
Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
26	27	28	29	30	31	Jan 1
2	3	4	5	б	7	8
9	10	0	12 Investigate Incid	13 Ie	14	15
16	17	18	19 Implement CA	20 PA	21	22
23	24	25	26	27	28	29
30	31	Feb 1	2	3	4	5

Whether your ReadiNow solutions are *Out-of-the-Box* or *fully customised*, you can seamlessly integrate Calendars to support endless use-cases. And, with ReadiNow's zero-code technology for solution configuration, creating a new Calendar is as easy as:

- 1. selecting 'New Calendar' from the 'new page item' dialog
- 2. using a picker to select the Calendar data source
- 3. choose which field (or fields) to use for the event date (or start and end date/time)

Calendars puts you in control to enrich your solutions with even greater flexibility and improved user experience; key features include:

- conditional & custom formatting
- custom event labels
- drag & drop date editing for events
- drill down to individual event records
- support calculated date/date-time fields

- multiple layouts calendar, timeline, agenda
- multiple views day, work-week, week, month, year
- custom icons
- ability to create, edit, and delete events

As always data security is front of mind, Calendars implement the same security engine as Reports ensuring all your security and data access rules are respected. Navigation access to Calendars is conveniently configured independently of the Report.

To get started with Calendars you may wish to review the Calendar feature documentation.

Note - the Calendars feature is designated as 'beta' and may be subject to changes:

- please raise any questions with ReadiNow prior to implementing within a solution
- please submit any questions, bugs, or usability issues using a Service Desk 'Query'

- For some users adding attachments to emails using drag & drop stopped working (fixed in minor update in 2.159)
- Fixed an issue where the 'tabs' in tabbed containers could not be re-ordered (fixed in minor update in 2.159)
- Screen no longer flickers when a user does not have permission to access a specific Record
- Enhanced error message for situations where a user does not have permission to access a specific Record

Release Notes 2.159 (November, 2021)

Last Modified on 22/11/2021 2:10 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Reports with 'tile' formatting now display 2 lines without clipping text.
- Error messages now wrap to a new line without splitting words between lines.

Release Notes 2.158 (October, 2021)

Last Modified on 25/10/2021 4:54 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

New feature Landing Pages.

Landing Pages were designed to eliminate complex navigation paths by providing an 'action oriented' experience that puts users in the drivers seat. Key features include:

- Hero Text to keep you up-to-date and informed
- ability to pin Action as Favourites
- ability to find Action quickly using Tags and Quick Search

Landing Pages are opt-in for existing tenants, find out how to configure Landing Pages.

ReadiNow			×	Choose Application \equiv	۸	Ð	Q	•	53
	Welcome	Jack Admin							
		My Tasks							
		0							
		Available actions	Favorites						
	Filter by tags	Q Find a task, action or view							
		X Administration View							
2 157 7.0 Montor / (1 2 157 26 0 Martin	Partilion							

Enhancements

Improved an error message where roles could not be edited because they were part of a protected application. New error message:

'An error occurred saving the changes: The resource being modified belongs to a protected application.'

Bug Fixes

• Fixed an issue where it was possible to choose a workflow that could not run for 'on receive email'.

- Fixed a caching issue that could prevent Public Forms logos from updating.
- Fixed error message when workflow run fails when trying to deliver to a disabled inbox.
- Fixed an issue where workflow runs were not appearing in the workflow run report for some users.
- An error message has been added for file upload failures.
Release Notes 2.157 (30th September, 2021)

Last Modified on 27/09/2021 10:30 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Fixed an issue where Public Forms was not respecting conditional visibility unless using default form
- Fixed an issue where Public Form submission failed when a mandatory field was hidden
- Files with special characters no longer fail to upload, special characters are replaced
- Emails sent as attachments in inbound email messages are no longer discarded

Release Notes 2.156 (September, 2021)

Last Modified on 01/09/2021 2:49 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Resolved an issue where updates from Lexis Nexis were not propagating through to ReadiNow.
- Workflows now have an option to reset multi-select choice fields to Null using a new "Replace existing records" option.
- Fixed an issue where the 'horizontal' axes title was being clipped vertically on some Charts in certain Screen configurations.
- Fixed an issue with OAuth tokens that prevented some API Callouts from working.
- Fixed an issue where the list of Public Forms failed to display if a form name was Null.

Release Notes 2.155 (5th August, 2021)

Last Modified on 05/08/2021 5:38 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Fixed an issue where text (SMS) messages took a long time to be received after sending
- Fixed an issue where Form Fields were not refreshing after being edited

Release Notes 2.154 (July, 2021)

Last Modified on 06/07/2021 1:29 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Fixed an issue where the Clone activity in Workflow's was failing for records with complex relationships
- Long titles on Survey are now truncated to be consistent with Form titles
- Reports and Forms on Screens now refresh when a Record is updated
- Fixed an issue where the Analyzer was failing to show correct value unless manually updated
- Fixed a false positive Health Check for workflows where a For-Each action was iterating over a List variable
- Improved usability of Radio Buttons in Survey on mobile screens
- Fixed an issue where error messages persisted for spreadsheet imports

Release Notes 2.153 (June, 2021)

Last Modified on 08/06/2021 9:28 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Public Forms

Public Forms is now available for general use. Public Forms provides a low friction mechanism for collecting data from unauthenticated users, e.g. members of the public.

Built within our new UI, Public Forms provide a clean look and feel on screens of all sizes and are deeply integrated with the ReadiNow Platform. Public Forms support a wide range of use-cases where 'authentication' is not required. For example you might want to:

- allow potential customers to make an enquiry
- enable passers-by to report a hazard
- use crowdsourcing to collect structured data

Whatever your use case, Public Forms are highly flexible and easy to integrate with your business logic. Just like our 'classic' Forms, Public Forms submissions can optionally trigger Workflows allowing you to harness the full power of the ReadiNow platform.

Find out more about Public Forms:

- best practices for Public Forms
- getting started with Public Forms
- Public Forms security overview

Enhancements

Miscellaneous

• The select workflow picker now pre-selects the currently selected workflow

- Formatting of button text on mobile devices no long uses incorrect colour
- Fixed an issue where the Rich Text Editor was not displaying a toolbar when used inline
- Fixed an issue where the Chart Select dropdown was not displaying correctly on small screens
- Forms with duplicated relationships no longer error when user 'Selects All'
- Fixed an issue where a child Chart was not updating with (grand) parent Chart filtering a parent Report
- Fixed an issue where the colour of a progress bar was not updating

Release Notes 2.152 (13th May, 2021)

Last Modified on 07/06/2022 9:23 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Workflow Navigate

Workflows have a new User Activity called 'Navigate'. Navigate allows you to create a workflow that navigates a User to a URL. This includes URLs within your tenant, e.g. you can specify URLs for Forms, Reports, Screens etc (see 'Create Link') or you can provide an external URL.



Example Workflow that is triggered by an Action button on a Form and redirects the user to a Survey that is created on the fly. The wavigate reature works when the worknow has a Or context (e.g. user clicks an Action Button or interacts with a User Input). This feature, for example, means that you can put an action button on a Form and do things like:

- generate a new survey on-the-fly, and then navigate your user to that survey in real-time
- navigate the user to a second Form or a specific chart or report

The Navigate allows you to simplify the end user experience by navigating for them. Not only does this result in fewer clicks it allows you to navigate to objects that are created on the fly.

Learn more about Workflows and how to use them.

Enhancements

• Refreshing a Report no longer resets the Analyser filters.

- Fixed an issue where creating fields with the same name as an existing field could stop certain actions from working as expected.
- Fixed a rounding error that could happen on UI controls under certain circumstances.
- Fixed an issue where certain error messages were persisting after being closed by the user.
- Fixed an issue where the picker report for Organisation structure was throwing an error if the picker report was 'Default' or 'Organisation Structure Hierarchy'.
- Fixed an issue where horizontal scroll was missing from Report columns causing columns to overlap under certain conditions.
- Workflow 'Update' activity no longer deletes Relationships when there are no values to update.
- Fixed an issue where Action buttons cannot be deleted if the corresponding workflow has been deleted.
- Fixed an issue where Action buttons were being incorrectly displayed to some users under certain circumstances.

Release Notes 2.151 (15th April, 2021)

Last Modified on 20/04/2021 10:43 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Features

Public Forms - available for testing

Public Forms provides a low friction mechanism for collecting data from unauthenticated users, e.g. members of the public.

Built within our new UI, Public Forms provide a clean look and feel on screens of all sizes and are deeply integrated with the ReadiNow Platform. Public Forms support a wide range of use-cases where 'authentication' is not required. For example you might want to:

- allow potential customers to make an enquiry
- enable passers-by to report a hazard
- use crowdsourcing to collect structured data

Whatever your use case, Public Forms are highly flexible and easy to integrate with your business logic. Just like our 'classic' Forms, Public Forms submissions can optionally trigger Workflows allowing you to harness the full power of the ReadiNow platform.

Find out more about Public Forms:

- best practices for Public Forms
- getting started with Public Forms
- Public Forms security overview

If you're ready to test Public Forms, ReadiNow customers can raise an issue in Service Desk to request access.

- Fixed an issue where users were losing access to related records.
- Improved UX for refreshing screen components all at once
- Fixed an issue where multiple workflows were showing in the Report builder
- Fixed an issue where some Charts were being cropped

Release Notes 2.150 (18th March, 2021)

Last Modified on 15/03/2021 12:00 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Enhancements

To improve user experience, some error messages now clear when you navigate away from a Form.

Miscellaneous

• Warning messages for workflows with incorrect input parameter types have been changed to error messages.

- Fixed a caching issue where client side reports were not cleared when login changed.
- Fixed an issue where adding a workflow inputs with changed Objects if the existing Object name matched the start of the new object name.
- Reports formatted with conversation style now support conditional formatting, choice fields, and rich text.
- Fixed issue with SMS message encoding to minimise message size.
- Fixed an issue where workflows were inappropriately showing an error 'Result was of type text but needed to be record.'

Release Notes 2.149 (February 2021)

Last Modified on 17/02/2021 8:53 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

There are no new features in this release. We're working on our roadmap.

- Fixed an issue that prevented reports from showing changes after saving inline edits.
- Fixed an issue where formatted fields caused some labels to be missing from column charts.
- Refresh button no longer overlaps data in charts.
- Calculations in Workflows now give meaningful error messages if type conversion fails.

Release Notes 2.148 (January 2021)

Last Modified on 18/01/2021 2:03 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Feature

Email Listener for CC

You can now trigger workflows from CC fields. We have improved the email listener so that it listens to the CC fields of your configured inboxes.

Find out about inboxes, using email in workflows and smart email handling.

- Improved error message in document generation if the Chart Name is not passed as the first parameter
- Changing workflow input parameters now triggers a validation check and displays a warning if the new input does not have the expected fields.
- Fixed a bug where calculations were failing to take Choice Field script names as an input value.
- Fixed an issue where autonumbers were not unique when records were imported from a 2nd tenant.
- Fixed an issue where workflows could twice if user double clicked on an action button while in edit mode.
- Metadata export now includes edit forms.
- Fixed an issue where Autonumber was always starting from 2

Release Notes 2.147 (December 10th 2020)

Last Modified on 07/12/2020 4:42 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

This release introduces opportunities to boost Report performance with an option to explicitly disabling evaluation of reverse Security-relationships. Security-relationships are convenient and especially useful when you need to return everything that a User has access to. However, in many situations this is not necessary and disabling securing relationships can result in significant performance improvements. Find out more in Security Relationships.



Enhancements

Fields in the default group in Report and Chart Builders are now sorted alphabetically making it easier to find a specific Field.

- In document generation:
 - list functions concat(last() first()) no longer create empty rows when input is empty
 - an issue where documents became corrupted if negative values were used for chart properties is resolved
 - fixed an issue where documents failed to generate under certain conditions including some Charts
- Implicit number to decimal conversion in a calculated Text Field on a Form no longer displays extra zeros on Reports
- Fixed an issue where SMS notifications were not sent due to 3rd party rate limiting
- Fixed an issue where an extra scroll bar appears on some screen configurations

Release Notes 2.146 (November 12th 2020)

Last Modified on 09/11/2020 4:34 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Enhancements

Security Rule Optimisation

Performance of Reports that rely on 'Security Rules' can now be improved by adding a corresponding Analyser condition. For example:

An application designer has created a report "My Tasks" that relies on security to filter rows for tasks owned by the user. They can now improve the performance of that report by including the filter "owned by current user".

- System Workflow no longer changes the 'modified date' on the workflow report.
- Using context() in a workflow calculation without also providing context no longer results in an unhandled calculation exception.
- Fixed an issue where Users were unable to drill down to some Reports unless the Report was in the Navigation Tree.
- It is now possible to change the script name when accessing Object Properties in the reverse direction.
- Fixed an issue with single tap 'New', for document upload not working on some iPads and iPhones.
- Inline editing no longer clears Choice Fields when scrolling or adjusting column widths.
- Using the 'Any Of' filter for 'Get Records' now allows selection of multiple Choice Field values.
- Report nodes nested more than one level below an aggregate node can now be deleted.
- Improved error message when importing Workflows with unknown dependencies.
- Calculated columns now sort alphabetically in the Report builder.
- Fixed an issue where week days were displayed inconsistently in View and Edit modes for workflow schedules.
- Global Search now respects theming.

Release Notes 2.145 (October 15th 2020)

Last Modified on 21/10/2020 8:54 am AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Offline Mobile

Offline Mobile makes it easy to capture data on-thego. It was developed for situations where an network connections are not available but people still need to create records.

For example, from time to time, your users may need to report an incident or collect structured data while working remotely.

With Offline Mobile your users can:

- sign in using their ReadiNow account
- download Forms to their mobile device
- create draft record while offline
 - choice field pickers
 - relationship pickers
 - date time fields
 - image fields
- review & edit their draft records
- upload drafts to create new records

Read the Offline Mobile documentation to find out how to get started.



Enhancements

Import Spreadsheet - now supports Autonumber fields

We've improved our spreadsheet import by adding support for importing AutoNumber fields that are setup as Resource Keys. Learn how to setup a Resource Key to use with AutoNumber fields and how to import data from spreadsheets.

Import Spread	dsheet										
Upload Document Se	lect Object	Select Colur	nns	Options	Imp	ort	Back	Next	Test Impor	t Import	
Object: Scientist								Add a	fixed value (Clear all mapping	Igs
Spreadsheet Column / Sour	Object Fields		Field Deta	ails		Sampl	e 1		Sample 2		
(A) ScientistID	AutoNumber	~	AutoNum	ber Field		SCI000)2		SCI0003		
(B) Sci	select	~				Mary 9	Somerville		Michael Fara	day	
(C) Text 2	select	~				Scotla	nd		England		
Import	Import Spreadsheet now supports AutoNumber fields that are setup as Resource Keys.										

We've also made it easier to run 'test imports' by replacing the import checkbox with a 'Test Import' button. The test import button is conveniently located next to the existing 'Import' button. This makes it easier to run test imports while you perfect your import configuration.

Direct Navigation to Child Workflows & API Configuration

Added edit buttons to the Run Workflow properties in Workflow Builder so you can easily edit a child workflow, and API Callout activity to configure APIs.

Find out how to Run Workflows from another workflow.

τ.	Run child workflow to fetch a fi click to edit description	Run Workflow				
Workflow	v to run					
Workflow	Child Workflow - fetch file a	and impor 🛛 🗸 🕹 🌶				
Do no	t pause					
Child Workflows have an 'edit' button for quick navigation.						

Miscellaneous Security Improvements

- Introduces a 500M file size limit for all file uploads
- Added a new health check to flag when an Administrator account is enabled
- The default password policy has been strengthened
- XML files removed as a 'core' document type (find out how to add custom document types)

- Fixes an issue where some Autonumber patterns displayed inconsistently in some situations.
- Renamed labels for Workflow Input Object selection from 'Definition' to 'Object'.
- Fixed a bug where generating documents from Screens with multiple reports could result in an error message on the first attempt.
- Fixed a bug where, under certain conditions, changes to columns in a report were not correctly propagated to the analyzer.
- Fixed an issue where default values were not applied to objects unless the corresponding field was included on the form.

Release Notes 2.144 (September 17, 2020)

Last Modified on 26/03/2021 12:51 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Global Search - Information at your fingertips

The new Global Search feature is a gateway to productivity. Simply click on the search icon in the header and start typing, you can use basic keyword matching (*even if you make a typo*), or take it up a notch with wild cards and other features.

Global Search offers several advanced features and you can even save search expressions to use anywhere, anytime. Find out how to:

Use Global Search (general use, tips and tricks) Enable and Configure Global Search (Admin Settings)



Audit Log Retention

We've overhauled the purging and archiving of Audit Logs. Now tenant Admins have greater control over the management of audit log retention policies. We have introduced secure (Read-Only) storage for archived logs in the Document Library. Learn more about the improved Retention Policies.

Enhancements

Smarter Grid Lines on Charts

With this release we've improved the grid lines on date-time charts, now you can give all your charts a minimakeover with grid lines. Find out how to add Grid Lines to Charts.

- Scheduled Workflows were not running if the Workflow trigger did not have an owner. With this fix the Workflow runs as expected when the owner is set to "Run as owner".
- Workflows using the 'Run Workflow' activity do not update if changes to input and output arguments of the selected Workflow have been made. With this fix a validation warning is displayed if the configuration is no longer consistent.
- Fixed an issue where some complex Workflows were not being deleted properly under certain conditions.

- Fixed an issue where some hyperlinks on Reports were not working.
- Improved error message when importing from a spreadsheet fails because no matching Records were found.

Release Notes 2.143 (August 20th, 2020)

Last Modified on 07/09/2020 5:43 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Put more order in your charts

Now you can specify the order of data series in your charts. Simply open a chart with a sortable axis in 'Edit' mode and drag your preferred sort criteria onto the 'Order' field.



- Health Checks:
 - Warnings now show for each instance of an issue, instead of just the first instance
 - Check added for deletion of documents used by Report Templates
 - Improved messaging for errors detected in calculated columns

Release Notes 2.142 (July 23rd, 2020)

Last Modified on 21/07/2020 9:00 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Ability to hide calculated field in a report

Now you have the ability to create a calculated field without requiring the field to be displayed as a columns in reports, with the added bonus that the report builder also provides the user a simpler way of viewing, adding and/or removing the field from as a column or filter.

ReadiNow					📉 🗶 🌬 Fo	ster University 🔳 🛔	. 9 0 0 .
Readi BUILDER						C RELOAD IL PROPER	TES 🗎 SAVE 🎼 SAVEAS 🛛 🛛
Report	Student report						
Relationship viewer	ACTIONS 1						Ŧ
X 8 7 ±	StudentID Student	Address line1	State	Shudant -			
Student	1145 Selma Terrell	P.O. Box 994, 8276 Vitae St.	SA	Student :			
Country	1221 Yoshi Joseph	Ap #770-9459 Quis Av.	S.A.	Eligible to Graduater :			
- Candar	1149 Meredith Alvarez	Ap #632-1121 Magna St.	NSW	Limit results :	Top N records		
and the second s	1139 Wayne Avery	Ap #928-6993 At Av.					Apply +> Reset
	1132 Ezekiel Cooley	P.O. Box 447, 567 Semper Rd.	NSW	tzekiel.cooley@ipsun	nbuspendissesagittis.net	Australia	3-135.33
- +- Suburb	1146 Irene Roman	1619 Nunc Ave	S.A.	Irene Roman@etipsur	n.ca	Australia	\$-75.00
Calculated	1163 Sara Nieves	802-6839 Ac Street	QLD	Sara Nieves@nec.co.u	ik	Australia	\$-4.17
lick to edit	1173 Alvin Robinson	9854 Ante St.	S.A.	Alvin Robinson@duiC	um.net	Australia	\$37.50
	1197 Alfonso Mcclure	132-6203 Aliquet Av.	VIC	Alfonso.Mcclure@acc	umsanlaoreetipsum.edu	Australia	\$137.50
A Eigene to Graduater	1160 Baker Sparks	3510 Magna, St.	SA	Baker.Sparks@Namte	mpor.ca	Australia	\$-16.67
and the first state of the second state of the	Calculated fields o	n reports are now	shown	in the left	hand pa	ne	

Identity Provider Initiated Login

This release adds Identity Provider (IdP) initiated login (in addition to Service Provider (SP) initiated logon). With IdP initiated login, users can log into your Tenant seamlessly from your preferred identity provider. Find out how to setup SP &/or IdP initiated login.

Log Retention Policy

The new Log Retention Policy settings gives Administrators fine grain control over the management and archiving of different types of logs and introduces a secure document library to store and protect archived logs. Find out how to configure archive settings and view archived logs.

- Calculations: Document Generation no longer throwing error on screen for invalid calculation
- Charts: Refresh icon on charts no longer stopping users from selecting chart bars/pie segments
- Forms: Cache issue resolved when changing read only/visibility setting for form controls
- Health Checks:
 - Now displays 'scan running' message during a scan
 - A scan can be run again after attempting to cancel a precious scan.
 - HealthCheck scan is no longer failing with error "Failed to start Health Check Scan. An existing health check scan already running"
- Reports: When workflow button removed in report builder it is also removed from report

- Resource Key: Auto field is now working
- Workflow: Workflow calculation compiler now provides meaningful error message when wrong data is entered for a relationship

Release Notes for 2.141 (June 25th, 2020)

Last Modified on 21/07/2020 9:05 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Enhancements

Miscellaneous

Administrator Object Form Improvements

• Creating Reports, Forms, and Charts is easier thanks to the addition of buttons to the Object Form. This can be found in: Administration > Resources > Objects.

🔳 Team Member				← Book			
Name: Team Member	Default Display Pa	port: Active Team P	/embers				
Description:	Default Picker Rep	ort: Active Team P	/embers				
	Default Form :	Team Membe	r Form				
Abstract Type:	Default Tablet For	n:					
Application: Ship It							
REPORTS	FORMS		CHARTS				
Name Application Default (Displ., Default (Picker)	Name Application Default D	efault (Tablet)	Name	Application			
Active Team M Ship It 🗸 🗸	* Taggit Team M		Active Team Member Chart	Activity Tweet			
Active Team M Shared	Team Member Ship It		Ownership	Product Database			
Alex Workflow	Team Member Ship It 🖌 🖌		Resolved in last 10 days Chart	ReadiManager			
All Team Mem Shared			Resolved in last 3 days Chart	ReadiManager			
Dev Team Me Ship It	•						
Workfow Tiggers Ault Policies Boards Hierarchies Document Templates Resource Keys Relationships (source) Relationships (target) Access Rules Fields APIs Derived Types Inherited Types Name * Workfow Exabled Application							
Improvements to Object Form							

Calculation Improvements

- In release 2.132 we added warnings to certain calculation expressions as part of ongoing improvements to the calculation engine. As of this release, certain expressions will be deprecated and warnings will now be presented as errors.
 - If a calculation returns a list result when a single-value is expected an error message will be shown in the calculation editor and builders (however existing calculations that return lists will continue to run).
 - TIP: A list-result can typically be converted to a single-value result by using an aggregation function such as: any, first, or join.
 - NOTE: In most cases the calculation behaviour will not change, however in some edge cases calculations may behave differently from release 2.141, therefore running the Tenant Health Check and correcting 'flagged' calculations is recommended. This should not impact tenants as Professional Services have been working with clients to ensure a smooth transition. If you have any concerns, please contact Support.

- Calculations
 - Error message no longer disappears from the other window when both ReadOnly and Visibility calculation windows have incorrect calculations and one of them is corrected

- Visibility and ReadOnly calculations displays error when a list is passed instead of a scalar value
- Fixed issue related to determining whether a calculation returns a 'list' or 'single-value'
- Forms
 - Entering valid value in time field manually no longer gives validation error
 - Relationship field displayed as 'Inline' can now be set to read-only
- Navigation: Moving a report with navigation access to another section, automatically assigns access to the parent under which the item is moved
- Reports
 - Edit Inline: If there is a field validation resulting an error, the cursor no longer jumps to another field
 - Date value format is now correctly labelled
 - Clicking 'Load More' when a Report was configured in a certain way no longer generates error: 'The report failed to run: Query entity could not be found'
- User Account: The last modified date and modified by are no longer set on the user account when submitting a Forgot Username or Password email
- Workflows
 - Failing workflows in specific scenarios due to primary key violation has been fixed
 - Get Records activity: filter performance has been improved
 - Send Email activity: "Override TO address" emails are no longer sent to CC recipients
 - Send Email activity: Switching between 'List' & 'Email Address' (in 'Email To') now resets recipient fields (To, CC, BCC), error messages are cleared on Save.

Release Notes for 2.140 (May 28th, 2020)

Last Modified on 22/06/2020 4:11 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Record APIs

Now you can use Record APIs to easily access to API enabled records, find out how to get started:

- Getting Started
- Record Types
- Reading Data
- Creating and Modifying Data

ReadiNow			
ADMINISTRATION	TOOL BOX		
🖿 Audit	^ [*]	Record Types	
Metrics	*	And for the second second	
Resources	^	Application: Hazard Register	Enable application Bublick application
Security		Causes	Disabled Enabled Published
Settings	•	Control Types	O Disabled Enabled Published
Workflows	-	Controls	○ Disabled
Integration	1 - T	Hazard App	○ Disabled Enabled Published
🐁 API Key	s	Hazards	Disabled Enabled Published
Record	APIs	Images	O Disabled Enabled Published
🐌 APIs		Instructions	○ Disabled
📰 Creden	tials	U	\circledast Disabled \odot Enabled \bigcirc Published
Export	Runs	non man	and a second of the second second

Note: the existing Rest APIs will be deprecated after users transition to the improved Record APIs.

Enhancements

Miscellaneous

- Calculation:
 - A warning has been added for Substring() calculations if the starting position is less than 1.
 - A warning has been added when attempting to compare decimals to text.
- Workflow: The ownership of workflow triggers now defaults to the User who created the trigger.

- Export: Exporting to MS Word & MS Excel no longer converts time to 'daylight savings time'.
- Forms:
 - Cascaded choice fields no longer displaying more options than expected.
 - Fixed an issue causing: "An error occurred getting data: Cannot set property 'isVisible' of undefined" for non-admin users.
- Surveys:

- No longer possible to 'submit' an incomplete survey, submit is now disabled.
- Workflows & Surveys:
 - Workflows no longer stop working when a survey is at the approval step.
 - Clicking emailed links for survey approval in workflows now tells user if survey has already been approved.

Release Notes for 2.139 (April 30th, 2020)

Last Modified on 23/04/2020 5:56 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Conditional Read Only

The Visibility Tab on Field Properties has been replaced with *Form Behaviour* where both the Visibility and Read Only states of the field may be (dynamically) determined. Any pre-existing Visibility calculation is not lost and is carried over to the new implementation.

Text Field Properties				
Field Name : Te Display Name : Description :	ext			
OPTIONS Form Detail Form Behaviour	Object Detail	Format Custom Form Va	lidation	Ţ
	Always	Calculated	Never	
				Q f(+) (/>
_	N	ew Form Beha <u>viour</u>	- Tab	OK Cancel

To configure the Visibility behaviour of the field, select Visibility from the Control Behaviour drop down, then select:

- *Always* the expression box is disabled and the field will always be Visible. This will not delete an existing calculation in the expression box, but any calculation therein will be ignored
- *Calculated* this requires a calculation that evaluates to a Boolean when TRUE this field will be visible and when FALSE this field will not be visible
- Note that Never is not applicable to Visibility and is disabled

To configure the Read-only behaviour of the field, select Read-only from the Control Behaviour drop down.

• *Always* - the expression box is disabled and the field will always be Read-only. This will not delete an existing calculation in the expression box, but any calculation therein will be ignored

- *Calculated* this requires a calculation that evaluates to a Boolean when TRUE this field will be Read-only and when FALSE this field will not be Read-only
- *Never* the expression box is disabled and the field will never be Read-only. This will not delete an existing calculation in the expression box, but any calculation therein will be ignored

Note that the setting applied to both Read-only and Visibility behaviours are shown in parentheses after each respective item. For example, in the screenshot below, *Read-only* is set to *Calculated* and *Visible* is set to *Always*.

Control behaviour	Read-only (calculated)	٣				
	Read-only (calculated) Visible (always)					
Setting in effect shown in parentheses						

New function availability - *any*(*x*) and *every*(*x*) for Reports

Previously available only in Workflow calculations, these are now available for use in Report calculations.

The any and every functions both accept a list of Yes/No values, and return a single Yes/No value.

Example Usage

- any(all(Student).Name = 'Peter') => true if there is at least one student called Peter
- every(all(Student).Age >= 18) => true if every student is at least 18

- Platform : Addressed an issue where on rare occasions the SSO drop down menu was not showing on the login page
- SSO : Existing User Accounts updated correctly when Update Existing Users is enabled

Release Notes for 2.138 (April 2nd, 2020)

Last Modified on 31/03/2020 10:41 am AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Set Chart configuration options using Calculations

This new chart function allows named parameters to be passed. (I.e. unlike most calculation functions, you actually have to give a name as well as a value for each parameter)

- The first parameter to the chart is always the name of the chart, and this parameter does not get named.
- The remaining parameters may be specified in any order, with each having a name, then colon, then the value (or calculation)
- All named parameters are optional
- Parameter names are identifiers, and behave in the same way as other identifiers. (i.e. can have square brackets around them; and are not case-insensitive)

Parameters

WidthCm	 The width of the chart, in centimeters, as it should appear in the Word document. While it is possible to zoom into a Word document, this is the 'natural' width, i.e. what should appear on a correctly configured screen, or normal paper print-out If WidthCm is not provided, then a default of 16cm is used. Data type : decimal (does not accept list calculations as values)
HeightCm	 The height of the chart, in centimeters, as it should appear in the Word document. If <i>HeightCm</i> is not provided, then the default is: width/2.2 Data type : decimal (does not accept list calculations as values)
Rotate	 The number of degrees that the chart should be rotated clockwise If <i>Rotate</i> is not provided, the default is zero Data type : decimal (does not accept list calculations as values)
PixelsPerInch	 The screen resolution to emulate when sampling the SVG for the chart. This uses a default value of 100 PPI, which is consistent with typical monitors Data type : decimal (does not accept list calculations as values)

Example Usage

- chart([Chart Name])
- chart([Chart Name], WidthCm: 10)
- chart([Chart Name], WidthCm: 10, HeightCm: 10, Rotate: 90)
- chart([Chart Name], [Rotate]: 90)
- chart([Chart Name], WidthCm: 10, HeightCm: 10, Rotate: 90, PixelsPerInch:200)

Application of sizing information

- A simulated rendering of the chart is done using screen pixels
 - *WidthCm*, *HeightCm*, and *PixelsPerInch* are used to determine the pixel size to use for the simulated rendering.
- The generated SVG is then embedded into Word, with sizing information.
 - *WidthCm*, *HeightCm*, and *Rotation* are provided to Word to indicate how big the result should be.
- Adjusting *PixelsPerInch* has the effect of controlling how wide the pixels/lines are when scaled.
 - a smaller PPI (i.e. less than default of 100) will give larger text; fat lines; and potentially fewer axis markings
 - a larger PPI (i.e. more than default of 100) will give smaller text; thin/faint lines; and potentially more axis markings

Using constant strings for drill-downs

It is now possible to specify that a chart should be drilled down such that document authors can create charts specific to the current record.

- Allow a list of column names and values to be provided to the chart function
- If any column names/values are provided, they must be placed after a 'with' keyword
- Column names are identifiers (i.e. use square brackets if there are any spaces or special characters)
- Refer to draft product documentation for details on column filters.
- Column values:
 - will typically be constant values
 - but can be any form of calculation, so long as the data type matches the data type of the column
 - lookup/relationship name columns, and the root name column, behave as though they have a data type of record (with whatever the appropriate record type for that column is)
- Examples
 - chart([Chart Name] with [My number column]:123)
 - chart([Chart Name] with [My number column]:100+20+3)
 - chart([Chart Name] with [First Name]:'Peter', [Last Name]:'Aylett')
 - chart([Gantt Scientists] with [Scientist]: resource([Scientist], [Alan Turing]))
 - chart([Whatever] with [Created By]: currentuser())

Enhancements

Various performance tweaks and boosts in Reports.

- API Callouts : Gateway activity no longer throws a validation error when accessing APICallout dynamic type data
- API Callouts : Extraneous "??" no longer added after the base URL when using "API Key Authentication" for API Callouts
- Security : Inherited Security Rules could not be changed and are now greyed out to highlight this state of affairs

Release Notes for 2.137 (March 5th, 2020)

Last Modified on 19/03/2020 12:49 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Workflow

Batch Creation of Records

This feature that allows users to create new record(s) based on another Object. Users will be able to create multiple records without looping which simplifies workflows which in turn should run faster.



Where there are existing records with a corresponding resource key available, this can be used to update the existing records by checking *Update existing record with matching key*.

Batch Update Activity

Historically, in order to update to multiple records in a workflow a loop was required.

In this release, the update activity is modified so that it will accept a list of records and perform the update on each record. This results in cleaner, more convenient workflows and improved performance.



"Template" style expressions in workflow calculations

New functions are available that allow document template techniques to be used within Workflow and Form calculations - *text* and *html*.

text(|Welcome {currentuser().[Account Holder]}, here is a custom greeting for you.|)

html(|

 Dear {[First Name]},

 If your name contains angle brackets then you'll be OK.
|)

Both functions allow you to easily create multi-line messages with customized content. Document template features such as repeated content and conditionally included content are supported.

The *html* function also includes security features to prevent unusual characters or malicious record data from producing unsafe HTML, and it should be used in any place that a Workflow needs to generate rich text.

Please refer to Text Templates for further details.

Calculations

Link Calculation Function

A new link calculation function has been provided that can conveniently generate a web address for a viewing/editing/creating a record, or to a ReadiNow page. For example:

```
link(view, [A workflow record variable])
link(create, [Task])
link(report, [My Report Name])
```

Refer to the Link function for details.

Calculated Rich Text and URL fields

Rich Text and URL are now both available as field options when adding a calculated field. If selected, these will render as read-only rich text and URL fields. The calculation must be formatted with the *html* or *url* functions to be correctly escaped.

For example, to create a calculated rich text field to produce this:

This is plain text. This is in bold.

Uses this calculation:

html(|This is in plain text. This is in bold.|)

For a URL, the following are appropriate calculations:

```
url('http://google.com')
link([A workflow record variable])
```

The *html*, *url*, and *link* functions inform the system that the data is appropriately encoded for use as HTML or URL. If they are not used then the system will (for safety) fully encode the string, and will end with unexpected results.

Administrators may disable access control in report calculations

The !unsecured calculation keyword was previously unavailable in report calculations, except by creating a calculated field.

The !unsecured keyword may now be report calculations.

The report must be saved by a security administrator. If a content administrator, who is not a security administrator, subsequently modifies the report then !unsecured will no longer be honored in that report. However, if the user who saved the report ceases to be a security administrator or if their account is deactivated, then the report and !unsecured calculation will still run to work as intended for other users.

Document Generation

Support HTML document templates

Platform now supports the ability to generate the HTML documents.

User can upload documents and create templates with .html/.htm file extensions to be used for document generation. The generation process is similar to plain-text documents. The the default encoding of the calculation macros will be HTML.

Readi	NOW NOVATE				🔹 Admir	nistration \equiv 4 5 Γ_{19} (?)
		< ^				
Ē A	opplications	•	Document Ty	/pes		
🖿 A	Nudit	-	C - ACTION - + NEW	✓ EDIT INLINE		▼ Search C
. .			Туре	Name	Extension	
N	Aetrics	<u>^</u>	×	Excel Spreadsheet	*.xls;*.xlsx;*.xlsm;*.xlt;	*.xltx;*.xlm;*.xltm;*.xlsb;*.xla;*.xlam;*.xlw;*.csv;*.odc
F R	lesources		 4>	HTML Document	*.html;*.htm	
			()	JSON Document	*.json	
Ē S	ecurity	^		OneNote Document	*.one	
			Y	Outlook Document	*.oft;*.msg	
S	ettings			PDF Document	*.pdf;*.fdf;*.xfdf	
	Conditional Format	lc		Photo or Image	*.png;*.jpg;*.jpeg;*.sv	/g
_				PowerPoint Presentation	*.ppt;*.pptx;*.pptm; *	.potx;*.ppam;*.pps;*.ppsx;*.ppsm;*.sldx;*.sldm;*.th
	Document Types			Publisher Document	*.pub	
_	- 16 - 6 W			Text Document	*.txt	
	Email Server Setting	s		Visio Document	*.vsd;*.vdx;*.vss;*.vsx;	*.vst;*.vtx;*.vsw;*.vdw
*.	General Settings			Word Document	*.doc;*.docx;*.docm;*	*.dotx;*.dot;*.dotm;*.rtf;*.odt
				XML Document	*.xml	Activate Windows
	Image Settings	-				Go to Settings to activate Windows.

This means, for example, that if an embedded macro results in a string that contains a HTML character such as < > or &, then it will get encoded for HTML (e.g. &It; > or & respectively)

Note : Generated files are passed through a HTML whitelist sanitizer that removes script tags.

Enhancements

Replay Workflow

In Release 2.136, the *Replay Run* feature was made available which allowed users to replay any Workflow run with the same inputs and context. However, this replay would always use the original version of the Workflow which the run executed.



This feature has been enhanced such that now when replaying a Workflow run, after selecting *Replay Run*, users may choose to replay using the latest version of the workflow or staying on the original version.

								<u> </u>	Adit
Replay									
This will start ti	he workflow(s)	from the begin	nning. Are yo	u sure?					
		Replay usin	ng original ve	rsion	Repl	ay using la	atest version	Cancel	
	Version	Modified d	Status	Trig			Log Deta	Pending ac	tivity
New Replay using latest version option									

Bug Fixes

- Configuration changes : Log entries are now created when an entity is imported via platform configure commands
- Reports : Workflow button on a report no longer temporarily disabled when returning to that report
- Report Builder : Adding additional columns to the right of a report will now always correctly render all columns on the right of the chart without requiring a scroll action to redraw
- Survey : Clicking Next/Previous when answering a Survey will now load the page starting from the top
- Workflow Builder : Pressing 'Enter' when editing a response in a User Action activity no longer deletes the response

Product Documentation

Changes have been made to this product documentation.

- You can now bookmark pages.
- You can now use Google and other search engines to find content.

The following articles have been added or updated recently:

- Link Function
- Relationships
- Security Relationships
- Text Templates

Release Notes for 2.136 (February 6th, 2020)

Last Modified on 11/02/2020 1:46 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Workflow Run Management Options

Two new features are included in this release that will allow Tenant Administrators to have better control over their long running or paused Workflow Runs. Both new features are available in the Right Click Context Menu on the Workflow Runs report.

Redirect to Latest Version

The first new feature is *Redirect to Latest Version* which allows for paused or long running Workflows that are running against older versions of the Workflow to be redirected to the latest version.

Workflow Runs										
C - ACTION -										
Workflow			Version	Modified date	▼	Status				
Example Workflow - Snapshot			2	10/00/2010 0:04	nm	Paused				
Example Workflow - Snapshot	٩	View 'Example	Workflov	v - Snapshot'	im	Paused				
Example Workflow - Snapshot		Examine 'Exam	ple Work	flow - Snapshot'	im	Paused				
User Input w/Any Except - Snapshot		Cancel 'Exampl	e Workfl	ow - Snapshot'	ım	Paused				
		Redirect to Late	est Versio	n						
	Q	Replay Run								
	2	Export								
		Redirect to Lat	test Vers	ion option						

Notes on Usage

- 1. If the Workflow is already is already on the latest version, Redirect to Latest Version will fail and the reason given in a banner alert
- Redirect to Latest Version is only applicable to Workflows that have not reached an end point (Completed, Failed, or Cancelled). Attempting to redirect a Workflow that has ended will fail and the reason given in a banner alert
- 3. If the Workflow Run is paused on a Workflow Activity that has been renamed or deleted in the latest version, the redirect will fail and the reason given in a banner alert
- 4. Multi-select is supported use Ctrl-Click for expanding selection individually or Shift-Click to select all Workflow runs between the first highlighted row and the selected row. Any subset of the selection that fails to redirect will not impact the successful redirection of eligible Workflow Runs contained within the selection
- 5. Attempting to redirect a Workflow Run that is currently executing will only be redirected when that Workflow reaches a paused state
- 6. Finally, the redirection feature will not (and could not) check for behavioural differences when changing a Workflow Run to the latest version. It is strongly advised that Tenant Administrators review the impact that would occur when considering using this function

Replay Run

The second new feature is *Replay Run* which allows for any failed Workflow Run to be replayed with the same inputs and contexts. This provides an easy way to re-run a Workflow that had temporarily failed (incorrect calculation, security misconfiguration, etc) without requiring the re-entering of all the requisite inputs.

C - Action -					
Workflow		Versi	Modified date	Statu	15
Example Workflow - Snapshot Example Workflow - Snapshot User Input w/Any Except - Snapshot	 View 'Example Examine 'I Cancel 'Example Redirect to Replay Ru Export 	nple Wor Example V ample Wo D Latest V	kflow - Snapshot' Vorkflow - Snapshot' orkflow - Snapshot' ersion	Paus Paus	ed ed

Notes on Usage

- 1. Replaying a Workflow Run will create a new Workflow Run with the same parameters, triggering user, and correlation code. It will also log an audit message indicating which user is initiating the Replay.
- 2. Wherever a Workflow has been updated, any Replayed Workflow Runs will use the original version it ran against and not the latest version
- 3. The "Parent Run" relationship is not maintained. Replaying a failed Child Run will have no effect on the parent run (which will have failed due to the failed Child Run)
- 4. The Triggering Run relationship is maintained.
- 5. Multi-select is supported use Ctrl-Click for expanding selection individually or Shift-Click to select all Workflow runs between the first highlighted row and the selected row. Any subset of the selection that fails to replay will not impact the successful replaying of eligible Workflow Runs contained within the selection
- 6. While the primary use of Replay Run is to re-run failed Workflow Runs, the feature does not prevent the replay of any Workflow Run regardless of current status. Tenant Administrators are advised to carefully consider the impact if they replay a Workflow Run that has not reached an end state.

Change Management

The new Change Management feature allows Tenant Administrators to move configuration changes between tenants with more ease and precision.

This feature can be found under **Administration** -> **Applications** -> **Change Management** on the left hand navigation tree.

Cha	nge M	anagement								
Time	period: 🔻	8/16/2019, 11:35:23 AM - P	atform Install/Upgrade (SoftwareF	PlatformSetup_2	1 V Search		Select All Sele	ect None sea	rch	
	► <u>Chang</u>	25					Console			•
۲	Choice3	25		Relationship		Administrator		11/18/2019, 10	:43:32 AM	
۲	Choice4 • <u>Chang</u>	35		Choice Field		Administrator	ReadiNow Console	11/18/2019, 10	:44:53 AM	
ø	Choice4 ► <u>Chang</u>	85		Relationship		Administrator		11/18/2019, 10	:45:25 AM	
ø	Choice5 <u>Chang</u>	85		Choice Field		Administrator	ReadiNow Console	11/18/2019, 10	:45:25 AM	
ø	Choice5 ► <u>Chang</u>	35		Relationship		Administrator		11/18/2019, 10	:45:25 AM	1
ø	Choice6 ► <u>Chang</u>	35		Choice Field		Administrator	ReadiNow Console	11/18/2019, 10	:48:19 AM	
ø	Choice6	85		Relationship		Administrator		11/18/2019, 10	:48:32 AM	
۲	Core API • <u>Chang</u>	85		API	APIs that are common to all applications.	Administrator	ReadiNow Core Data	9/27/2019, 3:00):28 PM	
ø	Currency <u>Chang</u>	85		Currency Field		Administrator		10/1/2019, 12:2	27:29 PM	
	Custom E	In Mana		Custom Edit		∆dministrator		2/3/2020 3:40·	R9 PM Generate	•
			Cha	ange Man	agement Interface					j

Notes on Usage

Selecting the designated Time Period



There are three Time Periods that may be used to bracket Configuration Change history:

- Relative (as shown above) show changes between now and the specified time interval in history
- Absolute show changes between specified two absolute date/time reference points
- **Restore Point** show changes since the selected *Restore Point*. *Restore Points* are created under *Tenant Rollback* - for more information on Tenant Rollback, please refer here.

Once the Time Period has been configured, click Search to return the matching list of Configuration Changes.

Managing view of returned Configuration Changes



These are used for broad refinement and/or selection of the returned list of Configuration Changes.

- Select All checks every item in the change list
- Select None unchecks every item in the change list
- Search bar refines change list by the entered search term

Reviewing details of individual Configuration Change items

The details of each Configuration Change item may be reviewed by clicking on Changes to expand a detail window view, as below.

Nan	ne	Туре	Description	Username	Application	Change Date
Curr	ency <u>Changes</u>	Currency Field		Administrator		10/1/2019, 12:27:29 PM
×	Currency Field 'Currency' Modified fields: Decimal places, Name, Script name Modified relationships: Field belongs to group, Res	source type				

Generate the Resource XML

Generate

When the desired Configuration Change list has been finalised, click Generate to create the XML containing every Configuration Change that had been checked. This may be imported into the Target Tenant via Import Resource.

Retiring Choice Fields

Values in Choice Fields may now be set to 'Retired'. This feature is available in the Choice Field Properties and via the Administration tab (Administration/Resources/Choice fields).

Choice Field Properties					
Name :	State				
Display Name :					
Description :				L ²	
Choice Fields	New Use Existing				
	State		1	· ×	
Choice Values	+ ~ ~ ×		Format: Default 🔻 🖉 Display	/ text	
	Name	Description	Retired		
	NSW				
	VIC				
	SA				
	WA				
	QLD			-	
	Order from minimum to maximum.				
✓ OPTIONS					
			ок	Cancel	
	Retire	Choice Field option			

Notes on Usage

- 1. When a value has been marked as 'Retired' it will not appear as a choice when creating new Records, but any historical Record that has that value set will retain them.
- 2. This feature is available on both single and multi-select Choice fields
- 3. This is a UI restriction only Workflows or Imports will still be able to set a Choice Value that has been marked as 'Retired'
- 4. If an existing record has a Retired Choice value set then that choice will still appear in the drop down

Enhancements

Form Name Display

Previously, the Object Name was shown instead of the Form Name when creating a new Record.

Now, Tenant Administrators may define what Form Display Name appears when creating a new Record depending on the Form being used. This is done by entering the desired value in *Display Name* field on the Form Properties dialog, as below.

Omitting this value will result in the behaviour as before, displaying the Object Name.

Form Properties Ob	oject Properties
Name :	OBJECTIVE Form
Display name :	Custom Form Name
Description :	
	12
Applications :	
Enable convert :	
Show help :	
Show labels above values :	×
lcon :	
Default form:	Ø
	Customising a Form Name Display

When creating a New Record using this form, the defined Display Name appears.

	🗎 Save	📸 Save and New	imes Cancel
Custom Form Name			
Customised Fo	orm Display Na	imes	

Please note that this new enhancement will not change any existing implementations - adoption of this new behaviour must be an explicit action on the part of Tenant Administrators.

Workflow Activity - User Input

Previously, all defined User Inputs in the Workflow Activity were always Mandatory.

As of this release, Tenant Administrators may now define whether or any User Input is Mandatory or Optional, as shown below.

User Input click to edit desi	User Input
For Person	[Triggering Person]
Task name	
Prompt	[All Picked].count()
Record	····
Display as	Рор ир 🔻
Allow 'Save for later'	
Workflow Variable/Inpu	t 🗙
Name	All Picked
Report	[Default] 🛛 🗸 🝸
Required	
Add Workflow Inputs or	/ariables
Checking 'Req	uired' marks this input Mandatory

By default all existing User Inputs will be marked as 'Required', as to not change how existing implementations currently behave.

New Theme Options

Tenant Administrators may now specify additional theme options by specifying colours across 5 sub-types of buttons.

BUTTON STYLES AREA				
Standard button colour :	Maroon			
Primary button colour :	Red			
Secondary button colour :	Dark Orange			
Approve button colour :	Yellow			
Reject button colour :	Lemon Chiffon			
Additional Theme Options				

The sub-type of a button is specified in the Record Actions dialog, as below boxed in green.

	Lo	ng and complex nar	ne for + Actions	
Actio	ns			
Recor	d Actions			
lcon	Name	Enable	Custom Label	Button Type
•	Long and complex name		Short	Primary Button 🔻
				UK Cancel
	Additic	onal Action F	Rutton Theme Or	otions

Additionally, Action Buttons may now have their labels customised in the Record Actions dialog as shown above boxed in red.

Miscellaneous

- Configuration Change Log Entries will now refer to entities by their *Display Name*. If there is no *Display Name* defined for the relevant entity, it will be referred to as <Unnamed> followed by an internal entity ID.
- The Update existing record with matching key option in the Create Workflow Activity will now always display. Previously it would only display if there were resource keys associated with the selected Object. Please note you will not be allowed to check this option if there are no resource keys defined for the selected Object.



- The Show Help icon will now display properly when two or more fields are horizontally inline on a Form when outside a Container
- Case calculations used in Workflows now compile successfully
- Importing Workflows with variable(s) no longer generates a dependency error message
- "En Dash" (-) character now correctly renders when exported to a Word document
- Workflow Run cleanup no longer occurring sooner than it should
- Disabled Scheduled Workflows is now ticked by default after a Tenant refresh

Release Notes for 2.135 (9th January, 2020)

Last Modified on 02/01/2020 3:37 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

There were no New Features included in this update.

Enhancements

Security Rules Performance

Based on feedback from clients and analysis of a selection of applications, we have made several enhancements to our security rules that will translate into improved performance.

Miscellaneous

- Text in the Hero Text Container Description field now appears as a hover tip
- Gauge charts no longer include the y-axis
- The performance of the initial load of large Workflows in Build Mode has been significantly improved

- Audit: The Configuration Change report is no longer limited to 3000 entries
- Documents: The Browse button for uploading new versions of documents has been restored

Release Notes for 2.134 (14th November, 2019)

Last Modified on 20/11/2019 1:49 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Send Email Workflow Activity

The Reply Address Type can now be specified in the Send Email Workflow Activity.

Send Email	cription	Send Email
Email To		
Reply Address Type	No Reply	•
Subject	No Reply Reply to Inbox	
Body	From Name/Address	
Attachments		.
Repl	y Address Type options	

There are three options available:

- 1. No Reply replies to emails generated by this Workflow activity will be addressed to noreply@readinow.com
- 2. **Reply to Inbox** replies to emails generated by this Workflow activity will be routed to the specified Inbox that has been configured on the Platform
- 3. From Name / Address replies to emails generated by this Workflow activity will be sent to the specified Name/Address

Custom Form Validation

The ability to define Custom Form Validation via a calculation has been implemented.

▲ OPTIONS							
Form Detail	Object Detail	Visibility	Format	Custom Form Validation			
NOTE: The valida	NOTE: The validation options are applicable ONLY when creating or editing records with this form.						
Validation Calcula	ation:						
				G			
				Q, f(x)			
Error Message :							
				23			
Always Validate:							
			Cu	istom Form Validation Tab			

- 1. Validation Calculation : The calculation used to validate the value for this field this calculation must return a Boolean value
- 2. Error Message : The message the user will see whenever the validation calculation above returns as False
- 3. Always Validate :
 - Checked This field will be validated on new record creation, or whenever this record has been updated, even if this field or any referenced fields used for the validation have not modified. This approach would be taken if it has been determined that a particular field needs to be continuously validated on creation and any subsequent edits, such as an 'Estimated Completion Date' or something similar
 - Unchecked This field will only be validated on new record creation, or when the value of this field or any referenced fields used for validation have been changed. Validation will not run if only unrelated fields are modified on this record. An example of using this approach is where a Date field is validated such it cannot be in the past at time of record creation, but it is not a meaningful check to continue on subsequent edits - such as 'Original Due Date' or something similar

Custom Form Validation Usage

- Custom Form Validation is supported for standalone edit Forms, edit forms on screens and inline editing
- Validation is performed only as a record is being saved not whenever fields on the record are changed
- Custom Form Validation is not available for Read Only fields marking a field as Read Only will hide the Custom Form Validation tab and any content will be ignored
- Using a Custom Form Validation will in effect make that field mandatory, unless specified by the calculation expression to allow null values
- Custom Form Validation based on a field that is hidden due to a visibility calculation is not supported. All referenced fields in a Custom Form Validation calculation must be visible on the form

- Records that have been imported are not subject to Custom Validation
- Custom Validation based on the AutoNumber field is not supported
- Removal of a field from a Form that is being used in a Custom Validation Expression will not remove those field references from those expressions and they will still be evaluated
- Please exercise care when creating multiple Validation Calculations as it is possible to create circular references

Enhancements

Miscellaneous

- Document version is now displayed on the Document Revision Form
- Browsing through Activities in a large Workflow will now be more responsive
- Improved handling of invalid Cron schedules
- Implemented checks in Workflow Builder to prevent the inadvertent creation of closed loops

- Choice Fields: Cascaded choice fields now work correctly when a user initiates a Workflow on a Form
- Documents: The Ability to recover Word Documents from the Document History has been restored
- Import/Export: Importing/Exporting after logging in again after a session time-out now works as expected
- Survey: In the rare cases where deadlock recovery is required, this will no longer create duplicate Survey Tasks
- Workflows: Improved deadlock recovery when multiple Workflows are running in parallel interacting with the same set of records

Release Notes for 2.133 (17th October, 2019)

Last Modified on 16/10/2019 8:06 am AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

There were no New Features included in this update.

Enhancements

Saving Workflows Performance Improvement

Prior to this release, when saving a Workflow that had an inordinately high number of runs associated to it would take a long time and have a significant impact on Platform performance. We had advised Tenant Administrators to avoid doing Workflow saves of workflows that fall under this description during peak business hours.

A change was effected around how this operation occurs which dramatically speeds up this process. Tenant Administrators may now save Workflows at their discretion regardless of time of day or Workflow run count.

These changes are transparent unless the Workflow report has been modified in specific ways.

Miscellaneous

Assorted performance improvements with Forms, Reports and Surveys

- Export: Exporting Choice fields to XML now functions correctly
- Forms: Refreshing the browser while creating a new Record will abandon that create operation in order to preserve the integrity of the create operation as a whole
- Survey: Improved robustness when operating in parallel with multiple Workflows operating on the same set of records

Last Modified on 05/09/2019 1:31 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Tenant Rollback

The tenant rollback feature allows you to undo changes to your tenant to a selected restore point. Generally you can undo up to five calendar days or until the last platform upgrade, whichever is the most recent. In some circumstances a rollback may not be possible due to the type of configuration changes that have been made.

Tenant rollback is under Settings in the Administration application.

Tenant Rollb	pack	
The tenant rollback fea platform upgrade. In s	ature allows you to rollback changes to your tenant to a selected restore point. Generally you can rollback up to five calendar days or u ome circumstances a rollback may not be possible due to quantity of changes in a given period.	ntil the last ReadiNow
NOTE: all data and me password resets and s	etadata additions, deletions and changes that occurred between now and the selected restore point will be reverted. This includes reco chema changes.	rds, audit log entries, user
Restore Points	C Refresh	
Date	Name	
08/05/2019, 08:09:20	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.85.0) Restore Point	
07/05/2019, 02:13:04	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.77.0) Restore Point	
05/05/2019, 02:06:27	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.76.0) Restore Point	
04/05/2019, 02:09:15	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.76.0) Restore Point	
03/05/2019, 02:06:30	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.73.0) Restore Point	
02/05/2019, 02:09:48	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.73.0) Restore Point	
01/05/2019, 02:09:25	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.70.0) Restore Point	
30/04/2019, 02:08:49	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.65.0) Restore Point	
29/04/2019, 13:11:56	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.61.0) Restore Point	
29/04/2019, 10:17:36	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.58.0) Restore Point	
29/04/2019, 09:45:16	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.58.0) Restore Point	
27/04/2019, 02:08:56	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.58.0) Restore Point	
26/04/2019, 11:16:13	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.56.0) Restore Point	
26/04/2019, 08:59:27	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.53.0) Restore Point	
26/04/2019, 08:28:27	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.51.0) Restore Point	
26/04/2019, 08:07:06	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.51.0) Restore Point	
25/04/2019, 02:06:08	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.51.0) Restore Point	
24/04/2019, 15:16:56	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.51.0) Restore Point	
24/04/2019, 10:04:48	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.51.0) Restore Point	
24/04/2019, 07:22:04	Platform Install/Upgrade (SoftwarePlatformSetup_2.129.44.0) Restore Point	
24/04/2010 07:15:12	Diakfarma Inskill (I anna da /Caférrana Diakfarma Cakra, 2,120,440), Daakana, Daiak	
Start Rollback New	v Restore Point	
Rollback Log	C Refresh	
Date	Rolled back to U	ser
20/03/2019, 14:31:56	20/03/2019, 14:31:03 A	dministrator
20/03/2019, 14:31:03	20/03/2019, 14:29:37 A	dministrator
20/03/2019, 14:29:37	20/03/2019, 14:27:30 A	dministrator
	The tenant rollback interface	

Feature Enhancements

Miscellaneous

- The maximum number of Records allowed to be exported has been increased from 10,000 to 100,000
- Performance enhancements for Form loading and interaction
- The Tenant Health Check will now identify Forms that appear to save slowly due to containing a Trigger that is marked as "Run in foreground" that had been triggered in the last 7 days. Previously there was no way for Tenant Administrators to identify such problematic Triggers and/or Workflows

 Due to ongoing improvements to Calculated Fields, certain calculations that are written in a specific way will be deprecated in a future release. In order to assist migration of these calculations to the improved format, such calculations will be flagged with a warning. These will appear both when editing a Calculated Field (on Forms and Workflows only) and highlighted in the Tenant Health Check.

Calculated Fiel	d Properties	
Field Name :	Has Attendees?	
Display Name :		
Description :		2
Field Type:	Yes/No	٣
Calculation:	[Attendecs] is not null	
	() [Deprecated] Result was of type List of Bool but needed to be Bool.	
		Q
		OK Cancel
	Example of the Deprecation warning message	

- Documents: Document Generation now correctly handles special ASCII characters
- Form Builder: The cursor will no longer occasionally jump to the start of Visibility Formula field when typing
- Forms: The Relationship tab will now allow linking to existing records in all circumstances
- Forms: Check Boxes will now show the default value if none had been assigned
- Workflow: Improved cache handling to address highly specific internal server failures
- Workflow: It is no longer possible to click more than once on the Done or Cancel buttons during a single User Input activity
- Workflow Builder: Encountering an Internal Server Error when saving workflows no longer results in duplication of activities

Last Modified on 25/07/2019 9:57 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Health Check

Now, we have empowered you as the Application Developer and Tenant Administrator to improve and enhance your custom applications with our new **Health Check** tool. By simply running a scan over your tenant, the results will provide you an overview of existing errors, warnings and suggested improvements.

For example, you may have a slow running report that you would like to make faster, by running the scan, then looking at the **Reports** in the summary to see if there are any list improvements for that particular report.

We will continually add to our scan scope to provide you better information on enhancing your applications.

Health Check	Start Scan				
Health Check Scan Status	Refresh				
Health check scan Running - Processing 77 of 847: Access Rules: 'Administrators: Definition' State :05/06/2019 12:23 pm Duration : 45 secs (9% complete)	Cancel				
Select the button Start Scan to initiate a health check					

A health check scan can be run on demand which can be found in Administration > Metrics >**Health Check**. Running the scan will not impact performance, however it may take over an hour to complete on a tenant with complex configurations.

📰 Health Che	eck								
HEALTH CHECK SUMMARY					ITEMS BY TY	(PE			
C - ACTION -			Y Search	Q	Ren	orts			
Health Check Type	OK	Errors	Warnings	Suggestions					
Access rules	222	2	4	0	Calculated fi	elds			
Action buttons	0	0	0	0	Workfl	ows			
API callouts	16	0	0	0	Fo	rms			
Calculated fields	32	1	0	0	Access n	ules			
Forms	217	0	0	0	ADL call	oute			
Report templates	2	0	0	0	Arrealit				
Reports	313	7	10	0	Report templ	ates			
Workflows	22	2	0	0		0	5° ,0° ,5°	200 250	300
HEALTH CHECK RESULTS									
C - ACTION -									Search
Health chec Item checke	ed	D	etails	Appli	ication Me	essag	Messages		Subc
Reports H_Country R	leport			Test S	olution Err	or	Invalid column: H_City		
Reports H_Country R	leport			Test S	olution Err	or	Invalid relationship: H_City		
			R	esults of a co	mpleted healt	h chec	:k		

The report in the lower part of this screen lists the results, which include the type of resource, the name of the resource, the application name, severity and a detailed message. Using this information the location and nature of the problem can be identified. For example, the "H Country Report" has an invalid column, which has generated more than one warning message because it is also a relationship.

Collapsible Sections in Survey Editor

Previously, it was difficult to manage surveys with hundreds of questions, but now the survey editor supports collapsing and expanding sections to make editing easier.



Mandatory Attachments and Notes on Survey Answers

Mandatory Attachments

Attachments can now be made mandatory on survey answers. This is especially useful when questions require documentary evidence to support the answer.

Mandatory Notes

It is now possible to require notes on survey answers, which can be used to require justification text for an answer.

Question Prope	rties
Question :	First Name
Description :	
Question Details	Guidance Visibility
Question ID :	
Order :	1
Weighting :	5
Allow attachments :	[Select]
Allow notes :	[Select]
Mandatory :	Optional Mandatory
Categories :	/ ×
Library :	/ ×
	OK Cancel
Opti	ions to set mandatory on notes and
	attachments

Highlighting of Survey Questions

Questions that require an answer but have not been answered yet will be highlighted for the user. This makes it easy to save progress on a survey, gather the required information and then return later to answer the remaining questions. The highlighting takes into account mandatory attachments and notes, so if a mandatory attachment is missing then the question is considered unanswered for the purpose of highlighting.

	← Back 🛗 Save Progress	✓ Complete				
🔲 Visiting Scholar Program Exit Survey						
Progress : 16%						
GENERAL INFORMATION						
1. Last Name	Hamy					
2. First Name						
3. First and Last Day of Your Visit						
Highlighted unanswered survey questions						

Feature Enhancements

Calculation Editor

Writing and reading calculations are made easier with our improvement calculation editor enhancements.

There are a lot of handy improvements to talk about here:

- expand the calculation editor to your liking
- allows the use of calculation snippets to save typing
- shows red squiggly line where there is an error in the calculation
- easier to read error message

- now with warning and hint messages
- improvement auto complete when using fields
 - use ctrl + space to see the hints, then you arrow keys to find the field you are looking for, then hitenter
- easier to read function library in a separate toolbox window

Calculatio	n Editor							
							Q, f(*)	
1 count	Faculties' does	not have a fiel	lties].[S	ship nar	med 'Staffs'. Di	d you me	ean 'Staff'?	ia u cz n n P
Search]	×			c	ж Са	incel
General	functions (10)		\sim	Search				×
and is null currentu	or not is not null ser	iif null convert	isnull	let in	case (value li date literal	st) ca date-tir	ise (condition me literal	n list)
Data fue	-tione (2)		、 、		NSW	W	/hoopi.Singl	eton@sapie
Data tun	ctions (2)	(12)	>			A	nthony.Nash	@ultriciesli
Toxt fund	tions (11)	15 (15)			WA	R	ina.Savage@	Namportti
Date/Tin	ne functions (19)	>			B	vlee.Wilkinsc	on@Quisqu
Aggrega	te functions (9)	>		ACT	N	lelle.Odom@	atnisiCum.
List funct	tions (9)	- /	>	Dooditi	WA		anna Chand	leri®maccal
Improved Calculation editor with function library and snippet toolboxes								

Direct links to reports in builder

Link to picker reports in relationship properties

We have now provided you with quick easy way to directly go to a picker report within the relationship proprieties. Clicking on the spanner will open the report in the builder in a new tab.

Form Detail	Object Detail Visibility Format		
Display As:	Inline		٣
Show Help:			
Picker Report:	Library cards		• F
Display Form:	[Default]	Click spanner to	
Enable New:	Yes, including Derived Types	open report in	
Mandatory:		new tab	
Read Only:			
Filter By:			/ ×
			OK Cancel
_		_	Cancer
	Quick link to open r	eport in the builder	

Link from chart builder to reports in builder

The link in chart builder will now open the report in the builder for quick easy access.

Readi BUILDER						
Analytics	2. Students by gender (p) Data visualisation					
Report Columns	+ Add Se	ries				
REPORT: Student Report - Faculties	* Pie	Ш	×			
Drag and drop to page 🗟	Values	Click to link to the report builder				
A Student	Colour	b				
🗄 Gender	Text	staCount Σ				
🖶 State	Tooltip	DROP ITEMS HERE				
<u>II</u> ≸ Balance	Image	DROP ITEMS HERE	i			
Report link fro	m chart	builder to report b	uilder			

Forthcoming Feature

You may have noticed that we have added a new report in Administration > Metrics > Alerts. This report will be used for a future feature that we are planning on releasing soon.

- Calculations: Date time calculation does not work in the report in certain scenarios
- Calculations: Functions charindex() and replace() should not be case-sensitive
- Calculations: The calculation 'case [Fruit] When 'Orange' then True else False end' throws error on report
- Calculations: 'Where' clause is allowing various data types to be automatically converted to true/false
- Charts: Deleting an object does not delete the chart
- Document Library: 'Report failed to run' error on clicking on the Image column in Icon library and Photos Library
- Forms: Completed tasks show a blank screen when clicked through via URL in an email
- Forms: Duplicate action buttons appear in certain scenarios
- Forms: Limit for currency and decimal is much less than workflow/storage limit
- Import Spreadsheet: Failing due to error message @valuelist
- Rich Text: Few letters are hidden in the rich text field editor when in edit mode
- RichText: Only hide the menu bar when there is a textual change, not a formatting change
- RichText: Popup menu hides text when the control is the top control in a tab host container
- Surveys: Input for multi select question changes after moving between pages and when Saving Progress
- Themes: Not displaying correctly when item in folder is selected
- Workflows: JSON error on User Input with one choice field
- Workflows: Failing with internal error in certain scenario with error 'Unable to find the default exit point'
- Workflows: Allows saving with two paths from same exit point, and then gives internal error
 - **Note:** If you have experienced this issue with a workflow, the workflow will continue to work as before, however when you open it in the builder you will see a validation error message that you will need to fix before saving.
 - 1. Simply open the offending workflow
 - 2. Save the workflow
 - 3. You will then be presented with an validation error message like Activity "XXX" has multiple transitions from the same exit point "YYY"
 - 4. Find the duplicate transition line between the 2 activities
 - 5. Delete one transition line
 - 6. Save the workflow
- Workflows: Create Link has URL parameters that affect survey functionality
- Workflows: Workflow and audit fires twice at the same time for one record
- Workflows: Workflow with multiple Send Email activities sends email to incorrect recipients in some circumstances

Last Modified on 24/06/2019 10:32 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Opt into Self-Triggering

It is possible for a workflow to trigger another instance of itself as a side-effect of the processing in the workflow, but this is now an explicit opt-in on new triggers. Existing triggers will have this enabled by default to ensure that their existing behaviour persists. Disabling self-triggering helps to prevent accidental situations where many instances of a workflow are created unintentionally.

🔳 Trigger	on Create/Update
Name : Description :	
Application : TRIGGER DETAILS	
Enabled :	
Triggered on :	[Select]
Object to trigger on :	
Workflow to run :	
Run in foreground :	
Allow self triggering :	
The trigger c	heckbox to allow self-triggering

Workflow Support of Event Notifications

Meeting notification emails that use an RFC5545 specification iCal attachment can now be processed by an Inboxes workflow. It is possible to extract the attached documents (usually agendas and reference information) and the attendees for each event in the invitation. Repeating events are also supported.



Enhancements

Forcing Closure of Workflow For Each Loops

The For Each workflow activity will now cause an error when the loop output does not reconnect to the input. This is a safeguard to protect against accidental errors when configuring a workflow. Existing workflows will continue to function in the same manner.

- Forms: Invalid calculation in a calculated field causes an error when shown on an edit form
- Recent Items: When a user creates a new record then two separate entries are displayed in recent items
- Reports: Edit inline is not showing the bottom line for look-ups in the row being edited
- Reports: Cannot download survey attachments from a report
- Security: User Account's Last Modified Date changes when a user enters bad password
- SSO: Saving a new IDP gives a validation message if the Claim Mapping tab is selected
- Surveys: Comments box is too small on survey review
- User Interface: Typo in the wording in relationship ownership properties
- Workflow: cardinality violations are not checked in the Update activity
- Workflow: Internal error message when trying to generate a document which doesn't have an associated document
- Workflow: Caching issue with Update activity
- Workflow: Filtering a User Input activity report based on parameter 'Triggering person' does not work
- Workflow: Alignment of workflow activity fields is not proper
- Workflow: Examine Run is sometimes blank
- Workflow: Examine Run issues in the Activity Outputs tab
- Workflow: Examine Run 'Last updated' is not shown for paused run
- Workflow: Notify by text message shows an error in test mode
- Workflow: Error should be warning: Attempted to queue a run

- Workflow: 'Triggering entity' link on examine run page doesn't work
- Workflow: Gateway activity errors and not referencing object correctly
- Workflow: Activity is not able to lookup a field or relationship from an object when the object is from foreach loop
- Workflow: User Input shows "Invalid ID or Alias" error and the user cannot exit

Last Modified on 30/05/2019 11:01 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

End of Support for Internet Explorer

ReadiNow will be announcing the End of Support for Internet Explorer in the coming months, with the final date to be announced. More information such as the alternatives and impact can be read here.

New Features

Automatic User Provisioning

Previously there were several steps to provisioning users for SSO, which included setting up an *User Account*, a *Person*, and then linking the account to the SSO identity provider. These steps can now be done automatically when a user attempts to log in using SSO; if this feature is enable by checking the Auto provision users box show below, then when the identity provider successfully authenticates the user the ReadiNow platform will provision their account. The Claim mappings tab contains the mapping of fields that will be used in the process and must be configured before enabling this feature. See the SSO page for more details.

IDENTITY PROVIDER	DETAILS	
Name :		
Description :		ez.
Is provider enabled :		
Is provider internal :		
Order :	1	
Is auto login enabled :		
Auto provision users :		<i>i</i>
Update existing users :		<i>i</i>
Identity provider use	rs Claim mappings Claims	
Claim name		
Configuration f	or automatic user provisioning	г >

Examine Run

An additional trouble-shooting feature Examine Run has been added to the workflow run context menu.

	Workflow Runs							
C +	ACTIO	JN ♥						
Workflow	1							
Say Hi								
	٩	View 'Say Hi'						
		Examine 'Say Hi'						
		Cancel 'Say Hi'						
Examine a workflow run								

Selecting this option will lead to the Examine Run page, which shows the sequence of activities and duration of each. This screen will only have data for workflows that run after this platform upgrade.

Recent Items

An icon for navigation history has been added to the global toolbar at the top right; clicking the icon will drop down a list of the most recently viewed content with the most recent at the top. Surveys are excluded from the recent items menu.

		Documents 😑	4	9	6	?	53				
	Recent										
	🖿 Docu	Documents									
	🔡 Quali	ualifications screen									
Last modified by	🔲 Stude	Student report list									
Administrator	Conta	acts				R	무 eport				
Administrator	🔲 Peop	le				R	异 eport				
	Recently	viewed content ex	ample								

Enhancements

Conditional Formatting for Rich Text Fields

Conditional formatting can now be used on rich text fields, and the condition will be able to match regardless of the formatting of the text.

- Boards: Initial colour does not match legend
- Charts: Legend overlaps form on Internet Explorer 11
- Export: Excel export does not represent null values properly

- Export: Excel file throws an error when opened
- Forms: Unable to remove visibility calculation
- Mobile: Inconsistency in field sizes and mandatory flag icons
- Reports: Analyser hides the visibility icon when resized
- Reports: Group by is placing fields in the incorrect order
- Reports: Conditional formatting does not work with a calculated field
- Reports: Conditional formatting does not work for icons
- Reports: Rich text icons should be centre-aligned for value formatting
- Survey: "IN" operator is not working
- Survey: Sections are not in the correct sort order when answering a survey
- Survey: Questions can be deleted in view mode
- User Experience: Completed tasks show a blank screen
- User Experience: Freeze when 3 or more tabs are open
- Workflow: Cannot display variables assigned to a choice field
- Workflow: "Could not find a match of the correct type" error appears for a valid calculation
- Workflow: "Hide from" and "Hide to" flags are not respected for relationships
- Workflow: The user sees an error "exceeded maximum recursion depth"
- Workflow: Workflows can fail without a meaningful message

Last Modified on 23/03/2020 4:28 pm AEDT

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Enhancements

IN Operator for Calculations

Calculations now support the IN operator to check for membership in a set. The result is true if the search term equals one of the options, otherwise it is false. The search and option expressions can be scalar values, choice field values, or records.

```
[Project].[Project Tasks] in (
'Documentation',
'Unit tests'
)
```

Miscellaneous

- Boards:
 - Board cards match the legend colour
 - Double-clicking on the legend filters the cards
- Calculations:
 - A warning message is shown for implicit conversion checks
- Export:
 - Removed the table and row formatting in reports exported to Excel
- Surveys:
 - "Original guidance" renamed to "Question guidance"

- Calculations:
 - CASE statement is not working as a report calculation when the result is an entity that then gets concatenated
 - Calculations are behaving differently for a calculated column and a calculated field dragged to report
 - Error not shown when the condition is a list in the CASE Statement
 - Reports throw an error when filtering with a CASE calculation
 - Sorting not working when using a choice field in the search expression
- Forms:
 - Choice field still save changes despite electing to discard changes
 - Multi-select choice field is missing hover text
- Security:

- When the "Forgot your username or password" email link is used, the account's "Modified by" field is not updated
- Surveys:
 - Calculation for percentage completed is incorrect if the survey is followed by a review activity
 - Survey recipient can modify Launch Person Campaign target object parameter from the survey
- Triggers:
 - Creating a schedule with a conflicting CRON does not give an error to the user
- UI:
 - Adding the Document library to navigation is not showing the documents added to the folder
 - Administration tab cannot be clicked after creating another tab
 - Background colour is not respected for conditional icons
 - Buttons are incorrect in the "New Object" dialogue
 - Horizontal Scroll bar displays on the "Choose Application" drop-down menu
 - Rich text field layout/margin not appearing properly in IE browser
 - Rich text field numbering and bullet points do not display properly
 - The formatting toolbar does not appear for Default control in a Rich text field
 - User account expiry date is auto-filled by the browser with the user name
 - Verbose and unfriendly messages appear when the internet connection is poor
 - Workflow builder shows suggested fields at top-left side of the page for the Update activity
- Workflow:
 - Cleanup operations are causing deadlocks when there are large deletes
 - Paused workflows do not respect "Limit trigger depth"
 - The error message 'clashing output arguments' has been improved
 - Workflow can trigger on relationship to Organisation Structure when there's no relationship

Last Modified on 23/04/2019 11:52 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Configuration Change Auditing

Previously only records were audited, but now there is a Configuration Auditing log which will show changes to application and tenant configuration. A new menu item **Configuration Changes** can be found under **Audit** in the left panel of the **Administration** application. Some of the elements included are:

- object definitions
- charts
- forms
- reports screens
- resource keys
- email settings
- schedules
- triggers
- workflows



Master Detail can link between different underlying reports

Master Detail has been improved and can now be used to link items (viz. charts, reports or hero texts) that run off <u>different</u> reports. Until now both items needed to be based off the same report.

Assign Parent	
Parent Element: Parent Object: Child Element: Child Object:	3. Students by state (p) (Student Chart) Image: Chart Student Chart 2. Students by gender (p) Student
	OK Cancel
Using Assi g	n Parent on charts that use different underlying reports

Diagram: Using Assign Parent on charts that use different underlying reports

The filter on the parent can also be cleared to show all items. Using linked charts as an example, clicking the bars on the parent bar chart will filter the child chart, and clicking in the chart but outside of any of the bars will clear the filter.



Diagram: Filtering by clicking on a bar in the bar chart

Enhancements

Hidden Analyser Conditions

Analyser conditions in **Reports** can now be hidden from end users. This can be set by checking the**Hidden** option in the **Report Builder** of a **Analyser Condition**.

Student		
Picker Report: Hidden:	Student report	T
		OK Cancel
	Analyser condition options	

Hidden conditions will appear translucent when the administrator is modifying the report, and completely hidden for users running the report.

Student :	Any of 🔻	✓ ×			
Limit results :	Top N records 🔻				
		Apply 🗢 Reset			
Analyser condition is transparent when set to hidden in the Report Builder					

Nested Calculations

Calculations can now refer to other calculations - provided there are no circular references - in forms and reports. This feature should be leveraged as much as possible to improve performance, because refactoring with nested calculations will reduce the total number of calculations required. Simply choose the calculated field in calculation; previously doing this would have resulted in an error message because calculated fields were not usable as terms in calculations.

Bracket Matching

When the cursor moves over a bracket in the calculation editor, the matching bracket will now be highlighted as shown with a grey background, making it easier to edit long and complex calculations.

Edit Calculation				
<pre>iif [true, 'hello', 'world']</pre>				
parameter function property record				
Example of bracket matching in calculations				

CASE Statement

Calculations now support the CASE statement for value comparisons. CASE may be used by either providing a value to be matched against a list of options, or by providing a list of tests.

If none of the conditions match then the result will be NULL. Also, the output data type will be the common data type among all the possible results. In the first example the result for Singapore is a string of '457' and not the number 457.

```
case [Input].[Country]
when 'Australia' then 'citizen'
when 'New Zealand' then 'resident'
when 'Singapore' then 457
else 'foreign'
end
```

```
case
when [Input].[Country] = 'Australia' then 'citizen'
when [Input].[City] = 'Sydney' then 'local'
when [Input] is null then 'unspecified'
else 'foreign'
end
```

If multiple options evaluate to true, then the first matching condition will be used.

Miscellaneous

- Reports: Optimisation to reduce rendering time
- Security: Accounts are locked out on the Change Password screen if the incorrect password is entered too many times
- Security: HTTP OPTIONS verb disabled
- Security: Explicitly set X-Content-Type-Options

- Auditing: No logs are created when Identity Provider User details are modified
- Auditing: No logs are created when an API is created or modified or deleted
- Boards: Boards retain settings after refreshing the page or navigating to a board item and then back to the board again using "Back"
- Calculations: Error message improved for a calculation that tries to use a field or relationship that is not valid for the object
- Charts: Add colour attributes to differentiate data points by input assigned to colour
- Forms: Cache is not being leveraged properly
- Forms: Rich text default label and properties toolbar formatting problem
- Integration: CSV fields with commas cause an error
- Screens: Reports missing from Screen Builder under certain conditions
- Survey: Changing guidance text after launching survey shouldn't change the text in the survey instances that have already been launched
- User Interface: Current user is missing in Person icon drop-down
- Workflow: Not able to cancel workflows with a long duration
- Workflow: Tenant Isolate flag causes all tenants to isolate fetching via FTP
- Workflow: Queuing of workflows is not handled properly under certain conditions
- Workflow : Review survey activity does not show correct parameters
- Workflow: A scheduled workflow based on an object consisting 100 000 records does not run after step count 27
- Workflow: Clicking on a workflow on a relationship on a form opens the previous screen in certain scenarios
- Workflow: Workflow does not stop after reaching its maximum steps
- Workflow: Run from Inbox not working for automatic workflows
- Workflows: Scheduled triggers for past dates are triggering

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 11:04 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Guidance text field for survey questions

An additional field named **Guidance** has been added to survey questions which allows rich text (including URL links) to be shown in a survey. The **Guidance** text will appear immediately below the **Question**; in the example there is a blank line in the **Guidance** text to visually separate it from the **Question** text. Please note that formatting can greatly reduce the amount of text that can be shown, especially when pasting in from another application.

fuestion :	Do you	follow ITIL processes?			
escription :				<u>^</u>	
uidance :	See he Justific	re for a description of I ation may be required i	TIL. in the form of other docum	nents.	
Choices	Question Details	Visibility			
ields:	New	Use Existing	How likely	/ ×	
+ .	×				
Name		Description	Value		
Definitely no	t		0		
Probably not			1		
Unsure			5		
Probably	10				
Definitely			20		

Application survey						
Progress : 0%						
SECTION 1						
1. Do you follow ITIL processes? [Select]						
See here for a description of ITIL Justification may be required in the form of other documents.						
Responding to a survey question that contains rich guidance						
te	xt					

API Callout workflow activity

API Callouts allow integration with other systems. A new workflow activity named **API Callout** has been added to Other Activities. This allows a workflow to connect to online services that have an API.

••• Other Activities	🔺 🤸 Undo 🍌 Redo 📃 100% 🕂 🕨 🕨 Run 🔀 Delete 🔛 Properties 🗎 Save 🗳 Save As	imes Close
-RPI- API Callout	New Workflow*	
📮 Generate Document	API Callout	API Callout
Export to	start click to edit description	
Ftp Fetch	Failure API to call	-
Etp Put		
	Configuration of API Callout in the workflow editor	

Each API that will be used in a workflow must be added to the new **API Callouts** configuration in the **Integration** section of the **Administration** application. Note that this option appears when the **Integration** section is expanded in the left panel, but does not appear in the main page of the **Administration** application.

🖿 In	tegration 🔹	_			
•	API Keys	API Callouts			
•	APIs	C ACTION HNEW P EDIT INLINE API Callout Library	Description		
	Credentials	Yahoo!	Yahoo public web APIs.		
•	Export Runs				
•	Import Runs				
•	Import Spreadsheet				
•	Scheduled Export				
•	Scheduled Import				
•	API Callouts				
	The API Callouts page in the Administration application				

Additional chart option for tooltip text

There is an additional configuration setting in charts called **Tooltip**. The value of any field dropped into the **Tooltip** will be added to any existing text in the tooltip.

Readi BUILDER					
Analytics	Gifts E Description	Ву Туре			Gift Type: Hospitality
Report Columns	+ Add Ser	ies			Est. Amount (Sum): \$200.00
REPORT: Gift Register 🖒	▼ Est. Am	ount Bar	Lili	×	Received by: Dyan Oldroyd
Drag and drop to page Compare Primary Values End value Colour Text	B Gift Type ↓ I Est. Amount ∑ ↓ DROP ITEMS HERE B Gift Type ↓		11. 11. 11.	Hospitality	
1월 Est. Amount 맘 Gift Type 맘 Approval Status	Tooltip	BReceived By →			
Bar chart with Received By field in the tooltip text					

Configurable gauge marker thresholds

The marker thresholds for the red-orange and the orange-green transitions can be set to a predefined value in the

gauge chart's **Value Axis Properties**. **Marker 1** is the red-orange threshold value and **Marker 2** is the orange-green threshold value.



Resource Keys are calculated in the background

Resource Keys will be automatically generated or updated after being created or changed. There is a **Generating** hashes flag on Resource Keys which will be "No" normally but change to "Yes" while a change is being effected.

Resource Keys						
C - ACTION - + NEW				▼ Sear	ch 🔍	
Name	Object	Merge For Imports	Application	Enabled	Generating hashes	
Unique name per structure level	Structure Level		ReadiNow Core	Yes	No	
Unique name per identity provider user	Identity Provider User		ReadiNow Core	Yes	No	
Unique name per user account	User Account		ReadiNow Core	Yes	No	
Unique IP address range	IP Address Range		ReadiNow Core	Yes	No	
Unique name per user role	Unique name per user role User Role		ReadiNow Core	Yes	No	
Unique name per definition	Definition		ReadiNow Core	Yes	No	
Unique name per solution	Application		ReadiNow Core	Yes	No	
Unique name per structure view	Hierarchy		ReadiNow Core	Yes	No	
Unique name per edit form	Custom Edit Form		ReadiNow Console	Yes	No	
Unique name for organisation structure Organisation Structure			GRC Common	Yes	No	
Unique name per question ID	Choice Question		GRC Common	Yes	No	
Generating hashes flags for Resource Keys						

Enhancements

Miscellaneous

• TLS 1.0 and 1.1 has been disabled to ensure better connection security

- User Interface: The Administration application shows the object relationships of choice fields more clearly
- User Interface: The browser window title now shows the name of the open object rather than a generic action

- Calculations: Calculated field result is blank in certain conditions
- Calculations: Log of a negative number causes the form to fail
- Calculations: The warning message is not always shown when the calculated field refers back to itself
- Charts: Bullets and numbers on a list in a rich text field are not shown in the tool tip
- Charts: The tooltip for the original chart type still shows after changing to an Area or Gauge chart
- Charts: Setting the axis minimum to a negative number can crash the browser
- Charts: Multiple dials appear in gauge charts
- Charts: Users should not be allowed to enter nonsense text into the minimum and maximum marker fields on a gauge chart
- Charts: Legend is not displayed by default
- Charts: No column is drawn in the first slot of a log chart
- Charts: OK button is clickable but has no function after not choosing a report in the 'New Chart' dialogue
- Charts: Filtering the report to display zero rows causes the chart to completely disappear
- Charts: Bar chart renders incorrectly when the primary value is an unformatted date
- Charts: Bar chart labels are badly positioned and hard to read
- Charts: Using a column with conditional icon formatting causes the chart data to go black
- Forms: Mobile users have to click twice to approve or reject a task
- Forms: An invalid calculation can be saved and render the form unusable as a result
- Forms: Hierarchy order is incorrect when a name is duplicated
- Forms: Visibility formula not working
- Reports: Cannot move a field in analyser to the bottom of the list
- Reports: A blue line appears in the builder when a column is moved
- Reports: Two or more recursive access rules can crash a report
- Reports: The placement of 'Report name' is incorrect in report properties
- Reports: 'Any Except' filter does not clear correctly
- Reports: 'Any Except' filter foes not work as expected on a summarised column
- Reports: '<>' filter does not work on a relationship column if the column is summarised as 'List'
- Reports: Edit inline sometimes does not select the cell text when using arrow keys
- Reports: Diagnostic tool can be seen by self-serve users
- Reports: 'Summarise' on a report with grouping does not display the summarised results if the grouping is done on a summarised column
- Reports: Using the 'Is not defined' filter on multiple lookup/relationship fields causes an error
- Reports: Images disappear if full ownership is set on the field
- Screens: A chart filter based on 'Assign Parent' does not work in a tabbed container
- Security: A user can be directed to a blank page on their first login
- Security: Items in Navigation access are not visible for lite users after an upgrade
- User Interface: Terminology 'Mailbox' and 'Inbox' in Administration is inconsistent
- User Interface: Help text for 'Disable communication' updated
- User Interface: The click area for 'Forgot your username or password?' is too large
- User Interface: Left aligned decimal values show additional digits in the preview for 'Import Spreadsheet'
- User Interface: Dependency information is not displayed when deleting a report, screen or chart both within the same application and across applications
- User Interface: Some choice fields are missing the report that shows related records where the field has been used
- User Interface: Name, Description and Last Import Date fields are duplicated in Security Audit Log Settings page
- User Interface: A URL link to a record sometimes doesn't open the record when using SSO
- Workflow: Modifying the schedule can cause a workflow to run twice
- Workflow: Multiple workflows can have the same name
- Workflow: Rich text fields are generated in HTML by the 'Generate Document' activity
- Workflow: 'Import Spreadsheet' activity parameters should be mandatory for configuration and file
- Workflow: Cannot clear a multi-select choice field with the 'Update' activity

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:03 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Rich email body viewer

The rich email body viewer provides the ability to view the contents of a received email as close to the original sent email. The viewer is provides richness similar to Gmail and Outlook viewers provide.

When an email arrives it may contain both a plain text and a HTML version. An attempt is made to look for an available HTML version. If a HTML version is available it is used and is stored in the **Body** field will be HTML. The **Body** field will only contain plain text if the email was sent only in plain text and no HTML version is available.



Feature Enhancements

Charts legend only displays filtered choice fields options

When filtering on specific choice field options, only these selected items be visible on the chart legend.

For example, you may be managing a list of incidents where a chart is required with 'open' incidents only. In the case where a choice field is used to represent incident status, where typically 'open' can be categorised into: New, In Progress and Waiting on Customer, and 'Closed' incidents into: Resolved and Closed. When you now filter on the 'open' choice fields options, these are the only options you will only see on the chart, thus removing unnecessary closed status options from the chart.



Additional calculation functions supported in forms

The following calculations are now available for calculated fields on forms:

- rand, any, every, first, last, reverse, skip, concat, join
- iif (can return lists, however results must be scalar when used in reports)
- order by

Note: While the above functions are now available on the forms, fields using unsupported reports functions are will not be visible in the report field list.

Ability to time a report for a user in Report Diagnostics

To assist with improving report performance for you and your team, Report Diagnostics now allow you to time how long it takes to run a report as the specified user.

Report Diagnos	tics	
Report Name	Bugs Assigned to Me	
User		1 ×
Show diagnostics	Use 'Current User Account'	
Report Name: Bugs A Report ID: 473806 / 6	ssigned to Me 976ece8-2f54-480d-9a3b-5f53f4cb9d2d	*
Server prep time: 0:00 Server run time: 0:00.	0.015 025	
(Cache bypass forced)	-
		Download Close
Run timed functionality in Report Diagnostics		

Import survey choice options using Import Spreadsheet

Application developers can now import long list of choice field options into the platform via Import Spreadsheet. This saves the application developer time by avoiding having to manually enter choice field options.

			Add a five	d value Clear
Spread sheet Column / Source	Object Fields	Field Details	Sample 1	Sample 2
(A) Order	Order	Int Field	1	2
(B) Name	Name	String Field	Definitely not	Probably not
(C) Value	Value	Decimal Field	0.000	1.000
Fixed Value options	Choice Option Set	Lookup using Name options	How likely	How likely
Import Choice options through Import Spreadsheet				

User Action activity provides task "Completed By" as parameter

The workflow User Action activity parameter outputs has been extended to now provide information on what user completed a User Action task through the parameter of "Completed By".

For example, say a User Action task could be completed by several people, like a sales proposal can be a approved by one of the many sales team leads. Once the sales proposal has been approved, a message can be sent back to the workflow initiator, the team member who requested the approval, the team lead who approved the proposal.



Miscellaneous Enhancements

- 1. Boards search strings are now retained when drilling down and navigating back to the board
- 2. Boards Need a back button to navigate back to the main board when navigation
- 3. Application Toolbox Applications are now sorted alphabetically application drop down list

- Calculations: Rand() function fails when used in a calculated field on a form
- Calculations: Using a variable which follows a relationship inside an aggregate fails
- Charts: Chart with two series cannot display the total count of records as its result for one of the series
- Charts: Client error when 'Count' is dropped on 'Values' after 'Show all Values' is selected.
- Reports: Calculated fields not getting displayed in intelliSense list in other calculated fields
- Reports: Failure when report is ordered by a calculated column or field and the field referred in the calculation is deleted
- Reports: Proper error message should be displayed to the user if report is broken due to some SQL errors
- Reports: Report and form crashing when calculated field 1 refers to calculated field 2 and the calculated field

2 is made empty

- Reports: Report failing for a calculation of type 'Time'
- Reports: Report with "order by" is returning too few rows
- Security: In some situations, recursive access rules fail and therefore user cannot open form for records
- Workflow: Deadlock rerun failed on clone activity

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:05 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Feature Enhancements

Survey Branching

Now you can control which questions participants will see with reflexive question branching (also know as skip logic). You can hide questions and sections that do not apply based on responses from participants. This will also helps keep respondents engaged with your survey as these questions can be better targeted to the situation.

Questions use visibility a calculation to determine if a nominated question is to be shown or hidden.

SURVEY DETAIL					
Name :	Customer Survey				
Description :		Question Proper	ties		
Show help text :		Question :	What was your first reaction to our product?		
Application :		Description :			
Survey Layout	Outcomes Campaigns Workflow			~	L ²¹
+ SECTION + QU	estion 👻 🕂 Break 🖉	Choices Questi	on Details Visibility		
CUSTOMER SURV	/EY	Question script name :	Reaction to product		
1. Have you use Script name: Used p	d our product before? product?	Show when :	[Used product?] = 'Yes'		
2. What was you Script name: Reaction	ur first reaction to our product?				
3. How often fre Script name: Freque	equently do you use our product?		[Select]	V	

Excel imports now supports auto numbers fields to identify related records

If you use the excel import feature, you will now find that you can map AutoNumber field types to identify related records between a field in an object and an excel column. This enhances and supports making integration more flexible, for example, you could set a resource keys on an AutoNumber field and map this to another column in the excel sheet to ensure uniqueness.

- Calculations: CurrentUser() not working in report, error "The report failed to run. Type 37809377 could not be loaded."
- Calculations: need decent error for date/time formula
- Charts: clicking refresh does not rerun the database (whereas it does for reports)
- Email: Clicking on the ReadiNow URL from an outlook email does not enter the tenant name in the tenant field though the URL contains the tenant name

- FTP: FTPS export failed when IP address is given instead of server name
- Forms: Autofill tabbed container shrinks its size when returned back to the form after viewing one of its related record
- Forms: Link to Existing button doesn't display in view mode on a tab after the form has been saved
- Forms: Picker report filters set on form are not honoured when using in-line edit
- Forms: Rich text formatting toolbar is hidden when rich text placed on a tabbed container
- Form: The help icon on a form is fine when in view mode. When clicking edit mode, it overlaps the end of the field
- Identity Provider: After failed SSO login the tenant entry and SSO option has disappeared
- Identity Provider: The automatic login does not happen in IE, though autologin is enabled for identity provider is
- Reports: Column formatting against a Date Time field using 'Last N days until now' highlights all dates into the future
- Reports: Conditional formatting does not work on Date Time Date Only and Time only column if formatting is done
- Reports: Fails to run when analyzer is set to 'Is Not Defined' on Attachments relationship
- Reports: Failed to run, "Query entity could not be found" when filtering Report fails to run when filtering on " [Business Unit]: 'Is not defined'"
- Reports: Conditional Formatting "Next N days from now" operator is holding static time instead of dynamic time.
- Reports: The "Send Email" report fails to run in the time allowed
- Reports: "The Report failed to run" because a column formatted as Month-Day contained the leap year value Feb-29
- Screens: On a screen when "assign parent" is used to filter report and chart based on the selection on the parent report it does not work on a tabbed container
- Screens: Unable to modify screens cannot find or select items on the dashboards in design mode. Items are either not visible or are hidden behind other items.
- Security Audit Logs: A change in User Role should be logged to the security audit log
- Security: "Create record" button for a Read-only object should be hidden.
- Theme: A small portion of the header area is showing black instead of the theme colour
- User Messages: User message count is not getting updated immediately when a task is completed
- User Roles: Record access is not respected for derived type, if set to Exact Type in Advanced Options

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:04 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Calculations: Using First(all(object)) is returning last record instead of null if no matches found
- Calculations: Using Convert() or resource() not working for Choice fields in workflows
- Charts: Changing the aggregate on the data after a save not sticking till page refreshed
- Choice Fields: Choice field tab names are repeated in the choice field details screen but show different relationships
- Export Run: Failed 'Scheduled Export' run is displayed as completed in 'Export Run' report
- Export Run: No record is created in export run report when workflow fails at 'Export to' activity
- Forms: Text Field: User not able to set Min length = Max length for text field
- Forms: When updating a form that is based on a system object, it fails silently
- Relationships: 'Link to existing' not working correctly when sorting is used
- Reports: Attempting to summarize a report that is grouped by Name on the root entity breaks report on Save
- Reports: Report having formatted DateTime column throws error message if the time zone is changed
- Reports: Sorting in 'Grouped By' reports does not work all the time
- Reports: Performing a summarise on a grouped by report where the grouping is done on the left most column create erroneous data
- Workflows: Updating choice field is not reflected in subsequent activities

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:29 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Automatic Sign-on for SSO

You can now set your Identify Provider to login in automatically, as a result, this will save users time by directly going to their identity provider to sign in. Once authenticated with the Identity Provider, users will go straight to the ReadiNow landing page or the default page, if a default has been nominated.

Azure SSO				
IDENTITY PROVIDER	DETAILS			
Name :	Azure SSO			
Description :				
Is provider enabled :				
Is provider internal :				
Order :	1			
Is auto login enabled :	×.			
Identity Provider details with auto login				
	property			

Diagram: Identity Provider details with auto login property

See External Authentication/Single Sign On (SSO) for more details.

Feature Enhancements

Workflow: User Input now allows for 'cancel' flow to be customised and other improvements

- User Input activity now allows the ability to set a transition path to 'Cancel' a user input pop up dialogue or form within the workflow builder.
 - The cancel button will only appear on the user input pop up dialogue or form if the 'Cancel' path has been configured.
- During this feature enhancement, we have also made our wording and placement of the user buttons both on the pop up dialogue and form consistent.
- User Input activity now allows the ability to set an option so the user can 'Save for Later' to fill in the form at later point in time. If selected by the user, the user will see this task in their task list or notifications list.
- A record can now be linked to the user input task.
 - This is particularity helpful when allowing the user to save the user input for later, so when the user

does select the task, they will be directed to the record first. This provides the user context to the user input and the business flow.

start User Input Done Cancel iagram: Workflow Builder - User Input activity with Cancel transition	Care to add Conception Care to add Conception For Penson P
User Input Risk :	€ User Input Open
N Save for later Cancel	Diagram: The User Input can be opened fr the Record if configured to be linked to
Risk: I Diagrams: User Input pop up dialogue and form with 'Done', 'Save for later' and 'Cancel' buttons	

Note for upgrade on existing workflows

All existing workflows will keep the existing behaviour prior to the upgrade, will mean that you will need to configure the 'Cancel' flow for each User Input to benefit from this feature. In addition, after the upgrade 'Save for Later' will be set as on, as this was also the same behaviour prior the upgrade, in particular if you hit the Cancel button that appeared on the form only.

See User Input activity for more details.

- Choice field: duplicate choice values are created when OK button is clicked more than once in choice field properties
- Document Generation: Could not generate document with all the records in an object

- Forms: Autofill tabbed container shrinks its size when returned back to the form after viewing one of its related record
- Forms: On relationships tab, 'Link to existing' not working correctly when sorting is used
- Reports: In certain scenario reports are failing to run with an error, System.ArgumentNullException: Value cannot be null. Parameter name: key
- Reports: Fix the maintain option found in Administrator → Resources → Reports
- Reports: Group By is not allowing you to expand when more than 200 rows
- Reports: When summarising on a grouped by report where the grouping is done on the left most column create erroneous data
- Workflow: Consumption of valuable amounts of memory when running particular workflow expressions
- Workflow: Validation icon is overlapping with Launch Target campaign/Launch person Campaign activity name
- Workflow: When running a workflow the following error appears. EDC.Exceptions.WebArgumentException: Provided Workflow Run Id cannot be 0
- Workflow: When saving workflow for the first time, it forgets to remember checked options; 'Do not Pause', 'Run Workflow' activity and 'Run as workflow owner'

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:06 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Document Folder: A new 'Document folder' does not display documents when it should
- Export report to CSV: DateTime/Duedate field data is exported in UTC format
- Export XML/CSV/Word : Auto number export not working as expected when pattern set to "Issue# 0000"
- Forms: Show hide does not work on form when the form is placed on screen IE only bug
- Import: Could not map a spreadsheet column with an object field when a different spreadsheet is used to import using the same import configuration
- Import Resource: In certain scenarios, nothing happens when user clicks on 'Import Resource' from left hand side navigation area
- Mobile: In certain scenarios, show/hide is not being respected in mobile
- Mobile: Could not type in name field on a form in report as the title of the container below appears in the name field when a new form is loaded form report
- Quick search: When performed on Group by is removing the Group-by header
- Quick Search: When performed on summarised relationship column is not displaying Group-by header
- Reports: Clearing the General Settings 'Currency Symbol' is not respected
- Reports: Sorting does not work on a calculated column if it takes the value from a boolean field
- Survey: Attachment is uploaded every time save is hit it will duplicate the file
- Survey-Mobile: When an attachment is uploaded with mobile, the download of the file fails
- Theming: Deleting the themeing causes issues with the tenant and it comes back with a blank screen
- Time Zone : When system time zone is changed , "date" field is displaying wrong data in report
- Workflow: Forgets that I have checked Run as Workflow Owner checkbox
- Workflow: Cannot adjust columns in Select Parameter dialogue box in workflow designer to see full description
- Workflow: User Action Comment mandatory could not be checked IE only
- Workflow: when a date is selected in a workflow the date that actually populates is the day before

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:17 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

New Distinct() function

Distinct() is a new function in the calculation engine which will return unique lists of items. Alternatively, it can also be used with count() to provide a way to count unique items in a list.

How it works:

- The distinct function works as a list function. It receives a list of items, and returns a list of items that are unique.
- There is no guarantee of order of results.
- If used in the reports engine, then the distinct function may only be used directly within the count function, such as count(distinct ([Some Relationship]))

Calculation Editor	Calculation Editor				
Column Name:	# Unique Buildings				
Enter Calculation	<pre>count(distinct([Building]))</pre>				
D	Distinct() calculation example				

Security: More Administrative Roles

Two more administrative roles have been added to our already currently existing four administrative roles, these are:

- Content Administrators
- Workflows & Schedule Administrators

Administrative roles allow you to grant users special administrative access without the need of giving users full administration access to perform specific administrative tasks. You can also customise your own administrative roles based on the existing roles, by simply defining record access rules, permissions and navigation access using the base administrative roles.

Feature Enhancements

Workflow: Comments field can now be set to mandatory in User Action

activity

Capturing user actions along with user commentary are important when moving through a business process flow. Therefore, we now allow the ability to mark the comment field of a user action as mandatory.

How it works:

- Enable mandatory in the User Action activity in the workflow builder
- The actions buttons are disabled until the user enters commentary

Approve l	_eave Workflow	,		
start	Approve Leave		Approve Leav	e User Action
0	Reject	eņd	For Person Record Form Priority	[Triggering Person]
		6	Task name Due date/time Time out date/time	'Approve Leave for' + [Input]
			Wait for next form Open in edit mode Hide comment field	istory
	R	lequiring a comm	ent in a User Action activity	

Approve Lear	ve Approve Reject Comm	ent		
🔳 Scar	et Cunningham			
PERSONAL DEAT	ILS	ADDRESS DETAILS	S	STUDENT
StudentID :	1165	Address line1 :	Ap #907-1575 Nulla. Rd.	Club :
Title :	Miss	Address line2 :		Library card i
Full name :	Scarlet Cunningham	Country :	Australia	Balance :
First name :	Scarlet	State :	VIC	
Last name :	Cunningham	Suburb :	Mitcham	
Gender :	Female	Postcode :	3132	
Buttons are disabled until a comment is entered				

Workflow: "Do not Pause" allows parent workflows to continue to run when launching child workflows

Now you can keep parent workflows running without requiring to wait for a child workflow to complete. For example, let's say a new incident affects multiple assets, for each affected asset, you could start multiple risk

assessment workflow that run independently from each other.

start	Update Incident	For Each Affected Asset	end		Run Workflow: Start Risk Asses click to edit description	Run Workflow
O	► ≣ 5	Finished		Workflo	w to run	
		Run Workflow: Star	t Risk Assessments	Workflov	v Start Risk Assessment	.
			end	✓ Do no	ot pause	

New Incident

Survey: Making questions mandatory is now optional

More survey flexibility by allowing which questions you would like as mandatory or non-mandatory.

How it works:

- Simply enable the Mandatory option in the Question Properties of a survey question
- When the user takes on a survey, the complete button will only be enabled once all the mandatory questions have been answered.

Question Properties				
Question :	Between 1 and 10 rate your application experience			
Description :		*	2	
Question ID :				
Order :	1			
Weighting :	5			
Allow attachments :				
Allow notes :				
Only allow whole numbers				
Mandatory :				
Categories :	<i>•</i>		×	
Library :	University questions		×	
	ок	anc	el	
Ν	Mandatory option on Question Properties dialogue			

Application survey				
Progress : 33%				
SECTION 1				
1. Between 1 and 10 rate your application experience	2			
DRINKS				
1. Describe your favourite drink	cola	Add Notes	Add Attachment	
Ν	-			
2. Do you think coffee?	Ves	Add Notes	Add Attachment	
	No No			
3. How many coffees do you drink a day?		Add Notes	Add Attachment	
Example of mandatory and non-mandatory fields. The progress bar is calculated on the mandatory fields.				

Note on existing surveys upgrade

All existing survey questions will be marked as mandatory to keep with the behaviour prior to the upgrade where all questions where mandatory by default.

- Calculations: The 'count' function is inconsistent between forms and reports due to null/fanout issue
- Calculations: The 'any' function returns true when it should return false for choice fields
- Calculations: The 'every' function returns false when it should return true for choice fields
- Charts: Drill down on non-pivot shows report instead of form on bar chart
- Form: DateTime display on the form and report are inconsistent
- New conditional formatting icons not displayed correctly when uploaded with certain sizes
- Reports: Cannot Edit Inline when report has Groupby, under certain conditions
- Password reset send email reporting as failed incorrectly
- Workflow: When a date is selected in a workflow the date that actually populates is the day before
- Workflow User Input: Cannot filter by Choice field as you cannot see the choice field variable as a parameter

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 11:07 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

New currentuser() function

- A new function in the calculation language, currentuser()
- Returns the record that represents the User Account of the current user
- You can access fields and relationships from it.
 - Example: currentUser().[Account Holder] will return the Person's name
- Support for both workflows, reports, and other places where calculations are used.

Some ideas of where this feature could help you:

- · Write workflows that performs calculations based on a user
- Show/Hide buttons on a form based on a user
- Highlight information in a report based on a user

Action Button Properties			
Name :	Approve Expense		
Show When:	<pre>currentuser() = [Approver]</pre>		
Show/Hide currentuser() example			

See Calculation Functions and Operators for more detail.

Feature Enhancements

Renamed "User Account-Person" relationship

Based on user feedback, we have updated the User Account-Person relationship names.

The lookup from User account to Person, formerly called "User account", is now "Account holder". In the opposite direction, rename the relationship from Person to User account, formerly called "Person has user account", is now "User accounts.

Existing calculations will continue to work with the old names. It is recommended that you start using the new relationships name when creating any new calculations or modifying existing calculations.



Feature Removal

Tenant Rollback

Due to some performance issues identified with the Tenant Rollback, this feature has temporarily removed.

If you would still like to perform a tenant rollback, please contact Support.

- Chart: Legend in charts with DateTime as Primary, shows value 'NaN/NaN/ONaN NaN:NaN PM' for blank Date/Time fields
- Export: Export to Excel fails when there is a 0x10 hexadecimal character in the data being exported
- Export: Export to Excel of a report with "\/" in name failed
- Reports Calculation: count([Child Organisation Levels]!recursive!self.[Organisation Assets]) giving incorrect value on report
- Reports: Cannot sort of fields with '>' '<' characters in them
- Reports: Report shows no data if sorted on [Modified Date] descending
- Screen: Saving a new screen causes some other reports which are in the same folder to be modified at the same time when the screen was saved
- Twilio: Delivery status is not being updated correctly
- Workflow: Workflow fails with internal error and server error while running Get Records activity when selected report is configured in certain manner

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:31 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Workflow: Workflow Analyser

Now you can visualise the interconnections between triggers and workflows. This map now can help you better manage workflows and triggers, by understanding:

- workflow and cycle loops they may cause issues
- impacts from other areas implemented by other app developers
- how you may simplify and/or reduce the number of triggers and/or by combining updates



See Workflow Analyser for more details.

Feature Enhancements

Workflow: Allow User Input activity to display as a Pop-up

The User Input activity in workflow now allows administrators to view their display input as a pop-up, in addition to displaying as a form. When users need to frequently make selections from a list, using a pop-up will minimize the number of actions required to make the selection.

The workflow with the User Input pop-up can be run from forms, reports and screens.

User Input - Selec	t Product	
Please select a product		Т
6 -	T Beach Q	1
Sruska	900	1
4 Blooks		1
Biscolts, Plain	BS LAR BS	Н
Biscuits, Saroury	BS LAR BS-1	Н
Receip, Sevent	BS LAR BS 2	н
4 Candy		н
Almond Not Ch.	AUN SNA CAN	ч
Milo Bar	ML SMA CAN	н
a Cened		н
Kids Pulls Barry	KID LAR CER	н
Kids Pells Choce	KID LAR CER I	
SCM Coco Papa	JCM LAR CER	н
CM Ricebubbles	ICM-LAR-CER-1	н
LCM Shavesbelt bits	ICM LAR ODR 2	н
a Nats		н
Almonds	AUN MED NUT	н
Reenuts	REE-SMA-NUT	П
Cashewa	CAS-SMA-NUT	П
Mixed Mater	NEV OVA NET	1
	OK Canad	
Scena	rio 1 - single input selection	

Add Product					
Products :	Support - Busine	ss Haurs, <u>HEM</u> Software		1	ж
Recurring :					
			0K	6	incil
_	_	On Travial			



See User Input activity for more details.

Workflow: Triggering Trigger parameter

You can access now **Triggering Trigger** parameter information when designing workflows. This can come in handy when a change to a field or object can be a result of one of many defined triggers and which trigger actually made the change.

This can better explained with in the case of a risk assessment example. Let's say a risk assessment can be triggered in one of two ways; if a risk rating changes or an incident occurs relating to the risk, and both scenarios will each have a defined trigger. Then within the workflow builder, you can pull up the and query the parameter like you would with other parameters.

See General Workflow Activity Configuration for more details.

- Charts: Number in colour field can change the charted values
- Platform: Screens in certain scenario showing error messages: "Collection was modified; enumeration operation may not execute"
- Reports: Wrong value is displayed If Date Time value is displayed in 'Hour Only' format
- Workflow: Newly added variable is populated into calculations and overwrites pre-existing variables
- Workflow: Validation failing in calculation

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:18 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Analyser: Picker is blank for Username field in User accounts report
- Documents: File upload errors not being thrown on subsequent failed attempts
- Documents: Opening xml files in Microsoft Edge displays unformatted text
- Email: Unable to send attachments of type icon or image
- Forms: Related records are not deleted in form created using Workflow
- Hierarchy: An org structure picker does not expand to show all selected options when first opened
- Platform: Administrators cannot navigate to pages in a specific scenario with Value cannot be null error
- Platform: User screens intermittently display errors for specific users in specific situations
- Screens: Can't configure container when label is hidden
- Security: Error on console and server when a user role is added to the user account
- Survey: If a survey task status is not "Completed" by the due date, the survey task should get deleted
- Survey: Closes on date in survey campaign form incorrect when using date functions
- Survey: Error when launching survey before campaign is saved
- Survey: Incorrect values in target campaign for self referencing relationships
- Survey: Review survey task is not getting deleted after time out
- Workflow: Activities can be created without a next action, but fail during execution
- Workflow: Unable to filter reports with Report input parameter in User Input Activity
- · Workflow: Workflows triggered on schedule don't run at the scheduled time

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:31 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Improved reliability for Time calculations in Workflows

In this release administrators can now set the Time zone for their ReadiNow tenant. This will improve the reliability of workflows and triggers which use time related calculations, without a user context. The configuration of time zones will continue to undergo further enhancements.

🗉 Genera	l Settings			
Name :	General Settings			
Description :	The general settings configured by the tenant.	C.		•
GENERAL SETTINGS		FINANCIAL YEAR SETTINGS	 LANGUAGE AND 1	
Currency symbol :	\$	Financial year start month : January	Time zone :	(UTC-07:00) Mountain Time (US
Tenant theme :	Console Theme Settings			
Disable communications :				
bibable commanications.				
Disable console session t		0		

See Settings for more details.

- Hero Text: Header overlaps Hero text depending on screen size
- Import/Export: Importing invalid xml returns a general error message
- Screen: Descriptions set for screens in builder is not visible in view mode

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:19 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Support for comments in Calculations

We now support **block** and **in-line** style comments in calculations. Comments will allow users to explain complex calculations in a convenient location.

This will improve communication with other team members and reduce potential errors.

Calculation Editor	
Column Name: Enter Calculation	Next Assessment Due /* Convert the assessment date to text which will get the user's attention. The calculation uses nested iif statements.
	<pre>*/ let diff = datediff(day,getdate(),[Next Assessment Date]) select iif([Next Assessment Date] is null, null, iif(diff < 0, 'Overdue', iif(diff <= 10, 'Next 10 Days', iif(diff <= 30, 'Next 30 Days', 'More than 30 Days')))) nested iif</pre>
	©

- Analyser: Analyser drop-down disappears when selecting choice field in Firefox
- Calculations: Inline editing option is missing when using GroupBy with calculated fields in reports
- Charts: Cannot Save As a chart with shared axis
- Charts: Long category names in charts are incorrectly truncated
- Charts: Charts with multiple series are listed multiple times in Charts report
- Documents: Certain documents downloaded in Firefox result in errors when opened in the associated application
- Documents: Unable to upload email message files, using drag and drop
- Reports: Renaming a report column is not reflected in the analyser

- Reports: Export fails with Reports which have a forward slash in their name
- Screens: Charts within a container are not displayed in Screens
- Security: Changes in access rules does not update Last modified date
- Surveys: Review survey activity in workflows is unresponsive
- Surveys: Derived instances not added in target campaign with self referencing relationships
- Surveys: Launched on field value is incorrect in Survey Campaigns
- Surveys: Survey results display incorrect start and complete dates
- Surveys: Scroll bar missing when multiple targets are added in Target campaign
- Surveys: Workflows are not triggered for On survey complete and On campaign close
- Surveys: Workflow remains in paused state when a campaign is completed
- Workflow: Unable to select object for Target Object field in Launch Person Activity in Workflow
- Workflow: Empty Workflow activity paths should warn that they will fail during run
- Workflow: Improve the error message in the Workflow, Send Email activity, when password is incorrect
- Workflow: Sent email messages report contains entries for emails that were not sent

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:36 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Improved user experience for documents

We have greatly improved the user experience for uploading and downloading documents. Both tasks are much more intuitive and require fewer user actions.

- Users can drag and drop, one or **multiple** documents, to the Document field on a form.
- Clicking a document name will download the document.

The Document Library also supports uploading and downloading documents in a similar intuitive manner.

In addition to ease of use, this enhancement will increase the productivity of both users and administrators.



Documents Field Type

We have created a new field type called Documents, this will allow users to easily create a relationship to documents.



See Documents Field for more details.



- Forms: On mobile, user is not able to multi-select instances on a picker
- Hero Text: Header overlaps hero text on smaller screens
- Reports: Picker report of an image field on mobile does not show images and is difficult to select
- Screens: In builder mode, controls on screens don't indicate 'Show Help' is enabled

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:20 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Report Diagnostic Tool

We have now empowered users with a tool to diagnose when certain reports may be less responsive.

If you are looking making performance gains to reports, it is helpful to understand:

- report is structured
- security rules are applied
- data is cached and shared

This tool can be found within the report builder, scroll down to the bottom of the left hand side to find the link.



Report Diagnostics					
Report Name	Opportunities				
User					
	✓ Use 'Current User Acc	ount'			
Show diagnostics		ound			
Report Name: Opportunities Report ID: 28420 / c0e78059-9f65-46ad-a9d7-affe9278c631					
Cachable and sharable	between users				
Referenced Objects 1. Company - Object (2. Opportunity - Object 3. Person - Object (full 4. Opportunity Type - 5. Sales Stage - Choice	<u>and Types</u> full grant) t (full grant) I grant) Choice type (full grant) e type (full grant)				
Nodes					
Description		Join Type	Object	Details	
Opportunity		Object	Opportunity	Secured (full grant)	
Opportunity Type	2221	Fwd to-one	Company	Secured (full grant)	
Owner of - owner	Jany	Fwd to-one	Person	Secured (full grant)	
Sales Stage		Fwd to-one	Sales Stage	Secured (full grant)	
Calculations None					
Inherited/Derived T 1. Opportunity	<u>ypes</u>				
1. Record (Edita	ble Resource) (ancestor)				
3. Activity Relat	ed To (ancestor)				
2 Company					•
					Close

- Analyser: Changing the order of fields in Analyser does not update
- Forms: On mobile user is not able to multi-select instances on a picker
- Forms: Quick lookup feature does not work in case of nested lookup
- Import: Error importing existing objects
- Reports: Inline editing not enabled when using Group By on Reports
- Reports: Reports with images will run with 'slow secures flag' mode
- Workflow: Long names in workflows are distorted
- Workflow: Popups in workflow do not support filtering

Last Modified on 17/04/2019 10:38 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

List Processing Functions

The power of list processing has just got simpler with the introduction of the following list functions. Workflows with more complicated loops to process data in lists can now be simplified and be made to run more efficiently.

- 1. first(list) returns the first record of a list of items as a single scalar value.
- 2. last(list) returns the last record of a list of items as a single scalar value.
- 3. first(n, list) returns the first n records of a list of items as a list of value.
- 4. last(n, list) as above for the last n records.
- 5. skip(n, list) as above, but for a function that skips over the first n records.
- 6. reverse(list a function that reverses the order of a list.
- 7. convert(list, input) A way to take a single value and convert it to a list of zero or one items.
- 8. concat(list1, list2) concatenate two lists of the same type together, or a list and a single item, or a single item and a single item.

Note: These functions are only supported in workflow and document generation calculations.

See Calculation Functions for more details.

Enhanced Features

Security Roles

We have listened to you and based on customer recommendations we have renamed a couple of the security roles tabs to make it more meaningful.

- Includes Roles is now titled Members (Roles)
 - The listed roles are members of the currently role.
 - Users assigned to member roles are also effectively in the current role.
 - Equivalently, each of the Members (Roles) inherit permissions of the current role
- Included by Roles is now titled Member Of
 - The current role is a member of the listed roles
 - Users assigned to the current role are also effectively in the listed roles.
 - Equivalently, the current role inherits permissions of the Member Of roles.

See User Roles for more details.

- Analyser: Item not selected when selection is outside filter dialog
- Analyser: Renamed report columns are not displayed in the Analyser
- Calculations: Count calculations in records in a relationship incorrectly displayed in reports
- Calculations: Exporting data, which uses the calculation DateFromParts, is incorrect
- Charts: Charts incorrectly display data in filtered columns
- Charts: Using the inline editor to modify a chart name incorrectly displays the chart title
- Reports: A lengthy report description interferes with the report filter control
- Reports: A warning displayed for a specific report remains after saving the report
- Reports: Adjusting column widths on reports takes time
- Reports: Default reports show the same report multiple times
- Reports: Searching on summarized reports results in an error
- Resource Keys: The user interface for Resource keys shows incorrect controls
- Resource Keys: Users cannot add a resource key, with relationships or Choice fields, to objects
- Security Roles: Changing a user role's record access queries does not update the Last Modified Date for the user role
- User accounts: If the expiration time for a user account is exceeded, accounts are not marked as expired
- Workflow: A specific workflow, with multiple user inputs with user action, results in an error
- Workflow: Documents with multiple versions cannot be cloned in a workflow
- Workflow: In a workflow with multiple users, the audit log displays an incorrect user for an event

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 9:26 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Workflow: FTP Put Activity

Ability to upload a file to a remote server via FTP.

You can now customise generated output filenames. For example, you can append a date to the file name, FILENAME_YYYYMMDD.csv.



See FTP Put Activity for more details.

Enhanced Features

Centralised Configuration Credentials

Credentials for all integration configurations are now centrally managed under one report called Credentials. This report can be found under Administration \rightarrow Integration \rightarrow Credentials.

These integration configurations include:

- Scheduled Export
- Scheduled Import
- FTP Fetch Activity
- FTP Put Activity

Note upgrade changes for the above configurations

The upgrade to Release 2.111 will automatically take credentials from the existing configurations and automatically create unique Credential records for both Scheduled Import/Export. Prior to the upgrade, the credentials were required to be set up in a Scheduled Import/Export first that was then used in the FTP Fetch Activity. After upgrade, this has now been simplified to allow the FTP Fetch Activity directly access the credential itself.

See Credentials for more details.

Workflow: User Action Activity - Split out from Due Date and Time out

You can now set due date and a time out date independently within the workflow User Activity. This means that you can set the set due date for the user action task, and optionally set a time out date, if you need to end the task to say escalate it to another person.

start	User Action Approve	User Ac click to e	tion User Action
0	Reject	For Person	[Triggering Person]
	Time out	end	
		Form	
		Priority	
		Task name	
		Due date/time	dateadd(day,10, [Input].[Created 🗘 🗤
		Time out date/time	dateadd(day,20, [Input].[Created 🗘 🗤
		Keep completed	I task history
		Wait for next for	rm
		Hide comment	field
		🗌 Open in edit mo	de

See User Action activity for more details.

Note upgrade changes

Prior to the upgrade, **Due Date/Time out date/time** was the same field. After upgrade, these fields will be split out into **Due Date date/time** and **Time out date/time** fields. The upgrade will take any existing value and duplicate into both fields, which simply means that it will keep the existing behaviour prior to the upgrade.

- Reports/Analyzer: Calendar in report analyser not working correctly if you use Today or Clear buttons
- Report: Drag dropping a report into a tab container should automatically hide the label
- Workflow: Clone activity failing/causing deadlocks when cloning an object with an auto-increment field
- Workflow: Large description prevents tabs from being clicked

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:22 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

- Inline Edit: Error message 'Undefined' on multiple mandatory field exceptions
- Inline Edit: Description of related data is editable and showing the wrong data when Edit Inline
- Survey: Seeing 400 (bad request) on console log when saving a survey
- Reports: Analyser errors on hierarchy picker field
- Reports: Changing only a calculation in a report does not update the modified date of a report
- Reports: count unique not vertically aligned with heading
- Workflow: import/export (or SaveAs) does not retain position of end activity

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:23 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Anti-virus file scan

Any files that are uploaded onto the ReadiNow platform will now be scanned for malware and viruses prior to the save into the document library.

Users who attempt to upload a suspicious file via the UI will be prompted with the following message: *Possible suspicious content found in file* and stops the file being saved.

The are a number of ways a file can be saved into the document library, regardless of the method all files will be scanned:

- via the document library directly
- via a record
 - as an attachment
 - as an image/picture
- workflow file download
- document template generation

In addition, an audit log entry is also saved within the Security Audit Log to to help detect and prevent malicious behaviour.

- Calculations: datefromparts() calculates incorrectly if day value is 1
- Charts: When labels are added to a chart that has a second series then all labels display the values from the first series
- Document Generator: Generated document has wrong data in DateTime field (as well as system fields) when the time zone is changed
- Export: Exporting to Excel of a report is causing "Server Error in '/SpApi' Application
- Link in UI: Why are we displaying a broken link to a 3rd party?
- Reports / Analyser: Updates applied to an analyser are applied against the value saved in the report as opposed to the last applied value
- Reports / Analyser: When set to last N days on date field, user changing to an absolute date causes an error
- Screen Builder cannot modify report properties when opened within screen builder
- Workflows: Improve Builder load time for complex workflows
- Workflow: Multiple versions of the same workflow think they are the latest

• Workflow: User input relationship field clears when a choice field is selected

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:24 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Administrative Roles

Now you can grant users special administrative access without the need of giving users full administration access to perform specific administrative tasks. Our pre-defined administrative roles allows the ability to assign users to the following roles:

- Spreadsheet Importer
- Spreadsheet Administrators
- User Administrators
- Security Administrators

Furthermore, you can customise your own administrative roles, based on the roles listed above, by defining record access rules, permissions and navigation access.

🔲 User Roles

C - ACTION - + NEW	
User Role	Description
User Administrators	Users who manage user accounts, such as disabling accounts, resetting passwords and assigning roles.
Spreadsheet Importers	Users who import data only.
Spreadsheet Administrators	Users who add new configurations and import data.
Security Administrators	Users who create roles, define access rules and assign navigation access.

- Hierarchy Picker: link to existing for hierarchy replaced all other entries
- Forms: Multi-select fields not displayed in order of source report
- Forms: When adding multiple fields to a tabbed form relationships do not show labels
- Forms: Relationships set to display inline result in broken links
- Forms: When adding multiple fields to a tabbed form relationships do not show labels
- Import: Importing from a spreadsheet should not import blank rows
- Forms / Workflow: Navigation issue on form when using a User Input activity and screen refreshes
- Workflows: Builder is slow to load complex workflows because of many sequential calls to compile expressions
- Workflows: Workflow invalidation fails at runtime
Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:24 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Bug Fixes

- Email: Invalid characters in email subject cause inbound email processing to fail
- Import from Excel "This field is already mapped" error when re-allocating fields to columns
- Mobile: No response but blank dialogue is given on mobile after running a workflow
- Reports: Count totals not vertically aligned with heading
- Workflow: Cannot clone a document
- Workflow: Extra workflow runs on trigger for a certain scenario
- Workflow: Cleanup picking up some workflows as stalled that are not
- Workflow: Unable to store a single resource variable into a resource list when pausing workflow

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:31 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Bug Fixes

- Charts: Deleting a series on a chart is giving you dirty handling message
- Email: Issue adding email attachments to a record via a workflow
- Import/Export: Data loss on getRecords Filter property
- Import/Export/Workflow: Run as owner breaks during export/import
- Reports: A number of reports are failing to run with error: "The report failed to run. The datediff function resulted in an overflow"
- Report: Unable to delete mass number of records (lower than page limit 200)
- Workflow: Save-As workflow is giving "...Workflow ID is not a workflow Ref..." error when saving in certain circumstances
- Workflow User Action: Showing incorrect actions when viewing via master-detail on a screen

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:26 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Feature Enhancements

User Action workflow activity auditing

The "Keep History" setting in the User Action activity has now been separated into two independent settings to give the user greater granularity of setting options.

1. Enable audit for user action - this is now a global setting for the workflow and will audit all the User Action

activities for a given workflow.

Workflow Properties		
Name :	Risk Approval	
Description :		•
		- <u>1</u> 2
Applications :		A ×
Owned by :	Administrator	A ×
Enable audit for user action :		
-		OK Cancel

2. Keep completed task history - this will now only keep the completed tasks generated by the User Action activity. By default, completed User Action tasks are deleted.

Approve Ris	k escription	User Action
For Person	[Triggering Person]	
Record	[Input]	· •
Form		
Priority		.
Task name		.
Due date/time		
🕑 Keep completed task	history	
Wait for next form		
Hide comment field		
Open in edit mode		

Prior to the upgrade, if you had enabled 'Keep History' on any User Action activity for a given workflow, the

upgrade to Release 2.105 will automatically take that setting and convert it to **Enable audit for user action** so your workflow will continue auditing the User Action activity changes.

Configurable task names in User Action workflow activity

Now you can customise the name of the task that is generated by the User Action activity. These are the tasks that appear in a user Task report and User Messages.



Bug Fixes

- Charts: Cannot hide the legend when you have 2 series
- Forms: Help bubble on forms does not respect show/hide
- Hierarchy Picker: link to existing for hierarchy replaced all other entries
- Report : tenant admin user is not able to see right click menu for some of the system resources (as a result not able to export resource e.g. report/screen in xml)
- Workflow: User Action Timeout not closing task
- Workflow: User Input filtered lists, is not showing all relevant objects/choice fields
- Workflow: While cloning a record, the newly created record gets the same "created date" as the original one
- Workflow: Duplicate activity names in workflow throw errors on run validation

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:05 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Change Type workflow activity

Now you can change a record from one object type to another with a single workflow activity, rather than having to create a new record and delete the old one.

start	Change Type	
0		

Filtering lists on User Input workflow activity

User Input activity now supports the ability to filter one input variable list based on another. This can be configured between choice fields, lookups or even relationships.

Building and Campus Selection



Feature Enhancements

User Input Form Label

Now you have the ability to customise the label of the User Input form. Previously, the label of the User Input form displayed the title of the workflow with no ability to change it. This is another further improvement to workflows from our customer suggestions.



Bug Fixes

- Forms: Double click to edit on a form you do not have access to still goes into edit mode, though it doesn't let you save
- Calculations: inconsistent results between Reports and Forms in some scenarios
- Reports: Filtering by top N records still exports all records
- Workflow: Display issue in the user input activity when variable label is long
- Workflow/Calculations: unable to update decimal values in related records

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:34 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Feature Enhancements

Charts: Providing helpful suggestions

Charts now have built-in smarts to guide users in creating more meaningful charts. When a user now tries to create a chart that does not make sense in context with both chart type and given data points, Chart Builder will now prompt the user to say which data point is problematic.

Column Lu ×	
imary Aa Plan 🗸 ii.	
lues 123Count Σ :	
d value 123Count Σ	
olour 123Count E	
xt DROP ITEMS HERE	
ggestions: ing the same input for both 'Values' and 'End Value' n generate undesirable results such as missing bars.	

Bug Fixes

- Charts: Legend disappears when switching between tabbed charts
- Email: Failed to send email should be retried
- Forms: Form displays differently in IE and text is truncated, but displays correctly in Chrome
- Screens: Buttons on screen can't be clicked if they wrap down
- Twilio: Bad error messages when adding Twilio account
- Workflows: Workflow builder keeps resizing frames when workflow is zoomed
- Workflows: We should be able to modify or "save as" the Workflows report in Administration without the report breaking

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 9:32 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Filter your Top N records in reports

Creating a dynamic report to filter top N records is now possible with the new report limit feature found in the analyser of reports. Simply set the the number of records you would like to show, and then sort on the column you would like it to limit to.

		Contains 🔻	Plan :
	ØX	Any of 🔹	Plan Steps :
•	i	Top N records 🔻	Limit results :
		Top N records 🔻	Limit results :

see Analyser for more details

Filter on Get Records workflow activity

Get Records workflow activity now supports filtering directly on the activity. You will need to ensure that any conditions that you would like to filter on are set in the analyser on the report beforehand.

.	Get Records click to edit de	scription	Get Records
Object		[Plan]	≂v.
Report		Plan Report	= /
Vith:	filters		
Report	Filter		×
Conditio	on	Plan Steps	•
Operato	r	Is not defined	•
Add Filt	ter		

Benefits

- Allows dynamic filtering
- Reduce the number of steps of workflow
- Improve workflow performance as result of targeted filtering
- Minimises the reports required

See Get Records activity for more details.

Feature Enhancements

Theme: Application Launcher Text is configurable

You now have the ability to set the application launcher text giving you more flexibility on theme configuration and colours. For example, this now allows white background colour on the application launch page and across the top header area.



Last Modified on 18/04/2019 11:26 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Import Spreadsheet Workflow Activity

A new workflow activity to provide the ability to import an excel or CSV file into an object.

Benefits

- Provides the ability to perform multiple sets of imports from a single uploaded file
- Can sequence multiple imports one after the other
- Can take full advantage of workflow flexibility to add data processing after or before an import

See Import Spreadsheet Activity for more details



FTP Fetch Workflow Activity

A new workflow activity to provide the ability to retrieve documents via FTP.

Benefits

• Can be used in conjunction with "Import Spreadsheet Activity" to streamline the importing processes where multiple steps are required to transform and import the data by fetching the required file directly.

See FTP Fetch Activity for more details.



Rich Text field type

A new Rich Text field control can now be used as field type on an object. To enable Rich Text in Form Builder,

simply add the Rich Text field to your object.



Rich text supports the following formatting:

- Paragraph
 - Bullet list
 - Numbered list
 - Text alignment left, right and centre
- Font
 - Bold text
 - Italics text
 - Underlined text
- Quotes
- Links
 - URL default to be opened in a new tab
- Undo / Redo

Rich text is supported in:

- View and edit forms
- Documents templates
- Reports
- Inline editing

See Rich Text Field for more details.

Feature Enhancements

Spreadsheet Import Enhancements

The following enhancements have been made to the Spreadsheet import feature:

• Users can now set an option to Append or Overwrite on relationships and multi-select choice fields

• When mapping columns, users are now able to set a static fixed value for a field or a relationship

Bug Fixes

- Workflow: Updating a workflow with existing workflow runs can corrupt the workflow, showing errors for every activity
- Reports: A broken calculation can break a report
- Calculations: Broken calculation for the following scenario; sum(iif(Name='',1,0))

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:51 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Bug fixes

- Screens: Performing a 'save as' for a screen or report assigned to a lite or basic role fails
- Reports: 'Save as' on system reports is not working as expected
- Import: If an object has two separate resource keys; one for name and another for relationship, then importing data into that object results in error message
- Mobile: Forms can be moved side-side
- Workflow: A second or third user action activity is not using the nominated form
- Screen Buttons: If a screen has a workflow action button that navigates to a user action, then it navigates to an empty form in certain circumstances.
- Survey: Weighting is not given to text question if user creates a text question from Question Libraries

- Workflow Save Error
 - **Issue:** Making a change to an existing Workflow that has paused workflow runs may cause the workflow to error.
 - Workaround: If a change is required to be made to workflows with paused runs, do a "save as" to the workflow and update the new version. Note any triggers or workflow action buttons will need to repointed to the new workflow.
 - Resolution: ReadiNow are working to resolve the issue and will advise once rectified

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 9:39 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Workflow Create Activity now able to merge with existing records

- Workflows that create records may need to merge into existing records when a resource key is set.
- The create activity now has a new checkbox to "Update existing record with matching key"
- When checked, if the workflow tries to create a record where there is a Resource Key Match (See Resource Keys), then the record is merged with the existing record
- This checkbox only appears if a resource key is defined on the Object (See Resource Keys)

<mark>≓</mark> *	Create click to edit description	Create
Object	[Employee]	
Upda	te existing record with matching key	

Ability to Export Access Summary of a role

• When viewing a Role the 'Access Summary' tab is now able to be exported to excel, csv or word.

🔲 Manage	r Role		
Name :	Manager Role		
Description :			
Applications :			
Role level :	Full Role		
Record Access Navig	ation Access Includes	roles Included by roles Us	sers Access Summary
Summary of all record t	ypes that may be accessi	ble for the role. Including inh	erited objects, included role, and implicitly secured relationship Scope
Contact		View	All records
Contact		View	Filtered per user
Document		View	Via related
Email Contact		View	Via related
Empil Contact		Minur	Via related

Ability to change Field Label Colour

• New Setting in "Theme Settings" under General Content Area to allow a colour selection for all field labels on forms

Show/Hide Elements on form now work on screens

- See Showing/Hiding Elements on form
- The above show/hide behaviour now works when a form is added to a screen

Ability to "Select/Deselect" all on mulitselect pickers

• On any multi-select picker, you now have the ability to select or deselect all records by clicking the checkbox in the header

Select Ca					
¢ -			Ŧ	Search	Q,
Car					
BMW N	13				
Ford Fa	lcon				
Toyota	Rav4				
Holden	Ute SS				
Lexus N	x				
Volvo					
Audi A-					
				ОК	Cancel

Feature Enhancements

Feature Enhancement	Description
Workflows runs with deleted 'User Input' or 'User Action' tasks are cleaned up daily	Workflows that have a User Input or User Action create a task and placed into a paused state until the user completes the task. If the task gets deleted for whatever reason the workflow run was remaining in the paused state forever. These workflow runs are now identified and status set to failed on a nightly basis
Reports dragged onto screens now show container heading	When a report is dragged directly onto a screen (not into a tab) the name of the report is now automatically added as a heading.
When charting on records where 'Conditional formatting on choice field' is set, blanks now are automatically grey	On any set of records that includes a choice field where the conditional formatting is set on that choice field (see Conditional Formatting of Choice Fields), for any 'blank records' the blanks were represented as black segments on a chart. This has been changed to show 'blanks' as light grey segments
Changes to Password Reset Feature	Option to "Reset Password" is now always shown on login screenFormatting changes to the auto generated password reset email

Bug fixes

• Workflow: Some functionality of User Input not working in the new workflow UI.

- Screens : Refreshing the matrix chart on a screen displayed hidden rows on the corresponding report
- Report: Column names were overlapping when report column was resized either in view mode or builder mode.
- Reports: Unable to view all the columns on the report in builder mode after column widths were rearranged.
- Calculations: Filters on certain calculated columns were giving incorrect results.
- Forms: Some Field Controls with conditional visibility(show/hide) were appearing on tabs when they shouldn't

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:09 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Column width resizing

Reports now remember their column sizes. Columns can be resized both in builder mode and in view mode.

- 1. When report columns are resized in **report builder** the column sizes are saved as percentages as part of value formatting.
- 2. When report columns are resized in **view mode** the column sizes are saved as percentages in local session storage and will not affect the reports for another user as the changes are local to their machine.
- 3. If the column width is resized in local session storage it will override the value formatting widths.
- 4. A context menu called Reset Column Width is shown for columns that have a custom widths, which reset the width of the column to default.
- 5. The initial column size for Currency, Decimal, Integer, Boolean, Time, Date, DateTime, Choice, Image column types is half the width of the other columns.
- 6. Any custom width will still override any initial width.

Feature Enhancements

Feature Enhancement

Description

There are no feature enhancements in this release.

Bug fixes

- Document Generation: Using 'Order by' and 'where' clause in document template was yielding incorrect results
- Import Spreadsheet: Unchecking 'No heading row' was giving an error though the import is performed successfully
- Import Spreadsheet: CSV import via web API causes HTTP header rows to be processed by importer
- Reports on forms were not refreshing when the data is updated
- Resource key: Import Append/Override option wasn't working properly
- Workflow: non-admin user wast given the view access to the custom form specified on Create Link activity

- Screens: refreshing the matrix chart on a screen displays the hidden rows on the corresponding report
- Calculations: Variables that follow relationships to multiple records only return the first record
- Mobile: approval buttons appear missing if workflow triggered on form
- Workflow- Large workflows are not loading or taking a long time to open

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 9:33 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Feature

Arrow Charts

New chart type has been released that allows you to show data as 'arrows'. This can be used in conjunction with other charts types as a secondary series to show trending.

Show Hide Actions Button

New functionality to allow show/hide conditions to apply to 'Action Buttons' on top of forms. This allows only applicable 'action buttons' to be visible on a form depending on set conditions. See Showing/Hiding Elements on form.

Feature Enhancements

Feature Enhancement	Description
Quick Search: now search on numeric columns	Quicksearch on reports now allows quicksearch on numeric fields (note only 'exact matches' are found on numeric quicksearch)
Field Hover Tooltip: Increase character limit to 250 characters	Hover tooltip of a field on a form has been increased from 197 characters to 250 characters
Reports Data Value Formatting: More formats available	On a date column in a report, new display formats are now available including: • Day Month Year (e.g. 12 October 2017) • Shortmonth Year (e.g. Oct 2017)
Right clicking on form hyperlink: Change behaviour	Right clicking on form hyperlink (e.g a lookup link) now opens the browser right click menu

Feature Enhancement	Description
Help Icon added at top right of page	Help icon appears at the top right of the screen (next to the user icon).Clicking on the icon navigates to documentation link
Minor changes to Clear All and OK Button in multi line control	Clear all button has now been changed to text only and appears to the left of OK button.

Bug fixes

- "New" button was visible even when enable new is set to false.
- Unable to add records to a multi-select relationship when the selected row was over 200 records.
- Running a workflow from Form on Screen is not passing record info to workflow unless a record is selected
- When there are nested containers, scrolling behaved incorrectly in certain circumstances.
- Incorrect positioning of information icon in certain circumstances
- Certain Records not appearing on the report after a successful import.

- Screens: refreshing the matrix chart on a screen displays the hidden rows on the corresponding report
- Workflow: non-admin user is not given the view access to the custom form specified on Create Link activity

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:11 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Feature

Import/Export XML

This is a new feature that allows an individual component, such as reports, forms, workflows etc, to be exported to XML format. This can then be imported into a different tenant. Please refer to the documentation to learn more about the steps involved in Import/Export of XML and the rules around this feature.

Feature Enhancements

Spreadsheet Import Enhancements

The following enhancements have been made to the Spreadsheet import feature

- Users can now cancel the import run even after they navigate away from Import screen.
- Spreadsheet import now ignores cases and whitespace when importing spreadsheet
- Import run reports now record a relationship between every record that is imported and the last run it was imported by. Users can use this relationship to find which import caused that record to be updated
- Records that get imported from a spreadsheet are now related to the latest "import run" via a hidden relationship called "Last Import". Users can use this relationship to find which import caused that record to be updated.
- There is also a new field available on all records called "Last import date", which is a calculated field that returns the import date of the associated import run.

Workflow Task Due Date by Calculation

The following changes have been made to the following activities: User Action, Launch Person Campaign, Launch Target Campaign and Review Survey.

- Previously the above activities allowed a property to specify a Due in time, which was allowed a static number to be set. This would then set the 'due date' of the corresponding task that gets created as part of the workflow.
- To allow for increased flexibility, this property has been changed to allow you to set a "Due Date" as a calculation or parameter. This allows the user to set the due date of the task by calculating it based on other reference points. Note it is still possible to set the due date based on a 'due in time' by specifying a calculation similar to dateadd(day, 6, getdate()) to make a due date 6 days after the task is created.

- Any existing workflows will be upgraded to allow for this new property
 - Forexampleanexisting user action in an existing workflow that is set to "Due in 6 days" will be converted to dateadd(day, 6, getdate())

Auditing on User Action Task

- Any Audit History entry for a user action task now captures the user that directly actioned the task.
- This will only be applied if the "Record History" option is enabled on the user action in workflow
- This will be applied to any new workflow runs or runs that are currently paused 'at or before' the user action task (i.e. not completed workflow runs or completed user action tasks)
- The format of the audit log will be:

User Action Audit Log Format:

	Format	Example
Name Field:	<workflow owner="">(<workflow by="" triggered="">) (<user action="" actioned="" by="">)</user></workflow></workflow>	Admin(john.smith)(jane.lowe) Updated 'Task 1'
Description Field	Assigned to: <acting person="">, Due: <due date="">, Actioned By: <actioned person="">, Completed: <completed date="">, Action: <action summary=""></action></completed></actioned></due></acting>	Assigned to: John Smith, Due: 30/05/2017 3:35:42 AM, Actioned By: Jane Lowe, Completed: 30/05/2017 3:36:45 AM, Action: Approve

Disable Console Session Timeout

New setting in "Administration>Settings>General Settings" to "Disable console timeout settings". When this is checked, the console session timeout will be disabled (i.e session timeout will not occur). Note: this will disable the session timeout when logging on using standard ReadiNow credentials or any external identity providers such as OpenID Connect or SAML

Disable Communications Setting

New setting in "Administration>Settings>General Settings" to "Disable Communications". When this is checked, all email or SMS communications are prevented from being sent from ReadiNow

Bug fixes

- User Actions: User action drop down shows multiple entries of the user action when it is run more than once on the same record
- Report: setting default value to be true for a new boolean field make all existing appear true on report

- Workflow running workflow on Form on Screen is not passing record info to workflow unless a record is selected
- Screens: refreshing the matrix chart on a screen displays the hidden rows on the corresponding report

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:12 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Feature Enhancements

Export to Excel

• When exporting a report to Excel, CSV or Word document; any 'group by' attribute on a report now exports as a column in the exported document

Resource Keys

• For performance reasons, resource keys cannot be created or modified for objects that contain more than 100 pre-existing records.

Bug fixes

- Console : Server returns error when trying to create a resource key on Name field for an object which has large amount of data.
- Enabling workflow buttons in report builder leads to 500 internal server error in certain circumstances
- Workflow: Unable to add a 'default value' to a defined variable in workflow
- Workflow running out of memory when loading large workflow.
- Workflow: Create/Update/Clone When we add the 10th field to a create activity, the field was being added at position 2 instead of the end in position 10.
- Mobile: Password set to change on next login does not work in mobile
- Import: Import fails if the duplicate row is within 30 rows and passes if it as after 30 rows

- Workflow: Undo action does not work on added or deleted activities.
- Unable to add more records to a multi-select relationship

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:14 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Feature Enhancements

Workflow Builder Improvements

This release contains a new and improved user interface for the Workflow Builder. Suggestions have been incorporated from customers feedback and is part of an overall Workflow Enhancements.

ReadiNow									× ^			
Reedi BU	🔶 🋧 Undo 🏕 I	Redo 🗖 100% 🕀 🧹	2			4	▶ Run	X Delete	ii. Properties	🗎 Save	🔛 Save As	× Close
Workflow	Create ne	w vehicle*	-			-						
Data Activities		start Creat	e Gateway						Î III_8 Upd	ate to edit description		Update
Create			Bit J	exit				3	Record	Crea	te Record)	~
📥 Update			Others	vise					Field or Relation	inship		×
× Delete									Name	Veh	de T	~
📅 Clone	1			Update	Send Email		end		Add Field or Re	lationship		
Get Records	1			Exit		iend Succeeded						
For Each	1				Send F	ailed	Ť					
J Gateway	1											
User Activities												
E User Action	1											
🖉 User Input	1											
Send Email	1											
오 User Message	1											
😰 Launch Person Campaign	1											
Caunch Target Campaign	1											
Review Survey	1											
🗞 System Activities												
X Assign to Variable												

Key Changes:

- 1. Ability to Expand/Collapse left Activity menu to provide a larger canvas while building workflows.
- 2. Undo/Redo buttons have moved to left hand side of the screen.
- 3. Configuration Panel now appears as the right hand side of the screen and restyled
- 4. General re-styling of buttons and panels

Spreadsheet Import

• Efficiency improvements to spreadsheet import

Bug fixes

- Calculations: Calculated fields on form were not refreshing on update of relationship.
- Export: Changes to SFTP Export to support smooth file transfer.
- Reports:Style of the report could not be changed in the view mode.
- Reports: Report builder was displaying error when a choice field is deleted from the object

- Survey: Name of choice question was not appear in Choice Options depending on how choice question was created.
- Workflow: Workflow buttons were being duplicated on records in a certain scenario.

- Workflow: Undo action does not work on added or deleted activities.
- Workflow: Unable to add a 'default value' to a defined variable in workflow

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:15 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

There are no new feature releases in this version.

Feature Enhancements

• Added "Read Only" option to Relationships when the relationship is displayed as 'Inline' on a form

Bug fixes

- Import spreadsheet: Unable to map all fields using safari browser on a Mac due to issues with scrollbars.
- Import Spreadsheet: After importing a spreadsheet the "Done" button is still greyed out and not clickable.
- Importing data was not adhering to resource key resulting in duplicate records in certain situations
- Form Builder: Some form layouts were not rendered correctly on a Safari Browser on a Mac machine
- Form Builder: Form builder was giving an error when trying to save the default name field by specifying display name.
- Edit Forms: Error when saving form preventing when selecting certain options pre-save.
- Audit Policy against Task was causing workflow run saves to fail
- Workflow is updating 'Created Date' on existing records with the date/time the workflow ran against the record.
- Error was being thrown when opening Document generated from template with certain browser settings

Known Issue

• Report builder displays error when a choice field is deleted from the object

Feature Preview

Workflow Builder Improvements

Listening to customer feedback, we are taking steps to improve the User Interface of the Workflow Builder. This changes will be released in phases over the next few release cycles. The first phase includes some interface changes that is targeted to be released in 2.94 (a current target release of 25 May 2017). See below a screenshot of the new Workflow Builder User Interface

ReadiNow		Administration :	- 0 -
Reads BUILDER 🕊	A Kundo A Redio 🗖 100% 🖶 🕨 🕨 Delete 🗄	🗄 Properties 🔡 Save 📗	Save As X Close
	Create new vehicle*		
Data Activities	start Create Gateway	Lick to edit description	Update
Create		Record [Create.P	tecond)
🛥 Update	Otherwise	Field or Relationship	×
× Delete		Name Vehicle	۳. 🗳
😗 Clone	Update Send Email end	Add Field or Relationship	
Get Records			
For Each	Send Falled		
🗾 Gateway			
User Activities			
User Action			
🕑 User Input			
Send Email			
🗢 User Message			
😰 Launch Person Campaign			
Zunch Target Campaign			
Review Survey			
🗞 System Activities			
X Assign to Variable			

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:18 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Note

Release 2.92 will involve standard infrastructure maintenance only. Previously reported bug fixes will be incorporated into Release 2.93.

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:19 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

Summary

Buttons on Screen

Feature

Ability to add a button at the top of the screen to either create a record or run a workflow

Feature Enhancements

No major changes have been made to the existing features.

Bug fixes

- Workflow: bug with long running workflow foreground triggers has now been fixed.
- Workflow: A clone action that would result in a cardinality violation now gives a proper error message.
- Report Builder: 'Enabling workflow' was presented in a different tab if the report is created using Save As
- Survey: User message were not being presented when survey is completed
- Calculations: Mod function was giving wrong result in certain circumstances due to order of operations
- User Message: completed tasks were not disappearing from user message bank

- Deleting the application navigates to the first available application on the welcome page
- Reports on screens are not updating when running workflow buttons.
- Report builder displays error when a choice field is deleted from the object

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 9:41 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

Feature	Summary	Documentation
User Message Notification	A new 'User Message' activity in workflow that can be used to send notifications to the user when they are logged into ReadiNow.	User Message
IP Ranges	IP Range whitelisting feature restricts access to a given IP range	IP Ranges

Feature Enhancements

Change to method of adding pages to Navigation

- New pages are now added via the "+ Page Item" button
- A new pop-up window has been created to add the page type
- See screenshots below



New "Notification Task Tray" for all users

• A "Message" icon added to top right of top menu bar

- When clicked, shows a list of:
 - Workflow tasks pending for the current user (from the User Action activity or User Input activity)
 - Unread messages from the User Message activity



Bug fixes

- Conditional formatting on charts was not working when using the default format for choice fields
- Quick lookup fails if the lookup and report point to a parent type but the user enters a resource of child type
- Default value for a choice fields can now be set.
- Long report name was overlapping with the column name
- Adding a row to the existing board made the column disappear
- Launching Campaign that was already launched was giving an error

- Deleting the application navigates to the first available application on the welcome page
- Reports on screens are not updating when running workflow buttons.

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:20 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

Feature	Summary
Conditional	Conditional formatting can now be applied directly to a choice field. This allows the
Formatting on	formatting to by displayed on the form (in view mode) and also be the default format when
Choice Fields	the choice field is added to a report

Feature Enhancements

• Survey Enhancements: The 'Target' of a target survey now displays as a hyperlink so users can navigate back to the target from the survey response.

Bug fixes

- Import Excel failing due to errors in certain circumstances
- Cannot scroll down more than 200 records in some reports
- Reports: Adding and deleting of rows from the report needs manual refresh on the report to see the changes on report

- Screen Builder: Assign parent functionality on screen may not always be applied
- Document Library: Sometimes able to view document template in document folder after deleting.
- Calculations: Adding a where clause in a calculation is not working as expected in certain circumstances
- Undertaking Tenant Rollback may remove links to certain images
- Person Name Update: The out of the box workflow used to join a persons first & last name may not trigger.
 - Workaround: Make the "Name" field of person not editable (i.e. turn off 'read only') and update any newly created person's name via the form.
 - This issue will be fixed in 2.90.

Last Modified on 18/04/2019 9:44 am AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

Feature	Summary	Documentation
Tenant Rollback	The tenant rollback feature allows Administrators to rollback changes to your tenant to a selected restore point. Generally you can rollback up to five calendar days or until the last ReadiNow upgrade. In some circumstances a rollback may not be possible due to the number of changes in a given period. Refer to the documentation link for more information.	Tenant Rollback
SAML	ReadiNow now supports SAML as an external identity provider for authentication.	SAML

Feature Enhancements

Audit Log Changes

• Audit log character limit now increased to 100,000 characters

Create Link Workflow Activity

• Create Link Activity in workflow, now gives the ability to specify a specific 'form' to open

User Interface Enhancements

Feature

Screenshot

1 Context menu's for left hand navigation elements has been made consistent

Parallel and Paral					-	a 🔨 100	n antening and	4
FOUTH LANGEDTY #								
- News - 🖸	Student report							2
- on	store Anna contents							
 Scene 1 	Link Lines hand	AD Root Mr. of Tables	14	Edge Standilland of	Annalis	4.76-7		
	173 Industry			International Advantage	A state	11/10.0		_
A Marth Scene	11.0 Adventio Aligner	As MED. LOCK Manager &		Married Researched at	August .	14130.0		
The barry barries	17.0 Househow	ALCO DOLLARS		Name & and Advanced	New Texture	August a		
	100 Datablade	0.0 Res MC 107 house	100	Enter Control and	Autom			
	11d Incohore	Without a	14	lass from the last of the	Augusta .	1.7.0		
3 Debde Screen			-	International Academics of the	August .	LATE I		
	Options for left nin	igations		the Report Marcon	Automa and	10.00		
II Student screen - Sommer,	elements now have	eptions at	~	Manufacture and	Automa and			
	 Modify 		14	Non York Warman	Automa and	2.2.07		
Linked charls screen	 Properties 		100	In Addition in Contract	Automa and	20.07		
A 1999	 Bernove 		41	famale burnetnesses	Article	12 A 12		
	 Design 		10	(automation)	Autority .	22.16		
System Reports -	105 Section	PARA DI INCOM-	44	has maintenanced	Arris		100	
and the second second second	128 invariantian	200 Aver level	11	broading (short from	Armite	Cont.1d .	100	
 Aquers to Ours Sector - 	124 Gelle Det	Ar HET SAL Purcha	14	Onto Database instance.	Armite	STATE 1	and a	
 Association (a) 	1472 Barlinham	På Rettill Still Han.	104	techtederstein.	Annala	6.027.1		
_		Ar 120-221 Arts M.		Gran horned marries			and a	
-	101 Propinging	W7-00LANL	101	Phone Statements	Autority		in the second se	
	100 Induce State			Andrew Red Dubried		10.00		
	110 Rechespe	P.D. Row MT. PHEROME.	10.		Autom	246.07	and a	
	100 June-houle	WHICH STREET, Ac.	ACT.		Autority		unate .	

- 2 More options added to the report configuration menu. This allows the user to access the form builder of the underlying form from this report configuration menu
- A caracter a serie de la caracter de

Screenshot

- 3 A note now appears in all builders to "Drag and drop" to page.
- 4 Styling change to the "New" button on reports to make it more distinct

NAMES OF TAXABLE PARTY							
· · · · · ·							
wa - eo	Student report						
	Ares Enc. / or note						T hash
	the second se	anten ingi	days.		(and	history	dante:
wm *	140 300-500			And And And Andrews	Autors		Partole
	TET TAXABLE	Staling for "New	Button"	an and the second second	Autors	22.0	Male
· ·	THE INVALUATION OF	changed to make	ait more distinct	And Annal Annal Party.	Autoria		Family
en Regionia -	THE WAY ANY			mandationput.	tree Deterrit	510412	Main
	wild designifying		100	Establishing (Spare).	Autoria		Main
Is for Overs Section	Vial Inna Roman	10-0 Hars Inc.	- 14	hashmedeteen a	Autoria	1.758	Familie
The Baseline and	1983 San Niron	NO KEE A Grant	0.0	Geneticsenites and	Autoria		Family
	WITH Arm International	NO.Am.D.	04		Autola	6010	Male
			WC .	Messilinier James.	Autoda		Male
	THE data laws.	DE Chiegen, D.	24	Interlacted Streeters.	Autoria	1.007	Male
		FO Res TIL 2018 High.	101		Autoria	Design and	Male
	VO Anneh bars	400-7879-03 M.	ACT.		Autoria	322.0	Mater
			ACT		Autoria	1000	Male
	THE TAQ No.		34	Say State Systematic	Autority		Particle
	109 Auguste Down	708 And Stud	10		Autom	91010	Particle
		spheric de la constance -	34	Called Sample Country -	Autority	500.0	Family
	THE AND MONY		101		Automa		Main
		10 FOR 100 Acro M.		Kelog Rosendynages	New Destand		Family
	1911 When a Septeme	TO ADDRESS NO.	101	they begin shape.	Autoria		Familie
	THE Astrophes.	NO ATM Societype II.		Andrey Nachdrafest.	Here Dealerst	90.0	Male
	Vitil Ana George	PG In M. 199 Con.	144	Indeep/Herperi-	Autoria	1.002	Parrais:
	Vill Santiants	100-Vurna Iv	67	harded search.	Antoin	1.002	Parrala

Bug fixes

- Calculations: Using nested iff and select statement causes calculation to crash report
- Calculated fields on form not refreshing when relationships are changed via inline edit.
- Form builder not working properly when trying to create inherited objects in certain circumstances

- Calculations: Recursive calculation doesn't work correctly for related resource
- Screen Builder: Assign Parent functionality on screen may not always be applied
- Connected lookup not working consistently when master field is Read Only
- Undertaking Tenant Rollback may require clearing of browser cache
- Undertaking Tenant Rollback may remove links to certain images
Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:21 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary
Default Login	Allows the administrator to define where the user lands after logging in.
Scheduled Export	Allows the data to be exported into an excel or csv format on a defined scheduled.

Bug fixes

- Forms: On a low resolution or when the browser is zoomed, the form buttons overwrite the record name.
- Forms: When navigating to a new record if the user has scrolled down on a report, the scroll bar does not reset to the top of page. In some instances this will effectively hide buttons on the top of a page.
- Multiline Field: Increase character limit to 100,000
- Screen: Options for assign parent on hero text appears only after the screen is saved
- Survey: Selecting the 'Use Existing' option for choice field does not bring up the choice values.

Known Issues

- Charts: Refreshing chart on screen navigates to report rather than stay on screen.
- Import Spreadsheet: progress reporting behaves inconsistently
- Import Spreadsheet: unable to map all fields using safari on a mac, scroll bar doesn't come up for fields at the bottom as on windows.
- IE Browser: Styling in few areas in IE browser is not consistent with other browsers
- Reports: Cannot scroll down more than 200 records in some reports in certain circumstances
- A New link in the Admin side panel for "Licence Information" is appearing. This will be removed in a later release as it relates to internal licence details

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:27 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary
Show/Hide	A new feature that gives the ability to show/hide fields on a form depending on rules

Feature Enhancements Summary

There were no feature improvements in this release.

Bug fixes

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- IE Browser: In Internet Explorer 11 Analyser have two "X's" in it.
- IE Browser: The saving message and the validation error message appears on the left side on IE
- Edit Forms: Help text icon overlaps the control if the control width is set to 100%.
- Edit Forms:Date picker icons are missing and date is not visible completely
- Edit Forms:Connected lookups not working consistently

Known Issues

- Charts: Refreshing stand-alone chart navigates to report
- Workflow: Triggering a workflow that is not marked "run as owner" for a create/update scenario in a Scheduled Import is not working properly
- Report: Long report name gets overlapped with the name of the column name.

The above will be addressed in a subsequent release

Feature Detail

Show Hide

This feature allows the user to see some additional controls on the form depending on the user Input.

There are circumstances where a user only needs to see a subset of controls on a form. Depending on the data the user inputs into the form, user sees some additional controls.

This allows simpler forms as user only sees the fields they need to see.

Behaviour:

The Show/Hide feature is available on the properties of:

- Field controls
- Containers
- Tab containers

In the 'properties' of the above controls, there is now a "Visibility" tab that describes the condition on whether the control is hidden or shown.

Text Field Properties				
Field Name : Display Name :	Text			
Description :	× 12			
▲ OPTIONS Form Detail Ob	ject Detail Visibility Format			
Show When:	A			
	OK Cancel			

Steps to configure Show/Hide of controls.

- 1. Add a control to the form that is to be shown when a condition is true.
- 2. Open the Properties of the control and go to Visibility tab.
- 3. Enter a calculations that results in a true/false.
- 4. The control is hidden by default and appears if the condition is true.
 - 1. Note:
 - 2. System validates the calculations real-time to ensure it results in a True/False.
- 5. In the example below, user enters the name and specifies if they are an Australian Citizen.
- 6. 'Nationality' field is ONLY shown If the user answers No to ' Are you an Australian Citizen?'

Information	Form

Name :	
Are you an Australian : [S	elect]
Nationality :	
Text Field Propert	ies
Field Name :	Nationality
Display Name :	
Description :	* 2
Form Detail Object	t Detail Visibility Format
Show When:	[Citizen] = 'No'
	Q. F.
	OK Cancel
	Form Builder showing conditional calculation



🔳 Informat	ion Object
Name :	Mark Millers
Are you an Australian Citi	No
Nationality :	
Edit form showing that th	e field is visible when the condition is true

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:25 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary
Self Serve	Allow users to create personal reports, screens and charts that are not visible to other users.

Feature Enhancements Summary

Feature	Summary

Send Email UI changes and enhancements to support emails going out of the platform.

Bug fixes

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Multiline Field: Increase character limit to 35,000
- Workflow: Running a workflow that is not marked "run as owner" is causing an exception.
- Workflow: Buttons are not actionable when logged in as User in certain situations.
- Workflow: Nestediif with date calculation isonly evaluating first option
- Workflow: Change to error message for resource key violation

Known Issues

- Form title wrapping: if a long record name exists, then form title will wrap and may be overlapped by any action buttons on forms.
- Receiving of the emails is currently not working. If you try and create a New Inbox, it will not receive any emails.

The above will be addressed in a subsequent release

Feature Detail

Self Serve

Behaviour:

- Non-admin users are now able to create 'personal' reports screens and charts. This will only be visible to the user that created the report, screen or chart.
- An administrator user must explicitly give access to a user or role to undertake "self-serve actions". This is done by assigning the user to the new 'Self Service" role.
- An administrator must also designate special 'Personal Section" where non-admin users can create personal
- A user in self serve role will only be able to create New Screen, Report or Chart.

Setup:

To provide access foruserto create personal reports, screens and charts, as an administrator:

1. On the left handmennu, add a "New Personal Section". This is a special section that allows non-admin users to create personal reports, screens and charts.



- 2. Then, go to Administration >> User Roles
- 3. Open Self Server role>>Users Tab and add the user to the Role.

🔲 Self Ser	ve		← Back ≠ Edit
Name :	Self Serve		
Description :	Users who may create self- service reports and screens. Give the required navigation access to the role.		
Applications :	ReadiNow Corsole	Add the user to Users	
Record Access Nav	igation Access Includes roles Included by roles Users Access Summary	tab.	
C - ACTION -	+ NEW R. R. / EDIT INUNE		 Search Q,
Username	Account holder	Account status	
Mjonhson		Active	

4. Go to Navigation Access tab and give the user Navigation access to the Application and the new personal section

Creating personal reports, screens and charts, as a non-admin user:

- 1. Log in as the non-admin user and click on Configure button in the top right corner of the page.
- 2. Navigate to the "New Personal Section"

3. You will get a self servemenu to create newreport, screen or chart.



4. Any Screen, Report or Chart that a user creates is only visible to the current user

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:31 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary
Vertical list view in	When a column has been formatted as a comma separated list, new format option to
reports	display as a stacked list.

Feature Enhancements Summary

See '	'Feature	Detail"	for	further	details	& screensho	ots.

Feature	Summary
Reports: some columns now behave as hyperlink	Single click on a "name" or "lookup" column of a report to enter the record
Form navigation button restyle (Back, Edit, Save, Close)	"Back" button moved to top right and form navigation buttons restyled
Quick Lookup	Start typing in a lookup field on a form to get a list of possible results
Checkbox selection for relationship control	Ability to use checkboxes for selection when selecting records in a picker for a "relationship",
User password change dialogue	Now prompt user to enter current password before changing password

Bug fixes

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- User Input: default value for date showing 1753
- Workflows: "Save as" workflow saves the new workflow as a version # next increment from the saved

workflow, rather than version 1.

- Form Layout: Relationship Reports in container appear squashed when stacked in certain order
- Excel Import: When importing a list that results in a parent-child relationship, some relationships were dropped
- Inline Edit: "Edit Inline" button not able to be turned off for a report on a screen
- Action Button on Form: Could not click the button on the form if the name field is too long
- Error and notification message made wider when message spans over two lines
- Form Builder: Multi-line Field doesn't respect vertical format setting
- Confirm Delete Dialogue: not reporting other resources that will be deleted during cascade delete
- Other miscellaneous bugs

Feature Detail

Vertical List in Report

In a report, when a column has been formatted as a comma separated list, new format option to display as a stacked list.

In **Report Builder**, open the **Value Formatting** of any relationship column that has been formatted as "Comma Separated List". A new option available to show as "Vertical List" and specify the number of lines to show.

The records will not appear as a vertical list. If there are more records than can be displayed, the last row will show a count of how may more are available.

ReadiNow								
Readi BUILDER	î.		Format Name: L	ist: Qualifications			C RELO.	AD 🔝 PROPERTIES 🗎 SAVE
Report		Studer	Conditional Forma	Atting Value Forma	atting			
Relationship viewer		ACTIONS 3	Alignment:	Default	۲	-		
Σ 🗄	7 +	Student	Show as:	Vertical list	•			
Student			Lines:	3		1	maceutical	
Club	Σ	Selma Terrell	Hierarchy:	[Select] ¥				
🛏 Country							OK Cancel rimany	
Gender		Yoshi Joseph	_	_	_	_	Bachelor of Laws	
• • • • Qualifications	Σ						Bachelor of Laws	
- • State		Meredith Alv	arez	NSW	Australia	Female	Graduate Certificate in Australian Law	
- 🕶 Suburb							Bachelor of Science in Information	
Fields & Related Objects		Wayne Avery		SA	New Zealand	Male	Technology Graduate Diploma in Media Arts and	
Search	a						Graduate Certificate in Arts	
Drag and drop to page		Ezekiel Coole	У	NSW	Australia	Male	Management	
- Default							Bachelor of Education in Primary	
A Name		Irene Roman		SA	Australia	Female	Education	
A Description	00						Graduate Certificate in Environmental	
An Multiline Text		Sara Nieves		QLD	Australia	Female	Engineering Management	
2.84.5002.0-Release / C: 2.84.5001	.0-Release				Powered By Rea			

Student report

C - ACTION - + NEW / E	DIT INLINE			
Student	State	Country	Gender	List: Qualifications
Yoshi Joseph	SA	Australia	Male	Bachelor of Education in Primary Education Bachelor of Laws Master of Engineering + 1 more
Wayne Avery	SA	New Zealand	Male	Bachelor of Science in Information Technology Graduate Diploma in Media Arts and Production
Ezekiel Cooley	NSW	Australia	Male	Graduate Certificate in Arts Management
Alvin Robinson	SA	Australia	Male	Master of Accounting Information Systems Master of Arts (Research) in Humanities and Social Sciences
Alfonso Mcclure	VIC	Australia	Male	Master of Arts in Creative Writing
Baker Sparks	SA	Australia	Male	Graduate Certificate in Engineering

Reports: some columns now behave as hyperlink

Any "Name" or "Lookup" column in a report now appear as a hyperlink on mouse hover. This allows:

- A single click to enter a record when clicking on the name field
- A single click to navigate directly to a lookup record
- Hold Ctrl + Click hyperlink to open record in new tab

Staff Report

C - ACTION - + NEW -	FEDIT INLINE				Y Search	2
StaffID	Staff	Faculty	Job Title	Tenure	Manager	
8464	Ina Harmon	Faculty of Commerce	Lecturer of Economics	Yes	Prescott Dawson	*
4245	Timon Valentine	Faculty of Sciences	Dean of Sciences	Yes	Cooper Griffith	
6908	Indigo Huffman	Faculty of Education	Lecturer of Special Education	Yes	Rebekah Erickson	
7272	Heidi Shaffer		Administration Manager	Yes	Cooper Griffith	
3509	Sasha Jacobs	Single click to	Lecturer of Agriculture	Yes	Paul Larson	
2443	Aladdin Farrell	open Record	Dean of Law	Yes	Cooper Griffith	
2939	Sophia Grimes		Lecturer of Civil works	Yes	Adam Foster	Π.
9470	Quin Morgan		Research Associate (Optics an	Yes	Adam Foster	
6500	Uriel Chen	Faculty of Arts	Lecturer of Mathematics	Yes	Alec Summers	
7792	Buckminster Alexander	Faculty of Medicine	Lecturer of Nursing	Yes	Erica Mcknight	
1574	Sheila Jenkins		Timatable Office	Yes	Heidi Shaffer	
1461	Ross Macias	Faculty of Law	Single click to	No	Aladdin Farrell	
1324	Erica Mcknight	Faculty of Medicine	onen faculty	Yes	Cooper Griffith	
9118	Prescott Dawson	Faculty of Commerce	opennaeurty	Yes	Cooper Griffith	
5934	Marah Sampson	Faculty of Agriculture	Lecturer of Pastoral Science	No	Paul Larson	
2352	Ifeoma Woodard	Faculty of Sciences	Biostatistician/Applied Statisti	Yes	Timon Valentine	-

Form navigation button restyle (Back, Edit, Save, Close)

For ease of use and in response to customer feedback:

- "Back" button on the form has been moved to the top right
- The Back, Edit, Save and Close buttons have been restyled

🔶 Back 🛛 🖋 Edit

Selma Terrell

PERSONAL DEATILS		ADDRESS DETAILS	
StudentID :	1145	Address line1 :	P.O. Box 994, 8276 Vitae St.
Title :	Miss	Address line2 :	
Full name :	Selma Terrell	Country :	Australia
First name :	Selma	State :	SA
Last name :	Terrell	Suburb :	Beverley
Gender :	Female	Postcode :	5009
DOB :	9/01/1988		
User Account :	Selma.Terrell		



🗉 Selma Terrell

PERSONAL DEATIL	S				
StudentID :	1145				
Title :	Miss		•		
Full name :	Selma Terrell				
First name :	Selma	Selma			
Last name :	Terrell	Terrell			
Gender :	Female		•		
DOB :	9/01/1988		**		
User Account :	Selma.Terrell	ø	×		

ADDRESS DETAILS

Address line1 :	P.O. Box 994, 8276 Vitae St.
Address line2 :	
Country :	Australia 🔻
State :	SA 🔻
Suburb :	Beverley 🔻
Postcode :	5009

Quick Lookup

On a form, when entering data into a lookup field, new ability to start typing directly in a field, a list of possible matches will be dynamically displayed and can be selected

🗎 Save	imes Cancel



PERSONAL DETAILS		STAFF DETAILS		
Title :	Mr.	StaffID :	7272	
Full name :	Heidi Shaffer	Job Title :	Administration Manager	
First name :	Heidi	Tenure :		
Last name :	Shaffer	Salary :	\$ 80000	
Gender :	Male	Manager :	ad	×
DOB :	8/05/1968		Adam Foster	
Phone number :	(05) 4574 1885		Al ad din Farrell Howard He ad	

Inline Relationship Control: Checkbox for multi-selection

On a form, when linking to existing records in a relationship, the picker dialogue now shows checkboxes next to each record. Records can easily be selected/deselected with a single click

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:31 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Feature Changes

Feature	Summary
Time Field	Time field is now able to be defaulted to "Now" on creation of a new record
Date/Time Field	Default time picker to be set to 9:00AM
Screen Builder Object List	Object name in screen builder is now clickable to expand or collapse
Form Edit/View mode	Double click on a field value to put the form into edit mode

Bug fixes

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Import: Unable to Import records into Contacts.
- Import : Password field is not available when attempting an import to user account.
- Edit Forms: Removing a record from a tab report after you delete a record gives an error message as "Entity not found. Id=xxxxxx"
- Screen: Double click on the form value on a Screen doesn't enter into edit mode
- Edit Forms: Saving on edit form throws "sequence contains no elements"
- Survey: Non-Admin user can't create outcomes or see responses
- Other miscellaneous bugs

Known Issues

- Import from excel: Not all relationships are being imported in certain circumstances
- Hero text: Changing the resize to compact makes the hero text disappear from the screen
- Inline Relationship Control: In some circumstances, only able to select a single record instead of multiple

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:31 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Chart: Error when using Save As for an area chart
- Mobile: White space appears when there are a fields on a tab
- Forms: Could not enter a value for Date and DateTime field in certain browser configurations
- Workflow: Send email fails with an internal error and a server exception 'Exception occurred on run. Value cannot be null.' in certain configurations
- Other miscellaneous bugs

Known Issues

- Reports: Removing/setting totals on one column removes or sets the total from other column as well
- Import from Excel to support importing into Survey objects
- Analyser: Choice selector with more than 12 options closes when trying to scroll through the options
- Mobile: Could not add or create related records on a saved record on mobile

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:33 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "New Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary	

Changes to Login Behaviour Changes to a user's login location

Feature Changes

Feature Summary

Survey More enhancements to Survey module.

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Form builder : Actions once set on the form could not be removed.
- Survey: Progress bar does not track changes to text correctly.
- Survey: The questions loses the ID on the survey form if we add the order and weight to the questions.
- Navigation pane appears on landing page once entering builder mode
- Form action buttons: issues closing the 'action button dialogue window'
- Other miscellaneous bugs

Known Issues

- Survey Campaign unable to create survey campaigns via workflow
- Forms: Placing the relationship reports in a container in a certain order can appear squashed.
- Mobile: Issues around creating related records on mobile devices

New Feature Detail

Changes to Login Behaviour

Changes have been made to the login behaviour to take users straight into applications (by passing the landing page) in certain circumstances. A user will either:

- Navigate to the last application they used on that browser
- If it's the first time login from a particular browsers, then the user will navigate directly into the first application available to them (ignoring "Home" App and "Admin" app).

Known Issue: some users have reported inconsistent login location behaviour, we are currently working on a resolution and in addition; working on enhancing this feature to allow admins to define the default login location per user.

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:32 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "New Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary
Mass SMS Notifications	Ability to send out mass SMS notifications from within Readinow
Security Summary	A new tab that provides a summary of all objects a role has access to

Feature Changes

Feature	Summary
Survey	More changes to survey forms & reports for a better user experience
Icons in left navigation	When left navigation background colour is made light, icon background becomes grey
Report Builder drag	When dragging a new field to add a column to a report, you can now drop anywhere on
& drop	the report (not just header area)

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Scheduled Import: Fixed display of the the incorrect error message when the import was not working due to incorrect host name in FTP client
- Scheduled Import : Fixed scheduled import screen that allowed a user to save a blank record
- Mobile: Fixed icon on action menu for report and tab report
- Survey: Fixed issues around adding new and removing questions from the survey.
- Other miscellaneous bugs

Known Issues

• Survey: Unable to launch a target campaign.

- Forms: Placing the relationship reports in a container in a certain order can appear squashed.
- Mobile: Issues around creating related records on mobile devices
- Form action buttons: issues closing the 'action button dialogue window'

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:33 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

This release mainly includes bug fixes across the product. We are currently working on some exciting new features that are due in release 2.80.

Feature Changes

Feature Summary

Survey Changes to standard survey forms & reports for a better user experience

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Form Builder: Fixing properties dialogue for few datatypes.
- Import from excel: Improvements to "Import from excel" to show the name of the spreadsheet in "Import runs" report and config file.
- Security: Fix quick search on user roles.
- Other miscellaneous bug fixes

Known Issues

- Survey: Unable to launch a target campaign.
- Forms: Placing the relationship reports in container appear squashed.
- Mobile: Could not add or create related instance on a saved record on mobile

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:34 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "New Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary
Hiding internal system objects.	 This is an internal architectural change to allow internal system objects to be hidden from the end user view. Picker reports will only show objects that are used by the user within the application.

Feature Changes

Feature	Summary
Changes to Save behaviour on forms	• In the case of related record on a form, a user now has to first save the parent record before they can create a new child record.
Workflow updating data on form	• Workflows that are triggered from an action button on a form now refresh the report on form so that changes are reflected immediately
Protected column to Application Library	• Add Protected column to Application Library page in administration, which shows whether an application is protected or not. If an application is protected, a user cannot delete objects or fields that are installed 'out of the box'.

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Boards: Minor styling changes and support for boards in Edge and Fire Fox browsers
- Form Builder: Formatting and layout fixes to form builder.
- Mobile: Styling fixes and ability to save the form when mandatory where not filled.

• Other miscellaneous bugs

Known Issues

- Inline Editing : When many-many relationship is made to display as inline, then editing the same column on the report (in inline edit mode) makes the corresponding rows to appear with the same value
- Workflows : When a workflow in Paused state is progressed by "User Action", the changes are not immediately reflected on the report when the report is placed on the screen
- Workflow : Creating a new related instance on a form appears only after a manual refresh of the tab report when triggering on a save.

New Feature Detail

Hiding internal system objects

This is an internal architectural change so that the internal system objects are hidden from the end user view.

Picker reports will now only show objects' that are used within the application plus any user-created objects. However if required, the advance system types can be accessed by clicking on 'Show All' options when creating reports and charts.

To access the advance option while creating New Report or Chart click on the Show all check box.

New Report		
Report name	New Report	
Description		-
Report based on	Show all	×
✓ OPTIONS		
	OK Cane	cel

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:39 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "New Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature Summary

Help Text Ability to add "help text" on a form

Feature Changes

Feature	Summary		
Background colour of form controls	 Setting the background colour of a container now applies to the container heading Setting the background colour of a field control on a form now applies to the background of that entire field 		
Form styling change	• Styling changes on forms to allow more characters to be visible in form labels		

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Inline editing bugs
- Reports on tabs on forms go missing after clicking through different tabs
- Analyser: When selecting a date in the analyser, the window immediately closes leaving the user unable to select a date
- Other miscellaneous bugs

Known Issues:

Notification Styling

Alerts that appear at the top of the page can show inconsistent styling if a large number of words are being displayed (e.g. save success message). This issue will be fixed in a subsequent release.

New Feature Detail

Help Text

New feature in the product to enable the administrator to provide "Help Text" on the form to guide the end users in completing the form. The Administrator can specify any text in the description of a field, container or form properties and then an () icon is displayed on the form. When the user selects the () icon, the help text is displayed in a pop up.

Help text can be displayed for:

Element on form	Icon Displayed
Field Control	Next to field control
Container	Next to container heading
Tab Container	Next to tab heading
Relationship	Next to relationship heading (note: relationship heading must be on by setting a 'display name' in the relationship properties
Entire Form	Next to the form heading

Screenshots:

In the field, container or form properties, add a 'Description" and select "Show Help"



An 🔒 icon appears next to the relevant form element.



When a user selects the help icon, the help text appears in a popup.



Known Issues for help text

- When a field control is <u>not</u> set to "Autofill" then the icon still appears to the far right of a control leaving a whitespace
- The ficon overlaps some controls in certain circumstances
- Sometimes hard to tap on

 on mobile
- Some minor styling issues with 🔒 icon.

The above will be fixed in subsequent releases.

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 6:05 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "New Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary
Workflow "Save as"	Ability to "save as" a workflow to create a copy
Inline Editing - Keyboard control support (PreRelease Feature)	Ability to use up keyboard up/down arrows & tab to scroll through report when inline editing

Feature Changes

Feature	Summary
Bigger workflow button on form	Workflow button on form now allows up to 30 characters
Restyle of User Input form	Changed styling on the form generated for the "User Input" activity

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Inline editing bugs
- Form Builder: Cannot save an object after opening properties window
- Other miscellaneous bugs
- Refreshing client-side code after upgrade (see known issues below)

Known Issues:

🔥 Login: Web page cached after upgrade

After a product update, some users were running older cached web page code instead of the latest code which was causing unpredictable issues throughout the product. We have made changes to automatically detect 'out of sync' client/server code on login & refresh the page to rectify this problem. If the problem persists, please contact your ReadiNow representative.

🔥 Inconsistent Styling in Reports Toolbar

Some users may experience inconsistent styling in the reports toolbar depending on individuals browser configuration (see example of large arrows in screenshot below). We are currently working on this issue.



New Feature Detail

Workflow - Save as

In the workflow editor, new option to "Save As" has now been implemented. When clicked, creates a copy of the workflow. See below screenshot.

		> > キ + E B 19 ×
	New Project Workflow * 🤍 🖬 🚥 🖬	
Cold Activities Cold Activities Coldina Coldi	Wolfbor See A Technology Manager Backda Manager Backda Mana	
Constantion Const	Rear Proper Nanolan Terrar Strate Sector Sector br>Sector Sector	

Inline Editing - keyboard support

Added support for keyboard controls whilst doing inline editing.

- After clicking 'Edit Inline' click on a row to set focus on the first cell
 - Up/Down arrows will change rows being edited
 - Tab will move across cells being edited

Screenshot:

ReadiNow			4	s Buildings
BUILDINGS PEOPLE				
- Buildings				
Duliulings				
🖒 👻 ACTIONS 👻 🕂 NE	W 🗸 SAVE CHANGES 🗙 D	ISCARD CHANGES		Search Q
Building	State	Suburb	Manager	Maintenance Cost
Chau Wing house	NSW	Haymarket	David Franklin	\$256,540.00
Richard Watts	NSW	Ultimo	Gerry Luther	\$540,560.00
Mary Anne Building	NSW	Haymarket	Mark McDonald	\$240,554.00
Building 11	NSW	 Ultimo 	 Mary Smith 	✓ × \$ 545642
lan Thorpe	NSW	Ultimo	David Franklin	\$344,788.00
Peter Johnon Building	NSW	Ultimo	Gerry Luther	\$32,369.00
Building 1	NSW	Chippendale	Mary Smith	\$45,454.00
Building 2	NSW	Chippendale	David Franklin	\$456,060.00
Building 5 Block D	NSW	Haymarket	Mary Smith	\$71,033.00
		,	,	

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 4:03 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "New Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary	
Inline Editing for number, decimal currency & lookup fields	Ability to edit a record in a report; this now includes number,	
(Pre-Release only to 'pilot' customers)		

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Charts: Issues relating date formats on charts
- Inline editing: on conditionally formatted columns
- Inline editing: showing validation errors incorrectly
- Inline editing: other misc inline editing bugs
- Other miscellaneous bugs

Known Issues:

🔥 General: Web page cached after upgrade

After a product update, some users are running older cached web page code instead of the latest code. This can cause unpredictable issues throughout the product. If you experience product issues, please check the page version, and if necessary refresh the page by clicking "reload" or pressing F5. The page version is located in the bottom left corner after logged in. Two version numbers appear, and both must start with 2.75.

We are progressively taking steps to resolve this issue, thank you for your patience. Changes have been made to resolve this issue and should take effect in this release or next 2.76 release (depending on the timing of individuals browser caches refresh).

Form Builder: Cannot save new object after opening 'properties' of a system field

When creating a new object, if you attempt to add any 'system' field to the form (e.g. Name, Description, Created Date, Modified date etc) and then open the 'properties' of that field (prior to saving), you will be unable to save the form. In the interim, please save the object prior to opening properties of system fields on unsaved objects. Note, this only occurs on the creation of a new object. This issue will be fixed in a subsequent release.

New Feature Detail

Inline Editing (Number, currency, decimal & lookup fields)

- This feature is in 'Pre-release'. Please contact your ReadiNow representative if you would like access to this feature.
- On any report, click on "Edit Inline" button above the report. This will then enable inline editing on records of that report
- Click to edit a row
- Once all desired changes are made, click 'Save Changes' to save all changes in one batch
- Note: a field is only inline editable if:
 - It is a text, choice, Yes/No, currency, decimal, number or lookup field.
 - You have security record access to modify the selected record
 - The field is on the form relating to that report.
 - The field is not set to 'read only' on the form relating to that report

Known Issues

• When editing a lookup (via inline edit on report) the picker report occasionally shows misaligned values

R	eadiNow			*	Buildings 🚍 💄 💡 🖙
BU	ILDINGS PEOPLE				
	Buildings				
	C - ACTIONS - + NEW	EDIT INLINE			Fearch Q
	Building	State	Suburb	Manager	Maintenance C 💌
	Chau Wing house	NSW	Haymarket	David Franklin	\$256,540.00
	Richard Watts	NSW	Ultimo	Gerry Luther	\$540,560.00
	Mary Anne Building	NSW	Haymarket	Mark McDonald	\$240,554.00
	Building 11	NSW	Ultimo	Mary Smith	\$545,642.00
	lan Thorpe	NSW	Ultimo	David Franklin	\$344,788.00
	Peter Johnon Building	NSW	Ultimo	Gerry Luther	\$32,369.00
	Building 1	NSW	Chippendale	Mary Smith	\$45,454.00
	Building 2	NSW	Chippendale	David Franklin	\$456,060.00
	Building 5 Block D	NSW	Haymarket	Mary Smith	\$71,033.00

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:37 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features Summary

See "New Feature Detail" for further details & screenshots.

Feature	Summary
Navigation icon colouring	Icons are now white and appear coloured when selected or hovered over.
Theme change Improved "Security Role" user	To compliment new 'navigation icon colouring' the default theme has been changed to a sleek dark grey navigation menu. Ability to manage record and navigation access within the role form.
Inline Editing for Text, Yes/No and Choice fields in reports (Pre-Release only to 'pilot' customers)	Ability to edit a record in a report; this includes Text, Yes/No and Choice fields without having to navigate to the form.

Features Changes

Feature	Summary
Form save behaviour changes	To improve usability, when creating a new record from a report, after saving the record, you will now remain on the form (rather than navigating back to the report or screen) Note: When creating a new record from a relationship on a form, after saving the record, will still return back to the parent form.
Record delete dialogue changes	When deleting a record from anywhere in the system, the confirmation dialogue showed 'related resources', this has now been removed.

Bug fixes:

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Misconfigured reports in Admin
- Incorrect default behaviour of certain controls on forms
- Alerts appearing unintentionally on import from excel wizard
- Mobile quick search on hierarchy views
- Layout of some controls on screens overlapping in certain circumstances.

Known Issues:

🔥 Web page cached after upgrade

After a product update, some users are running older cached web page code instead of the latest code. This can cause unpredictable issues throughout the product. If you experience product issues, please check the page version, and if necessary refresh the page by clicking reload or pressing F5. The page version is located in the bottom left corner after logged in. Two version numbers appear, and both must start with 2.74. We are working to resolve this issue, thank you for your patience.

New Feature Detail

Navigation icon colouring & revised theme

- As an improved modern look and feel, the default colour for the left navigation has been changed to a sleek dark grey navigation menu.
- This will not affect your tenant if you have a 'custom' colour assigned to the left navigation
- Default Icons in the left menu now appear 'white' and will be coloured if you 'hover over' or select the element.

Re	adil	Now GRC						4	Administration \equiv	4	@ 🗆
_	_		<	^ (БАСК						🖋 EDIT
	Арр	lications	•		🗉 General	Settings					
	Setti	ings	-		Name	General Settings					
	M	Email Settings			Description	The general settings configured by the tenant.	12				
		General Settings			GENERAL SETTINGS			FINANCIAL YEAR SETTINGS			
		Image Settings			Currency symbol Tenant theme	: \$: Console Theme Settings		Financial year start :January			
	Ē	Mail Boxes									
		Document Types									
		Thumbnail Sizes									
		Conditional Forma	at								
		Text Field Patterns	;								
	×	Themes									
	Resc	burces	•								
	Secu	ırity									

Improved Security Role User Interface

- To improve the usability of creating security roles, the security role form has been enhanced.
- Go to Administration > Security > User Roles > Open a user role. You will now be able to set both "Record Access" and "Navigation Access" from the same security role form

Re	adi	Now GRC						٩	Administra	tion 🔳	4	8	5
			< +	васк								đ	🖗 edit
•	Арр	lications	•	∎ BC	Mana	ager							
	Setti	ings	•	Name		BC Manager							
•	Reso	burces	•	Description		Manages the overall implementation of BIA and Plans	2						
	Secu	ırity	•	Application	s	ReadiGRC							
	•	Identity Providers		Record Ac	cess Navi	gation Access Includes roles	Included by roles Users						
		Identity Providers		C + NEV	v					Search		0	2
		Password Policy		Enabled	Object		Operations	Query					
	-			1	Task		Full (Create, View, Edit and Delete)	Task (A	Active & exc	luding App	proval task	s) í	
	Ū	Security Audit Log Sett		1	Rehearsal		Full (Create, View, Edit and Delete)	Rehea	irsal				
	Ū	Security Audit Log		A	Brand or	Reputation Impact	Full (Create, View, Edit and Delete)	Brand	or Reputati	on Impact			
				1	Loss Even	t	Full (Create, View, Edit and Delete)	Events	5				
	2	User Accounts		-	Rehearsal	Plan	Full (Create, View, Edit and Delete)	Rehea	ırsal Plan				
		Liser Roles		4	Technolog	ЭV	View	Techn	ology				
	0			4	Compute	r Room	Full (Create, View, Edit and Delete)	Comp	uter Room				

Inline Editing (Text, Choice and Yes/No Field)

- This feature is in 'Pre-release'. Please contact your ReadiNow representative if you would like access to this feature.
- On any report, click on "Edit" above the report. This will then enable inline editing on records of that report
- Click to edit any Text, Choice and Yes/No field.
- Once all desired changes are made, click 'Save Changes' to save all changes in one batch
- Note: a field is only inline editable if:
 - It is a choice text, choice or Yes/No field.
 - You have security record access to modify the selected record
 - The field is on the form relating to that report.
 - The field is not set to 'read only' on the form relating to that report

Known Issues

- Inline editing may not work if the report column utilises "conditional formatting" in some circumstances. This issue will be addressed in the next release.
- Yes/No field may not be inline editable in certain combination of columns. This issue will be addressed in the next release.

ReadiNow GRC

	<					
88	Organisation	💼 Products &	& Services			
88	Geography	C - ACTIONS - + NE	W PEDIT			Y Search Q
		Product or Service	Description	Service Status	Active	Owner
88	Processes	Accommodation	Hotels and Accomodatio	Available	No	Flora Mineo
88	Buildings	Bloomberg Terminal	Direct access the the blo	Available	No	Bryan Addams
	2	Building Supplies	Hardware and Building s	Impacted	Yes	Bryce Mcginty
88	People	Business Cards	Business Cards	Not Available	No	Dagny Durrett
		Chantwest Financial Revi	Financial Markets Inform	Impacted	No	Debera Cranston
<u>66</u>	Products & Services	Computer Peripherals	Computer Accessories	Available	No	
88	Applications & Services	Cutlery	Kitchen Utensils	Available	No	
		Desktop computer	Desktop computer and p	Available	No	
	Technology	Desktop computer	Desktop computer and p	Available	No	

ReadiNow GRC

		٩	Organisation and Assets \equiv	*	0
--	--	---	----------------------------------	---	---

0

00	B Organisation Products & Services					
00	Geography	⊘ ▼ ACTIONS ▼ + NE	W SAVE CHANGES X D	ISCARD CHANGES		Y Search Q
		Product or Service	Description	Service Status	Active	Owner
00	Processes	Accommodation	Hotels and Accomodatio	Available	No	Flora Mineo
80	Buildings	Bloomberg Terminal	Direct access the the	Impacted	No	Bryan Addams
	<u> </u>	Building Supplies	Hardware and Building s	Impacted	Yes	Bryce Mcginty
88	People	Business Cards	Business Cards	Impacted	No	Dagny Durrett
		Chantwest Financial Rev	Financial Markets 🌲 🖉	Available 🔻	No	Debera Cranston
66	Products & Services	Computer Peripherals	Computer Accessories	[Select] Available	No	
88	Applications & Services	Cutlery	Kitchen Utensils	Impacted	No	
		Desktop computer	Desktop computer and p	Not Available	No	
	Technology	Desktop computer	Desktop computer and p	Available	No	

Last Modified on 16/04/2019 5:38 pm AEST

ReadiNow reserves the right to update these release notes at any time.

New Features

Feature	Details
	Ability for a workflow that is triggered on a 'create or update' to run prior the save completing
Workflow: Run in	This means that a workflow that updates data on a form (from 'create or update' trigger), will complete prior to refreshing the form, allowing the user to see the updated data.
foreground	This is configured via a new checkbox called "Run in foreground" on the 'create or update' trigger form
	See attachment 1 below.

Features Changes

Feature	Details
"Submit Bug/Feature Request" link	Link to "submit bug/feature request" has been removed. Will be re-introduced and accessible to 'nominated technical persons' within each customer tenant at a later date.
removed	Bugs and issues can be raised through your ReadiNow contact in the interim

Known Issues

Issue	Workaround	Fix Due
An error is returned when attempting to access	If required, create new reports based on 'photo' or	In next
the "Icons" and "Photos" reports in the Documents application.	'icons' object, by clicking 'show all' option when creating the report.	In next release

Issue	Workaround	Fix Due
Potential UI display issues if a web browser is left open over the upgrade maintenance window.	Either log out & close browser before maintenance window, or clear browser cache after maintenance window.	In next release

Bug fixes to the following areas:

- Various fixes to self-serve analytics feature
- Misconfigured reports in Administration area
- Layout of forms which caused overlapping containers
- Calculations using the 'let' function
- Conditional formatting on calculated columns

Attachments

New checkbox on trigger for workflow to "Run in Foreground"

🗉 Trigger

Accessed via: Administration>Workflows>Trigger

Name	Update Fields	
Description	:	•
Application	:	- 2 ×
TRIGGER DETAILS		
Enabled	:	
Triggered on	Create Or Update	•
Object to trigger on	Person	×
Workflow to run	Workflow 1	×
Run in foreground	:	
End of Support for Legacy Calculation Engine

Last Modified on 28/06/2024 1:25 pm AEST

Overview of the change

Over the last 2 years, ReadiNow has completely reimplemented the engine that runs all calculations and expressions in the platform. This new calculation is more performant and provides a foundation for future feature enhancements to calculations in the ReadiNow Platform.

This new implementation has been extensively tested to ensure it is backwards compatible with the legacy engine, and most tenants already use this new engine. While ReadiNow has continued to support the legacy engine all development work on this has stopped and support for the legacy engine will soon end.

End of Support date

The ReadiNow Platform will cease support for the legacy calculation engine on 13th June 2024 (release 2.190).

On this date, all tenants still using the legacy calculation engine will be switched over to the new calculation engine. ReadiNow has already contacted any customers still using the legacy calculation engine directly. Note you may wish for this switchover to occur earlier, if so please contact ReadiNow Support.

If you have not already been contacted, then your tenant(s) are already using the new calculation engine and there is nothing you need to do.

What do I need to do?

ReadiNow has conducted extensive testing on the new calculation engine ensuring backwards compatibility for each customer configuration using tenant metadata. Therefore, ReadiNow has made best endeavours to verify there is no impact to customer configuration when the switchover occurs.

However, you may wish to test calculations and expression on the new engine before being switched over to the new engine permanently. The ReadiNow team has been assisting customers with this testing.

This testing should be completed before the end-of-support date so that you can switch over to the new engine and continue to receive support from ReadiNow for the expressions and calculations used in your tenant.

End of Support for TLS versions 1.0 and 1.1

Last Modified on 16/04/2024 10:37 am AEST

Overview of the change

Over the past several years, internet standards and regulatory bodies have deprecated or disallowed TLS versions 1.0 and 1.1 for a variety of security issues. In line with this move, ReadiNow will be ending support for TLS version 1.0 and 1.1 in the ReadiNow Platform. Instead, ReadiNow will be supporting TLS version 1.2 which is much more secure than the older versions.

End of Support date

It will no longer be possible to connect to the ReadiNow platform using TLS 1.0 or TLS 1.1 after 13 June 2024.

What do I need to do?

No action is required if you use the ReadiNow Platform in the browser. All modern browsers support TLS version 1.2 and will automatically use this for all applications that support TLS version 1.2.

Customers who are using Record APIs to connect to a third party system need to ensure that their client application supports TLS 1.2.

Removal of Calendar Feature in Classic

Last Modified on 05/11/2024 4:34 pm AEDT

Overview of the change

The Calendar feature in the ReadiNow Classic UI is not widely used and currently offers limited flexibility. ReadiNow has made the decision to withdraw the current calendar feature. This will involve the removal of functionalities related to the Calendar, including the creation of new calendar page items, the selection of existing items, and the viewing of calendar navigation items.

However, we are excited to announce that a new calendar control with enhanced features will be introduced in Nova in the future. Importantly, your data will remain unaffected and will still be accessible through an alternative report view. Please refer to this article for detailed guidance on creating the alternative view: Alternative Report View: Replacing the Withdrawn Classic Calendar Feature

ReadiNow has not taken this decision lightly, however, this change will allow us to focus on delivering exciting new features and improvements across the platform.

Who is affected?

Clients using the Calendar feature in Classic.

What do I need to do?

For clients not using the Calendar feature:

No action is required. The calendar feature will no longer be available in your tenant after October 3, 2024 (Release 2.194).

For clients who are using the Calendar feature:

The calendar feature will no longer be available in your tenant after January 9, 2025 (Release 2.197). Rest assured that your data will remain intact and can be accessed through an alternative report view.

Next steps:

- Remove any bookmarks to calendar views, as they will no longer be functional.
- Create an alternative report view that provides the same information. See here for guidance.

A member of our professional services team will reach out to you before December 2024 to assist with transitioning your existing calendars to the alternative report view, if needed.

Technical Architecture Overview

Last Modified on 19/01/2022 10:43 am AEDT

The ReadiNow platform is a web-based service that empowers customers to solve their own business problems by creating or customising their own web application without the need for computer programming or other technical knowledge. The ReadiNow platform also relieves the burden of important, but distracting, activities such as backup, security, scalability, and so on by providing these services within the platform itself.

Applications

Applications can be built by customers themselves, or they can be chosen from a suite of pre-written applications and then customised. They can be as varied as imagination permits, from customer relationship management, to business continuity management, to expense tracking and so on.

Applications consist of various pieces that logically make up a software experience, such as dashboards, data entry forms, reports, charts and other visualisations, as well as interactivity such as running workflows, triggering business processes, importing and exporting data, template document generation, email notifications and so on.

Construction

The design of the ReadiNow platform is considered at the following levels:

- 1. The physical infrastructure and the hosted software processes
- 2. The functional software services
- 3. Multi-tenancy and application hosting
- 4. The logical structure of the entity-relationship database
- 5. Client-side code

Physical infrastructure

The physical infrastructure is arranged in a typical N-tier architecture. Web requests are received by a virtual traffic manager that routes these requests to a pool of front-end web servers. A SQL database server houses record data and a File server houses document data. A Redis service is used for caching and as the backplane communication channel between the web servers. Additionally, the AWS Elasticsearch service is used to index record and document data for searching.



Functional software services

The majority of the platform software resides on the front-end web servers. The platform software contains number of modules to support various internal and customer facing features. In many cases modules are interconnected with each other and depend on each other.

Multi-tenancy and application hosting

The SQL database hosts multiple tenants (clients). Each can have different versions of different applications installed. Separate from the tenants, an application library hosts every available version of every available application. Customer data is stored within each tenant. Each tenant is isolated from every other tenant. For discussion of how co-hosted customers are isolated refer to the "ReadiNow Tenant Isolation Model" whitepaper.

A single set of database tables holds all entity-relationship data for all tenants, with every record containing a tenant ID.

Entity-relationship database

At the heart of the ReadiNow platform is a purpose-built entity-relationship database. All data is modelled as entities. For example, employees, projects, clients, contracts, and risks, are all entities. Each entity can have a group of flat field data attached to it, such as names, dates, amounts.

Any entity can be related to any other entity. For example, employees can be related to projects, which can be related to clients and contracts. ReadiNow customers' can configure their own new types of relationships between distinct applications to build an interconnected web of data.

These relationships can then be traversed when presenting reports, running workflows, and by other application features.

Additionally, all application components are also described in the entity-relationship database. For example, a report may have columns and filters and formatting rules. These are all described as entities, and a report is connected to its columns, its filters, data source, and so on with relationships. Moreover, the schema (or metadata) about the application is also described using entities and relationships. The types of entities that are possible; the

fields that they may possess; the relationship types that are defined; rules for validating input – these are all described using entities and relationships. This unique structure means that all modules written to power the platform equally enrich the customer's applications, and vice versa.

Finally, all customer data is represented as entities and relationships, as described above.

Client-side code

The above systems run on the ReadiNow platform servers. Additionally, a body of code is sent to and runs on the client's web browser. This code provides the user interface for the dynamically generated applications. For application developers, this code supports application building.

The client is structured as a *single page application (SPA)*, whereby all code is loaded up front, and then communication only goes back to the servers to fetch or modify data.

Key Feature Areas

The following is a list of the more significant customer-facing feature areas.

Console	A web-based SPA (single-paged application) that the user logs into to use the platform. This includes the ability to access multiple platform applications; as well as a variety of navigation services.
Reports	Creating and running tabular reports of data. This includes basic and advanced searching, following relationships, aggregates, roll-up groupings, conditional formatting, exporting, sorting, paging, and stylistic configurations.
Forms	Dynamically constructed forms for viewing and editing individual records. Supports configurable layout, various control types, embedded reports of related data, and data validation.
Charts	Configurable charts and other visualisations based on report data. Features include various chart types; automatic data pivoting; drill-down.
Screens	Composed dashboards based on multiple reports, charts, and forms, which can be linked together.
Workflows	Designable workflows that perform sequences of actions. These can either process data directly, or involve user tasks, that include the user in the workflow for applications such as approvals. Workflows can be triggered on data change, schedules, or directly invoked.

Document Templates	Generation of Word documents using a 'mail merge' style template. Embedded macros are based on an extension of the expression engine, allowing for rich calculations that support relationships, etc.
Actions	A configurable mechanism for determining what actions, workflows and document templates, etc, may be performed in various contexts, such as screens and reports.
Administration	A tenant administration area for managing various aspects of the product, including: access control rules, theme settings, email notification settings, to name a few.
Application Library	A way for tenants to select platform applications to be deployed into their tenancy, upgraded, removed. Similarly for application builders to publish their applications.
Builders	Builder interfaces are provided for each of the key component areas: reports, screens, forms, schema, charts, navigation, and workflows. These allow application authors or tenant administrators to customise applications to meet their needs.
Access Control	A configurable security mechanism allows custom rules that can dynamically grant access to resources.
Import	Mechanism for importing data via Excel. Supports both FTPS and SFTP.
Export	Mechanism for exporting data. Supports Excel, Word and CSV formats.
Data Connectors	Web-based APIs can be built directly into tenant applications.
Scheduling	Separate service that triggers workflows at configurable intervals.
Calculation engine	Parses and processes user-entered calculation scripts. Supports reports, forms, workflows, and document templates.
Analytics engine	The analytics engine is a flexible charting and visualisation system that is capable of intuitively leveraging and pivoting the interconnected data gathered from the entity model and reporting engine.

Tenant Isolation Model

Last Modified on 10/05/2022 10:26 am AEST

Overview

The ReadiNow platform is designed to support multiple tenants (clients) concurrently on the same platform. The design ensures that it is impossible for any information of one tenant to be accessible in any way by users of another tenant. This requirement has been a key factor in the design, architecture, and implementation of the ReadiNow platform since its inception.

Every tenant database record includes a tenant identifier. The design of the ReadiNow platform means that only a small number of code-paths can reach the database. Any calls to the database are made such that the query is always constrained to the tenant of the current authenticated user. In a similar manner, various server caches used by the ReadiNow platform isolate data by tenant, such that cached data is partitioned by tenant, and source code can only access cache data for the tenant of the current user. Binary data is associated with tenants via cryptographically secure hashes.

All requests to the ReadiNow platform to read or modify data include a security token for the current user. In this way, every request is necessarily associated with a user and tenant. In conjunction, this means that it is not possible for any authenticated user to interact with any database information for a tenant other than their own.

This design ensures that the following are achieved through a robust architecture design: 1. Isolation of tenant data between tenants, accessible only to users of that tenant; 2. all data for a tenant can be identified; 3. where required, all data for a tenant can be removed.

Detail

Database structure

The ReadiNow platform contains a relatively small number of database tables for holding customer data. These include a table of Entities (records), Relationships, and field data tables. Each of these contain a TenantID column so that each piece of data is associated with a tenant.

For example, the Relationship table contains columns:

```
TenantId Rel type ID From ID To ID Other column(s)
```

Database access

Many of the database queries performed by the ReadiNow platform are dynamically generated to match the particular data or reporting requirements of each customer and application.

There are two engines for generating dynamic SQL queries: a report query generation engine for generating tabular reports; a graph-based query generation engine for loading more general entity relationship data. The latter is used for loading much of the user data and application metadata data for the platform. In both cases, the query generation engines explicitly enforce a tenant filter on each table join such that it cannot be circumvented by

the dynamic queries. (Further, no portion of the dynamic query is ever derived directly from unfiltered string data, to prevent any possibility of SQL injection attacks).

The ReadiNow platform software also contains a relatively small number of other static queries that serve various parts of the product. These also explicitly filter the tenant. Tenant filtering is always done in addition to any other filtering clauses that may be present in the query.

In this way, the platform architecture ensures that database accesses are filtered to the tenant.

Identifying the Current Tenant

When a user logs into the ReadiNow platform, an authentication token is issued in the form of a per-session cookie. This token is then returned to the server as part of every web request to retrieve or modify data.

An ASP web filter is used to ensure that every request is intercepted at the server to ensure that the request contains a valid authentication token. This allows every request to be associated with a user and a tenant. This information is stored on the current executing thread, so that all code paths have reliable direct access to the current user ID and tenant ID. This tenant ID is what is applied in the database query filters described in the previous section. In this way, only authorised users can make requests to read or update data; and the architecture scopes all queries to only apply to data in their tenant.

Pipeline

As depicted, platform logic cannot reach the database without queries being constrained to the tenant for the current user.



Storage of binary data

Binary data such as application icons, documents, and generated report templates, are stored separately to the main database. Data deduplication is implemented by taking a cryptographically secure (SHA256) hash of the binary data and indexing data by the hash. This means that for all intents and purposes the hash securely uniquely

identifies the document. The hash is then stored in the database, along with the tenant ID and filtered in the same manner as other database data.

In this way, each binary is securely protected by tenant filtering via the hash. However, necessarily to achieve data de-duplication, one binary may be associated with multiple tenants.

It is therefore possible to identify all binaries associated with a tenant; and to remove all binaries uniquely owned by a tenant.

Cache Tenant Isolation

The ReadiNow platform server makes use of a number of caches – both in memory, and in separate processes/servers. A shared code-path is used by various systems for establishing and accessing caches. This code path includes a tenant-isolation layer that ensures that cached data is associated with a particular layer. This is typically achieved either by isolating data into sub caches with one sub-cache per tenant; or by augmenting the cache key to include the tenant. By design this is done by the common cache code used by all caches, rather than particular specific caches to maximise protection. Per tenant cache isolation also allows for caches to be refreshed on a per-tenant basis.

As with the query filtering, cache accesses use the tenant ID for the current thread. In this way a user requesting to read or modify data can only reach cache entries for their tenant.

Platform Security

Last Modified on 01/03/2024 3:45 pm AEDT

Overview

ReadiNow employs multiple layers of industry standard practices, protocols and techniques to mitigate the risk of unauthorised access or modification to data or systems.

This document covers ReadiNow network and protocol security mechanisms. For discussion of how co-hosted customers are isolated refer to the "ReadiNow Tenant Isolation Model" whitepaper. Customers may also optionally be hosted on dedicated servers. For discussion of configuring application-level record access, refer to the "ReadiNow Access Control Security" whitepaper.

Network/Hosting

ReadiNow servers are hosted in a secure AWS virtual environment.

The virtual traffic manager (vTM) receives connections and forwards valid request onto web servers on the client's behalf. Only **encrypted HTTPS (TLS 1.2)** connections are admitted. The vTM also provides **load balancing** and **failover** services.

The web, file, database and cache servers all reside in the non-public zone such that direct connection to them is not possible.



All servers run anti-virus software.

Infrastructure Security

Data at rest in our databases and file repositories is encrypted using Amazon EBS encryption. This encrypts data on the volume, and in transit between the volume and operating system. EBS uses the AES-256 encryption standard

Data in transit is encrypted. All web requests to web servers is over encrypted secure HTTPS connections. This

includes login, data and file exchanges. This includes internal communications between the vTM and the web servers.

Communication between web servers and database servers is encrypted using SSL. Communication between web servers and cache servers is encrypted using SSL. Communication between web servers and the document repository is encrypted using SMB 3 AEC-CCM.

ReadiNow only admits TLS requests that are of version 1.2 and higher. The version of TLS (https) connections initiated by the end user's browser to our infrastructure is necessarily determined in part by their browser, operating system, and network infrastructure. However, attempts to connect using older TLS-1.0 and TLS-1.1 connections are denied.

ReadiNow platform backups are protected from accidental or malicious modification or erasure using the Amazon S3 Object Lock technology. Once a backup is generated, it is not possible for it to be modified or deleted by any means, for a minimum of 90 days - even by ReadiNow infrastructure administrators.

Database backups are encrypted when generated. Additionally, the S3 buckets used to store all backups are encrypted.

Web Request Security

During login, an authentication token is generated and encrypted using the **AES** (Rijndael) algorithm and returned to the browser. This token is attached to all subsequent web requests. The ReadiNow servers check the authentication token on every request as part of the request processing pipeline.

To mitigate against a malicious script from capturing the authentication token on the client side, authentication token cookies are tagged with the **HttpOnly** and **Secure** attributes which instruct the browser to not make the cookie available to scripts, and to only pass the cookies back over encrypted HTTPS/TLS-1.2 connections.

ReadiNow does not store the passwords used to log into the ReadiNow console and instead just stores the hash of these password to enable password validation at login. This hash is generated using an industry standard non-reversible salted hash protocol based on the **HMAC SHA1** algorithm.

To mitigate against Cross Site Scripting (XSS) attacks, HTTPS responses include **Content-Security-Policy** and **X-WebKit-CSP** headers instructing browsers to not run unsafe Javascript operations; as well as the **X-XSS-Protection** header that instructs browsers to sanitise potential attacks.

To mitigate against Cross Site Request Forgery (XSRF), an XSRF token is generated at login, and attached to the URL of all internal data requests. The server verifies the presence and validity of this token to further ensure that all requests are coming from a properly logged in session.

Additionally, Refresh Tokens are used to protect again session hijacking attempts.

The ReadiNow platform uses a combination of the React and Google AngularJS frameworks to generate HTML, which prevents unsanitised content from being directly rendered to the browser Document Object Model (DOM).

To mitigate against ReadiNow content being maliciously hosted inside an IFRAME, all responses include the **X**-**Frame-Options** header to instruct browsers to disallow this.

To mitigate against invalid or malicious MIMETYPE interpretation, all requests include the **X-Content-Type:nosniff** header.

To mitigate against protocol downgrade attacks and cookie hijacking attacks, all responses include the **Strict-Transport-Security** header, as per RFC 6797, to instruct browsers that cookies and authentication tokens issued over encrypted HTTPS are not to be available to any (i.e. malicious) content attempting to run in an unsecured HTTP context.

Secure Development and Security Penetration Testing

All source code changes are submitted for peer review, and security-sensitive code changes in particular must be reviewed by ReadiNow platform architects.

The ReadiNow platform undergoes an annual third-party penetration test to independently scan and test for security vulnerabilities in the application.

In addition, ReadiNow performs automated penetration tests as part of our continuous build process. We use the OWASP Zed Attack Proxy utility. It first captures a baseline sample of traffic generated by our browser automation testing, which it then uses to automatically generate and attempt malicious attacks against the platform. Any anomalous results are automatically raised as build errors. This is scheduled to automatically run for all release builds, and daily for development builds.

Tenant Configurable Security Tools

Last Modified on 12/03/2024 1:09 pm AEDT

Overview

The ReadiNow platform offers a rich set of tools to allow customers to configure and monitor their own security within the platform tenant.

Configurable security policy and tools include:

- 1. Access control configuration
- 2. Single Sign-On (SSO)
- 3. IP Address Range White-listing
- 4. Configurable password policy
- 5. Configurable Record change audit log
- 6. Security audit log
- 7. Configuration change audit

Access Control Configuration

ReadiNow allows for rich record access control policy to be defined that can be automatically driven by the relationships that interconnect your data records.

For example, with a single access rule, it is possible to define a policy that would allow Employees to have access to documents that are attached to projects, where the project is marked as active and assigned to the same region as the employee. Record access changes are automatically reflected as any of the relevant record relationships are updated. Rich policy conditions involving relationship connections such as this can be defined over any relationships.

Please refer to the "ReadiNow Access Control Security" whitepaper to learn more about the relationship based access control policy, as well as other access control features (including as nestable user roles, security relationships, and navigation access).

Single Sign-On

ReadiNow supports Single Sign-On via both SAML and OpenID Connect identity providers. This allows for integration with Microsoft Azure single-sign on, and other popular identity providers.

Multi-factor authentication is supported when using an identity provider that supports it, such as Microsoft Azure.

IP Address Range White-listing

Customers may self-serve to configure a white-list of acceptable IP-address ranges. This allows, for example, the platform to be configured so that access will only be provided to computers and devices if that are originating from within a company office network, or via a company VPN.

Attempts to log in or use the system from an IP address outside of this range are denied and logged.

Configurable Password Policy

Customers may define their own password policy restrictions to meet their own security policy standards.

Configurable options include:

- Minimum length
- Whether it must contain upper-case, lower-case, digits, characters (individually)
- Maximum password age
- Number of incorrect password attempts before lockout
- Lockout duration

Record Change Audit Logging

Customers may log record-changes for auditing by configuring audit policies.

An audit policy specifies the type of record (the object), and the fields and relationships on that object, that will be monitored for changes.

The record change audit log include the type of change, old and new values, time of change, and the user account that made the change.

Security Audit Log

Security-sensitive events are logged and available to the tenant administrator. The tenant administrator can configure the log sensitivity and retention.

Event Type	Events
User accounts	 Creation Deletion Rename Expiry Password change Change user account expiration Change of user account status
Login sessions	LogonLogoffLocked user account

Event Type	Events
User role configuration	 Creation Deletion Rename Membership change
Access rule configuration	 Creation Enabling Condition structure change Permission change Deletion
Password policy	Change
Application	 Creation Deletion Deployment Publish

Configuration Change Log

In addition to the security audit log, the platform maintains a log of changes made to the structure of the ReadiNow platform applications (the 'metadata'). This includes, but is not limited to:

- Object/schema changes
- Forms and screens
- Workflows
- Report
- Charts
- Navigation
- Administrative settings and configurations

Configuration change log details include:

- Time of change
- User account
- Type of metadata changed
- Description of the change
- And, where available, the object that the change relates to

Access Control Security

Last Modified on 26/08/2020 10:51 am AEST

Overview

The ReadiNow Access Control system determines which users can view, create, and modify data records, reports, screens, and other services. Access Control is dynamic in that arbitrary custom, data driven, security rules can be easily created that take advantage of the data on records and the relationships between records. For example, you can define a security rule that applies to managers such that they can read orders associated with active customers if the customer is in the same region as the manager. In this example, the security rule would apply to a 'Manager' security role, and it would be configured to traverse the relationship from the manager to their region, to the customers in that region, verify that the customer is active, then traverse to the orders for that customer.

Consider the following users and data. Two users in the manager role, Alice and Bob. Alice is in the Asia region, Bob is in the Europe region. Customer A is in the Asia region. Customer B is in the Europe region. The single access rule above will allow Alice to see Customer A's orders, and Bob to see Customer B's orders. If Customer A's status changes from Active to Inactive, then Alice will no longer see Customer A.

New relationship types can be custom created in the administration user interface, as can new access rules. This example gives a flavour of the type of access control that is possible.

User Accounts, Records and Permissions

The end objective of access control is to determine if a given user account is permitted to perform a given action in relation to a given record or system entity.

User accounts are connected via a relationship to the person that owns the account. From there a system relates to many other records along various types of relationships. It is also possible for permission to be granted to some resources on some basis other than following a path to the user.

Permissions are the types of actions that can be secured. These include 'view', 'create', 'modify', and 'delete'. The create permission is special in that it relates to types of records, rather than individual records.

User Roles

User Roles allow user accounts to be grouped together to make the administration of access rules more convenient. User roles typically specify a job function.

In many other systems that offer User Roles, or Security groups, it can be necessary to maintain many security roles for different regions. That is not the case in ReadiNow, as the relationship-following nature of the access rules still act on individual users within the role. So objectives such as region, customer, or department-based access can often be achieved with a single access rule.

ReadiNow, nonetheless, offers flexible options for combining user roles. User Roles can be members of other user roles. For example, if 'User Role B' is a member of 'User Role A', then this mean that the users in role B are also implicitly in role A. Or put differently, access rules and other content made available to role A are also made available to users in role B.

In this example, both Alice and Bob can be in the same Manager role. The example Access Rule for 'Orders', previously described, would be applied to both users, but will still differentiate which particular Order records

Alice and Bob can individually access based on their specific region relationship, according to the query in that rule.

Users can be assigned to multiple roles. User roles can be members of multiple other roles. User roles can be nested multiple levels deep.

There is a built-in 'Everyone' role, which implicitly applies to all users. Access rules and content granted to the 'Everyone' role is made available to all users. Role membership is not supported for the 'Everyone' role, in order to prevent accidental exposure of other roles to all users.

Record Access Rules

Access rules are at the heart of the ReadiNow access control system. Each record access rule includes:

- 1. The User Role (or single user account) that it applies to
- 2. The type of record (the Object) that it applies to. For example 'Customer'.
- 3. The permissions granted by the rule. (Read, update, delete, create)
- 4. The query that describes what specific records can be accessed

The query can be thought of as a filtering mechanism. It is a report built using the ReadiNow reporting engine. The report engine allows record filters to be applied, such as checking certain values on the record. If a given record is acceptable to the report's filter, then the access rule grants the user or role the specified permission(s) to that record.

For example, an access rule could be defined that grants view and modify to all incidents that have their status set to urgent. This would grant view and modify permission to all urgent incidents, to any users in the role nominated by the access rule. (Note that in this example, the rule does not relate to individual users).

The report engine also allows relationships to be followed, and filters to be applied based on the values of the related record. Relationships can be followed to multiple levels, and recursively. If the relationship types lead to a user account, then it can be filtered to only match the current user.

Our example 'Orders' record access rule query describes a relationship path from the 'order' record to the current user. In this example, the report query would follow from Orders to the Customer, to the Region, to users in that region.

Calculations can also be applied in the filtering process.

Navigation Access

The Navigation Access security interface allows administrators to specifically nominate certain screens and reports as being available to certain user roles.

The record access control engine may sound complex at first. However, it allows for arbitrary security arrangements to be defined. The Navigation Access mechanism is one such example, as it is internally driven by a small number of record access rules.

Security Relationships

Security Relationships allow permissions that are granted to one record to be inferred onto a related record. The

Security Relationships feature is not to be confused with the relationship aspect of record access control that we have seen so far.

In the ReadiNow platform, records are frequently connected to each via relationships to build a rich data model. For example, a Disaster Recovery Plan may relate to Plan Steps; Policy documents; Implementation Notes, and so on. It is common to want to grant access to group of interconnected records as a whole.

Record Access Rules allow complex rules to be specified, but they do so for only one type of record at a time. In the above example, an access rule might describe who gains access to a Disaster Recovery Plan. Independently, the relationship types "plan has steps", "plan has policy documents", "plan has notes", and so on can be marked as being security relationships. If a user gains read access to any plan, then they will automatically also gain read access to its steps, documents, notes, and so on. Similarly, if they have modify access to the plan, then modify access is inferred to the related records.

The security access relationship applies to the relationship type (for example "plan has steps"), and not to individual relationship instances (for example, "my plan A has step A1"). Therefore, they should only be used in circumstances where access should always be granted.

Security relationships are followed recursively, such that security can be conveyed through rich data models. The permission inferred to the related entity is always the same as the permission granted to the parent entity. In this example, if a user can read a plan, but not modify it, then the same applies to the plan steps.

Inheritance

Objects (record types) can be arranged to inherit field and relationships that are defined on other Objects. For example, a 'Manager' object can be defined that inherits from an 'Employee' object. In this case the Manager is referred to as the derived object and the Employee object is referred to as the parent object. The Manager Object inherits any fields and relationships that are defined on the Employee object. The Manager Object can then also define additional fields and relationships.

For all intent and purpose, Manager records also act as Employee records. They will appear in Employee reports; and can be used in any relationships that call for Employee.

For record access control security, any access rule that grants someone access to some parent object will, by default, also grant access to the derived object. For example, an access rule that grants permission to see all employees will also, by default, grant access to all managers. This can be changed by adjusting the record access control query to only apply to the exact type.

Combined Access

In the ReadiNow Access Control system, all security rules grant access in an additive manner.

That is to say, if any one access rule, or role, causes a user to have some permission to some record, then the user definitely has that permission on that record. There is no notion of 'denied' permissions.

Put differently, the total access that a user gains to the system is the sum, or union, of the access granted by each access rule that applies to the user.

This design bolsters security as it means the security engine starts by assuming the user has no access whatsoever, other than that granted by a record access control rule. It also provides the basis for substantial performance optimisations. When designing security policys, only grant what is required, rather than granting broad access to

many users then seeking to deny individual content.

Security Summary Report

The record access control rules may appear complex at first. However, the system is intended to allow you to model your security policy, and then drive actual security automatically from data; rather than needing to maintain individual record access policy on large numbers of resources, security groups, or user roles.

To assist with reviewing record access rules, the ReadiNow platform provides a summary report mechanism that, for a given User Role, calculates all Objects that may be accessible; the permissions granted; as well as the specific reasons; whether it be for access rules, security relationships, or inheritance. This allows the administrator to gain a clear picture of the objects that a role can see.

Internal Security Filter

The only exception to the notion of no denials is the internal security filter. Record access control is performed in two phases. In order to gain access to a record, the user must receive permission according to the customer configurable access rule, as described above. In addition, a second system level security layer enforces access control rules to protect certain system and application records.

Summary

The platform provides a comprehensive robust Access Control model that:

- Allows security policy to be described
- Then automatically applied based on data
- Taking advantage of the rich ecosystem of related, interconnected, records
- Starting with the assumption that a user has no access

Custom implementations can be as simple as automatically granting access to records that have a certain status; reaching through to complex rules that span multiple interconnected records, applying calculations along the way.

Capacity Management

Last Modified on 14/07/2023 1:59 pm AEST

The ReadiNow platform is hosted in AWS. AWS enables ReadiNow to either increase the size of existing resources or to create new EC2 instances on demand. This flexibility to adjust resources as needs fluctuate is one of the prime advantages of a cloud environment.

However, this flexibility does not mean that capacity management ceases to be important in the cloud. ReadiNow uses several techniques to provide an effective cloud capacity management strategy:

• Existing Capacity Data

We use LogicMonitor to collect and analyse capacity data for existing workloads within AWS. We make use of the native tools provided by AWS to give us extra insight into performance and to predict capacity requirements.

• Sales Forecasting

Information about our sales pipeline gives Operations data about potential new clients and their resource requirements to feed into our long-term planning.

• Customer Success Planning

Regular customer success meetings give us information about our existing clients and how they see their capacity needs changing in the future. This data is also used in our long-term planning.

• Scale Testing

Each platform release undergoes scale testing before deployment to Production. This ensures that new features or other code changes have not negatively impacted the performance of the platform.

• Burst Capacity

If one of our existing clients faces a disruption and needs to invoke the burst capacity portion of their contact, we have defined procedures in place to ensure this does not negatively impact performance for our other existing clients.

HTTP/2 Support

Last Modified on 26/08/2020 7:44 am AEST

Readinow strongly recommends turning on support for HTTP/2 on network devices such as proxies. (For a description of HTTP/2 see https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/HTTP/2.)

HTTP/2 allows a web browser to pass multiple web requests over a single channel. This can improve performance in situations where a web page makes parallel web requests, such as displaying multiple elements on a screen.



Last Modified on 17/08/2021 12:26 pm AEST

This is normal text.

inline

Configure Landing Pages

Last Modified on 25/10/2021 4:56 pm AEDT

About Landing Pages

Landing Pages were designed to eliminate complex navigation paths by providing an 'action oriented' experience that puts users in the drivers seat. Key features include:

- Hero Text to keep you up-to-date and informed
- ability to pin Action as Favourites
- ability to find Action quickly using Tags and Quick Search

As the name suggests, Users are automatically taken to their personalised Landing Page as soon as they log-in. Landing Pages provides Users with:

- direct access to the: Screens, Reports, Forms, Charts, and Boards that are relevant to their role (useful for infrequent tasks).
- a carousel of Hero Texts to keep an eye on the things that matter the most.

ReadiNow			٩	Choose Application 😑	4 5	0 0	0	
	Welcome	Jack Admin						
		My Tasks						
		0						
			Favorites					
Filter by tags	Q. Find a task, action or view							
		Administration View						
2.157.7.0-Master / C: 2	2.157.36.0-Master	Powered by ReadiNow	_		_		_	_
Out of the box, the Landing Page for tenant Administrators has a Hero Text to show how many tasks are outstanding, and a Action configured as a Nav Item opens the Administration area.								

Things you should know

- Landing Pages are opt-in
- you should configure Landing Pages prior to enabling
- when enabled, Landing Pages replaces the Classic Home Page

- enabling Landing Pages is a tenant wide setting
- you can enable / disable Landing Pages at any time
- Landing Pages will not override existing 'default login location' settings

Configuration options

There are two parts to the Landing Page - Hero Texts at the top and Action at the bottom. Configuration for both is similar, however Hero Texts have a few extra steps. The following table provides an overview of the Landing Page configuration options.

	Hero Text				Action			
Config Item	Create	Edit	Nav	View	Create	Edit	Nav	View
Name	Y	Y	Y	Υ	Y	Υ	Y	Y
Description	Y	Y	Y	Υ	Y	Υ	Y	Υ
Tags	-	-	-	-	Y	Y	Y	Y
Nav Item	-	-	Υ	-	-	-	Υ	-
Object	Y	-	-	-	Y	-	-	-
Report	-	Υ	-	Υ	-	Υ	-	Υ
Form	Y	Y	-	Υ	Υ	Y	-	Y
Hero Report	Υ	Y	Υ	Υ	-	-	-	-
Hero Column	Y	Y	Y	Υ	-	-	-	-
Hero Method	Y	Y	Υ	Y	-	-	-	-

Strategy for configuring Landing Pages

Each user's Landing Page is automatically customised according to the Roles they belong to. Landing Pages can be further customised for groups of users (or even an individual) by creating additional roles.

The following outlines a 3-step-process to setup Landing Pages in a way that is consistent, quick to implement, and easy to manage. The basic steps, explained in greater detail in the following sections, are:

- 1. initial setup
- 2. create a like-for-like version of the classic home page
- 3. add Hero Texts and Actions

Initial setup

Initial setup involves setting up a helper Role and a helper User to view the configuration holistically.

- 1. Create a new role for your tenant this will be "a dummy role that should not be given to any real user, purpose is to provide a holistic view of the Landing Page configuration".
 - 1. name the role 'lp_config'
 - 2. add a description (e.g. text above: "a dummy role...")
 - 3. in the 'Member of' tab click on the 'link to existing' & select 'All' --> Ok --> Save
- 2. Create a new User for your tenant this will be "a dummy user that should remain disabled, purpose is to provide a holistic view of the Landing Page configuration".
 - 1. name the user 'lp_user'
 - 2. add a description (e.g. text above: "a dummy user...")
 - 3. disable the user: status = disabled
 - 4. in the 'Security roles' tab click on the 'link to existing' & select 'lp_config' --> Ok --> Save
- 3. Test open the Landing Page configuration tool and view the configuration for all users:
 - 1. enable 'View as user' mode
 - 2. select user: lp_user (the Landing Page user preview will load to show all configuration options)

Create 'like-for-like'

Create a new role for each Application in your tenant. The purpose of these roles is to provide Navigation Access to the corresponding Application.

- 1. Add & configure a new Role for each Application
 - 1. identify an Application to configure and create a role: e.g.: lp_AppName
 - 2. in the 'Member of' tab add every other role that is related to the Application
 - 3. in the 'Navigation Access' tab, select the Application and 'check' the top level folder
- 2. Setup the new Role in the Landing Page configuration tool
 - 1. In 'Configure role' mode, select the role, e.g. lp_AppName
 - 2. In the 'Actions' window: click 'New' --> a menu appears, select: 'View navigation item'
 - 3. Enter the text that should appear on the Action in the 'Name' field
 - 4. Enter a description to help you remember what this configuration is, e.g.: Navigation to root application for Ip_AppName
 - 5. Enter tags to help users find this application
 - 6. In the Nav Item picker, select the corresponding top level folder for the application (e.g. lp_AppName)
 - 7. Click 'Ok' then 'Save'
- 3. Test and repeat until all Applications are represented as Actions on the Landing Page
 - 1. Click 'view as user' and select user: lp_user
 - 2. Confirm the configuration

3. Repeat 1 & 2 until each Application has been added

Landing Page FAQ

Last Modified on 25/08/2022 11:29 am AEST

Q. Can I still use the classic home page after Landing Pages has been enabled?

No. Landing pages replaces the Classic home page and is enabled / disabled for all platform users.

Q. Will 'default login location's continue to work?

Yes. Default login locations will continue to work. You can access your Landing Page by clicking on the platform logo on the left side of the header.

Q. How do I add a new Hero Text or Action to my personal Landing Page?

You need administrator privileges to add new items to Landing Pages, this is because changes to Landing Page configuration affects all users. Please ask your administrator to set this up for you.

Q. Should I enable Landing Page, will the Classic Home Page continue to work?

You should enable Landing Pages as soon as possible. Classic Home Page is using technology that is becoming obsolete, however Classic Home Page will continue to work until Landing Pages reaches a mature state - when that happens Classic Home Page will be disabled.

Q. How do I create Tags?

You need administrator privileges to add new Tags to Landing Pages, this is because changes to Landing Page configuration affects every user. Please ask your administrator to set this up for you.

Q. Can I change deployment options from the Landing Page configuration page?

No. The deployment options are shown for reference only. These can be modified in the corresponding builder.

Q. There are some Actions that I will never use, can I hide them?

No - you can not hide Actions. If you see Actions that you do not use you might belong to a role that you do not need, check with your tenant administrator.

Q. Can I sort the Actions on my Landing Page?

No. However you can sort your 'Favourites' using drag-and-drop.

Q. How come I have duplicate Tags?

Tags are sensitive to white-space and capitalisation. Duplicate Tags can be avoided by sticking to a convention of using lowercase characters and using hyphens instead of space. Tell your tenant administrator if you have duplicate Tags.

Q. How come I have duplicate Actions?

Duplicate Actions can happen if you belong to multiple roles that access the same resource (e.g. Screen, Report, Chart, Form, etc.). Tell your tenant administrator if you have duplicate Actions.

Q. Why don't I get taken to my Landing Page when I log-in?

There are 2 reasons why you might not get taken to your Landing Page when you log-in.

First, Landing Page might not be enabled - this needs to be done by an administrator. The second reason is that you might have a 'default login location' that over-rides your Landing Page; if this is the case you can ask your tenant administrator to change this setting for you.

Q. Why can't I find my new application on my Landing Page?

Landing Pages do not display any new content by default. Actions and Tags need to be explicitly configured; however, you can find all your applications in the application dropdown in the Landing Page header.

Backup & Retention Policy

Last Modified on 08/01/2025 3:02 pm AEDT

Customer Data Backup and Retention

In this guide '**Customer Data**' means information and content owned and controlled by a ReadiNow Customer (including any File Repository data) held in the Customer's tenant.

1. Backup

1.1. Backup Frequency

Full backups are taken daily and transaction log backups are taken every 20 minutes.

Note: Customer Data that is present for less than this time period may not be captured by the backup process and hence may not be recoverable (i.e. Customer Data that is created and subsequently deleted between the backup periods).

1.2. Backup Retention

Backups are retained for at least 90 Days

1.3. Backup Security

All backups are encrypted. Encryption processes and methods follow AWS' data encryption standards in line with ISO 27001 standards across all their infrastructure and hosting environments. The platform backups are protected from accidental or malicious modification or erasure using the Amazon S3 Object Lock technology. No one, including ReadiNow staff, can modify or delete a backup by any means, for a minimum of 90 days.

1.4. Data Residency

All customer data, including live and backup data, resides in AWS data centres located in Australia.

2. Restore/Data Recovery

2.1. Recovery Requests

A Customer may request a restoration from a backup by submitting a Support ticket in the ReadiNow Service Desk. The recovery time depends on the age of the backup and the amount of Customer Data to be recovered. Such requests are chargeable and will be estimated and quoted prior to fulfilling the request.

2.2. Recovery Format

The recovered Customer Data will be in one of the following formats:

• Access to a temporary tenant; or

- CSV files; or
- As otherwise advised via ReadiNow Service Desk, at ReadiNow's sole discretion.

3. Data Destruction

3.1. General

ReadiNow does not delete records from active tenants. Customers should refer to the Log Retention Policies article for information on configuring log archiving frequencies.

All customer data, including backup data, is held within AWS at all times. ReadiNow does not maintain any physical media holding client data. Therefore, destruction of media is performed by AWS.

Media storage devices used to store customer data are classified by AWS as Critical and treated accordingly, as high impact, throughout their life-cycles. AWS has exacting standards on how to install, service, and eventually destroy the devices when they are no longer useful. When a storage device has reached the end of its useful life, AWS decommissions media using techniques detailed in NIST 800-88. Media that stored customer data is not removed from AWS control until it has been securely decommissioned. For further information please refer to the data centre controls published by AWS.

3.1. Customer Disengagement

In the event of customer disengagement, active tenants will be deleted within 30 days. ReadiNow will ensure the security of backups from multi-tenanted systems until the backups can be deleted in line with the backup retention period. Backups from dedicated systems will be deleted within 30 days.

Ethical Trading & Modern Slavery Policy

Last Modified on 02/10/2024 1:13 pm AEST

The ReadiNow policy covering Ethical Trading and Modern Slavery is available here: Ethical Trading and Modern Slavery

Platform Privacy Policy

Last Modified on 02/10/2024 1:27 pm AEST

The Platform Privacy policy is available here: Platform Privacy policy

Spring4Shell (CVE-2022-22965)

Last Modified on 07/04/2022 1:37 pm AEST

Summary

ReadiNow does not have direct exposure to this vulnerability.

Background

In March 2022, a Spring application running on JDK 9+ was found to have a vulnerability known as the Spring4Shell (CVE- 2022-22965)

ReadiNow Response

ReadiNow promptly reviewed all code and environments. The ReadiNow platform itself does not use Spring nor Apache and so is not vulnerable to CVE-2022-22965. We are continuing to review any 3rd party vendors and software to see if they are at risk and will promptly apply any patches if required

Update

This bulletin was last updated on 05 April 2022.

New information will be posted here if required

Log4j Vulnerability (CVE-2021-44228)

Last Modified on 16/12/2021 2:31 pm AEDT

Summary

ReadiNow does not have direct exposure to this vulnerability.

Background

In December 2021, Apache log4j was found to have a very critical vulnerability known as the Log4j Vulnerability (CVE-2021-44228)

ReadiNow Response

ReadiNow promptly reviewed all code and environments to confirm that the ReadiNow platform itself does not use Java nor Apache Log4j and so is not vulnerable to CVE-2021-44228.

We are continuing to review any 3rd party vendors and software to see if they are at risk and are promptly ensuring they are patched as required

Update

This bulletin was last updated on 16 Dec 2021.

New information will be posted here if required
Alternative Report View: Replacing the Withdrawn Classic Calendar Feature

Last Modified on 05/09/2024 8:23 am AEST

Step 1: Locate the Source Report for your Calendar

- 1. Log in to your tenant as an administrator.
- 2. Open the app that contains your calendar.
- 3. Navigate to the location of the calendar you wish to transition.
- 4. Enter configuration mode by clicking the configure (spanner) 🔍 icon in the top right-hand navigation bar.
- 5. Hover over your calendar in the left-hand navigation to reveal the configure icon.
- 6. Click the configure icon and select **Calendar Properties** from the dropdown menu.
- 7. The name of the source report will be displayed for your reference.

✓ReadiNow						Test Only	y = 🛓 🖑 🖓 🔂
TEST ONLY + NEW TAB							
+ Page Item <							🗲 Bac
Cascading Fields	🔳 Leave	Calendar					
🖿 Rent A Car Test 🏾 🔶	₽ + NEW			ä	DAY 🛱 WEEK 🛱 W	ORK WEEK	🚔 YEAR 🗄 AGENDA 🌣
🗖 Calendar Test 🗸	< > Septe	ember 2024 🔻					TODAY
🔳 Leave Report	Sunday	Monday	Tuesday	Wednesday	Thursday	Friday	Saturday
💼 Leave Calendar 🖉	Sep 1	2	3	4	5	6	7
⊨ Cale X Rem	ndar Properties <u>6</u> ove Calendar	Calendar Properties					
× Dele	X Delete Calendar		Leave Calendar				
		Descript			,		
	8	9 7 Report :	Leave Report	/ ×	12	13	14
				OK Cerve			

Step 2: Edit the Source Report

- 1. Ensure that the Resources heading in the left-hand navigation menu is expanded.
- 2. Expand the **Reports** section in the left-hand navigation menu.
- 3. Use the quick find feature to search for the source report identified in Step 1.
- 4. Enter Report Builder Mode by clicking the configure (spanner) icon 🔨 in the top right-hand navigation bar.
- 5. Click the configure icon at the top right corner of your report and select **Modify Report** from the dropdown menu.
- 6. [Optional] To create a working copy of the report, use the Save As option once you are in Report Builder mode. This allows you to keep the original report unchanged in case you need to revert or repeat the transition to the alternate view.

ReadiNow			Test 0	Dnly = 🛓 🕙 🖓 🚱
ST ONLY + NEW TAB				
🔲 Leave Rep	ort			5
				Modify Report
G + ACTION + + NEV	V PEDIT INLINE	Charde Darke	Find Data	 Modify Form
Aaron Beesley	Vacation Leave	8/6/2024 9:00 AM	8/7/2024 9:00 PM	h. Report Properties
Adaline Galagher	Sick Leave	8/5/2024 9:00 AM	8/6/2024 9:00 PM	× Remove Report
Aliza Akiyama	Maternity/Paternity	9/1/2024 9:00 AM	9/5/2024 9:00 PM	× Delete Report
Andrew Keks	Vacation Leave	8/12/2024 9:00 AM	8/16/2024 9:00 PM	
Clare Bortignon	Vacation Leave	8/7/2024 9:00 AM	8/8/2024 9:00 AM	
Deb Uchiyama	Vacation Leave	9/4/2024 9:00 AM	9/7/2024 9:00 AM	

Step 3: Configure the Date Column for your Preferred Grouping

In this example, we will group the data first by year and then by month.

- 1. **Duplicate the Date Column**: Drag the date column from the left panel and drop it into the report area. (If your report contains two date columns, duplicate the first date column.) The duplicated column will be referred to as the "new column" in the following steps.
- 2. Format the New Column: Hover over the name field of the new column, click the arrow, and select Format Column from the dropdown menu.
- 3. In the Value Formatting tab, change the Date Time format to Year and click OK.
- 4. Group by Year: Use the new column to group your data by year. Hover over the name field of the new column, click the arrow, and select Group By from the dropdown menu.
 - Note: If the grouping appears incorrect, save your changes, exit the report, and then re-edit it to see the correct grouping.
- Group by Month: If needed, you can also group your report by month. Repeat the previous steps, starting with duplicating the date column. Select Month for the Date Time format in the Value Formatting. Remember to apply Group By as your final step.

ReadiNow								۲est ۱	Only ≡ ≗	. 9	∽ <mark>₀</mark> €	
Readi BUILDER								🖒 RELO	AD 🔝 PROPERT	ries 🛗 sa	ve 誟 save	eas ×
Report	Leave Report											
Relationship viewer	ACTIONS 4 + NEW	* EDIT INLINE										Ŧ
Σ 🗄 기 +	Employee	Leave Type	1 Start Date			Start Date			End Date			
Leaves	Aaron Beesley	Vacation Leave	2024	A ₂	Sort A-Z	8/6/2024 9:0	IO AM		8/7/2024 9:00	PM		
Employee	Adaline Galagher	Sick Leave	2024	Z _A	Sort Z-A	8/5/2024 9:0	0 AM		8/6/2024 9:00	PM		
- Leave Tyrne	Aliza Akiyama	Maternity/Paternity	2024		Cancel Sort	9/1/2024 9:0	0 AM		9/5/2024 9:00	PM		
core ipe	Andrew Keks	Vacation Leave	2024	Ą.	Sort Options	8/12/2024 9	00 AM		8/16/2024 9:0	0 PM		
Fields & Related Objects	Clare Bortignon	Vacation Leave	2024		Group By	8/7/2024 9:0	0 AM		8/8/2024 9:00	AM		
Search Q	Deb Uchiyama	Vacation Leave	2024		Gloup by	9/4/2024 9:0	0 AM		9/7/2024 9:00	AM		
Drag and drop to page 🖡 🔳 🔻	Alfreda Delsoin	Vacation Leave	2024	2	Summarise	7/25/2024 9	MA 00:		7/27/2024 9:0	0 AM		
- Default				IA	Rename Column		Format					
- A Description			2		Format Column 💼	\rightarrow	Conditional Form	atting Value For	natting			
🔁 Employee 🛛 🗹				×	Remove Column		Alignment	Default				
🛱 End Date				m	Show Totals		Date format: Sample:	Year 2024		- 3	1	
🗄 Leave Type 🛛 🖬												
A Name												
🛱 Start Date 🛛 🗖												

6. Save the Report: Once you have completed the configurations, be sure to save your report.

Example of a report grouped by year and month:

✓ReadiNow			★ Test Only =	4 9	∽₀₂	@ 0
>						
Leave Report						
▲ CTION - + NEW FEDIT INLIN	IE			Y Searc	h	Q
Employee	Leave Type	Start Date	End Date			
⊿ 2024						
∡ Jul						
Alfreda Delsoin	Vacation Leave	7/25/2024 9:00 AM	7/27/2024 9:00 AM			
∡ Aug						
Aaron Beesley	Vacation Leave	8/6/2024 9:00 AM	8/7/2024 9:00 PM			
Adaline Galagher	Sick Leave	8/5/2024 9:00 AM	8/6/2024 9:00 PM			
Andrew Keks	Vacation Leave	8/12/2024 9:00 AM	8/16/2024 9:00 PM			
Clare Bortignon	Vacation Leave	8/7/2024 9:00 AM	8/8/2024 9:00 AM			
⊿ Sep						
Aliza Akiyama	Maternity/Paternity	9/1/2024 9:00 AM	9/5/2024 9:00 PM			
Deb Uchiyama	Vacation Leave	9/4/2024 9:00 AM	9/7/2024 9:00 AM			

You can now easily make your newly designed report accessible to users by configuring the navigation access settings. Once you are satisfied with the layout, simply adjust the access options to share your report as required. (Navigation Access)

For a refresher on Value Formatting, please refer to the following article for detailed guidance: https://readinow.knowledgeowl.com/docs/value-formatting

Exclude Internal Data from Tenant Refresh

Last Modified on 10/01/2025 12:20 pm AEDT

A tenant refresh is a process that involves copying data from a source tenant to a target tenant. The refresh can be an exact copy of the source tenant; or you may elect to exclude internal data from the refresh operation.

For further information on the tenant refresh operation, please refer to this article: https://readinow.knowledgeowl.com/docs/tenant-refresh

What is internal data

Internal data is data that is typically not required for a non-production tenant such as development or testing.

The following types of data are classified as "internal" for the purposes of tenant refresh.

- Documents
- Emails
 - Both sent and received emails
- Logs
 - Audit logs
 - Import runs
 - Export runs
 - Workflow runs
 - Process runs (Nova)

In summary, when the "Exclude internal data" option is selected, certain types of data will not be copied over to the destination tenant. This does not include report templates required for document generation.

Report templates will still be copied to the destination tenant even when the "Exclude internal data" option is enabled. The document generation feature will work as expected.

Roadmap

Last Modified on 28/10/2024 3:32 pm AEDT

This page contains forward-looking statements which contain risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Therefore ReadiNow reserves the right to change, update or remove any statements made on this page at any time.

The intent of this page is to provide a high-level overview of major features planned over the next few months. ReadiNow may release features and enhancements in each release cycle that are not listed on this page as part of the day to day platform improvements.

Refer to Release Notes for details of recently released features.

2024

Notifications

Centralised area for creating multiple reminders (eg. Reminder for reviews) without the need to creating individual workflows. Notifications assigned to individual objects and utilising email templates.

Process

ReadiNow Process will enable you to easily configure an end to end business process that displays the progress directly to the user. The ReadiNow process will complement the existing Workflow engine to enable highly configurable business process automation.

Process will allow for both sequential and parallel paths to allow flexibility in implementing complex business processes.

Nova

We are committed to ongoing enhancements of our Nova interface, ensuring an improved user experiences.

Custom validation

Users will have the ability to define validation rules on your Nova page form.

Inline editing

Edit directly from a data table component, a favourite feature from our classic UI, will be integrated into the Nova form page with refreshed modernised UI/UX.

Form breadcrumbs

Breadcrumbs on form pages will provide the user with a visual trial of user navigation within company records. This will also help reduce the number of clicks helping you get to where you need to be faster.

Hierarchy

Hierarchical data will be visually displayed in filters and on forms simplifying data entry and providing enhanced experience when used on dashboards.

Building application schema using Page Builder

Build schema without the need to leave the Nova Page Builder. We will continue to add features to allow you to build and manage object schema within the Page builder, meaning there will be less jumping between the classic form builder and new Page Builder.

Al suggest

Save time during data entry with the assistance of AI assist to suggest information. It will suggest texts based on the questions you ask. Additionally it will also add list items as many records, which is particularly helpful for example task actions and compliance checklists.

Supporting Teams

Our tasks will natively support teams, allowing tasks to be assigned to a team collectively.

New Module: Environmental, Social & Governance Modules

Rollout of a new modules to cover the Environmental, Social and Governance management and reporting

Ongoing

Out of the Box (OOTB) solutions

As an ongoing commitment to improve our OOTB offerings, more solutions will be developed in coming months to serve wider range of customers from different domains and industries. The existing OOTB apps will also be enhanced continuously based on customer feedback and market trends.

Scheduled Maintenance & Upgrades

Last Modified on 14/01/2025 3:26 pm AEDT

Please avoid accessing the ReadiNow platform at these times.

Date	Time (AEST)	Reason
Thursday, 23 January 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Maintenance
Thursday, 6 February 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Platform upgrade 2.198
Thursday, 20 February 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Maintenance
Thursday, 6 March 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Platform upgrade 2.199
Thursday, 20 March 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Maintenance
Thursday, 3 April 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Platform upgrade 2.200
Thursday, 17 April 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Maintenance
Thursday, 1 May 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Platform upgrade 2.201
Thursday, 15 May 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Maintenance
Thursday, 29 May 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Platform upgrade 2.202
Thursday, 12 June 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Maintenance
Thursday, 26 June 2025	05:00 - 06:30	Platform upgrade 2.203

Contact us

Last Modified on 16/09/2024 10:55 am AEST

ReadiNow Corporation

Innovation Centre: Suite 202, Level 2 55 Clarence Street Sydney NSW 2000

Registered Office: Suite 14, Level 06 8 Elizabeth Macarthur Drive Bella Vista NSW 2153

Sales

Call Us: 1800 153 153

Email Us: sales@readinow.com

Support

Support is available on standard business days between 9:00 am and 5:00 pm AEST.

Raise a Ticket: ReadiService

Call Us: 1800 645 645

Email Us: rn_support@readinow.com

Report a Vulnerability:

If you are an existing client, please contact Support.

Otherwise: rn_security@readinow.com